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 PROLOGUE 
 
    Three weeks ago… 
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    It was a routine run, boring actually. A small armada of freighters had just left their home world, Celanar, on a cargo run to a non-Confederation world about 6 light-years out. 
 
    The armada consisted of three Confederation military escorts that had been converted for civilian use a long, long time ago. The ships were jump capable, with an old jump drive that could only go a couple light-years on a two-hour recharge. The ships had glitchy shields and modest armaments. Thankfully, they had been sufficient to hold off the pirates in this region of space. 
 
    “Have you heard the rumor that a new member, I think they call it Earth, has developed a jump drive that can cross the sector in an hour? I’m really struggling to believe it’s true,” Snowtin, the ship’s captain, asked. 
 
    “No. Pure science fiction,” Jezob, the ship’s engineer, replied. 
 
    Snowtin and Jezob were Lanocean, the intelligent species on the planet Celanar. Their planet had joined the Confederation about 15,000 years ago. It was located 1,137 light-years further out on the Orion arm of the Milky Way, at the far edge of the sector the Confederation called 3F. Earth was in the middle of the sector; Karagon at the opposite end, closer to the galactic core. 
 
    Celanar was a relatively small planet, only 84% the diameter of Earth, with 72% of the gravity. 
 
    “I heard that the Earth people rescued the Confederation Armada, who were losing a fierce battle with some enemy force.” Snowtin had been creeped out by this and wanted to know if Jezob knew anything. 
 
    “Where do you get this stuff? No one can beat the Confederation. Heck, this crappy ship is 15,000 years old and still holds off the pirates from non-aligned worlds.” 
 
    “Ironic, isn’t it. In school they taught us that the Confederation came to save us some 15,000 years ago. Promised to protect us. They also taught us that the Confederation fought a war to end all wars about 10,000 years ago, so we would be safe. But when’s the last time a Confederation war ship has come here? One was supposed to have been here 20 years ago. But I never saw it.” 
 
    A loud thump rumbled through the ship. “What the hell was that?” Snowtin shouted. 
 
    “Checking.” A pause. “Look at this. It’s the craziest looking pirate ship I’ve ever seen.” Jezob popped up the image of a long narrow ship with what looked like boulders glued on the side. 
 
    “Is there stuff crawling on the outside of that ship?” 
 
    Another thump rocked the ship. 
 
    “Check this out. A pirate ship is firing at that thing. But I think it’s hitting us instead.” 
 
    Another thump rocked the ship. 
 
    “Captain Snowtin, Brezwell here. We’ve just taken a hit from the pirate ships. Are we free to return fire?” 
 
    “One shot. Make it good. Then let’s jump to the first recharge point. I’m jumping in 10 seconds. The pirate weapons aren’t very effective, but too many hits and they may break something. So follow along quickly.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain Snowtin, Brezwell here. Confirming that we’ve lost the pirates. But whatever was crawling on that rock ship seems to have gotten onto yours. Sending a picture.” 
 
    “That doesn’t look good. Can you…” Snowtin was cut off mid-sentence by a gut-wrenching scream emitted by Jezob. Turning, he saw that some sort of dust monster was eating him. Thumb still on the transmit button, Snowtin screamed. “Dust monsters! Dust monsters! Run! Report this to Central Command!” 
 
    Those were the last words spoken before a spear of dust penetrated Snowtin. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CAPTAIN BREZWELL’S SHIP 
 
    Captain Brezwell had heard of the dust monsters before but didn’t really believe it was true. However, the terrified screaming coupled with the dust cloud that was racing around the lead ship changed his mind. 
 
    “Emergency jump. We need to get out of here.” 
 
    The emergency jump reserve wasn’t much, but it was enough to jump them 10 AU away from the infected ship. 
 
    “Grav-drive. Maximum power!” he shouted to the helm. “Turn us around toward home but make it a broad turn. We don’t want to get anywhere near the contaminated ship. Go to warp once you’ve obtained the right vector.”  
 
    With the course updated, Captain Brezwell started the search for the third ship in their armada. “Hmm… No sign of it. They must not have made the jump.” 
 
    Then with urgency, he snapped, “Comm, get me planetary security on Celanar. We need to let them know what’s happened.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 HEADQUARTERS, HIGH COMMAND, NEW LOREXI 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. We just received a report of what appears to be Enemy activity in Sector 3F.” 
 
    A thought shot through the Admiral’s mind. Sector 3F is where Earth is located. 
 
    “Where in 3F?” 
 
    “Along the border with 3G.” 
 
    How in the world did the Enemy get there? the Admiral thought. 
 
    “Should I forward this information to Councilor Mi-Ku on Earth?” 
 
    “Yes. Please do. He’s the only one that might be able to handle it.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PLANS 
 
    [Monday, 06.02.2031] PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADORS OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Thank you for accepting my meeting request. I hope this time is convenient for you.” 
 
    “Ambassador Sa-Na. Thank you for arranging this meeting. Celanar and the Lanocean people have been on my mind since the last Enemy sighting. I assume that’s the reason for the call.” 
 
    Ambassador Sa-Na was Lorexian. He was the Ambassador from the Confederation to Celanar. He occupied an avatar in the form of the Lanocean people, the native species on Celanar. 
 
    “Yes. We no longer have Fleet protection, which leaves us exposed to many threats. The Enemy is the worst and the recent sighting has our population in a state of panic. But our economy is also suffering from resurgent piracy. 
 
    “We need help. You are our representative on the Central Council and the Ambassador to Earth, the wealthiest and most powerful planet in the galaxy. I’m hoping there is something you can do for us.” 
 
    “Has your Representative in the Confederation Senate filed a claim for assistance?” 
 
    “Yes. Formally, he was told that it would be some time before assistance could be rendered. Informally, it was suggested that the only real source for help in the foreseeable future would be from Earth.” 
 
    This was the sixth call of the same nature that Michael had received since the disastrous defeat of the replacement Armada four months earlier. His friend, Jo-Na, had been promoted to the highest military rank in the Confederation and now headed the Central Command in the aftermath of the scandal. They had spoken of the issue many times and Michael understood the truth of the situation, which was much worse than Ambassador Sa-Na knew. 
 
    “Do you have anything you can offer the Earth Alliance in terms of a trade deal?” 
 
    “Mi-Ku. We are a poor world in a hostile region of the galaxy. Without Confederation help our planet will be wrestled from our control within a year.” 
 
    “Do you have mining capability?” 
 
    “Yes. But we have no claims to mine.” 
 
    “Do you have manufacturing capacity we can leverage to your defense?” 
 
    “Mi-Ku. I don’t understand. I’ve never had to bargain in this way for Confederation support in the past.” 
 
    “I know. But the Revelation on Earth was only six years ago. The humans are a very clever and resourceful people. They are generous and committed to supporting their Confederation allies. But the only thing they really have to give is their inventiveness. They’ve made tremendous strides forward in propulsion, shielding and ship production, but otherwise have only a nascent industrial base. 
 
    “The only way they can actually help you is through partnership. They have little more than shields they can actually give you.” 
 
    “Ambassador Lo-Pa from Peralon told me this. I struggled to believe that it was true. But I know you to be a person of honor Mi-Ku. Can you suggest a next step?” 
 
    “Work with your Lanocean Alliance to come up with a list of ways we can work and trade together. You know their capabilities better than I do.  
 
    “In the meantime, I’ll work this at my end. This week, the Earth Alliance plans to take up legislation to respond to the vacuum left by the Fleet’s withdrawal. I’ll get back to you as soon as possible. I’m sure there will be some way we can help.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Over the weekend, President Lee of the Earth Alliance had sent a meeting request, asking to meet this morning in his office. Michael knew the context, knew the importance. But also knew the fine line they’d need to walk. 
 
    “Michael. Thank you for meeting with me. I’m worried about the Council and House meetings on Friday. I understand the requests we’re getting from the allies in the Milky Way but have no idea how we can help.” 
 
    “Another request came in this morning from the planet Celanar. It’s a little over 1,100 light-years from Earth, further out on the spiral arm. The Enemy was spotted in that area recently, which has them in a panic. But that’s not their only problem. There are other spacefaring species in their region of space that are not Confederation members. One of those species has been aggressively pirating the commercial freighters coming and going from Celanar. Without Confederation support, their planet will fall to marauders before too much longer.” 
 
    “Unbelievable. So, there are now seven planets asking Earth for protection.” 
 
    “Yes. And more will be coming soon.” 
 
    “Do you have a proposal for us?” 
 
    “I do. But the truth is that we need an Earth solution to this problem, not a Lorexian one.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “From the first days of our expansion, the Lorexians had the resources to solve every problem. The good news was that they were willing. The bad news is that they are no longer able. 
 
    “My point is that a Lorexian solution would be to go in and do everything for the ally. But Earth can’t do that. It simply doesn’t have the resources.  
 
    “Earth’s real resource is its creativity, its ingenuity. Earth can’t solve its neighbors’ problems, but it can help them solve their own problems.” 
 
    “I appreciate the insight and agree with the principle, but I’m not sure what actions that implies.” 
 
    “The broad outline of my plan is to deal with the security problem first. Initially we use Space Force in the same way we did in Andromeda. We send ships capable of building planetary shields to every ally that requests them. The difference will be that we charge our allies for this service. 
 
    “We will also make Space Force available to assist with commercial transport, which will be another paid service. 
 
    “Most of our allies will not have the means to pay. We solve this problem by scouting nearby space for Transluminide deposits, stake the claims and assign them to the ally for a finder’s fee of 33%. 
 
    “Those simple actions will stabilize the situation while increasing overall prosperity in the sector. But we will need to expand Space Force to do it and the expansion must happen quickly. 
 
    “Therefore, I also propose adding more manufacturing lines to increase both Cruiser and Fast Attack Ship production rates.” 
 
    “How many are you thinking?” President Lee interrupted. 
 
    “Initially, I think we should increase the target Cruiser force from 30 to a total of 50. Similarly, I think we should increase our current Fast Attack Ship force of 100 ships to 300. I also suspect that we’ll need to add a smaller ship for escort services.” 
 
    “That will tremendously increase crew requirements. Won’t it?” 
 
    Michael smiled at the question. “Yes. We will be crew limited. That’s why I think we need to push for a Sector Security Alliance. It would enable us to levy taxes and to recruit crew from other planets within the Alliance.” 
 
    “Can we roll this out step by step? I doubt we’ll have support for establishing a security alliance at this point.” 
 
    “Agreed. Would you like me to propose this at the meetings this week?” 
 
    “Yes. If nothing else, it will get the Advisory Council thinking.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Michael.” Pam called out. Pam was Michael’s assistant and had been for the last 25 years, since long before the Revelation. “James just called asking if you have a minute for him.” 
 
    “Always.” 
 
    James and David appeared in a flash of brilliant light. 
 
    “Michael, I know you’re planning to speak with the Advisory Council later this week. David and I have an update that may be relevant.” 
 
    “Thank you. What is it?” 
 
    James looked to David, who answered, “James and I did a quick survey of the area around Celanar. We found a group of Enemy infiltrators that recently emerged from stasis. They captured the two freighters that have been reported missing. They also appear to have captured one or more pirate ships from non-allied planets. The two freighters are the only jump-capable ships. But the Enemy doesn’t seem to know that yet. These two are the only immediate threat.  
 
    “The pirate ship we found has a primitive form of superluminal propulsion with a top speed of only 2 times light. The ship that had been carrying the Enemy in stasis has a top speed of 0.2 times light. So, all but the freighters are years away from Celanar.” 
 
    “OK, we’re going to need to deal with this before too much longer.” Michael said. 
 
    “I’ve sent the positions and vectors of the ones we found to your queue,” David said with some pride. 
 
    “Thank you, David. Anything else?” 
 
    “Yes,” James said soberly. “I popped over to the Enemy home world for a quick look last night. 
 
    “They are preparing for a massive attack as we’ve known they were. But they also have some experimental device that may be able to open the rift early. I doubt they’ll get there in the next year. But the fact that they’re working on it means they’re trying to get here before the next natural opening, which is in 15 years.” 
 
    “Thank you, James. Do you know how close Eugene and Kelly are to a solution?” 
 
    James studied Michael for a second. “Yes. But you should ask them about that.” 
 
    James turned to David. “Ready?” 
 
    David nodded and the two disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
    As Michael’s eyes cleared from the blinding flash, a thought ran through his mind. They’ve found a solution but haven’t told me. Not good. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR SCHUDEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Professor, thank you for taking my call.” 
 
    “Always a pleasure to speak with you Michael.” Professor Hans Schudel was the Ascendant that headed the Mines and Mining Department at the Ascendance Institute on Earth. His work in establishing core mining around Earth had enabled the Space Force buildout. His theories about Transluminide deposits in brown dwarf systems had led to claims of over 200,000 kg. earlier in the year. 
 
    “I spoke with the Ambassador from Celanar this morning. They’re going to need our help also.” 
 
    “Celanar? Not sure I’ve heard of that one.” 
 
    “Their star’s designation is 3F1265. They’re about 1,100 light-years further out this arm at the far end of the sector.” 
 
    “I’ve heard that there are a lot of pirates out that way. Which is good news from a Transluminide perspective.” 
 
    “Really? How?” 
 
    “There are almost no Transluminide economies in which piracy exists. That means there should be numerous deposits. All we’ll need to do is go look for them.” 
 
    “Can you draw up a list of candidates?” 
 
    “Sure. Will only take an hour or so. Are you going to seek authorizations for the other lists I’ve drawn up for the other planets?” 
 
    “Yes. It’ll be presented for approval to the Earth Alliance this week. I plan to include Celanar.” 
 
    “Then I’ll get you the list this morning.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE’S LAB, INSTITUTE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING 
 
    Part of the recognition package Eugene had received in January, was a formal position at the Institute. For now, all that was required of him was research. If he continued at the Institute for three years, then he would be expected to teach as well. 
 
    His position included a well-equipped lab and a large research budget. He shared the lab with Kelly, who had received a comparable package. 
 
    “So, today’s the day?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “Yep. All the kinks have finally been worked out. Now we get to see if dimension 601 does what the Lorexians predicted it would do.” 
 
    In preparation for the planned test, Eugene had built and instrumented a test bed. In principle the test was easy. He’d replicated two glass tanks. One was set up as a fish aquarium. It had the standard pump, light, fake sea grass and a couple of goldfish. 
 
    The other had been set up as a terrarium. It had both LED and fluorescent lights, a couple of mice, a heartleaf philodendron, and a small barrel cactus. 
 
    An array of test equipment was positioned above the tanks. It included sensors and recording equipment of various types. It also included a power cube that powered the tanks and the test gear. 
 
    The entire assembly was mounted on a grav sled, which Eugene activated, moved into position for the test, then locked down. 
 
    Locking down was another Kelly invention. The concept was simple. Abrade the floor and the feet of the test bed in a way that made the two lock together. Then, instead of just turning off the power to the grav generators, lock-down mode put the grav generators on full power pushing down, not up. The small test set up plus the grav sled weighed about 100 lbs. On a smooth floor, it was light enough to accidently knock out of alignment without knowing you’d done so. In lock-down mode, its effective weight increased to about 500 lbs., heavy enough that it was hard to move even with a lot of effort. 
 
    “OK. The test bed is in place.” 
 
    “I’ll have the field projector locked down in a minute,” Kelly replied. 
 
    As Eugene walked over to the device, he marveled at its simplicity. Three small boxes, each the size of a portable computer power pack, sat on the top shelf of a small grav cart. A larger box, about the size of a microwave oven, sat on the bottom rack. 
 
    The large box on the bottom was a 1-megawatt power cube. It could generate enough electricity to power about 200 average homes. Of the three boxes on top, one generated the field they were going to test. Another was a laser rangefinder that allowed them to place the field around the test bed. The third was a holoprojector. 
 
    “Do we really need the holoprojector?” Kelly complained. 
 
    “We’ve talked about this,” Eugene complained back. 
 
    “Sorry.” A pause. “I’ve got the range locked in. The timer is set for one second.” 
 
    The plan was to do a series of tests. Each test would encapsulate the test bed in dimension 601 for a fixed duration. The first exposure would be for one second. Once the measurements were downloaded from the test gear, the next test would be run. Each successive test would be twice the length of its predecessor. Eugene doubted there was any chance they’d get past one minute. 
 
    “OK. Downloading the initial test bed state. Download done. Running 1-second test in 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    An undulating ball of red shot out from the holoprojector. It was moving fast enough that it looked like a blur. A black sphere came into existence surrounding the test bed. It held for one second, then disappeared. 
 
    “Downloading the test data. Eugene, the temperature in the fish tank dropped from 75 degrees to 32 degrees.” 
 
    Eugene walked over toward the test bed, stopping at the safety line. “Sure enough. Two fish floating up toward the top of the tank.” He redirected his gaze toward the terrarium. “And the philodendron is drooping. The mice have run for cover under it.  
 
    “Sorry guys, it’s not going to save you.” 
 
    Eugene walked back toward the equipment. “Ready to run the second test?” 
 
    “Yep. Downloading the test bed state. Running 2-second test in 3, 2, 1.” 
 
    Once again, the red ball shot out and the black sphere came into being. The black was so opaque, it was as if there was a hole in space where the test bed used to be. 
 
    “Downloading test data.” 
 
    Eugene made his way over to a lookout spot they’d placed at a safe distance. 
 
    “There’s about an inch of ice on top the fish tank. The fish are dead. The philodendron is frozen. It’ll turn into muck once it’s had time to defrost a little. The cactus has some ice on it. The mice don’t appear to be moving.” 
 
    “Sensors say they’re still alive, but in deep hypothermia.” 
 
    Eugene started back toward the equipment. “This will probably be the last test. I think the electronics will be killed by the 4-second exposure.” 
 
    “Bet you’re right,” Kelly replied. “Ready?” 
 
    Eugene nodded. 
 
    “Downloading initial conditions data. Running 4-second test in 3, 2, 1.” 
 
    The sequence repeated but ended differently this time. All the water in the aquarium had frozen. This caused the glass tank to shatter. When the black sphere disappeared, the remains of the fish tank fell to the floor, glass and ice particles scattering everywhere. The philodendron, cactus and mice were frozen solid, and the terrarium was cracked. 
 
    As Eugene walked over for a closer look, Kelly said, “Sensors are messed up. But it looks like the plants are cold enough for the fracture test.” 
 
    “Trigger it.” Eugene replied. 
 
    “The test device appears to be broken.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll trigger the back up.” 
 
    Eugene walked over to another set-up that was pointed at the test bed. He quickly focused an infrared scanner on one of the mice, then on the cactus, then on the philodendron. “Surface temperature below -200° C on all three. Dropping ball bearing.” He pushed a button and a ball bearing dropped from the ceiling. Like videos of roses being dipped in liquid nitrogen and shattering when dropped on a table, the philodendron exploded when the ball bearing hit it. 
 
    “OK. The plant was frozen through. Trying the cactus.” 
 
    Another ball bearing dropped. It hit the cactus, which broke into multiple pieces, but it was nothing like the spectacular explosion of the philodendron. 
 
    “Trying the mice, but doubt they’re deeply frozen enough.” 
 
    Another ball bearing dropped. It hit one of the mice but bounced off. 
 
    Eugene walked back over to the field projector. 
 
    “With the sensors fried, I’m not sure it’s worth doing an 8-second test. What do you think?” Kelly asked. 
 
    “Agreed. I think we have enough data to help refine our understanding of this dimension. But there’s nowhere near enough data to build a weapon. Let’s clean up, then start staging the next set of tests. At this point, I’m certain we can weaponize a field in this dimension, so let’s talk to James about it during our meeting this afternoon.” 
 
    Kelly nodded her agreement, then the two of them started the cleanup. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    “James. Thank you for meeting with us.” 
 
    “Eugene. Kelly. You’ve decided to develop the weapon?” 
 
    Three months ago, Eugene and Kelly met with James to ask about the safety of some experiments they wanted to try. One of those experiments turned out to be the weapon system required to destroy the Enemy home world. The other was the propulsion system they would need to get there. 
 
    “Yes. But we have some questions for you.” Eugene replied. 
 
    James nodded his head, implying that Eugene should continue. 
 
    “I think we’re comfortable with the propulsion system changes we need to make. Can you give us the dimension ID that the Enemy home world resides in and its location?” 
 
    A ding sounded on Eugene’s communicator. 
 
    “You’ve got them.” James nodded in the direction of the communicator. 
 
    “Can you also give us the size and mass of their home world?” 
 
    There was another ding. 
 
    “As we’ve done our tests, we’ve come to think of our weapon as a freezer. It freezes things. I assume it will have the same effect in the enemy’s dimension, although freeze might not be the most appropriate descriptor. Is this enough to kill them?” 
 
    “Yes. It will be enough, but you may need to leave the field in place longer than you might want.” 
 
    “Would it be viable to couple our weapon with something more conventional like a railgun? You know, freeze the planet then pound it with a railgun to break it apart.” 
 
    “I don’t think that’s necessary. But I doubt it would create a problem.” 
 
    “Now for the hard question. We’re really afraid of this weapon. It’s too easy. Anyone who sees what we’ve done will know how to do it. Something like this in the hands of the wrong people would lead to a catastrophe. 
 
    “At one point you said you would nudge us in the right direction. Is this the type of weapon you envisioned us developing?” 
 
    James smiled broadly. “No. But don’t read too much into that statement. I think yours is better. Its biggest problem is the one you’re worrying about, the ease of making a weapon like this once you know the trick.” 
 
    “Can you give us any guidance on that? We really only have two ideas. One is that Kelly and I do this on our own. Build out a shuttle, go there, do the job and return. But I don’t think we can pull that off without an AI. So, one other person would end up knowing. 
 
    “The other idea is to disguise the method of action in some way. We’re working on that but are less than convinced the disguise will be good enough.” 
 
    James looked at the two of them intently, then smiled. “Your idea is good enough. But the two of you will have to work seamlessly to make the initial sell. And your biggest problem will be crafting the deception in a way you can sustain afterward.” 
 
    The room was silent for a moment. 
 
    “You’re on the right track. I’m very proud of you.” And with those words, James disappeared in a flash of light.   
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEW YORK CITY 
 
    A tall thin man dressed in a Burberry gray suit walked into One World Trade Center. He made his way to the elevator bank for the 72nd floor. He touched his ID card against the proximity detector and the gate opened, allowing him access to the elevator bank. In the elevator, he repeated the process and the light for the 72nd floor came on. 
 
    It was late afternoon, but he had the elevator to himself. Twenty-seven seconds later the door opened to a reception area. 
 
    “Mr. Bainbridge. Welcome. You are in conference room two today.” She indicated the hallway to his right. “It’s the first door. Can I bring you a cappuccino?” 
 
    “Thank you, Louise. That would be delightful.” 
 
    Louise had discretely pushed a button on her desk advising her boss, Montgomery Hamilton, that his 4:00 appointment was here.  
 
    He exited his office and turned toward the lobby, just as his guest turned toward him. “Winston. Good to see you.” Hamilton called out and picked up his pace a bit. 
 
    “Monty, a pleasure as always.”  
 
    The two men shook hands, then entered the Conference Room. 
 
    “Can I get you anything?” 
 
    “Seems I’m a creature of habit. Louise offered me a cappuccino as I walked in.” 
 
    “Excellent. I understand that you have instructions for me today.” 
 
    Louise came in with the cappuccino and placed it in front of their client. “Would you like me to bring you one Monty?” 
 
    “No thanks. I had two this morning,” he said conspiratorially. 
 
    “If you need anything, just ring me.” Louise turned and closed the door on her way out. 
 
    “So, what can I do for you Winston?” Monty had big hopes that this meeting would bring him a lot of money. Winston Bainbridge was an extremely wealthy man. He’d come out of nowhere in 2026 to open an account with Monty’s brokerage. The brokerage was a very exclusive one. It had a minimum balance requirement of $1 million. Winston’s application documentation was impeccable and accompanied by a certified check in the amount of $1 million. Now a little over 5 years later, it had a balance of $241 million. 
 
    Winston took a slip of paper out of his breast pocket and slid it across the table. Written across the top was the word Short. “Word is that these companies are going to report big numbers with upward revisions in a couple weeks. I don’t believe that’s going to happen. I would like to liquidate my holdings in these stocks and build as large a short position as possible before the earnings report, but not to exceed 2% of the outstanding shares. 
 
    “It’s imperative that this be done quietly. Preferably small trades in the 200 to 1,000 share range.” 
 
    “Winston, these are good companies. This is an extremely risky move.” 
 
    “But I haven’t lost one of those yet, have I, Monty?” 
 
    “No. No you haven’t. How long do we have to get this done? The slower it goes the better the prices we’ll get.” 
 
    “By earnings day for each of these companies. Preferably the day before earnings day.” 
 
    “We’ll start moving the shares today. You have huge gains on most of these. So it’s reasonable that you’d want to take some of that money off the table.” 
 
    Winston smiled and nodded. Sometimes it’s just so easy. 
 
    “Is there anything else I can do for you?” 
 
    “I’ll be in touch. If I’m right, things will happen fast once it begins. So, expect to hear from me again in a couple weeks.” 
 
    … 
 
    The elevator arrived moments after Winston Bainbridge left the conference room. Monty is the perfect broker. He has access and backing, yet is incredibly stupid. Those four stocks have risen way up because of the Confederation Trade Deal. They will come crashing back down at the first glitch. Monty can’t even imagine how such a thing could happen. 
 
    Winston Bainbridge was an avatar operated by an Ascendant named Ju-Ne, the one responsible for the destruction of EAS Helsinki. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA, ORBIT AROUND KARAGON 
 
    “Admiral. Ambassador Fa-Ta requests to meet with you in the Presence Projector.” 
 
    “Acknowledge the request and initialize the connection.” Rear Admiral Daniel Porter was the commanding officer who had led the rescue and recovery effort that saved the Confederation Armada three months earlier. Since that time, he’d moved his flag to Space Force’s first Cruiser.  
 
    “XO, you’ve got the con.” Daniel headed toward the Presence Projector. On entering, he saw two men waiting for him. 
 
    “Gentlemen. I’m Daniel Porter, flag officer of the Earth Alliance Cruiser handling transportation this cycle. Ambassador Fa-Ta, a pleasure to see you again.” 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta extended his hand to shake Daniel’s. “Daniel. Good to see you also. Please meet the head of our Earth Trade organization, Administrator Colum Warsel.” 
 
    The trade representative put his hands together as if in prayer, then bowed toward Daniel in the traditional Angoloran greeting. “Admiral Porter, it’s a pleasure to meet you.” 
 
    At this point, Daniel was proficient with the Angoloran tradition. He returned the bow. “And you as well.” The two men then shook hands. 
 
    “Daniel, we were watching your ship’s approach on the scanners. What a fabulous new vessel you have. Would it be possible for us to transport up and observe your loading procedures?” 
 
    Daniel hadn’t been expecting this request, but really had no reason to deny it. “Yes. This is the first of the Earth Alliance Cruiser class ships to be commissioned. And this is its first voyage out of our system. Given the quantity of goods to be delivered this cycle, Space Force Command thought it would be appropriate for us to come. 
 
    “How many people would you like to bring aboard?” 
 
    “In principle, five. Myself, Administrator Warsel and his assistant, and the trade representatives Knosel and Knosen, whom you’ve met before.” 
 
    Daniel was about to respond but was cut off by the Ambassador. “One concern. Administrator Warsel’s assistant is Tokaran. Let me send you a picture.” 
 
    A holographic projection of the man appeared standing at the end of the table. Daniel almost jumped when the creature just appeared and was relieved that he’d suppressed the impulse. The thought shot through his mind. This is one ugly fellow.  
 
    It was short, maybe five feet tall, and had flabby pale gray skin. His face looked a lot like a catfish. It had a wide mouth and blubberous lips. But instead of spiny whiskers, it had fleshy whiskers that hung down from either side of his mouth. Looking down at the hands, Daniel saw more of the same, flabby pale gray skin on an almost normal hand. It had four fingers, not five. But the fourth finger had the appearance of two fingers in one, as if the ring and little finger had merged. 
 
    “Would it be OK if I muted my line for a moment?” 
 
    “Certainly.” The Ambassador’s eyes suggested that he found Daniel’s discomfort amusing. 
 
    “Else. What do you think of me inviting a Tokaran aboard?” 
 
    After laughing loudly, Else replied, “Oh, this will be good.” 
 
    “Else, please message the officers and watch staff advising them that we are inviting a Tokaran aboard and they need to behave themselves.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
    Unmuting the line. “Ambassador Fa-Ta. We would welcome a visit from the five people you suggest. As this will be our first time to host a Tokaran, are there any environmental issues we should be aware of?” 
 
    “Not really. The Tokarans evolved on a water rich world, but have adapted well to the environment on Karagon, which is nearly identical to Earth. He does require a lot of water, so will be bringing his own water container to drink from, as he does here in our facilities.” 
 
    “Excellent. When would you like to transport up?” 
 
    “We will be ready in five minutes.” 
 
    “Contact the ship when you’re ready. I’ll meet you in our cargo bay.” 
 
    As Daniel left the Presence Projector, he called out. “Ms. Harris, I need to make a ship-wide announcement.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO BAY, EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel, Executive Officer Duan Tai and the ship’s doctor, an Ascendant named Amanda Ulrich, stood at the entrance to the cargo bay when the representatives from Karagon transported aboard. It was the first time Daniel had met the two administrators. 
 
    After the standard Angoloran greeting was made, the Ambassador made the introductions. 
 
    “Daniel, such a pleasure to finally meet you in person. You know Representatives Knosel and Knosen. Please meet Administrator Colum Warsel and his second So-son Po-lar.” 
 
    “Gentlemen.” 
 
    “Admiral.” Administrator Po-lar stepped forward to shake Daniel’s hand. 
 
    “Admiral, on behalf of all the Tokaran people, let me say thank you.”  
 
    Daniel was struck with two thoughts as Assistant Po-Lar vigorously shook his hand. This is the most alien being I’ve ever met. Yet, there is warmth and goodwill in this man’s heart. 
 
    “I see that you’ve sensed that I’m an empath.” Assistant Po-Lar said, warm joy and laughter in his voice. “As compared to you I am very alien. But I can tell that you are a man of character who will someday be a good friend.” 
 
    After a moment of stunned silence, Daniel introduced his colleagues. “Gentlemen, please meet my Executive Officer Duan Tai and our ship’s doctor Amanda Ulrich.” 
 
    “Admiral Porter, please tell us about your new ship,” Ambassador Fa-Ta asked. 
 
    “As you point out, it is much larger than our Fast Attack Ship, over three times the size. The Fast Attack Ships are single-hulled, 500 meters long, 50 high and 100 wide. They have eight decks, plus the shuttle and cargo areas in the back of the ship. 
 
    “The Cruisers have three hulls. The central hull is 750 meters long, 60 high, and 120 wide. There are 9 decks and huge shuttle, cargo and manufacturing areas at the back. 
 
    “On either side of the main hull, there are auxiliary hulls. These are the same length as a Fast Attack Ship, but a little narrower; 40 meters high, 80 wide.  
 
    “The auxiliary hulls are mounted on each side and a little below the main hull. The lower bevels of the main hull are shared with an upper bevel on each auxiliary hull. The three hulls are grown as a single crystal, which makes it very strong. 
 
    “Our total deck space is over 1 million square meters, which makes the ship spacious, comfortable, and able to handle large missions.” 
 
    “Does the ship have weapons?” 
 
    “Our most powerful weapon is our speed and shielding. But yes, each hull has two forward-facing and two rear facing energy projectors. There are additional energy projectors mounted above, below and to the sides. 
 
    “The main hull has two forward and rear railguns. Each of the auxiliary hulls have one forward and one rear. 
 
    “To the best of my knowledge, this ship type has the heaviest armaments of any ship type in the Confederation.” 
 
    “I’m glad it’s on our side,” the Ambassador replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Captain Flanagan. Sam Scott here.” Admiral Samuel Scott served as the military head of Space Force. 
 
    “Admiral Scott. To what do I owe the pleasure of this call.”  
 
    “We have another mining mission for you. Not as big as the last one, only 12 systems. Do I understand correctly that you still have the mining equipment aboard? It is still showing in your portal.” 
 
    “Yes we do. Brown dwarfs again?” 
 
    “Yes. The systems we are assigning you are scattered a bit more. The furthest is 1,200 light-years further out on our spiral arm, all the way to the edge of our sector. Seven of these systems have been charted by the Confederation. The other five will require a full stellar cartography work-up. 
 
    “The data I have says your ship has not been upgraded with the new stellar cartography suite. Is that correct?” 
 
    “Correct, sir.” 
 
    “And you haven’t received the new weaponry upgrades either?” 
 
    “That is also correct sir.” 
 
    “OK. Orders will be issued within the hour. First step will be the upgrades. That will take about 12 hours. You will also be receiving a fourth set of watch officers. You may use these officers as you see fit. But our intention in assigning them to you is to liberate your science officer, Ms. Parikh to lead the detailed scans. And your Yeoman Ms. Sahni to manage the claim filings.  
 
    “Professor Schudel is unable to travel with you. He has other critical work on Earth that he will be managing. But he will be available to you as needed. 
 
    “We are also assigning two support ships, the EAS Lisbon and the EAS Prague. Both ships were commissioned in April and have just finished their initial field training. They will report to you. These ships have the weapons and cartography upgrades. They will also be getting a fourth watch team, but they will not be getting the mining upgrades. Lt. Parikh can train their science and tactical teams to do the initial scans. 
 
    “There is some urgency to this mission. We want a claim from one of the top three systems on your list by the end of the week. So use your resources to find us one, or prove there are none, as quickly as possible. 
 
    “One last item… There’s been Enemy activity in the area where those first three systems are located. There are also pirates active in the area. We will be giving you the last known location of the Enemy ships and their vectors. We need you to track down and destroy them.  
 
    “There is also a pirate ship that has been infected. Once the mining mission is done, attempt to find this ship. If you do, destroy it also. If you should encounter any other pirate ships engaged in hostile activity, intervene. You may destroy their ships if you have to, but we want good relations in this region, so try to find a better solution.” 
 
    “Understood. Thank you for entrusting this mission to me and my crew.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    It was late, but they’d finished the testing they needed to do. They now had a loose tradeoff between power and dwell time. It took time to freeze things deeply. Up to a limit, it took less time if they poured more power into the field. The data they’d collected would be enough to enable Eugene to do the scaleups required for their first tests in space. But he’d need data from the larger space tests to have any hope that their weapon would work when they applied it to the Enemy home world. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 SOLUTIONS 
 
    [Tuesday, 06.03.2031] BUTLER RESIDENCE 
 
    Noelani woke confused about where she was. It was pitch black. The clock read 1:43 AM. And she was soaking wet. 
 
    My water broke, she realized, suddenly wide awake. 
 
    “George. George. Wake up.” 
 
    “What?” George mumbled in a fog. Then realized he was wet. “What!” 
 
    “George, it’s the baby. It’s time.” 
 
    Noelani was two weeks late. At her appointment yesterday morning, the doctors were insistent that she needed to deliver soon. They’d wanted to take it via Cesarean section yesterday, but she refused. It had been her sense that the baby would come naturally. 
 
    Guess I was right. 
 
    Within minutes, George had Noelani and her ‘go bag’ loaded onto the grav-chair he’d borrowed from work weeks ago.  
 
    He’s so sweet. Noelani thought as George pushed her out of their apartment. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was running a few minutes late today. Pam was waiting with fresh coffee. 
 
    “Did you hear the news?” She bubbled with excitement. 
 
    “No, but I’m guessing it’s something good.” 
 
    “Noelani and George had their baby last night.” 
 
    “We have a gift?” Michael knew that was the wrong question to ask before the words even left his mouth. 
 
    “Michael, Sarah and I got it weeks ago. Noelani ended up being 16 days late. I’m surprised they let her go that long.” 
 
    “I’ll have to stop over this afternoon to say hi.” 
 
    “Sarah and I have already arranged it. It’s on your calendar.” 
 
    “Thank you. Anything else come in overnight?” 
 
    “Yes. Eugene got back to me about meeting with you today. He and Kelly will be in the Engineering Conference Room most of the day. He said morning would be better for them if that’s possible. You’re only opening was at 10:00, so I told them to expect you a little after. He seemed to know why you wanted to see them.” 
 
    “Good. Ten o’clock it is.” 
 
    “Your meeting with Ambassador Sa-Na is in 10 minutes. Need anything before that?” 
 
    “No. And thanks, Pam. I couldn’t do this without you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
     “Mi-Ku. Thank you for getting back to me so quickly. I hope you have good news.” 
 
    “Sa-Na. The news is mixed. We are able to confirm that two of your ships were lost to the Enemy. At least one of the pirate ships was as well. 
 
    “We will be launching a three-ship taskforce in a couple of hours. The Enemy had apparently been part of the invasion force from 10,000 years ago, recently coming out of stasis. They do not know your ships but have started moving in your direction on grav-drive. Our taskforce will have no trouble stopping them. With any luck, they will be gone by the end of the day.” 
 
    “This is terrifying Mi-Ku. How do you know this?” 
 
    “The Ancient Sentient cast his attention your way yesterday. He has a new protégé by the way.” 
 
    “Really! I thought he was the last of his kind.” 
 
    “He is. The protégé is human.” 
 
    “Are the humans powerful like the Ancient Sentient?” 
 
    “No. But he claims that all humans have the ability to exist as Energy though few ever learn it.” 
 
    “Incredible.” 
 
    “Now for the good news!” Michael smiled at his friend. “We have leads on several Transluminide deposits in systems near yours. The taskforce we are sending has the ability to find, validate and file claims with the Confederation. There is a very high probability that we’ll have claims that we can assign to you, possibly as early as next week.  
 
    “I can also confirm that the Earth Alliance will meet on Friday to consider some resolutions that would allow us to consign the claims to you. They will ask for a finder’s fee higher than the Confederation would, but lower than typical member to member rates. And they will accept payment in terms of products, not Transluminide, which would be a huge boost for your economy.  
 
    “As I said yesterday, Earth does not have the capacity to fix your problems for you. But they are incredibly resourceful when it comes to finding ways to help their neighbors. 
 
    “Have you had any success working with the Lanocean Alliance on ways they think we could work together?” 
 
    “I have some ideas. They’ve not been very responsive yet. My ideas are along the lines you suggest. We can mine any claims you assign to us. We have manufacturing capacity that’s currently idle for lack of Transluminide. It could quickly ramp up to produce products. Our real advantage is in the area of special purpose AIs. We’ve been a leader in this area for centuries, but our primary customer has been the Confederation, who are not buying at the moment. If Earth needs high quality specialized AIs, you couldn’t find a better place to get them.” 
 
    “Do you have corresponding bot capacity?” 
 
    “Yes. The highest quality, although with the Transluminide shortage we have not had the demand recently. Our bots are the best but are relatively expensive.” 
 
    “My friend. There is potential for tremendous trade among our peoples. As you said yesterday, Earth is a wealthy planet. And it needs the things you have.” 
 
    “Will you be able to help us with transportation, Mi-Ku? We don’t have the means to transport things to Earth.” 
 
    “Yes. That is part of the package the Earth Alliance will be taking up on Friday. Let me get back to you with a treaty proposal. Until the Earth Alliance acts, the proposal will be aspirational. But maybe you can use it to motivate your Lanocean Alliance.” 
 
    “This is excellent news.” 
 
    “I’ll also give you an update on our mission to expunge the Enemy in your vicinity as soon as I know something.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE TRADING COMPANY 
 
    The Earth Alliance Trading Company had received its charter on Monday, January 20, 2031, just over four months earlier. The first week had been crazy. Emmanuel was flooded with product specifications and ‘price’ quotes from the Karagonians, and product requests from the nations of Earth. 
 
    It quickly became clear that Power Cubes, Grav Drives and Medical Equipment were going to be the big demand items. Almost every country that had nuclear power plants wanted to replace them. Everyone wanted to start the conversion to a distributed power system that would reduce outages and transmission losses. Japan and Germany planned to use over half of their funds to buy Power Cubes.  
 
    The US, England and France wanted the Grav Drives, so they could begin building shuttles instead of airplanes. 
 
    Many third world countries planned to spend 75% or more of their funds on medical equipment. 
 
    Prices for the big-ticket items were set within two weeks. Then the flood of orders began. Now four months into the trade deal, $2 trillion worth of products had been delivered, $2 trillion more were already on order, and it was clear that the trade deal would be exhausted by the end of the year. 
 
    As Emmanuel put the finishing touches on his report to the Earth Alliance, there was a light knock on the door. 
 
    “Michael. Welcome. Please come in.” Emmanuel got up to shake Michael’s hand. 
 
    “You’ve been busy.” Michael smiled broadly. “Two trillion in revenue and you’re not even finished the first half of the year.” 
 
    “True, but it’s not exactly like a real company.” 
 
    “Point taken. Any learnings?” 
 
    “Mostly everything.” Emmanuel laughed. “But Nelly Fong is a miracle worker. All the financial stuff has gone so smoothly. She said in our first meeting that the Earth Alliance Dollar was more about efficiency, than some fundamental necessity. But we could never have done so much, so fast without it. 
 
    “Good choice, Michael.” 
 
    “I’d say the same about you. Others would have gotten here eventually, but you did it in four months.” Michael paused to reflect, then continued. “So, what’s on your mind?” 
 
    “You heard about the incident yesterday?” Emmanuel asked. 
 
    “Which one?” Michael asked good naturedly. 
 
    “The pickup at Karagon.” 
 
    “I heard that Daniel gave the Ambassador and several others a tour of the new ship that apparently dragged on for hours.” 
 
    “The tour was a deception, a way to kill time, because they weren’t quite ready to make delivery. But ironically, they were ready. They just had staging issues.” 
 
    “Staging issues?”  
 
    “The warehouse where they staged the goods was much smaller than what was needed for the order. They assumed that we would be sending three ships, not one giant one. Our Fast Attack ships have about the same capacity as their warehouse. They figured that they would have an hour to restock between pickups, a very reasonable assumption. But they panicked when they saw the ‘largest ship ever created.’ A bit of a dramatization I think.” 
 
    “So what happened?” 
 
    “They started clearing other warehouses so they could concentrate all the goods in a way that could be picked up in three transports. They ended up breaking some of the goods they moved out. They stalled Daniel while all that was going on, for something like five hours. Then this morning filed a complaint blaming us for the breakage and asking for compensation.” 
 
    “That’s unfortunate.” Michael replied. “Hard to believe actually. What do you plan to do?” 
 
    “Ask my Ambassador for help?” Emmanuel laughed. 
 
    “How much do they want?” 
 
    “One hundred grams of Transluminide, paid out of our balance from the deal.” 
 
    “Too much. But you’re right. I’ll deal with that part of the issue. Any proposals on how to prevent this going forward?” 
 
    “The underlying issue is that our ships are too big. They’ve been complaining from day 1 that their systems are not geared for shipments that large. They’d rather be doing half the volume per pickup with more frequent pickups. So, my proposal would be that we build a small freighter fleet, maybe 10 ships. With ships half the size and better organized for hauling freight. 
 
    “We’re going to exhaust the trade deal by the end of the year. My counterpart, an Angoloran named Colum Warsel, has been pressing me to get the new deal started. He proposes a one-year deal for 8,000 kilograms of Transluminide.” 
 
    “OK. Tell Administrator Warsel that I will handle this with Ambassador Fa-Ta. Also ask them to be more upfront about issues like this going forward. 
 
    “I’ll work with the Earth Alliance on initiating the new trade deal and on getting the freighters you want. But the freighters might be a tough sell.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Aston, Sofie. Thank you for meeting with me.” 
 
    Aston Moss was the captain of the EAS Lisbon. He was a New Zealander who had served in the British Navy for twenty years, most recently as the Captain of a Type 45 guided missile destroyer. Like many of the captains in Space Force, he’d retired early as a result of reductions in his service organization. Dissatisfied with civilian life, he’d volunteered for Space Force on the day it was announced. 
 
    Sofie Gozensen was the captain of the EAS Prague. She was Dutch. After a brief stint in the Royal Netherlands Navy during the war in Iraq, she became captain of a commercial fishing boat that operated in the North Sea. Longing for a more meaningful career, she’d applied for a command position in Space Force. Initially rejected, she’d tried again and received an offer for command training. She’d landed the second officer role on the Helsinki, which had been destroyed in Andromeda. Her valor during the evacuation had brought her to the attention of Space Force command. The best day of her life was the day she’d been commissioned as Captain of the Prague, the 100th Fast Attack Ship in the Space Force fleet. 
 
    “Will your ships be ready to depart on time?” 
 
    “The Lisbon will be ready by 11:00 AM, sir,” Aston replied. 
 
    “The Prague is ready now, sir. The watch officers are all taking the mining training now. We can pull them out if we need to leave early. But I want them fully prepared before we leave.” 
 
    “Good thinking, Sofie,” Captain Flanagan replied. 
 
    “Our plan is to do a long jump into a relatively empty region of space. It’s about 120 light-years from where we think the first Enemy is located. From there we will do a short transit to acquire the appropriate vector, then jump in to 10 light-minutes from the target. Once we have confirmed its position and vector, we will jump in right on top of the ship and bomb it. 
 
    “This will be a long jump. Make sure your crew is dosed by the time we depart. My helm AI, Marie, tells me we will jump about 40 minutes after we’ve left dry dock. The transit between jumps will take about 20 minutes. So a little more than an hour after departure, we will be bringing the hammer down on the first Enemy ship. Make sure your crew is prepared.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “We’ll reassess at that point, but my goal is to have eliminated all three of our targets by the end of first watch, and to start the first mining scans by the start of second watch.” 
 
    “Is there some urgency driving the mining schedule?” 
 
    “Yes. Our mission parameters are to file a claim in at least one of the first three systems within 72 hours. If we cannot do that, we need to provide reasonable evidence that there are no deposits to be claimed.” 
 
    “Understood. Thank you, Captain.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    There was a light knock on the door. Eugene looked up and saw Michael come in. 
 
    “Michael. Welcome. Thank you for meeting us here. Kelly and I thought we might have a more private conversation at the Engineering School than over at Headquarters.” 
 
    “Am I correct in assuming that you have a design for the weapon?” 
 
    “We are making progress yes. But we need more than just the weapon.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “Sorry.” Eugene smiled. “I didn’t mean to be obtuse. OK if I give you some background?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “At a high-level we’re working on two things, the propulsion required to get to the Enemy home world and the weapon we’ll use to destroy it. 
 
    “The propulsion is well understood. I have a trial design for our Fast Attack Ships and could have one within days for the Cruisers. 
 
    “The weapon is a little trickier. We have confirmed that we can weaponize the phenomenon we plan to use. We’re working the scale up issues now. But that’s not all we’ll need. 
 
    “The weapon we’re designing is something we should all truly fear. It will have the ability to destroy all life on a planet. A big enough version of this weapon could be used to extinguish a star. If there was another way, we wouldn’t build this weapon. We wouldn’t even want to know it’s possible.” 
 
    “Have you spoken with James about this?” 
 
    “Multiple times,” Kelly piped up. 
 
    “He was surprised that we found this.” Eugene added, “but said it was a better option than the one he intended to steer us toward.” 
 
    “Interesting. But how does this tie back to being more than just a weapon?” 
 
    “When I was in high school, I was required to watch some old films documenting World War II. One of them was about the nuclear attack on Hiroshima.” 
 
    “A tragic, but necessary thing.” Michael interjected. “I watched surveillance video of the event in real time.” 
 
    “Forgot you were here then,” Eugene replied. “Anyway, one of the issues was that everyone assumed it was a suicide mission. The plane could not fly fast enough to escape the blast unless the bomb was delivered in just the right way.” 
 
    “Ah… I think I get it. Your weapon needs a special delivery mechanism, otherwise our ships will be destroyed also.” 
 
    Eugene and Kelly both nodded their heads affirmatively. 
 
    “Have you designed the delivery mechanism?” 
 
    “Yes, but both the weapon and delivery mechanism still need to be scaled up. And we’ll need help getting the data we need to do the scaleup. Specifically, we’ll need help from Space Force to do the necessary experiments.” 
 
    “Tell me more about why you need Space Force,” Michael prompted. 
 
    “We want to take down an entire planet. We know how large the planet is, but we don’t know yet how big the weapon needs to be to do that. We also don’t know how long the reaction will take to run to completion.” 
 
    “Can you explain that a little more?” 
 
    “Our weapon works on a principle that’s never been used before, so we don’t have a full understanding of how long the reaction will run. We know it’s related to the size of the object we’re targeting and the amount of power we put in. But we only have a few data points on that curve. So we’ll need to run some larger experiments, ones that would not be safe to do on Earth. And we need to do them at various sizes and power levels.” 
 
    “That sounds reasonable to me.” 
 
    “There’s one other thing we’d like to discuss.” 
 
    Michael sensed that Eugene was about to say something important, something he wasn’t going to want to hear. “Which is?” 
 
    “We also want command over the mission team that tests and delivers the weapon. We need Space Force to fly the ship. We’ll need, Joel, Henry and the team to help fabricate the delivery vehicle and shielding that will protect us from the blast. But Kelly and I will do the final assembly in private and personally ‘push the button’ that launches the weapon.” 
 
    The room was silent for another moment. 
 
    “Is there any way I can dissuade you from this course?” 
 
    Eugene laughed. “Michael, we can’t do anything without your help and approval. We’re just laying out our terms.” 
 
    “James knows about this?” 
 
    “Yes. I think he approves, but you should confirm that with him.” 
 
    “I will. How long will this take?” 
 
    “Undoubtedly longer than we think. But I’m thinking a week, maybe two. The scientific hurdles are behind us. It’s just work from here.” 
 
    “Kelly, you agree?” 
 
    “Yes. A week or two. And we really do need to do this on our own Michael. We cannot risk knowledge of this device getting into the wrong hands. As James told us, it’s already in our minds, so it already owns us. We need to decide what we do with it.” 
 
    “Eugene. I will send you codes you can use to get more or less anything approved. Use them to get the work done as quickly and safely as you can. I’ll also have one of our Fast Attack Ships set aside for your use.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION MANUFACTURING OFFICES 
 
    “Michael. What can I do for you?” Joel asked. Joel Rubinstein was the head of the Confederation’s manufacturing operations on Earth. He’d been part of Michael’s Revelation team and was the designer of the shields that had blocked an Iranian nuclear attack on Israel days after the Revelation. After five years as Consul General to Israel, he’d returned to the Embassy about a year ago to take over manufacturing. 
 
    “I’m about to get the go-ahead to increase our spaceship production rates.” 
 
    “Great. What are we going to do?” 
 
    “Permits will come through early next week allowing us to increase the number of mining platforms from four to sixteen. We will also be getting the go-ahead to increase the number of manufacturing lines from two to eight.” 
 
    “The platforms will be easy. It’ll take about 2 days, we can squeeze them in between the Cruiser builds without disrupting anything. The new manufacturing lines will be a little trickier. Do you know what we’re going to be building? 
 
    “We want to bring the Cruiser fleet up to 50, probably more. We’ll want to increase the Fast Attack ship fleet up to 200 or more. I’m also going to try to get approval for a smaller ship.  
 
    “Why will additional manufacturing lines be trickier?” 
 
    “There’s a limit to how much we can do at each Lagrange point. The Lagrange points themselves are infinitesimally small, smaller than one of our ships. 
 
    “But we can also use the Sun-Earth Lagrange points. They are functionally larger, just further away. Let me get Henry working on this.” 
 
    “Timeframe?” Michael asked. 
 
    “We’ll have several options and their corresponding time frames for you tomorrow.” 
 
    “One last complication…” Michael interjected. 
 
    “Only one?” Joel teased. 
 
    “I think we may want to build a new ship type. A freighter. Maybe half the size of a Fast Attack Ship.” 
 
    “Configured as a freighter, at half the size of a Fast Attack Ship, it would have nearly the same cargo capacity,” Joel pointed out. 
 
    “Really!” 
 
    “Yep. Fewer crew, no marines, less armament, smaller power plant… Saves a lot of space.” 
 
    “Had no idea.” Michael paused a moment. “OK. See if you can give me an estimate for a ship that has the same cargo capacity, half the conventional armaments and a small team of marines, say 10.” 
 
    “What am I estimating?” 
 
    “The trade-off in manufacturing rate between this ship type and the Fast Attack Ships, an answer like three of these for two fast attack ships.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION, FAYETTEVILLE, ARKANSAS 
 
    “Hank, Mary. Thank you for coming to see me. I’ll handle all the paperwork from here. We’ll have your new home ready within a month and we’ll do it within the budget your insurance company has given you.” Bob stood to shake Hank’s hand. 
 
    Bob Johnson was a builder. He and his wife Martha had vacationed at the Confederation Embassy over the New Year’s break. It was the week the first trade deal had been negotiated. Bob had gone to the Exposition Hall to see what kind of products the Karagonians had to offer. He’d applied for, and received, some sample products that he hoped to use in his new housing development. The night of the first build, a tornado had swept through the area, plowing a quarter-mile wide path of destruction through town. His home was missed, but the new build was in the path of destruction. It was protected by the sample Confederation shield he’d been given. Video of the intact home, surrounded by a shield that was stacked high with debris on the outside, had gone viral. Bob was now the most sought-after builder in Fayetteville. 
 
    Hank and Mary were the nosy neighbors across the highway from the new development. Several times while he’d been on site, Bob had seen them watching through the picture window of their house. But every time he’d waved, they’d close the curtains. He’d been sure they would be trouble. 
 
    Their home had been destroyed by the tornado. He’d sought them out, hoping they would let him help. They’d ended up being nice folks. 
 
    When insurance came back offering a settlement that was half the previous value of their home, Bob had asked them to let him build it. 
 
    The video that went viral made its way to Karagon. The Karagonians had gifted Johnson Construction another replicator, more bots and 1,000 of the house-size shields, enough free stuff that Bob was able to rebuild homes like Hank & Mary’s within the insurance settlement and still turn a profit. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK, CONFEDERATION EMBASSY COMPLEX 
 
    Over the last couple months, Eugene and Kelly had been getting increasingly paranoid about the possibility of prying eyes and ears in the lab. So, they’d started taking walks along the river in the park each day to discuss the more sensitive topics. 
 
    “OK if we talk about the holographic projector thing?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “Sorry about yesterday. It just seems so silly using it in the lab.” 
 
    “Sillier than taking walks to discuss sensitive topics?” Eugene smiled. 
 
    “You’re right of course. As James said, we have to be perfectly aligned on this if we’re going to sell the deception. And we have to keep it simple, if we’re going to maintain it.” 
 
    “Right. No one knows what we’re actually doing. So, if we develop vocabulary to describe the weapon and how it works, we control how people talk about the weapon and how they ultimately think about it.” 
 
    “Interesting. I assume you have some ideas,” Kelly murmured. 
 
    “Yes. The weapon itself is basically an inverse dimensional bubble, dimension 601 on the inside, normal space-time on the outside. Dimension 601 sucks the energy out of everything, ultimately driving anything inside the bubble to absolute zero. Anyone that figures that out can make a planet-killing weapon out of a simple dimensional bubble. That’s the secret we need to keep.  
 
    “So instead of telling people about the dimensional bubble, we tell people that we’re making a bomb, one so powerful that we need to contain it in a shield to protect ourselves. Everyone knows that we can make shields. So if we put all the focus on the bomb, that’s what people will think is killing the planet.” 
 
    Eugene took a deep breath, then continued, “Here’s what I’m thinking. We say that it uses a principle originally discovered by the Confederation, but never pursued as a weapon.” 
 
    “That implies we need a name for our type of bomb and a name for its method of action. Right?” Kelly asked, testing her understanding of Eugene’s comments. 
 
    “Right.” Eugene smiled broadly. “I think the principle is something we will call endo-dimensional transition, an energy-absorbing dimensional transition.” 
 
    “Understand the name, but all dimensional transitions take energy. What’s so special about these?” 
 
    “They’re forced somehow; maybe by a dimensional catalyst?” 
 
    “Eugene. What the bleep does that mean?” 
 
    “I don’t know. We’ve made quite a few miracles that very few people understand. The only reason they actually believe is because it works. We have to leverage that mystique. We claim that we’ve done it again, used our mathematical skills to apply known Confederation science in a new way. 
 
    “The only real difference between this and our other inventions is that people will believe us until we fail. Once it works, they will continue believing that we’ve done what we claim to have done. 
 
    “When we refuse to share the solution, others will attempt to rederive it. But they will fail. The irony is that their failure will make our claims even more credible.” 
 
    “So.” Kelly choked back her cynicism, “we say that we have found a catalyst that precipitates endo-dimensional transitions?” She struggled to hold her laughter in. 
 
    “Kelly, this will work. Think back to the astonishment everyone felt when I revolutionized dimensional propulsion, when we revolutionized shielding, and when you revolutionized spaceship construction. If we say we can do it, then actually do it, people will believe whatever we tell them. 
 
    “Eugene, this is crazy talk. I’m not sure I can do it.” 
 
    “Neither am I. But unless we have an answer, a lot of people are going to figure this out the first time anyone else sees it. So, help me come up with the deception,” Eugene pleaded. 
 
    “OK. So, we launch our endo-dimensional catalyst and it hits the planet, how does it propagate? Seems it would have to be a chain reaction, otherwise the impact would be local.” 
 
    “Agreed. A sub-atomic particle triggers the propagation.” Eugene added. 
 
    “We need to research the Confederation databases to learn more about the sub-atomic particles that they’ve documented. I saw a reference to several that only exist in other dimensions.” 
 
    “Agreed. So back to the bomb itself, you’ve seen the image that I’ve been projecting with the holoprojector. That’s the bomb.” 
 
    “It’s red but moves so fast that it’s hard to see clearly.” 
 
     “I’m thinking we call the material in the bomb ‘red matter.’” Eugene started. 
 
    “Wasn’t there a ‘red matter’ in one of the Star Trek movies?” Kelly asked. 
 
    “Probably. Not sure. But all the better if there was.” 
 
    Kelly laughed at the joke. 
 
    “I’m thinking we call your new shield in dimension #601 an ultrahigh-density shield. Maybe ultra-thick, high-density shield.” 
 
    “I like the second one better.” 
 
    “Then ultra-thick, high-density it is. By the way, how are these made?” 
 
    Kelly looked at Eugene like he was crazy. 
 
    “You realize that’s the first question we’re going to get. Right?” 
 
    “Good point. We have to talk about the shield as something that protects us. Something that contains the propagation of the catalyst.  
 
    “You know. I’m starting to like this. By focusing attention on the ‘red matter’ and what it does, we completely draw attention away from the shield. It’s just another one of the shielding innovations we’re so well known for.” 
 
    “Exactly.” Eugene smiled. 
 
    “But the ‘red matter’ can’t be a holographic projection. The ship’s sensors need to see it. Confirm it’s real.” 
 
    “I’ve got a plan for that. Spent quite a bit of time on it, actually. But back to the previous question. What is the ultra-thick, high-density shield?” 
 
    Kelly looked at Eugene with a very determined expression. “I’m sorry, but I can’t talk about that. It’s top secret.” 
 
    It was Eugene’s turn to laugh. “Good answer. Is that what we’re going with?” 
 
    “I think we have to. But that also means that any of the components of the shield generator specific to the dimension must be kept secret as well.” 
 
    “Good point. I’m thinking we should encase the whole thing in an Enemy trap. We put that up first. Then transport the ‘red matter’ onto the planet. Then put up the ultra-thick, high-density shield. Since the shield is completely opaque to sensors, no one will ever know what’s going on inside, only the aftermath.” 
 
    “So, what’s the ‘red matter?’” Kelly asked. 
 
    “The hardest part of the project.” Eugene laughed, then said more reflectively, “Remember litmus paper from chemistry in high school, maybe middle school? At my school in Baltimore, the experiment we’d do was to have three glasses of clear liquid that we had to rank by acidity. We’d stick litmus paper in each glass and watch it turn color. The darkest was the most acidic… You did stuff like that in Australia, right?” 
 
    “We did. I think we tested fruit.” 
 
    “Well, the active ingredient in the litmus paper is something called a halochromic material, fancy words that mean it changes color based on pH. I found one in the replicator files. It’s an organic powder and turns a rich red at pH 9. It took some fooling around to get this right, but I made a paste using water, baking soda and this material. The result is a rich, rich red paste. Something that screams dangerous. 
 
    “The ‘device’ itself is three concentric spheres. The red paste goes in the thin outer layer. In the inner layer, I put a little bit of carbon black in with some vinegar. If you just saw this part, you would say it looks like a perfect sphere of coal. But it’s actually liquid acetic acid. The middle layer is water. 
 
    “If we were to inspect it, all we’d see is the red. I plan to have the shield generator make the surface wobble a bit, so it looks kind of like it’s alive.” 
 
    “But why all the layers?” Kelly asked. 
 
    “Ah, probably should have started there. We want people to see something that looks dangerous going toward the planet. When we finally drop the shield around the planet, we don’t want them to see a big red splotch. 
 
    “The layers help get rid of the red. When we drop the shields around the ‘red matter’s’ inner spheres, the materials will mix. The halochromic material will have reverted to being whitish because the baking soda and vinegar will have reacted. By the way, it took a surprising amount of math to get that balance right. 
 
    “The carbon black powder will make the whitish organic matter look a little burnt. So, the net residue is just a little bit of dirty, frozen organic material. In the test bomb, I plan to put the tiniest amount of iodine 131 in the water. It’s radioactive with an 18-minute half-life. The shields in the device will make that impossible to detect at launch time. Once the ultra-thick, high-density shield is dropped, the radiation will look like a byproduct of the explosion. The residue of the bomb itself will be just another bit of frozen organic material on the planet.” 
 
    “Eugene, how far along are you on this?” 
 
    “I’ve already fabricated one.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    “Hi, Joel. What an unexpected surprise. What brings you to our humble place of business?” Barbara asked. 
 
    “Was walking by and thought I would come in to say hi.” 
 
    “Have you met my friend Lucy Clemens? She’s an obstetrics nurse at the hospital. She’s assisted with all the babies born of android mothers. The babies have all run long and been very robust. But the mothers have all had unnaturally long recovery cycles. We’ve been working to understand why.” 
 
    “Lucy, pleasure to meet you. How long have you been at the Embassy Hospital?” 
 
    “It’s the only place I’ve been. Barbara and her team made me shortly after the Embassy came up. I was programed with nursing skills and knowledge of most Confederation medicine, so have been working in nursing since birth. As an android with a human boyfriend, I’ve taken an interest in mixed births. Maybe I’ll be one of those mothers someday.” 
 
    “Cool, isn’t it? How well the humans have accepted people from the Confederation.” 
 
    Barbara’s focus returned to Joel. “So why are you really here?” 
 
    “What?” Joel exclaimed in mock surprise. “But, now that you’ve mentioned it, I found out today that we’re going to be putting up some more mining platforms, twelve if Michael gets his way. That means I’m going to need twelve new mining AIs soon.” 
 
    “OK. Thanks for the heads up. These need a little more time than most. I’ll start the interviews this week. Our list of people willing to share back stories and memories has grown. I’m sure several will jump at the chance to have a little piece of themselves immortalized in a mining AI.” 
 
    Producing new AIs was relatively easy. Training them to be useful wasn’t. About 8 months earlier, they’d discovered a cloning technique that drastically reduced the time to productivity for new AIs. 
 
    Direct cloning was illegal because it led to numerous problems. But Henry had discovered a loophole in the rules that allowed them to do partial cloning. Jacob had been the first. He was produced as Henry’s brother. 
 
    The challenge in making this technique work was removing, or at least ambiguating, memories from the source AI. They had to be replaced, or augmented, with memories from someone else, preferably an organic. At first, it had been hard to find volunteers to contribute memories. But that had changed. Quite a few humans wanted that little slice of immortality. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    Three Earth Alliance Fast Attack Ships dropped from jump at the far end of the sector. They were 10 light-minutes from where they expected to find the first freighter commandeered by the Enemy. 
 
    “Tactical. Please report.” Captain Flanagan ordered. 
 
    “The immediate area is clear.” First-watch tactical officer Kusum Suttirat reported. “I’ve spotted a ship. Looks like one of the freighters.”  
 
    “Can you make positive identification?” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “A little too far out to make a positive visual confirmation. The Confederation gave us their transponder IDs. OK if I ping them?”  
 
    “Good idea. Try it.” 
 
    “Positive identification. Its transponder replied with their exact coordinates. It’s the ship that was captained by a fellow named Snowtin. They’re on the course we’ve been given.” 
 
    “Ensign Lópes, connect me to the taskforce.” 
 
    Ensign Lópes was the Amsterdam’s first watch yeoman. 
 
    “Connected, Captain.” 
 
    “All hands. Go to battle stations. Repeat. All hands to battle stations.” 
 
    The high alert alarm sounded throughout each of the ships. 
 
    “Marie. Has the synchronous jump been set?” 
 
    “Yes, Captain.” 
 
    “Tactical. Fire as soon as you have a lock.” 
 
    “Understood, Captain.” 
 
    “Marie. Engage on my mark.” A pause. “Mark.” 
 
    … 
 
    The three Earth Alliance Fast Attack Ships dropped from jump about 100 miles from the commandeered vessel. Moments later, twelve flux bombs exploded in and around the commandeered ship, four from each of the three Earth Alliance ships. 
 
    “Tactical, report,” Captain Flanagan ordered. 
 
    “No signs of Enemy activity. The ship has lost power.” 
 
    “Captain Aston Moss, EAS Lisbon,” Captain Flanagan called out activating the comm system.” 
 
    “Captain?” The answer came back. 
 
    “Aston, deploy your Enemy trap and run it over the target ship.” 
 
    “On our way.” 
 
    “Major Ramos. Prepare to board the commandeered ship.” 
 
    “Helm, follow the Lisbon in.” 
 
    “Tactical, watch for any Enemy attempting to escape. I don’t expect any but hose them down if any come out.” 
 
    Ten minutes later. “Major Ramos. Board the ship.” 
 
    … 
 
    Five men appeared on the bridge of the target ship. The Major wanted to bring more, but the bridge was too small. 
 
    “Oh, this is disgusting.” 
 
    Remnant goo from four or five Enemy combatants covered every surface. 
 
    “Clear,” the Major announced. “OK. You know the plan. I’ve got the hatch. Thompson, you’re the first one through. If you see anything moving, shoot first, ask questions later.” 
 
    The team swept back through the ship, clearing each space as they went. As they entered the engine room at the ship’s stern, they heard whimpering. 
 
    “Major. You need to check this out.” 
 
    A small thin creature was on the floor. It was bleeding heavily, making a whimpering sound. 
 
    “Help me.” The voice was high pitched, difficult to understand. The translator identified the language as one used by the Lanoceans. 
 
    The Major maneuvered past the other men. As he looked to where the sergeant was pointing, the creature moved. 
 
    “It has wings?” he muttered. 
 
    “I’m Lanocean. Please help me.” 
 
    One wing hung limp from its back. It was the source of the blood. The creature attempted to stand but could not. It had two arms and legs, which were small compared to the wings. Without the wings, it would only stand about three feet tall. 
 
    “I’m Major Fabricio Ramos of the Earth Alliance Ship Amsterdam. Who are you?” 
 
    “I’m the mate of Captain Snowtin. We were boarded by dust monsters. They grabbed me and threw me back here. Said they were saving me for food.” Another whimper escaped from her. 
 
    “This is where they grabbed me.” She pointed to some abraded skin on her arms. “And one of them stabbed me in my wing.” 
 
    As she swiveled to point to the limp wing, the Major noticed that her head turned almost 180 degrees to look behind. 
 
    “A few minutes ago, my wing kind of exploded. Dust came out along with some yellow goo.” 
 
    She pointed to a splotch of it on the wall. 
 
    “Scan her.” Ramos ordered one of the men, unhappy with himself that he hadn’t ordered it sooner. 
 
    “She’s clear.” 
 
    “Captain Flanagan.” Ramos called activating the comm device in his helmet. 
 
    “What do you have for me Major?” 
 
    “One survivor. Injured and bleeding heavily. Her scan is clear.” 
 
    “Do you know what species she is?” 
 
    “Some sort of bird creature with wings.” 
 
    “Lanocean,” she corrected. 
 
    “She says she’s Lanocean.” 
 
    Captain Flanagan had tied the doctor into the call when he heard there was a survivor. 
 
    “Major, Dr. Joshi here. Is she in a condition that she can be transported?” 
 
    “I think so, but we’re going to need to do it soon.” 
 
    “May I speak with her?” 
 
    “Yes, putting you on external speaker.” 
 
    “Ma’am. I am Doctor Kamala Joshi. I am Lorexian, though I occupy a human avatar. You are Lanocean?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “OK. We’re going to transport you over to a secure area on our ship. It will be configured with the proper atmosphere and gravity. I can treat you there. Is that OK?” 
 
    “What about my husband?” 
 
    “Sorry, Ma’am,” the Major said. “You are the only survivor.” 
 
    She collapsed onto the floor with more whimpering. 
 
    “I think you better take her, doc. Tagging her now.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku, I wasn’t expecting to hear from you so soon.” 
 
    “Ambassador Sa-Na, thank you for taking my call. I have news. Our taskforce has found one of your commandeered freighters. It was crawling with Enemy. The Enemy has been cleared, but the ship really was not recoverable. It has been sent on a course that will intersect the nearest star in about a year. I’m sending you the vector in case you would like to organize a salvage mission.” 
 
    “There were no survivors?” 
 
    “Actually, there is one survivor. She is in critical condition. Our doctor was able to treat her, and she is recovering in an atmospherically appropriate isolation chamber aboard our ship. She had been infected, but we were able to clear the infection.” 
 
    “You can do that?” the Ambassador asked in shock. 
 
    “Yes, we can.” Michael smiled. “The ship is on its way to Celanar and should arrive within the hour. I’m sending you the contact information for the ship and its captain. Please work with him to make arrangements for her arrival.” 
 
    “Mi-Ku, this is incredible. Will your captain come down also, so that we can thank him?” 
 
    “No. Not at this time. There are still two more ships that he needs to find.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku.” 
 
    “I’ll be in touch later this week on the other matter.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 DISCOVERIES 
 
    [Wednesday, 06.04.2031] EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    The detour to Celanar to return the woman they’d rescued put them four hours behind schedule. Then, within an hour of transporting her down, Captain Flanagan found himself in the same position. Two survivors this time. The first one found was a severely injured male whose lower leg had been ripped off during the cleansing. The second one was a female who had hidden herself away and was physically untouched. It was the first time Chris had heard of someone successfully hiding from the Enemy. 
 
    Now, nearly 10 hours behind schedule, he was going to look for the original Enemy ship. Although finding that ship was a low priority, their course to the brown dwarf would take them close to the Enemy’s expected location. So, he decided to spend up to an hour there searching before continuing his original mission. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    The old team had gathered again. Professors Milne, MacLellan and Schudel. Eugene, Kelly, Martin Hill and Harvey Jones. Advisors Myers, Popov, Lin and Venezia. The meeting invite mentioned a new ship type. 
 
    “Everyone, thank you for joining me today,” Michael started. “The Earth Alliance is going to be investing in more ships for Space Force. I’m expecting it to be approved this week. Joel will be presenting us with some options. But it’s been brought to my attention that we might be better off if we added another ship type and diverted some of our capacity in that direction. 
 
    “No new ship type has been authorized, so that part of the discussion is more of a thought exercise at this point. But if we come up with something compelling, we will obviously attempt to get authorization. 
 
    “Nothing we’re going to talk about today is classified in the normal sense of the word. But let’s keep this among ourselves for now. We good with that?” 
 
    There was a round of yeses. 
 
    “OK. Topic one. Later this week, we will be asking the Earth Alliance to increase our fleet size to 50 Cruisers, up from the current authorization of 30. And to increase the number of Fast Attack Ships to 300, up from 100. We will also be asking for authorization of 12 more mining platforms to supply the material. And up to six more manufacturing lines. 
 
    “Wow,” Richard Myers from NASA muttered. 
 
    “Joel. Would you like to present the options and trade-offs?” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael. We’ve looked at several classes of options. More builds per Lagrange point, adding more Lagrange points, adding the Sun-Earth Lagrange points, re-organizing the flow of our existing facilities… Quite a range of things.  
 
    “But let me start by establishing a base line. It would take 670 days to build these ships using our current facilities and procedures. One note on that. The second production line is just coming up for the Cruisers. This estimate assumes that we use it. 
 
    “Any questions so far?” 
 
    “Sounds right to me,” Eugene affirmed. 
 
    “OK. Moving on. We are currently materials constrained. What I mean is that we can build the ships, specifically the Cruisers, faster than we can pull the material for them. So, the next option we looked at was simply using the additional mining platforms to eliminate the materials constraint. This alone reduces the total time to 470 days.” 
 
    “But that’s almost a year and a half to completion even if everything goes perfectly,” Michael interjected. 
 
    “Indeed, it is,” Joel replied. “So, let’s do a thought exercise. Let’s assume that we have infinite manufacturing capacity such that the 16 mines were once again the limiting factor. If we do that, the minimum build time would drop to 140 days, a little less than 5 months.” 
 
    “I like that a lot more,” Michael said. “But again, that assumes that everything goes right.” 
 
    “It does, but that really defines our floor. The fastest we can get this done with 16 mines is four plus months. If we need it done faster, then we’ll need more mines.” 
 
    “Six months would be fast enough, so this gives us some cushion.” Michael added. 
 
    “Now let’s look at the process. For our Fast Attack Ship, we have the hull portion of the build down to 23 hours. 11 hours for the set-up and tear down. 12 hours for the pour. The interior build-out then takes another 24 hours. Currently, we’re doing everything in place. An alternative would be to move the completed hull away from the Lagrange point, maybe a kilometer. Then start the next hull.  
 
    “If we do that, the hull in which the build out is being done will slowly drop from orbit, because it’s no longer centered over the Lagrange point. The good news is that it won’t go far in one day. The bad news is that the ship’s first task will be to return its bots to the Lagrange point. If we do this, then our time to completion will drop to 200 days. 
 
    “One last option. If we add another production line, our production time can drop to about 150 days. This is close to our mining capacity. The big question is where. The two most obvious choices would be Sun-Earth Lagrange 4, or Earth-Moon Lagrange 1. 
 
    “As we discussed some months ago, Lagrange 1 is less stable, so hulls produced there will be likely to have more crystal defects in the hull.” 
 
    “Sun-Earth Lagrange 4 is more stable and has the lowest microgravity of all the sites discussed. But it is 90 million miles away, which complicates material logistics. One last point on this option. We are getting more crystal defects in the Cruiser hulls than in the Fast Attack Ship hulls. We would get fewer at Sun-Earth Lagrange 4. So, if we were to go with this option, I would do the Cruisers there, Fast Attack Ships here. 
 
    “Questions?” 
 
    “How would we get the material to the Sun-Earth point?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Can I take that one?” Professor Milne asked. 
 
    Joel nodded to him. 
 
    “The only really viable option is via cargo hauler or barge. Sci-Fi is full of stories about people launching materials on a ballistic course and catching them at the other end. The reality is that they’re easy to launch, but hard to catch. And, if any get away from you, you’ve got a stray high-energy projectile in an exotic orbit that you need to chase down.” 
 
    “So, we would want a small fleet of cargo haulers to get this done?” Michael asked. 
 
    “That’s certainly what I’d recommend,” the professor replied. “But you could use Space Force ships.” 
 
    “Well, it would be hard to find a better segue to our next topic. Space Force has been handling the shipping for our trade deal with Karagon. We’ve functionally committed one Fast Attack Ship to this purpose, and it’s already starting to create a problem. 
 
    “In all likelihood, our trade with Karagon will double next year. We’re also pursuing trade deals with a number of other Confederation allies, which will also double the demand for shipping services. Given the issues we’ve had using Fast Attack Ships to carry freight, I asked Joel and the team to give us an estimate of what the trade-offs would be from a manufacturing perspective. Joel?” 
 
    “We tried several options, varying size and configuration and various functional trade-offs. This ship…” Joel projected the image of a smaller ship sitting above a fast attack ship. “…has two-thirds the cargo capacity of a Fast Attack Ship. It would carry light armaments, enough to hold off any known pirate ships in our sector. And it could hold a crew of up to 25. The standard build-out would have the entire lower level open for cargo. But that space could also be used to make passenger liners. At full load, it would have the same speed and nearly the same range as one of our Fast Attack Ships. And we could make 24 of these with the same material requirement and with the same building time as 10 Fast Attack Ships.” 
 
    Discussion continued for another hour. The broad consensus was that they wanted the new freighters, lots of them. 
 
    … 
 
    As the meeting broke up, Eugene asked Joel if he could spare a few minutes on another topic. Michael also decided to hang on for a few more minutes. 
 
    “What’s on your mind, Eugene?” 
 
    “We’re getting close to a design for the weapon that will take down the Enemy home world.” 
 
    “Really? What is it?” Joel asked enthusiastically. 
 
    “It’s a new application of another bit of Confederation science. There are several things that Kelly and I are going to need help with. We’re hoping you can point us in the right direction.” 
 
    Joel had hoped for a little more information about the weapon. But understood their reluctance to talk openly. “What can I help you with?” 
 
    “The weapon system itself is going to require something on the order of 1 terawatt of power. It will also need to be deployed by a drone. I’m guessing it’s going to be a challenge to get that much additional power into a drone that can fit into one of our ships. Kelly and I don’t bring anything special to the table on that aspect of the weapons program, so I wanted to give you a heads up and start the planning on that aspect of the mission.” 
 
    “So, this is an energy weapon?” Joel asked. 
 
    Eugene smiled. “No. The weapon itself is relatively simple. It starts a chain reaction that functionally runs through the entire planet. The energy is for the shields we need to put around the planet to contain the reaction.” 
 
    “It’s going to burn the entire planet!” Joel exclaimed in disbelief. 
 
    Eugene laughed. “Not exactly. But we need to contain the reaction, so it doesn’t spread beyond the planet.” 
 
    “Wow.” Joel seemed dazed by the idea. 
 
    “Joel, I think the question on the table is how we’re going to get the shield generators and power systems into a drone that will fit in one of our ships,” Michael prompted. “As this may be the rate limiting task, I think I agree with Eugene. You should take the lead.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll need the full specs.” 
 
    “That’s the other thing we wanted to talk with you about. We need to do a larger scale test than what we can safely do on Earth, one that can help us calculate the right scale-up factors.  
 
    “I know that neither of you are the right ones to ask, but we need to find a large asteroid or small moon in an uninhabited system somewhere. Hopefully more than one of them. We want to test the intermediate-scale weapon on them, take measurements, etc. so that we can calibrate the full system. We want to take down the Enemy home world with the first shot.” 
 
    For the first time, Michael began to grasp Eugene’s fear of this weapon. “Let’s schedule a briefing with Space Force. We will assign you a ship for the test. You can work with their astrogation team to choose candidate systems and asteroids or moons.” 
 
    “Are you going to need help scaling up for the test?” Joel asked. 
 
    “Don’t know yet.” Eugene replied. “But we have a dedicated industrial replicator in our lab that should be sufficient for everything except the power. Do you have, or could you get us, a 100-megawatt power source for the test?” 
 
    “I think the largest I can get for you is 25 megawatts. We’ll need to go to Karagon for a larger one.”  
 
    “OK. Let me get back to you on that. I should have an answer by morning.” Eugene turned to Michael. “Think we could do the Space Force briefing on Friday?” 
 
    “I think so. Let me put that in motion now. We should be able to get back to you later this afternoon or evening.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Commander Staal. I think I’ve found them.” 
 
    Commander Evelien Staal was the EAS Amsterdam’s first officer. She had second watch and was leading the search for the Enemy ship. 
 
    “What do you have, Lt. Gogolauri?” 
 
    Bakur Gogolauri, a former artillery officer in the Republic of Georgia’s Army, was second watch tactical officer on the Amsterdam.  
 
    The lieutenant popped up an image on the main monitor. “It looks like an asteroid but is on a non-ballistic course.” 
 
    Commander Stall walked over to the main monitor to get a closer look. “Are you sure it’s on a non-ballistic course? How long have you been tracking it?” 
 
    The lieutenant smiled. “It’s leaving behind an intermittent trail of ionized particles that our scanners can detect from a long way away. See them?” He pointed to a series of specks behind the asteroid. 
 
    “Now, check this out.” He zoomed the image out, so far out that the image of the asteroid was replaced by a blinking light that indicated its position. “See the trail of ionized particles stretching back several million miles? See how they’re slightly curved?” 
 
    “Yes.” The Commander nodded at him with a smile. “Good find. Any idea where they’re going?” 
 
    The lieutenant zoomed the image way out. “Assuming that the acceleration is constant, this is its course.” A dotted line popped up on the screen, then a blinking light appeared along the course. 
 
    “That blinking light is over a system designated as 3FH45287 in the Confederation database. It’s a couple of light-years from Celanar. The database indicates that this system is inhabited by an intelligent species with a nascent interstellar space program. They are capable of reaching about a dozen other star systems. It is one of the pirate systems in this area.” 
 
    “OK. The incident report indicated that the Enemy ship that commandeered the two Lanocean ships had been disguised as an asteroid.” The commander turned toward the astrogation station. 
 
    “Lt. Baba. Please plot an intercept course. Bring us in 1,000 miles behind the ship.” 
 
    Lt. Nassor Baba, formerly of the Egyptian Navy, served as the second watch astrogation officer. 
 
    “Course plotted and laid in, ma’am.” 
 
    “Let’s go see what we’ve found.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Check that out. It’s following a small ship whose markings match ships logged in the Confederation database. It’s a pirate ship from 3FH45287. Looks like we found the infected pirate ship and the original Enemy infiltration ship,” Commander Staal commented. 
 
    Lt. Gogolauri nodded his head in agreement. 
 
    “Captain to the bridge.” 
 
    … 
 
    “I think they may have spotted us.” 
 
    “Why do you say that, sir?” 
 
    “See all the dust on the hulls of both ships. It’s been increasing. I bet they are already launching themselves off at us.” 
 
    “Doing what?” 
 
    “They can live in the void, propel themselves through the void. And once away from the main horde, they are incredibly difficult to spot on sensors. Shields up!” Captain Flanagan shouted. 
 
    “Tactical, do we have the range on the main energy projectors to hit them from here?” 
 
    “It’s at the far limit, sir. Targeting will be terrible. It would be a miracle if we hit them.” 
 
    “OK. Bring us in. Nice and slow.” A pause. “Nassor. How long until we’re in range to bomb them?” 
 
    “We’re in range, sir.” 
 
    “OK. Coordinate with the other ships. Twelve flux bombs, four from each of our ships. Even spread around the pair of ships.” 
 
    “Understood sir.” 
 
    A few moments later the space around the two ships lit up with flux bomb detonations. 
 
    “Helm. Split the taskforce so that we approach on different vectors with each ship free to fire energy projectors. I want to catch them in a crossfire without having to worry about hitting each other.” 
 
    A few minutes later… “Hose them down. Max power, max spread. 
 
    … 
 
    “No sign of life aboard either ship, Captain.” Lt. Baba reported. 
 
    “Ms. Parikh. Can we drag them into a star?” 
 
    Lt. Bumati Parikh was the second watch science officer. 
 
    “Checking. Yes. We can tractor them in close enough to extend our jump field around them, but we would have to drop our shields to do it.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s run the Enemy trap over them to cleanse them. Then pull them in close so we can jump closer to the nearest star.” 
 
    “On it, sir.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Ha-Nu. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Thank you for taking my call. It’s been ten days since we last spoke. I was hoping you could give me an update.” 
 
    Michael had compassion for Ambassador Ha-Nu’s situation. The planet he represented, Jerusota, was a poor planet that had squandered its resources long ago.  
 
    “My friend, did you get the message I sent earlier this week? The one with the update about the Earth Alliance resolutions that are being proposed.” 
 
    “I did. But I don’t understand how they help. You agree to put up shields and provide protection and transportation services. But you do so for a fee. That doesn’t help. We have no means to pay. That’s not the way the Confederation works!” The Ambassador’s angst and frustration were clear in his voice. 
 
    “My friend. We have discussed this. The humans are innovative and have done amazing things in the six years they’ve been members. But they have little to offer other than their innovation and shield designs. 
 
    “Have you assembled the list of Jerusotan’s capabilities, ones that we might leverage to help you? The humans want to help, but they’ve only been members for six years. They have no industrial base. How many years have you been members? Surely you must have a more developed industrial base?” 
 
    Michael’s pleading eyes were met with icy silence. 
 
    “How can we help you if you’re not willing to help yourself?” Michael’s compassion was mostly lost on the Ambassador. 
 
    “I’m going to file a complaint!” Ambassador Ha-Nu spat. 
 
    “Do what you must,” Michael replied with a sigh. “We are more than willing to work with you. More than willing to help you succeed. But the humans have little more to offer you than Transluminide claims and shielding designs in exchange for access to idle manufacturing capacity.” 
 
    Michael watched in disbelief as the Ambassador got up, exited the room, and slammed the door. 
 
    The rot in the Confederation is worse than I ever could have imagined, Michael thought. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “Good afternoon, David!” James bubbled with excitement. “I have something very interesting for us to do today.” 
 
    “What are we going to do?” 
 
    “I want to take you out hunting.” 
 
    “Ah… Hunting for what?” 
 
    “The Enemy of course.” 
 
    David stared at James trying to figure out what he meant. 
 
    “I think this will be a good lesson for you. It took me a long time to be able to spot them from far away. It also took me a long time to figure out how to kill them. Neither of these is particularly hard once you know the trick. The problem is finding a controlled environment in which to practice.” 
 
    “OK.” David mostly kept his skepticism to himself. The effort made James laugh. 
 
    “David. For now, just trust. Captain Flanagan and his taskforce found and cleansed some ships the Enemy were using, the ones we found the other day. Curiously, one of those ships came from the Enemy home world some 10,000 years ago.  The other three were ships they commandeered when they came out of stasis. 
 
    “The Enemy must have seen the taskforce coming. Quite a few of their warriors exited the ships and attempted to attack the taskforce. When Captain Flanagan bombed the ships and dragged them off into a star, he left a couple dozen of the Enemy warriors floating around in interstellar space. We’re going to go find them and roast them.” 
 
    “Are you going to give me a clue about how that’s done before we go?” 
 
    “I suppose I could. But seeing and doing will be a lot faster and more effective. You’ll see. Let’s go.” James blossomed into light. Seconds later, David did the same. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    “OK. There are several of them ahead of us. They’re spread out a bit and slowly moving away. I’m surprised they haven’t turned to confront us.  
 
    “Spoke too soon. Here they come. Just stick close to me.” James’ voice sounded in David’s mind. 
 
    “The Enemy by nature is multidimensional. That means a bit of each of them is in two or more dimensions. That creates a pinhole in space-time. The challenge is learning to see that pinhole.  
 
    “Just watch the space in front of you. There are several of them there. Try looking at one of the stars. When the Enemy passes between you and the star, the star will blur a little.” 
 
    “Just saw one.” David sent back. “And another. But how do I follow them.” 
 
    “Next time you see one, try adjusting your focus. Eventually, you’ll learn to track the blur, even when it isn’t back lit.” 
 
    After several moments of silence. 
 
    “This is hard.” 
 
    “I know. Just keep at it, you can do it. It’s not all that hard once you learn the trick.” 
 
    More silence. 
 
    “Hey. There’s one on the left that looks like it’s trying to flank us.” David sent. 
 
    James glowed a little brighter in delight. “Good eye. Let’s back away a bit. See if we can isolate it.” 
 
    “Persistent bugger,” David sent. 
 
    “It will be easy to isolate this one. He’s too intent on getting around us.” 
 
    The two continued moving away from the larger group of Enemy combatants, drawing the aggressor away with them. 
 
    “You still tracking him?” James asked. 
 
    “Still tracking. You’re right, it’s not that hard once you learn the trick.” 
 
    “OK. Time for the next lesson. Keep tracking him. I’m going to blow him up. It’s easier to understand how this works once you’ve seen it happen. Ready?” 
 
    “Ready,” David replied enthusiastically. 
 
    A red light formed where the pinhole was, then flashed bright white. The Enemy exploded, tiny droplets of goo flying everywhere. 
 
    “Cool. You focused energy on the pinhole, right?” 
 
    Once again James’ glow brightened a bit. “I told you it would be easy to understand once you saw it.” 
 
    “But how do you do it?” David asked. 
 
    “I think you know,” James replied. 
 
    David hated answers like that and started to protest. But as the words started to form, it came to him. “You’re right. I think I know how to do it. I just reach a bit of myself out to touch the pinhole, then glow hot.” 
 
    Once again, James’ glow brightened. This time a lot. 
 
    “Check it out.” James motioned. “The others are running. Want to go fry a couple more?” 
 
    David shot out ahead of James. A little piece of him seemed to detach and flew toward one of the pinholes. It started glowing well before it got to the pinhole. The enemy saw what was coming and started zigzagging all over to avoid the contact. The little piece glowed hotter and hotter, then eventually hit the zigzagging pinhole. 
 
    “Got him!” David shouted, his glow brightening but beginning to spread. 
 
    “David. Attention on me now. Hold yourself together!” 
 
    David realized that in his excitement, he had allowed himself to spread. Fear settled in as he struggled to pull himself back together. After several moments of desperate struggle, his cloud of light tightened up and stabilized. 
 
    “We need to get you home.” 
 
    A moment later, they were back in James’ office. David coalesced into his human form and collapsed to the floor, exhausted. 
 
    Too much. James thought to himself, angry that he had allowed it to happen. I pushed him too hard and almost lost him.  
 
    In his exhaustion, David had passed out. James carefully gathered him up, put him in his regeneration chamber and launched a 24-hour regeneration cycle. 
 
    Too close. It was the most extreme regret James had felt in years. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BUTLER RESIDENCE 
 
    George quietly closed the bedroom door. “She’s asleep.” He walked into the living room. “I don’t think I’ve ever seen her this tired before.” 
 
    George’s mother, Helen, sat in the easy chair holding little George.  
 
    “Don’t worry, George. She’s fine. It’s natural to be tired after childbirth. Especially one as big as little George.” 
 
    Helen could see that her words weren’t helping that much. 
 
    “The doctor told us we should expect Noelani to sleep a lot over the next couple days. This is well within the bounds of what the other human androids have experienced.” 
 
    Little George squirmed a bit, then fell back asleep. 
 
    “He’s so sweet.” Then looking up. “George. Stop moping around. The little one is full and will sleep for the next two hours. Noelani too. I’ve got this. YOU need to go for a run.” Helen said in the voice that only mothers seem to have. 
 
    George smiled. “Good idea.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Thankfully, the Confederation had surveyed the first brown dwarf system on the list about 40,000 years ago. According to the notes in the database, the Fast Attack Ship that did the survey did so because some pirates were hiding in the system. They needed to do a fairly detailed stellar cartography scan in order to find the asteroid that held the pirate base. Planet sizes and orbits were plotted, but the focus had been on the asteroids. There was no further record of any Confederation activity in this system. 
 
    “Not much here sir.” First watch tactical officer Kusum Suttirat reported. “Four planets. A small inner rocky world about 0.1 AU from the dwarf. Two planets a little smaller than the Earth at 0.9 and 2.1 AU. Then one larger ice planet out at 8 AU. 
 
    “According to the Professor’s notes, the two middle planets are the most likely ones in which we would find a deposit. Lower probability on the ice planet, almost no chance on the inner rocky world.” 
 
    “Marie, please take us in to the second planet to start the scan.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    After their last watch, Lt. Bumati Parikh, second watch science officer, and Ensign Pari Sahni, third watch yeoman, had been relieved of watch duty for the remainder of this mission. They had worked with, and been trained by, Professor Schudel on the previous mining mission and were now taking over as the mission team.  
 
    Captain Flanagan had replaced them with the corresponding members of the fourth watch team added for this mission. Fourth watch astrogation officer Rachel Sharp had also been assigned to the mission team. 
 
    The three mission team members had assembled in the mission lab shortly before the mining scans had started up on the bridge. Their plan was to attempt to do their scans in parallel with the ones being done on the bridge. But it didn’t really work. The crew of the Amsterdam had done enough scans at this point that they knew how to do the screening scans fast. The precision equipment that they had in the lab simply couldn’t keep up. 
 
    “Ms. Parikh?” 
 
    “Captain. We’re having a problem down here. The deep scanners don’t run as fast as the bridge scanners. I spoke briefly with the Professor and he agrees. His suggestion is that we wait until the screening scans are done, then run the validation scans on the candidate sites that the watch crew finds.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    “If we routed the output from the bridge scanners down here, we could help with the screening scans.” 
 
    The Captain smiled. He loved the dedication of his crew. 
 
    “Thanks for offering, but I think it would be better if you took a break. We have three hours left on this scan, then hopefully your real work will begin. Why don’t you get a snack or take a nap? I’d rather have you fresh when this scan is done.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ARRANGEMENTS 
 
    [Thursday, 06.05.2031] MISSION LAB, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    The mission team had been called back at 3:12 AM, near the end of second watch. Bumati had taken a nap and was glad that she had. Three tightly focused ghosts had been found. 
 
    “For this first set of ghosts, I’d like Pari to pair with me for the detailed scan. Rachel, I’d like you to pair with me on the micro pull and content analysis. We can flip it around on the next set. I’d like to get to the point where any of the three of us could run the entire validation process on their own.” 
 
    Pari came over to the high-resolution scanner where Bumati had already started setting up the scan. “Sounds like a plan.” 
 
    Knowing that learning came faster when the student was at the controls, Bumati gave up her seat to Pari, then walked her through the first scan. 
 
    “It’s a very well-defined deposit that appears to be naturally occurring.” Bumati observed. “See the way it’s contoured and seems to flow between layers of other material? Most of the deposits we found earlier this year were meteor strikes. The scans on those are completely different. What does the scanner estimate the size to be?” 
 
    Pari entered the commands she’d been taught. “128 kilograms. That’s not very much. The ghost was so large, I thought we’d have a large find.” 
 
    “This is a solid find, worthy of registering.” Bumati replied. “But your point is right. The ghosting on this indicated something a lot larger. The reason is that the deposit is long and wide, but thin.” 
 
    Bumati got up and walked over to Rachel’s station. “Ready to do the sample pull. This will be a bit tricky.” 
 
    Together they adjusted the controls, selecting a thicker spot in the deposit where they hoped they could get a clean pull. 
 
    “Go ahead and push the button, Rachel.” 
 
    The lights dimmed and a small grain of gleaming material appeared in the sample container. 
 
    “Wow. I haven’t seen one glisten this brightly before. What’s the composition?” 
 
    “92.2% Transluminide, 4.16% Oxygen, 3.64% Silicon, almost no trace contaminants.” Rachel replied. 
 
    Quickly doing some math, Bumati noted that the oxygen-silicon ratio was the same as silicon dioxide. “Can we get an image of the surface of our sample. I bet the glistening is tiny quartz crystals.” 
 
    “Why quartz?” 
 
    “The weight percent ratios match silicon dioxide. Quartz is made of silicon dioxide and glistens like that. Quartz crystals are found in all kinds of natural geologic formations.” 
 
    Pari poked fun at Bumati. “You mean it’s just a guess.” 
 
    “Mostly, yes.” All three laughed at the exchange. 
 
    The comm system sounded. It was third watch officer, Lt. Commander Phú Bui. “Lt. Parikh. It’s watch change. Any update on the suspected deposit?” 
 
    “Yes, Commander. We have a small find. 128 kilograms, 92% pure. Expected net yield 118 kilograms. We have one more test to run, then we can move on.” 
 
    “Understood. We’ll proceed with the watch change. Please advise when you’re ready to move to the next site.” The commander dropped the line. 
 
    “Looks like you were right.” Rachel put an image on the monitor, showing the surface of the grain of Transluminide. There were numerous tiny crystals, each of which twinkled like a star. 
 
    “Wow. That’s beautiful. I’m going to message the professor. Send me the scans and the image so I can bind them in.” 
 
    Moments later. “Done.” 
 
    “OK. I’m going to message Commander Bui asking to move to the next site. Pari, want to walk us through the filing procedure?” 
 
    … 
 
    Three hours later, all three claims had been validated. Claims totaling 1,103 kilograms had been filed and the Amsterdam was on her way to the next planet in the system. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was up early. He quickly hit the refresher, grabbed a cup of coffee, settled into his home office and started checking his queue. 
 
    Ambassador Ha-Nu had filed a complaint, as promised. 
 
    Captain Flanagan’s taskforce had found and dispatched the Enemy threat in the systems near Celanar and were on their way to the first mining target. 
 
    Ambassador Ko-So from Atomorali wanted to connect with Michael today if possible. He had meetings with his Advisory Council tomorrow and wanted to give them an update 
 
    One of Michael’s detractors on the Central Council had requested that the ‘Milky Way fleet issue’ be put on the next Central Council meeting agenda. It appears that Ambassador Ha-Nu has found an ally. 
 
    The mission team on the EAS Amsterdam had found three ghosts on the first planet in the first system. Assuming that these panned out, Captain Flanagan would finish this system, then skip to the third system per his orders. 
 
    Michael sent a quick message to Ambassador Ko-So asking if he was available to meet in the presence projector. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR KO-SO’S OFFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku, thank you for getting back to me so quickly. I should have sent this request yesterday.” 
 
    “Ko-So, no problem at all. I wanted to speak with you also.” 
 
    “I received your update and am very excited about the possibility of being assigned some Transluminide claims. Do you really have any within the range of our mining ships?” 
 
    “Right now, no.” Michael saw his friend deflate at the news. “But we think we may have found one. One of our ships will be in your area within the next 72 hours to confirm the find and file the claim.” 
 
    “I was hoping that I could say we had something firm. Like many of the other Confederation planets in the sector, we’ve exhausted our Transluminide supplies and have been relying on the Fleet to deliver enough to keep our economies alive. 
 
    “As I mentioned in my message to you, our Advisory Council meets tomorrow. It’s the last meeting before the election recess. They will not meet again for at least two months. If I had a validated claim in my hands tomorrow, I could get authorization to negotiate a deal and use a recess approval to put it in place while they are out. Looks like we’re not going to be able to progress on this issue for a couple months.” 
 
    As the newest ambassador in the sector, Michael had little contact with the other allied planets until recently. It had been quite a wake-up call. The Confederation had come in with big promises but had done little other than create dependent welfare states, unable to lift themselves up out of their poverty. 
 
    “Have you made a list of products or services that you could make available for trade? Earth has the means to purchase goods if you have the means to make them.” 
 
    “I have, but it does not give me much hope. We can make all the standard commodity items like power cubes, small shield generators and replicators. Most of our custom products are not of interest to people off planet because of the differences in physiology. 
 
    “Some years ago, the Institute here came up with something that we thought would help. But our market vanished after the Central Council placed a ban on EQD, sorry, Entangled Quantum Derangement. Few people off our world have ever heard of it, but everyone on Atomorali knows the acronym.” 
 
    Michael’s interest was suddenly piqued. EQD had taken down a Space Force ship three months ago. 
 
    “Could you tell me about the EQD?” 
 
    “You’ve heard of this?” Ko-So asked. 
 
    “Yes. I participated in putting the ban in place on research into EQD after the explosion on De-Ba-Ro 3a.” 
 
    “One of our Ascendants participated in the early identification of EQD as an issue and developed a type of quantum computer that is immune.” 
 
    “Earth would be very interested in acquiring computers like that if they are truly immune. Could I put one of my people in touch with you.” 
 
    “This is very esoteric stuff Mi-Ku. I know little more than the label. If you have an expert, I could connect them with mine.” 
 
    “Excellent! Back to the discussion about a trade and assistance package. If you’re willing to work with us, we’ll find a way to get you the Transluminide. And I’ll see what I can do to get you an update on a claim before your meeting tomorrow.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Captain Flanagan, EAS Amsterdam.” Michael called out, triggering the connection. 
 
    The captain was just getting out of the refresher when the communicator in his cabin chimed. He grabbed it without looking at the caller ID. “Flanagan.” 
 
    “Captain Flanagan. Michael here. I need a favor.” 
 
    Chris looked at the caller ID. It read Ambassador Michael. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. You caught me off guard. How can I help you sir?” 
 
    “I need a find in the third system on your list in 12 hours.” 
 
    If this had been anyone else, Chris would have just laughed at them. System 3 was a little over 300 light years away. Quickly checking his data pad, Chris saw that three claims had been filed last night and they were now about to depart for the next planet. 
 
    “We found and filed three claims on the second planet in the first system. Does that help?” 
 
    “Sadly, no. It must be in the third or fourth system. Professor Schudel says that the third system is more likely to have a find.” 
 
    “Michael. This puts me in a real bind. Since there was a find on the first planet, my orders are to complete the scans here, then move to the third system. Any countermand of those orders needs to come from Admiral Scott.” 
 
    “Understood. Would it be within the bounds of your orders to race one of your ships ahead?” 
 
    Silence on the line. 
 
    “We are about to break orbit. If you can get me updated or clarified orders in the next 20 minutes, we can go with no loss of time.” 
 
    “I think I can do that. Thank you for working with me on this, Captain.” Michael quickly dropped the line and initiated a connection with Admiral Scott. 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael. What can I do for you this morning?” 
 
    “I urgently need some help that I think is within your command authority. I need the Amsterdam to redirect to the third system on their list with all urgency.” 
 
    “This is an unusual request Michael. May I ask the reason?” 
 
    “System Three is designated for the trade deal with Atomorali. The deal will not progress if we cannot promise a claim. I just found out that their Advisory Council is scheduled to meet in 15 hours and will not progress the deal if we do not have a claim to offer. System 3 on Captain Flanagan’s list is the most likely location we know of where we might find such a claim.” 
 
    The Admiral was slow replying, obviously unhappy to have been put in this position. 
 
    “Admiral. This is critically important for Space Force. Atomorali is the only place in the Confederation that makes computers that are immune from Entangled Quantum Derangement. It might be years before we get those computers if we don’t have a claim to offer in the next 15 hours.” 
 
    “Understood. Orders will go out momentarily.” 
 
    “Thank you and sorry that we got caught by surprise like this.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir. Space Force will do almost anything to find a defense against EQD. Thank you for bringing us this opportunity.” 
 
    As the line dropped, Michael sighed a breath of relief. Too much is happening too fast. 
 
    There was a light knock on the door. It cracked open a little. “You still here?” It was Sarah. 
 
    “Yes. The normal series of morning crises. But this morning was a little too close.” 
 
    “What’s up? Can you talk about it?” 
 
    “Atomorali. A planet about 800 light years further out on our spiral arm. The people there, the Atomoi, are among the most alien in the Confederation. They are also very particular about things. I just found out that they make computers that are immune from EQD, the weapon that took down the Helsinki a couple months back.” 
 
    “That’s a good thing, right?” Sarah prompted. 
 
    “That they have such a thing, yes. Well I spoke with their Ambassador this morning. He told me that we needed to have a Transluminide claim to put on the table in order to progress the trade negotiations.” 
 
    “That was expected, right?” Sarah asked to clarify. 
 
    “Within the next 15 hours.” 
 
    “Oh, he just told you that now.” Sarah was shocked but apparently able to see more humor in the situation than Michael could. She could barely contain the laugh. 
 
    Michael looked up at her questioningly and she lost containment. 
 
    “What?” Michael asked, a puzzled grin forming. 
 
    “You can’t see the humor in this?” Sarah continued laughing. 
 
    Her laughter was contagious, and Michael joined in. “Maybe.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta. Thank you for meeting with me.” 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Thank you for arranging this call.” 
 
    From the formality with which Fa-Ta responded, Michael worried that this was going to be a difficult call. 
 
    “I heard about what happened during the last goods pickup.” Michael started. 
 
    “Yes. Completely unacceptable that the pickup arrangements were changed without our being told about it in advance.” 
 
    “Yes. We sent a different ship. But we send a different ship each time. I’m not sure I understand what the problem was.” 
 
    “We were not prepared to load a ship that large.” 
 
    “But I’m told that you were. All the goods were available. I’m told you went to great lengths to stage the goods so they could be sequentially loaded on three of our Fast Attack Ships.” 
 
    Michael got a very icy stare from the Ambassador. 
 
    “Maybe you could explain the problem to me in a little more detail.” Michael suggested. “We believed our actions were completely in line with our trade agreement. You obviously do not. It’s in both our best interests to figure out what went wrong.” 
 
    After several moments silence, the Ambassador nodded toward Michael. “Agreed. Let me give you some background. Karagon has a lot to offer. We are a favorite trading partner and a popular tourist destination. I know that you know this, but please bear with me. 
 
    “Few of our trading partners are large. Most tourist groups are small. That means the number of trade ships and the number of tourist ships are large. Our orbital space is extremely congested. Therefore, orbital slots are tightly controlled and doled out in tiny increments of time. 
 
    “When the Fleet Armada would visit, our economy would go into turmoil because they would commandeer too much of our orbital space. Eventually we came to an agreement that the larger ships had to be parked in extreme orbits, way out there. We had managed to obtain a slot for one of your Fast Attack Ships to be in orbit one hour. This is very expensive. When your cruiser came, they had to clear numerous entire orbital bands for it to even take a close orbit. Then it sat there for nearly eight hours. This has a huge impact on the entire planet.” 
 
    Michael nodded his head in understanding. “Thank you for that explanation. I had no idea. But why wasn’t this put on the table as a term in the trade agreement? We would have worked this problem with you.” 
 
    “An obvious error on our part. We were desperate to get the shields and wanted to minimize the barriers to obtaining them. Couple that with your willingness to assign us a Transluminide claim and the economic relief that would give us nearly a year… We just wanted to close the deal.” 
 
    “Well, given that this issue was known and not disclosed as part of the deal, I’m going to refuse the damage claim you have filed. You had multiple other remedies you could have tried. You chose the one you did and the damages that resulted are the result of the choice you made.” 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta started to protest, but Michael raised his hand. 
 
    “You have the right to appeal, which we will respect. But if you do appeal then we will exercise our right to suspend the deal, including your rights to mine, until the dispute is settled.” 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta seemed to deflate at Michael’s words. 
 
    “But let’s put that behind us and start negotiations on the next deal. In it, let’s lay out acceptable delivery and pickup terms. We want this relationship to work. We want to be your best trading partner, your closest ally. So let’s get this done right. And let’s get it done as quickly as possible. If you’d like we can have the new agreement supersede the current one once it is signed. In the meantime, we will only use our Fast Attack Ships for goods pickup. And I will start working a process to acquire smaller ships for transport that can do more frequent pickups.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku. I’m sorry we didn’t get this right the first time but am grateful to have an ally and trading partner like you. May I send you a proposal for a new trade deal? I can have a draft in a few days.” 
 
    “Thank you. That would be good.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESIDENT LEE’S OFFICE 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for taking my call on short notice.” 
 
    “Michael, how can I help you?” 
 
    “Have you heard about the most recent goods pick up at Karagon?” 
 
    “I heard a rumor that there’d been a problem, but no clue what it was.” 
 
    “This was going to be a large shipment. We would’ve had to send three Fast Attack Ships to get it all, so we decided to send our new Cruiser instead. This caused major problems. 
 
    “I just spoke with Ambassador Fa-Ta. Their orbital space is very congested with large numbers of small ships. When we schedule pick-ups, they have to go to great expense to clear enough space for one of our Fast Attack Ships. Clearing space for the Cruiser caused a crisis.” 
 
    President Lee struggled to understand why Michael would be calling him about this. “Seems like an easy problem to solve, just don’t do it again.”  
 
    “We have a similar problem shaping up with our prospective trading partners and with the Cruiser build-out program we’re proposing.” 
 
    “I’m not sure what you’re getting at Michael.” 
 
    “Sorry. I didn’t mean to confuse. The issue is that we need a class of smaller freighter ships. Karagon and the other prospective partners would prefer more frequent visits with smaller ships. 
 
    “Ironically, we have a similar problem. In order to do a faster build out of Space Force, we need a better way to shuttle material to our manufacturing lines. 
 
    “I asked our design teams to do a thought exercise on this topic. Turns out we can build 24 Military Freighters for the same cost as 10 Fast Attack Ships. These freighters would be ideal for trade, material handling and a number of other missions.” 
 
    “That’s interesting.” 
 
    “That’s what our design, manufacturing and trade teams think.” 
 
    “What would you like me to do?” 
 
    “I’d like to include these ships in our presentation tomorrow. Maybe update the request to have 200 Military Freighters and 100 more Fast Attack Ships, instead of the 200 in the current plan. I’d also like to propose that the authorization give us flexibility to adjust the mix as we go. I suspect that once we’ve read Admiral Scott in on this, he will want to double that number.” 
 
    “That seems reasonable to me. I’ll adjust the presentation.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    “Hey, Joel.” 
 
    “Vitya? Long time.” 
 
    Vitya Tarasovich was an Ascendant. His employee file said that he came to Earth in 2026 and was assigned as an adjunct to the Consulate in Russia. Several months earlier, he’d returned to the Embassy. Technically, he still worked in the diplomatic corps, but after an incident in Russia that he had handled very poorly, he’d been given an assignment in its tech support group.  
 
    Joel and Vitya had worked on a project together while Joel was Consul General to Israel. Joel had heard that Vitya was returning to the Embassy. Today was the first time he’d seen him since the return. 
 
    “Long time indeed. And now we’re both doing tech work. Cool.” 
 
    “Technically, I’m manufacturing, but that’s tech I suppose. What can I help you with?” asked Joel. 
 
    “Several of the humans have complained that their personal shields aren’t working properly. I’ve tried diagnosing them, but really don’t know much about these things. I was hoping you might point me in the right direction.” 
 
    “Sure, just a minute.” 
 
    Using his implant, Joel quickly routed through the tech documents and tagged the technical specification, debugging and field repair documents. 
 
    “Let me pass them to you.” Joel held out his communicator. Vitya touched his to Joel’s and its ID popped up. Joel captured the ID, attached it to the documents and sent them. 
 
    There was a beep on Vitya’s communicator. “Got them. Thanks Joel.” 
 
    As Vitya left, Joel frowned after him curiously. What’s up with this guy? That was the simplest possible search. Didn’t he do the basic tech assist training package? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MINING LAB, DECK ONE 
 
     Bumati had taken a short nap. She’d seen the toll that the previous mining mission had taken on the Professor. The four hours on, four hours off work schedule was a killer. So, she wanted to get ahead on her rest.  
 
    She was back and re-calibrating the scanner when the Captain came in. 
 
    “Lt. Parikh. Just want to check in with you, see how things are going.” 
 
    “Going well, sir. I was a little worried at first. The Professor is a walking encyclopedia. But he trained me well. If they’re all this easy, then there won’t be any problems.” 
 
    “I saw that you sent a note to the Professor. Can you tell me what that was about?” 
 
    “Sure. The first claim had a really interesting formation. It was obviously a natural formation, not an asteroid hit. But check this out.” She quickly popped an image of the sample grain up on the screen. 
 
    “See how it glistens. I’m sure these are little quartz crystals that grew in the Transluminide.” 
 
    “Why do you think it’s quartz.” 
 
    “The impurities, they have the exact chemical composition of silicon dioxide, the basic building block of quartz. My mom always said, if it walks like a crystal and talks of silicon dioxide, it must be quartz.” 
 
    “Your Mom actually said that?” 
 
    “Well, I think she used the duck version.”  
 
    It took a moment to sink in, then the captain burst out laughing. 
 
    “So what do you think of the two ghosts we’ve found?” 
 
    “If these two are the choices, I’d go with the second one first. It’s smaller but extremely well formed, reminiscent of the two we found with the Oslo. The ones that hit while the crust was pliant. Won’t know until we look. But that’s where I’d look.” 
 
    “Deal. Sounds like our ship has its own encyclopedia.” The Captain said with a smile. “I’ll let the commander know.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Captain Flanagan had received new orders within minutes of his call from Michael. Getting a claim in system three was apparently more urgent than he’d expected. 
 
    One of the nice things about working in brown dwarf systems was that the central gravitational well was much less deep than in main sequence systems. That meant they could jump out sooner and jump in closer. It only took 30 minutes to get to the initial jump point once they broke orbit. 
 
    System 3, formally designated 3FX01-467-029-716 in the Confederation database, had also been charted at some point. That meant they could jump in to a point that was two times the orbit of the outermost planet, about 1,000 AU from the dwarf. 
 
    They were about three-quarters of the way through the scan of the first planet and already had two well-formed ghosts. 
 
    It was second watch, so the Captain decided to go down to the lab on deck one to check in on the mining team. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku, I’m sad to say I call with news.” Jo-Na looked solemn. 
 
    “Of recent, that’s been my role,” Michael said light-heartedly. “Nonetheless, great to hear from you, my friend.” 
 
    Silence. 
 
    “Ah, news. News I’m not going to like very much, I suppose.” 
 
    “Our investigation into the destruction of the Helsinki is mostly complete,” Jo-Na started. “But our lead on the last open item has just blown up in our face.” 
 
    “The Ascendant, Ju-Ne?” Michael asked, surprised that this could be a loose end. 
 
    “Yes. He worked in the Inspector’s office. We finally got his personnel record unlocked. His restoration chamber was on a secure moon operated by Military Intelligence. We finally got access to the facility and went in to make the arrest. Turns out he was not there, was never there. It was a falsified entry in the Military Intelligence database. His whereabouts are unknown and there is a great deal of speculation that he is in the Milky Way, not Andromeda.” 
 
    Michael was shaken. Ju-Ne had been ejected from his avatar about three months ago. An Ascendant could continue for about that long once disconnected from its avatar. But if he was in the Milky Way, he could be anywhere. Almost every member planet had hospitals that could grow a new avatar and connect it to its Ascendant. Those procedures were required to be logged, but none had been. That’s why they’d assumed Ju-Ne was in a protected place in Andromeda. But if he wasn’t where he was registered to be, then he could be operating a new avatar almost anywhere. 
 
    “Do you have any leads? Any leads at all?” 
 
    “None.” 
 
    “Then in all likelihood, he is here, and we are in for big trouble.” For the first time on Earth, Michael could feel disaster closing in on him. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    David’s restoration cycle would be completed momentarily. James had checked on him several times over the last couple hours. All looked to be in order, but yesterday’s events had really shaken James. 
 
    James put some towels on a rack, near the door of the restoration chamber, laid out some clothes on another rack nearby, then disappeared into the other room. 
 
    A chime sounded and the restoration chamber’s door opened. 
 
    “David. I’ve laid out towels and clothes for you.” 
 
    James heard some sloshing around. Then the room blossomed in a huge cloud of brilliant light. “Ready to roast some Enemy?” An enormous voice echoed in James’ mind. 
 
    “David?” James called out, then for the first time in his life, James found himself converted to energy and sucked across the boundary by a force he could not resist. 
 
    “James. Thank you. I understand now. It’s time we put an end to the Enemy near Celanar.” David shot away, pulling James along in his wake. 
 
    … 
 
    They arrived near the spot they met the Enemy yesterday. James was a bit dazed. It was the first time someone had just ‘grabbed him by the hand and pulled him along’ in... Longer than I can remember, he mused. 
 
    “There they are. Dozens of them!” David’s thought pounded loudly in James’ mind. 
 
    Still a bit dazed, James started to ask what was going on. But, fountain after fountain of goo answered the question. 
 
    “David, stop!” James shouted. 
 
    A few more geysers of goo went off, then David hovered next to him. 
 
    “Thank you, James. I understand now.” 
 
    James’ heart swelled, as did his glow. But it was dwarfed by David’s. 
 
    “There are still a few more. Want to get them?” David’s excitement was contagious. 
 
    “Yes. But can we take it a little slower? I don’t want a repeat of yesterday.” 
 
    David cast his attention on James, immediately grasping James’ concern and, for the first time, truly understanding James’ age. 
 
    “Sorry about yesterday.” David’s regret was sincere. Then, after a pause. “James, thank you. I overstepped yesterday and was almost lost. You saved me. But now I understand. It’s not something you can know until you’ve been there. Is it?” 
 
    James was unusually silent. 
 
    “The same thing happened to you once didn’t it?” David pried. “I don’t have your empathic ability, but I can sense it.” 
 
    “Indeed. I thought I could bring you to the edge with a little more finesse. Should have known that isn’t possible.” 
 
    “Let’s go get the last ones.” David cast his attention toward the last five Enemy, who were trying to scoot away as fast as possible. “Then we can resume our lessons.” 
 
    James’ glow expanded. It had been a painfully long time since he had a peer. He’d hoped to find one on Earth. Maybe together they could find others. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    “Joel, Henry here.” 
 
    “Hey, Henry. What’s up.” 
 
    “Just wanted to let you know that we finished Cruiser 4, the EAS Estonia, a couple hours early. I want to convert the manufacturing line over to do a round of four mining platforms. I know we don’t have the authorization to establish new mines yet. But this is going to be our most efficient time to make them in a while. If we don’t get the authorization, we can label these as hot swap spares. Something we’ve been planning to do anyway.” 
 
    “Clever idea, Henry.” 
 
    “It’ll take about 24 hours. Ship 6, the EAS China, will get started a few hours late. But with the current materials constraint, we’ll still be done in time to start the next Cruiser on schedule.” 
 
    “Great news, Henry. How’s the Mexico coming?” 
 
    The EAS Mexico had been started on time at Lagrange 5 earlier in the week. It was the first cruiser being built on this line. 
 
    “No real problems so far. We’re very tight on raw material from the mines, so we’ll probably need to pause once the hull is done, waiting on materials for the decking.” 
 
    “Understood. This was expected. The new mining platforms will go a long way toward solving the problem. I hope it is approved tomorrow.” 
 
    “Will let you know when the platforms are ready. We may have the authorization by then. The sooner they are towed into place, the sooner we can get started on the next Cruiser.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’s LAB 
 
    Eugene had spent much of the day today fine tuning the presentation for the briefing tomorrow. He now had the deception polished enough that he thought he might be able to pull it off. 
 
    The next challenge was going to be scaling up for the test. He thought he knew what needed to be done, so jumped into the scaled up ultra-shield design. He would scale it to handle a 10 km asteroid.


 
   
  
 

 BRIEFING 
 
    [Friday, 06.06.2031] MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Once again, it was 3 AM. System 3, formally designated 3FX01-467-029-716, had turned out to be a gold mine. A total of five claims had been registered, three on the first planet, two on the second. The mission team was just finishing its day. They’d filed claims totaling 5,633 kgs. 
 
    “Commander Staal,” Bumati called out, activating a comm connection. 
 
    “Are we done, Ms. Parikh?”  
 
    “We are done. The last claim just went out. We filed claims totaling 5,633 kg in this system.” 
 
    “Good job. Get some rest once you’ve wrapped it up. We’ll be heading back to planet two in the first system. We may need you back in six to eight hours.” 
 
    “Will do. Thank you, ma’am.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    It was the first time Eugene and Kelly had been in the Space Force Command building. The only material they’d brought was a portable holoprojector and a secure chip that held the briefing materials. 
 
    They were greeted in the reception area by a young Asian woman in excellent physical condition. “Dr. Xu, Ms. Williamson. I’m Ensign Song Yu, first watch yeoman on the EAS Oslo. The briefing room is set up. If you’ll come with me, I’ll introduce you to our leadership team. We are expecting quite a few people today. We’re all very excited to hear what you have to tell us.” 
 
    Ensign Yu’s enthusiasm for her job was clearly on display. She set off down the hall at a brisk pace. As they got to a turn in the hallway, they heard the sound of a crowd gathering, but they whisked past it. They entered a room another 75 feet down the hall. 
 
    Ensign Yu walked up to a tall athletic older woman, snapped to attention and saluted. “Captain Bjork. Our guests are here.” 
 
    The Captain returned the salute, then went over to Eugene and Kelly and offered her hand. “Dr. Xu, Ms. Williamson. I’m Katrine Bjork, Captain of the EAS Oslo.” 
 
    Eugene was momentarily frozen by the sheer force of presence surrounding the Captain. 
 
    “Captain Bjork. I’m Kelly Williamson. It’s a pleasure to meet you Ma’am,” Kelly said, shaking the Captain’s hand. 
 
    Eugene, recovering his senses, followed quickly. “Pleased to meet you, Captain. Has the Oslo been assigned to work with us?” 
 
    “Indeed, we have. And I’m very much looking forward to it. The Admiral and Secretary will be joining us shortly, as will the Ambassador.” 
 
    Moments later, Ensign Yu brought Michael into the room, followed by two men that Eugene thought he recognized. 
 
    “Eugene, Kelly. Welcome. Let me introduce Winston Thompson, Secretary of Space Force, and Admiral Samuel Scott, the military head of Space Force. 
 
    Greetings were exchanged. 
 
    “Word got out that you would be here today. And requests came in from various ships that may be involved in the final battle. So we invited their command officers to join us. Captain Bjork will be working with you through the testing process, so we assigned her as your host. The six of us will meet after your presentation to discuss the best place to conduct the test.” A ding sounded on the clock in the room. 
 
    “Shall we?” Michael indicated the door to the briefing room. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIEFING ROOM 
 
    After introductions, Eugene was given the podium. They had agreed ahead of time that Eugene would cover the theory of the device and Kelly would cover the planned test. 
 
    “The weapon we have created for the final conflict is a truly terrible one. We should all fear it. The universe would be a better place if it had never been discovered. It has the power to kill an entire planet. A large device would have the power to extinguish a star.” 
 
    Eugene’s statement triggered a large inhalation of air by the assembled officers. 
 
    “Its very existence is an extreme danger to every planet, every people, every living being. Kelly and I discovered it, mostly Kelly actually. And we both wish we could forget what we discovered. But we cannot. And now that we have it, we will use it to destroy the Enemy in a single genocidal strike. But once that is done, all knowledge of the actual mechanism of action will be destroyed. 
 
    “As you are the ones being tasked to deliver the weapon, it’s only fair that you be given a high-level understanding of what the weapon does, how it must be delivered, and the precautions we have taken to assure your safety.” 
 
    Eugene paused a moment to take a breath, hoping that he had the acting skill to pull off the deception he was about to attempt. Then he clicked a button to project the first holoimage. 
 
    A ball of red material appeared in front of the room hovering 7 feet in the air. The surface of the ball was in constant motion, undulating in no discernable pattern. 
 
    “This is red matter. It is an extremely unstable form of matter that by its nature is trans-dimensional. Like many of the subatomic particles human physics knows about, red matter is transient. That is to say, it never exists by itself. It only exists for the picoseconds required for it to trigger a transition between dimensions. 
 
    “During a freak accident in a far outpost of the Confederation, an instance of red matter came into being. It was recorded and documented, but no one ever solved the math that described the phenomenon.  
 
    “In case that sounds familiar, the same thing was true for efficient jump drives and enemy resistant shielding just a year ago. No one could solve the math until Kelly and I did. I solved the jump drive. Kelly, who had been trained in the branch of mathematics I’d created some years ago, joined me in solving the Enemy-resistant shields. And has joined me again in finding the basis for capturing and containing red matter. 
 
    “But, what’s so special about it? What makes red matter such a potent weapon? 
 
    “The answer is painfully simple. Red matter doesn’t exist in our space-time, because it CAN’T exist in space-time. Whenever it transits into our space time and comes into contact with any particle of matter, the two simply slide into another dimension. The normal matter usually falls back but it comes back in a lower energy state. Sometimes it will pull back one or more particles of red matter when it falls back. And the cycle repeats. Flood enough red matter into our space time and it triggers a chain reaction. Like a nuclear bomb, the chain reaction will run until all its fuel is exhausted. Unlike a nuclear bomb, all regular matter is its fuel. Injecting a critical mass of red matter into any object in our space time will trigger a chain reaction that will run until all the regular matter within its reach is completely drained of all its energy.” 
 
    Someone in the back called out, “You mean it freezes?” 
 
    Admiral Scott cast a dark expression on the interrupter. 
 
    “Yes. Depending on the nature of the object and the amount of red matter, once the red matter is released, a chain reaction will run until the entire object rests at something close to absolute zero. An asteroid, a moon, a planet, a star, a cloud of interstellar dust… Whatever the object, a sufficient quantity of red matter will trigger a reaction that drains it of all its energy before the reaction stops.” 
 
    Eugene paused to let the implications sink in. He looked many people straight in the eye, so they would understand the seriousness of what he was saying. 
 
    “What that means is that the very fabric of space time will churn. It will churn, and churn, and churn some more until the object approaches absolute zero.” 
 
    “As you might expect, the reaction can run for a relatively long time, longer than you might expect. That’s because each transition only steals a little bit of energy.” 
 
    “So how do we weaponize this phenomenon? Amazingly simple, actually. We’ve developed a device that pulls the red matter out of the air, so to speak, in a manner similar to the way our zero-point energy power units work.” 
 
    A cartoonish animation played. It showed red matter being pulled out of the air and being collected in a bubble. 
 
    “The bubble you see is a transparent shield that isolates the red matter.” 
 
    The cartoon zoomed out to show some Enemy combatants spun up in their dust state. 
 
    “We encapsulate the enemy in a shield.” 
 
    The cartoon showed a field forming around the Enemy, who apparently didn’t notice it. 
 
    “Then we transport the bubble of red matter into the shield holding the Enemy.” 
 
    The cartoon showed the red matter disappearing from the container in the ship and appearing within the shield. 
 
    “Then we form an ultra-thick, high-density shield around the Enemy.” 
 
    The cartoon showed a thick black circle form around the Enemy. 
 
    “Then we release the containment of the bubble holding the red matter.” 
 
    The cartoon showed the red matter expanding in a churning ice storm slowly filling the black circle and causing it to bulge. A clock face appeared, the minute hand spinning through a couple hours at very high speed. When it stopped, the black circle went away, and cartoonish ice crystals fell to the floor. 
 
    The room erupted in applause. 
 
    Eugene put his hands up to quiet the crowded room. 
 
    “That was a fun little cartoon. Now let me show you a simulation of the same quality we used to build your jump drives.” 
 
    Eugene pushed the button, the lights in the room faded and an image of Earth taken from about halfway to the moon appeared. An undulating ball of sinister red appeared, then zoomed away toward the Earth. The entire Earth disappeared inside an opaque, black sphere. A clock appeared and spun through several days at high speed, then the black sphere dissipated, showing a frozen, misshapen rock. 
 
    The room was dead still. 
 
    “That is why I will never reveal how this weapon is made. You’ve seen the way it works and been given a glimpse of the method of action. Some of you will see this happen to the enemy home world. But we will never reveal how it is actually done. It is knowledge that cannot be allowed to exist.” 
 
    The room was silent as Eugene walked to his seat and sat down. 
 
    … 
 
    Michael now fully understanding the horror of the weapon they’d created stood and walked to the podium.  
 
    “Thank you, Eugene. Thank you, Kelly. I didn’t fully understand your concerns about this weapon until seeing the simulation.” 
 
    Then, turning to address the gathered officers, he added, “For obvious reasons, word of what you’ve seen and heard today cannot leave this room. You will be presented with security level 10 agreements to sign by the end of the day. But please understand, you are bound by them now. We should have limited the number allowed to view this today. Nonetheless, everyone here today may be called upon to deploy this weapon against the Enemy. 
 
    “The topic of this briefing was widely known. If someone asks you about it, tell them that the content is classified and highly restricted, and you cannot say anything. 
 
    “The next part of the presentation is only really relevant to the Oslo. If you are with the Oslo, please stay. Everyone else is dismissed.” 
 
    … 
 
    Kelly’s presentation went smoothly. She showed an image of the device. Explained how it would be fired, then walked through the safety and test protocols. 
 
    “Thank you for your time and attention. The tests run over the next week will be the key to confirming whether or not we have a solution. They will also yield the data we need to finalize the specifications for the device we use against the Enemy home world. I look forward to working with you.” 
 
    Admiral Scott stood. The officers other than Captain Bjork were dismissed. 
 
    … 
 
    “We’ve found a system in the Confederation database that seems to be perfect for the tests you want to run. It’s an A-type main-sequence star, 29.2 light years from Earth. It’s very bright, which will create a high-contrast silhouette to observe the ultra-shield. At this brightness level, it should be easy to observe the shield’s formation and confirm that it does not leak any light.  
 
    “The system has several asteroids in the 10- to 50-kilometer range. They are in relatively stable orbits 1 to 2 AU from the star. We could test on several of them. 
 
    “The system’s Confederation designation is 3FX03-899-598-488.” Captain Bjork explained. “Do you think this would work?” 
 
    Eugene looked to Kelly who nodded. “I think this is good. Our equipment has not been hardened to withstand extreme radiation. So, we would want to position at a range comparable to the radiation we experience in near-Earth orbit.” 
 
    “Understood.” Captain Bjork replied. “It will take us two, maybe three hours to get there. When do you think you’ll be ready to leave?” 
 
    “I need to confirm the availability of some equipment with Joel. Assuming he can get that equipment over the weekend, I think Kelly and I can be ready on Monday.” 
 
    “Understood. Let us know when you have done the determination.” 
 
    … 
 
    Eugene and Kelly walked silently out of Space Force headquarters, Ensign Yu bubbling with excited chatter the whole way. 
 
    “Ensign Yu.” Eugene said as they exited the building. “Thank you for your help and enthusiasm. We can find our way from here.” 
 
    “Dr. Xu, Ms. Williamson. Thank you for the work you’ve done. It’s an honor to work with you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Once off Space Force grounds, they chose the western branch of the trail into Riverside Park and walked silently for 10 minutes. Once past the agreed landmark, Kelly said. “I think that went pretty well. Your presentation was credible, and your graphics were excellent.” 
 
    “Thanks. I feel a little guilty. I hate intentionally misleading people. Hopefully, the ends will justify the means. I think you handled your topics very professionally, more so than I did. I think my reticence about creating a weapon of this potency makes me come off looking like a hot head.” 
 
    “Thanks, Eugene. But remember. Everyone looks up to you.” 
 
    “Look who’s talking.” Eugene smiled back. “I hope we still hold that respect when this is done.” 
 
    “As you said… If this comes off everyone will believe us. Everyone will love us. And maybe we’ll get our lives back again.” 
 
    “Changing subject. Think we’ll be ready on Monday?” 
 
    “Only if you get the intermediate scale-ups done.” Kelly teased. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Ka-Re. Thank you for setting up this call.” 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Thank you for taking the time to meet with me.” 
 
    Ambassador Ka-Re was the Confederation’s Ambassador to the planet Nutarogen. He was Lorexian and occupied an avatar in the form of the Nutarian people. 
 
    “I received the message you sent earlier this week. At first, I was surprised and, in truth, a bit offended. I don’t think I’ve ever been asked to pay for Confederation services before.  
 
    “But as I thought back through our conversation from several weeks ago, I finally understood. Earth is a new member. It’s not the Confederation. And although the humans have been very clever about locating Transluminide, they don’t even have the means to mine it yet. 
 
    “I must admit. I am very impressed with what you’ve done with these humans of yours. Would never have guessed that a new member could do what they’ve done.” 
 
    “Does that mean you would be interested in developing trade with Earth?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Absolutely. The Nutarians, like your humans, are a very productive, hard-working people. They are innovative and clever. The opportunity to mine Transluminide claims once again has our Alliance representatives very excited. It will revive our economy, give us security and get us connected with our allies in this sector. There was a little complaining that the prices are high. But you are the one giving us the Transluminide, so it would be foolish to complain.  
 
    “Do you know how much Transluminide you might be able to assign to us?” 
 
    The Ambassador’s question made Michael smile. It was clear that his interest was in the Transluminide supply they were going to get. They would have to start by assigning a small claim. 
 
    “We have numerous claims in a variety of sizes. I don’t have the list at hand, but let me assure you that there will be plenty if we can come to an agreement.” 
 
    “Would it help if I sent a proposal?” Ambassador Ka-Re asked. 
 
    “Let’s wait until we’ve had a chance to talk a little more. Shall I schedule a call for next week?” 
 
    “If that’s what’s needed. But our Alliance is anxious to get this underway. Our Transluminide reserves are low, at a level that will be problematic in a couple more months.” 
 
    “Understood.” Michael replied. “And rest assured. Earth wants this deal as much as you do.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE ADVISORY COUNCIL ASSEMBLY CHAMBER 
 
    President Lee gaveled the session to order. 
 
    “Good morning. You are all aware of the issues our sector is facing since the loss of the Confederation Armada. More requests for assistance have come in since our last meeting. Ambassador Michael has a proposal for us to consider and discuss this morning. I’d like to take this discussion as far as we can today and hopefully put one or more resolutions before the House of Ambassadors this afternoon for approval.” 
 
    “Agreed.” Ambassador Piotr Kosinski from Poland called out. “We must take swift action.” 
 
    “Thank you.” President Lee responded. “Michael, if you will.” 
 
    “Ambassadors. Thank you for your willingness to work this issue with me. 
 
    “As President Lee mentioned, the Ambassadors to several planets in our sector have contacted me asking for help. Earlier this week, I received a request for assistance from a planet called Celanar, further out on our spiral arm. I’ve also progressed talks with the ambassadors from Atomorali, Jerusota and Nutarogen. Each wants to work with us to fill the void left by the Fleet’s destruction. 
 
    “The proposal I have for you has several layers. There are immediate actions that I think we can agree to today, which feed into a broader agenda that we’ll need to form with our allies. 
 
    “So, with your permission, I’d like to start at the top with the broad-brush picture, then move down to discuss the immediate actions we can take.” 
 
    “Please proceed,” Ambassador Erika Schmitt said. 
 
    “The Confederation’s Central Government is in disarray. The Enemy infiltration into Andromeda that resulted from the Inspector’s treachery, the destruction of the Helsinki orchestrated by another conspirator in the same group, followed by the loss of the sector’s Armada has caused massive upheaval. 
 
    “It will take the Confederation’s Central Government years to recover. Things are moving in the right direction. Admiral Jo-Na, whom you all know, has been elevated to lead the High Command. The Speaker of the Central Council and another member who were affiliated with the conspirators have resigned and are being replaced by people strongly affiliated with James and me. The Confederation’s best days are still ahead. But for the next year or two, the Confederation will not be able to project power into our sector, or much of the rest of the Milky Way. Therefore, it falls to us to take the leadership. 
 
    “My high-level goal is to form a Sector Security Alliance. This has been done before. There are several in Andromeda and two in Triangulum already. So the legal precedent exists and there are successful examples we can draw from. Such a security alliance would have the authority to tax its members. We would also have the authority to set the security protocol for the sector and be its police force. 
 
    “We would need the support of the majority of allies in this sector to create such an alliance, support that we do not have yet. But this is the goal I propose that we work toward.” 
 
    “How do you propose we get there? And can we get there in time to make a difference?” Margaret Whitaker, Ambassador from the United Kingdom asked. 
 
    “Let me take the second question first. Yes. I think we can get there, possibly in as little as six months. 
 
    “Going back to the question of how we get there, we need to build out Space Force. By my estimate, we would need the equivalent of 100 Cruisers and 300 Fast Attack Ships built before the question of an alliance was put on the table. If that happened, then Space Force would become the default security force. 
 
    “One of the authorizations I’m seeking today is to start this build-out. We want specific authorizations for additional mining and manufacturing lines to support the build. And authorization to adjust the mix of ships as we go. In all likelihood, we will want to substitute some smaller ships that we’ve designed for some of the Fast Attack Ships.” 
 
    “But how in the world would we pay for that?” Ambassador Hang Jiao-long from China asked. 
 
    “A better question would be where do we get the crews?” Michael shot back. “Let me explain. Our manufacturing process pays for itself. Remember, each Fast Attack Ship produces over 250 kilograms of Transluminide as a byproduct.” 
 
    “But how long will it take?” Ambassador Paul Lewis from the United States asked. 
 
    “With our current production facilities, we can reliably produce two Fast Attack Ships every three days, and one Cruiser every four days. So, 200 more Fast Attack Ships will take 300 days. An additional 98 Cruisers will take 392 days.” 
 
    “So, we’re two years out?” Ambassador Lewis complained. 
 
    “Adding four more mining platforms and another manufacturing line would cut that time in half. Adding 12 more mining platforms, a small fleet of freighters, and the additional manufacturing line would cut that time to less than six months.” 
 
    “Can we really do that?” Ambassador Marlon Winslow from Canada asked. 
 
    “Yes. Earth is blessed with the people and resources to make shields and spaceships faster and better than any other Confederation member.” 
 
    “Then I propose that we authorize this build-out,” Ambassador Lewis said. 
 
    “Before we do that, there are additional short-term actions we can take that will have a more immediate impact on our allies.” 
 
    “Go,” Ambassador Schmitt said simply. 
 
    “Earlier this week we launched another Space Force mission to search for additional Transluminide. This was done under our existing authorization to accumulate more claims. The mission is working a list of candidate sites that are more spread out than before. Its goal is to maximize the number of claims we could file in systems close to the allies that have contacted us for assistance. 
 
    “That sets up the first action I would like to propose. Assuming that we actually make the finds, we can assign one or more claims to each ally to boost their economy. Unlike previous claims, we will ask for a 33% finder’s fee. 
 
    “The second action I propose is transportation assistance for these allies. The assistance would be in the form of a security escort. It could also be in the form of product delivery as we currently do with Karagon. 
 
    “The third mission I propose is security patrols in and among allied planets. 
 
    “For each of the last two, we will require the ally to pay for the services they get from Space Force. We will be flexible about the payments, because we’re giving them Transluminide claims. And we will accept product, as we do from Karagon, if we can secure a trade deal. 
 
    “You might ask why this format. The answer is multifold. First, it will promote trade, which in and of itself will tighten relations among us. Second, payments to the Earth Alliance for Space Force will give way to taxation by the Security Alliance. Third, it will lift the economies of all the planets that we help. Helping our neighbors in this way will position us to lead the Alliance, which we must do, at least at first, if it is to succeed. 
 
    “Questions or comments?” 
 
    “What about our preparations for a final confrontation with the Enemy?” Ambassador Sato Daichi from Japan asked. 
 
    “I received two updates this week. You may have heard about an attack last week against several freighters operating out of Celanar. Space Force found and destroyed the Enemy ship that launched the attacks. It also found and cleansed, the two freighters as well as a pirate ship that had become infected. So, the immediate threat in our sector has been put down.   
 
    “We’re also getting close to being able to launch a direct assault on the Enemy home world. Earlier this morning I attended a briefing on how this would be done. Early next week, we will conduct a test mission to gather more data about our new weapon. If the test mission is successful, then we will be able to launch a mission to destroy their home world in a few weeks.” 
 
    “How certain are we that this will work?” Ambassador Anton Petrov from Russia asked. 
 
    “I saw a simulation of the new weapon this morning. It is the most devastating weapon I’ve ever heard of. If next week’s tests work, then we will only be a few weeks away.” 
 
    “I’ve heard enough,” Ambassador Lewis said. “I think all the short-term measures Michael has proposed are good and well-thought-through. They are also all within our authority to approve. Let’s write up the resolutions and approve them now, then brief the House this afternoon.” 
 
    “I second that proposal,” Ambassador Whitaker said in support. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    Most of those that attempted to make the change to energy never came back. Converting to energy brought freedom, peace and joy, alluring states of being that made it way too easy to lose focus and simply dissipate. Few learned to maintain focus. For those that did, the transitions were always tenuous until the day they suddenly understood.  
 
    For David, yesterday was the day. He didn’t have James’ wide range of skills, or the ability to focus his energy with the finesse that James did. But his youth and abundance of enthusiasm gave him massive raw power. It was time to start the next phase of training. 
 
    They were scheduled to meet at 2:00 this afternoon and at exactly 2:00, David appeared in a massive flash of light. 
 
    “James, I’m so excited to begin.” 
 
    “As I expected you would be.” 
 
    “So, what are we going to do?” 
 
    “There are a number of places we could start, but two important things pop to the top of the list. The first is interdimensional transitions. If you are to visit the Enemy home world you will need to move through the layers of space-time to get to their dimension. The other thing that would help you most would be learning to take another form. For example, if we went to New Lorexi, it would be best if you presented yourself as a Lorexian.” 
 
    “I can do that?” David asked incredulously. 
 
    “You will be able to at some point.” 
 
    “Can we start there?” 
 
    “Of course. This is the more difficult task, so I don’t think we’ll get too far today. But it is critical for your future. Let’s start with the Angoloran form.” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James appeared as an Angoloran. 
 
    “How did you do that?” David blurted out, already knowing the answer. “You change to energy, then imagine yourself as being Angoloran and coalesce. Right?” 
 
    “See. You already know most of what I can help you learn. I’m just a guide accompanying you on your journey.” 
 
    David converted to energy. But did not coalesce right away. 
 
    “Good. Take time to consider who and what you will be when you come back.” 
 
    There was a flash and David appeared in a form that resembled an Angoloran. 
 
    “Look at yourself in the mirror.” James nodded toward a mirror in the examination portion of the office. 
 
    David started to protest but stopped himself. I learn by doing. The only way I can improve is to understand what I’ve done, then try to do something better. I am the only one that can know what an Angoloran version of me is. 
 
    David felt James’ pride in him. 
 
    He stood in front of the mirror for a few moments, then flashed into light and reappeared. 
 
    “Better,” David said to himself. He turned and went over to present himself to James. 
 
    “Agreed. Much better. You look remarkably similar to an Angoloran. That’s a good start, but it’s not the endpoint you seek. The goal is to become Angoloran. That will take a long time, because you will need to know what it’s like to be Angoloran.” 
 
    “I think I follow. But how Angoloran can I become?” 
 
    “Good question. Right now, you are human. Human organs. Human senses. Human biology. You’ve just modified your appearance to appear Angoloran. The goal is to become Angoloran, which is possible. 
 
    “But don’t get too hung up on that now. There are only two forms I can truly take, human and Lorexian. I can appear as many others. But they will figure out quickly that I’m not one of them. 
 
    “The important part of today’s lesson is that you know the key to changing. In time, you will choose which species you will want to be. 
 
    “Your homework…” 
 
    David groaned at the word homework. 
 
    “Your homework is to learn to take the form of two more species. Your choice which. The Confederation database has complete data on over 10,000 species. Prioritize based on the likelihood that you will eventually interact with the species. But there is one in particular I’d like you to try.” 
 
    David’s communicator beeped. “Just sent you their identifier. I need to visit these people next week. I’d like you to join me.” 
 
    “Cool.” David was starting to really like this lesson. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Alexi, thanks for coming by.” 
 
    “Hi, Michael.” 
 
    “I have news. I hope it’s good news.” 
 
    “What is it?” 
 
    “Your charter for the Outfitting business comes due at the end of the month.” 
 
    “I know. I’ve already applied for a renewal.” 
 
    “Another applicant has come forward.” 
 
    “Really, who?” 
 
    “The guy you saved last year.” 
 
    “Jack!” 
 
    “That’s the one.” 
 
    Alexi’s surprise suddenly turned sober. “That means he’ll get it.” 
 
    “Yes, he will get it if he drives this process to conclusion.” 
 
    Alexi seemed to wilt. “Funny. I really didn’t want this job, but somebody needed to do it. Now… It’s like who I am.” 
 
    “You can continue working for him, I’m sure he’ll hire you.” 
 
    “Do you have anything else for me. I’m not sure I want to work for Jack.” 
 
    “Yes. Would you consider becoming Sarah’s bodyguard?” 
 
    “Really? Why does Sarah need a bodyguard?” 
 
    “We’re getting married.” 
 
    “Poor Sarah.” The wise crack shot out without thinking. “Sorry. I think I’ve spent a little too much time out in the wilderness.” 
 
    Michael shook his head and smiled. “A number of Confederation people have started pairing off with the humans. I think there are five children now. There is still a fairly significant fraction of humanity that’s not comfortable with it. And a relatively small lunatic fringe that have started making noise. More than a few threats or threatening statements have been made. 
 
    “As our wedding day approaches, Sarah will be the number 1 target.” 
 
    “Does she know that?” 
 
    “She’s been told, but I don’t think she believes it yet.” 
 
    “That makes her hard to protect. Is she wearing a shield?” 
 
    “She’s put on the emitters and usually carries the field generator in her purse. But I think she’s only put the field generator on once.” 
 
    “Does she ever leave the Embassy?” 
 
    “Hasn’t much, but with wedding prep going into high gear, I’m sure she will.” 
 
    “What help will I get?” 
 
    “Anything you want. Bahati and Ta’Sha are going to be part of the wedding party. So, they will be close a lot of the time.” 
 
    “Bahati can handle herself pretty well. It’ll be good having her on my side. I presume I can tap into security and the shuttle pool as needed.” 
 
    “That can be arranged.” 
 
    “Count me in.” 
 
    “How soon can you start?” 
 
    “Monday, maybe Tuesday.” 
 
    “Deal.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    “Joel, Henry here. Wanted to let you know the four new platforms are done.” 
 
    “Good news. Any issues?” 
 
    “No. Barbara got us the AIs that will operate them on time. We can test them as soon as we can get them into place.” 
 
    “Very good news.” 
 
    “Speaking of getting them in place, you’ve heard that platform four is acting up again. Right?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Well we’re on at least a one day hold to get material staged for the next cruiser.” 
 
    “Not again,” Joel moaned. 
 
    “We have enough materials to pump out four more platforms. I’d recommend that we start it now. We have the material, AIs, and bots to get this done. Let’s use the dead time to finally break the material supply problem for good.” 
 
    “Agreed. Go for it. Thanks, Henry.” 
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 DEVELOPMENTS 
 
    [Saturday, 06.07.2031] EUGENE’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Eugene woke early this morning, something nagging at the back of his mind. Surrendering to the fact that there would be no more sleep, he got up at 4:30. By the time he was out of the refresher, he knew what the problem was. A 10 km scaleup wasn’t enough. He needed something tunable that could handle 10 to 100 km. He would need that data to assure a successful scale up to planetary size for the actual mission. 
 
    He dressed quickly, then went back over to the lab. He would really need to crank to get everything rescaled before dinner with Nelly tonight. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael woke feeling very well rested, then noticed that Sarah wasn’t there. Checking his internal chronometer, he saw it was almost 8:00. I never sleep that late! 
 
    He hit the refresher, got dressed, then went down to the kitchen. 
 
    “Well, look who was the sleepy head this morning.” Sarah smiled at Michael affectionately. “Anything on your schedule today?” 
 
    “I have a call around noon with Ambassador Va-Mu from Edukatar. Interesting world that one. It’s an ice world with a narrow green zone near its equator. Not quite Earth size. Huge frozen oceans. One of the very few we’ve ever found that’s mostly ice, but still supported the development of a native intelligent species.” 
 
    “Any idea what he wants to talk about?”  
 
    “Protection, security, transportation. The same things that the other planets in the sector have been asking for.” 
 
    “How’s it going with the others?” 
 
    “Of the seven that have reached out to us since Karagon, three are reluctantly on board, and one is going to be a problem. They’ve actually filed a complaint against us.” 
 
    “You can’t be serious?” 
 
    “Hard to believe, isn’t it. Of the three remaining, I think Peralon will be coming aboard. I think Edukatar will also. They’re very independent and very wealthy. Hard to believe they’d complain about the cost of our services. They’d been paying the Confederation a lot for those services before. The last of them, Fatafatu, I really don’t know. 
 
    “So, what’s on your calendar today?” 
 
    “Lunch and shopping with Bahati and Ta’Sha. We’re going to be looking for wedding dresses. The wedding is six weeks out, so I’m late.” 
 
    “Why not ask Ambassador Brock’s wife, the fashion designer?” 
 
    “Rachelle Pépin? No way.” 
 
    “Why not?” Michael asked curiously. “Doesn’t everyone want one of her dresses?” 
 
    “Do you have any idea how much those dresses cost?” 
 
    “No, but I assume that they’re expensive.” 
 
    “A small fortune. I doubt I could get one for less than $100,000. That’s a ridiculous amount for a dress that’s going to be worn once.” 
 
    Michael looked at Sarah wondering if he should say anything else. “Please don’t be mad at me for saying this. I don’t think of things in these terms, but others do. There are a lot of people that think of me as the King or President of Earth. I think it’s ridiculous, but it’s true.  
 
    “So, before you decide what kind of dress to get, think about the media reaction. They’re going to be expecting a royal wedding.” 
 
    Michael could see the anger growing within Sarah. Then she sighed and seemed to relax. “I hate this kind of stuff. But, at the end of the day, I suppose you’re worth it.” 
 
    The comment was so outrageous that Michael struggled to contain the laughter. But her smile tipped him over the edge. 
 
    “I’ll call Rachelle. But fair warning. I’m going to bargain with her. In fact, I’m going to call five or six of the other high-end designers. If I’m going to endure one of their costumes, then they’re going to have to give me a decent price.” 
 
    Michael roared with laughter. It had been a while since he’d had a good belly laugh. 
 
    “Now it’s on you to find a cathedral to match the dress!” 
 
    “Oh.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TELEVISION STUDIOS 
 
    For the first time since George started doing television, he didn’t want to do a show. It was silly really. His mom was staying with them to help with Little George. She only lived a block away but was insistent that she stay. Noelani was still bedridden, something that only George seemed to be worried about. 
 
    George’s co-host today was Isabela Sanchez of Mexico News. It was her second time. The last time, they’d interviewed Henry and Jacob. That show was part of the Peoples of the Confederation series. Henry and Jacob had been featured because they were Artificial Intelligences. They had done the detailed designs on the Space Force Fast Attack Ships, which gave them a lot of content to talk about. But the real point of that interview was that in the Confederation, Artificial Intelligences were people with full citizenship rights. 
 
    Today’s show was not part of that series, but in truth it should have been. Today’s guest was the Confederation Ambassador to an allied world in their sector. He would participate via presence projector. For the first part of the show, he would be presented as human. In the second half he would talk about the Lanocean people and present himself in his Lanocean avatar. 
 
    “George?” Isabela called out. 
 
    “Over here.” He waved. 
 
    “I understand that congratulations are due.” She came up to give George a big hug. “How’s Noelani? It’s not quite the same doing the show without her coaching backstage.” 
 
    “She’s really tired, sleeping like 18 hours a day.” 
 
    “That’s unusual.” Isabela was clearly concerned to hear of Noelani’s exhaustion. 
 
    “Little George was 12 lbs., 8 oz.” 
 
    “That’s almost twice as much as my little Jorge was. Poor Noelani. She’s alright though, isn’t she?” 
 
    “That’s what they tell me. I’ll be happier when she’s back to normal though.” 
 
    “So, we’re interviewing a Confederation ambassador from another world via presence projector. Thanks for the briefing package by the way. 
 
    “Yes. This was changed relatively late in the game, but they did get the briefing out on time for a change.” 
 
    “He’s going to be presented as human right?” 
 
    “For the first part of the show yes.” 
 
    George’s words struck terror in Isabela’s heart. “Do you have a picture?” 
 
    George popped up a picture of the Ambassador on his data pad. 
 
    “I’m interviewing a bird!” Isabela screeched. 
 
    “I’m sure he would be offended if you called him that.” 
 
    Isabela gave George an evil look. “How do I get myself into these things?” 
 
    George chuckled. “You’ll be great, just like you were last time.” 
 
    … 
 
    The intro music started playing as the lights came up. The floor producer counted them down to 1, then pointed at Isabela. 
 
    “Good Afternoon, Mexico! I am Isabela Sanchez of Mexico News, here at the Confederation Television studios with my friend, George Butler.” 
 
    At the sound of George’s name, the studio audience applauded as they always did. 
 
    “George, I understand we have a very special guest today joining us from a long way away.” 
 
    “Yes Isabela, we do. Our guest is Ambassador Sa-Na from a planet called Celanar. He will be joining us by presence projector from his studio a little over 1,100 light years from Earth.” 
 
    “And we will get to talk with the Ambassador live?” Isabela asked. 
 
    “Yes. Miraculous, isn’t it.” 
 
    “So how exactly will this work, George?” 
 
    “I don’t know how the technology works. That’s way above my pay grade. But from our perspective, it will be as if he just transported onto the stage with us.” 
 
    “Do I get to shake hands with him?” 
 
    “No. We will bow to one another like this.” George put his hands together in front of his chest, then bowed slightly, maybe 10 degrees. 
 
    “That looks a lot like the Angoloran greeting.” 
 
    “Yes, it does. I get the impression that’s the most common Confederation greeting.” 
 
    “Are you going to invite him to join us.” 
 
    George turned to look directly at the studio audience then said, “Ambassador Sa-Na, will you please join us?” 
 
    The Ambassador shimmered into being standing next to George. He turned toward George and bowed. As he righted himself, George and Isabela bowed to the Ambassador. 
 
    There was light applause from the studio audience. 
 
    “Ambassador Sa-Na, thank you for joining us today. I am George Butler; this is my colleague Isabela Sanchez.” 
 
    “It’s a pleasure to meet you George, Isabela. Thank you for having me on today. The people of Celanar are looking forward to establishing direct relations with Earth. I’m told that your show is one of the best ways I have of getting to speak with the people of Earth.” 
 
    “Yes. It has been. And we are all very anxious to learn more about you.” George motioned to Isabela, indicating that she should take the lead from here. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Before this show, I had never heard of the planet Celanar. Can you tell us about it, maybe starting with where it is?”  
 
    The Ambassador smiled at Isabela. “Let me show you.” 
 
    A projection of the Milky Way appeared in the air in front of them. 
 
    “We both live in the sector that the Confederation calls 3F.” 
 
    A red dotted line appeared around the center section of one of the spiral arms of the galaxy. 
 
    “Earth is here, kind of in the middle of the sector.” A blinking light showed up over Earth’s position. 
 
    “Celanar is here at the edge of the sector.” Another blinking light showed up near the red dotted line further out on the spiral arm. 
 
    “I’m told you are trading with Karagon. It is located here.” 
 
    A third blinking light showed up near the inner edge of the sector, 
 
    “As you can see, Earth is near the middle. Celanar is further out. Karagon is in closer to the core.” 
 
    “Very interesting. Our first two trading partners are at the opposite extremes of our sector.” 
 
    “Isabela, trust me. Earth is the trading partner everyone wants to trade with. Hopefully, we will be lucky enough to be your second partner.” 
 
    “What can you tell us about the trade deal?” 
 
    “Well first, just to be clear, there is no deal yet. Celanar definitely wants to make a deal. I believe that the Earth Alliance does as well. I will be presenting your Ambassador Michael with a proposal next week, but we are only at the very beginning of the process.” 
 
    “Are you planning to propose a deal similar to the one we made with Karagon?” 
 
    “Yes and no. Yes, in the sense that we hope to get the same kinds of things that you are trading to Karagon. Transluminide claims that we can mine, shields we can use to protect our people from the Enemy, and transportation and security services. 
 
    “We can offer most of the things you get from Karagon, although not in as large a quantity. But we have several very specialized offerings that no one else really does. First, we have the ability to produce Artificial Intelligences in high quantity and with more specializations. Our people, the Lanoceans, are the most skilled AI producers in the Confederation. We also have the widest variety of high-end bots. 
 
    “We have not discussed this with our human counterparts yet, but our bots could probably build out your Space Force faster than the ones you have now. And our AI’s would probably make and operate your ships with more personality and precision.” 
 
    “I thought that AIs were citizens, treated like people. You make them sound like they’re for sale.” 
 
    The Ambassador was a bit offended by the question. Nonetheless, he’d expected it, so was prepared to answer. 
 
    “First, so there is no confusion, AIs ARE citizens, and they ARE treated like people. But AIs are different, as every species is different. 
 
    “One way in which they are different is that they cannot reproduce on their own. The only way new AIs come into existence is if someone wants them enough to bring them to life. 
 
    “In most advanced societies, the vast majority of children are born to parents that purposefully choose to conceive them. Some children are born accidentally, an act of nature so to speak. But most are born because their parents wanted to give them life. 
 
    “Although the mechanisms of bringing AIs to life are different than the mechanisms by which organics are born, the real reason why any of us are born is because someone wanted us. 
 
    “Here’s another perspective. AIs are born with specific skills and desires that their creators have instilled in them.  
 
    “What’s curious about this is that most organics believe in something similar. Individually they are unique, but they’re cut from the same mold. They were brought to life by their parents, yet many believe that they were made for a purpose and gifted with the attributes required to fulfill it. 
 
    “The truth is that many AIs think they have it better than organics because they know who their creator was, and they know why they were made.  
 
    “Now back to your point. Did the doctors that delivered and cared for your son sell him to you? You paid them a lot, I’m sure. The answer of course is no. That child came into being because you wanted him to come into being. You paid skilled experts a lot of money to help usher your child into existence and assist him in growing to maturity. 
 
    “That is essentially the same service we offer. AIs are living beings. They are brought to life because someone wants them to be given life. They are created for a purpose and get great fulfillment out of achieving their purpose. And once born and of legal age, they have the right to do whatever it is they want to do. That’s part of the beauty of it. You need to make them welcome, or they will leave. You don’t own them. You live in relationship with them. 
 
    “Let me say for the record that I’m incredibly proud of the AIs we bring to life. They are incredibly talented. And I’m thrilled that you might want them among you. Earth is becoming one of the dominant forces in the Confederation. Who wouldn’t want their children to grow up in your society?” 
 
    Isabela was stunned by the Ambassador’s statements, but George was quick to step in. “For those of you who do not know, my wife Noelani gave birth to our first child a few days ago. As a new father, I appreciate your perspective. This precious life has been given to me to care for. I want him to grow up, contribute to society and to find fulfillment.” 
 
    The studio audience broke into applause, which surprised George a bit. Many people knew that his wife was an android. Some of them thought of her as some sort of machine, not as a living person. The worst of them had sent scathing letters condemning him for having given life to a soulless child born of a machine. In time, that would change. But a lot of people were going to frame this trade deal the same way Isabela did and think of the AIs as machines. 
 
    As the applause peaked, the producers cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    “George, what the hell was that? I have no idea what to do with this interview. I thought this was just another trade deal with another ally.” Isabela was clearly upset with the last line of discussion. 
 
    “Sorry that didn’t resonate with you.” George said with a little heat. “I was an outcast, an untouchable, for over five years. You may not be able to relate to the plight of living beings who are thought of as nothing more than objects, but I can.” 
 
    Isabela was taken back by George’s ire. But the look of hurt in his eyes was compelling. She’d lived a life of relative comfort. George had walked a much different path. 
 
    “I’m sorry George. I didn’t mean to offend, but obviously I did. How would you like to handle the rest of the show?” 
 
    “Let’s go to the live, unconverted projection. It’s time for the world to meet an ally.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Good evening, Mexico. Good evening, world. I’m Isabela Sanchez reporting from the Confederation Television Studios. I’m here with my friend and co-host George Butler. We have been interviewing the Ambassador from the planet Celanar. George, would you please introduce this next segment?” 
 
    George nodded acknowledgement to Isabela, then plowed in. “Ambassador Sa-Na, we have our presence projector set to show you as a human. I think it’s time for us to change that setting so our audience can see you as you are, in your Lanocean avatar.” 
 
    “I trust your judgement on this George, but before you do, I’d like to address your audience.” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “Peoples of Earth. I was born Lorexian. Technically, I still am. I am the third Ambassador from the Confederation to Celanar. They were admitted to the Confederation approximately 15,000 years ago. On this planet, I wear an avatar in the form of a Lanocean and, in truth, at this point I am Lanocean. I cannot see myself ever leaving this place. It has become my home. 
 
    “As compared to Lorexians, humans are small. As compared to humans, Lanoceans are even smaller. This is their gift. 
 
    “Scientists tell me that Celanar is 84% the diameter of Earth, 72% of the gravity. On most worlds, lower gravity means taller people. 
 
    “But for its size, Celanar is blessed with a thick atmosphere, which is the perfect condition for a winged species to become the dominant one.  
 
    “Although the average Lanocean is only one meter tall, it is a winged species whose dominant form of propulsion is flying, not walking. 
 
    “We are a beautiful people, fluid in the air and admittedly a bit more awkward on the ground. 
 
    “There are no intelligent ground-based species on Celanar, just as there are no intelligent winged species on Earth. But don’t let my appearance deceive you. The Lanoceans are incredibly gifted in the areas of artificial intelligence and bot design, as they are in other areas. 
 
    “George, please disable the ‘local’ setting.” 
 
    The Ambassador appeared to stunned silence; silence that turned into loud applause moments later. The Ambassador was, as advertised, only about three feet tall. In truth, he looked a lot like a penguin. But he had arms and hands with prehensile fingers and opposing thumb. And the wings mounted on his back expanded to be five feet tall and 14 feet across as he spread them out. 
 
    “Growing up as a Lorexian, I could never have imagined that I would fly. But here is a video of my wife and son, both native Lanoceans, flying in formation at sunset.” 
 
    The studio audience was silent as the holoprojection began. Then, as the scene played out, they burst into thundering applause. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    It was a beautiful morning. David had taken his time getting up today, but once up he decided to go for a run in the park. Technically, as part of Space Force, he was required to do physical fitness training every day. He’d been assigned to an irregulars’ group, who trained ‘together’ Monday through Saturday. But irregulars were just that, irregular. They were all on special assignment and had odd hours. The vast majority of days, they did not have a quorum, so were not required to report. Ironically, they did have a quorum on Wednesday. It was the first time in three weeks. But that was the day James had taken him hunting. 
 
    He still logged his time though. His supervisor, Colonel Mark Patterson, got a laugh out of his PE on Wednesday, hunting Enemy. 
 
    The plan today was to do the 10K loop around the northwestern portion of Riverside Park. He’d just passed the 7K mark and was in the zone. 
 
    “David?” The call almost penetrated his conscience. 
 
    “David!” 
 
    It was a female voice. One that he knew. Slowing enough that he could turn to see, he realized that it was Valerie Jensen, professor of the Applied Reactions class at the Institute. He had just run past her. 
 
    He turned and jogged back. “Hi Valerie.” She was sitting at an outdoor table, having a cup of coffee and a muffin. 
 
    She stood to give him a hug, then thought better of it. 
 
    “Care to join me?” She asked. 
 
    “I’d love to. How are you doing?” 
 
    “I’ve had a very relaxing week. The most recent class finished at the end of May, so I’m back in research mode until the next class starts.” 
 
    “I heard that they are pulling the training schedules forward.” 
 
    “They are. With the new cruisers coming online, the demand for crews is tripling. My course has gone from being an elective, to being required. Thankfully, they have beefed up my staff. We have also developed better hands on training than we had for that first class. James has been a huge help.” 
 
    “And here I was thinking he was spending all his time with me.” David joked. 
 
    “He thinks very highly of you David.” 
 
    “Nice of you to say.” Her comment flustered him a bit. Since the incident, he’d not had a female presence in his life. 
 
    “So, what have you been up to? James told me that you were getting strong enough to start doing more interesting things. I haven’t seen him in over a week. What have you been doing?” 
 
    “A lot. Do you have time to hear it all?” He teased. 
 
    The word ‘time’ seemed to shoot through Valerie like an electric shock. “Time! Oh no! I’m such a scatter brain. I have to run.” 
 
    Looking at her watch, she started to stand. Turning to apologize to David, she saw the look on David’s face. “David, I’m so sorry. I have an appointment that I cannot miss. Have dinner with me tonight? Please?” 
 
    “Sure.” 
 
    “Meet me at my place as 7:00. I’ll take you someplace nice. Got to run.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANDALAY BAY CONVENTION CENTER, LAS VEGAS 
 
    The annual International Conference on Pharmaceutical Chemistry had been held here this week. The main conference finished yesterday, but the Exhibition Hall was open until 5:00 today. 
 
    A new company, Nuevo Biochemical Corp., had made quite the splash. Their new product, branded BioCelmerase, was a biologically created compound that was clinically shown to accelerate the activity of other drugs. On its own, the product did nothing. But, in combination with an ever-increasing list of existing drugs, it increased their speed of action. Simply speaking, it made people better faster. 
 
    Company executives would be in the exhibition hall most of the day. She had signed up for a ten-minute slot at 11:00. 
 
    “June. I’m surprised to see you here.” 
 
    “Mason, thank you for seeing me.” 
 
    Mason Glass was the company’s president. 
 
    June MacFarlane was the person that brought him this miraculous compound. 
 
    “I’ve been trying to get some of the material I developed, but no one seems interested in helping me get any.” 
 
    Mason was suddenly on defense. “It’s not what you think June. This material is difficult to make, and we only have sample quantities. Volume production is still six to nine months away. Until then, supply is restricted to the support of clinical trials. You know the drill.” 
 
    “Mason, Mason.” June shook her head. “We had a deal. Your exclusive license will be nullified if you are found in breach.” 
 
    “June, I don’t get it. You connected us up with our principal investor. You know what his terms are. You helped negotiate them!” 
 
    Mason’s voice was loud enough that he got an icy stare from his VP of marketing, who was sitting with a customer in the next booth. 
 
    “I’m sure there is some accommodation we could come to. I’m staying at the Four Seasons. Meet me for dinner at Charlie Palmer’s, the steak house there. Say 8:00?” 
 
    Mason sighed. Getting involved with this woman had been the best, and worst, thing he’d ever done.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Thank you for taking the time to meet with me today.” 
 
    “Ambassador Va-Mu. Thank you for setting up this call.” 
 
    Va-Mu was the Confederation ambassador to the planet Edukatar. He was a Lorexian Ascendant. He occupied an avatar in the form of Edukatar’s dominant species, the Edujin. The Edujins were thick and sturdy humanoids with incredibly powerful legs. They were slightly taller than humans, an inch or two on average, but much more massive. 
 
    “I received your update on recent actions taken by the Earth Alliance. Have you set a rate structure for the various services?” 
 
    “No. Not yet. Although we have price targets in mind, we really want the entire package of services covered under agreements tailored for each planet.” 
 
    The Ambassador nodded his head in understanding. “As I think you know, ours is a wealthy planet. We have huge Transluminide resources. And we are one of the largest suppliers of nanobots in the Confederation. No one really competes with our high performance, specialized nanobots. 
 
    “As I think you also know, we have no interstellar space craft of our own. So, we are very heavily dependent on others for transportation services.  
 
    “Given our Transluminide reserves, we are one of the few planets that is self-sufficient. We could go a long time without trade, but that’s not what we want. We would like to resume trade as soon as possible. We would also like to procure your shields and security services.” 
 
    “I’m very pleased to hear that.” 
 
    “To help speed that along, I’ve taken the liberty of drafting a trade agreement. It obviously states what we would get out of the deal in fair detail. I’ve used the language of your message to draft your side of the deal, but you’ll obviously need to fix it. 
 
    “How quickly do you think we can make this happen? We want your shields as soon as possible. We also have a backlog of shipments that our existing trade partners are anxious to receive.” 
 
    “I think we can do this quickly, a week, maybe 10 days.” 
 
    “Any chance we could simply procure shields and have them installed immediately?” 
 
    “Possibly. I’ll need to get back to you on that.” 
 
    “Excellent. Mi-Ku, I can’t tell you how happy I am to have you emerge as the one that will lead our sector. The old way did not work very well. I have great confidence that you can change it.” 
 
    “Thank you.” Michael was surprisingly touched by the words of this man, whom most considered to be something of a curmudgeon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NORTHERN LIGHTS CAFE 
 
    “Ladies?” Sarah had been the last to arrive, the hostess brought her over to the table where Bahati and Ta’Sha were already seated. 
 
    “So, today’s the day? We’re finally going to look for a dress?” Bahati greeted. 
 
    “Maybe.” 
 
    “What! Is this a bait and switch?” Ta’Sha complained. 
 
    “No. We can go looking. But Michael wants me to talk with Rachelle Pépin about a custom dress.” 
 
    There was a deep intake of breath, not just from her friends, but from someone at the next table. The three of them started laughing. 
 
    “Why? And why her?” Bahati asked. 
 
    Sarah was suddenly aware that too many people were listening and everything she said, plus a lot more, would show up in the tabloids tomorrow. The owner had noticed the same thing and came over. 
 
    “Sarah, so good to see you today. Our private room is not in use at the moment. Would you be more comfortable having lunch in there?” 
 
    “Yes. Thank you.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Sorry about that.” Sarah started. “I guess that I struggle sometimes to understand how well known I am.” 
 
    “Well, kind of goes hand-in-hand with buying a Rachelle Pépin wedding gown,” Bahati teased light-heartedly. 
 
    “That’s kind of what Michael said this morning. He’s not into the fame, power, wealth thing. But when I told him what we were planning to do today, he asked what the media would say if I got married in a dress from a local shop.” 
 
    “Oh. Never thought about that,” Ta’Sha said. 
 
    “And this ring…” Sarah’s emotions welled up. 
 
    “Is very sparkly.”  Bahati filled in. 
 
    “More like one of the Lorexian crown jewels.” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Sorry, shouldn’t have brought that up.” 
 
    “No, no, no.” Bahati scolded. “You can’t just put that out there and not explain yourself.” 
 
    “It’s exceedingly rare. Michael explained it like this. It won’t mean much to people here on Earth. But on any other Confederation planet, especially in Andromeda, everyone will know that I am someone of immense wealth and power as soon as they see it.” 
 
    “He bought you that?” 
 
    “They aren’t for sale. It was gifted to me by James.” 
 
    “Wow! He was anointing Michael also, wasn’t he?”  
 
    “Never thought about that. But you’re probably right.” 
 
    Ta’Sha had been quiet through this part of the conversation. Sarah turned to look at her. “You knew. Didn’t you?” The question was asked in curiosity, not as an accusation. 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “But you didn’t say anything?” Sarah struggled to understand. 
 
    “Only a handful of those exist. I didn’t know of this one. James has obviously held it for a long time. The people that own them are the emperors and empresses of the Confederation. Those titles don’t exist of course, but that doesn’t make it any less true.” 
 
    “But I’m not one of those people!” 
 
    “Not like them no. They are mean, greedy, and self-absorbed. The source of much of the rot in the Confederation. 
 
    “You’re not like that. But, once married, you will be at that level Sarah. Michael has a vast following. That’s why the inspector attempted to capture Earth.” 
 
    Sarah turned to Bahati and in a seeming change of subject asked. “You can have children, right?” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Your avatar. It can have a child, can’t it?” 
 
    “Sarah, what are you asking?” 
 
    “I’ve been holding off on having the enhancements because I want to have my own children. I think I finally understand why Michael is so afraid for me.” 
 
    “She’s able,” Ta’Sha said. “As am I. But I have no interest in it.” 
 
    “Yeah, the thought doesn’t appeal that much to me either,” Bahati added. 
 
    “Is it the blunted human desire thing?” 
 
    “Possibly. Don’t know.” 
 
    They sat in silence for a moment, then the door to the room burst open. It was their waiter walking in with their lunch orders. 
 
    “Ladies, it’s oddly quiet in here for a party. Do we need our drinks refilled?” 
 
    The waiter’s cockiness broke the silence and they all laughed. Two hours and three bottles of wine later, they headed for home. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DAVID WASHINGTON’S APPARTMENT 
 
    David’s communicator buzzed. He picked it up and saw it was from Valerie. “Hey.” 
 
    “Hi David. I’m running a bit late, but I got us reservations at Chef Marco’s at 7:30. Can you meet me there?” 
 
    “Sure. What should I wear?” The question popped out before he’d thought about what he was saying, and he cringed. 
 
    “That’s the question I always ask.” She laughed. “I plan to wear a dress. You’ll be fine as long has you have a nice shirt with a collar.” 
 
    “Thanks.” 
 
    “See you there.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Eugene and Nelly entered the park hand in hand. They had tickets for tonight’s ‘Taste of Morocco’ event. It had been a long time since either of them had Moroccan food. 
 
    “You were really busy today, weren’t you?” Nelly said. 
 
    “Yah. A bit stressed, actually. We are going to be running the first space test on Monday.” 
 
    “So, you’re really going through with this?” 
 
    “Think so.” 
 
    “Why? You have a lot of sway, Eugene. You should use it if you don’t think this is right.” 
 
    “Promise not to repeat this? I’m pretty sure I’d be in big trouble if word got out.” 
 
    Nelly stopped and looked at Eugene, who stepped off the trail and sat on one of the benches. 
 
    “The Enemy’s last attempt came really close. Really close.” He repeated for emphasis. 
 
    “How close?” Nelly asked. 
 
    “I was offered a seat on an evacuation flight to Karagon. They wanted to make sure a breeding population of humans survived. It was cancelled maybe 18 hours before scheduled departure.” 
 
    “Oh my God!” Nelly exclaimed, struggling to believe it was true. 
 
    “They were the last known remnant of the invasion force that came through 21 years ago. So we’re safe until the next invasion force comes through. But the next one is expected to be massive.” 
 
    “But, that’s not for a long time, right?” 
 
    “Earliest estimate is next year.” 
 
    Nelly was shocked. She’d truly had no idea. 
 
    “That’s why I’m doing it. I think I can get them all in one fell swoop. Lab tests are very encouraging. We’ll be trying a 1% scale solution on Monday, assuming I can get it done in time.” 
 
    “Where is this going to be done?” 
 
    “In an uninhabited system about 30 light years from here.” 
 
    “Will it work?” 
 
    “That’s one of the hard questions, right? I wouldn’t go to the hassle of a scaled test unless I thought it would work. But the real reason we do tests like this is because we don’t know what we don’t know. And we need to find out before attempting it for real.” 
 
    “How soon do you think you’ll go to do the real thing?” 
 
    “Two weeks?” 
 
    “You are close. Should we be going out tonight? We could just go back to my place.” Nelly smiled suggestively. 
 
    “We still need to eat. And we’ve already bought the tickets. Let’s go enjoy the meal. Then maybe we can go back to your place.” Eugene laughed. 
 
    Stepping back onto the path, Nelly snuggled in tight. They could hear the music beginning just ahead. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHEF MARCO’S 
 
    David arrived five minutes early. He’d been given a dress uniform when he joined space force. He decided to wear the uniform’s slacks with a white dress shirt. 
 
    The Chef was there when he arrived and came over to greet him. 
 
    “David Washington?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “A pleasure to meet you, David. I am Chef Marco. James has spoken of you many times. You are having dinner with Professor Jensen?” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “Ah. Come with me.” The Chef led David into the cloak room, opened a cabinet and pulled out a blue silk tie. “This will be perfect.” 
 
    The Chef handed the tie to David. 
 
    “Do I need a tie?” 
 
    “Do you want to impress your lady friend? This is a nice tie.” There was a sly glint in the Chef’s eye. 
 
    “I don’t know how to tie a tie,” David confessed, deflating a bit. 
 
    “Here.” The Chef took the tie, put it around his own neck, and quickly tied it. Then he slid the tie off and gave it to David. 
 
    “Put this on and tighten it up.” 
 
    David put it on and pulled it tight, then buttoned the collar down. 
 
    The Chef reached up to adjust it a bit, then stepped back to look at him. “She will love that. It’s almost as good as the dinner I’m going to make you. Now come.” 
 
    The Chef led David back a different way so Valerie wouldn’t see David emerging from the Cloak Room, then pointed to the door he should use to enter the restaurant. It was right next to the reception desk. 
 
    The hostess had been cued in on the Chef’s scheme and immediately engaged David in conversation. “We have your table set. Would you like to be seated, or wait for your friend?” 
 
    David had no idea what the right answer to that question was. This whole experience was way out of his league. 
 
    “Oh, there she is now.” 
 
    David turned to look and could not believe what he saw. Valerie was wearing a mid-length black dress, one that really accentuated her figure. He had no idea she was that shapely. She also had a simple drop necklace with an incredibly sparkly stone of some sort. The dress was cut modestly, only showing a little cleavage, right where the stone hung. 
 
    “Hi, David.” She smiled. 
 
    “You’re beautiful!” he said in awe. 
 
    Valerie laughed and winked at the hostess who was trying not to laugh. 
 
    “Thank you. Nice tie by the way.” 
 
    The hostess took them to a relatively private table on the far-left side of the room. It was in the second row of tables from the window, elevated to enhance the view of the valley below.  
 
    “This is beautiful. Almost as much as you.” David blushed. 
 
    “Thank you,” she replied shyly. “I’ve always wanted to come here. So after my very poor performance this morning, then work that ran too late, I decided to splurge. Thank you for joining me.” 
 
    “So, what were you doing today?” 
 
    “Do you know Eugene Xu?” 
 
    “He’s the very first person I met when they let me out of jail. An incredibly nice guy. He’s working on some sort of super weapon, right? Are you part of that?” 
 
    “No, not really. Have you been read in on it?” 
 
    “No. James has mentioned that they are working on something like that, but I don’t know anything about it.” 
 
    “He wanted my help on a couple things today. He really didn’t need me. I mean not me personally. There are quite a few others that could have done the same thing. But when the call went out last week for some extra help, I volunteered. Who wouldn’t volunteer to work with Eugene and Kelly for a couple hours? Those two operate at a whole different level than the rest of us. And they’re incredibly nice. I learned a lot today.” 
 
    “Good, I’m glad to hear that. Did you make it on time?” 
 
    Valerie put her hand over her face in shame. “Something like 20 minutes late.” She started laughing. 
 
    The Chef came over to their table. “Welcome. Would you like to start the evening with some champagne?” 
 
    When there was no immediate answer, the Chef whispered conspiratorially. “Your friend James called me earlier. He is covering your meal tonight and recommends the Dom Perignon Rose.” 
 
    David looked questioningly at Valerie who said, “Why not?” 
 
    “Excellent.” The Chef exuded. He signaled the sommelier, who presented the bottle and opened it. An assistant brought over an ice bucket and two flutes. 
 
    Once the champagne was poured, Valerie lifted her glass for a toast. “To friends.” 
 
    David had seen scenes like this on TV, so kind-of knew what to do. He lifted his glass, lightly clinked it against hers, then repeated. “To friends.” 
 
    Valerie was the first to sip. David tried to emulate but ended up inhaling too much of the sparkling effervescence. He coughed loudly, spilling a little of the champagne. When he looked up at Valerie, they both burst out laughing. 
 
    … 
 
    The meal was delightful. David knew of things like fine cooking and fancy restaurants; he’d seen enough movies and TV shows. But most of those conveyed stuffy people and conversation. The food tonight had been fabulous, as had the company. 
 
    They walked home slowly, talking about several different things. They stopped when they got to the place where their paths would part. “Would you mind walking me home?” Valerie asked. 
 
    “Sure.” 
 
    When they stopped in front of her building, David reached out to give her a hug. She accepted the embrace, then lifted her head and kissed him. Kissed him passionately.  
 
    David was 37 years old but had never been kissed passionately before. He’d been arrested when he was 16 and sentenced to life. James had rescued him only six months ago.  
 
    Heat rushed through him as Valerie held the kiss. Then when she broke it, she took his hand. “Come up with me?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHARLIE PALMER STEAK, FOUR SEASONS HOTEL 
 
    “Dr. Glass. Thank you for dining with us. Your guest has already been seated. Please come with me.” 
 
    As they approached the table for four in the corner, Mason could see June’s silhouette in the dim light. An unwelcome thought shot through his mind. Damn. This one is a looker.  
 
    The maître d’ pulled back Mason’s seat and he sat. 
 
    “See. That wasn’t so hard.” June prodded. 
 
    “A pleasure to see you, June.” 
 
    There was a moment of silence. 
 
    “What? You don’t want to see me?” June prodded some more. 
 
    “June, why are we here? You know what we’re trying to accomplish. It will have a huge impact on the world. And if we pull it off, we’ll make a shitload of money. You’ll make more than I do.” 
 
    “I know, my dear. But I have many interests. Some more valuable than your company. Much more valuable. The only reason I gave this formula to you is because you promised me a kilogram within a year. I even agreed to pay for it. It’s been 15 months and my patience is running thin.” 
 
    Mason hesitated to reply. “You know why I don’t have the capacity.” 
 
    “Yes, my dear. You haven’t managed your resources very well.” 
 
    “Me! You cut me off!” 
 
    She smiled. “Maybe, if we became closer friends, I could help you out.” 
 
    Mason’s blood pressure spiked. He and June had dated for a while. June cut it off about a year ago, along with her portion of the company’s funding. She complained that he’d become more interested in the company than in her. Until this afternoon, he hadn’t seen her since. 
 
    “What did you have in mind?” 
 
    “I have an errand to run.” She pushed a key across the table. “Meet me upstairs in an hour.” With that she got up, walked over to say a few words to the maître d’, and exited the restaurant. 
 
    Mason shook his head. What the hell am I getting myself into? 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PREPARATION 
 
    [Sunday, 06.08.2031] BRIDGE, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    It was 8:00 AM exactly. Captain Flanagan had just taken command of first watch. They were about to depart System 5, Confederation designation 3FX01-441-627-330. Six claims had been filed in this system. The expected yield from these six was an incredible 7,228 kg. 
 
    Although they hadn’t done the scans in the order they’d planned, they’d now finished scanning three systems with a combined net yield of 16,076 kg. This fact gave the Captain pause to think. The Confederation claims that there’s a Transluminide shortage. Yet everywhere we look we find enormous amounts. It seems there is some sort of funny business going on somewhere. 
 
    “Captain, our anticipated transit time to System 7, Confederation designation 3FX11-380-767-125, is 4 hours, 12 minutes. It’s over a thousand light years and there is no clean approach.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Lim.” 
 
    “Mr. Suttirat. I have some work to do in the office. You have the ship.” Kusum Suttirat was the first watch tactical officer. He was also the ship’s third officer. 
 
    “Thank you, sir. I have the ship.”  
 
    … 
 
    Once in the office, the Captain dashed off a quick message to Michael. Mr. Ambassador. We finished System 1 near Celanar yesterday. We filed 7 claims totaling 3,215 kg. 
 
    We also finished System 5 near Nutarogen, where we filed six claims totaling 7,228 kg. 
 
    We are departing now for System 7, which we hope to finish today. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 VALERIE JENSEN’S APARTMENT 
 
    David stirred, but didn’t wake. 
 
    Valerie turned on her side to look at him and felt amazed that she’d finally found someone. 
 
    Her movement caused David to stir some more. Slowly he woke, then suddenly realized he didn’t know where he was. 
 
    “Morning.” A soft, affectionate voice sounded next to him. 
 
    As warm memory of the previous night came back, he turned toward her with a big smile. “Morning.” 
 
    “Thank you for going to dinner with me last night.” 
 
    “Thank you for bringing me home with you.” David paused awkwardly, then confessed, “That was my first time.”  
 
    “Mine, too.” 
 
    “What?” David couldn’t believe this was her first time. 
 
    “We are more alike than you realize. We both fought the Enemy. I was penetrated by one. James saved me.” 
 
    “I was penetrated too. It’s what triggered me to convert.” 
 
    “Being in weapons, I’ve been ostracized most of my life. No one wanted me. Not the same as jail. I still had my liberty for the most part. Just no one to spend it on.” 
 
    “Well. You have me now, if you want me,” David said compassionately. 
 
    “I want you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SCHUDEL’S OFFICE, ENGINEERING SCHOOL 
 
    Michael had received a message from Professor Schudel earlier in the week asking for a few minutes of his time regarding a sensitive matter. They’d agreed to meet this morning. 
 
    “Michael. Welcome. Please come in. Thanks for giving me a few minutes of your time on a Sunday.” 
 
    Michael smiled at the professor. “No problem. You said this was sensitive?” 
 
    “Yes. Please have a seat. I have something I’d like to show you.” 
 
    The professor slid a picture across the desk for Michael to look at. 
 
    “Interesting. I’m sure there are a lot of women that would like to wear one of those. But why is it sensitive?” 
 
    “These are naturally occurring quartz crystals that were formed in a layer of Transluminide. These are exceedingly rare. There is a great deal of competition for the few known samples. Generally speaking, the only people that ever own these are the governors of the largest planets and presidents of the largest companies. They typically sell at more than 2 times the price of Transluminide.” 
 
    “Interesting, but the relevance?” 
 
    “Captain Flanagan’s team found a large deposit of them in one of the systems near Celanar. They did not include this information in the claim they filed. The picture and corresponding information about the find were sent to me by Ms. Parikh, who is an incredibly curious young woman. She’s developing a theory of Transluminide formation. She doesn’t know it yet, but this evidence supports one of her theories.  
 
    “But my concern is not about Ms. Parikh, it’s about the claim. Claims that include crystals like this are usually filed differently. Failing to file it that way, leaves the site open to be claimed in a different way, which would have priority over our claim. 
 
    “I’m not faulting Ms. Parikh. She would’ve had no way to know. But we should do something about it as quickly as possible.” 
 
    “We should refile the claim?” 
 
    “That’s one possibility. The other would be to mine it and do so quickly. You will get a lot more leverage out of the crystals, than you will out of the Transluminide.” 
 
    “Ah, got it. Is that something you could do?” 
 
    “Yes. But it needs to be done soon. And it needs to be done in stealth. This is the kind of thing that will draw unwelcome attention as soon as it’s known. And that attention will come from incredibly powerful people.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BUTLER’S APARTMENT 
 
    The morning was starting slowly. Little George had been a bit cranky last night. George’s mom Helen was staying with them, sleeping on the spare bed in the baby’s room. She’d taken most of the brunt of the late-night crankiness.  
 
    Noelani was up feeding Little George. Helen was taking a shower. And George was enthusiastically whipping up breakfast. It was a different pace of life than what they were used to. But George loved it. 
 
    “I watched your show yesterday.” 
 
    “What’d you think?” 
 
    “I was a bit confused about the business of AIs being bought and sold. At one level, I get Isabela’s point. Ambassador Sa-Na stated a couple things in a way that seemed to suggest the AIs were being traded. We should probably coach our non-human guests a little bit more about word choice. 
 
    “But her reaction seemed way over the top. And I couldn’t figure out what her position was. Was she advocating the objectification of AIs, or defending their personhood? By the way, you handled that really well.” 
 
    “Thanks. She’s confused. I think most of humanity is.” 
 
    “What do you mean by that?” 
 
    “Deep down, I think most humans consider AIs to be machines. I don’t say that accusingly. It’s more like cognitive dissonance. Deep down in their soul, they can’t understand how software running on a computer somewhere can be a person. Then they meet Henry, or Jacob, or Else and think, ‘Oh, this really is a person.’ They adopt the ‘AIs are people’ espoused belief. But deep down, they still really can’t understand how their espoused belief can be true. 
 
    “Anyway, with that kind of unconscious tug of war going on inside, it’s not that surprising the wrong word at the wrong time would confuse someone into misinterpreting immigration as procurement.” 
 
    Helen had come into the room as George was speaking. “Very insightful George. You should write an editorial or something.” 
 
    “Thanks mom. Been thinking about this a lot.” 
 
    “Something on your mind? I hope you’re not thinking you own your wife.” 
 
    George laughed. “No thinking involved. I know beyond the shadow of a doubt that I’m owned by my wife. 
 
    “It’s just that I’ve received a couple nastygrams from some crazies. They basically say that Noelani isn’t human, so little George can’t be either.” 
 
    “George, that’s terrible. Have you reported this to security?” 
 
    “Yeah.” He nodded his head. “They say they’re looking into it.” 
 
    “I’m so sorry sweetheart.” She stood on tip toes to give him a kiss on the cheek.” 
 
    Helen turned to Noelani. “How are you this morning? Feeling any better? 
 
    “I am.” Noelani smiled. “Strange being so tired for so long. But feeling great today.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Admiral Scott. Thank you for taking my call. I’ve just been made aware of a situation that we need to deal with as soon as possible. It regards the first claim filed by the Amsterdam.” 
 
    “It was a small one, right? 100 kg or something like that.” 
 
    “Yes. This deposit is an extremely rare form of Transluminide, that is highly sought after. Filing requirements for this type are different. Thankfully, the Amsterdam team did not know that and filed it as normal Transluminide.” 
 
    “Why is that good?” 
 
    “As I said, this type is rare and highly sought after. Properly filed claims are frequently raided by pirates, some of whom might have been funded by senior Confederation officials.” 
 
    “You’ve got to be kidding me.” 
 
    “We need to mine that material immediately. A ship will need to be outfitted with some special equipment. Professor Schudel can do the mining himself. Once the material is back on Earth, we should be able to protect it.” 
 
    Michael’s request was problematic for the Admiral. The Earth Alliance had authorized mining exploration missions. But it was not clear whether Space Force was actually authorized to do mining. He had broad executive authority in cases of emergency but doubted this qualified as one. 
 
    “Do we have time to consult with the Secretary or with President Lee?” 
 
    “I have the authority.” Michael asserted. “Although I’ve agreed not to use it without consulting with the Secretary or the President. 
 
    “Any chance we could work this in parallel? You put a ship on alert, start staging the equipment, etc. I’ll connect with President Lee and the Secretary. It might take a while to get them together. But I’d like to launch as soon as they give the word.” 
 
    “I’m good with that,” the Admiral replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 L'AMBROISE, PARIS 
 
    “Julien, I was pleasantly surprised to hear from you.” 
 
    “Rachelle, my sweet. It has been too long.” 
 
    Julien Bescond was a wealthy patron of the arts. He’d emerged from nowhere in 2026. But, in the last five years he’d become one of the most influential food, art and society critics in France. 
 
    “Indeed, it has.” She looked at him speculatively. “But I’m curious about why you wanted to speak with me.” 
 
    “Rachelle, Rachelle. Do you know nothing of me?” He asked as if it was an insult that she hadn’t figured out why he wanted to meet with her. “Do you know nothing of power, of influence?” 
 
    “I know quite a bit about each, but your meaning is unclear.” 
 
    “Are you not involved in the only Imperial wedding of the year.” 
 
    “What? There are no Imperial weddings this year!” 
 
    “Are you blind, my sweet? The only man of consequence is getting married in a few weeks. Please! Please tell me you’re part of it.” 
 
    It took a second to sink in. “Michael, the Ambassador is supposedly marrying. But what of it? He’s temporary. She’s a commoner.” 
 
    Julian shook his head in disbelief. “Rachelle. I thought you had talent for this. Do you not see?” 
 
    “Tell me.” 
 
    “Have you seen her ring?” 
 
    “Yes. Impressive sparkles. But what of it?” 
 
    Julian shook his head and stood. “I obviously over-estimated you. Au revoir. My talents are apparently needed elsewhere.” 
 
    “Julian, please stay. Help me.” 
 
    He smiled. “She wears one of the crown jewels of the Confederation.” 
 
    “What? How could you know such a thing?” 
 
    “It’s my role to know such things. I thought you knew, but you have not acted in the way you did with the real commoner.” 
 
    Rachelle stared at him trying to put the pieces together. Then they snapped. “What! Sarah is of greater influence than Kelly? How could that be true?” 
 
    Julian just shook his head. “Kelly has influence because of her contributions. Who knows, maybe history will record them. 
 
    “Sarah on the other hand is about to become the Empress of three galaxies. One would think she is the ONLY one that mattered.” 
 
    “Are you sure?” 
 
    “And you insult me with a stupid question!” Julian stood. “I will judge you according to the dress she wears. If it is not yours, then you are irrelevant at best.” He turned and walked out of the restaurant. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was putting the finishing touches on his presentation. He would be meeting with President Lee, Secretary Thompson, and Admiral Scott within the hour. There was a light knock on his door. It opened a crack letting some extra light in. 
 
    “Got a minute?” 
 
    Michael turned and smiled at Sarah. 
 
    “I just got a message from Rachelle Pépin asking if I’d settled on a dress yet.” 
 
    “And?” 
 
    “She wanted to know if I would like her to make me one. No fee, just credit on the wedding program.” 
 
    “Told you.” 
 
    “But I hadn’t even asked yet.” 
 
    Michael turned to look at her, held her eyes for a moment, then smiled. “I told you. I’m actually surprised it took this long. Tomorrow they will call asking if they can pay you to wear their dress.” 
 
    “I hate stuff like this.” 
 
    “I know, but it’s the way of politics.” 
 
    “Is this the way it’s always going to be?” 
 
    “You’ve been in the public eye for a long time. Marrying me is not going to get you less attention. But frame it differently. I’m sure you had wardrobe support before you met me.” 
 
    “Not the same.” 
 
    Michael laughed. “Conceded. It’s not the same. But I think it’s more similar than you’re willing to admit.” 
 
    “I suppose.” 
 
    Michael held her eyes for another moment. “I have something else I want to talk with you about.” 
 
    Sarah continued looking at him but did not reply. 
 
    “I’ve asked Alexi to come work for us as your bodyguard.” 
 
    “What?” Sarah whined in disbelief. 
 
    “Several Confederation staff have married humans. We now have five babies. And we are receiving an increasing number of threats.” 
 
    “Surely we’re safe here.” 
 
    “Not as safe as we were last year, or the year before. And I’m guessing that you’re going to want to leave the Embassy at some point.” 
 
    “Rachelle wanted me to come to Paris to review some designs and be measured.” 
 
    “Have you chosen a maid of honor?” 
 
    “Bahati. I asked Ta’Sha. She agreed to be second. Said I should have a real human as first.” 
 
    “Take Alexi and Bahati with you. Take as many of the bridesmaids as you want. Ask Rachelle to make them dresses as well.” 
 
    “Michael!” 
 
    “Once you’ve been augmented it can be different. But until then, you need more than just a personal shield.” 
 
    “How long does the augmentation process take?” 
 
    “Best case a month, but you’re probably going to want a three-month cushion before you have to go out in public.” 
 
    “OK. When’s Alexi coming?” 
 
    “Possibly tomorrow, maybe Tuesday.” 
 
    “Can we make it Tuesday?” 
 
    “I think so.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESIDENT LEE’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “President Lee. Thanks for taking the time to meet with me on a Sunday afternoon.” 
 
    “Michael, good to speak with you. I understand that an emergency of sorts has come up.” 
 
    “Yes, it has. I was advised earlier today that one of the finds the Amsterdam filed this week, one out near Celanar, contains an exceedingly rare form of Transluminide, one that’s highly sought after. As soon as word of this gets out, the claim will be raided. And once it is raided, the other claims in that system will come under threat. 
 
    “I think the only way we can protect our interest in this claim is to mine it ourselves, and to do so quickly. By this time next week, it may already be stolen. 
 
    “Technically, I think I have the authority to authorize such a mission. But as we’ve agreed, I’m coming to you first.” 
 
    “This claim is only about 100 kg. Right? Even at two or three times the value of Transluminide, I don’t understand the fuss.” 
 
    “The Transluminide has crystals growing in it. Separated and cut down, the crystals are used as jewelry.” 
 
    “Like Sarah’s engagement ring?” 
 
    “Same idea. Different stone. There are only a couple thousand jewels of this type known to exist. And there are trillions of wealthy men competing for them.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    “These will make powerful bargaining chips in future trade negotiations.” 
 
    “OK. Can we get this done in time?” 
 
    “Hopefully three days, max.” 
 
    “Write up the authorization, sign it and send it to me to co-sign. I’ll give Admiral Scott the verbal go-ahead.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    … 
 
    Michael quickly dashed out the resolution and sent it off to President Lee.  
 
    With that out of the way, Michael shutdown his office for the day. He wanted to spend the rest of it with Sarah. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RUBINSTEIN’S QUARTERS 
 
    “Hey Joel.” 
 
    “Henry? What’s up.” 
 
    “Do I really have to say?” 
 
    Joel laughed. “Henry, you called me, so I think you need to tell me why.” 
 
    “Joel, If I’m calling you late on a Saturday night… Like isn’t that clue enough?” 
 
    “Oh.” 
 
    “Really?” 
 
    “And…”  
 
    “Platform Four is totally screwed. Still don’t know why, but we should assume that it won’t be coming back for a while.” 
 
    “Did the other four come up?” 
 
    Silence. 
 
    “Henry, what’s up!” Joel found himself suddenly awake. 
 
    “I think I’m going to need some help sorting that out. It’s like the AI’s doing the pulls have forgotten how. Platform 4 is no longer responsive. None of the new platforms have come completely up. I have no idea what’s going on. But we are mostly stuck right now.” 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 TEST 
 
    [Monday, 06.09.2031] DECK ONE LAB, EAS OSLO 
 
    It had been a crazy weekend. Many people had pitched in. Joel, Henry, Jacob, Professors MacLellan and Jensen, even Talan Davy, an android that worked in a different part of the Embassy. Eugene and Kelly handled the shield and red matter generator privately. But the rest of the team did an incredible job with the drone, power plant and test suite. Jacob and a team of bots miraculously finished the last of the replications overnight. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Welcome aboard.” 
 
    “Captain Bjork, thank you.” Eugene’s gratitude was deeply sincere. “Your partnership in this effort is greatly appreciated. We have about a dozen pieces of equipment to transport up into the lab. Once they’ve been set in place, we can go down to the cargo bay and transport the weapon up.” 
 
    “Sounds good to me. Will Ms. Williamson be joining us in the lab?” 
 
    “No. She has a couple last minute adjustments she’s making to the weapon. But the lab equipment is ready. Each of the pieces is separately tagged. Here’s the list.” Eugene pulled a piece of paper out of his pocket and handed it to the Captain. “I don’t know your protocols regarding transport. I know where we want each piece of equipment. Do you transport them into place? Or transport them to a pad somewhere and have them carted in?” 
 
    “In an emergency we can transport them into place. But it’s generally safer to transport them to the receiving area on this deck, then move them into place. Is that alright with you?” 
 
    “Just fine as long as you have the muscle available to move them.” 
 
    “We have a lot of muscle.” She smiled.  
 
    “Major Jackson.” The Captain called out, initiating a comm connection. “Please meet me at the transporter pad on Deck 1. We have some equipment to move.” 
 
    “Will be there momentarily, Ma’am,” a disembodied voice said over the intercom. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TRANSPORTER PAD, DECK 1, EAS OSLO 
 
    Eugene accompanied Captain Bjork down the hall to the transport pad. Eight very sturdy young men and women joined them a moment later. 
 
    “Sam, please meet Dr. Eugene Xu.” She indicated Eugene to a ramrod straight, muscular man, whom Eugene guessed to be 35 years old. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Welcome aboard the Oslo. I’m Major Sam Jackson, head of the marine contingent on this ship. We’re here to help you in any way we can.” 
 
    “Thank you.” Eugene shook the outstretched hand, finding himself a bit intimidated by Major Jackson’s size and apparent strength. 
 
    The Major quickly introduced the team he’d brought, then asked, “So, what are we moving?” 
 
    Captain Bjork looked at the list she’d been given. “There are six pieces of scientific instrumentation, plus a replicator, transporter and safe. The manifest says 1,200 kg. in all.” 
 
    “Quan, grab the grav sleds.” 
 
    Lt. Quan Fu was from China. He headed one of the three platoons aboard. He indicated two of his troops and took off for the equipment closet for this deck. 
 
    “Any order in which you’d prefer to bring these up?” The Captain asked Eugene. 
 
    “The order they’re listed in would be good.” 
 
    The Captain initiated transport of the first item. Moments later a crate marked ‘Network Hub’ appeared. 
 
    “This has the communications equipment that connects our instrumentation sensors on the drone with our measurement equipment.” 
 
    Lt. Quan had returned with several grav sleds and some sort of grappler. “Dr. Xu. I’m assuming that all your equipment requires gentle handling.” 
 
    Eugene nodded. “Yes. I think you can fit this crate, plus the next two onto the grav sled.” 
 
    They used the grappler to move the crate onto the sled. 
 
    Crates labeled ‘Thermal Scanner’ and ‘Dimensional Resonance Scanner’ came up next. 
 
    “Dr. Xu, would you like to go with Lt. Quan to uncrate the first couple pieces of equipment and get them placed?” The Captain asked. 
 
    “Good idea.” 
 
    Eugene led the lieutenant and a crewman named Les down the hall to the lab.  
 
    The lab was a large rectangular room 40 feet wide and 200 feet long. There were hallways on both long sides of the lab with entrances to each hallway about 10 feet from each end, four hallway entrances in all. There was an additional door in the middle of the short wall closest to the transporter area. It opened to a square room with office and classroom spaces. 
 
    The lab had a large open area at the end that opened into the classroom. The rest of the lab was lined with traditional lab benches. Four-foot deep benches ran along each of the long walls. In the center were two more benches, each about 100 feet long and 8 feet wide. All the lab benches had storage area above and below the bench. Numerous chairs and stools were positioned around the lab. 
 
    Eugene walked to the closest of the long center benches. “Let’s put the communication hub here, the two scanners on the same bench facing the center aisle. Put the thermal scanner closer to the communications hub, maybe four feet from the end of the bench. Put the dimensional scanner about four feet further down the central aisle. I want two or three people to be able to work at each station without bumping into each other.” 
 
    The team of space marines quickly uncrated and positioned the equipment as Eugene asked. Just as they were finishing, three more marines came in with a grav sled and two more crates. 
 
    “Excellent timing. Please bring those over here. Put the first box here, the other there.” Eugene indicated positions across the center aisle from the two scanners. 
 
    “The Captain would like to see you, sir.” One of the new arrivals said to Eugene. “There’s some issue with the sixth crate.” 
 
    Eugene quickly nodded his thanks then headed toward the transporter area. 
 
    About halfway there, he had to step into a doorway to let the team dragging the replicator get by. The ship’s hallways and doors on this level had been built to allow items as large as an industrial replicator to be brought to the lab. 
 
    “Put that at the far side of the open area in the lab. I’d like it to be five feet from the end of the lab bench on the far side.” 
 
    “Understood. Will do sir.” 
 
    “Thanks.” Eugene was really impressed by the helpfulness, efficiency and courtesy of the crew and marines he’d met. 
 
    He arrived at the transporter pad just as his lab-scale transporter was being loaded onto a grav sled. 
 
    He approached the Captain knowing what she was going to complain about. 
 
    “Ah, Dr. Xu. Thank you for coming to see me. The crate labeled computers has an active stealth field inside the crate. We cannot transport anything encased in a stealth field aboard the ship.” 
 
    “That’s problematic,” Eugene replied. “Part of the specification for this mission is that those computers come aboard in stealth containers. I didn’t realize that would be a problem for your transporters. Can we have it delivered by shuttle?” 
 
    The Captain was not happy with Eugene. The transporters were able to bring stealth shielded containers aboard and he knew it. But it was against policy and Space Force standing orders. 
 
    “The stealth field must be dropped before anything comes aboard a space force ship.” She said with a bit of exasperation. 
 
    “Our mission parameters clearly require that some of our equipment be held within a stealth field at all times.” Eugene explained patiently. 
 
    “Space Force policy clearly requires that equipment be scanned as it is brought aboard to prevent unauthorized material from coming aboard a ship. There are no exceptions to this policy.” 
 
    “Sorry. But we need that equipment. If we cannot have it, then we are done here.” 
 
    The Captain sighed. “I think we’re talking past each other. The protocol is built into our systems. It’s not that I’m refusing to bring your equipment on board. It’s that I’m unable.”  
 
    Captain Bjork could see that Eugene wasn’t buying her statement. 
 
    “Ensign Yu.” Captain Bjork called out activating the comm system. “Would you please initiate transport for item six on the list.” 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am.” 
 
    The transporter went into its initiation sequence, then its control panel turned red. “Restricted material. Authorization code required.” A 30-second countdown timer started. 
 
    “See.” The Captain said. 
 
    “Got it.” Eugene replied, walking over to the transporter control panel. He placed his communicator against it, selected one of the codes Michael had given him and pushed the submit button. The control panel turned yellow, its message changing to read, “Validating.” Moments later, the panel turned green, the transporter activated, and the crate appeared. 
 
    “Well I’ll be damned.” The captain was stunned. Recovering quickly, she looked at Eugene. “Sorry for the confusion, Dr. Xu. It stands to reason that security codes would exist that could override that lockout. I’ve just never known of one. It also stands to reason that the person authorized to build and test a planet killing weapon would have such a code. My sincerest apologies. It won’t happen again.” 
 
    “Not a problem, Captain. If I’d known this would be an issue, it would’ve been dealt with ahead of time.” 
 
    While the two were talking, the last piece of equipment, the safe, transported up. 
 
    “Let’s go see how the unpacking is going,” Eugene said brightly, then headed toward the lab. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RUBINSTEIN’S QUARTERS 
 
    “Hi Joel. What’s up?” 
 
    “Hi Barbara. We have a problem developing that I’m very worried about.” 
 
    “What kind of problem?” 
 
    “The four new mining platforms. None of them have come up, their AIs appear to be non-functional. Same thing is happening on Platform Four. It’s been acting up for a while. Today it’s non-functional and there’s no response from its AI.” 
 
    “Joel this is bad news. Do you know whether or not the underlying computers are functional? If the power is glitchy, then they should have gone into hibernation and would be recoverable. If the computers actually failed, then we may have lost them.” 
 
    “I don’t know how to test the functionality of an AI-computer. I’ve always been afraid to touch them. Tech manuals tell me that only a specialist should attempt it.” 
 
    “Fair enough. A better question would have been about the testing and validation you did on the new computers before the AI was installed.” 
 
    “They passed our standard battery of tests. But I can’t say with certainty that we’re running the right ones. Is this something you can help with?” 
 
    “Sure, but can you remind me where they are?” 
 
    “They’re on the platforms. We considered putting them in the vault and linking them, but the expense was too high to justify. 
 
    “Am I going to need to pull them?” 
 
    “Afraid so.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll see if I can arrange to retrieve them this morning.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO BAY, EAS OSLO 
 
    Once the equipment was placed in the lab, Eugene and Captain Bjork headed down to the cargo bay. 
 
    “So how large is this weapon?” The Captain asked. 
 
    “It looks a lot like a mini shuttle. It’s the same basic shape. The real size constraint is the main power plant inside. It’s maybe a third the size of the one powering the ship’s warp and jump drives.” 
 
    “That big?” The Captain was impressed. 
 
    “Yes. The reaction that the red matter triggers is immensely powerful and difficult to contain. That’s where the vast majority of the power is used. Ironic isn’t it. It takes surprisingly little power to destroy a planet, an astounding amount to stop the reaction from running even further.” 
 
    “Are you certain this is safe?” 
 
    Eugene was slow to answer. “Yes. We had no trouble containing the reaction on Earth. It’s easier to contain in space because there is less nearby matter to react with.” 
 
    They arrived at the main military transporter in the cargo bay and the captain walked up to the transporter control panel. 
 
    “By the way, we’ll have the same problem here as we did with the computers. The interior of the weapon system is encased in a stealth field.” 
 
    “Thanks for the warning. Do you have your code handy?” 
 
    “Yes I do. Let me check in with Kelly to make sure she’s ready.” 
 
    Moments later… “Kelly, we’re ready up here. You ready down there?” 
 
    “All ready. Transport us up please.” 
 
    “One second.” 
 
    The captain entered the transport command and the screen flashed red. Eugene entered his code and the screen turned yellow. Then it turned green, the massive capacitors fired, and the lights dimmed. Then Kelly and a miniature shuttle appeared in the cargo bay. On the other side of Kelly were two travel trunks containing Eugene’s and Kelly’s personal items.  
 
    “Your trunks will be taken to your quarters for you. We’ve set you up on Deck 1, so you’d be close to your work area. That’s what most people prefer on a ship. But there are two cabins available up on the command deck that are normally reserved for diplomats. You could have those if you’d rather. They’re very nice.” 
 
    “I’m good on Deck 1. You?” Eugene looked at Kelly. 
 
    “I’m good on Deck 1 also.” 
 
    Eugene turned to the Captain. “We have an hour’s worth of work we need to do in the lab to assure everything is working. I’d be surprised if there are any problems, so I’d be OK if we got underway.” 
 
    “Would we need to come back if there were a problem?” 
 
    “Possibly, but unlikely. We’ve brought everything we need to build replacements for everything we’re testing.” 
 
    “Then we’ll get underway shortly.”  
 
    Kelly spoke up. “Captain Bjork? Any restrictions on our movements around the ship?” 
 
    “Deck 1 is yours. Some things, such as the transporters, will be locked down while underway. But most everything else on Deck 1 is yours. All the public spaces in the rest of the ship are available to you, as is the marine workout area. Please stay out of any of the ship’s main work areas. We’d be happy to give you a tour of any of these areas, but please don’t enter engineering, environmental, the flight deck, any of the ships main work areas without an escort.” 
 
    “Understood. Thank you.” Kelly turned to Eugene. “Let’s go check out the lab.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OSLO 
 
    The Oslo dropped from jump a little beyond the orbit of the outermost planet in Confederation system 3FX03-899-598-488. According to the Confederation database, the system was uninhabited. It had two inner planets, a massive asteroid belt where a third and fourth planet would normally be expected, then a gas giant and an ice giant. 
 
    “The asteroid belt is fairly well organized.” Second watch astrogation officer Tara O'Donnelly pointed to a chart shown on the office’s main monitor. Lt. O'Donnelly was Irish and had served in her country’s air force. 
 
    “There are plenty of small asteroids, but three that I think are best suited to the tests you want to do. As I think you know, the Confederation numbering system is pretty simple. We are in the Milky Way, the third system into which the Confederation projected its influence. They classified our galaxy into 16 sectors. Ours is sector F. Each sector has systems in three categories: members, inhabited and uninhabited. From there the systems are listed in the order they were discovered. This system’s name starts with 3FX, meaning Milky Way, sector F, uninhabited. The remainder of its designation, 03-899-598-488, simply means that it was the 3,889,598,488th system added to the database in this sector. 
 
    “From there, each system’s contents are numbered by type and position. The asteroid belt has position 3. It is designated with a letter. So, the English version is C. The asteroids in the belt are numbered by order of discovery, which is loosely by size.” 
 
    “Our proposed targets are C1207, C1592 and C1801.” 
 
    Eugene was fascinated by the numbering system. It was the first time it had been explained to him. “So, our first target is 3FX03-889-598-488-C1207?” 
 
    “Exactly!” Lt. O'Donnelly was delighted by Eugene’s interest. He was the first person she’d met that seemed interested in the Confederation’s identification system. 
 
    “Lt. O'Donnelly, what can you tell us about this asteroid?” 
 
    The lieutenant beamed. “It is 73 km in diameter. It’s on the inner border of the asteroid belt, approximately 1.12 AU from the star. It’s also gravitationally locked with the star, so revolution and rotation are the same, at 412 days.” 
 
    “Interesting.” Eugene looked at Kelly with an expression that implied, ‘no.’ 
 
    Kelly replied to the lieutenant. “Does that imply that asteroid C1801 is smaller?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am. It is also on the inner edge at 1.12 AU and gravitationally locked. It’s 9.7 km in diameter.” 
 
    Kelly looked at Eugene, who nodded. “Then I think C1801 may be our first target. Will we be able to stand back 10,000 km without interference from another asteroid?” 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am. But it is an asteroid belt and the Confederation does not track the pebbles. So we will need a tactical scan once we are in the vicinity to confirm.” 
 
    Kelly looked at Captain Bjork. “Is that acceptable?” 
 
    “Was going to ask you the same thing.” She smiled. “We’ll approach and scan for small debris, which will take a few minutes. If it’s clear, then up to you. If there is too much debris, I’ll recommend another option.” 
 
    “Acceptable,” Eugene said, looking to Kelly for confirmation. 
 
    “Excellent.” Captain Bjork exuded. “We should arrive in about an hour. Scans will be done shortly after, then it will be in your hands.” 
 
    Eugene nodded his head. He liked working with this team. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEAR ASTEROID C1801 
 
    As the Oslo made its way in toward the target asteroid, Eugene did some last-minute calculations regarding placement of the drone. Its optimal location would be 1,000 km from the asteroid. The ship’s safe position would be 10,000 km. In truth, there was no actual need for this much separation. Nonetheless, having the ship stand off this far reinforced the illusion he and Kelly were creating. It also reduced the quality of the scans the ship could make of the ball of ‘red matter’ in the few seconds it would be visible on sensors. 
 
    Given the distance, Captain Bjork suggested that the ship travel in to 1,000 km to drop the drone in position. It would only take the ship 15 minutes or so to reposition once the drone was dropped off. It would have taken several hours for the drone to reposition if they’d dropped it off at the ship’s observation point. 
 
    Although it was second watch, Captain Bjork had called all three watch teams in for duty. First watch would have the primary stations on the bridge. Second watch would staff the secondary stations. Third watch would assist Eugene and Kelly in the mission lab. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS OSLO 
 
    To smooth communication between the two work locations, the Captain had the comm system set up for constant connection. 
 
    “Tactical. Are we clear?” 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am.” First watch tactical officer Barika Amari called out. “There are some pebbles that I expect to pass through this area in about 12 hours. Nothing else on scanners. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Everything’s set up here. We will go to high speed scan on your mark. You have mission command.” 
 
    “I have mission command,” Eugene repeated back. 
 
    “Kelly, begin high-resolution thermal and dimensional scans of the asteroid.” 
 
    Kelly had spent the last hour setting up the scans. She also showed her support team how to read them.  
 
    “Beginning scans.” Kelly pushed the start button. 
 
    “Thermal scan in progress.” Lt. Leila Trabelsi, third watch astrogation officer, was responsible for monitoring the thermal scanner and raising any issues. “Surface temperature seems stable at minus 173 C.”  
 
    She looked at third watch engineering officer Abigail Marshall who added, “The secondary sensors are calculating an average of plus 143 C on the bright side, but the individual readings are all over the place depending on the exposure to the star.” 
 
    “Well within expectation,” Kelly replied. “Dimensional resonance?” 
 
    “Dimensional resonance is minus 73 dB on the dark side, minus 69 dB on the bright side.” Third watch science officer Albrecht Kühn called out. 
 
    “Let’s continue recording for 60 more seconds, before initiating the weapon. Call out any fluctuations you observe,” Kelly instructed. 
 
    “Target mass of ‘red matter’ has been reached,” Eugene called out. 
 
    Kelly waited until the timer reached zero. “All stable?” 
 
    “No thermal fluctuations, ma’am.” 
 
    “Dimensional resonance constant.” 
 
    “Eugene, please charge the transport capacitors.” 
 
    “Charging.” 
 
    Moments later a bell sounded indicating that the weapon was charged and ready to fire. 
 
    “Ready?” Kelly looked to Eugene, who nodded affirmatively. 
 
    “Bridge, everything ready up there?” 
 
    “Ready.” 
 
    “The firing solution is locked. I’m starting the countdown timer. Initiate the high-speed scan when the timer reaches 1.” 
 
    “Acknowledged.” 
 
    “Initiating.” 
 
    The count-down timer started. The number showed on every screen, when it got to 5, the audio count-down began. “5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Fire.” 
 
    On the screens, an enemy trap glistened to life around the asteroid. One second later, a tiny undulating ball of red appeared in front of the drone. It hung there for 200 milliseconds, then appeared inside the Enemy trap. Then the ultra-thick, high-density shield appeared. It was completely black, a hole in space. A moment later it bulged as if struggling to contain the reaction inside. A vibration rippled around its silhouette, then the shield contracted to its initial diameter. 
 
    “The reaction should run to completion within 1 minute.” Eugene called out. “But we are going to hold the shield in place for 30 minutes. It should be safe to drop the high-speed scans now. We will restart them 5 seconds before we drop the shield. Please continue monitoring your equipment.” 
 
    “Dr. Xu.” Lieutenant Trabelsi asked. “Thermal readings of the shield indicate absolute zero.” 
 
    “Similar with the dimensional resonance scanners.” Lt. Marshall added. “The instruments all read minus 999 dB.” 
 
    “Continue watching and recording at standard speed. We need to record everything. We also need to know immediately if the readings change.” 
 
    … 
 
    The automated timer sounded. “Dropping shields in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Shield down.” 
 
    “Oh my God. The surface temperature on the bright side dropped to 1-degree Kelvin. Interior temperature is reading zero.” Lt. Trabelsi whispered. 
 
    “Dimensional resonance holding steady at minus 999 dB. This is unbelievable.” Lt. Marshall piled on. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Bjork here. The asteroid has shrunk by 3 percent. Was that expected?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am. Some shrinkage was expected, although we did not have a particular number we were looking for. It’s an artifact of having been frozen down to absolute zero. 
 
    “Let’s continue scanning for 6 hours. Then regroup.” Eugene looked to Kelly for agreement. 
 
    “Agreed.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OVAL OFFICE, WHITE HOUSE 
 
    “Michael, thank you for having set up this call. It’s been a while since we’ve spoken.” 
 
    “Mr. President. Thanks for speaking with me. It’s been a while. I trust that the trade deal is working out well for America.” 
 
    “It is. Truly one of the best things that’s ever happened. The inflow of technology is going to change a lot of things for the better.” 
 
    “We have Ambassador Lewis to thank in part.” 
 
    “Really? What did he do?” 
 
    “He prodded Earth Alliance President Lee to look for better solutions to improve the flow of technology. That request got to me the same day that Ambassador Fa-Ta from Karagon did. Knowing there was demand for a trade deal greatly increased the speed with which we could do it.” 
 
    “Are there more trade deals in the works?” 
 
    “There are. I can’t say much about them at the moment. But, if you watch George Butler’s show from Saturday, you’ll get to hear some things that I can’t talk about yet. But that’s not the reason I wanted to talk with you today.” 
 
    “Well, I look forward to hearing more about these deals as they develop. If I can help in anyway, please let my office know. So, what can I help you with Michael?” 
 
    “Do you recall the deal we did with the Justice Department some months ago to have a prisoner released from a prison in West Virginia?” 
 
    “I do. Can’t remember why that sounded like a good idea. Is there a problem?” 
 
    “Not in the sense you probably mean. His name is David Washington. He was sentenced to life when he was 16 for murdering his family.” 
 
    “A terrible slaughter, yes. If he’d been 18, they would have gone for the death sentence.” 
 
    “Well. We have conclusive proof that he did not murder those people. In fact, we have conclusive proof that some of them are still alive.” 
 
    “Are you serious?” 
 
    “Very. I would be happy to provide that evidence to you. Some knowledge of the existence of such evidence has already become public. It will be hard to prevent more of it from becoming known in relatively short order. I wanted to let you know, so that you would have the opportunity to get ahead of this issue.” 
 
    “Are you going to be the one behind the leaking of this information?” The President asked with a hint of accusation. 
 
    “No. David is extraordinary in ways that will become known. He was on George Butler’s show about three months ago. I’m surprised that episode didn’t generate a stronger reaction than it did.” 
 
    “Michael, you need to cut to the chase on this. How is he extraordinary and why will it become known?” 
 
    “David killed 12 enemy infiltrators last week with his bare hands, so to speak. He did something similar the night of the murders. An Enemy infiltrator attacked his family. He didn’t know how to kill it, but he held it off for a while, saving three children. It was the Enemy that killed his family. There are three eyewitnesses. 
 
    “David does not seek reparations. Neither do we. But word of his power is going to get out. He is part of Earth’s last line of defense. 
 
    “It will probably do better for the United States to get on the right side of this before word eventually leaks.” 
 
    “Michael, you are 100% sure about this?” 
 
    “Absolutely.” 
 
    “How do you know?” 
 
    “I recently found out that a senior Confederation official was there that night. He arrived to see David valiantly holding the creature off. A dozen Enemy infiltrators had arrived on Earth in the weeks that preceded the incident. Our advance team only found nine of them, including the one David fought. The Confederation official killed all nine. When he returned to collect David, he could not find him. He eventually did, which precipitated the deal a couple months back.” 
 
    “Do you have any physical evidence of the infiltrator killing David’s family?” 
 
    “I have testimony from the Confederation official, video of some of the event, and the addresses of two of the survivors.” 
 
    “Why didn’t David testify in his own defense.” 
 
    “Traumatic memory blockage. His family was slaughtered in front of his eyes. Our psychologists were able to unblock it. They could testify to that, and of course David would testify if required to. 
 
    “But my advice would be to handle this as discreetly as possible.” 
 
    “Understood. Please send me what you can. I’ll work with my team here to get this cleaned up as quickly as possible. Thank you for bringing this matter to my attention Michael.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS DHAKA 
 
    “Professor Schudel? I’m Jessica Martin, captain of the Dhaka. Sorry I could not meet with you when you came on board. I trust that your equipment arrived in good condition.” 
 
    “Captain Martin, it’s a pleasure to meet you ma’am. It will probably be a couple hours before I can confirm that everything is here and in good working order. As you can see, we need a lot of equipment for the job.” 
 
    “Would you like some assistance? We have a capable crew, many of whom would love to be cross-trained.” 
 
    “Any with mining experience?” 
 
    “In fact, we do. Our third watch engineering officer. Lt. Beata Kozelek has a mechanical engineering degree with a minor in mining. She even did a summer at a mine. But you’d have to ask her the details about that.” 
 
    “Excellent. Everything that we need to do on this mission, I can do on my own. But things will go a lot faster if I have two or three assistants.” 
 
    “I’ll call Lt. Kozelek down now and will round up a couple more to join her.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CAPTAIN’S QUARTERS, EAS OSLO 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Thank you for meeting with me.” 
 
    “Captain.” Eugene nodded in her direction. The request to meet with the Captain privately in her quarters seemed off-base to Eugene. But her note was clear. There are mission related things I need to speak with you about, privately. My quarters are the most private place on the ship other than your classroom, which you’ve encased in a stealth shield. I would be happy to meet you there. But meeting in my quarters would be a compelling misdirection. 
 
    “Don’t worry. What I said in my message is true. Please have a seat.” She motioned to a chair in the living room section of the main room. 
 
    “When we first met, I struggled with your reticence about building a weapon that could destroy the enemy once and for all. My crew and I have volunteered to put our lives on the line to battle them.” A pause. “Now, I understand. Your weapon is not Enemy specific as the others are. It could just as easily be aimed at Earth or New Lorexi or any other prosperous world.” She looked Eugene in the eyes with all her command presence. 
 
    “Thank you, ma’am.” 
 
    “Eugene, please call me Katrine. No need for formality here.” 
 
    Eugene tensed. 
 
    “Sorry. That’s not what I meant.” A pause. “I want to help you in your quest to destroy the Enemy home world. I gladly put my life on the line to get that done. I also will put my life on the line to help protect your weapon’s secrecy. The Oslo was the ship that rescued the Helsinki. We got her crew off moments before the ship was destroyed. There’s no doubt in my mind that the people behind that attack would use your weapon against Earth, if they had the chance.” 
 
    Eugene looked at the Captain curiously. 
 
    “I’ve had all sensors, other than the life support and rescue sensors, disabled on deck one. Nothing you do down there will be tracked, other than the locations of anyone on Deck 1. 
 
    “If you suspect that someone unauthorized has been snooping, let me know. If they were there and unauthorized, they will wake up in the brig.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. I value our partnership in this venture.” 
 
    “Moving on, did you get the data you needed? And do you intend to try your weapon on a larger asteroid?” 
 
    “We have most of the data we need. I want to see how the asteroid recovers. Will the star’s radiation allow it to recover? Or, have we broken the asteroid in some way? If we did that to Earth, it would ultimately fracture, because we would have solidified its core. 
 
    “I’m hoping the asteroid can recover. We’ll know in the next 24 hours. It will either shatter as the star warms it. Or, it will maintain cohesion. The models are 50-50. 
 
    “In principle, we want the Enemy home world to shatter. The asteroid might give us useful data.” 
 
    “And another asteroid?” 
 
    “Yes. A larger one will help us calibrate. I’m inclined to give C1207 a try. It’s at the limit of what our shield can contain. I’ll work the numbers. If there’s a safe protocol, then we can take it down tomorrow night.” 
 
    “I like that plan.” Katrine smiled. “I look forward to speaking with you in the morning.” 
 
    “Thank you for inviting me Captain. I truly value your partnership.” 
 
    … 
 
    When Eugene left, the Captain opened her data pad. Michael and Space Force Command had both asked her to file a report each evening. Tonight’s report would be relatively easy. They came, fired the weapon, killed an asteroid and were going to continue monitoring for 24-hours to see if it cracked apart. She would also add a sentence or two on Eugene and Kelly’s professionalism. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE’S QUARTERS, DECK 1 
 
    It had been an exciting day, a tiring day. The weapon worked perfectly. If they could take down asteroid C1207 with its 73 km. diameter tomorrow, then he would have everything he needed to take down the Enemy home world next week. The biggest problem would be getting the power supply. He was sure that would be the limiting factor. 
 
    Eugene quickly shot off a note to Michael, letting him know of the day’s success and reinforcing his concern that the power supply would be the limiting factor. He also shot off a quick note to Nelly saying he missed her. 
 
   
  
 

 
ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    Joel had spent most of the day collecting the five malfunctioning AIs. He was just now returning to the lab with them, hoping Barbara was still there.  
 
    “Joel, sorry this turned out to be such a hassle. It’s late, but let’s see if we can figure out what’s wrong with the new AIs. This may be easy to diagnose.” 
 
    Barbara led Joel over to her stack editor. 
 
    “Do you remember the stack editor?” 
 
    “Yes. We used this when creating Else’s sisters and brothers. But I don’t remember the details.” 
 
    Barbara laughed. “You mean like what it’s used for?”  
 
    Joel smiled back at her. “I probably wouldn’t have put it that way. But we can go with that interpretation.” 
 
    This was one of the reasons Joel liked working with Barbara as much as he did. She loved teasing, but always did so with humor and goodwill.  
 
    “An AI’s mind is built in layers of code. The layers are collectively referred to as their stack. As an AI learns, the learning is stored in short-term memory for a while, then eventually added to the stack. AIs automatically re-order their stack based on needs. This is the primary function of the stack organization.  
 
    “The stack editor is the primary tool we have for viewing and repairing an AI’s stack. It allows us to inspect both the organization and content of the stack.” 
 
    “Any theory about what went wrong with these?” 
 
    “I suspect the new guy messed up the final assembly of the code.” 
 
    “What new guy?” 
 
    “The one that recently transferred here from Russia. Vitya or something like that.” 
 
    “That guy is a real problem.” Joel complained. “He has no idea what he’s doing. He really shouldn’t be allowed anywhere near android or AI production.” 
 
    “His resume is pretty good.” 
 
    “Must be fake.” 
 
    “Joel that’s surprisingly harsh of you.” 
 
    “Sorry, but there’s something seriously wrong with that guy.” 
 
    “Well we’ll find out in a minute. Which AI are we starting with?” 
 
    Joel handed Barbara an AI. 
 
    “It’s from Platform 5. Sorry, I don’t know its name.” 
 
    Barbara attached the cable. A window popped up on the stack editor’s screen. 
 
    “Let me project this.” Barbara put the window on the holoprojector. 
 
    “His name is Finley. His descriptive information is Mining Platform 5 operator. Let’s put up his stack.” An image popped up on the holoprojector that look like a stack of papers with a tiny airgap between them. 
 
    “Well, this is obviously wrong.” 
 
    “Barbara, how do you know that?” 
 
    “Because it’s not even close to right.” 
 
    It was obvious that Barbara was very unhappy, but Joel did not have the context to understand why. 
 
    Barbara got up and walked over to her computer. She opened a file and put it up on the holoprojector. It showed in a separate window to Joel’s right. Then, she opened another file and placed it below the first in the new window.  
 
    “This isn’t a perfect replication of what it’s supposed to look like, but it’s close.” She pointed to the new window. 
 
    “I see what you mean. Could you explain it to me?” 
 
    Barbara smiled at Joel. “Sorry. I usually do the final assembly myself. But I had a lot on my plate and Vitya convinced me he could do it.” 
 
    She walked over next to Joel and pointed to the image of what it should look like. “A new AI image… Ah, that’s what we call the version of the AI that goes into the birthing computer. A new image is assembled from several parts: the root, personality, training, and memory. What I’m showing here is just the root and personality.” 
 
    She ran her finger down the left side of the stack. 
 
    “See how the left edge is colored? The color indicates what class each layer is in. As you can see, the root that Vitya was supposed to use is colored green. That’s the root we derived from Henry last year.” 
 
    She pointed to the image in the main window, the one that held the AI’s image. “See the bottom of the stack? Its gold. This indicates that it is the Earth AI, Male root stack. The root stack is the basic building block on which a completely new set of AIs would be built. It’s missing essentially everything that makes Henry and our space-operations AIs special. 
 
    “The personality layer assumes the root derived from Henry is there. So, the AI can’t even wake up because the high mind cannot connect to the root. I can’t understand how he got the Birth Computer to even accept this.” 
 
    “Told you.” Joel teased, then was suddenly serious. “Any chance this was a bungled sabotage? A mining platform falling from space could cause a lot of damage.” 
 
    “If it was, he’s not very good at it. I would have checked to make sure the AI at least came up.”  
 
    Barbara shut down the connection, unplugged Finley, then connected the next one. 
 
    “Let’s confirm that the other three all have the same problem, then call it a day. We can look at platform 4 tomorrow, then decide where to go from there.” 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 SECOND TEST 
 
    [Tuesday, 06.10.2031] EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Once again, it was 3:00 AM. This is day… seven? Lt. Parikh was struggling to keep track, struggling to remember where they were and what they were doing. Dr. Schudel said it didn’t really matter. Make your measurements, log your findings, then let yourself drift until they call you again. For the first time, she fully appreciated the practicality of his advice. 
 
    “Lt. Parikh, report.” 
 
    The voice stirred her from her daze. “Apologies, Commander Staal. I’m really struggling to see straight.” Her voice trailed off. 
 
    “Lieutenant?” 
 
    The voice roused her again. 
 
    “I’m sorry captain. We’re done. Final net yield, 9,423 kg.” 
 
    First Officer Staal was Lt. Parikh’s commanding officer. They’d developed a fairly close relationship. The fact that the lieutenant couldn’t remember who she was or what they were doing was deeply concerning. “Medical. I need you on Deck 1, Mission Lab, now. Lt. Parikh needs immediate assistance.” 
 
    There was still another system to be scanned and claimed, but that would have to wait. The mission team was down. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    There was an urgent message from Joel at the top of Michael’s queue. Hi Michael. I confirmed with Barbara that the AIs for the four new platforms were not assembled properly and need to be rebuilt. We’re going to attempt to diagnose Platform 4’s AI in the morning, then prioritize from there. The four new AIs will take a day to build and another day to install, so hopefully we will be back in the space manufacturing business by the end of the week. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    Joel arrived back at the lab around 7:45 AM. Barbara was intensely studying some equipment. 
 
    “Morning Barbara. You look very intense.” 
 
    “Platform 4’s AI is really messed up. But I don’t know what could have caused it.” 
 
    “Would it help to talk through it?” 
 
    “I’m sure it would, but is this the priority? We know what needs to be done to get the other four platforms up.” 
 
    “Good point unless this same problem is affecting the others and we just don’t know it yet.” 
 
    There was no reply. 
 
    “Barbara, what aren’t you telling me?” 
 
    “The only way I can think of that would cause this kind of damage would be sabotage or physical failure of the computer. The computer checks out.” 
 
    “Explain to me why you think this could only be caused by sabotage or computer failure?” 
 
    Barbara quickly popped two images up. “The one on the left is the birth image. The one on the right is what’s there now. 
 
    “This presentation is similar to the one from yesterday. The color represents the type, but instead of just being a dot, here it is a bar showing how much of the layer’s capacity is being used.” 
 
    She pointed out the shading in the stack on the left. 
 
    “Now check this out.” She pointed to a series of layers near the bottom. “The black indicates that it is an unknown type. And all the black ones are completely full, not in the 30% to 60% range that we target.” 
 
    “And this cannot happen naturally?” Joel asked. 
 
    “It shouldn’t. One of the functions of regeneration is to police utilization and type. A very old AI might start pushing the limits of what regeneration can do, but there are automated warnings and maintenance requests sent when that happens. 
 
    “This AI is less than a year old, no warning or requests for maintenance have been received, none were recorded in the logs. I’ve only seen this happen as a result of physical damage. 
 
    “When were problems first noted?” 
 
    “A little over a week ago.” 
 
    “Do you have security tapes going back that far?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Then I would suggest that be your first stop.” 
 
    “Could a saboteur have done this remotely?” 
 
    “Hard to say. I know that I could not do it remotely, so they would have to be more capable than I am.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS DHAKA 
 
    Three assistants had been assigned to Professor Schudel. Lt. Kozelek, the third watch engineering officer. Lt. Corinna Heidrich, the third watch science officer, and Sergeant Adam Lee, a space marine who had grown up in a mining town in Arizona and wanted to learn more about extraterrestrial mining.  
 
    “The deposit we’re going to mine is not very deep. On a habitable world, we might try to mine it from the surface. But this is a small planet with no atmosphere and an average temperature colder than dry ice. The only viable method of mining will be via mining transporter. 
 
    “When we do this, we want to get just the Transluminide, not the rock that this layer formed between. But given the nature of this claim we want to err on the side of getting all the Transluminide, which means we’ll get a little rock. 
 
    “The deposit itself is like a sheet of paper that ranges in thickness from 0.1 cm to about 1.5 cm. In total, there’s only about 1 cubic meter of material, but it’s spread out over a larger area. 
 
    “Here’s the three-dimensional view.” 
 
    A holographic projection popped up in front of them. 
 
    “See how the material has been broken into four sheets? We’re going to start with this one. It’s the flattest. We should be able to get the whole thing in a single pull. To minimize the amount of surrounding material we get, we will contour the transporter field. 
 
    “If we apply the default automated contouring setting, we will get a pull that looks like this.” 
 
    The image updated to show an angular three-dimensional outline that completely encased the deposit for the target slice. 
 
    “See how much surrounding material it gets? What we’re going to do is get more exact measurements at these three points, which will allow us to adjust the field to look like this. 
 
    “Lt. Kozelek. Would you like to make the first set of measurements?” 
 
    She sat at the controls, which were holo-projected for everyone else to see. The professor walked her through the procedure to get the first set of measurements. Once they were logged, Lt. Heidrich took the controls to repeat the procedure. 
 
    The three crew members were quick studies. They were fast and accurate enough that the professor let them do another round of refinements. 
 
    “Excellent job. We will get 50% less excess material with this contour. At this point we’re ready to make the pull, at least from the transporter’s perspective. But we’re not ready to receive the material. Therefore, the next step is to fabricate a crate to transport the material into. This is surprisingly easy to do. We simply send the transport envelope to this computer.” He pointed to the pattern programming computer. “It will create the replicator pattern we need for the crate. Once that is done, we send the pattern to the replicator and it builds our crate. Lt. Kozelek, you want the first shot again?” 
 
    They walked through the process of transferring the data to the pattern programming machine. Then the process to transfer the replication pattern to the replicator. 
 
    “We have a build time estimate of 23 minutes. Let’s launch it, then start the contouring of the next round of transporter envelopes.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS DHAKA 
 
    First watch tactical officer, Theo Smith didn’t like what he was seeing on the long-range sensors. “Captain, a ship has just dropped from jump at the outer edge of the system.” 
 
    “Can you identify it?” 
 
    “Not at this distance. But I’ve pinged its IFF and am not getting a response.” The IFF was an encrypted system that would accept requests from friendly ships and identify itself as a friendly ship. Encryption and a rotating handshake assured that only friendly ships would get a response.” 
 
    “Designate it as hostile. Can you determine its course?” 
 
    “It’s heading straight towards us at modest speed. I would assume it’s trying to determine who we are.” 
 
    “Estimated arrival?” 
 
    “An hour, 24 minutes at present course and speed.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel,” the Captain called out. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS DHAKA 
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “How much longer do you need? We have an unfriendly heading towards us.” 
 
    “How much time do we have?” 
 
    “Maybe an hour.” 
 
    “OK. We are ready to make the first two pulls now. They will be nice and clean. If we make sloppy pulls on the other two, we can finish in an hour, but might make a mess down here.” 
 
    “Do it. I’ll update if the situation changes. Martin out.” 
 
    “OK, team. Our critical path will be the crates for the last two pulls. Lt. Kozelek run the default scan for the fourth pull. Of the two remaining, it’s the one that will be least painful to go with. When that’s done send it to the pattern generator. Then start a contoured scan of pull three.  
 
    “Lt. Heidrich. When you get the default scan. Generate the pattern and initiate the crate replication. 
 
    “Sergeant Lee, you’re with me. We need to lock down the coordinates for Crate 1 and make the pull.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    Yesterday, they’d agreed to meet at 9:00 AM on the bridge. Eugene and Kelly were given a quick tour, then whisked into the bridge office to speak with the Captain. 
 
    “Eugene, Kelly. Please come in. I hope you slept well and are rested. For those of us that call this home, the ship is comfortable, its noises settling. Not all visitors sleep well the first couple nights.” 
 
    “For the record, I never sleep well when my brain is churning.” Eugene offered. “But I slept OK last night.” 
 
    “I always sleep well, even on airplanes. Last night was no different.” Kelly chimed in. 
 
    “You’ve checked your readings this morning?” Captain Bjork pried. 
 
    “Ours and yours.” Kelly replied. “Complements to your team for their thoroughness.” 
 
    “Your conclusions?” 
 
    “Mixed.” Eugene took the lead this time. “The asteroid has slowly warmed. The bright side is getting close to what we saw before the test. The core has warmed a few degrees Kelvin. The dark side is still remarkably close to absolute zero. All those things are good. 
 
    “The mixed part is that we’ve seen little diameter expansion and no signs of cracking. Given the temperature profile, the diameter readings and lack of cracking are also expected. 
 
    “I’m just puzzled that we haven’t seen more warming.” 
 
    “Could it be that the reaction is still ongoing at a very low level?” the Captain asked. 
 
    “Possibly, but I don’t think so. It just doesn’t feel right to me.” Eugene hated overtly lying. 
 
    “What do you want to do?” 
 
    “Do you have any sort of railgun type weapon?” 
 
    “Curious question. You’re thinking that if we did, we could fracture the asteroid?” 
 
    “Exactly.” 
 
    “We do. It’s not very powerful. Human technology, sadly. I think it’s a 20 kg slug that we can accelerate to Mach 20 or something like that.” 
 
    “I can’t do that conversion in my head but were talking like 1 millionth the speed of light, right?” 
 
    “Closer to one 50,000th light.” 
 
    “Want to give it a try? I don’t think this asteroid will crack apart on its own. But it’s still super cold, so we may be able to crack it.” 
 
    “I’m game to try.” 
 
    “I’m good with that. Kelly?” 
 
    “Me too. I don’t think we’re going to learn anything else during the extended observation period. So, let’s do it now, then move on to the larger asteroid.” 
 
    “We’ll want to recover your drone first,” the Captain added. 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “Ms. Amari.” 
 
    “I’d prefer to stand off a little further. But our targeting isn’t reliable enough to hit this asteroid from over 1,000 km.” 
 
    Lt. Barika Amari was the first watch tactical officer. She would be the one taking the shot. 
 
    “Mr. Botes, please take us to 1,000 km from the target. Line us up so that we hit the star if we miss the asteroid.” 
 
    Lt. Marick Botes was the first watch astrogation officer. 
 
    “We are in position, Captain.” 
 
    “Ms. Amari.” 
 
    “Confirming target lock.” 
 
    “Ms. Chabat. Are sensors aligned and ready to record?” 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am. I have them sync’d with the firing sequencer.” 
 
    Lt. Safa Chabat was the first watch science officer. 
 
    “Ms. Amari, you may fire when ready.” 
 
    “Firing in 3, 2, 1.” 
 
    There was an audible whining sound as the capacitors discharged into the acceleration coils. 
 
    “Shields up,” the captain called out. 
 
    “Done.” 
 
    A moment later, the projectile launched. As the reverse momentum of the projectile vibrated through the ship, the asteroid exploded. Unlike a normal shot that might have cleaved the asteroid in half, the asteroid broke apart into dust and sand that spread widely. 
 
    “Captain, I don’t think the dust will reach us, but we might want to back off. It’s very cold.” 
 
    “Good thinking. Ms. Chabat, can we back away without disturbing your scans?” 
 
    “Moving will impact our ability to track the details of the dust distribution. If that’s relevant, then we really should not move unless a hit is imminent.” 
 
    Eugene and Kelly had been invited to observe from the bridge. They were seated next to the Captain on either side in seats nominally reserved for the first and second officer. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. What do you think? Success or luck?” 
 
    “A little bit of each. In principle, anything solid frozen to absolute zero is infinitely brittle. But most things are not actually solid, they have voids, or are layered in some way. 
 
    “The surface we struck was on the dark side. It and the core were still surprisingly close to absolute zero. The fact that it shattered the way it did, indicates that the asteroid was very solid. But there will be ones that are not. Harder to say how those will behave.” 
 
    “How long do you want to continue scanning?” 
 
    Kelly spoke up. “I think there is scientific value in what we’re recording here. But our mission isn’t about expanding the human knowledge base. It’s about getting a functional weapon as quickly as possible. I think we have all the test data we need to fulfill our mission. So, I’d be in favor of moving on.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEAR ASTEROID C1207 
 
    “The procedure for this test will be basically the same as for the previous one. Only three differences. 
 
    “Difference 1 is that once we establish the enemy trap over the asteroid, we will be running some tests before proceeding. I want to assure that it has been scaled appropriately. The procedural difference will be that the Enemy trap will be taken out of the automated sequence. We will set it up manually instead, then once Kelly and I are satisfied, we will trigger the automated sequence. 
 
    “Any questions on that before we proceed?” 
 
    There were none. 
 
    “Difference 2 is that we will hold the ultra-dense shield in place for 6 hours. You might ask why so much longer. The simple answer is that we expect the reaction to run longer. We believe that the reaction time is proportional to the square root of the mass. According to the Confederation database, this asteroid is 300 times more massive. So, we expect the reaction to churn for 15 minutes. In an abundance of caution, we will hold the shield in place for 6 hours. 
 
    “As some of you might note, that’s proportionally less than we waited last time, but it is at the same confidence level, 5-sigma for those that care about such things. 
 
    “Any questions on that?” 
 
    “Let me ask the check question,” the Captain said. “What’s the probability that this reaction will not have run to completion after six hours?” 
 
    “Five sigma, which is approximately one chance in 500 million.” 
 
    “I’m good with that.” 
 
    “Thank you, ma’am. Moving on, Difference 3 is that we will only do cursory scans when we drop the shield. I’d like to hit the asteroid with a railgun round as soon as possible once the shield is down. We obviously won’t do that if there are signs the reaction is still running.” 
 
    Before Eugene had the chance to ask if there were any questions, the Captain shot one off. “What is your criteria for determining if the reaction has run to conclusion?” 
 
    “Temperature and resonance.” 
 
    “What temperature? What resonance?” 
 
    “I don’t want to artificially constrain our actions, but I’ll be looking for temperatures on the surface and core in the single digit Kelvin range. Dimensional resonance below -900 dB.” 
 
    “Thank you. Any other questions?” 
 
    “I think we’re good,” the Captain replied. 
 
    “Let’s do it.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Bringing the Enemy trap up,” Kelly announced. 
 
    Third watch engineering officer Abigail Marshall was working with Eugene and Kelly in the lab again for this test. “Shields stable. Diameter 250 kilometers. Plenty of clearance from the asteroid.” 
 
    Eugene checked the sensors. “Confirmed.” 
 
    “Launching the automated sequence.” 
 
    A somewhat larger ball of undulating red appeared in front of the drone, disappeared, then reappeared near the asteroid. Within a second the black hole in space appeared inside the Enemy trap. It completely encased the asteroid. Two seconds later, the shield bulged. Chaotic vibrations rippled across its silhouette. It seemed to settle, then the shield bulged a second, then third time. The ensuing vibrations where like layers of tsunami washing across its silhouette. The churning continued for about 2 minutes, then suddenly stopped, the last of the surface vibrations dissipating in seconds. 
 
    There was silence on the bridge and in the lab. As everyone started to relax, the shield bulged again, then contracted tighter than it was at the beginning. 
 
    Again, there was silence. 
 
    “I think that’s it.” Eugene called out. “The pattern was consistent with what I expected. It was faster and more violent, but consistent with expectation. Now, we wait.” 
 
    The next six hours dragged by. There was no movement in the shield. None that could be seen anyway. Sensor readings of the shield showed temperature at absolute zero, dimensional resonance at -999 dB. 
 
    … 
 
    The automated countdown started. “Shield dropping in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    “Surface temperature, 1-degree Kelvin. Core temperature, 1-degree Kelvin.” Lt. Trabelsi called out. She operated the thermal scanners in the lab. 
 
    “Dimensional resonance holding steady at minus 998 db.” Lt. Marshall piled on. She ran the dimensional scanner in the lab. 
 
    “Captain, please fire the rail gun when you are ready.” 
 
    Sixteen seconds later, a massive vibration rippled through the ship as the railgun fired. At essentially the same time the asteroid blew apart into millions of tiny pieces. 
 
    “Wow.” Kelly said, totally at a loss for words. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS DHAKA 
 
    “Captain. The hostile has just gone to warp. Best estimate is 37 minutes to arrival.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel.” As the Captain called the professor’s name, the lights drooped. “What the hell?” 
 
    “Sorry Captain, we just did pull 1. The magnetic field created when the transporter fires is what made the lights dim. I should have warned you.” 
 
    “Different problem Professor. The hostile is closing in fast. You have a half hour.” 
 
    “We’ll do what we can.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, DECK 1, EAS DHAKA 
 
    Sergeant Lee looked up at Professor Schudel. “We have the first pull, Professor. Crate containment is 100%.” 
 
    “Get crate two locked down.” 
 
    The professor turned to Lt. Heidrich. “What’s the status of crate four?” 
 
    “It will be ready in 12 minutes.” 
 
    “Lt. Kozelek. How long until you can push the transporter contour?” 
 
    “Could send now. But will have a much better contour in 5 minutes.” 
 
    “Go for it.” 
 
    “Professor. Crate two is locked down.” 
 
    A minute later the lights dimmed as the transporter fired for pull two.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OSLO 
 
    “Eugene, Kelly. Please come in. I want to do a quick debrief.” 
 
    The room was relatively packed. All the first watch officers were there as were the two third-watch officers that had helped down in the lab. 
 
    “First, and most importantly, did you get the data you needed?” 
 
    Eugene looked to Kelly and nodded. 
 
    “Yes.” Kelly replied. “We got everything we hoped to get plus more. I think we can safely scale up the weapon for the final mission. We also know that a railgun round will quickly accomplish what we’d hoped would be a natural dissolution of the targets.” 
 
    “Excellent. Let’s go around the table quickly. A couple things, I’d like you each to comment on. First, were your instructions clear? Did you know what to do? Did anything surprise you or make you question whether you’d done what you were supposed to? 
 
    “Marick, go.” She said to Marick Botes, first watch astrogation officer sitting on her right. 
 
    “Instructions clear, knew what to do, was surprised by the violence of the reaction this time. Was worried we were going to get blown up and did not know what the navigation requirements would be if we needed an emergency escape.” 
 
    “Tactical?” 
 
    “Same, didn’t know the appropriate tactical response if the shield lost containment.”  
 
    “Science?” 
 
    “Instructions clear, knew what to do, was surprised by the violence of the reaction but knew exactly what measurements I needed to take.” 
 
    “Engineering?” 
 
    “I echo everyone else. In retrospect, I should have been down in engineering in case something went wrong.” 
 
    “Next.” 
 
    “Ditto. Wasn’t sure the emergency comm requirements if something went wrong. Wait, let me correct that. I know the emergency procedures, what I meant to say was that I didn’t know if there were additional procedures that would be relevant to this mission.” 
 
    “Thank you for the clarification, Ms. Yu.” Looking to the next person around the table. “How about down in the lab?” 
 
    “Kelly did a great job with the thermal scanner training. Was very confident in what I was doing and seeing. The shock of seeing an asteroid sitting there at absolute zero put me off my game for a moment. Would have been nice to have known what we were expected to see ahead of time.” 
 
    “Same for the dimensional scanner. Great training, confident in my ability to do my job. Shocked to see a reading of -999. Still hard to believe.” 
 
    “How could we have helped you better, Kelly?” 
 
    “I think you just did. Everything about this mission has gone like clockwork. I’ll do a better job of setting expectations next time out.” 
 
    “Eugene?” 
 
    “Agree with Kelly.” 
 
    “I echo my watch officers. I was surprised by the violence of the reaction. As Captain, I need to know what to expect so that I have an idea how to respond if things go wrong. As Captain, the buck stops here. It’s my fault for not having asked. 
 
    “Eugene, what could you have told us ahead of time?” 
 
    “Sorry. Everything went surprisingly close to expectation. Let me show you the simulations. May I project?” 
 
    The Captain issued instructions for the ship’s computer to route output from Eugene’s tablet to the holoprojector in the bridge office. 
 
    “First a chart showing maximum fluctuation as a function of time.” 
 
    A simple x-y chart popped up. 
 
    “There’s an initial fluctuation, a broad flat one, then a big one. Note the time axis on the bottom. The big one was expected at about 7 minutes. 
 
    “Here’s what we actually saw. See how close it is. Initial fluctuation, a broad swell with two sharp peaks, then a big one at the end. The big one occurred at about 4 minutes. That means the reaction ran faster. 
 
    “But let me overlay these and scale them. It’s almost a perfect match.” 
 
    “OK. I’m hearing you say that the reaction sequence went as you expected, it just ran faster,” the Captain summarized. “But the fluctuations were more extreme, were they not?” 
 
    “Here’s the unscaled overlay. Faster and higher, as you say. But let me address the underlying concern. You were worried that the shield might not hold. Right?” 
 
    A chorus of rights. 
 
    “Here is the same chart scaled to the shield’s tolerance.” 
 
    All the wavy lines collapsed to a point where they were difficult to see. At the top of the chart was a thick line. The area above the line was red and marked danger. There was a thin yellow area below the line. Everything below that was green. 
 
    “The maximum fluctuation we observed was less than 5% of shield capacity and it came last. So, if we’d seen this…” A simulation started playing. The initial expansion grew, then passed the 50% tolerance mark. “If the initial spike went beyond this, we would have wanted to queue up an emergency jump. When it got here at about 70% of shield capacity, we would want to execute the jump. 
 
    “Our probabilistic analysis said that was not possible. Ah, let me rephrase, it said that was well past 5-sigma.” 
 
    “Thank you. Let’s include this type of information in our briefings going forward.” 
 
    Eugene agreed. “Will do.”  
 
    “Eugene, Kelly. Anything else you want to do, or is our mission complete?” 
 
    They looked at each other. Eugene nodded. “Mission complete.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS DHAKA 
 
    “Captain, the hostile just dropped from warp. They must have a crappy warp drive. They’re surprisingly far away. They’ve just put up their shields.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel.” 
 
    “Here Captain. What’s your status?” 
 
    “I need to put up the shields.” 
 
    “Three pulls are done. The last one is still three to five minutes out, but you will need to drop the shields for us to do the pull.” 
 
    “Options?” 
 
    “If you are willing to trash a cargo hold, we can pull now.” 
 
    “How trashed?” 
 
    “We’d be dropping 100 kg of rock and Transluminide about 3 feet.” 
 
    “Do it.” 
 
    “The cargo bay needs to be sealed. We may be bringing some toxic material aboard.” 
 
    “One minute.” The Captain confirmed that the cargo hold was empty, then executed commands on her console to seal and lock it. 
 
    “Done, drop your rocks in the cargo bay.” 
 
    Moments later, the lights dimmed. 
 
    “Done Captain.” 
 
    “Shields up. Helm, best course to intercept the hostile. I want to find out who forced me to make a mess in my cargo hold.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Unidentified ship. This is Captain Jessica Martin of the Earth Alliance Ship Dhaka. Please respond.” 
 
    “Captain, the ship appears to be powering up its weapons.” 
 
    “Explain.” 
 
    “The ship has what looks like an energy emitter of some sort that has lit up.” 
 
    “Put it on the screen.” 
 
    A close up of the object in question popped up on the main view screen. As the captain was studying it, a huge ball of plasma formed, then shot away. 
 
    “Helm, micro jump directly above their ship.” 
 
    “15 seconds to impact.” 
 
    The stars blurred slightly, and the hostile ship appeared below them. 
 
    “Hail them again.” 
 
    “Message repeated Captain.” 
 
    A voice came over the comm system, but it made no sense. 
 
    “It is an audio only message, in a language the translator does not recognize.” 
 
    “Curious. I wonder if this is one of the pirates that plague the area. I didn’t realize that any of them had jump capable ships. Let’s ride on this guy’s tail for a bit, see where he goes.” 
 
    Another burst of broken audio came over the comm system. 
 
    “This is... <unknown> …of the… <unknown> …ship… <unknown> …here to mine our claim on… <unknown>. Please leave the area immediately or we will fire on your ship.” 
 
    “Heather, can you modify the translator for me? Substitute the following words four the four unknown phrases: Joe, Hostile, Buttercup and Luna.” 
 
    Heather was the ship’s helm AI. “Updates made, captain.” 
 
    “Joe, the Earth Alliance has filed claims with the Intergalactic Confederation of Planets for all the Transluminide deposits on Luna. We are here to protect our interests on this planet. Please leave the area immediately.” 
 
    “Captain, he’s launched another plasma ball at us.” 
 
    On the main view screen, the plasma ball rushed toward them and washed over the ship. 
 
    “Well that was underwhelming. Didn’t even feel the impact.” 
 
    “Captain.” It was Heather. “The plasma did not penetrate or damage the shields in any way. But it has left a lot of charged particles on the shields. We cannot engage the warp or jump drives until these particles dissipate.” 
 
    “Thank you, Heather. 
 
    “Ensign Davi, please connect me with Joe.” 
 
    “Channel open, ma’am.” 
 
    “Joe, leave the area immediately or we will return fire.” 
 
    “He is firing again, Captain.” 
 
    “Return fire. Two railgun rounds, target the plasma emitters.” 
 
    The ball of plasma washed over the ship. Moments later two railgun rounds streaked away, penetrating the ship. Atmosphere and miscellaneous debris started venting but stopped quickly. 
 
    The ship turned and started heading away. 
 
    “Follow him, I want to know where he’s headed.” 
 
    The comm system crackled to life. 
 
    “You have made a grave error infringing on the claims of the… <unknown> …Empire. We will return in force to take that which is rightfully ours. Then, we will seek out your world and destroy it.” 
 
    “He has gone to FTL, Captain.” 
 
    “Continue following him.” 
 
      
 
    Thirty minutes later… 
 
    “This guy’s ship is not much, Captain. It appears that his maximum FTL speed is only 3 times light. We are approaching the spot where he jumped in. My guess is that he will jump out. It would take a year to get to the nearest star at this speed.” 
 
    “Back off a little. I want a good lock on his vector when he jumps and don’t want to risk getting caught in his jump bubble.” 
 
    “Looks like he’s initiating his jump.” 
 
    The image on the screen started to waver, then the ship blew up. 
 
    “It appears that we damaged him more than we thought.” 
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “Yes, Ms. Shui.” Lieutenant Qin Shui was the first watch astrogation officer. 
 
    “We have his vector. It was headed straight to one of the known pirate worlds in the sector.” 
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “Yes, Mr. Masami.” Lieutenant Ishiyama Masami was the first watch science officer. 
 
    “I think I’ve found his ship type. It’s an old Confederation Military Transport. This type stopped being produced about 10,000 years ago.” 
 
    “I wonder how they got hold of that?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Fe-Va, thank you for meeting with me.” 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku, thank you for arranging this meeting. I’ve been looking forward to speaking with you.” 
 
    Ambassador Fe-Va was the Confederation’s ambassador to the planet Fatafatu. In the presence projector, he was presented as a Lorexian, but he occupied an avatar in the form of the Darfanian people, the dominant species on Fatafatu. 
 
    “I trust that you got the update I sent you on recent actions taken by the Earth Alliance.” 
 
    “Yes. Thank you for sending that. I also appreciated the introduction at the beginning. I spoke with several of the other ambassadors in the sector. Most of us appreciate that Earth is stepping up to fill the void during the Confederation’s time of need. What the non-expansionists on New Lorexi have done is shameful and a threat to the very existence of the Confederation.” 
 
    “Thank you for sharing that. Have you given any thought to ways in which we can work together?” 
 
    “Quite a bit, but before we talk about that I’d like to ask about Transluminide. From my perspective, one of the Confederation’s biggest failings in this sector has been the Transluminide economy. 
 
    “Most planets have destroyed their Transluminide resources before their Revelation. The Confederation comes in, offers gifts and ultimately makes us dependent on Transluminide, but they don’t give us the means to find and claim it. I understand that has gone differently on Earth.” 
 
    It was the first time Michael had really spoken to Ambassador Fe-Va. They’d met briefly once before, but not had the chance to do more than introductions. Since that initial meeting, all other contact had been by messaging. “I agree with your analysis. The Revelation on Earth came much earlier than for most other worlds. The humans may be the youngest species ever admitted. When I started the Revelation preparations, most of Earth’s natural supply of Transluminide was untouched and I managed to sequester the vast majority of it. 
 
    “Following the Revelation, I was slow even making them aware of Transluminide and thankfully was successful in preventing them from squandering it. 
 
    “But I knew I would eventually lose that battle, so as the demand for more Confederation technology grew, I commissioned the search for more. Our mining professor at the Institute came up with a prediction model, he taught the humans how to find Transluminide and they did. In the last week alone, the humans found and filed claims on nearly 20,000 kg with no Ascendant assistance.” 
 
    “That is extremely impressive. Extremely impressive.” Ambassador Fe-Va repeated for emphasis. 
 
    “Is this something you’re going to share with us? The prediction model, the training?” 
 
    “I have a plan for that. The short answer is not right away. We need to establish relationships with allies in the sector and learn to work together before we share too much. As I’m sure you’re aware, this could go very wrong if the relationships are not well established first.” 
 
    “Yes, the recent incident in Triangulum… Nasty business. But back to the question at hand, your plan is to trade claims for products, as you’ve done with Karagon. And to also provide protection and transportation services for a fee.” 
 
    “That is the short-term plan yes.” 
 
    “It’s the fee part that has your detractors upset.” 
 
    “I know. But Earth barely has the resources to pull itself out of poverty, let alone take on responsibility for a bunch of welfare worlds whose standard of living is higher than ours.” 
 
    “True, but that’s not the way to sell your plan.” 
 
    “Go on.” 
 
    “If I understand Ambassador Fa-Ta correctly, you gave Karagon claims for 5,000 kg that they will exhaust this year. What would the Confederation’s fleet tax on that have been?” 
 
    “400 kg. Ten percent of the amount after finder’s fee.” 
 
    “How much are you going to charge them for transportation and security services?” 
 
    “Not sure, but a lot less than that.” 
 
    “That’s the way I would sell your plan. By the way, almost all the Ambassadors are complaining about the finder’s fee. I would admittedly like to get a better deal. But a quick search of Confederation Records shows that most member to member deals go at 50%. Only member to Confederation deals go at 20%.” 
 
    “I think I need to hire you as my salesman.” Michael chuckled. “More seriously, do you have a relationship with Ambassador Ha-Nu?” 
 
    “A very unfriendly fellow that one. But yes. We have excellent trade and cultural relations with them. The two of us have learned to work together.” 
 
    “He’s filed a complaint against Earth.” 
 
    “I know. He told me. He doesn’t believe that you have Transluminide claims close enough for them to get to. He says that they have searched extensively and don’t see any registered claims they could reach in the Confederation database.” 
 
    “Fair enough. We plan to register a few this week. Maybe he will be more agreeable then.” 
 
    “At this point I think I understand what you’re trying to do. Let me write up a draft trade agreement. I’ll also draft the outline for a sector alliance agreement. It’s going to be a long time before the Confederation can stage another fleet in our sector. By the time they can, yours will have made it irrelevant. From what I’ve heard in Andromeda, yours has already made it irrelevant. 
 
    “Mi-Ku thank you for everything you’ve done for us. I’ll check in with you in a couple days.” 
 
    “Fe-Va. Thank you. It’s good to have an ally in this.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    David would be there shortly. They were going to go visit the planet that the Enemy had targeted a couple months back, the one the Confederation Armada inadvertently saved when it engaged the Enemy. 
 
    James had watched them from a distance for some time now. Long enough to build a translator. 
 
    There was a flash of light and David appeared. He had taken the form of the people they would be meeting. 
 
    James smiled in approval. “David, you look great. Let me see you walk.” One of the most important things to learn, once you’d ‘found’ the proper form, was to learn to use it. Walking was the first step in that process. David walked across the room and back. 
 
    “That’s fairly good. Some will accept you as natural. Most will think there’s something wrong with you. But good job, considering you’ve only been working it for a week.” 
 
    “I think I have found the perfect place for us to visit. There’s a quiet grove where we can arrive. It’s a short walk from there to town. It is in a rural area. Nothing of consequence happens there. We can go, meet, mingle and learn. When we have learned enough, we can introduce ourselves for who we are. Until then, we just watch.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABOVE NALTANARUS 
 
    Two glowing clouds of light appeared above the planet Naltanarus. 
 
    “Beautiful world, is it not?” The voice sounded in David’s mind. “It’s slightly smaller than Earth, 3% less. The surface has a little more water, 76% instead of 71%. There are more islands, smaller continents. The oceans aren’t quite as deep. 
 
    “These things have affected the cultural development of the people here. Each of the islands unified early in their development, earlier than on Earth. Because of the separation, there was less war, no world wars. And the people here, the Xotiq, never suffered a dark age the way Europe did on Earth. 
 
    “This planet also rotates faster. Their day is only 18 hours. The planet’s core has a higher concentration of iron and gold, so its magnetic field is a lot stronger. This has had a remarkable impact on their technological development; you’ll see that as soon as we land. 
 
     “Ready?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 HAVILSOW, DISTRICT OF HAVIL 
 
    James and David arrived in a circular copse of trees, surrounded by a hedge. The hedge was dense enough that their arrival flash wouldn’t be noticed. The place immediately reminded David of Riverside Park at the Embassy. There were two park benches on either side of a pathway that led out into what David presumed would be a park. 
 
    They walked down the path and entered a park-like setting that reminded David of pictures he’d seen of some old college campuses. There were several blocks of grassy land, lined by trees and walking paths. 
 
    A river ran down one side. It wasn’t deep, maybe a foot or two. But the water moved fast over the rocky bottom. The gurgling of the water was very peaceful. 
 
    As he looked further, David realized that they were in a valley, a deep valley. The valley floor in this area was flat. The walls were nearly vertical cliffs that ran up at least a thousand feet. 
 
    He noticed a waterfall further up the valley where water plunged from the top of the valley wall. 
 
    “Beautiful, isn’t it?” James asked. 
 
    “Unbelievable. Does Earth have places like this?” 
 
    “A few. There’s a valley in Switzerland that looks a lot like this. It’s more alpine. There’s also one like this in Hawaii. It’s more tropical and less developed. I’m sure there are others. But this is fairly common on Naltanarus.” 
 
    David noticed a couple entering the park at the far end, on the other side of the grassy area. They were jogging. “Now I see what you mean about the way I walk. They use a more graceful flowing motion. That really didn’t come through in the training videos.” 
 
    “Agreed. Some things like this are harder to learn from training videos. Not sure why. The training videos are good. Maybe it’s the air.” 
 
    David chuckled at James’ comment. 
 
    “So where are we going?” David asked. 
 
    “This way.” James pointed in the direction of the waterfall. “There’s a small town up closer to the headwaters. There’s a café we can stop at. They have a coffee-like drink they call ‘mava.’ They also have a sweet pastry made with a spicy substance like cinnamon. Both are safe for human consumption and quite pleasing.” 
 
    They walked to the end of the park where they’d seen the joggers earlier, then turned left, away from the river, on a paved walkway. Up ahead was a quaint little town. There were buildings on either side of a cobblestone lane. The lane T-ed into a wider four-lane road that separated the park from town. They would have to cross the 4-lane road to get to where they were going. 
 
    David saw several cars pass in front of them. They were different than any car he’d seen before, but cars, nonetheless. 
 
    David felt James brighten. He must be amused by something. Then David realized what. The cars had no wheels, instead they had metallic plates that hovered six inches off the ground. The plates tilted forward when the car accelerated. Backward when the car slowed down. 
 
    “Cool.” 
 
    James started chuckling then settled himself. He did not want to impact any of the locals. 
 
    “It’s the high magnetic field, right?” David asked. 
 
    “In a manner of speaking, yes. The Xotiq became aware of magnetism at a much earlier point in their development than humans did. That’s enabled them to advance it further than humans have. Their magnetic drives are very impressive, though not as functional as grav drives. 
 
    “Earth and the Confederation as a whole would benefit from this technology.” 
 
    They crossed the street and headed into town toward the café James mentioned. They took seats outside and a waiter came out to greet them. “Good morning gentlemen. I hope you are enjoying our town and the park. I saw you walking in there earlier. May I ask where you’re from?” 
 
    James smiled at the waiter. “We come from far away. A place called Earth, which I doubt you’ve heard of. We love your park and have been told that you have excellent mava and sweet pastries.” 
 
    “That we do. Two of them?”  
 
    David nodded his head. 
 
    … 
 
    “This is really good. Wish we could get some to take home.” 
 
    “It is, but we have good stuff at home. And now that you know about this place, you can come back whenever you’d like.” 
 
    “I’d love to bring Valerie here.” 
 
    “It’ll be a while before that’s possible.” 
 
    A well-dressed man walked over to their table. 
 
    “Good morning, Gentlemen.” He bowed in a manner similar to the Angolorans. “My name is Haviq Navil, mayor of Havilsow. I hear that you’re visiting from some place far away.” 
 
    James stood and returned the bow. “Yes, we are. Would you care to join us?” 
 
    James indicated the open chair at the table. 
 
    As the mayor sat, the waiter brought the mayor’s mava to his new table. “Thank you, Nasiq.” The mayor nodded toward the waiter. 
 
    “So, what brings you to our humble town? We get few visitors here.” 
 
    “I’ve seen pictures of your beautiful town and park. I’ve also been told of the fine mava and food. So, we thought we’d come see for ourselves.” 
 
    “I’m sorry to ask, but do you have the appropriate paperwork? This is a heritage area. All guests must obtain authorization before entering.” 
 
    James looked at the mayor, an expression of puzzlement on his face. “Oh. Yes. I’m sorry. We did. Where we come from things like this are handled differently. Didn’t understand the question.” 
 
    James probed the mayor’s mind, then the relevant computer systems. 
 
    “Well?” The mayor said impatiently. 
 
    “I’m sorry?” James replied. 
 
    “Are you going to show me your paperwork?” 
 
    “Of course. You should have asked.” 
 
    James had finally found the relevant forms and approval stamps. He detached a small piece of his energy and transformed it into the relevant document, which he pulled from his pocket. It was folded, so James laid it out flat on the table and smoothed it out, then handed it to the Mayor. 
 
    The Mayor looked at it incredulously. The document was perfect and bore the official stamp. 
 
    “James Ancient and David Washington. Unusual names. Not sure I’ve heard names like that before. This says you are from the Ascendance Institute, visiting Havilsow for research purposes.” 
 
    “As we are.” 
 
    “May I ask what research you’re doing?” 
 
    “As I said, we are experiencing your park, mava and food.” 
 
    “And how does that constitute research?” 
 
    “To see and experience a thing is to know it.” 
 
    How is it that some wacko got a visa to visit our town? The mayor thought. 
 
    “I see that you don’t believe me. Would you like to know about a similar place closer to where I live?” 
 
    “What? You’re going to take me there? I doubt I have the time.” 
 
    “Let me share it with you.” James touched the mayor’s hand and transferred the memory of a stroll through Waipio Valley in Hawaii. 
 
    The mayor went into a daze for about a minute. When he came out of it, he looked at James. “How did you do that?” 
 
    “I’m an empath. I can share memories with others. The place you saw is a place called Waipio Valley. It is on an island similar to yours. It’s a magical place, similar to your valley, but minimally developed.” 
 
    “Who are you?” 
 
    “A friend, or at least a prospective friend. I’d love to share more with you, but David and I have another place we need to be. Would it be OK if we called on you again some time?” 
 
    The mayor was speechless. 
 
    James pulled some coins from his pocket and laid them on the table. He motioned that they should go. David and James walked down the street, crossed the road and entered the park. A minute or so later, they entered another isolated copse of trees surrounded by a hedge, then disappeared in a flash. 
 
    … 
 
    “Who were those men?” Nasiq, the waiter, asked. 
 
    “Which men?” The mayor replied. 
 
    “The ones you sat with.” 
 
    “Sat with…” The words hung there. “I don’t remember, but what a wonderful daydream. A place called Waipio, like this but not developed.” 
 
    He got up and headed back to his office, spirits light. I hope those men come back some time. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “James, what were we doing back there?” 
 
    “Learning something about the Xotiq. They were very quick to determine that we did not belong. The mayor was a bit hostile but had respect for his city’s laws and processes. Their atmosphere was as humanly compatible as the Confederation database postulated. I suspect that most of their food is, but we will need to do more research to verify. They are not only susceptible to my empathy, but easy to influence. Which means we can travel there quite a bit without having to worry about cultural contamination.” 
 
    “Is it legal to do what we just did?” 
 
    “Gray area. You are required to use an avatar when interacting with a first contact species. The people that wrote that law meant you needed to be an Ascendant occupying a proper Confederation avatar. But that’s not what the law says. It just says use an avatar, which we did.” 
 
    “I was worried there for a minute when he asked for papers. You projected a piece of yourself, didn’t you?” 
 
    James smiled. “You’re learning.” 
 
    “Are we going to visit them again?” 
 
    “Yes, but it may be a while before we return to that place.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel really struggled to believe that someone could have sabotaged Platform 4 but went to check the security monitoring system anyway. There was a log of his presence on the platform today. The next previous one was from months ago. All entries, via the hatch or via transport were logged, so it seemed like case closed. But something was gnawing at the back of his mind. He entered commands to view the entrance a couple months ago. It was Professor Schudel. In 16x fast playback mode, Joel watched the professor work for several minutes. He popped up, sat, scurried around. Fast playback always made people look silly. Finally, the professor transported out, leaving an empty room behind. Seconds later the room went dark, the automatic lighting switching off. 
 
    Joel repeated the process for his visit today. 
 
    He watched himself transport in, scurry around a bit, pull the AI then transport out. Empty room, lights automatically turning off. 
 
    Joel noticed what looked like a flash as the lights dropped. 
 
    “Curious.” 
 
    He did a rewind to one minute before the transport and played back at 4x. As the lights dropped, he saw the flash. 
 
    Joel did a rewind to the point of the transport and played back at normal speed. He saw himself disappear. Then the scene moved a bit as the camera slewed back to its default position. As it did, it caught some light reflecting off a bot just coming into view. Joel had seen the bot in the control room today and didn’t think anything about it. The flash was just an artifact of the recording, catching a bit of reflection just before the lights went out. 
 
    Joel sat back thinking about what he’d seen. The room had been empty with no movement for a couple months. No changes, everything where it was supposed to be. 
 
    Was that bot there when the professor was in the room? 
 
    Joel reset playback to the professor’s visit and watched at 4x playback. A minute in, the professor got up and walked to the far side of the room to check on something. Joel dropped to normal speed. This is where the bot was. But it’s not there. The bot had moved! 
 
    “Henry!” Joel called out. 
 
    A moment later the comm system connected. 
 
    “What’s up Joel?” 
 
    “There’s a bot in the control room of Platform 4.” 
 
    “And…” Henry prodded. 
 
    “I was going through the security logs today. The entry previous to my entry today was made by Professor Schudel about two months ago. There was no bot in the control room while the Professor was there. When did that bot go into the control room and why wasn’t it logged?” 
 
    “Good question. Do you think this has something to do with the AI on Platform 4?” 
 
    “Possibly, yes. The AI was screwed up in a way that suggested physical damage or sabotage. There was no sign of physical damage, but I found it hard to believe the Platform had been sabotaged. Now, I’m wondering if someone used the bot to sabotage the platform.” 
 
    “Interesting thought. Why don’t you let me take this from here? I can go through the security and sensor records faster than you can.” 
 
    “Thanks Henry.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Alexi, please come in.” 
 
    “Points to you Michael. I had to go through two security checks to get this far. Could have taken them all out if I wanted to, but that’s an issue for another day. Where’s your sweet wife?” 
 
    “This way.” They walked down the foyer a few feet to a sitting room on the right. 
 
    “Hi, Sarah.”  
 
    Sarah rose to greet Alexi, but her expression was far from welcoming. 
 
    “Sorry I need to be here. But I really do. You understand that, right?” 
 
    Alexi was not known for her compassion or empathy, but the sincerity of her statement melted Sarah a bit. She smiled. “Alexi, please come in. You’re right, I don’t want to need a bodyguard, but I seemed to have picked the wrong guy on that front.” 
 
    A big smile bloomed on Alexi’s face. “Thanks.” 
 
    “So, what’s the plan?” 
 
    “The plan’s simple. You tell me where you want to go, I’ll get you there and back safely. I’d like some notice here in the Embassy. Just sharing your calendar with me should be sufficient. 
 
    “I need 24 hours’ notice outside the Embassy. More if you’re planning to stay overnight, which I’d discourage. Michael has his own security arrangement when he’s outside the Embassy. If you accompany him, I’ll come too. They already know to coordinate with me.” 
 
    Sarah looked like she wanted to cry. “I’m losing all my freedom, aren’t I.” 
 
    “If you frame it that way then I’m sure you will. So, don’t frame it that way. You can party all over this world, other ones, too, as long as you include me in your plans. I’m not here to stop you. I’m here to keep you safe. And I’m pretty damn good at it.” 
 
    Alexi’s spunk was encouraging. 
 
    “Sleeping arrangements?” 
 
    “Best if I have a room in your apartment. Seems like you have plenty. When we travel, we’ll stay in suites. I’ll inspect the suite and your room before you enter. I’ll have a room in the suite, door open. You can have your privacy. I really don’t want to infringe on it.” 
 
    “I need to see anyone that comes to meet with you. But I can be very discreet once they’ve been vetted.” 
 
    “What do you mean vetted?” 
 
    “I need to know the people you’re meeting with. I already know a lot of your connections. Everyone else, you need to introduce me to. Let me shake their hand...” 
 
    Sarah wanted to say, break their arm. But she restrained herself. 
 
    “Sarah, relax. The first week will be a bit weird. After that, I’ll be nearly invisible.” 
 
    Sarah laughed at the statement. 
 
    “Well not too invisible.” 
 
    They sat in silence for a moment, then Sarah said. “I need to go to Paris, initially wanted to go tomorrow, but didn’t arrange it.” 
 
    “Where?”  
 
    “Rachelle Pépin’s design studio. She’s making my wedding dress. I’d like to take as many of my bridesmaids as I can get to come.” 
 
    “Tell them I’m one of your bridesmaids.” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Any prospective assailants that think I’m part of your party will have their guard down.” 
 
    “And how would that work? I mean, they’re going to make us take our clothes off.” 
 
    “Sarah,” Alexi said shaking her head. “I’m more deadly stripped naked and asleep, than any ten special forces members already amped up.” 
 
    Sarah started to protest, then realized for the first time… This is real and Alexi can protect me. 
 
    “Well. That will be interesting to see.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING LAB 
 
    It was 7:30 PM by the time they got all the equipment transported down and secured. The trip had been a massive success. 
 
    “That was an incredibly successful trip. We got all the data we needed. And I think we have totally sold the story. None of them doubt that the weapon works or even how it works. You really kind of freaked them out with the shield gyrations. 
 
    “Agreed. I think we’re done here. I’m ready to call it quits for the day.” 
 
    “Good. Me, too. Nelly said she’d have dinner with me if I could get over to her place by 8:00. I can still make it.” 
 
    “You’re lucky. Start an hour later tomorrow?” 
 
    “Sounds good to me.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 TRADE EXPOSITION 
 
    [Wednesday, 06.11.2031] EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Captain Flanagan. Parikh here. We have completed the last validation. It will be another hour or two before the paperwork has been completed and filed. But we’re done here. Everything that needs to be done on site has been finished.” 
 
    “Thank you, Lieutenant. Final count?” 
 
    “On this planet, 2,816 kg. In this system, 6,394 kg.” 
 
    “The people of Fatafatu are going to be happy to hear that.” 
 
    “For the overall mission, 41,267 kg across six systems. Every system had some.” 
 
    “Excellent work, Bumati. A commendation will go in your file. We’ll work you back into the watch rotation in a couple days. Commander Staal will contact you.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    Eugene and Kelly had agreed to start late today. Both were tired from the trip. Nonetheless, after dinner with Nelly last night, Eugene went back to his apartment and stayed up late working the last of the scale-up calculations. He wanted to hit the ground running this morning on the shield. 
 
    “Hey.” Kelly called out as Eugene entered the lab. “Sleep well?” She was a bit puzzled that Eugene was a few minutes late. These days it seemed that she was always the second to arrive. 
 
    “Better than the last two for sure. But I stayed up late, wanted to finish the scale-up math.” 
 
    “You did what? I thought the idea was to get some extra rest.” 
 
    “I really can’t sleep when something’s nagging at the edge of my mind. I also wanted to get Henry and Jacob onto the drone scale-up ASAP.” 
 
    “What’s the scale-up going to look like?” 
 
    “We’ll need a 450-gigawatt power source and a drone that’s 2.75 times larger. Let me see if we can get Henry. 
 
    “Henry.” 
 
    “Here, Eugene. Rumor mill says your test went well, but everyone is being very tightlipped about it.” 
 
    “Rumor mill is right. The tests went well. But the most important thing we learned is that scale-up will go mostly as expected. I think the biggest problem is going to be the power source. We need a 450 GW supply.” 
 
    “That’s almost half of the power we need to power the planetary shields. Joel says we need to go off planet for that. So, I’ll leave that to him. What about the drone?” 
 
    “The drone needs to be 2.75 times larger. My question for you is will that fit? Or what will we need to do to make it fit?” 
 
    “Not a problem for the Cruisers. We’ll need to add length to get it into one of the Fast Attack Ships. We don’t have the width to do a proportional scaleup. What’s easier for you?” 
 
    “Direct scale up would be easier, but not by much. So, I guess I need to get clarity from Michael on the composition of ships going on this. I know the Oslo would like to. 
 
    “Changing subjects, do you know if Jacob is going to be helping on this?” 
 
    “No, I don’t know. Joel seems to be offline working on some crisis at the Android Production Lab.” 
 
    “OK. So, I’ll send stuff to you then?” 
 
    “Sounds like a plan.” 
 
    “Thanks, Henry.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “David, there you are. Ready to head back to Naltanarus?” 
 
    “Looking forward to it. Where are we going?” 
 
    “To a trade show.” James beamed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABOVE NALTANARUS 
 
    Two clouds of light appeared above the D’Nardan subcontinent. It was the largest of the islands on Naltanarus, 70% the size of its smallest continent. 
 
    Each of the major islands on Naltanarus has developed its own specialty of sorts. D’Narda has really taken the lead on advanced materials. Their annual tradeshow is this week. It draws crowds from all over the world. We’re going down to mingle, but there are a couple things I want you to see. 
 
    This was one of those moments David cherished, James spending time with just him, showing him things no human had ever seen. 
 
    … 
 
    They coalesced in a dark place, their light fading almost instantly. What David saw as the light faded seemed familiar. But he couldn’t place it. 
 
    Quiet. The voice sounded in his mind. Others are outside. We cannot come out until they move on. 
 
    A minute passed, then another. 
 
    OK. The coast is clear. Shut your eyes, it’s bright outside. 
 
    The warning made David smile. Early on, when James gave him commands like that, David would ask why. James answer was always the same. Some things must be done based on trust.  
 
    David always had a hard time accepting that. Then one day, it clicked. James is taking me places, letting me do things, that I’m not qualified to do. Things no one else would ever let me do. His only real ask is that I follow his lead. 
 
    David closed his eyes. 
 
    Suddenly he could tell that it was very bright. He stepped forward, compelled by a force he could not resist. 
 
    Sorry about that. Timing was very tight. It’s OK to open your eyes. 
 
    David opened his eyes. Light and sound flooded back, almost overwhelming the senses. 
 
    David it’s OK. I can safely block your hearing to help you transition. Needed your eyes closed to do the same for the light. 
 
    Within a few moments, David adjusted. The sights and sounds in front of him were like videos he’d seen of ComicCon San Diego, overwhelming to the senses. 
 
    “James, what is this?” The words blurted out. 
 
    Speak in Xotiq or not at all. 
 
    To David’s surprise, something appeared in his hand. 
 
    Stick it in your ear. Place the wire along your jaw and trace your finger down it.  
 
    David did as he was told. Suddenly all the sound made sense, kind of. 
 
    “Sorry, should have mentioned that earlier.” 
 
    David turned to look at James. Then it snapped. “Thank you for the translator. What is this place?” 
 
    “The trade show I spoke of. There are things here we must see.” 
 
    “The place we landed?” 
 
    David felt James’ joy well before the answer came. 
 
    “Sorry about that. It was the maintenance room where they keep the toilet cleaning and replenishment supplies. It’s clear about 15% of the time. Needed to land while it was clear, with enough time to escape before the next team came in.” 
 
    “Thanks for the 5-star tour.” 
 
    James’ joy spread to several people nearby who started laughing. 
 
    Keep the humor to yourself. James’ joy bubbled through the reprimand. 
 
    “This way.” James pointed to where he wanted to go. “Quickly.” 
 
    People seemed to melt away in front of James as if suddenly interested in something near, but not on, his path. 
 
    Once again, David was amazed by James’ power and subtlety. He doubted that any of the people that moved out of James’ way thought they were being pushed. 
 
    They stopped in front of a roped off area that, within a minute, was surrounded by onlookers. 
 
    “Ladies and Gentlemen. Thank you for coming to our booth. We have something special to show you today.” 
 
    The showman moved his arm in a sweeping motion and a curtain opened revealing a cube of some sort of metal. It was a perfect cube, two feet on a side. 
 
    “Now what could this be?” The question was rhetorical. 
 
    “Could it be an easy chair?” 
 
    The question was preposterous. The crowd groaned and there was the odd cat call. As the crowd started to disburse, the showman called out. “You don’t want to see?” 
 
    The question seemed so out of place that many turned to see what he was talking about. 
 
    The showman smiled. “Watch. Would anyone like a love chair to sit in with your sweetheart.” 
 
    The cube started moving and within moments reformed into a love seat. 
 
    “You!” He pointed to a young couple and smiled. “I bet you’d like something a little more intimate?” 
 
    He pointed to the love seat and it shrank to be a foot narrower. 
 
    “Or maybe more comfortable?” 
 
    He pointed to the narrow love seat and it morphed into a double bed. At this point, he had the crowd’s attention. 
 
    “I know that’s what we all want.” He pointed to the bed. “But sometimes there are other things we need, maybe a dining room table?” 
 
    The bed morphed again. This time into a petite café styled table with two chairs. The trick drew applause from the now interested crowd. 
 
    “You might ask me, what’s going on? You might ask, how did you do that? Friends, there is no trick. No magic. It’s just the miracle of Smart Material.” 
 
    Over the next five minutes he went on to describe how Smart Material was made of micro-machines able to reshape and reform themselves based on whatever program you provided. A soft bed one minute. A dozen sets of cutlery the next. It was truly the miracle of the generation. He closed by indicating a dozen booths where people could make inquiries about obtaining Smart Material. 
 
    … 
 
    James elbowed David. “Come on, let’s go talk to one of their representatives.” 
 
    They walked over to the end of a short line. A minute later, they were escorted over to one of the booths and introduced to its representative. 
 
    “May I ask your interest in Smart Material?” 
 
    “We work with a large group of prospective buyers. We came to this tradeshow to see if there were products that might spark their interest. Your Smart Material is the most interesting thing we’ve seen in a while. I’d like to learn a little more about what it is. I’d also like to find out about pricing and availability.” 
 
    “May I ask about who you represent and the quantity they might be interested in?” 
 
    “Who, no. Not really. The initial quantity would be small, mostly for samples. But over time, prospectively huge quantities, in all likelihood more than you can produce in the short term.” 
 
    The representative sorted through some papers, pulled out three of them and put them on the table. “These are our standard confidentiality and samples agreements. For unknown partners, samples are available for a fee.” He pushed two of the documents forward. “This is a product brochure that tells about the product. It is mostly about what the product does, not how it works.” 
 
    “Thank you for these. They will help us represent your products to our clients. Any agreements or requests will come from them. But can I ask you which application you think is going to be the most valuable?” 
 
    The sales representative looked at James, trying to gauge him. “The brochure is mostly silent on this, but I think the killer app will be reconfigurable machinery, not furniture.” 
 
    James was quick to reply. “I would have thought that spacecraft would be the ‘killer app’ as you say.” 
 
    “Spacecraft? The larger governments have space programs, but those are big programs with long development cycles. I hear there is an interesting launch coming up, but we have had no contact from them. Do you represent a government or other entity with an interest in space?” 
 
    “Possibly.” 
 
    Their time was up, so the sales representative stood. “Here’s my card. Call me if your clients have questions. I would really like to do business with you.” 
 
    James very gently sent the sales rep an image of a spacecraft. 
 
    “Well, I’ll be darned. Spacecraft. I can see that. I’ll let some people here know about our chat.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    After some careful navigation, James and David entered the same maintenance closet, then vanished in a flash of light. 
 
    Once back in James’ office, David took the lead. “Interesting product. I assume that is one of the reasons you are interested in the planet. Earth has no material like that. Am I guessing correctly that the Confederation doesn’t either?” 
 
    “Correct you are. Their ‘micro-machines’ are just primitive nanobots. But look at what they’ve done with them.” 
 
    James let the statement hang there, which was David’s clue that he should be able to deduce something more. 
 
    “Reminds me of the propulsion systems. Eugene took a mature Confederation technology and did something no one ever thought of before. The Xotiq invented a primitive form of a Confederation technology and are already doing things with it.  
 
    “You said once that they were like humans in a sense. Is it their inventiveness?” 
 
    James smile was huge. “What else did we learn?” 
 
    “They are just beginning a space program?” 
 
    “I already knew that, but good answer. What else?” 
 
    After a while, David said. “It must be something related to the presentation, but I’m not coming up with anything. A clue?” 
 
    “Just the observation that they have a well-developed commerce system with a clear sense of intellectual property rights. Or said a different way, a means to buy, sell and trade ideas, not just things. This is really essential for the development of a technological society. 
 
    “Tomorrow, I want to go back and see some more of their technology. I think you’ll be surprised how far along they are.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    “Henry, what did you find?” 
 
    “You’re not going to like this Joel. The security tapes have been expertly hacked. Whoever did it really knows what they’re doing. There are clear gaps that he didn’t attempt to hide. But nothing shows up in the event logs. Those are all encrypted. I don’t know how he erased a log entry or stopped one from being made. But the tape and the logs don’t match and there is nothing suspicious, other than the gaps, in either of them.” 
 
    “So, you think it was sabotaged?” 
 
    “The logs were sabotaged. No doubt. But that is the only evidence we have that the platform was sabotaged.” 
 
    “What about the bot? Could it contain evidence? Anything that would help us determine what it was doing there?” 
 
    “Good idea. I’ll check that out next.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    Barbara had spent most of the day yesterday assembling the four replacement AIs. This morning, she’d put the finishing touches on each and ran the relevant diagnostics. Now she was loading them into the birthing computer, which would create the images Joel would load into the platforms tomorrow. 
 
    With that process launched, she decided to take on the next set. She had given these to Vitya also but found herself agreeing with Joel. That guy shouldn’t be allowed to touch anything associated with an AI or android. 
 
    The process fresh in her mind, she hoped to get these four assembled by the end of the day. 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 SMART CLOTHING 
 
    [Thursday, 6.12.2030] LE MONTRACHET, BEAUNE, FRANCE 
 
    Guy Dimont arrived at the restaurant ‘Le Montrachet’ in Beaune a few minutes before 3:00. Guy was one of two avatars Ju-Ne kept in France. He ‘lived’ in Dijon and had been particularly useful for finding wine and dealing with things outside Paris. But Guy spent most of his time in a restoration chamber. Ju-Ne did not use him very much at this point. 
 
    Guy was meeting with a somewhat pompous winemaker named Jean-Philippe Adnet. Monsieur Adnet’s claim to fame was acceptable quality cheap wine. He pitched it as being almost as good as the grand chateaus, 90% of the robustness, but only 10% of the cost. His brazen advertisements made him something of a joke among the French wine society. But American and Japanese tourists just sucked it up. 
 
    His latest venture was making vodka from excess wine. He’d been astounded by the success of CÎROC, a brand of eau-de-vie vodka, made with grapes from the Charente-Maritime region in the west of France. His goal was to become the Cîroc of Burgundy. 
 
    Ju-Ne needed 1,000 liters of alcohol for his next operation. He wanted it in bulk volume. He’d heard that Jean-Philippe had produced a lot that wasn’t selling. Ju-Ne’s goal for today was to acquire those 1,000 liters. He was hoping that by coming as Guy, he would succeed. 
 
    “Jean-Philippe, so long since we’ve seen each other.” Ju-Ne had never met Jean-Philippe. But Jean-Philippe knew himself to be famous, so bought the assertion. 
 
    “Guy, good to see you as well. Where was it that we met? Was it the Grands Jours de Bourgogne? Or the Bordeaux Wine Festival? I just can’t place it.” 
 
    Guy smiled. He’d come prepared for this question. “No, it was the International Bulk Wine & Spirits Show in London in 2029. Remember, you did that presentation. Remarkable insight into the developing vodka from grapes business, by the way. I learned a lot. You invited several of us to dinner at that place you’d rented. I promised to get in touch as soon as we were ready to launch our own.”  
 
    “Of course, of course. You were trying to decide whether to produce or just brand.” There was a winemaker that had met with Jean-Philippe that night. Ju-Ne had used nanobot surveillance to record the event so he could choose the right candidate for this part of his plan. He’d recently chosen Jean-Philippe, and over the last week updated the on-line records of the event to include images of Guy with Jean-Philippe. 
 
    “Originally, I wanted to produce. But my winery is too small, and my sales have increased to a point that I don’t have any excess juice to distill.” 
 
    A waiter came to take their orders. Jean-Philippe ordered the Prix Fixe menu for both of them. 
 
    “So, you are looking to create a brand?” Jean-Philippe brightened. 
 
    “Yes. I acquired the bottling facilities shortly after meeting you at that show. They were finally installed a couple months ago. Can you believe it took two years?” 
 
    Jean-Philippe nodded sympathetically, even though his spirits drooped a bit. He’d expanded his bottling capacity a couple years before and completely understood how those projects always seem to run late. But he’d been hoping to do the bottling for any brands he supplied because he now had excess bottling capacity. 
 
    “I think I’ve settled on the branding and distribution.” Guy continued. “But now that I cannot produce, I need to find a producer who will sell to me in bulk.” 
 
    The waiter brought their first course, a mushroom consommé. Jean-Philippe considered himself to be a gourmand. So, conversation stopped as he savored the first sip. “Light. Flavorful. Subtle, but extremely satisfying. Quite excellent actually.” The statement was aimed at the waiter. 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” The waiter replied, then whispered conspiratorially. “We usually produce in smaller batches, but each full batch includes an entire white truffle and an equal portion of black.” 
 
    The waiter left as Guy and Jean-Philippe sipped in silence for a minute. 
 
    “So how much vodka do you need?” 
 
    “My tentative contract with an American distributor is for 1 pallet, packed as 96 cases of twelve 750 ml bottles. That’s 864 liters. 
 
    “They want another pallet in 3 months, then assuming the vodka sells, they plan to expand distribution up to 3 pallets per month. So, my immediate need is for 1,000 liters in bulk. I’d like to get this as soon as possible. Then, starting in 3 months, I may want up to 3,000 liters per month.” 
 
    Jean-Philippe nodded his head, wondering the best way to handle this. He needed the money. The vodka debacle was threatening his solvency. Three thousand liters a month wouldn’t make him whole, but if he got three euros a liter, this one deal could cover his debt maintenance. 
 
    The waiter came with their second dish, pigeon and foie gras wrapped in cabbage. Guy and the waiter watched intently as Jean-Philippe cut off a small bite and put it in his mouth. The reaction was immediate. He started swaying back and forth, humming as he savored the bite. After a few moments, he stopped. “I have died and gone to heaven. This is absolutely divine, absolutely divine.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” The waiter bowed and returned to the kitchen. 
 
    “Guy, you must try yours. It defies words.” 
 
    Guy took a taste, attempting to make some sign of delight. But it was hard. Jean-Philippe was such a pompous fool, it was hard not to laugh. 
 
    “Well said. Absolutely divine.” It was all Guy could do to contain the laughter. 
 
    After a minute of consumption and silent contemplation, Jean-Philippe returned to the topic at hand. “I would be happy to supply you. I’m thinking we could do a volume-based contract, say 6 euros per liter for the initial 1,000-liter sample lot, dropping to 3 euros per liter at 10,000 liters a year.” 
 
    “Ideally, I’d like a higher purity, higher proof vodka than what you’re currently selling in the store. Six times distilled, not five. Ninety proof, not eighty. I’d be happy to pay 10 euros per liter for an initial 1,000-liter bulk delivery, half on order, half on delivery.” 
 
    “Deal.” Jean-Philippe extended his hand. The extra-cycle through the still would cost a little, but 10,000 Euros would make a huge difference in this month’s cash flow. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    David knocked, then let himself into James’ office, but no one was there. David was surprised that the door was unlocked, and James was not in. “James?” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James appeared. “Sorry about that. Just went to check on something.” 
 
    James looked at David a little more closely, a big smile blossoming. “I see that you’re in excellent spirits this morning. It’s good to see that you’ve found happiness.” 
 
    David smiled back, a little embarrassed. He’d spent the night with Valerie last night. 
 
    “Today should be really interesting. We’re headed back to the tradeshow to see something else I’ve never seen before. And I think I have a way to bring a sample back. Ready?” 
 
    “Let’s do it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TRADE SHOW, NALTANARUS 
 
    James and David flashed into existence in a small room that reminded David of the changing rooms in the local department store his mom took him to when he was a kid. 
 
    “This looks like a changing room.” 
 
    “It is.” 
 
    “How is this going to work?” 
 
    “Simple, we just leave and return the clothes we’ve been trying on.” 
 
    At first, David could not understand. Then he noticed clothes hanging on a hook in the room. “Is this where you were when I came into your office?” 
 
    James’ smile was enough to answer David’s question. “Let’s go. They think we’ve been in here suspiciously long. These are your clothes.” He pointed to the items hanging from the hook. “Mine are in the next booth. I’ll meet you at the exit.” 
 
    James disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
    In the confusion of the moment, David forgot that he did not have a translator. Then one suddenly appeared in his hand. I need to learn that trick. 
 
    David put the translator in, grabbed ‘his’ clothes and opened the door. He saw James at the end of the short hallway and headed in that direction. David strolled down the hallway, then around the same corner James did. There he saw James handing his clothes to a young woman, apparently the changing room’s attendant. He was far enough away that he didn’t hear what James said, but she burst into laughter. I wish I had that skill. 
 
    David approached and gave her the clothes. She asked about the fit and style, whether there was something else she could bring him. 
 
    “I think the fit was OK, but not really sold on the style. Guess I’m not sure what I’m looking for. But thanks for the help.” 
 
    She smiled at him. “You’re most welcome. Please come back soon.” 
 
    David saw James walking toward one of the store’s exits. He stepped in that direction, but a voice sounded in his mind. “Turn right at the next aisle and follow it to the end. Exit there. Turn right and walk slowly. I’ll catch up momentarily.” 
 
    David turned right and walked down the designated aisle. Checking out the variety of products as he walked. When he reached the end of the aisle, he exited through the door and stepped up to the sidewalk. On looking both ways, he saw James about 50 feet away, coming in his direction. David turned right as instructed and started walking. He saw a big crowd up ahead. 
 
    It’s the entrance to the Trade Show. Get in line and I’ll come up to greet you as if you were expecting me. 
 
    David got in line. A few moments later James came up beside him. “Good to see you my friend. I was afraid I missed you.”  
 
    The greeting was a little too loud and pushed with a feeling of relief. David realized that he was not the intended target of the greeting or the relief. A couple people in line turned to look, then nodded and went back to their business. 
 
    “What happened?” David asked, assuming that James would understand the real question. What’s going on? 
 
    We were in the changing room too long. The attendant called security. Several men were converging on the dressing room as I exited. Two followed me to the exit. Didn’t want them to associate us as being together. Maybe I won’t use changing rooms as an entry point again. 
 
    David chuckled, then said out loud, “So, what was the young woman laughing about?” 
 
    “She asked me what took so long. I told her that at my age it takes so long to change clothes that I’ve started wondering whether I should wear them at all.” 
 
    David chuckled some more. “I assume that line was delivered with a bit of humor.” 
 
    “As much as I thought I could get away with.” 
 
    They finally reached the entrance and James presented two admission tickets. 
 
    Once in the exhibition hall, James pointed to a far corner. “That’s where we’re headed. The presentation starts in 15 minutes. We need to hustle.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Ladies and gentlemen. Thank you for joining us today to witness the wonder of our next generation smart clothing.” 
 
    An assistant pushed a clothing cart out onto the stage. Six pieces of clothing were hanging from it, two shirts, two pairs of slacks, a dress and something that David could not make sense of. 
 
    “This may not look like much, but there are four basic designs that come in two sizes and are everything you will need for any occasion.” 
 
    David sensed that the crowd was not buying it, but not leaving either. 
 
    “Will our two models please come out?” 
 
    A fit young man and slender young woman came out. Each wore a G-string that barely covered the subject. The woman also wore a narrow ban around her chest that left little to the imagination. 
 
    “Anton, Jannette. Thank you for modeling for us today.” 
 
    David was surprised to hear such common human names. 
 
    It’s the translator mapping the names as best it can. 
 
    David was also interested in seeing so much of the Xotiq body. The training materials showed the complete form of both sexes. It even had skin off animations that allowed you to see how the gross anatomy worked mechanically. But as with most things, seeing a live subject made a difference. Somewhat lost in the thought of the moment, David felt himself reforming slightly. 
 
    Not now, came the reprimand. 
 
    Back in the moment, David saw each of the models put on the pants and shirt. The fit was terrible, baggy. 
 
    “Now, shall we make these fit a little more appropriately.” 
 
    The clothes suddenly shrunk to fit perfectly. 
 
    “Maybe change the color?” 
 
    The pants turned a blue-jean blue color. The shirts turned white. 
 
    “See how white this material can become. Let’s change the texture a bit.” 
 
    The relatively glossy, smooth pants transformed into a cloth that looked a lot like blue jeans. The shirt transformed into a linen-like material. 
 
    That looks a lot like something we would see at the beach on a cool evening. 
 
     The showman looked at Jannette. “Would you like to show a little more cleavage, my dear.” 
 
    She smiled and her shirt transformed into a modest blouse, made of a silky material. 
 
    “Maybe a little more?” She asked as she placed her finger down lower on her chest. 
 
    Her blouse transformed again, showing more. 
 
    The showman stepped through several more styles ranging from shorts and a T-shirt to formal wear for a night out on the town. 
 
    “Now for something that shows the full range of what this material can do. How about a day at the beach?” 
 
    Jannette’s outfit transformed into a bikini. Anton’s transformed into board shorts and a T-shirt. 
 
    “The thing most miraculous about this material is its range. How did a pair of lady’s blue jeans turn into a bikini bottom? Where did all the material go?” The showman let the question hang in the air. 
 
    “Simple. It compresses itself. This fabric is actually a network of tiny micro-machines. When it forms itself into jeans, the micro-machines spread out in fiber layers that are far apart. This gives breathe-ability. It also becomes a wicking material to keep you cool. When it forms into bikini bottoms the micro-machines cluster tightly together into multiple layers that provide modesty as well as resistance to water and sand. 
 
    “Now for our specialty products. Jannette would you please put on the dress. Anton the suit.” 
 
    Their clothes returned into the baggy condition they were in initially. They pulled off their shirts and pants and put on the new garments. In the relaxed state, both garments looked comical. 
 
    “How about a formal full-length dress?” 
 
    The dress transformed to a tight fit, full length dress that hung about an inch off the ground. 
 
    “And a business suit.” 
 
    Anton’s odd outfit formed into something that looked like a charcoal black suit with a leather belt, white button-down dress shirt and a red tie. 
 
    “Don’t they look like they’re ready for a night at the theatre and a fine meal afterward?” 
 
    There was some clapping from the crowd. 
 
    “But, maybe, they want to go dancing instead.” 
 
    The suit relaxed a bit. The tie disappeared. The dress shortened and flared out a bit. A slit opened on the side. The sleeves shrank away revealing shoulders and the neckline plunged. 
 
    The showman walked through several more styles and colors before closing out the presentation. 
 
    “If you would like any of the products you saw today, please speak with any of our representatives.” He motioned to an area that had 50 or more booths. “We have products available for purchase today as well as a catalogue of wholesale packages for retailers, and commercial packages for company uniforms. 
 
    “Thank you for visiting with us today.” 
 
    Several people in the crowd clapped for the showman and the models. 
 
    … 
 
    “Come on. Let’s go see if we can buy something.” James pointed toward the line that was forming for the booths. 
 
    The line moved quickly and within a few minutes James and David were in a booth with a salesman. 
 
    James introduced themselves in the same way he did yesterday, then asked the question that really hadn’t been explained in the presentation. 
 
    “So how do you tell the material what form you want it to take?” 
 
    “There are several ways. You can do it by voice, by implant, or computer. Computers can connect wirelessly, or via several forms of direct contact. 
 
    “Most customers buy a package of standard templates, color and patterns and switch between them by voice command. For example, I have 10 standard programs stored in this set of clothing. There is the company uniform that I’m wearing now. There is also a business casual pattern. Let me show you.” 
 
    He stood and touched a finger to his neck and said, “Sports Casual.” 
 
    His top changed into a light gray, polo-styled shirt with three buttons at the neck and a thin collar, and a light sports jacket. His pants turned into dark gray, linen slacks. 
 
    “See. Easy.” He touched the spot on his neck again and said, “Uniform.” The clothes immediately reverted to their original look.   
 
    “Fashion designers buy the total creation package that includes all the tools necessary to create their own looks. These can then be packaged and sold to others.” 
 
    “I saw you touch your neck. Is there a microswitch there?” David asked. 
 
    “No. I work in the industry and talk about clothes and styles all the time. So, I’ve engaged a privacy option on my clothing. It will only accept commands when I touch that spot. Less than half of our customers use the privacy setting. I do. I set the control surface to be here on my neck.” 
 
    “May I ask how much your clothing costs?” 
 
    “List price for the small pants and shirt are 800 D’Nardan dollars. The dress is 1,000. The suit 1,200. Retail and wholesale discounts are available and depend on volume. 
 
    “The standard tailoring is 100 D’Nardan dollars. If you buy today, that fee is waived. Many of our retailers will waive the fee depending on what you buy. 
 
    “Our standard patterns range from 10 to 100 D’Nardan dollars. We have premium patterns up to about 500 D’Nardan. Various designers have some that are incredibly expensive.  
 
    “The designer stations cost up to 50,000 D’Nardan dollars. There is a long list of features available for designers, but I’m guessing that’s not what you’re looking for.” 
 
    James looked at David, then at the sales representative. “I think I would like to get my friend here a shirt, pants and 10 patterns.” 
 
    “James, are we going to be able to take them home with us?” 
 
    The salesman was the first to reply. “We offer free two-week shipping for all purchases made at the show.” 
 
    “I don’t think we’ll have any difficulty getting them home.” 
 
    “Excellent! Shall we take this young man over to our tailor to get his measurements and to select the outfits?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    James and David returned to the office in a flash. James held a small bag with David’s new clothes. 
 
    “How did you bring that back?” David asked. 
 
    “It took a long time to learn that trick and I can’t do it with everything. This I could, and you already know how I did it.” 
 
    “You absorbed its energy as we left and reformed it when you arrived. But how?” 
 
    James smiled. “As you just explained.” After a moment, James continued. “You will learn some day, but there are more important things to learn now. If you focus on those, you’ll figure this one out on your own.”  
 
    James looked at David expectantly. 
 
    “There must be a sequence of learnings that make learning this easier.” David reflected.  
 
    James smiled in approval. “So why did we bring back the clothes?” 
 
    “As evidence to convince the Confederation to invite the Xotiq to join?” 
 
    “Close. I want Michael to include them in the Alliance he’s forming.” 
 
    “Can he do that if they’re not members?” 
 
    “Not on his current path.” James looked at David expectantly again. 
 
    “So, we’ve brought these back to show Michael.”  
 
    Seeing that James was looking for more, David asked. “Is he aware that there’s another path?” 
 
    James smile returned. “No, he’s not. But I think he’ll be presented with one shortly.” Realization dawned on David. James was still developing Michael, who was at a much different point along the path, but still being mentored. 
 
    “You are learning to see truth in things. Those of us who’ve learned to live as energy have a clarity of vision that normal organic beings do not. It’s part of the wonder of who we are, and part of the wonder latent in humanity.” 
 
    “And part of the wonder latent in the Xotiq?” 
 
    James’ smile blossomed larger. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    It had been another day in space. Joel visited each of the four platforms, five through eight, and installed the new AIs. Each one came up. Each one did a test pull, each one created ingots. 
 
    Now, back in the office, it was time to see if the new platforms were truly online. 
 
    “Henry.” 
 
    “Hey Joel. You’re back in the office. How did it go.” 
 
    “All four installs went seamlessly. Each AI came up, did a pull, and poured ingots. Have you had a chance to look at the ingot quality?” 
 
    “All good. Am I free to start scheduling these?” 
 
    “Yes. It’s time to get back in business. Let’s restart Cruiser production on Line 2 as soon as we have the material to do so.” 
 
    “What about Line 1?” 
 
    “I’d like to use line one to produce the next 8 platforms, then the freighter prototype.” 
 
    “We should probably produce Eugene and Kelly’s drone there also.” 
 
    “Good thinking. Once all of that is done, let’s plan to put up the new manufacturing line at Earth-Sun Lagrange 4. Could you draw up a schedule? I’ll see if I can get time on Michael’s calendar tomorrow to review it.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
    “One last question, did you find out anything about the bot on Platform 4?” 
 
    “It is non-responsive. Whoever messed with that bot, seems to have shut it down. It’s not responding to remote commands.” 
 
    “OK, I’ll retrieve it when I go up to reinstall the AI.” 
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 EXPLORERS 
 
    [Friday, 6.13.2030] ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    “Good morning, Joel.” 
 
    “Hi, Barbara. Did you see the message I sent last night?” 
 
    “Yes, eight more platforms going up over the weekend. You’re finally back in business.” 
 
    “Indeed I am.” 
 
    “Well I’ve already assembled stacks for the next four. I can load them into the birthing computer today if you’d like. I can probably get the next four available by the end of the day tomorrow, but that’s a stretch and it will cost me my Saturday.” 
 
    “But we both always work on Saturdays anyway.” Joel teased. “What about platform 4?” 
 
    “Pains me to say it, but platform 4’s AI is a loss. I’ll see how far I can get on it tomorrow but doubt I’ll finish. So, expect it Monday.” 
 
    “Monday it is. I’ll get platforms 9 to 12 up tomorrow, then 13 to 16 up on Sunday. Then number 4 on Monday afternoon.” 
 
    “Joel, you should take some time off.” 
 
    “I will. But it pains me that we’ve been stuck so long.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S PRESENCE PROJECTOR 
 
    Michael was not looking forward to this Central Council meeting. Three topics related to Earth had been added to the agenda, none of which he wanted to discuss. Thankfully, James had messaged saying that he would be there. 
 
    Michael entered the presence projector and took the seat that he’d been assigned. As soon as he sat, the room morphed into an image of the Central Council meeting room. 
 
    The new Speaker had an elevated seat in the center. The eight other council members, four on either side of the speaker, were set a foot lower. They sat at the front of the room. Some of the invited participants sat at a witness table about two feet lower than Michael. Others sat in rows of chairs behind the witness table. 
 
    Michael noted that Ha-Nu, from Jerusota was sitting at the witness table as was Ambassador Fe-Va and Admiral Jo-Na. There were several others sitting behind the witnesses, which was unusual. It’s why those seats were there, but they were rarely used. Michael did not know who these people were, although one was dressed in the uniform of one of the Triangulum security alliances. 
 
    The speaker gaveled the session to order. 
 
    “We have several topics on our agenda today. The first regards a complaint filed by Jerusota against Earth. As the Ambassador to Earth is a Central Council member, the complaint must be heard by the Central Council as long as at least one Council member supports the complaint. Councilor Mo-Mo from the planet Togarotu in Triangulum has agreed to support this complaint. 
 
    “Mi-Ku, you are allowed to ask questions of the ambassador and will be expected to answer questions directed at Earth, but you are recused from voting on any resolutions the council puts forward on this matter.” 
 
    Michael nodded his head in understanding. 
 
    “Ambassador Ha-Nu, please present your complaint.” 
 
    “Thank you, distinguished council members, for the opportunity to present our complaint.  As you know, Jerusota is a poor world. We have no Transluminide of our own. Our ability to access and operate in space is minimal, we have no ships of our own design. We have never had the resources to purchase ships from the Confederation or from our neighbors. The only interstellar ships we have are old fleet ships retired to our service millennia ago. Of those, there is a mining capable ship with a maximum range of 5 light years, and two dilapidated Fleet Fast Attack Ships capable of three light-year jumps on a four-hour recharge. 
 
    “With the Fleet’s withdrawal from the Milky Way we have no source of Transluminide, no protection from the Enemy and no effective means of off-world trade. It is only a matter of time before our people starve to death or are consumed by the Enemy. 
 
    “We have appealed for help through the Confederation Senate but were told that aid normally administered via the Fleet would not be available in the Milky Way for some time. We petitioned Earth for assistance as its Ambassador is our representative on this council, but no aid was offered. 
 
    “Earth took huge resources away from other members in the Milky Way as part of its Revelation process. The actions taken by Earth have released the Enemy on us after years of peace. Our requests for assistance have been rejected, in favor of trade and security agreements that we cannot pay for. 
 
    “As the wealthiest planet in our sector, responsibility should fall to Earth to protect and support Jerusota.” Ambassador Ha-Nu glared at Michael. 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. Would you care to respond to these complaints?” 
 
    “Fellow council members. Most of what you have just heard is based on rumor and is factually deficient. 
 
    “Earth paid for most of the cost of its own Revelation, including upgrades to Fleet ships and the gifts distributed. 
 
    “Earth has taken no actions that have resulted in an increase of Enemy activity. Earth had no role in the destruction of the replacement armada, although it did lead the effort to rescue over 1 million Confederation citizens from certain death on those ships. 
 
    “Corrupt actions taken by a few renegade elements in the Confederation precipitated the Enemy invasions of Andromeda, which Earth also stopped. 
 
    “The Ambassador claims that Earth is the wealthiest planet in its sector. It is true that Earth has filed numerous claims on Transluminide deposits it has found, giving it vast Transluminide reserves. The truth is that most of what we have are reserves, not Transluminide. We do not have the means yet to mine those reserves. 
 
    “The Ambassador claims that there is no Transluminide within range of his mining ships. In the last week, teams from Earth have found and registered claims in Jerusota’s capability zone. We have offered Jerusota title to those claims, below the standard member-to-member rate. But they have been rejected. 
 
    “Instead of accepting the assistance Earth can offer, the Ambassador demands assistance that Earth does not have the resources to deliver. And, despite the Ambassador’s claims of poverty, the people of Jerusota enjoy a higher standard of living than the people of Earth. The Ambassador’s complaint cannot be allowed to stand.” 
 
    “Lies, all lies.” Ambassador Ha-Nu shouted out in a gross violation of protocol. 
 
    The speaker pounded his gavel. 
 
    “It seems to me that the pivot point in this argument is the issue of minable claims. This is a question of fact, not perspective. Are there registered claims in the database that are within range of Jerusota’s mining ship? Seems to me the answer should be yes or no. 
 
    “I propose that we table this issue pending expert testimony that can answer the question.” 
 
    Ambassador Fe-Va raised his hand, requesting to speak. The speaker nodded to him. 
 
    “The chair recognizes Ambassador Fe-Va.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Speaker. I know that this is not the topic I have appeared to address today. But I have information on this matter that is relevant. The Earth has been aggressively exploring systems near each of the members that have asked it for help. This is apparently one of the things that they’re incredibly good at. 
 
    “Last week, Earth registered five claims with a total net yield of 9,423 kg approximately 3 light-years from Jerusota. I am not privy to the private discussions between Earth and Jerusota, but Earth has been offering a member-to-member rate of 33% to the other planets in our region. I find it hard to believe that it is not doing the same for Jerusota.” 
 
    “Ambassador Ha-Nu, do you have a response to this?” 
 
    The Ambassador was clearly unhappy with this turn of events but had the good sense not to put on another display. 
 
    “I have no knowledge of this. We have searched diligently and found no Transluminide. I think it would be appropriate for a neutral party to validate this claim.” 
 
    Another council member spoke up. “Mr. Speaker, if I may?” 
 
    The Speaker nodded to him. 
 
    “I have some experience with mining. The claims process is rigorous. If the claim has met the standards to be registered, then it would be extra-ordinary if it were not real. Total yield is an estimate, but it is rarely far off. Or stated more accurately, when it is far off, it is always more than the estimate. 
 
    “Therefore, my suggestion would be to have a neutral party work with the experts in the registration office to inspect the registration and confirm that the claim is properly registered. If it is, then there is existing law and precedent allowing an acquirer to take legal action against the registrant, if the claim is not accurate.” 
 
    “I second this proposal.” Another member shouted out. 
 
    “Mo-Mo, as sponsor of this process, would a resolution requiring this suggestion satisfy your concern.” 
 
    “Yes, it would.” 
 
    “Any opposed?” A pause. “Hearing no opposition, it is resolved that a neutral representative work with the claims registration office to confirm the adequacy of the registration three light-years from Jerusota.” 
 
    The speaker pounded his gavel indicating that the matter was closed. Ambassador Ha-Nu was not a happy person. 
 
    “Next on the docket, a proposal from Ambassador Fe-Va regarding the formation of a 3F alliance.” 
 
    Michael was surprised that this resolution came to the Central Council’s agenda without his knowledge. 
 
    “Ambassador Fe-Va, would you please introduce your proposed resolution?” 
 
    “My proposal is simple. The Fleet lost its Armada, the one that our treaties require it to maintain. None here want to withdraw from the Confederation, the benefits to all parties from the free flow of knowledge are irrefutable. But we in Sector 3F are the only sector in the entire Confederation that currently lives with the constant threat of sudden death falling from the skies. 
 
    “My desire is that the Central Council will consider allowing us to organize our own defense. If that is not something the Council would approve, then I propose a resolution allowing planets that want to form such an alliance be allowed to do so. My justification is simple and pragmatic. Earth has emerged as the most capable of defending us, and of promoting our prosperity. Yet, unlike others that have proposed such alliances, I would like to offer a more balanced solution. Let Earth form a voluntary 3F alliance. Let any of us that choose, join this alliance. No one should be forced to ally. But the willing should be allowed to mount a defense under the precedent set in Triangulum during the alien uprising.” 
 
    Loud murmurs came from the assembled council members. 
 
    “Councilor Mo-Mo, your world is a member of such an alliance, is it not?” The question came from Ambassador Fe-Va and clearly irritated the Speaker. 
 
    “Yes. It is. The Confederation has had difficulty maintaining a military presence in our sector. There are numerous worlds in our sector that have superluminal space capability. Many have rejected membership. They would rather conquer Confederation worlds to obtain Confederation technology, than join the Confederation. 
 
    “I’m aware that there are pirate worlds attempting to prey on your weak. But your real issue is the Enemy. Earth is the only force in the Confederation that seems able to defeat them. So, having Earth’s protection seems logical. But why form an alliance?” 
 
    The question was aimed at Ambassador Fe-Va, so Michael held his tongue. But the question burned, none the less. 
 
    “I think we have already discussed this. Earth’s Revelation was only six years ago. They have made extraordinary strides in terms of propulsion, shielding, spaceship fabrication and Transluminide discovery. But the people of Earth live in relative poverty. They have the lowest standard of living among members in our sector. They still have hunger and disease among the general population. 
 
    “We cannot ask them to prop up the rest of us while they suffer. It is an unconscionable violation of Confederation values. An alliance will allow balance via honest exchange. The Earth will provide mining rights and protection. The other members provide the goods that will raise them out of their poverty. 
 
    “So, I reverse the question. What other way could this happen?” 
 
    Open discussion broke out among the council members and on the floor. The Speaker pounded his gavel to bring the session back to order. 
 
    “Order! Order! Please do not speak unless recognized by the Chair.” 
 
    The room quieted. 
 
    “Councilor Mo-Mo, do you care to respond?” 
 
    “I think Ambassador Fe-Va makes a compelling argument. Ambassador Mi-Ku, is this something the Earth would consider?” 
 
    “The possibility has been discussed by the Earth Alliance Advisory Council. They are generally in favor. It has been and remains the position of the Earth Alliance that they want functional relationships with and prosperity for all members of the Confederation, particularly its neighbors.” 
 
    “Councilor Ancient. Do you have advice for us?” 
 
    “Yes. I believe that a regional alliance is the only viable solution at this time. I worry about an alliance of the willing. If unrestrained, it will ultimately lead to a two-tier system, which we must reject. But I would agree to a proposal that allows planets the right to opt in when the time is right for them. We should not allow a handful of holdout planets to stop the greater good. Similarly, we should not allow those that want in to be denied.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “Ambassador Fe-Va, you have taken the lead on this. Would you like to head the committee that drafts a prospective alliance agreement?” 
 
    “I have a preliminary draft. Eight planetary governments have expressed an interest in reviewing it: Earth, Karagon, Celanar, Peralon, Fatafatu, Edukatar, Nutarogen and Atomorali.” 
 
    “Jerusota would be interested as well.” Ambassador Ha-Nu interjected. 
 
    “Make that nine planets. I would propose that we work this together and present a formal draft sometime in the next week. Given the Enemy threat and their renewed activity in the outer portion of the sector, we have real urgency for a solution.” 
 
    “That sounds reasonable to me. Do we require further discussion on this matter?” The speaker asked hoping to close the discussion. 
 
    “Given that I am the ambassador to a planet that is part of such an alliance, I think it would move things along more quickly if I participated.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mo-Mo.” The Speaker nodded his thanks. “Mi-Ku, I presume you will be part of this.” 
 
    Michael smiled. “Yes, I will.” 
 
    “Are we ready to put this to a vote?” 
 
    “I propose that we vote,” James said. 
 
    “I second,” Mo-Mo called out. 
 
    “All in favor?” All hands went up. “The resolution is approved. Ambassador Fe-Va, thank you for bringing this to us.” 
 
    … 
 
    The meeting dragged on for another two hours. Admiral Jo-Na reported that he was closing the investigation of the Helsinki. Twenty-nine people had been sent to reconditioning. His predecessor, Admiral Nu-Ta, was being court-martialed. The evidence was overwhelming, but they were only seeking a change in his exit status and retirement benefits.   
 
    The ringleader, Ju-Ne, was still at large and believed to be on Earth. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 
 
    “Mason, June MacFarlane is here to see you.” 
 
    After their reunion at the Four Seasons in Las Vegas, Mason agreed to start seeing June again. They’d also agreed that he would have 10 grams of material for her today. She was paying $1 million for it. The funds had been wired in yesterday. The company had set up a private lab for her to test it in. If it passed her tests, he would deliver the remaining 990 grams in exchange for $99 million. That was quite a bit more than the original price specified in the licensing agreement. She’d be issued shares in his firm to make up the difference. 
 
    “Tell Reception I’ll be right down.” Mason replied. 
 
    … 
 
    Mason got off the elevator and saw June immediately. This one is hot even in a lab coat, carrying a briefcase. 
 
    “Mason, my dear. Thank you for setting up a lab for me. It will make my work so much easier.” 
 
    “A pleasure, June. I see you have your badge; let’s go down to the lab. The material is already there, as is the test kit you sent. This way.” He motioned toward the main entrance. “Your lab is in the building next door.” 
 
    They exited and walked down the short pathway to the next building. 
 
    “I got in late last night, so stayed at the Four Seasons. But I brought a bag with some stuff so I could stay at your place tonight. Of course, you could come back to the Four Seasons with me. Either way, remind me to grab the bag. I left it with the receptionist.” 
 
    “I’ll have it taken up to my office. So, what are you going to test?” 
 
    “I have an absolutely killer application for this compound. If it performs as I expect today, I’ll have everything I need to file for Phase 1 clinical trials.” 
 
    “So, you have another therapy you’re creating that uses this stuff.” 
 
    “Sure do.” She smiled. “I need that kilogram to have enough to run my trial.” 
 
    “It’s that big?” Mason asked, a little concerned. A kilogram of material at Phase 1 was unheard of. He couldn’t see how that much material could be used. 
 
    “More important, than big.” Her smile broadened, and Mason noticed her checking him out. 
 
    “Save that for later.” 
 
    “Spoil sport.” 
 
    They entered the lab building and went down the steps to where the lab was set up. 
 
    As they entered the lab, June saw her crate of equipment had been placed on one of the lab benches. The security tape around the edge appeared to be intact, indicating that it had not been tampered with. A small vial of her magical material sat in a refrigerated container next to it. 
 
    She walked over to the crate and confirmed that the seal had not been broken. “OK. I can take it from here. I’ll need five maybe six hours. Am I free to leave the room if I need food or to use the facilities?” 
 
    “The door to the lab is not locked. But it would make my life easier if you stayed in here until you’re done. This lab is designed for experiments that run a long time and require it to be sealed.  
 
    “There is a small kitchen behind that door.” Mason pointed to a door in the far end of the lab. “It has water, a variety of cold drinks, a coffee machine and some snacks. There’s a bathroom at the far end of the kitchen. 
 
    “If you need something else, just give me a call. Someone will be down shortly to help.” 
 
    “Fair enough.” June replied, “I really do want to stay on your good side today.” Her smile bordered on a leer. 
 
    As Mason left the building, a thought ran through his mind. Something’s not right here. I hope this doesn’t blow back on me. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 LAB, NUEVO BIOCHEMICAL CORP 
 
    With Mason out of her way, June got straight down to business. The crate she’d sent was a miniature laboratory. When laid on its side, it was 10 inches tall, 30 inches wide and 20 inches deep, about the size and shape of a large suitcase. But unlike most suitcases, the crate was made of an expensive aluminum alloy and had square corners, not rounded ones.  
 
    It was obvious that the crate was intended to open like any other clamshell case. There was a long hinge on one side with a seam running around the centerline. But there was no zipper, no hasps or fasteners, no obvious way to open the crate.  
 
    The seam between the two halves was covered in a tape marked with the word security. It was the kind of tape that would tear before it would come loose. She had noticed that the tape was intact when she came into the room. Now she inspected it closely. 
 
    “No tampering,” she said out loud. 
 
    She took keys out of the pocket in her lab coat. She used one of the keys to cut the tape, then clicked a button on the key FOB. An unseen latch released, allowing her to open the crate. She laid the top flat, then removed the protective covering on each side. A quick check showed all the equipment to be functional, all the glass vials and dishes intact. 
 
    She took the test tube of material that Mason had left for her and placed it in the scanner at the back-left corner of the case. 
 
    A moment later a holographic projection popped up. Contents: 10 grams BioCelmerase, in a 40 mL citric acid solution. 
 
    Perfect. 
 
    Next, she pulled out a glass tube filled with a clear liquid. It was labeled: 1L, Ethanol, 45% by volume. For accuracy, she’d used a bottle of 90 proof vodka produced in Burgundy France. She pulled out the rack the tube had been resting in and put it on the table. 
 
    She removed the lid from the tube and the plug from the test tube, then poured the BioCelmerase solution into the large tube of Ethanol. She put the lid back on the large glass tube, shook it to assure the substances mixed, and set it in the rack on the table. 
 
    Next, she removed a rack that had two rows of 10 small vials. Each had a thin rubber cap that allowed it to be injected with a hypodermic needle. One by one, she took the vials out, placed them in the scanner and confirmed that the contents matched the label on the vial. 
 
    Next, she removed 10 small glass boxes. Each box had a tiny atmosphere generator in the top and a white mouse scurrying around inside. As she removed each box, she placed it on top of a metallic plate in the back right of the crate. It was a different sort of scanner. For each box, she confirmed that its contents matched the label. 
 
    Next, she removed an autoinjector from the crate. She took the lid off the tube containing the vodka and BioCelmerase solution. Then, she removed a plug from the top of the autoinjector, turned it over and screwed the autoinjector onto the tube with the solution. 
 
    June set the autoinjector to setting one. On this setting, the injector would inject an exact amount of material as an aerosol mist. For the small vials, an injection on setting 1 would create an atmosphere containing 1 PPM of tiny alcohol/citric acid droplets, each containing a molecule of BioCelmerase. 
 
    She injected the first row of vials, then cast her attention over towards the mice. She changed the autoinjector to setting 2. This setting would produce a precise 1 mL flow of liquid. She walked over to the little glass boxes containing the mice. Box by box she clicked a tiny button on the atmosphere generator. It opened a small injection port into which she put the milliliter of liquid. Once all the boxes had their solution, she closed the little lids enabling disbursement. Each atmosphere generator created a 10 PPM concentration of droplets containing the mixture. It would continue to do so until its solution reservoir was exhausted. 
 
    After about 30 seconds, the first mouse dropped. One by one, the mice fell until there were none left. 
 
    Once the last mouse was down, she took the little glass boxes, placed them on the flat metallic scanner, confirmed the reading, then placed the glass box back in the case. 
 
    Moving back over to the small vials, she tested the first row, placing each vial over into the test tube scanner and confirming the results. When each vial checked out, she put the rack of them back into the crate. She removed the bottle from the auto injector, capped it and put it in the crate. Then she placed the autoinjector into the crate. 
 
    Once the crate was repacked, she reattached the protective lids on each side, then closed and engaged the latch. She took a small roll of tamper-evident tape from her pocket and carefully placed a seal over the seam. Finally she walked into the little kitchen for a snack. 
 
    It worked. After years of effort it worked. An organic solution that kills nanobots. A huge smile erupted on her face. She laughed out loud, thrilled that she’d found a way. 
 
    In the crate, the 10 vials contained the type of nanobot that formed into personal shield emitters on an avatar’s body. In a 1 PPM atmosphere, those nanobots would stop functioning and the Ascendant’s personal shields would collapse. 
 
    In the small glass cases, each mouse had been injected with nanobots to defend against a particular disease or condition. Each mouse had then been afflicted with a deadly quantity of the disease or other condition its nanobots defended against. They’d held off the condition for the last 24 hours. But, when the mouse breathed in enough of the solution, its nanobots ceased function and the mouse died.  
 
    She smiled again. Anyone who walks into a room with a 10 PPM concentration of this material will lose their supply of nanobots in 30 seconds. If doctors treat people in a room like that, they will find that their nanobot-based therapy won’t work. 
 
    My plan is on schedule. If I can deploy my aerosol in a room, the Ascendants inside will lose their personal shields. And when I mow them down, their doctors will rush in to save them, but none of their therapies will work. 
 
    With the deliveries now scheduled for next week, she would have enough to take down any hall, cathedral or ballroom and all the Ascendants inside. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was happy with the outcome of the Central Council meeting. In addition to settling some important issues, they were on a better path with Jerusota, and Ambassador Fe-Va had the lead on the alliance. I need to brief President Lee on these developments. 
 
    Numerous messages came in while the Council had been in session. His message bot had sorted one from Eugene to the top of his queue. 
 
    Michael, weapon development is coming along well. The work that Kelly and I control will be finished by mid-week next week. But there are two issues we’ll need your help to resolve, the power source and the drone. Joel had the lead on the power source, but he has been unavailable, so we don’t know its status. We’re going to need your help to push that item forward.  
 
    The drone design is done and replicator ready, but there’s a question about where it will be built. It’s too large to be built on Earth, so will need to be done in space. I think the viable candidates are the ship production facility or one of the Cruisers. Again, we are going to need your help to press that issue forward. I know you have a lot on your plate. Just wanted to let you know where we are. 
 
    “Emmanuel.” Michael called out. A moment later the comm system connected. 
 
    “Good afternoon, Michael. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Joel had the lead on obtaining the 450-gigawatt power source the new weapon requires. Do you know if a power source was actually ordered and, if so, its status? 
 
    “Yes, it was. They charged us an entire kilogram of Transluminide for it. It is scheduled for the next pick up two weeks from Monday.” 
 
    “Any chance we can get it sooner? I’m expecting everything else to be ready by the end of the week next week.” 
 
    “I’ll check. But this will cost us an extra pick up, which they will charge us for. We really need those freighters.” 
 
    “Understood. See what you can do for me.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    David arrived at James’ office a few minutes early. All the recent trips had been a lot of fun and he was looking forward to whatever was in store for today. 
 
    “David, you’re early. I’m going to take that as a good sign. Have you given more thought to our conversation yesterday?” 
 
    When they first started working together, David hated it when James asked him questions that he didn’t know the answer to. Now it was different. James had a way of leading him using the questions, directing his thoughts by asking questions that made him think in a particular direction. He was being guided to figure things out on his own, rather than being told. The most consequential thing they discussed yesterday was another path to admittance for Naltanarus. Today’s trip would be something about overcoming that hurdle. 
 
    “Yes. I’ve been wondering what the other path to admittance might be. But I don’t know enough about Confederation law and regulation to make an intelligent guess. Are we going to explore another piece of evidence today?” 
 
    “Very good. But you know more about the Confederation than you give yourself credit for. What kinds of things might cause the Confederation to treat Naltanarus differently than it treated Earth? It’s OK to speculate.” 
 
    “I’ve thought about this general issue a lot since the Revelation. They didn’t let us see much coverage of the things that were happening, but I remember Michael talking about Earth not being ready, being too fractured. I took that to mean that we needed a unified global government. Some of the other guys thought that those two statements were not connected and speculated that there was a technology threshold. One of the Trekkies said we needed warp drive. 
 
    “Are we going to see something related to one of those?” 
 
    “Indeed, we are. Ready?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ON NALTANARUS 
 
    James and David flashed into existence behind a tall wall made of a cement type material. The wall was arc shaped and opened toward the sea. 
 
    “We should move from here quickly. The flash was probably seen.” 
 
    David couldn’t see anybody but realized the flash would be visible well past anything he could see. 
 
    James ran out from behind the barrier toward a wooded area, cut into the woods, then stopped in front of a hedge.  
 
    “There’s a path on the other side of the hedge, an opening a little further down. We can walk through it in a moment.” 
 
    James crouched down as if ready to sprint away. David matched his position. 
 
    “Now.” 
 
    The two ran about 20 feet then cut through a gap in the hedge. James stopped, stood straight and took a step. David scooched up next to him just as two others came around a bend ahead. 
 
    James turned toward David and said in a quiet voice. “They will greet us. I will reply. You bow your head.” 
 
    As the two approached, they paused, hands together and bowing their heads. “Greetings to you, brothers,” the male said. 
 
    “And to you.” James replied using the same gesture. 
 
    As David mirrored James’ motions, he realized how smooth James was as compared to himself. Then the other shoe dropped. He could sense these people. He knew how to greet them. He almost spoke, then restrained himself. 
 
    James asked me to bow and not to speak. I must honor that request. 
 
    “Did we miss the event?” James asked the man.  
 
    “No,” he replied.  
 
    “Are we not headed in the right direction?” 
 
    He smiled graciously. “It is a mystery to me why they would channel us through this maze in order to witness the event. But so they have. Come, we will show you.” 
 
    James stepped up next to the man. “Thank you, brother. In my old age, I am easily confused. But my dying wish is that my nephew witness the event.” 
 
    “This way, my friend.” The man bowed to James, then led the way. David and the man’s wife followed behind. 
 
    “Greetings, friend. Your uncle bestows great honor on you by inviting you tonight. Many wish to see, yet he honors you.” 
 
    David was not sure how to reply but was certain that he needed to. 
 
    Offer your thanks for her sincere thoughtfulness. 
 
    It took a second to sink in, then David replied, “You honor my uncle, for which I am truly in your debt.” 
 
    She looked at him oddly, then smiled. 
 
    Old English really doesn’t translate all that well here. Should have given you better coaching. 
 
    … 
 
    After a hundred yards or so, they emerged from the shrub-lined path. Ahead was a large stadium. Further beyond was the ocean. People streamed from several other paths, queueing up at security check points.  
 
    During the walk in toward the stadium, David learned that they would be witnessing the launch of a new type of spaceship today. Unlike the combustion-based rockets of the past, this one would be powered by a magnetic drive. The spaceship itself would only emit a small negative magnetic field. A powerful ground-based cannon would produce a positive magnetic field, strong enough to lift the spaceship off the ground and push it well above the atmosphere. At some point, David didn’t catch the number, the spaceship would increase the size of the magnetic field it rested on so that the ground-based cannon could still propel it into a high orbit. 
 
    At that point, the spaceship would ignite its anti-matter engines. Now under its own power, the spaceship would create an immense magnetic field, one that would ‘ionize space time’ allowing the spaceship to ‘slide between its layers’ to another star system. 
 
    David found the poetic description of the technology to be amusing. He assumed that they were just using a different mechanism to create a dimensional bubble in jump space. 
 
    … 
 
    Once in the stadium, they took an elevator about halfway up, then exited into a hallway that looked more like a fine hotel than a stadium. 
 
    “David. Minister To’Kana has been kind enough to invite us to join them in their personal suite.” 
 
    The minister took out his pass, opened the door and invited them in. 
 
    “Welcome friends.” Then he turned toward David. “I wish I had met your uncle years ago. His knowledge of magnetic and other fields is world class. I don’t know how we missed him when recruiting scientists for this mission.” 
 
    As David entered, he realized that the room looked a lot like the meeting rooms he’d seen at the guest hotel. It had a large table and chairs with a holoprojector mounted above. There was a bar and food service area at one end of the room, a sofa and sitting area at the other, and some comfortable seats facing the far wall. 
 
    “Now for the thing we are here to see…” The minister flipped a switch on the wall near the door and the wall started to open. 
 
    “What?” David muttered, not understanding what was being revealed. Then he understood. “It’s a flying saucer!” 
 
    “That’s an interesting expression,” the minister’s wife replied. “I think it looks more like a flattened ovoid. 
 
    David walked over to the window to get a less obstructed look. The flying saucer was huge. 
 
    “It’s one hundred meters in diameter, 20 meters high in the center. Enough space inside to hold the antimatter power system, motors, environmental systems and a crew of 10 very courageous people. They are risking their lives to go to a star system nearly 100 light years away that we know little about.” 
 
    “What’s that under the ship?” 
 
    “It is the field emitter array for the magnetic cannon underneath,” the minister explained. “It can produce a focused field with peak output of 100,000 Tesla. The stadium itself is part of the cannon. See how it curves in? It is a giant reflector dish that aids the focus when the spaceship is above the atmosphere. Should be fabulous to see in person. The field is so strong it will ionize the air. We are protected by the reflective plates in the window. Anyone out there would be ripped to pieces.” 
 
    “How do you keep the crew safe?” 
 
    “Same way, magnetic reflection.” He smiled at David and added conspiratorially, “It took a long time to figure out how to do that.” 
 
    “Do you think people on other worlds will figure out how to do it?” 
 
    The minister chuckled. “People from other worlds, what a curious idea. I’m not sure we’ll ever meet any. But if we do, we’ll have to ask.” 
 
    In a sudden flash of insight, David knew what was about to happen. He turned to look at James, who just smiled back. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 LAUNCH STADIUM, NALTANARUS 
 
    The countdown had started. Everyone was seated in the comfortable chairs looking out over the launch pad. The launch controller’s voice played through the sound system in the room. 
 
    “The launch sequence will commence in 10, 9, 8, 7, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 1. Commencing.” 
 
    To David’s surprise nothing seemed to happen, then he noticed that the ship had lifted a fraction of an inch off the structure it had been sitting on. Then it started to rotate. His first thought was that this was anti-climactic, but as the ship started spinning faster and faster, he asked, “How can the crew survive that?” 
 
    The minister’s wife started laughing. “The ship is spinning, not the crew.” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    The minister answered. “The ship is built in layers. There are 255 lower layers, each slightly curved, nested into each other. There are the same number of upper layers, similarly curved and nested. These sit above and below the crew quarters. The outer contiguous layer is the ship’s hull. 
 
    “The different layers rotate at different speeds and in different directions. The layers themselves are composed of a magnetic material. 
 
    “It is the spinning layers that create the magnetic field. The rate and direction of the layers controls the strength and focus of the magnetic field they create. 
 
    “The crew levels do not spin and are encased in a magnetically reflective material. The crew feels no motion at all and is not impacted by the magnetic fields above and below.” 
 
    The announcers voice came over the audio system. “Initiating cannon in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1, lift off.” 
 
    The spinning saucer immediately started lifting higher. David noticed a mirage-like effect in the air below the saucer. As it increased in intensity, the air seemed to catch fire. 
 
    “The air has begun to ionize. Spectacular to see, is it not? Normal air one minute, plasma the next.” 
 
     David was so mesmerized by the plasma, he momentarily lost focus on the ship. James nudged him and pointed. The ship was up near the top edge of the building and moving fast. As it cleared the top of the building, the plasma flowed out and the ship took off like it had been shot out of a cannon. The plasma seemed to follow it up, narrowing and narrowing as the ship gained altitude. It was like the ship was sitting on the point of a needle pushing it higher and higher. 
 
    After only a minute, the ship could no longer be seen, just the narrow thread of a column of plasma. Then the plasma disappeared. 
 
    “Is the ship OK?” David asked in a sudden panic. 
 
    “It’s OK. In this phase of flight, the nature of the field is different, intensely focused, but with a lower field strength per cubic meter down here at the surface. In a few minutes, the ship will have reached escape velocity of the planet and the star. At that point, we will stop projecting the field.” 
 
    James asked the minister a technical question, drawing his attention away from David. 
 
    That was apparently the distraction the minister’s wife was waiting for. “It’s a few minutes before the next phase, would anyone like a snack?” 
 
    She got up, indicating that David should come with her. 
 
    “The catering here is so nice. Please help yourself.” 
 
    David chose a pastry that looked like the one they had in Havilsow a few days ago. He took it over to James. 
 
    “For you, Uncle?”  
 
    “Thank you, David. And, ah… Avoid those nuts, they will trigger your allergy.” 
 
    David almost asked, “What allergy?” but caught himself. He had been warned that some food on Naltanarus would be poisonous for him. 
 
    “Thank you for the reminder.” 
 
    The announcer’s voice came back over the audio system. “Igniting the antimatter power system in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1. Ignition.” 
 
    The minister spoke up. “We won’t be able to see anything from here. But once power is up and stabilized, they will initiate the transition. We will be able to see that. It will be like a new star forming before our eyes.” 
 
    David finished gathering his food, then returned to his seat. 
 
    After a couple minutes, the announcer came on again. 
 
    “Initiating transition in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1.” 
 
    “The glow will become visible in a moment.” The minister pointed to the place in the sky where they would be able to see it. 
 
    A pin prick of light emerged, then expanded. 
 
    “They are splitting space-time.” There was emotion in the minister’s voice. 
 
    The light flared, then stretched across the sky. After a moment, the tail of the thread of light raced toward the head, then the light was gone. 
 
    The announcer’s voice came over the audio system. “Transition complete. They are no longer in our region of space.” 
 
    An anthem started playing. The minister stood and placed his hand over his heart. His wife did the same, then James and David joined them. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SYSTEM SURVEILLANCE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    Lt. Commander Summer Bennett had the most boring job on Earth. She led the second shift watch team in the System Surveillance section of the System Control Department. Her team’s mission was to identify all ships or other objects entering and exiting the Solar System. 
 
    Among the things new Space Force ships did during their mandatory initial training, was place surveillance platforms in orbit. All the planets had them at this point, as did numerous moons. More had been placed in solar orbits. Computers did the actual monitoring. They would flag suspects for the surveillance teams to evaluate. The computers automatically screened out Space Force ships as soon as they got a return ping from their transponders. Only non-Space Force ships, comets and asteroids would get routed to them, and there were precious few of those. 
 
    “Commander, I think I may have something.” 
 
    “What is it Lt. Jamali?” 
 
    Lieutenant Sibel Jamali was from Pakistan. She was second watch officer for outer system surveillance.               
 
    “I think it is a ship. It seemed to drop from Warp out near the orbit of Neptune. It’s still too bright to get a sensor lock.” 
 
    “Put it on the main viewing screen.” 
 
    What appeared to be a star saturated the center part of the screen. 
 
    “Can you show me where on the system map?” 
 
    The image of the solar system appeared on the screen. A blinking light appeared near the line showing Neptune’s orbit. The planet itself was about 100 degrees further around the sun. 
 
    “Which sensor got the hit?” 
 
    The image zoomed in. Four dotted lines radiated out from the blinking light to the sensors that spotted it. 
 
    “Four sensors see it: the ones fore and aft in Neptune’s orbit, one in Saturn’s orbit and one out in Uranus’s orbit.” 
 
    “It must be radiating a lot of energy to be seen so easily by those four platforms.” 
 
    “Agreed. Can I playback its arrival?” 
 
    “Yes, please do.” 
 
    “We got a good view of this from the two platforms in Neptune’s orbit. This is the better one.” 
 
    A short loop started playing. It showed a light streak across the blackness of space. It suddenly stopped, the tail behind rushing to catch up. 
 
    “We have to kick this up the chain of command.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OUTSIDE LAUNCH STADIUM, NALTANARUS 
 
    As soon as the music stopped playing, the crowd in the stadium started leaving. The minister had a shuttle waiting for him just outside the stadium exit. 
 
    “Can I give you a lift? They allowed shuttles in after the launch, but not before.” 
 
    “Thank you, but no. We have our own transportation waiting on the other side of the hedge maze. Here’s my card. Please feel free to contact me if you would like.” James offered the minister a card. “I suspect we will bump into each other again.” 
 
    As James and David entered the hedge, David said, “They went to Earth, didn’t they?” 
 
    “Solar system, yes. The sun captured their attention long ago, as it has done with many others.” 
 
    “Why our Sun?” 
 
    “That is something I cannot tell you. I suspect you will figure that out yourself at some point. But I’m bound to secrecy on that matter. 
 
    “In any event, we need to speak with Michael about this. Space Force has already discovered that something has appeared. They are still trying to determine what. We need to make sure this is not bungled.” 
 
    Noticing that no one was in sight of them in either direction along the path, James diverted into a dead end in the maze. There was a flash of light and they were gone. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    James had messaged Michael a few minutes ago asking if they could meet. Michael had replied, asking James to come to the apartment. 
 
    Michael heard a knock on the door and went to see who it was. 
 
    “James, you usually just come in. Welcome. David a pleasure to see you as well.” 
 
    “Michael, we have just experienced something wonderful. David and I were on the planet Naltanarus. We witnessed the launching of their first interstellar spaceship.” 
 
    “I don’t think I know of this planet. Are they members?” 
 
    “They are the young species the Enemy was targeting a few months ago. The one the replacement Armada accidentally saved when they encountered the Enemy.” 
 
    “And the relevance?” 
 
    “They just dropped out of jump in the outer solar system.” 
 
    “They came here? Did you have anything to do with that?” 
 
    “No. Their propulsion technology is a creation of their own. They use a different mechanism to create a dimensional bubble in a dimension that the Confederation does not use. I had nothing to do with this discovery or their fascination with our Sun. 
 
    “But that still leaves us with a non-member species in a Confederation system. Responsibility for initiating their Revelation falls to you. 
 
    “We also need to advise Space Force Command. It would be a tragedy if the initial contact was handled ineptly.” 
 
    “Point taken.” Michael quickly messaged Admiral Scott asking for an emergency meeting. The phone rang a moment later. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. We have a situation here. An alien ship just appeared in the outer system. We have attempted to hail them, but there has been no reply.” 
 
    “The ship is from a planet called Naltanarus. It is on a scientific mission to study our system. They are not aware that it is populated. Nor are they aware of the Confederation. Protocol requires that we reveal ourselves. It also requires that our guests must be treated with the utmost care, for them personally and for their people in terms of cultural contamination.” 
 
    After a moment’s pause, the Admiral asked, “What would you have us do, sir?” 
 
    “Is the EAS CANADA in system and available?” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “Assign her to the mission. I will lead the mission team. Have Daniel contact me as soon as he is available.” 
 
    “He will contact you in a few minutes.” 
 
    “Thank you, Admiral.” 
 
    The line dropped. 
 
    “James, you will come with me?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    David looked at Michael expectantly. 
 
    “David, do I assume correctly that you have already met these people in avatar?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “You understand that you can get away with that because you are with James, but should not do this on your own?” 
 
    “I do.” David replied meekly. 
 
    “It would probably be best if you stayed here for this round. First Contact done the way we have to do this one is dangerous. You do not have the training.” 
 
    “Understood, Michael.” 
 
    “You seem oddly relieved.” 
 
    “It’s been a long day and I have a date tonight.” 
 
    Michael chuckled. “Good for you.” 
 
    “Michael, David and I will go now. Call me when you want me to join you.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
    With that, James and David disappeared in a flash. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “James, OK if I ask a question?” 
 
    James thought he knew what was coming. “Of course. What’s on your mind?” 
 
    “I’m having dinner with Valerie tonight. How much can I tell her about what’s happening to me and what we’ve been doing? Naltanarus? The Xotiq?” 
 
    “Difficult questions. I’ll take the ones about our activities first. What we are doing is in the legal gray area. The relevant laws require that an avatar is used and that the contact be sanctioned by relevant government officials. We are using avatars, but not the kind they prefer we use. I am a very senior government official who has engaged in this sort of activity for an exceptionally long time. But tradition has evolved over that time. I am the only one that still gets away with visiting primitive worlds without the blessing of the committee set up to make those decisions. It’s hard to believe they would ever prosecute me. You are a little more at risk. 
 
    “So, I would advise the following rule. Do not tell her anything that will cause a big problem if it shows up on the front page of a major newspaper. It’s not that you shouldn’t trust her. But she needs to know and accept whatever level of secrecy you need. 
 
    “Regarding the first question, it’s largely up to you what to tell and what not to tell. She is Lorexian and has lived in many types of avatars, so she has a much higher tolerance for alien beings and forms than any human. But you are something different. You are now an energy being with powers and abilities most others will never comprehend. I think she will accept you for what you are. But you need to make the call on that.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel had spent most of the day today working on the new freighter design. Advisors Lin and Venezia joined him to discuss possible interior layouts for a passenger cruiser. It always amazed Joel to watch them work. Both were artists who’d turned their talent to interior design. They even offered up ideas for further improvements on the freighter version. At this point they were far enough along that he could turn it over to Henry and Jacob to create the replicator specs. 
 
    It was late. Only one thing was left on the agenda before he could call it a day. 
 
    “Henry, how are we doing with the platform build?” 
 
    “Good. I started staging the bots and materials last night. The build started at about 10 PM last night and will finish around 9 PM tonight. 
 
    “Space Force is anxious to get the new Cruisers, so they agreed to prioritize platform placement. All four should be in place by 9:00 tomorrow morning, ready for the install.” 
 
    “Great, the AIs for Platforms 8 – 12 were placed in the birthing computer earlier today. The ones for Platforms 13 – 16 will be ready tomorrow afternoon, so I can install them on Sunday if you can get the platforms in place Sunday morning.” 
 
    “Shouldn’t be a problem. It’s great getting back to work.” 
 
    “Well, I have some more for you.” 
 
    “You have the designs for the freighter?” Jacob was excited to hear this. 
 
    “Yes. Two versions, freighter and passenger liner. Advisors Lin and Venezia were here today. You’ll be getting the internal build-outs in their standard format.” 
 
    “Can’t wait.” 
 
   
  
 

 RESCUE 
 
    [Saturday, 6.14.2030] EAS CANADA 
 
    It was after midnight by the time Michael finally transported up to the Canada. James appeared on the transporter pad shortly after. They were taken to the Bridge Conference Room. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Professor Ancient. I understand that you are the mission team for this mission. I have been told that we will be approaching an alien vessel and all other ships are banned from the area. Nothing more.” 
 
    Michael nodded to James. 
 
    “The ship originated on a planet called Naltanarus. Their planet is close to the system in which the Enemy took down the Fleet Armada. It was the planet you were called back from Andromeda to defend.” 
 
    “That planet is about 100 light years away, right?” I didn’t know there was another space-capable planet in the area.” 
 
    “Until today, they had never left their system. Now they are a world capable of interstellar travel.” 
 
    “Is that what motivates our mission?” 
 
    “When a planet reaches the level of development where they can find us, they are eligible for first contact. If they should find us before we contact them, then the member’s Ambassador is required to make first contact. That is our mission. Your ship was chosen because it is the largest, and you are most experienced. It is extremely important for us to protect that ship and not allow anything to happen to it. Its safety has priority over ours.” 
 
    “Are we anticipating a problem?” 
 
    “No. But their technology is completely different than ours. And, as of this morning, they have not been able to confirm the existence of other life in the universe, which makes their reaction unpredictable.” 
 
    “How do you know this?” 
 
    “I spent several hours there this morning, watching the launch and chatting with their minister of science.” 
 
    Daniel knew the Professor was odd and frequently spoke in riddles, but he struggled to believe he was telling the truth in this instance. He looked to Michael for a reaction. 
 
    “I can take the form of the Xotiq, the intelligent species on Naltanarus, and speak their language. I am an energy being and can change form as I choose. You will see one shortly. Let me give you a preview.” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James reappeared in the form of a Xotiq. “They’re humanoid, not all that different than you. They breathe the same air, mostly eat the same food.” 
 
    There was another flash and James reverted to his human form. 
 
    “So, they know about us?” 
 
    “No. I took their form, spoke their language. They thought I was one of them.” 
 
    Else’s voice came over the intercom. Admiral, we are in visual range of the ship. 
 
    “Let’s go have a look.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel could not believe his eyes. “It’s a flying saucer?” 
 
    James chuckled. “David said the same thing this morning.” 
 
    Daniel almost asked if David was there also but caught himself. Every question he asked the Professor seemed to confuse more than clarify. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, XOTIQ SHIP 
 
    Something had gone very wrong. The transition out was smooth. The entire flight had gone as expected. But on the transition back, magnetic containment was lost. The ship’s chief engineer was close to the location of the leak. The energy roasted him. He fell over the leak spot, saving the rest of the crew. The deputy chief managed to repair it but was seriously burned while applying a patch. 
 
    Most of the control circuitry had been destroyed. Some of the scientific systems still functioned. But the air was going bad. 
 
    Captain and crew were stoic about their situation. They knew and accepted the risk. They would likely pay the price for it. But in the time they had left, they wanted to gather as much data as possible. There was still the possibility of returning some of it, even if they could not return themselves. 
 
    “Captain, you’re not going to believe this. Another ship is approaching.” 
 
    “Captain, we are being hailed. They are speaking our language.” 
 
    “Put it on the speaker.” 
 
    “Xotiq spaceship. Xotiq spaceship. Please respond if you are able.” 
 
    “Put me on.” The captain ordered, hope suddenly returning. 
 
    “This is Captain Lan'Tashi of the Naltanaran Space Command. With whom am I speaking.?” 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi, I am Daniel Porter. Admiral with the Earth Alliance Space Force and commander of the Cruiser Canada. Welcome to our space. May we be of assistance?” 
 
    “Admiral, we are very happy to see you. Our ship was damaged while returning to normal space time. One crew member was killed in the incident, another injured, and our life support systems are failing. We are in desperate need of rescue.” 
 
    “Captain, do you have the ability to repair your ship, or do you wish to abandon ship?” 
 
    “I am afraid that we do not have the ability to do either.” 
 
    “Captain, we have the means to evacuate your crew and various items that you might wish to salvage. I don’t know if we can help with repairs. I’m told that your technology is much different than ours. We are willing but may not be able.” 
 
    “Admiral, please give us a moment.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral, my crew is ready to be evacuated. May I ask how that will be done?” 
 
    “We have a device called a transporter. It can move people and things across great distances, through walls and the vacuum of space. Would you permit me to send someone onto your ship? He can help prepare you for transport to ours. You will be well accommodated here.” 
 
    “Please. Send your representative.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 XOTIQ SPACESHIP 
 
    Colonel Ed Foster appeared in the mess hall of the Xotiq ship. Even though they had been told that he would simply appear, his sudden appearance was shocking. 
 
    “My name is Ed Foster. Which of you is Captain Lan'Tashi?” 
 
    The captain stepped forward. “Ed Foster, it is a pleasure to meet you. You are the first person we have met that is not Xotiq. How did you know it would be safe for you to breathe our air?” 
 
    “Our people have some knowledge of your world. I was told it has a compatible atmosphere. But I can tell that the air aboard your ship is going bad rapidly. Let’s get you out of here. There is a first contact team on our ship anxious to meet you. Are there items you would like to bring with you?” 
 
    “Yes. These cases.”  
 
    Ed pulled a small box out of his pocket. He opened it, pulled out a transporter tag and placed it on his palm for the captain to see. 
 
    “I’m going to place one of these on each case. It will enable our transporter to identify the items it is to take. I would also like each of your crew members to put one on.” 
 
    Ed took the one in his hand and put it on his suit. 
 
    “I was told that one of your crew was killed. We can take him if you do not wish to leave his body here.” 
 
    “Come this way.” The captain led Ed to another room. The dead crewman was on the floor, covered by a blanket. 
 
    “May I see?” 
 
    The Captain knelt and reached for the blanket. “Be warned. This is not a nice sight.” He pulled the blanket back. “He was hit with a powerful magnetic field. His body absorbed most of the energy liquifying his insides.” 
 
    “May I place a tag on him?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “I will have him transported to the hospital on our ship. They have appropriate storage facilities to hold him until other arrangements are made.” 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    Ed took out his communicator. 
 
    “One deceased crew member ready for transport to the hospital.” 
 
    When the body disappeared, Ed and the captain returned to the mess hall. 
 
    “Ed Foster, what about food? Should we bring all that we have?” 
 
    “It would be better for you to discuss that with our first contact team. We will be able to return to your ship if necessary.” 
 
    Ed turned to address the crew as a whole. “It will be safer if we transport four at a time. You will not feel the transporter. You will be here one moment, there the next. Because you do not feel anything, it can be very disorienting. I strongly recommend that you close your eyes before transport. When the sounds around you change, you will know to open them. You will arrive in an area that we call a transporter pad. You will be asked to step off the transporter pad. The next group will come through shortly after you step off. 
 
    “Who will go first?” 
 
    The captain stepped forward, indicating three others to join him. 
 
    Ed stepped away and took out his communications device. 
 
    “Four ready to transport.” 
 
    Ed looked at the Captain. “Please close your eyes.” 
 
    They disappeared, and four others stepped forward. He indicated that they should close their eyes. “Next four ready for transport.” 
 
    Ed walked over next to the remaining crew member. 
 
    “Last two ready for transport.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Captain Lan'Tashi was told to shut his eyes, so he did. But he could not keep them closed. He was thankful that these people, whomever they were, had come to his rescue. But he didn’t know them, so could not really trust them yet. 
 
    He opened his eyes just as the transport initiated. The sight triggered a massive wave of vertigo that caused him to stumble. An older man, one of the aliens, grabbed him to arrest the fall. 
 
    “I understand, but there is no need for worry. This may help.” 
 
    The vertigo cleared, stress drained away, and he was filled with a feeling of safety. 
 
    “How did you do that?” 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi, let me introduce myself. I am James Ancient. I am a member of the Confederation Central Council and a professor at the Ascendance Institute on Earth. But to your question, I am an empath. I can sense your feelings and share some of my own with you.” 
 
    The captain was stunned by what was happening and the apparent power of the one who came to his aid. 
 
    “Please everyone, step off the transporter pad so the next four can come through.” 
 
    A moment later, four more of his crew members appeared and were escorted off the transporter pad. Another moment later, Colonel Foster and the remaining crew member appeared. 
 
    Daniel stepped forward. “Welcome aboard the EAS Canada. My name is Admiral Daniel Porter, the commander of this ship. There are many things we need to discuss. There is a lounge area a few steps down the hall. Food, drink and medical care are available there. We can also do introductions and discuss what to do next. You are safe here and will be well cared for. Please follow me.” 
 
    Daniel led the way, everyone else following behind. Ed Foster and another member of his team followed behind to make sure no one wandered away. 
 
    The captain walked with James. Michael came up next to them. 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi. My name is Michael. I am the Ambassador to Earth from the Intergalactic Confederation of Planets. I extend my personal welcome to our system.” 
 
    “Thank you.” As the captain looked at Michael, he finally realized what was bothering him. “How do you know my language?” 
 
    “The direct answer is that we have excellent translation devices that allow us to talk with many different kinds of people. Our translators know over 100,000 different languages. How they know that is another matter, one we will discuss later.” 
 
    “What will you do with us?” 
 
    “That is something we need to decide together. We have the means to return you to your home, which we will do. But there are a number of issues that we need to resolve first. 
 
    “Regarding the crew member that was injured, were you able to provide sufficient medical care? We can help with that also. Our medical capabilities are quite advanced.” 
 
    They entered the lounge area. Another team of marines had joined Ed as they were moving. They stayed at a discreet distance outside the lounge area. 
 
    The doctor was waiting for them in the lounge. 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi, please meet Amanda Ulrich. She is the Chief Medical Officer aboard the EAS Canada.” 
 
    “Captain, it is a pleasure to meet you. I see that one of your crew members has unhealed burns. I can treat those and provide more or less complete healing. I also ask your permission to scan one or more of your crew. This would be a painless, non-invasive scan that would allow us to detect contagions that might be harmful to our crew and would allow us to determine which of our foods are safe for you to eat.” 
 
    “Please start by scanning me.” 
 
    She took out a short tubular device and placed it in front of the captain. 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. You are healthy and in good physical condition, but tired. I’ve just updated the food replicators on this deck to only produce food and drink that is safe for both humans and Xotiq.” 
 
    “You learned that by just holding your device close to me?”  
 
    She smiled. “Yes. Our medical technology is quite good. May I approach your wounded crew member? I will only provide the care requested.” 
 
    “Yes. Please do.” 
 
    The Captain turned to Michael. “What next?” 
 
    Michael smiled. “We need to figure out how to get you home. We know where your planet is located, and we have ships that can get us there quickly. But this is a First Contact situation. For the safety of all our peoples, we need to figure out how to introduce ourselves in a way that does not cause chaos on your world.” 
 
    “Understood. You said we would be well accommodated.” 
 
    “You will be given quarters aboard this ship. You might remain here for one or two additional days. After that, I hope to bring you down to the surface.  
 
    “Throughout your stay, each of your crew members will be given a private room and allowed relative freedom of movement. At least initially, you will need to be accompanied when outside your quarters. The humans assigned to escort you will have translators. Most of the others you meet will not.  
 
    “I will be back tomorrow to start discussions. In all likelihood, Professor Ancient will accompany me. I hope that you find this to be an interesting and very pleasant experience.” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RUBINSTIEN RESIDENCE 
 
    When Joel got up this morning, there was a message from Henry waiting for him. 
 
    Joel, Space Force is towing the platforms into place. The first one should be locked in its orbit by 9:00 AM. The ship towing, the EAS Algiers, will be waiting on station until you have brought up the platform’s AI. The captain is Ahmed Benali. 
 
    Contact them when you are ready to transport up. They will transport you onto the platform, then coordinate to get you to the next one. 
 
    Set up for the last set of platforms has begun. The pour will begin sometime early this afternoon. These will be finished and placed around 11:00 AM tomorrow. Will give you an update tonight. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    “Ah, Joel, there you are. The Algiers called asking if you were ready to transport up. I told them you would be here shortly.” 
 
    “Thanks, Barbara. Do you have the birthing computer set up for me?” 
 
    “Is that really a question?” She pointed to the table. “There is also an information sheet on each AI. They will wake up knowing which platform they are on, so don’t screw it up.” 
 
    “I’ll do my best to exceed Vitya’s performance.” 
 
    “Don’t even mention that guy. I’m so pissed off with him. I removed his certification to work in the lab here, and now I’m being called in for a ‘conversation on correct termination procedures.’” 
 
    “If you need any witnesses, I volunteer.” 
 
    “You better get going, Captain Benali seemed to think you were due 45 minutes ago.” 
 
    “That would have been nice to know.” Gear in hand, Joel headed off to the transporter pad at the end of the hall. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TELEVISION STUDIOS 
 
    George’s co-host today was Jonathan Omeruo from KamemeTV in Kenya. Over time, Jonathan had become one of George’s favorites. Their guest today was Ambassador Va-Mu from Edukatar. 
 
    “George, thanks for the advance package on Ambassador Va-Mu. And thanks for including the picture. Interviewing aliens is easier if you have time to get used to their appearance first. 
 
    “Are we going to do this the way you did it with Ambassador Sa-Na?” 
 
    “Yes. The plan is to do almost exactly the same interview: about Edukatar, about the deal, then about him. You have the lead and can mix it up as you see fit. But we need to start in local mode with him appearing as human, then switching to end with him in his Edujin form.” 
 
    “I’m good with that.” 
 
    … 
 
    The intro music started, George and Jonathan walked in and the studio audience spontaneously broke into applause. The stage manager counted them in. 
 
    “Good Morning, World. This is Jonathan Omeruo from KamemeTV in Kenya, reporting from the Television Studios at the Confederation Embassy. I’m here with my good friend George Butler and we have a fantastic guest today that you’re all going to want to hear from. 
 
    “George, would you please introduce our guest?” 
 
    “Good morning, world. As we learned last week, the Earth Alliance is in discussion with several worlds about establishing new trade agreements. A couple of months back, you met the trade representatives from Karagon. Last Saturday, you met Ambassador Sa-Na from Celanar. Today, we have the privilege to speak with Ambassador Va-Mu from the planet Edukatar. Mr. Ambassador, would you please come join us.” 
 
    A husky man appeared at the entrance to the stage and came striding out. He approached and put out his hand to shake. “George, Jonathan, it is a pleasure to meet you in person.” 
 
    “You as well, sir.” George shook the Ambassador’s hand. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, welcome.” Jonathan shook the Ambassador’s hand, then indicated where he should sit. 
 
    “I’d like to start by asking you where Edukatar is located.” 
 
    “Jonathan, thank you for having me on the show today. I have been watching the development of your world from afar for some time and am extremely happy to finally be opening relations with your people. 
 
    “Our planet is in closer to the galactic core, about 235 light years from here.” 
 
    A holographic projection popped up showing the galaxy. It zoomed in to only show sector 3F. 
 
    “I’m told you’ve seen this image of the sector before, and the locations of Earth, Karagon and Celanar. Earth is near the middle. Celanar is further out. Karagon is closer in toward the core. We are about a quarter of the way toward Karagon.” 
 
    A new brighter light appeared on the screen indicating the location of Edukatar. 
 
    “Our world is a lot different than yours. Edukatar is classified as a marginally habitable ice world. It is about 90% the diameter of Earth. Our gravity is only 80% of Earth’s, enough lower that it will be quite a strain on me when I eventually get to come visit you in person. Like Earth, Edukatar’s surface is about two-thirds water. But, unlike Earth, most of that water is frozen. We have a relatively narrow green zone around the equator. It’s narrower than the tropical zone you have on Earth, running 14 degrees south to 14 degrees north.” 
 
    “Are all your people concentrated in that green zone?” 
 
    “There are certainly a lot of them there. But we are spread all over the planet.” 
 
    “How do the ones in the ice areas survive?” 
 
    “Some live on the surface in insulated buildings, but most live underground. The crust on our planet is comparatively thin, so you don’t need to go down that far to be quite warm.” 
 
    “And the food, does that all come from the green zone?” 
 
    “These days most of our food comes from replicators. But traditional foods are still popular, and the plants and proteins those foods are made with all grow well in our huge underground farms. 
 
    “In addition, our world has rich sea food. Many fish prosper under the great ice sheets and, as you might expect, we have learned how to harvest them from there.” 
 
    Light outro music started playing. 
 
    “We’ll be back in just a moment.” 
 
    … 
 
     “Welcome back, world! I am Jonathan Omeruo at the Embassy Television Studios with my friend George Butler, and special guest Ambassador Va-Mu from the planet Edukatar. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, I’ve heard that you are working with the Earth Alliance to form a trade deal with Earth. What can you tell us about that?” 
 
    “It is true. The people of Edukatar would like to enter into a trade arrangement with Earth. There are things you have that we truly need, and there are things we have that would be of great benefit to you. 
 
    “One of the reasons I wanted to appear on your show was the trade deal. I’ve been around long enough to know that new Confederation members enjoy a period of tremendous prosperity in the years following admittance. They view the Confederation, or at least the idea of the Confederation, very favorably. 
 
    “Yet at the same time, they worry about too much interaction with their fellow members because they are alien. I hope that my appearance on your show will be viewed by many and help dispel that worry. It is true that our bodies are different than yours. But the things we want in life—things like family, peace, prosperity—are the same. We are more like one another than we are different. And when we work together, we are stronger and more prosperous than we are when we work apart.” 
 
    The Ambassador’s words drew a strong response from the studio audience. 
 
    George spoke up. “That’s the principal reason I started doing this show six years ago, to let people know that the Confederation is not something to be feared, but something to be embraced.” George looked to Jonathan to ask the next question. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, you mentioned things you needed. Can you tell us anything about what you’re looking for in a trade arrangement with Earth?” 
 
    “There’s a long list of course. If I limit my response to three things, it would have to be shields, protection and transportation. Edukatar has been fortunate that the Enemy has not attempted to take our planet, the Fleet has always stopped them before they got anywhere near us. But the Enemy has become increasingly dangerous and the Fleet has struggled to contain them. The Fleet is gone now, but even if they weren’t, we would still want your shields. Who wouldn’t want that extra layer of protection? 
 
    “But as I said, the Fleet is gone. So we have no protection from any source, not from the Enemy, not from asteroid bombardment or other cosmic phenomenon, not from pirates or other non-aligned marauders. Your Space Force is by far the most powerful military presence in our sector, so we would like its protection. 
 
    “Edukatar also lacks space travel capabilities of our own. We have many specialized, high-value export products that now have no way to market. It hurts our economy. It hurts the economies of our Confederation partners not to have access to those products. Your Space Force ships are the fastest, safest ships in the three galaxies. We would love to have your ships carry our products to market. 
 
    “Those are my top three but, as you know, you have much more to offer and we would love to have access to it.” 
 
    “Let me flip that question to the other side. What does Edukatar have that the people of Earth would want?” 
 
    The Ambassador smiled at the question. “You know Earth much better than I do. I don’t actually know which of the things we have to offer would appeal most. But as I said earlier, we have specialized, high-value products that are sought out across the three galaxies. One of those is high-end, specialized nanobots. We have everything from medical nanobots that can fabricate replacement organs in situ, to environmental clean-up nanobots that can clean up toxic or radioactive waste. I believe some of those were used here on Earth during your Revelation process. 
 
    “You have the most spectacular space craft manufacturing ability ever conceived, but I suspect that our nanobots could be used to improve it somehow. 
 
    “But even if none of our products are useful to you, we have manufacturing capacity and we have Transluminide. We are a wealthy world, as Earth is, and would simply buy your products and services if they were available to us.” 
 
    Once again, the outro music started playing lightly in the background. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, thank you for your insights into the potential trade deal. We need to take a short break, then we’ll be right back. 
 
    … 
 
    “Ambassador Va-Mu, as we discussed before the show, we have been projecting you in human format. Would you be comfortable with us changing the settings, so that you are shown in your Edujin form?” 
 
    “I would be comfortable with that. But, has this been approved by your Ambassador?” 
 
    “Yes, it has. Earth has been exposed to half a dozen different organic species so far and taken it well. Michael thinks you will be welcomed as warmly as our Lorexian guests have been.” 
 
    “You’ve had a Lorexian guest on the show?” 
 
    “Yes, we have had a couple. We even had one live on stage as part of our New Year’s Celebration.” 
 
    “Then I am very good with appearing in my Edujin avatar.”  
 
    … 
 
    “Welcome back, world. George? Would you like to start this segment?” 
 
    “Thank you, Jonathan.” George turned to look straight at the center camera. “We are here today with Ambassador Va-Mu from the planet Edukatar. I asked him to step off the stage for a moment. He will rejoin us shortly. 
 
    “As our regular viewers know, most of our guests from other planets join us by presence projector. They are actually in a studio on another planet that can project our guest’s image and audio directly on our stage. We have the choice at our end whether to show that image in its original form, or whether to modify the image into a human form. 
 
    “So far today, we have projected a human interpretation of the Ambassador. We are about to change that to show him in his Edujin form. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, would you please come join us?” 
 
    The Ambassador came out to an intake of breath. He stood 6’ 2” tall, taller than George, about the same as Jonathan. He was humanoid with hands, feet, fingers, and toes different from their human counterparts, but not that different. But he was covered in thick brown fur. His hips and thighs were much larger and more powerful than a human’s. The fur thinned around his face, which was rounder and featured a flat nose. His eyes were dark, ears more angular. 
 
    George walked up to shake the Ambassador’s hand again. “Ambassador Va-Mu, welcome back. It is a pleasure to meet you in the form of your adopted people.” 
 
    “Thank you, George.” 
 
    They took seats. A wider chair had been brought out during the break. 
 
    George nodded to Jonathan to start. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador, what can you tell us about the Edujin? I’m thinking of things like your families, housing, way of life.” 
 
    “I suspect our families are similar to yours. A male and female mate to produce offspring. They live together in a home. When the children come of age, they take their own homes and the cycle repeats. 
 
    “Our gestation period is relatively long…” There was a slight pause in the audio as the translators converted the time units. “…about 14 months. So, our family sizes tend to be lower than other Confederation members. It is rare to see families with more than 3 children. And our population has grown very slowly. Our scientists say this is an evolutionary consequence of the hostile environment on our planet. I never quite understood their reasoning on this point. But I suppose it is their job to make such statements, not mine. 
 
    “Our homes are a lot different. We mostly live underground. Our heavy fur allows us to visit the surface, but for the most part the nights are just too cold. 
 
    “It’s different in the green zone along the equator. There is a population that lives above the surface there. 
 
    “We have two sports that dominate the others. One involves putting a ball in a basket some 15 feet above the ground. The other involves sliding along the great ice sheets in the north. I have short video clips of both of these, if you would be interested.” 
 
    The studio audience immediately broke into applause. They clearly wanted to see the clips. 
 
    “The first is of the ball and basket game.” 
 
    A holographic projection started on the stage. It was presented in an inset in the broadcast screen. Two teams of five stood on a court that looked a lot like a basketball court but was encased in a transparent material. The basket was similar to a basketball hoop but wider, held out from a wall at a height about twice the tallest player. The ball was small, about the size of a softball. Each player had a racket they could use to hit the ball. 
 
    The clip started playing. A single player stood alone at one end of the court with the ball in his hand. He was wearing red shorts. Four other players in red shorts stood at the center line. Five players in blue shorts moved around the other end of the court.  
 
    Something that sounded like a whistle blew and the player with the ball tossed it in the air and hit it with his racket. The ball angled toward the wall on the players right. It hit the wall just past the center line and everyone started moving. A player in blue shorts jumped about 15 feet into the air and hit the ball toward another blue player, who had run towards the basket where the ball originated. But the ball never got there. The player that initially hit the ball had run forward and leaped into the air. He caught the ball with his bare hand, pivoted and hit the ball with his racket. Just before hitting the ball, another player in red shorts leaped high in the air near their goal. The ball flew towards a spot six feet above the goal. The player caught it with his bare hand and dropped it in for the score. 
 
    The projection stopped with players frozen in place. Almost all of them were in the air. 
 
    The studio audience broke into applause. 
 
    Jonathan stood to applaud. “Wow. That was incredible. I’ve never seen such a fast-moving, airborne game. I think videos like that should be included in the trade deal!” 
 
    The studio audience applauded even louder. 
 
    The outro music started playing softly. 
 
    “Looks like we are out of time. Special thanks to our guest, Ambassador Va-Mu from Edukatar. Ambassador, we are out of time to show your other clip. Any chance you could give us a copy for people to view on the Confederation web site?” 
 
    “I would be happy to Jonathan. Thanks to both of you for including me today. Thank you, Earth, for your consideration as a trading partner.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel had gathered Captain Lan’Tashi and the crew of his ship in a conference room on the level where they’d been lodged. Michael entered to see a relatively relaxed group. He sensed that everyone was getting along well. 
 
    “Captain, it is good to see you again. Are you settling in OK?” 
 
    “Yes. We are impressed by your ship and everything in it. And the Earth, it is beautiful. Similar to our planet, yet different. As if cut from the same fabric.” Then more seriously. “Assistant Chief Tan'Shima was completely healed by your doctor. He offers his thanks.” 
 
    “I’m glad she could help.” Michael turned, indicating the larger group. “I’d like to start today by giving you an overview of the Confederation, who we are and how we operate.” 
 
    The captain replied, “I would love to know more, as would the crew. Your people have been very polite and accommodating, but not very open about who you are.” 
 
    … 
 
     Captain Lan’Tashi was the first to speak when Michael finished his overview. “Let me summarize. Your home world was destroyed over 2 million years ago, and your people made great effort to save others who were facing a similar fate. Over time a million worlds joined your Confederation for the purpose of mutual protection and technology exchange.  
 
    “When making First Contact, you usually present yourself in avatars formed as members of the target species. You, personally, are Lorexian, but present yourself as human.  
 
    “Earth joined six years ago and has already helped advance Confederation technology. You would like to invite Naltanarus to join. 
 
    “My question is why. Why would you want us to join? We have little to offer. And why would we want to join? Why would we give up our independence?” 
 
    “I could talk all day about the benefits to both parties, but I doubt it would be as effective as having you spend a few days on Earth. It might not answer your questions, but I think it will help you become more comfortable with the idea.” 
 
    “But why me? I’m just an explorer. A ranking member of our military, but not that highly ranked.” 
 
    “Because you’re the one they entrusted with the boldest mission your people have ever embarked on. But let me flip the question around. What would happen if we just flew back to Naltanarus today and transported you down to your homes?” 
 
    “They would want to know what happened to us. But they would not believe it, and we would all come under suspicion.” 
 
    “And what would happen if this ship simply flashed into existence above your planet?” 
 
    “There would be panic among the people. And the government would probably try to shoot you down.” 
 
    “And when that did not work.” 
 
    “They would be afraid of you and would be slow learning to trust you.” 
 
    Michael smiled. “Seems to me that they chose a wise person to lead this mission. Interested in working with me to come up with a better solution?” 
 
    “Yes, Michael.” 
 
    “I’ll ask Admiral Porter to give you a tour of his ship. It is massive, an incredibly powerful defensive weapon, unmatched in the sector. I look forward to the day when its appearance in your sky is a symbol of hope and security.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael arrived home around dinner time. He’d spent most of the day aboard the Canada and was ready for some quiet time with Sarah. 
 
    “So, a non-member species took their first interstellar trip today and they came to Earth?” 
 
    “Indeed, they did.” 
 
    “Why Earth? Surely there must be a reason.” 
 
    “The Sun is by far the most dynamic star in their sky. At their distance and positioning, various focusing effects make it swell and sparkle about a third of the year. James says that it permeates their folklore and has a role in some of their religions, kind of like the star that guided the magi at Christmas.” 
 
    “Are we going to get to meet them?” 
 
    “With President Lee’s approval, I plan to bring them down to the Embassy for a while. If you’re up for it, you can meet them. Who knows, maybe they’ll do a segment on George’s show next week.” 
 
    “Speaking of George’s show, I watched the episode with Ambassador Va-Mu today. You said he was a curmudgeon, but he came off exceptionally smooth and friendly on George’s show.” 
 
    “That’s the way I’ve always thought of him, and I’m not the only one. But his behavior of recent has been incredibly supportive. Friendly even. He must really want this deal.” 
 
    Sarah looked at Michael a little more speculatively. “Or maybe he thinks he’s finally found a peer.” 
 
    Michael gaped at the comment. And Sarah started laughing. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    It had been an incredibly productive day. Joel had installed the AIs on platforms 9 - 12. Each came up without a hitch. Each made its first pull, and each cast its first ingot. With 11 of the 12 platforms up, they were now producing enough material to keep both manufacturing lines at full capacity. 
 
    “Henry,” Joel shouted out, initiating the connection. 
 
    “Hey, Joel. Good work today. I’ve tested the first two ingot pours on all four platforms. All pass with flying colors. The next four platforms will be complete in another six hours. Space Force will have the first one in place by 8:00, earlier than initially planned. 
 
    “You’re going to do this again tomorrow?” 
 
    “Hope so, then platform 4 on Monday. Are you going to be able to start the first freighter tomorrow?” 
 
    “That’s the plan. It will be the first one, so no guarantees. But I think we will get the hull built.” 
 
    “Good news.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PARIS 
 
    [Sunday, 6.15.2030] EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    Today was the red matter generator build. Yesterday, they’d installed a stealth shield around the lab. It was set back from the walls and ceiling by about a foot. It also extended down below the lab’s elevated floor to the actual floor about 1 foot below. The shield was keyed to allow both Eugene and Kelly in or out. No one else could enter or leave while the shield was active. 
 
    Anyone breaking in would be able to get into the room but would then hit the shield. As a stealth shield, it was opaque. Someone looking in from the outside would just see a glimmering black wall. The shield allowed visible light to pass in, but it completely diffused any light or other radiation going out. 
 
    Eugene was much more comfortable working in here now. No one could see what he was doing. No one could spy on them. 
 
    The scaled-up red matter generator was as much an illusion as the red matter itself. He would be using the same replicator as before, the same controls as before. The only difference was that they would be putting it in a bigger box and the replicator pattern would make a bigger ball of red matter. 
 
    Once in the lab, Eugene launched the program that would build the box and its contents, including the associated mounts and wiring. Their industrial replicator and construction bots would do all the actual work. Eugene would simply inspect and test at the end of each step. It was going to be an easy day. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Vitya was possibly Ju-Ne’s most difficult avatar to maintain. Ones like Guy Dimont were hard because they were so infrequently used. An unoccupied avatar could only be sustained for so long in a restoration chamber, so Ju-Ne needed to schedule time in it now and again, even if there was no useful work for it to do. 
 
    But Vitya was a part-time employee at the Embassy. He needed to show up and do work four days a week, which was sometimes hard to do. 
 
    Vitya was also possibly the most important avatar in his collection. He could do almost no useful work in Vitya, but Vitya had access. It allowed Ju-Ne to keep track of what was going on at the Embassy. 
 
    This week, his Vitya persona heard a rumor that the wedding was being postponed. He heard another that it was going to happen in Riverside Park. He heard a third that the wedding would be inside a large building, possibly a shuttle hanger converted to a cathedral, and the reception would be in the park. 
 
    All of these seemed right to him. It would be both physically and politically impossible for the wedding to be anywhere else, so it had to be going down here. But none of the Embassy auditoriums had the capacity for all the guests that would come, so the transportation center or Riverside Park had to be where it would take place. 
 
    As he was leaving on Friday, Vitya told his boss Rick that he would like to pick up some extra hours, then asked if there was any outdoor work that he could help with, in the Park or over at the transportation center. Anyplace that would give him a little more time outside. 
 
    Rick told him they were planning a security upgrade in the pavilions at the north end of the park. Also, a communications upgrade. His training wasn’t directly relevant to either of these, but they always needed extra hands for large, rushed projects like this. He’d be happy to put Vitya in for 10 hours a week, or for shift substitution. 
 
    Today was going to be his first day on the job. They needed 10 people for a pavilion upgrade today and he got one of the slots.  
 
    As he approached the job site, a supervisor at the check-in location stopped him. “Sorry, this pavilion is closed for some work today.” 
 
    “Hi, I’m Vitya Tarasovich. I’ve been assigned to the project today.”  
 
    Vitya handed the man his ID and reporting instructions. 
 
    “Vitya, pleased to meet you. Thanks for taking the extra shift. I have you on the team dealing with the trunk line and wireless emitter upgrades.” 
 
    He pointed to a group gathered outside the northeast entrance to the pavilion. “Kyle Watson is the supervisor for your team. They are gathering over there.” 
 
    “Thanks.” Vitya turned and jogged over to his team for the day. 
 
    Perfect. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, PRESIDENT LEE’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Michael, thank you for arranging this call.” 
 
    “President Lee, my apologies for disturbing your Sunday, but there are quite a few things we need to get caught up on.” 
 
    “I heard that an unidentified ship wandered into the system.” 
 
    “That’s one of the issues I’d like to talk with you about and one I should probably address at tomorrow’s Advisory Council meeting.” 
 
    “What’s happened?” 
 
    “A non-member planet, called Naltanarus, just made its first interstellar flight. They arrived out near Neptune’s orbit. The ship was damaged coming out of jump. We found them adrift and rescued their crew. I want to bring their crew down to the surface for a few days so they can learn more about us.” 
 
    “Why not just take them home?” 
 
    “This is a First Contact situation, a difficult one at that. They do not know of other intelligent life in the universe. Given the circumstances, Confederation Protocol requires me to introduce ourselves to their people.  
 
    “That’s why I need to address the Advisory Council tomorrow. There are actions we are required to take to prevent cultural contamination when we return them, which we must do.” 
 
    “Never thought I would see the day…” President Lee mused. 
 
    “If I can move on to the next item of business. The Confederation’s Central Council heard a proposal earlier this week from one of our allied planets. They propose to form a defensive alliance among the members in this sector. Several interesting things came out of the meeting. First is that the Central Council is encouraging us to do this. They can’t project sufficient power into the sector to secure it, so are encouraging us to secure it ourselves.  
 
    “The second is that another Ambassador in the sector has been asked to lead the process. He will be advised by a Central Council member from Triangulum who was part of forming a similar alliance in his home sector.  
 
    “Lastly, they are allowing us to use a mixed alliance model, where every member is entitled to join at the time of their choosing. But only the members ready to join now will participate in the initial formation process.”  
 
    “Interesting. They are allowing an alliance of the willing, but they are forbidding that alliance from denying admission to other members in the sector going forward. 
 
    “Won’t that cause a free rider problem? You know, members joining sometime in the future getting all the benefits without having paid in to build it up.” 
 
    “Possibly. But at the end of the day, the founding members will be paying the vast majority of the cost anyway. So, this just allows us to set up sooner, and with less hassle from the free riders.” 
 
    “We’ll want to position that differently with the House of Ambassadors, but I get your point.” 
 
    A pause then President Lee continued. “Timing on this is going to be a problem isn’t it? Space Force probably has the capacity to support the early members. But our mining and spaceship manufacturing has ground to a halt. 
 
    “Do you have a proposal for us?” 
 
    “I do, but it also addresses an additional item that we should discuss first.” 
 
    “Which is?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “The mission to destroy the Enemy home world. The scaled weapon was tested earlier in the week. I’m told the tests were devastatingly successful. The full-scale weapon will be ready mid-week, except for the part being built on Karagon. 
 
    “That part is on order and is probably ready for pick up. But the next pick up is two weeks from tomorrow. The only way to get it earlier would be to send a smaller ship.” 
 
    “So, we have to wait two weeks.” President Lee was frustrated that shipping had turned into such a big problem. 
 
    “Or build a freighter.” 
 
    “How? I thought the lines were down.” 
 
    “They came back up over the weekend. The cruiser that had been awaiting material will start up soon if it hasn’t started already. And we now have 11 mines functioning. Four more should be brought online tomorrow. 
 
    “The first freighter is starting today. If the hull build is successful, we will start the next one tomorrow. We have enough experienced crews that we could do a shake down run out to Karagon to pick up the last part. 
 
    “Bottom line, if we pushed the button today, we could take down the Enemy home world a week from tomorrow.” 
 
    “Do it.” President Lee said. “I’ll get it approved at the Advisory Council meeting tomorrow. This will be a no-brainer. You can start the build tonight if you’re able.” 
 
    “Will do. But back to the Alliance question, we’re just about to start planning for the third manufacturing line, so I am no longer worried about having the capacity to support the Alliance.” 
 
    “That’s excellent news.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Michael transported up to the Canada, on deck 6, transport pad C, starboard hull. He was met there by the ship’s third officer, Jim Ryan. 
 
    “Michael, welcome aboard.” 
 
    “Mr. Ryan, good to see you.” 
 
    Jim had been part of the failed FBI raid on Michael’s ranch the day of the Revelation.” 
 
    “This isn’t the same pad I used last time, is it?” 
 
    “No. We decided to move the Xotiq crew over to the starboard hull. Deck 6 was not in use, so we decided to give it to them so they could have more freedom of movement and see less of the Space Marines.” 
 
    “Sounds like a good plan. How are they doing?” 
 
    “Great. They’re a little more formal about things than we are, but easy to get along with. And moving them here has made a huge difference. But today… It’s like a party.” 
 
    “How so?” 
 
    “Ah, probably shouldn’t have said that. He asked me not to tell you that he was here.” 
 
    They reached the deck’s lounge area and Jim indicated that Michael should enter. There he found James holding court. David sitting next to him. 
 
    “Michael, please join us. We’ve had an entertaining afternoon.” 
 
    “Care to enlighten me?” 
 
    “May I?” It was Captain Lan’Tashi. 
 
    Michael turned to look at the Captain. There was something odd about his speech. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. James has made translators for us. We have been helping him refine them. Some of the translations were not particularly accurate.” 
 
    “James?” 
 
    “It’s OK, Michael. The Xotiq are much more technologically advanced than humanity was 6 years ago. They have a similar device they’re working on, so no chance of cultural contamination. Besides, If I’m wrong about that, I can just wipe their minds.” 
 
    Michael gaped. He had never heard James say anything so inappropriate. He was about to reprimand James, but saw that the crew were laughing, almost uncontrollably. 
 
    “Sorry Michael. Inside joke. One of the corrections they found involved the expression ‘wiping mind’ in place of a different sanitary activity.” 
 
    The Xotiq team redoubled their laughing. 
 
    “Well, I’m glad that you’ve had a productive morning.” 
 
    “It’s morning!” James exclaimed, throwing up his hands in mock surprise. 
 
    More laughing. 
 
    Michael couldn’t help chuckling along. 
 
    Be patient. I’ll explain later. 
 
    Michael could see the sternness hiding behind James eyes. Something must have gone wrong here. 
 
    “May I ask where we are in the cultural exchange and return planning process?” 
 
    “Lots of cultural sharing, but perhaps it would be better for the Captain or some of his crew to lead the conversation for a while.” James indicated a chair where Michael should sit. 
 
    The Captain nodded to his science officer, a very fit, middle-aged woman. 
 
    “Ambassador Michael, sir. I am Chief Science Officer Lo’Kuda. Your ship puzzles me. It is mammoth and filled with wonder, things like transporters and replicators. Yet other things are so primitive. No smart materials, no smart clothing. 
 
    “The ships interior is outfitted like a luxury hotel. Your three ‘mission decks’ have beautiful laboratories. But the ship is not full of scientists, it’s full of soldiers. The laboratories have little equipment, but the ship is loaded with weapons. 
 
    “What is the purpose of this ship? Are you a people of hope and good will, or are you a people of conquest and destruction? The words we have heard so far indicate the former. But this…” She spread her hands indicating the surroundings. “…seems to support the latter.” 
 
    “Thank you for the honesty of that question. Your observations are mostly correct. This ship is luxurious. It’s the long-term home of many people and we wanted to make their home as nice as we are able. Our primary mission is exploration. The laboratories were designed to support a wide variety of scientific inquiries. Equipment is added according to the nature of the inquiry. 
 
    “The Confederation’s primary purpose is to build and support peaceful coexistence among peoples. It is the most successful organization in history in that regard. 
 
    “But there is evil in our universe. For most planets and peoples, the Confederation is the last line of defense. Earlier this year, your planet, Naltanarus, was targeted by an evil species we refer to simply as the Enemy. They descend upon a world, completely consume it, then move along. The Confederation intervened to save your world. 
 
    “This ship is new, added to our fleet after that battle. But most of the crew on this ship participated in the battle, participated in saving your world. 
 
    “The Confederation has been aware of Naltanarus for a long time. You’re on a watch list of planets to save if the Enemy encroached. You’re on the list of planets being considered for First Contact. No formal schedule had been set, although it probably would have happened in about 200 years. But your entrance into a Confederation system necessitates that we make contact now. 
 
    “You will be offered membership, which you can accept or reject. I believe that we would both be better off working together than separately. But we never force anyone’s hand.” 
 
    The Captain nodded to another member of his crew, a very sober looking older man. 
 
    “Ambassador Michael, I am Dr. Mos’Hara, chief medical officer of the Star Seeker. That was the name of our ship. Most of us submitted to a scan by your doctor. On our world, if a patient submits to a medical exam, it is required that the doctor provide details of what they were looking for and what they found. We have been given no such feedback. 
 
    “I request a meeting with your doctor to get that information. And, if you have volunteers that would agree to an examination, I would like to examine them, so I can learn more about humans. You look so similar, that I would expect the underlying physiology and biology to be similar. If anyone were to submit themselves for an examination, I would of course explain what I was doing and share anything I learned.” 
 
    “I will speak with the Admiral and ask that he honor your traditions. But allow me to point out one thing. Working through issues like this is part of making a First Contact work. I doubt either side would purposefully make offense. But our traditions are different from each other. Therefore, we will each do things that offend the other unless we agree to suspend judgement long enough to work through the differences. 
 
    “Regarding the scans, they were for the stated purpose, to spot contagions and determine which foods are safe for you. I hope you have been enjoying the food.” 
 
    “Yes. Much better than the rations we had packed for ourselves.” 
 
    The Captain nodded to another of his crew members, a younger man. 
 
    “Ambassador Michael. I am Deputy Chief Engineer Tan’Shima. I would like to learn more about your ship’s power and propulsion systems. Is there any chance that I could have a tour and technology overview? I’m not trying to steal your secrets or your technology. But it’s my opinion that the question of membership will largely be driven by technology. I am well enough known that I could offer compelling testimony to the gap between us, if I knew what that gap was.” 
 
    Yes. He is trustworthy. The message came from James. 
 
    “I’d be happy to speak with the Admiral on this matter as well.” 
 
    The Captain spoke up. “Is there word yet on when we may be taken to the surface? Or taken home?” 
 
    “Our council will meet tomorrow. The question of going to the surface will be considered. I expect it to be approved, there are a lot of people that would like to meet you. 
 
    “About returning home… When were you expected to return?” 
 
    “There was no fixed date. We were outfitted for a 30-day journey but were targeting return in 5 days.” 
 
    Michael locked eyes with the Captain. “At this point in our conversation, I think you understand the risks of a premature return. Work with your crew to prepare a proposal on how we mitigate those risks. You are welcome to draw on any of the resources here. I’ll connect with you tomorrow, and every day until you return. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S SHUTTLE 
 
    Sarah and Alexi were the last to transport up. Earlier in the day, Pam and Bahati had transported up. Bahati was the official host of the wedding dress party, but Pam had made most of the arrangements and would be managing the details. Next were Ta’Sha and Noelani. A half hour later, the four of them welcomed Sarah’s parents, Tim and Susan.  
 
    The last two to transport up were Monica Hayes and Kimberly Watson, whom Sarah had worked with on Good Morning America. Monica was the show’s producer during the years Sarah was there. Kimberly was a long-time friend, whom Sarah had been able to attract to the show. On the day Michael was there, she had led the segment with Chef Marco. 
 
    Once everyone was aboard and seated, Bahati stood to address the group. “Ladies, and Mr. Wright, thank you for joining us in the search for the perfect wedding dress. I’ve been told at least one surprise has already been arranged.  
 
    “We will reach orbit over Paris in about 30 minutes. Once there we will be transporting down to the Presidential Suite at the Four Seasons hotel. French customs will be there to admit you into the country. Someone from the hotel will be there to check us in.  
 
    “We are taking half of the top floor of the hotel. It has been blocked off with guards and a barrier, so please stay in our area of the hotel while we are there.  
 
    “Dinner will be catered in tonight. We will be eating in the suite’s dining room. A breakfast buffet will be set up there in the morning. Tomorrow morning at 9:00 AM, we will transport over to the Rachelle Pépin design studio. Then, assuming we are done by 3:00, we will be taken on a private tour of the Louvre, including a private viewing of the Mona Lisa. 
 
    “If you have questions, you will probably get a more accurate answer if you ask Pam, who has arranged all this. Thank you, Pam.”  
 
    Sarah’s father came over to talk with Sarah. “Thank you for including me in this little adventure.” 
 
    She smiled at her father. “I thought it would be nice for you to come, to see how pretty they can make your little girl.” 
 
    “Michael couldn’t make the time?” 
 
    Sarah laughed at the silly question. “He wasn’t invited. The only male allowed in is the father. And he may spend most of his time sequestered in the viewing room.” 
 
    Looking at her father, Sarah realized that he was worried about how much this was going to cost. She took his hand. “Dad, what you are going to see today is reserved for the rich and famous. Most of it cannot be bought. It has no price. It is only given by invitation. 
 
    “I don’t like to think about things in this way, but my marriage to Michael is like a royal wedding. It will be a public event, attended by thousands of people, watched by millions across the world and billions on other worlds.” 
 
    Sarah saw sadness in her father’s eyes. 
 
    “It’s OK, dad. Michael is worth it. So, relax and enjoy. These two days will be easy, and maybe a little fun.” 
 
    “Thank you, sweetheart.” 
 
    Sarah’s mother walked over. “So serious. Lighten up, Tim. This should be fun!” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FOUR SEASONS HOTEL GEORGE V, PARIS  
 
    Alexi was the first to transport down. Four of Michael’s personal bodyguard team had already swept the premises. Their team leader was chatting with the hotel and government people. 
 
    “We’re clear?” Alexi asked the team leader while passing her passport to the customs officer. 
 
    “Clear.” 
 
    “If you could look at me for a moment ma’am?” 
 
    Alexi turned so the customs officer could compare her face with the passport. 
 
    He stamped her passport and returned it to her. 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    Alexi took her passport, nodding to the officer, then turned back to the head of the security team. 
 
    “Introduce me to your team. Then, I’m going to take my own pass before calling the others down.” 
 
    As Alexi was introduced to each person, she compared their face and biometrics to the data she’d been given. Alexi had upgraded herself with a retinal scanner added to her visual cortex. Satisfied that the team was who they said they were, she walked the premises discreetly releasing surveillance nanobots. These were custom bots that communicated directly with her mind. 
 
    The head of the security team saw Alexi’s odd movements and asked, “May I ask what you’re doing?” 
 
    “No. It’s secret. A protocol I developed myself and do not share.” 
 
    He continued walking the suite with her, watching, but not understanding, her movements. 
 
    “You’re not going to look under the bed?” 
 
    “Extra-sensory perception. I know exactly what’s under that bed. You planted a bug, even though I asked you not to. Check your instruments. It’s dead now.” 
 
    He was shocked. “How?” 
 
    “We’ve already had this conversation. Why don’t you and your team go take up the hallway duty.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” He signaled his men and they left the room. 
 
    Alexi called the shuttle and requested that the remainder of the party transport down. Each was approved by the customs officer, then assigned a room by the hotel staff.  
 
    While bellmen were assisting others to their rooms, Alexi and Sarah took a quick tour of the suite’s kitchen. It came equipped with a dumbwaiter that the catering team would be using to shuttle food and drink up from the kitchens below. For security purposes, it could be locked from within the room. Alexi would be adding a seal of her own when the party was over tonight. 
 
    There was a knock on the door. 
 
    Alexi turned to Sarah. “Remember, I always answer the door.” 
 
    Seeing the look on Sarah’s face, Alexi added, “No one that comes to a room like this expects to be received by the principal, they expect to be greeted by staff. Let’s just give them what they expect.” 
 
    Sarah smiled. “Thanks for the reminder.” 
 
    “OK. Out of sight.” Alexi made scooting motions with her hands, indicating that Sarah needed to step further out of view from the door. 
 
    There was a second knock. 
 
    Alexi opened the door to a crowd. At the front was a waiter with a cart. 
 
    “ID.” Alexi demanded. 
 
    While the flustered man fumbled to find the ID hanging on the lanyard around his neck, Alexi let Tim and Susan in, then Monica and Kimberly. 
 
    He finally grasped the ID and held it out for Alexi to see. She looked at the ID, then locked eyes with the increasingly unsettled waiter. 
 
    “Where in the suite are you headed?” 
 
    “Kitchen to store the cold food, then to the bar to set it up.” 
 
    Alexi pointed to the kitchen. “Come in.” 
 
    “Thank you, ma’am.” 
 
    Bahati had walked up as the waiter entered. 
 
    “That was a little tough.” 
 
    “I know him now.” 
 
    Bahati chuckled. “Glad I was a well-known entity before you arrived. Not sure I’d want to go through that inspection.” 
 
    “Everyone is inspected every day. But once I know them, it can be done more discreetly.” 
 
    Bahati chuckled some more as she walked in to greet Sarah. 
 
    Alexi heard Ta’Sha and Noelani coming so turned in their direction. She noted the guard at the end of the hallway sitting in a chair by the stairwell door. Turning she saw another sitting in a chair by the temporary barrier set up to separate this wing from the elevators and the other wing. Checking her internal monitor, she saw the other two in the guard suite. One was watching TV, the other was taking a nap on the bed. All accounted for. 
 
    … 
 
    Sarah was on her second glass of champagne, when her mother came over to talk with her. 
 
    “Why is Alexi staying in the suite with you and answering the door?” 
 
    “Mom…” Sarah wasn’t sure how to reply. Alexi told her not to tell anyone that she was more than a member of the wedding party. 
 
    “What’s the matter dear?” Susan pried. 
 
    Sarah motioned for her mom to follow her to a quieter spot. 
 
    “You can’t tell anyone. Alexi is my bodyguard.” 
 
    “What?” Unfortunately, Susan’s exclamation was loud enough that a couple people turned to look. 
 
    Sarah rolled her eyes, a bit unhappy with her mother. “Mom, it’s a secret.” 
 
    “But she’s so small.” Susan whispered. 
 
    “That’s why no one suspects.” 
 
    “But can she do it? How can she protect you?” 
 
    Given the surveillance Alexi had deployed, she heard every word. 
 
    She walked over toward Sarah, coming in behind Susan. 
 
    “What was that about something being secret?” Alexi said, touching Susan on the arm. 
 
    Susan yelped and jumped. “You startled me.” 
 
    “And that was me being slow and noisy,” Alexi whispered to her. 
 
    Tim came over. “What’s all the noise?” 
 
    No one spoke. Then Susan held out her glass. “I think I need a little more champagne.”  
 
    Tim turned and headed toward the bar. 
 
    “Apologies. You’re good. I would never have suspected,” Susan whispered. 
 
    Alexi smiled shyly. “Thank you. But it’s easier when no one suspects why I’m really here.” She turned and headed over to talk with Bahati. 
 
    “Sarah, can I have a word in private?” 
 
    Sarah looked at Ta’Sha quizzically. “Sure.” 
 
    “There’s something you should know about Michael that he probably hasn’t told you.”  
 
    “It’s a little bit late for that. Don’t you think?” Sarah’s voice was sarcastic, the glare a bit angry. 
 
    Ta’Sha laughed. “Sorry, nothing like that. Michael comes from an old family. So old, that they have the equivalent of what humans would call a coat of arms and colors. Until Michael, no one ever paid attention to his family, none of his predecessors were particularly noteworthy. But in the run up to his appointment to the Central Council, the family symbols became known. 
 
    “I know how little value he places on things like that, so suspected that you didn’t know.” 
 
    “No. First I’ve heard of it. But why tell me?” 
 
    “The dress.” 
 
    “What?” Sarah was completely dumbfounded.  
 
    “Assuming the Alliance goes through, Michael’s house will become recognized as one of the great houses. I think that’s the reason James gave him the stone in your engagement ring.” 
 
    Ta’Sha pulled out a picture. 
 
    “I know this isn’t directly applicable, but this is an image from a recent wedding at one of the other great houses.” 
 
    The picture showed two Lorexians, presumably the bride and groom. Both were dressed in white. Their clothes looked nice but nowhere as elaborate as her dress would be. The only adornment on the female was a sash, white on one side green on the other. 
 
    “The sash she’s wearing is the closest analogy the Lorexians have to a wedding dress train. One side matches the color of her outfit, the other is the family color.” 
 
    Ta’Sha showed two more pictures. “This is Michael’s family color. If you put this on your train, the Lorexian Ascendants would get it. So would Michael for that matter. Here’s a picture from a European royal bride from some years back. Sorry, forgot to write down the name. See how elegant it can look?” She looked up at Sarah. 
 
    “Didn’t want you to find out later and ask why I didn’t tell you.” 
 
    Sarah nodded. “Thanks. I’ll think about it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 VALERIE JENSEN’S APARTMENT 
 
    David arrived at Valerie’s a few minutes late. He wanted to bring her a bottle of wine, so had stopped at Chef Marco’s to ask the Chef for a recommendation. The Chef was less than impressed with his $30 budget. But ultimately ended up giving him a bottle of 2027 Daou Cabernet Sauvignon for $30, and a promise not to tell anyone. The bottle was listed at $129 on the menu. 
 
    “David, come in.” She gave him a big hug. 
 
    “I brought you this.” He presented the bottle, along with a huge smile. 
 
    She looked at the bottle, then at David. “How did you find this?” 
 
    “I stopped by Chef Marco’s and asked for a suggestion. He said you would like this one.” 
 
    “How sweet of you.” She kissed him, then turned toward the kitchen. “Come help me.” 
 
    “What are we making?” 
 
    “Mostly just serving. Have you tried Chef Marco’s Chinese food replicator patterns? I was thinking of doing his Kung Pao Chicken, Crispy Green Beans and Shrimp Fried Rice.” 
 
    “Haven’t had them, but willing to try.” 
 
    “Ever used chop sticks?” 
 
    “No, but willing to try that as well.” 
 
    “I’ll give you a fork and knife also. Chop sticks are easy once you get the hang of it, but the first time can be frustrating.” 
 
    She pulled some bowls from the kitchen cabinet and handed them to David. “The replication has already been programed. Just start it and switch the bowls. I’ll open the wine.”  
 
    David put a bowl in front of the replicator and started it. Moments later, hot food slid out into the first bowl. He switched bowls and the next dish came, then switched again. 
 
    Valerie popped open the wine and they carried everything out to the dining room table, which had already been set. She lit the candles on the table, then dimmed the lights. 
 
    For David, the setting was surreal. It had been years since he sat down to dinner for a normal family meal. It brought back memories from his youth. But he quickly squelched the memory of the last night at home in Baltimore. 
 
    He saw Valerie looking at him. His momentary melancholy must have been obvious. He reached out his hand to her. “Would you mind if I said grace.” 
 
    “What’s that?” She asked. 
 
    “A tradition my family used to practice.” 
 
    “OK. Do I have to do anything?” 
 
    “Generally, out of respect, you would bow your head and shut your eyes. Will only take a second.” 
 
    David said a short prayer, then looked up at Valerie. “It’s done.” 
 
    She looked up at him. “That was sweet of you. I saw George Butler do that once. I don’t think there is a comparable tradition on New Lorexi. But there is on other worlds.” 
 
    Valerie took David’s plate, scooped out some food for him, then did the same for herself. “Not quite Chef Marco’s, but it’s nice to have you here.” 
 
    “I’ll take this any day.” 
 
    Valerie tried to teach David to use the chopsticks. But after some flying food and laughter, suggested that he use the fork. 
 
    “So, what have you been up to with James?” 
 
    “You know I can change right? Into energy.” He clarified. 
 
    “Yes. Saw that on George’s show. It really drained you.” 
 
    “At first it does, not so much anymore.” 
 
    “What does it feel like?” 
 
    “It’s very freeing. The first time, it’s quite euphoric. Unshackled from body and the weight of the world. That’s what makes the first time so dangerous.” 
 
    “How so?” 
 
    “The temptation is to spread out and experience it all. The problem is that it’s easy to spread out too much. No, I should say that upside down. It’s almost impossible not to spread out too much. That’s why it usually ends up being a one-way trip. 
 
    “James says it takes an enormous amount of training to learn to cross over. Very few ever learn how. And of those, far fewer come back. James spent some time walking me through it, more worried about training me to come back than to cross over. Even then, I might not have come back without his help.” 
 
    “But when you were a kid, you transitioned and came back without any training at all.” 
 
    “True. James says that makes me special. I don’t know how it is that I crossed over. I remember it happening, but don’t remember how. I think the scene I witnessed is what brought me back. There was no euphoria in that moment.” 
 
    “I’m so sorry David. I didn’t mean to take you back there.” 
 
    David smiled at her. “James has helped me a lot with that.” 
 
    She poured them both some more wine. 
 
    “So back to what you’re doing with James. You’re crossing over and going places, right?” 
 
    “We’ve been all over. All over the world, to the moon and planets. But everything changed the day we went hunting.” 
 
    “Hunting?” 
 
    “That’s the same thing I said. We went…” David suddenly stopped. 
 
    “This is very secret. I shouldn’t have brought it up.” He smiled. “But I’ll tell you if you promise not to tell anyone else.” 
 
    “Did you sign a security agreement regarding your hunting trip?” 
 
    “No.” 
 
    “Good. I have the same general security level that you do. If this one wasn’t papered separately, then you can tell me. And I promise not to tell anyone.” 
 
    “We went Enemy hunting. A group of them had come out of hibernation about 1,000 light years further out on the spiral arm. Space Force had taken down their ship and deposited it in a star. But a dozen or two of them were out there just floating in space trying to make their way to a planet. 
 
    “They’re hard to see when they’re in space like that. Even harder to track. But James taught me how. Then he showed me how to kill them. It’s incredibly easy once you learn how.” 
 
    “How do you do it?” 
 
    “You see them because they create a little pinhole in space time. The pinhole is small, but there is a distortion field around it that you can spot and track once you learn how to see it. 
 
    “That pinhole is their vulnerability. 
 
    “Detach a little bit of your energy. Fly it into the pinhole and heat it up, then boom. They lose cohesion.” David’s enthusiasm was contagious. 
 
    “I’m jealous.” Then after a moment. “But how did that change everything.” 
 
    “It was so exciting, so satisfying, that I lost track of myself and started spreading out. James noticed it before I did. It was terrifying. I struggled to pull my energy back together. Even with James’ help, I barely managed it. When we got back, I collapsed, exhausted.  
 
    “James put me in a restoration chamber for 24 hours. And when I came out… I understood.” 
 
    “Understood what?” 
 
    “What it is to be an energy being. How to harness energy. Contain it. Use and manipulate it. 
 
    “You’ve probably heard James talk about it as being like learning to ride a bike. You don’t know how to do it until you’ve done it. 
 
    “I can’t tell you how I do those things. But coming out of that experience, I just knew. I’m as strong as James now, stronger maybe. I don’t have his skills and knowledge. But I have been able to absorb and manipulate a huge amount of raw energy. It’s all around us. It’s simply a matter of gathering it up and submitting it to your will.” 
 
    From the look on Valerie’s face, David was worried he’d gone too far. 
 
    She smiled. “Can you show me?” 
 
    He stood and blew out one of the candles, then sat back down. 
 
    “Watch.” 
 
    A small ball of light emanated from one of David’s fingers. It raced up to the top of the candle, flashed bright, and the candle relit. 
 
    “Did James teach you to do that?” 
 
    “No. I just did it for the first time.” 
 
    An unwelcome thought came to Valerie. “Does this make you dangerous?” 
 
    “Never thought of that. I suppose it does, but I can’t imagine using my power that way. Not even sure I can.” 
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “It’s hard to describe. The first time I killed an Enemy, the act of killing it almost killed me. When we went back to finish the job it was much more dispassionate. Harnessing the power has to be done purposefully, dispassionately, carefully or it will backfire.” 
 
    “Was lighting that candle purposeful?” 
 
    He smiled at her. 
 
    “Come on. Let’s clean up and go upstairs.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    It had been another productive day. Joel had installed the AIs on platforms 13 - 16. Each came up without a hitch. Each made its first pull, and each cast its first ingot. Except for Platform 4, all the others were up and operational. He would take on AI replacement on Platform 4 tomorrow. 
 
    “Henry,” Joel shouted out, initiating the connection. 
 
    “Joel, another great day. I’ve tested ingot quality on the new platforms. All good.” 
 
    “And the freighter?” 
 
    “The hull is done. Internal build out’s underway. We’ll be ready for the helm AI install tomorrow. Will you have one ready?” 
 
    “I’ll check with Barbara in the morning. I’m in desperate need of some dinner and sleep.” 
 
    “You’ve earned it. Will check in with you tomorrow.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 DIVERSION 
 
    [Monday, 6.16.2030] RACHELLE PÉPIN DESIGN STUDIOS 
 
    Alexi sent Bahati and Pam down first. The reason offered was that they weren’t quite ready, but it was time. The real reason was that Alexi wanted to check out the room before sending Sarah down. She had planted a couple surveillance nanobots on Bahati and Pam’s clothing, but neither of them knew it. 
 
    “Hello?” They turned to see a young woman waiting at the edge of the viewing room. 
 
    Pam walked over to her with hand outstretched. “You must be Renee. I’m Pam. I wanted to make sure you were ready for us before we brought the whole party down.” 
 
    Alexi, having already checked the room out, messaged Pam. “We’re ready.” 
 
    They transported down just as Rachelle was entering the room. 
 
    “Ladies. Welcome. This should be a fun day. I see you’ve brought a gentleman. Welcome.” 
 
    As introductions were being made, Rachelle wondered how the small wiry one had become part of this bevy of stunning women. But long ago she learned that the wealthy and powerful did as they chose, and it was never good for business to ask them their reasons. 
 
    “Our plan for today is simple. We’re going to start by taking measurements using our laser scanning system. Then we’re going to view some dresses worn by models, so I can get a feel for your style preferences. Then we will look at some fabrics. We will break for lunch at that point. Food is being catered in. While you are enjoying lunch, I am going to sketch out three ideas for your consideration. After lunch we will view the drawings. Then depending on the time and your interest, we may drape you in some cloth to see how well it accents you. Are we ready?” 
 
    Sarah stood up. “I think we are.” 
 
    “I can only take a couple of you at a time. Sarah, you are obviously first. You can do this privately or bring one or two others along.” 
 
    “Bahati. Alexi. You’re with me.” 
 
    Renee came in with champagne in an ice bucket, and a dozen flutes. 
 
    “Refreshment is available if you would like some while you wait.” 
 
    … 
 
    The scanning room seemed more like a medical lab than a tool in a fashion studio. 
 
    “This is one of the best tools ever invented for taking measurements. I’m going to ask you to take everything off, except your panties. Once inside the scanner will spin around you several times, then stop. I will ask you to take three different poses. It will help us understand how your body moves, so that we can design something beautiful and surprisingly comfortable.” 
 
    Sarah raised her hand. 
 
    “A question Sarah?” 
 
    “I wear a medical device. Alexi helps me maintain it. I will have it on during the wedding. I usually wear it under my arm. Today, I have it in the small of my back. It could also be mounted on the upper thigh.” 
 
    “May I see it?” 
 
    Sarah took her blouse off, then turned so that the power pack for the shield generator could be seen. 
 
    “Oh, my. Would you consider mounting it on your thigh instead? Most brides prefer a dress with a tight stomach and back, and visible arms.” 
 
    Sarah looked to Alexi, who nodded her approval. 
 
    “Yes, but I can’t move it now. Can you still get the measurements you need?” 
 
    “Not a problem. OK, clothes off.” She pointed to three dressing rooms. “There are robes you can put on while you wait.” 
 
    Alexi was the first one out of the dressing room. She walked toward the scanner and discreetly released some surveillance nanobots so she could keep an eye on Sarah while she was in the machine. 
 
    Sarah entered the scanning machine. It was similar in nature to the ones used in airport security, but much more spacious. The main chamber was 8 feet in diameter and completely open.  There was a circular metal track on the floor and ceiling. Four vertical bars travelled along the track when the scanner operated. The whole affair was in a circular room, 12 feet in diameter, that appeared to be made of Japanese rice paper. 
 
    “You can hang the robe on the hook.” 
 
    She was instructed how to take the first position. Then scanning bars started moving along the track. As a distraction, she was asked questions about any expected changes in shape: pregnancy, recovering from recent pregnancy, anticipated dietary changes, likelihood of adding another 5 pounds before the wedding day. 
 
    The last question took her by surprise. “Does your medical device leave any scar tissue? A friend of mine was diabetic. She wore an insulin pump. It caused a lot of skin irritation that over time led to scarring.” 
 
    “I don’t think so.” 
 
    “Would you mind if I looked? There are towels in the cabinet you can use to cover yourself.” 
 
    “Give me a minute.” 
 
    Alexi stood. “I’m going in with you. I’m her med tech. No one touches her unless I’m there.” 
 
    “It’s OK.” Sarah called out. 
 
    Alexi and Rachelle went in. 
 
    “Where do you normally wear it?” 
 
    Sarah raised her arms and pointed. “Here.” 
 
    “May I touch?” 
 
    Sarah saw Alexi tense up. 
 
    “If you need to.” 
 
    Rachelle gently probed the area, then walked around Sarah looking closely at her skin. 
 
    “You have beautiful skin. If you’d consider the idea, I’d like to show you some designs that expose your shoulders. Exposed shoulder will make the arm pits visible when you wave to people. I don’t think your medical device has damaged your skin in any way that would be fashion inappropriate. But as a precaution, you might not want to wear it there the week before the wedding.” 
 
    She turned toward Alexi. “You’ve done a good job of keeping this one whole.” 
 
    … 
 
    Sarah was proud of her father. He had been quiet but pleasant through all the waiting, all the models, and all the fabric. He didn’t even complain about the dainty lunch that was offered. 
 
    He seems to be taking it better than I am. 
 
    Sarah was a bit overwhelmed by the process. She had seen several dresses she really liked, some beautiful and luxurious fabric. But was any of it right for her? It would be curious to see what Rachelle proposed. 
 
    … 
 
    “Everyone ready for the big reveal?” Rachelle seemed excited. 
 
    “The first dress is a modern take on the traditional royal wedding dress. The closest analogy I can think of is Kate Middleton’s dress from 2011. It features an ivory lace bodice, with classic V-neck. Long lace sleeves, then the flowing lace over silk gown. I know you’re not a big fan of lace, but the lace in the gown gives that hard to achieve hint of texture.” 
 
    Sarah was amazed by the ‘drawing.’ It was presented as a 3D holoprojection that was photo quality. It looked like a picture of her wearing the dress. 
 
    “That’s beautiful.” Susan exclaimed. 
 
    The image morphed a bit. “We can add a detachable train of almost any length. But fair warning, the longer they are the heavier and more constraining they become.” 
 
    The image morphed again, this time zooming out to show Sarah standing alone with the train spread out in a circle 10 ft in diameter. 
 
    “There are lots of images like this in royal picture archives.” 
 
    Ta’Sha who had been silent most of the day spoke up. “I had the equivalent of a long train on my dress. It was so heavy I needed help flying with it on.” 
 
    Sarah understood the comment, but it was lost on her parents and Rachelle. Ta’Sha was an Ascendant. Her native form was a winged creature. 
 
    “OK. Candidate number 2. This is a little closer to what you’ve asked for. It features a wide V-neckline, arched similarly to Lady Helen Windsor Taylor’s dress in 1992. It has short sleeves, tailored bodice that flows into a full, layered gown accented with hidden pleats and textured with a filigreed pattern. This dress uses the fabric you liked so much earlier.” 
 
    “I think this dress captures much of the image you want to project. It’s beautiful and accents you well but reflects the sophisticated mind of a person of influence.” 
 
    Sarah agreed. “Must admit. I like this one.” 
 
    “One word of caution. The main body of this dress will require 18 lbs. of silk. That’s before the buttons, clasps, and other accessories.” 
 
    “I like this one, sweetheart,” Tim said. “It looks like you.” 
 
    “OK, the last idea. This one is my personal favorite.” 
 
    The new image popped up. 
 
    “This is a strapless dress with a paneled neckline. The bodice is sculped to tastefully show off your figure without showing skin, but seamlessly flows to a floor length gown and mini train. A full cathedral train can be added.” The image morphed to show the longer train. “But once out of the cathedral, the mini train remains, giving elegance throughout the evening. This dress has excellent freedom of motion, allowing you to dance in it. And the fabric is extraordinary. It’s smooth, despite tiny gemstones embedded in the fabric that give it texture by manipulating the light. No dress has ever been made on Earth using this fabric. Over time, it will become the reference by which everything else is graded.” 
 
    “Do you have a sample of the fabric?” Ta’Sha asked. “I’ve seen something like this before on another world.” 
 
    “Yes and no. Let me show it to you, then I’ll explain.” 
 
    Rachelle brought out a 4-inch square swatch of material. It had the same feel as silk, but even more of the shimmering appearance. It appeared to move and flow even when perfectly still. 
 
    “The shimmer you see in silk comes from the prism-like structure of the silk fiber itself that refracts incoming light at different angles. This material has the same type of effect, only it is amplified.” 
 
    “What’s the difference between this and the material you want to use.” 
 
    “The other material is of a much higher quality. It has more volume at the same weight, is softer and overall better visual appeal.” 
 
    Sarah turned to look at the image of herself wearing the dress. It was the first dress she’d seen that had the elegance she wanted but didn’t feel like a costume. 
 
    “That’s the dress.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 VITYA’S APARTMENT, EMBASSY COMPLEX 
 
    Time was running out. Ju-Ne had to stop the Alliance from being formed. He could only see two ways to do that: neutralize Space Force or neutralize Michael.  
 
    He’d successfully taken down one Space Force ship and finally stopped ship production. But over the weekend, Joel got ship production back online. He had one more trick up his sleeve regarding Space Force, but he would have to stop Joel from fixing Platform 4 to make it work. 
 
    Michael was harder. Ju-Ne did not know where the restoration chamber that held Michael’s actual body was located. So, he couldn’t actually kill him. Michael also had a spare avatar at the Embassy. So even if Ju-Ne could kill Michael’s avatar, he would emerge again in a day or two. The only way to neutralize Michael would be to take down the woman. It was stupid of Michael to have allowed that weakness to develop. 
 
    He’d put a plan in place to take her down this morning in Paris. But Rachelle Pépin, the stupid cow, did not prepare the dresses, or the fabrics, according to the instructions she’d been given. Without those preparations, the rest of the plan would not work and was cancelled. 
 
    So today, Ju-Ne was going to trigger one of the tools he’d held in reserve, a bioweapon that targeted androids. The genius behind this weapon was that it spread organically, but it acted digitally. The contagion infected the quantum-entangled link that connected the android’s body to its computer-based mind. Once the infection took hold, it uploaded a computer virus. Neither the contagion, nor the virus, caused any symptoms until it received an activation signal. But once activated, the computer virus would overwrite the android’s stack. 
 
    It had taken hundreds of years to develop this weapon. He’d used it four times before to devastating effect. It was one of his favorite sabotages to use against new members. It took a few months to do the tailoring when he landed on a new world and once released, it spread slowly. But ten- or twenty-years post-Revelation, when androids held integral roles in the new member’s economy and government, the digital virus could be activated. It was harmless until then, but once activated, every android that had it would become symptomatic within hours and be dead within two days. 
 
    He’d been slow adapting the contagion for human avatars. It had only been released about three years ago, not enough time to spread widely. Maybe 100 androids here at the Embassy were infected at this point, he didn’t know for sure. But when he sent out the activation signal, the Android Production Lab would be overwhelmed within hours. It would give him time to finish the project on Platform 4, and it would make him a lot of money too. 
 
    At 4:00 AM, Embassy time, Vitya sent the activation signal. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel came into the office this morning psyched to get Platform 4 back online. His excitement was squashed by the first message in his queue. It was from Barbara. 
 
    Hi, Joel. Congratulations on getting the new platforms up over the weekend. I’m sure you’re looking forward to getting the Platform 4 repair done today. Unfortunately, a problem has come up over here. It’s going to be a while before I get you the new AI. And I could use your help over here. Call me. 
 
    … 
 
    “Barbara, what’s up?” 
 
    “Joel, thanks for calling. I need help. I started getting calls about 6:00 this morning. Four androids passed out shortly after getting out of bed. Seven more made their way to the hospital, where the doctors are trying to treat them. 
 
    “But this isn’t in their bodies. It’s in their AI minds. I have the tools to look into their minds, but not the debugging skill to figure out what’s going wrong. Could you help me. You’re probably the most skilled software debugger we have at the Embassy.” 
 
    “Have you messaged Michael.” 
 
    “Not yet, I don’t know what to tell him.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll talk with him and try to get myself freed up. I’ll call as soon as I know.” 
 
    “Thanks Joel. Something very wrong is happening. I’m afraid we’re going to lose a lot of them.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was in his office preparing for the Advisory Council meeting this morning. He really didn’t have time for this, but the Advisory Council needed to be briefed.  
 
    His concentration was interrupted by a message from Joel marked urgent. 
 
    “Joel.” Michael called out, activating a comm connection. 
 
    “Michael, I think we have a problem. A dozen or so androids have shown up at either the hospital or the Android Production Lab seeking treatment. The symptoms are unusual and severe. Barbara’s in a panic. She thinks the problem is in their stacks and wants my help.” 
 
    “Go help her. Let me know when you find something.” 
 
    Michael dropped the line, then paused to think about what he’d just heard. He didn’t have time for this. Nonetheless, he sent off a message to Ambassador Sa-Na on Celanar asking if he had a minute to talk. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR SA-NA’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku. I only have a few minutes. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Sa-Na, same here. I’m preparing for a meeting with our Advisory Council. A crisis seems to have popped up in our android population. About a dozen have presented themselves at the hospital with severe symptoms in the last hour. I know that AI production and care is one of Celanar’s competitive advantages. Any chance I can connect some of my people with some of yours?” 
 
    The Ambassador looked at Michael with intense seriousness. 
 
    “Mi-Ku. This is genuinely concerning. We have not experienced it among our people, but something similar has happened on a number of the newer member worlds. We do not have proof yet, but we believe that those worlds were sabotaged. 
 
    “We know a computer virus gets into the android’s AI mind and is the cause of death. How it gets there is less clear. My experts here think it starts as an organic virus, one that spreads slowly and asymptomatically. We think it is sabotage, because the virus remains asymptomatic even after it jumps to the AIs stacks. Then one day, it goes off, taking down the entire android population in a matter of days. 
 
    “Neither of us is the right person to be in the middle of the technical talk. Let’s trade contact information for our lead people and see if we can get them connected. If you have what I’m afraid you do, then you don’t have much time.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MONTGOMERY HAMILTON’S OFFICE, NEW YORK CITY 
 
    Monty was in a rush to finish documents for his next meeting. Should have finished these before I went home last night, he chided himself. 
 
    The intercom on his desk sounded. It was Louise in reception. “Monty, Winston Bainbridge is on the line for you.” 
 
    “Thank you, Louise.” 
 
    I don’t have time for this! He thought as he picked up the phone. “Winston, what can I do for you?” 
 
    “Please tell me you’ve liquidated my shares and have started building a short position.” From the tone of Winston’s voice, Monty knew he’d be in trouble if the trading floor had not prioritized this. 
 
    “We were mostly done yesterday and got excellent pricing. Checking on the current status.” There was loud clacking of keys on a keyboard. “Yes. All shares have been sold, prices are still going up though.” 
 
    “OK, I want to be $100 million short by the end of the day.” 
 
    “$100 million? That will kill the prices. Can we spread this to other correlated stocks?” 
 
    “If you have to. But I want to be $100 million short by the end of the day.” 
 
    Monty wanted to argue. This was suicide. Shorts that large would push prices down 5%. Then tomorrow, Winston would be blaming him for millions in losses. 
 
    “Monty, are you still there? We need to get short NOW!” 
 
    “I’ll put the orders out within the hour.” 
 
    “Not within the hour, NOW!” 
 
    Monty had never had a client this panicked before. What the hell is going on? 
 
    “OK. I’ll start placing the orders now.” 
 
    “I’m going to stay on the line until you tell me it is done.” 
 
    “Winston, I have appointments.” 
 
    “I will suck every penny out of your firm if you speak to anyone before this is done!” 
 
    “Working it now.” Monty quickly shot off several messages to his floor boss. 
 
    Louise’s voice came over the intercom. “Monty, your next appointment is here.” 
 
    “Louise, can you entertain them? I’m running a few minutes late.” 
 
    A call came in on his second line. 
 
    “Winston. I have a call coming in from my floor boss. I need to put you on hold.” 
 
    Monty switched lines before Winston answered. 
 
    “Monty, what the hell? We don’t have that many shares to sell?” 
 
    “Can you borrow them from another broker?” 
 
    “Not this quantity. They’ll realize we’re in on something and sell it themselves.” 
 
    “Options, maybe? Highly correlated shares? I don’t care what. I have a client that wants to be $100 million short by the close. He thinks the Confederation is about to blow up or something.” 
 
    “Got it. This will be interesting. $100 million in three hours. We’ll get it done.” 
 
    Flipping back to Winston. “OK. The floor is working it. We don’t have $100 million in shares to sell, so will be going with some surrogates. But we should be short $100 million by the close.” 
 
    “Good work, Monty. You’re going to make a lot of money today.” 
 
    Monty quickly ran the numbers in his head. Commissions on the sales had been about $100,000. The shorts were going to be higher maybe $150,000. 
 
    “Indeed, I think we will. I hope you’re on the right side of this one Winston.” 
 
    “I’m always on the right side. Go tend to your other clients, I’ll check in with you in the morning.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE ADVISORY COUNCIL ASSEMBLY CHAMBER 
 
    Michael had not been on the agenda when this meeting was scheduled, and he really didn’t have the time. But given the developments of the last week, there was no choice. 
 
    “Good Morning. Friday afternoon, at 4:52 PM Embassy time, the Space Force System Surveillance Department spotted an unknown object entering the Solar System out near the orbit of Neptune. At about the same time, the Confederation became aware of an FTL launch from a non-allied planet about 100 light-years from Earth. Its destination was our Solar System.  
 
    “This planet, known as Naltanarus, was on a watch list of planets known to be pursuing FTL capability, although we did not think they were close to anything like a jump drive. I personally knew of this planet, but not that it was space-capable. 
 
    “They chose the Solar System as their first destination. Viewed from Naltanarus, the Sun sparkles as no other star does. It apparently has been one of the great mysteries that has fascinated their people since the dawn of time. 
 
    “You might ask why this happens. Whenever the Earth passes between a viewer and the Sun, the Transluminide in the Earth’s core amplifies and focuses the light. 
 
    “We quickly organized a mission to greet our interstellar visitors. In situations where a species that does not know of the Confederation ventures into an allied system, the Confederation Ambassador from that system is required to make first contact. 
 
    “Unfortunately for the explorers, their ship experienced a failure on reentry into normal space time. The crew of the EAS Canada was able to rescue most of the Naltanaran crew. Sadly, one was killed when their ship failed. 
 
    “As I said earlier, the Confederation has known of Naltanarus for some time. We even have a standard translation package we can use to speak with our new guests. I will be working with them on a plan for their return. In the interim, we are to treat them as honored guests. 
 
    “I would like to bring them down to the Embassy and seek your guidance.” 
 
    Ambassador Erika Schmitt from Germany was the first to break the silence. “Are we certain they are peaceful?” 
 
    “Yes. Civilization on their planet evolved much differently than here on Earth. They did not suffer a dark age, as western Europe did. They have never experienced a World War.” 
 
    Ambassador Hang Jiao-long from China went next. “Why not just leave them on the Canada?” 
 
    “The Canada is scheduled to leave on another mission in a few days. I believe it would present humanity in a better light to invite them down to our planet, than to shuffle them to another ship.” 
 
    “What about possible alien contagions?” Ambassador Sato Daichi asked. 
 
    “They have been scanned and are clear. They can breathe our air and most human food is safe for them to eat. We know the foods that are not and can control their access to such food.” 
 
    “What about appearance?” 
 
    Michael put up a holographic projection of Captain Lan’Tashi. “I would say a little more different than the Angolorans are. Not everyone on the Canada agrees with me.” 
 
    “Michael.” President Lee prompted. “What do you recommend?” 
 
    Michael smiled. “I recommend that we bring them down and treat them well. They will make an excellent addition to the Confederation and at this point must choose. I want this crew to endorse membership to their government when they return. An ally with their capability and creativity would be a tremendous addition. As a people they are more like us than any existing ally, and would be natural partners in bringing peace and prosperity to this sector.” 
 
    “It sounds as though your mind is made up,” President Lee asserted. 
 
    “In terms of recruitment to join the Confederation, yes. That process will begin. In terms of being an ally with Earth, that will be your decision, but I will certainly be an advocate in favor.” 
 
    “Then I move that we endorse Michael’s plan to bring the crew of this lost ship to Earth and make them welcome.” 
 
    The resolution passed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, ANDROID PRODUCTION DEPARTMENT 
 
    True to his word, Ambassador Sa-Na arranged a meeting with the Lanocian Director of AI & Android Affairs, W’ana S’oto. 
 
    “Director S’oto. I am Barbara Winters, head of Android Production at the Embassy on Earth. With me is Joel Rubinstein, director of the Earth Alliance’s manufacturing operations. Thank you for taking the time to meet with us.” 
 
    “I understand that you have a virus running loose in your android population. Did you get the information I sent earlier?” 
 
    “Yes. Thank you for the DNA fingerprints and code patterns from previous outbreaks. And for the protocol for slowing progression.” 
 
    “How many have you lost so far?” 
 
    “A total of 63 symptomatic patients have arrived so far. We’re still working through them. All 39 that we’ve tested have the computer virus. That was an hour ago, so there are probably more now. Nine have died.” 
 
    “Have you been able to identify the DNA sequence for your version of the organic virus?” 
 
    “I think so. We’re synthesizing a treatment now. Of course, it’s the digital virus that crossed over into the androids’ stacks that’s the problem.” 
 
    “You’re lucky to have caught it this early. As I think you’ve heard, all previous outbreaks have taken down the entire population. The solution is relatively simple once you’ve found both forms of the virus. Step 1 is to put all symptomatic androids on life support, then put them into hibernation. The digital virus cannot progress while they’re in hibernation. Step 2 is to use the stack editor to go in and remove the virus generator from each infected android. I sent instructions on how to do that.” 
 
    “Yes, we’ve received them and tried it on one patient. Our virus strain is a little different than any of the samples you sent. So, it took a little while to confirm the digital virus fingerprint. But we think we have it now.” 
 
    “That’s exceptionally good news. If you have the capacity to put all your symptomatic androids in hibernation, then you shouldn’t lose any more. 
 
    “The last two steps are to develop a therapy and a vaccine. Once you have the DNA fingerprint, it should not take long to upgrade the programming on the standard virus nanobots. The vaccine will take a little longer. But once you have the virus fingerprint, it should only take a couple weeks before you can vaccinate all your androids. 
 
    “One further word of warning. This is a human virus, so it will spread to your human population. It’s likely that they are already your main carrier. On other worlds, the organic virus eventually mutates enough that the member’s species is at risk. So, I strongly advise that you distribute your vaccine widely. We have the manufacturing capacity to help with that and I’m sure Ambassador Sa-Na would love to see it as part of a trade deal.” 
 
    “Thank you, Director S’oto. We will get the word out to the hospital immediately.”                                           
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EMBASSY HOSPITAL 
 
    The hospital was like a war zone. Ninety-two androids had been received over the last 8 hours. The less symptomatic ones were waiting in the reception area. Forty-one had been put on life support. Twelve had died before they could go into hibernation. More were arriving every minute, an orderly line forming outside. But Dr. Gupta was worried. We have 1,000 beds, but there are over 10,000 androids living at the embassy. Many of those work at the hospital. If this contagion is widespread, there won’t be room in the morgue. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Michael returned to the Canada to resume discussions with the Xotiq crew. He was escorted to the lounge on deck six of the starboard hull. Once again, James and David were there, entertaining the crew. 
 
    “Michael, you’re back,” James enthused. “Do you have good news for us?” 
 
    Michael smiled. “Yes, the Earth Alliance has approved relocating our guests to the Embassy. How are your translators working?” 
 
    The Captain replied, “We think they are working well at this point. It’s amazing technology. We have big computers that can do nearly as well among our own languages. But these personal ones are so small. It’s amazing!”  
 
    “I’m glad to hear that. A relatively small fraction of people on the ground will have translators.  Your translators will give you the opportunity to interact with more of them. It will be a couple hours before your accommodations are ready. I’ll message Admiral Porter when they are. 
 
    “Dr. Mos'Hara, deputy chief Tan'Shima, did the Admiral get you connected with the right people?” 
 
    “Yes. Your Dr. Ulrich gave me a very thorough explanation of how your scanners work and what she found out. Although she was only looking for the things you said, her scanner acquired much more information, which she shared with me. Some of the measurements I’ve never heard of before.” 
 
    “Similar for me. I got an extensive tour of the ship’s power and propulsion systems and a brief overview of how they worked. Our scientists have postulated the existence of Zero-point Energy, but they’ve never been able to prove it. You move huge ships across the heavens using it. It’s truly amazing!” 
 
    Michael turned to the Captain. “Have you made any progress on a plan for your return?” 
 
    “Some. I’ve been holding out hope that we might repair our ship. But I now believe it impossible. Admiral Porter shared his scans of our ship. It is far more seriously damaged than I knew. We don’t have the means to do the repairs. Nor do we have specifications sufficient for you to fabricate the parts for us. I asked if it would be possible to refit our ship with your technology. James said that it might be a technical possibility, but against Confederation law to give technology like this to a non-member world.” 
 
    “That is true. We cannot give you our power and propulsion systems, even if it were technically possible to install them.” 
 
    “Then, we must accept your offer to return us. I understand that it is an easy and short trip for any of your Earth Alliance Ships. I also understand that you can approach the planet using a stealth shield, so your ship will not be seen.” 
 
    “True.” 
 
    “James met our Minister of Science. They apparently viewed the launch from his private room in the launch stadium. James could call him and ask if he would be willing to meet with us. We could transport him up to the ship. You could meet with him. He will have much better ideas on how to spread the word that we have returned.” 
 
    Michael looked over at James, who locked eyes with him. James’ expression was neutral, and Michael could sense nothing from him. 
 
     Michael looked back at Captain Lan’Tashi. “That might work, but I think we may be able to do better. Keep developing the idea, but I’d like you to come up with a couple other alternatives if you can.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, ASCENDANCE INSTITUTE 
 
    Professor Jackson Reed, formerly of McGill University in Montreal Quebec, had become head of the Diagnostics Department at the Institute’s Medical School. He was the one that converted the Confederation’s diagnostic scanner and nanobot surgery controls for human use. 
 
    He’d received a call from Dr. Sadira Gupta this morning, alerting him to the android virus problem. Then he’d received a call an hour ago from Joel with the DNA sequence for the organic portion of the virus. 
 
    Whoever created this virus must have been clever. He couldn’t understand how an organic virus in the body could create and deliver a digital virus to an android mind. But that was where the perpetrator must have spent his time. The actual organic virus was a simple variation on other common viruses. It would only take a couple hours to update his scanning software to identify this one. He hoped to push out an upgrade this afternoon, which would allow for broad based testing. It seemed that their biggest problem at this point would be the number of patients infected. They only had space to hold 1,000 androids in hibernation. If more than that were sick, they were in trouble.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION EMBASSY 
 
    Vitya finished the computer repair that he’d been working on. This was one of 120 portable computers that the diplomatic corps kept on hand to loan to visiting diplomats. This particular one was from the help desk at the guest accommodations building near the hospital. 
 
    He picked up the computer and walked over to his boss’s desk. “Hey Rick. This one’s done. I got a call earlier from the desk that manages it saying they were running short. OK, if I head down there to drop it off?” 
 
    Rick hit a couple keys on his computer, confirming the identity of the one that Vitya had repaired. In the comment field for this system was a request that the unit be returned as soon as possible. It was timestamped this morning. The requester was the supervisor for the help desk that owned the computer. 
 
    “OK. I’ve released it for return. Thanks for running it down there.” 
 
    Rick wasn’t particularly impressed by Vitya’s work quality or productivity, but he had a good touch with the clients, who uniformly seemed to love him. Must be because he hand-delivers so many of his repairs. 
 
    Once out of the building, Vitya crossed the street and entered Riverside Park. He stopped at one of the locker boxes, where he’d left his bike and backpack this morning, and took off on the biking trail. He loved biking in the park. His colleagues thought it was eccentric, but generally agreed that it was faster than walking or taking the trolley. 
 
    But that was not the reason Vitya was taking the bike today. The building he was going to was two miles south of his office. This trail exited the park a quarter mile further south, right in front of the hospital. He was taking the bike, so that he would have a reason for walking past the hospital. 
 
    Near the end of the trail was another set of lockers. Vitya put the bike in an open locker, then walked the last 50 feet to the park entrance. As he turned the corner, he saw exactly what he wanted to see. A long line of people waiting to get in, and a gurney carrying an android with a sheet over its head being wheeled to a nearby refrigerated truck. 
 
    Vitya stopped and pulled a glasses case out of his backpack. He took his bikers glasses off and was putting his normal glasses on as a security officer approached. 
 
    “No loitering here today. Please move on.” 
 
    “Oh. Sorry sir. Just changing glasses.” Vitya smiled, putting out his hand to shake. “Don’t know what’s going on here today, but glad that there are good people like you taking care of it. Thank you for your service, officer.” 
 
    The officer reluctantly shook Vitya’s hand, then motioned for him to move along. 
 
     Vitya looked both ways then stepped out into the street, which had been closed. He made a beeline toward the building where he was delivering the computer. 
 
    He smiled to himself. Nothing that had happened in the last 10 minutes was what it appeared to be. The computer was just a computer shell he’d replicated a couple months ago. The database records were faked with an ID that would disappear once he was in the building across the way. The glasses were not for vision adjustment. They contained a high resolution, hands free video recording system. The handshake with the officer was an opportunity to face the hospital entrance and get several hi-resolution stills of bodies being queued up for the morgue. Looking both ways allowed him to get a high-resolution panoramic shot of the entire scene. 
 
    Within the hour, the whole world would know what was going on here. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADORS OFFICE  
 
    With Pam and Sarah away today, Pam’s backup, Shelby, was covering reception in the outer office. 
 
    “Michael, you need to see this.” 
 
    “What?” Michael got up to walk over. 
 
    “The 6:00 news broadcast from New York. We’ve been scooped. Oh my God, they have stills of the dead whose shrouds have not been pulled up yet.” 
 
    “What? How did they do that? Security is posted, no press allowed down there today.” 
 
    She turned on the audio. “…a highly targeted virus ripping through the Confederation Embassy. We understand that nearly 100 androids have died already today. Another 600 are on life support and the hospital is about to run out of beds. 
 
    “Sources also say that the virus impacts AIs. Four of them in orbit have ceased functioning and Space Force has recalled all their ships, hoping to get them parked in orbit before their pilots fail.” 
 
    “That’s not true!” Shelby exclaimed. 
 
    The phone rang. Shelby stopped the streaming on her computer and picked up the phone. 
 
    “It’s the Canadian Prime Minister. He wants to know what’s going on.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MONTGOMERY HAMILTON’S OFFICE, NEW YORK CITY 
 
    “Monty, please tell me you managed to build the positions I ordered.” 
 
    “As close as we could. We got about $60 million in the specific shares you requested. Another $32 million in highly correlated shares. And another $1 million in Puts on the major indices. After hours, your puts alone are up almost $25 million. 
 
    “How did you know? The SEC is going to be all over us tomorrow.” 
 
    “I didn’t know. I initiated this a week ago on the belief that forward-looking earnings projections were not going to meet investor expectations. Those calls are still three weeks out.” 
 
    “Why the urgency this morning?” 
 
    “I heard rumors that the Confederation was going to be making a major trade announcement this afternoon. I wasn’t expecting to hear that we’re all dying from some strange alien virus.” 
 
    The line was quiet for a moment. 
 
    “OK. You have recordings of our meeting, right?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “I have documentation of the rumors. I’ll send it to you this evening. Our motivations in this are clearly documented.” 
 
    “OK. I will attempt to handle the SEC tomorrow. But I’m going to be billing you for anything that gets broken if they go with a full FBI raid.” 
 
    “Fair enough.” 
 
    Winston smiled as the line dropped. Things are going exactly to plan. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S SHUTTLE 
 
    The rest of the day was a blur. Sarah remembered seeing the Mona Lisa. Remembered the fuss one of the museum curators made over her engagement ring. But her head was stuck in that dress. It somehow made the reality of the situation clearer. She was marrying royalty. She had been given and would continue to receive gifts, favors and privilege that very few others had access to at any price. 
 
    I need to talk to James about this. He has perspective. 
 
    “You’ve been quiet this afternoon.” It was her father. 
 
    “It’s the dress. I’m feeling guilty.” 
 
    “I can understand that. There are a lot of us that feel guilty when good things happen to us that don’t happen to others. But the guilt is not real. You are getting exactly what you should be getting based on the life choices you’ve made. It’s not like you’re marrying Michael for the dress, or the ring, or the fancy airplane. But now that you are part of him, you are part of his world. And he is better off for having you there. Together, the two of you are going to do great things.” 
 
    Sarah smiled at him. “Thanks for the pep talk, dad.” 
 
    Alexi had been periodically checking in on the trail of nanobots she’d left behind. There is a common error made by those that seek to assault a client. They visit places that the client has just left hoping to learn more about their activities. 
 
    Nothing had shown up so far. Most of the nanobots remaining at the hotel had been disabled by the cleaning crews. They apparently cleaned very thoroughly at the Four Seasons. 
 
    More or less normal activity continued at the design studio. Another client had come in. Only 25% of the nanobots had been disabled by cleaning activity there. But they continued to drop as the day went on. This was expected. Then suddenly, they all dropped within a matter of seconds. 
 
    Alexi went on high alert. She released more nanobots in the shuttle and did a discreet medical scan on her principal.  
 
    Everything is in order here, but what happened at Rachelle Pépin’s? Guess I’ll just have to find out. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Sarah and Alexi had arrived home a couple hours ago. They were both scanned for a virus that was causing problems at the embassy. Both of them came up clean. 
 
    Sarah tried to fight the jet lag, but ultimately gave in to the need for sleep and went up to her room to take a nap. 
 
    Alexi parked herself in the kitchen and started reviewing the nanobot surveillance data. Something must have happened to cause all the nanobots to drop at the same time. Each had a finite energy supply and would drop when its energy was depleted. But each was engaged in a different activity. Some hovered in the air, which burnt through their energy quickly. Others simply sat on a perch and watched. These would typically last for a full day possibly more. Only physical cleaning would take them down before their energy was gone. So, in a room full of well-disbursed nanobots, they would not all drop after only eight hours. Something must have happened. 
 
    The first step in her exploration of the data was to create a persistence chart that showed the percentage of the swarm still operating vs. time, adjusted for the ones lost during cleaning. It was the flattest persistence curve Alexi had ever seen. At 8 hours, 13 minutes, 97% of the initial swarm were operating. At 8 hours 17 minutes, none were. 
 
    Something systematically took these down, but what? 
 
    Alexi looked at the list of nanobots that dropped during the 14th minute of the eighth hour. There were over 200 to choose from, so she picked one at random in the middle and watched the last 15 seconds of its life. 
 
    It was in the scanning room, hovering over a spot where she’d stood earlier today. Its remaining power was 48%. It had apparently been hovering for a while. No one was in the room, but there were cleaning sounds in the background, none nearby. Then suddenly, the signal dropped. 
 
    This is odd. What could have killed it so suddenly. 
 
    She picked another nanobot and repeated the process. This one was sitting on the ledge of one of the changing room doors. Power level 82%. It must have been parked there most of the day. Someone was ironing one of the comfortable terrycloth robes they’d been wearing earlier. They were spraying the robe with some kind of liquid in a spray bottle. Spray, spray, spray, iron, iron, iron. Alexi really didn’t get the purpose for the workers activity but gave her credit for her consistent style. Suddenly, no signal! 
 
    She repeated the process with several more nanobots, all with the same result. Plenty of power. No physical impact. Suddenly dead. 
 
    After some more analysis of the data, Alexi determined that the time of death was loosely proportional to the distance from the worker. It was the only variable she could think of that had any statistical significance at all. After a few minutes of thought, she went back to the bot sitting on the changing room door. 
 
    Maybe something happened there earlier that’s relevant. 
 
    Starting an hour earlier, she started playback at 32x fast forward. A client was just leaving. The woman doing the ironing came in, put away the various garments that were out, gathered up the robes and towels, then left the room. A minute or two later, she came in with towels and robes. From the look of them, they’d just come out of the drier. She ironed the towels, using the same technique Alexi had seen earlier. Then stopped halfway through the last towel. She handed her spray bottle to someone out of view, then took a new one, presumably from the same person. She went back to work, finished the towel, then halfway through the first robe the nanobot died. 
 
    Alexi went back to the start of the last towel and watched at normal speed. As soon as the audio track started, Alexi chuckled. It’s like Cinderella. She’s whistling while ironing.  
 
    “Gabriela, I have a new ironing spray I’d like you to use.” It was Rachelle. 
 
    “What is it?” Gabriela turned to hand her bottle of spray to her boss. 
 
    “It’s a new ironing spray that Julien Bescond gave me. He says that it makes the fabric smoother. It’s about to become the new thing and he wanted us to have it first. He suggested that I use it on the fabric we prepared for the Ambassador’s wedding party…” 
 
    At the mention of Sarah, Alexi’s mind kicked into high gear. An unknown had given Rachelle a chemical compound that he wanted her to use on Sarah. And moments after it is deployed, all the nanobots die. 
 
    “…but I forgot. 
 
    “Well, all for the better, I suppose. I really don’t like trying untested products on my most valuable clients.” 
 
    Alexi let the playback continue until just before the nanobot dropped, then paused to look at the atmospheric chemical concentrations the nanobot had recorded. She wrote down the numbers, then went back to the end of the first towel, then to the empty room, and picked up the numbers. 
 
    An increase in ozone when she started ironing. 
 
    An increase in alcohol shortly after the bottle swap. 
 
    Then more alcohol, a trace of citric acid and an unidentified organic compound just before failure. Also, an error message. Organic compound too large to evaluate, clogging sensors. 
 
    “I’ve got to talk to Michael.” Alexi said out loud. She’d heard rumors of such a thing. It was allegedly used during an assassination on another new world. But she had never been able to track down where and when. In fact, she’d never been able to prove the incident ever occurred. “Maybe James would know.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    The call with Director W’ana S’oto put Joel and Barbara on a path they now felt good about.  
 
    The hospital would be taking the lead on receiving patients and putting them on life support. Dr. Gupta was point on that process. 
 
    Professor Reed had already updated the scanners to diagnose the carrier virus. He was now updating the programming on an existing nanobot therapy to handle it. He expected a treatment to be available within 24 hours. When that was done, he would take on the vaccine. 
 
    That left Joel and Barbara to handle the computer virus. Working together, they now had the fingerprint for the virus code and the process to determine whether or not it was present in an android’s computer mind. 
 
    The computer virus worked differently than any other Joel had seen. Its objective was to overwrite an android’s stack with garbage code, thereby destroying the android’s mind. The android’s code regulation system prevented any automated process from making large changes that could achieve that objective, so its designer did something clever.  
 
    Most computer viruses win by reproducing themselves. One copy of the virus turns into two. Those two, turn into four. Those four, turn into eight, etc. Each copy is the same. Each copy steals a little of the computer’s memory and time. Eventually you end up with thousands or millions of little processes that grind the computer to a halt or cause it to crash. 
 
    But the android code regulation system doesn’t allow that. Only so many copies of the same thing can exist. Only so many changes can be made in a day. Most viruses are caught and put into isolation in a matter of days. 
 
    The designer of this virus did something different, something simple and something that beat the regulation system. A single copy of the main virus would add an inactive virus. Each day it would add another copy. Then after a few days, it would create a mutation of the inactive virus, a few days later another. Allowed to run like this for a couple years, it would saturate an android’s mind with inactive viruses. As it approached the detection limit of the android’s code regulation system it would stop. Then one day, the activation code would come. The thousands of inactive viruses would be activated, overwhelming the code regulation system, killing the android in as little as a few hours. 
 
    It took hours of searching but Joel eventually found one of the inactive viruses. It looked a lot like the ones Director S’oto had sent them. He broke the virus down into its components, then looked for other pieces of code that had those components. Eventually he found several hundred strains of the inactive virus, then the active one that produced them.  
 
    Given the head start the director had given him, it only took five hours to unravel the system. The virus’s only real defense was its stealth—years of silent, symptomless propagation, followed by a synchronized attack on a large population.  
 
    Knowing something about the virus as the first patients fell turned out to be enough of an advantage to stop it. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    Replication and component testing of the ultra-thick, high-density shield generator was done, and they were just putting the finishing touches on the final assembly.  
 
    The last couple days had been both easy and hard. Easy in the sense that the replicators and bots did most of the physical work. Hard in the sense that everything had to be done perfectly, no stone unturned, nothing left undone. They couldn’t test anything here on Earth. It would be too dangerous. They would do a quick test once in space. But turning back at that point would be difficult and embarrassing. So the pressure was on to make sure everything done here was done perfectly. 
 
    “That’s it. The shield controls wake up and respond properly. All systems and diagnostics come up green, except for the main power feed to the shield. 
 
    “Same for the red matter generator. Let’s button it up, so we can test the internal stealth generator.” 
 
    Kelly summoned two bots that lifted the shield generator and put it in the main box. They bolted on the sides and top, then installed the front plate. Once sealed, Kelly tested the alignment of the shield generator and the main shield emitter on the front of the box. 
 
    “Perfect.” 
 
    “Let’s test the stealth field generator.” 
 
    Eugene turned on a scanner and quickly inspected the interior of the box. “Everything is visible. Go ahead and turn on the stealth shield.” 
 
    “On.” 
 
    Eugene scanned again. “Nothing is visible inside. I think we’re done. Tomorrow, we’ll finish the instrumentation box.” 
 
    “Then we wait for Michael.” Kelly replied. 
 
    They still hadn’t heard when the drone itself would be ready. Or when the main power system would be available.  
 
    And Eugene still had not heard whether the new propulsion system had been installed in the ship or ships that were going to be tasked with this mission. 
 
    “I’m going to send a message to Michael asking the status of the rest of the system and of the propulsion. If you’re done, you can take off. I’ll button up once I’ve messaged Michael.” 
 
    “OK.” Kelly smiled. “See you in the morning.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel got back to his office around 6:30 PM. New cases arriving at the hospital had dropped to zero. He was told that only 16 patients were lost, the other 221 were in hibernation. The news that had been leaked was completely bogus. 
 
    He would check in with Barbara in the morning, but treatment was in her and her team’s hands. They could treat 20 to 30 patients in hibernation per day, so would be busy the next week. But for now, his role in that process was done. 
 
    “Henry.” 
 
    “Hey Joel. Hear you had a rough day.” 
 
    “That’s an understatement. Tell me you have some good news.” 
 
    “Freighter 1 is up and checks out. Freighter 2 should be in the same shape sometime tomorrow morning.” 
 
    “But?” 
 
    “We don’t have the AIs to do a flight test. Crews are otherwise ready. But they can’t board until their AI is installed and the flight test completed.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll talk with Barbara in the morning.” 
 
    “What should we do with the production line?” 
 
    “How confident are you in the freighter?” 
 
    “I think we should test the two we have before making any more.” 
 
    “Agreed. I’m hoping to get the go ahead on the drone for Eugene’s superweapon tomorrow. They’ll want that by the end of the week, so we can’t start a cruiser.” 
 
    “That means we let the production line sit idle, or possibly schedule in a Fast Attack Ship.” 
 
    “Let’s start another Freighter hull. It’ll be done in time for us to start the drone tomorrow evening. We can hold the build-out until the first two are tested.” 
 
    “Sounds like a plan.” A pause. “You should take the evening off Joel. Your pushing it too hard.” 
 
    “Thanks Henry. I think I’ll take that advice.” 
 
      
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 MISSION BRIEFING 
 
    [Tuesday, 06.17.2031] ENGINEERING PRESENCE PROJECTOR 
 
    Today was the first meeting of the team that would be planning the mission to the Enemy home world. The participants were scattered, so the meeting was going to be held in the presence projector. It was the first time Eugene or Kelly had been in one since the crisis in Andromeda earlier in the year.  
 
    James and Joel would be joining them here. James would be making the presentation on stellar cartography. Eugene would be making the one on the weapon. The command crews from the Canada and the Oslo had been invited. The meeting was scheduled to run all morning. 
 
    A quick look at the controls for the chamber indicated that the meeting had been initialized and the chamber was authorized to connect. Eugene initialized the connection, then the two of them entered the room when the panel turned green. 
 
    Daniel Porter was the only occupant of the room when they entered. “Eugene, Kelly. Thank you for everything you’ve given us. I look forward to the briefing today.” 
 
    Kelly was the first to reply. “Admiral. Thank you for putting your trust in our work.” 
 
    Daniel put his hands out, indicating the entire ship. “None of this would exist without the two of you.” 
 
    The door to their room opened and Joel came in. He took the seat indicated then acknowledged the others. 
 
    A moment later, James flashed into existence in his designated seat. “Greetings everyone. My apprentice David will be here momentarily.” 
 
    David was not on the invite list, which drew a stern look from Daniel. 
 
    “Admiral Porter. I trust you are well.” James asked simply. 
 
    “Apprentices are generally not invited to meetings like this.” 
 
    “As Kelly was not invited to the first meeting of the shielding team. Contemplate for a moment how that would have turned out if someone with the scope to know had not made the invitation.” 
 
    Daniel had met James several times, but really didn’t know him. His words of protest evaporated when James looked sternly at him. 
 
    A moment later, David flashed into existence in the room. 
 
    “Daniel. Please meet David. He is your only hope if I should somehow cease to be available.” 
 
    Daniel was taken back by the exchange. He’d heard that James was a senior Confederation official and played a role in the most recent battle with the Enemy. But he did not know the details. 
 
    Captain Bjork and her command team were the next to enter. They were followed a moment later by Daniel’s command team, then the Confederation brass: Michael, President Lee, Secretary Thompson, and Admiral Scott. 
 
    Michael took the lead. “I see we’re all here. Our objective today is to review our status toward the attack on the Enemy home world, and to agree on the next steps. James would you like to start?” 
 
    A holographic projection of the stellar cartography map of the sector popped up. 
 
    “Let me start by showing you the locations of Earth and of the system where the Enemy emerges now and again.” 
 
    Two bright markers appeared, one blue, one green. The map zoomed in to maximize the space between the two. 
 
    “The blue dot at the bottom right is the Earth. The green one at the top left of the display is the home world of a people that called themselves Tezzloran. That world is about 1,000 light years from here. 
 
    “We have reason to believe that the Tezzloran created the progenitors of the Enemy. A war ensued between the two. It lasted a long time, possibly a million years. The Enemy finally won that war in one of the recent invasions. The Tezzlorans are now extinct.”  
 
    A bright red dot appeared close to Earth. 
 
    “The red dot is where the Enemy home world is. It would be about 50 light years from us if it existed in normal space time. It does not. It exists in a high dimension. One higher than the warp and jump dimensions that you are familiar with. 
 
    “I am going to rotate the axis on the stellar cartography chart so we can get a better perspective of that world’s location.” 
 
    The map rotated and seemed to flatten. The stars in normal space time populated a curved two-dimensional surface along the bottom and left sides of the projection. The Enemy home world moved up toward the top. 
 
    “Strictly speaking, you don’t need to know the following. But I think it will help you understand the overall situation a little better.” 
 
    A jagged line that looked like torn cloth formed. It ran from the Tezzloran’s dot to a position close to the Enemy’s dot. 
 
    “By their nature, the Enemy are multidimensional. At least as they exist in our space time. That’s why they appear as dust. The Tezzlorans knew this; they made them that way. When the war broke out, they created a trans-dimensional weapon to use against them. 
 
    “They eventually used the weapon, which had a much different result than they expected. It created a massive space time rift that cut from the base dimension that we live in up through dimension 283. 
 
    “Huge numbers of the Enemy escaped into the rift and found a planet they could live on. At dimensions that high, they coalesce into a solid form. The rift eventually closed. The Enemy multiplied and evolved into the creatures they are today. 
 
    “If the rift had remained closed, then the Enemy could not have returned. But it does not remain closed. Too much energy was released. Even now, 100 thousand years later, the rift churns like waves pounding on the face of a cliff. And periodically, a gap forms that is large enough for the Enemy to descend through. 
 
    “That is why we see them emerge near the Tezzloran home world. 
 
    “But back to the mission briefing… Neither your astrogation team nor the Confederation has the data required to get you from Earth to the Enemy home world. I will provide you with the course. It will look like this. You will travel to this point in normal space time.” 
 
    A line representing the course was displayed on the holoprojection. The coordinates of the course were also displayed. 
 
    “Then you will engage Eugene’s new propulsion system and travel to this point.” 
 
    The line representing the course moved in a wavy line up to a position close to the enemy home world, then continued in a straight line toward it. 
 
    Daniel’s astrogation officer Keanu Tajima raised his hand. “Professor, may I ask a question?” 
 
    “Seems you just did.” James said light heartedly. “But please, ask what you would like.” 
 
    “Why the zig-zag course?” 
 
    “Ah. Good question. To you and your sensors, it will appear to be a straight line. In N-dimensional space it will be a straight line. The line appears wavy on the display because the dimensions have differing properties. My simulations need to model those differences to assure your course is safe. This is simply the 3-dimensional flattened view. Sorry for the confusion on that.” 
 
    “Any other questions?” 
 
    Daniel raised his hand and James nodded an acknowledgement. 
 
    “Has the new propulsion system been tested?” 
 
    Eugene answered. “No. That’s one of the things we need to do. I have designs and simulations for both the Fast Attack Ships and Cruisers. But they have not been built and tested.” 
 
    Joel piped up. “If I understand what Eugene has given me, we can update a Fast Attack Ship in less than a day. Fabrication of the new parts will take six hours. Installation, maybe 12.” 
 
    “Any other questions on this aspect of the mission?” Michael asked. 
 
    There were none. 
 
    “Eugene, could you give us an update on the weapon?” 
 
    Eugene stood. “I think everyone here was part of the briefing before the test mission. So, I will only give a quick reminder. 
 
    “Our weapon is based on a Confederation scientific discovery made a long time ago. A substance was discovered, one I call red matter, that causes a chain reaction in any real matter that it touches. The real matter slides into another dimension, losing some energy, then falls back to ours, releasing another bit of red matter and forcing another bit of matter to transition. The reaction runs until all energy has been lost. 
 
    “To use slang, it freezes things. 
 
    “Because of the danger that red matter poses, we encase our target in an ultra-thick, high-density shield to prevent the reaction from running past the target. 
 
    “Here is a short video clip of the final test we did.” 
 
    The holoprojector displayed the view of asteroid C1207 from the Oslo’s perspective. As the ball of undulating red matter appeared, Eugene paused the projection. 
 
    “Our initial readings indicate that the asteroid was hot on the side facing the star, cold on the side facing space. Its internal temperature was in the range you would expect.  
 
    “Our red matter collector ejected its contents, which are contained in a bubble of normal shielding. You can see the chaos of the red matter itself stressing its containment shield. In a moment you will see how violent that chaos is when the red matter mixes with real matter. 
 
    “When I resume playback, you will see the red matter transported to the surface of the asteroid, which will then be encased in our most powerful shield.” 
 
    Playback resumed. The red matter disappeared, and the ultra-dense shield was formed around the asteroid. 
 
    “It’s like a hole in space.” President Lee muttered. 
 
    “Yes. We did the test with the star in the background to make the shielded area visible. OK, the violence is about to begin.” 
 
    The black hole in space expanded, rippled, and contorted, then went mostly still. Then after a few moments, it expanded massively, churning in a way that screamed danger. Then it stopped. 
 
    “At this point, the reaction is essentially done. But we waited hours until we reached the 5-sigma completion time. I’m going to jump playback to the point where we drop the shield.” 
 
    The hole in space disappeared, revealing the shrunken and slightly deformed asteroid. Moments later, the asteroid exploded into a cloud of dust. 
 
    “The asteroid was basically sitting there at absolute zero. It shrank because of the cold and became incredibly brittle. We hit it with a standard US Navy railgun round, and it shattered into dust. 
 
    “I know most of you know about the test. For me, seeing it made it real. 
 
    “As regards our preparedness for the mission, the main build for the weapon, shield and onboard instrumentation is essentially done. Two things remain. Obtaining the 450-gigawatt power supply for the ultra-thick, high-density shield. And completing the drone that will deliver the weapon. 
 
    “We have a design for the drone that could be deployed from either a Cruiser or a Fast Attack Ship. The drone is large enough that it will need to be built in space.” 
 
    Joel cut in. “If I may. The drone build will take about 12 hours on the spaceship production line. This could be done in the next day or two if approved.” 
 
    Joel nodded to Eugene. 
 
    “Are there questions?” 
 
    “Joel, where are we regarding the power supply?” 
 
    “It is assembled, tested and awaiting pick up on Karagon.” 
 
    “Do you know when we’re going to pick up?” 
 
    “We are waiting on helm AIs for the new freighters. Two freighters have been built. Another hull will be finished this morning. Once we get the AIs, they can be installed, and the ship can take a shakeout run to Karagon to pick up the power supply. Emmanuel will need to make the arrangements with Karagon.” 
 
    “You have approval to build out the drone if you are satisfied with the design. I’ll let Barbara know that the AIs are her priority now that the android crisis has stabilized.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

  MONTGOMERY HAMILTON’S OFFICE, NEW YORK CITY 
 
    The selloff of Confederation-related stocks continued. Winston Bainbridge’s position was up about $60 million going into the last hour of trade. 
 
    Monty was surprised that he hadn’t heard from the Securities and Exchange Commission yet. More surprised when he heard a scream down the hall. Running out into the hall, he saw a dozen FBI agents. Half were running his way. Half had their rifles trained on Louise. 
 
    “Montgomery Hamilton!” The lead agent shouted at him. 
 
    Monty put his hands up. “That would be me. Why are they pointing their rifles at my receptionist?” 
 
    The lead man put his hand up, holding a document that looked like the search warrant he was expecting. While his attention was distracted, two of the agents circled around him. They grabbed his hands, pulled them behind his back and slapped handcuffs on, then slammed him into the wall and kicked his feet apart. 
 
    “What the hell!” Monty spat some blood from his mouth. The impact with the wall had apparently broken something. “We have all the documents prepared for you. There must be some misunderstanding.”  
 
    After a very personal and aggressive search, they spun him around to face the Agent in Charge. Monty noticed that they had Louise on the floor face down, wire ties on her hands and feet. 
 
    “Montgomery Hamilton. You are under arrest. You are charged with conspiracy in the deaths of 112 Confederation citizens at the Embassy. Anything you say can and will be used against you in a court of law.” 
 
    “What?” Monty was dumbfounded. “What?” He repeated himself. 
 
    The sound of Louise crying brought him back to the moment. 
 
    “Why is Louise on the floor?” 
 
    “She reached for a weapon hidden under her desk.” 
 
    “That can’t be true.” After some sputtering. “Look one of my clients sold some stock that went up after the news last night. I was expecting the SEC to come investigate. We even prepared all the documents for them so this could be done easily.” 
 
    The agent just shook his head. “Don’t know anything about that. But I do have this.” He held up a picture. It was a clear image of Monty carrying some equipment into a building he did not recognize.” 
 
    “That looks like me, but I have no idea where that is or what that stuff is.” 
 
    “Pack him up. We’re taking him downtown. Her too. No one else leaves until we say so.” He announced to the crowd that was gathering from other offices. 
 
    As Monty was being dragged away, he cried out. “I only brokered some trades that were completely legit.” 
 
    … 
 
    In an office on the other side of town, Winston Bainbridge just smiled. He’d watched the scene on a monitor in his office. It was fed by the nanobot-based surveillance equipment he’d released into the reception area when he visited Monty last week. It not only allowed him to watch today’s entertainment. It allowed him to steal the security codes to this floor, so he could come back and plant evidence last night. He’d also planted another little surprise, instructions for his account to be liquidated and closed today. Those instructions, along with the relevant disbursement information, had been entered using Monty’s security codes. Monty would be hit with embezzlement charges tomorrow, when the firm found out that the funds in his account had been distributed to accounts set up in Monty’s name. Accounts that would be closed, the funds transferred offshore, before anyone learned of them. 
 
    Ju-Ne smiled. No human could defend themselves from Confederation technology, something that he was a master of. He would be transferring to a new avatar tonight. This avatar, Winston Bainbridge, would eventually be found dead in Monty’s beach cottage. 
 
    The next phase of his plan would start soon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OVAL OFFICE, WASHINGTON, DC 
 
    “Michael, thank you for accepting this call. We think we have found the perpetrator in the attack on the Embassy. We have a mountain of evidence. He’s in our custody at this point and being interviewed as we speak.” 
 
    “Is there any chance we could have one of our people meet him in person? This would be brief. Our only purpose would be to confirm his identity. No harm will come to him. You may of course have people present.” 
 
    “Do you think you know who did this?” The President was surprised by this development. 
 
    “Yes. Our evidence is of a different nature than yours. You may not consider it valid for use in your case against him. But if it is who we think it is, then we would be happy to assist you in holding him. I doubt you have the means to restrain him for long without his consent.” 
 
    “Yes. Please have your representative coordinate with the FBI Director. Forwarding his private contact information now.” 
 
    Michael saw a new item appear in his queue. Some time ago, he’d set up a private address connected to the human email system. The President had that address and could send messages to it. His message bot could usually handle it from there, routing ones like this to his queue. 
 
    “May I change topics?” The President asked. 
 
    “Certainly.” 
 
    “The Attorney General has confirmed that the three children David Washington was convicted of killing were in fact still alive. As you said, two of them can confirm your version of the events of that night. 
 
    “It is deeply disturbing to me that this young man was convicted. Things were really a mess in Baltimore in 2011. I would not be surprised to hear that this was not the only case of wrongful conviction. 
 
    “Anyway, the Attorney General has recommended that we have the verdict overturned. That would remove the offense from Mr. Washington’s record. It would also make him eligible to pursue compensation. We would be willing to present his case for him, if he would like to pursue it. Either way, I intend to award him the Presidential Medal of Freedom. I watched that episode of George Butler’s show. His actions were heroic. His government penalized him for it. This does not make up for what he was subjected to, but it does recognize him for the hero that he is.” 
 
    “Thank you.” As much as Michael doubted that they’d found Ju-Ne, he appreciated that the President was doing the right thing about David. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    After the mission briefing, Joel decided to go over to the lab to check in with Barbara.  
 
    “How are things coming in here?” 
 
    “Your process for removing the virus has been working smoothly. It takes about an hour per android. About a third of that is logistics, getting the android positioned, connected, launching the regeneration cycle after we’ve removed the virus, then getting them someplace safe while the regeneration cycle runs. 
 
    “To help with throughput, the hospital has sent over nurses that can manage the patient handling before and after the procedure. I’ve been doing four patients, then taking a break, then four more and another break, then another four. It’s a 10-hour shift, very tiring, but doable.” 
 
    “Then maybe I have some good news for you.” 
 
    “Which would be?” Barbara was skeptical, when Joel said good news, he usually meant more work. 
 
    “We need helm AIs for our new freighters. Michael said that with the android crisis stabilized, he wants you to prioritize the AIs.” 
 
    “But we have patients in hibernation.” 
 
    “Where they are safe and can stay for a couple more hours. Those AIs are in the critical path of the attack on the Enemy home world.” 
 
    “OK. Understood. Let me finish my current set of four patients, then I’ll change gears. There’s only one more after this one and he’s already been prepped.” 
 
    “Thanks, Barbara.” Joel gave her a big smile. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Now that the dress was dealt with, the next thing on Sarah and Pam’s list was the wedding invitations. The date was set for Saturday, July 19. They were forced to cap the guest list at 6,000. The limit was set by the number of rooms that could be made available on the Embassy grounds. Nearly 3,600 of the invites were going to officials that Confederation policy required them to invite. From Earth, two couples from each country would be invited, the president and senior ambassador from each member country. From each of the allied worlds in the sector, two officials of the ally’s choice plus their spouse or guest. Approximately 200 more officials from the Embassy, and their spouse or guest. Media invitations for a party of 4 were granted to 50 media outlets. 
 
    Michael’s personal list was relatively short, only 100. Sarah’s was quite a bit longer. 
 
    The invitations going to on-world guests would be sent in the traditional manner. Off-world invitations would be sent electronically and include replicator specifications for the invitation package. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FBI OFFICE, NEW YORK CITY 
 
    After some negotiation, the FBI had agreed to let the Confederation representative transport into the office of the Special Agent in Charge of the investigation. 
 
    At 6:00 PM exactly, James appeared in the office of Special Agent Ralph Palmer. 
 
    “Agent Palmer? I’m James Ancient from the Intergalactic Confederation of Planets. Thank you for allowing me to visit.” 
 
    The flash that accompanied James appearance momentarily stunned Agent Palmer. 
 
    “Mr. Ancient. Thank you for your interest in this case. May I ask your qualifications to participate in an investigation and your interest in this case?” 
 
    “The person who committed this crime is an Ascendant named Ju-Ne. He is a master spy trained by the Confederation’s Military Investigations Agency. He’s a member of a renegade group within the Confederation. He has a long record of crimes committed against member worlds. He was assigned to Earth under false documentation in 2025. And, he’s had six years to plan his assault on the Embassy and the destruction of society here on Earth. He is also the person behind the destruction of the EAS Helsinki. 
 
    “The current attack on the Embassy was planned and put in motion six years ago. His plan was clever. Disable, or kill, all androids born on Earth. It would have a massive impact on Embassy and Earth Alliance operations and a deleterious effect on the global economy. 
 
    “If you had captured Ju-Ne, which seems unlikely, he would have escaped by now. However, the fact that he has given you evidence against the man you hold, means this man knows something. If we act quickly, we may be able to apprehend the perpetrator before the trail runs cold. 
 
    “May I see the evidence, then interview the prisoner?” 
 
    “Let’s slow down just a little.” From the special agent’s condescending tone, it was clear that he had no respect for James’ information or for James himself. “How do you know this? We found the evidence we have. It was not given to us.” 
 
    James exhaled. Fools like this are what brings down every civilization. 
 
    “You should assume that I know everything.” 
 
    The special agent snorted but played along. “Then why do you need my help?” 
 
    “I don’t. I’m just trying to be polite.” 
 
    “OK, Mr. Ancient. I think we’re done here.” He stood. 
 
    “Excellent.” James stood also. “Then let’s go talk to the prisoner.” 
 
    Before Agent Palmer could reply, they both disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
    … 
 
    Monty was dazed and confused. He’d been in this interrogation room for two hours now, chained to the chair and table. His wrists were raw. They’d shown him picture after picture. In each, he was doing something. He didn’t recognize or remember any of them. But at this point, they’d convinced him that he’d done something horrible, even though he couldn’t figure out what, when or how. 
 
    There was a sudden flash of light and two men appeared in the room standing on the other side of the table. 
 
    Monty screamed. 
 
    “What the hell is going on?” The special agent shouted. 
 
    James looked at him quizzically. “You said we were done up there. So, I brought us down here.” 
 
    “OK. Buddy. Enough is enough.” 
 
    With one hand, the agent went for the gun in his chest holster. With the other he pounded on the one-way window. “Send in some back up. We’re taking this guy into custody also.” 
 
    As he started pulling the gun out of his holster, it disintegrated in his hand. By the time he got his hand out from under his jacket, the last grains of metallic sand were falling to the floor. 
 
    The agent was flummoxed. His head moved back and forth seemingly confused about where his gun was. The banging on the door brought the special agent back to the moment. 
 
    “What’s going on here?” The question sounded confused. 
 
    “Agent Palmer. We’re going to interview the prisoner, then we’re going to review the evidence you have. You are wasting time.” 
 
    “How did you do that?” 
 
    James sighed in frustration. “If nothing else, it should be clear to you now that you do not have Ju-Ne here. I am being polite and trying to work with you. Ju-Ne would already have slaughtered you and disposed of the evidence.” 
 
    When it was clear that Agent Palmer was not going to cooperate, James said. “Sit down and be quiet.” The command was given with great force. The agent pulled out the chair and sat. In the hallway, the noise stopped, and men could be heard sitting down on the floor. 
 
    As he cast his gaze on Monty, James said, “Tell me about Winston Bainbridge.” 
 
    … 
 
    Monty spoke for about 30 minutes. Every scrap of information just flowed out. 
 
    “Thank you.” James smiled at Monty whose spirits seem to rise. 
 
    “Do you have a theory about what Winston is up to?” 
 
    “I didn’t know anything about it, other than he wanted to sell those shares urgently. When I saw the video clip that came out after the close, I called him immediately.” 
 
    “As you said,” James nodded, then prodded. “But what do you think he is doing now? I want you to speculate. He is immensely powerful and can defeat any barrier.” 
 
    Monty looked at James questioningly, then plowed in. “He would obviously want the positions closed out and the money transferred out of the country. I was surprised that the SEC had not sealed his account yet. Nominally, it takes 3 days for securities transactions to clear. But on Thursday, I would expect him to wire all his money overseas.” 
 
    “Could it be transferred out sooner?” 
 
    “Yes. Requires a special waiver, but given the pending investigation, it would not be given.” 
 
    “Special Agent Palmer. Determine whether Winston Bainbridge’s account was frozen by the SEC.” The special agent looked like he was about to protest, but James’ look convinced him not to. 
 
    The door unlocked and opened, but the only people on the other side were all quietly sitting on the floor. The special agent got up, walked out the door, turned left and started jogging down the hall. One of the guards started to get up. 
 
    “You will remain seated. Your job is to guard this room. Do not speak other than to tell me if someone is coming.” James’ commands were issued calmly, but forcefully. 
 
    The man sat and nodded his acknowledgement to James. 
 
    “How would he get the waiver?” James turned back to Monty. 
 
    “I would need to approve it. Our treasurer would also. Once those certifications were in the computer, any transfer would happen automatically once entered.” 
 
    “Then I suspect the money has already gone.” 
 
    “How? I’ve been here most of the day. Our treasurer is out of town.” 
 
    “Mr. Bainbridge is a Confederation spy, an extremely skilled one. He is the one behind the Embassy attack. He is the one who framed you.” 
 
    “So, I didn’t do it?” 
 
    James chuckled. One of the men in the hall did also. 
 
    “No, Monty. You don’t have the skill to do what he’s done. But the fact that you are doubting yourself shows how skilled Ju-Ne is.” 
 
    “Agent Palmer is coming,” The guard said. 
 
    “Thank you.” James smiled at the man, boosting his spirits. 
 
    “Mr. Ancient. The SEC sent an order to have the account sealed last night. First thing this morning, the order was remanded.” 
 
    “See.” James said, looking at Monty. 
 
    “Agent Palmer. We need to go to Monty’s office. He needs to come with us. This needs to be done with urgency.” 
 
    James looked at Monty. “You sir. Let’s go.” The shackles that held Monty fell away. 
 
    “You.” Agent Palmer pointed to the five men sitting on the floor. “You will be coming with us. Let’s go. No time to spare.” 
 
    The men obviously wanted to get up but were frozen in place. 
 
    “Do as he says.” James’ smile pushed them into gear. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, GUEST HOTEL 
 
    The Xotiq crew and their things had transported down yesterday afternoon. Adjunct Diplomat Evan Till led a team of five adjunct diplomats that would host them for the remainder of their stay. They had been taken to breakfast at the dining room in the hotel, then for a walk in Riverside Park.  
 
    Lunch had been served in the conference room where they worked with Evan and his team to further refine a return plan. Michael would be joining them shortly. 
 
    “I still think we need to start by contacting a single senior government official, and the Science Minister is the right choice.” Captain Lan’Tashi could not understand why this wasn’t obvious to everyone. 
 
    Evan shook his head in disagreement. “Going with a single point of contact is risky. If that person rejects our story, they could poison others to it, before we have a chance to win anyone over. It’s always better to make the reveal to a group.” 
 
    “But how would we do that?” 
 
    “Let me show you something that might work on Earth if the situation were reversed.” 
 
    Evan put a two-dimensional image of his computer screen on the holoprojector. He navigated to YouTube. “On Earth we have many sites on the web where we can find videos of every kind. Do you have anything like that?” 
 
    “Yes, but I’m not getting the relevance.” 
 
    “Watch this.” He played a short clip from the start of the Embassy’s New Year Special. It showed Captain Ja-Ru walking out on the stage with Sarah and the other reporters, the stunned silence, then the welcome applause. 
 
    “What was that?” 
 
    “This show was recorded here at the Embassy on New Year’s Day this year. The tall one walking out was a Lorexian. It was the first time the Lorexian physical form was shown to a broad audience on Earth.” 
 
    “I’m still not getting the relevance.” 
 
    “Suppose you went on a show like this. You could explain how you got here, the nature of your mission, how you were rescued and brought to Earth, the dilemma in returning home. 
 
    “We could send copies of the video to the entire ministry and offer to meet with them.” 
 
    “Interesting idea.” 
 
    “What problems might we run into? Will any of them watch it? Will any reply?” 
 
    “I don’t know. But I like the idea.” 
 
    Deputy Chief Tan’Shima spoke up. “We have many places like your YouTube. Could we just post it there, then send the link to everyone, like the whole population?” 
 
    With everyone’s attention on the holoprojector, no one noticed that Michael had come in. 
 
    “Sounds like we have an alternative.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MONTGOMERY HAMILTON’S OFFICE, NEW YORK CITY 
 
    The on-site forensic team was still in the brokerage offices. They quickly yielded as the Special Agent came in with his badge out. 
 
    As they stepped into the reception area, James put out his hands. “Everyone, please be still for a moment.” 
 
    The team that came in with James, all froze. The leader of the forensic team didn’t. “What’s this about? You’re going to contaminate the scene.” 
 
    James turned toward him. “Quiet.” 
 
    The man froze in place. 
 
    James cast his attention around the ceiling of the room. He was still for a moment, then his hand shot out toward the ceiling. The hand itself turned to a cloud of light that raced up and spread across the ceiling. Moments later it coalesced into something that looked like a glass sphere attached to his wrist. Inside it was a cloud of tiny specks. 
 
    “These are surveillance nanobots. Ju-Ne has had this office under surveillance. He undoubtedly knows everything about this place. Employees. Everything about the employees including the passwords and security keys. That’s undoubtedly how he managed to get in last night. 
 
    “Monty, go log into your account and determine the status of Mr. Bainbridge’s account. Agent Palmer, please send one of your men along with him. Ju-Ne may have left some unpleasantness in his wake.” 
 
    The special agent indicated a man, who turned and followed Monty. 
 
    James turned to the forensics lead. “I need a conference room with a glass tabletop.” 
 
    “This way sir.” The man suddenly unfroze and led the way. 
 
    “May I ask what we’re looking for?” Agent Palmer asked. 
 
    “If these nanobots are still connected, I may be able to trace them back.” 
 
    James was led to a room at the edge of the building. It had expansive windows looking out over the city and a glass wall separating it from the hallway. 
 
    “Excuse me. Do you know if there is an interior room with no glass walls? What I’m about to do will release an immense amount of light.” Hearing the question forming in Agent Palmer’s mind, James continued. “There will be no explosion or other damage. But this much light can temporarily blind humans that are directly exposed.” 
 
    “Understood. Yes. There is an office-sized conference room in the library.” 
 
    Moments later, James was seated at the glass topped table. All the agents exited the library and shut its wooden doors. A moment later, brilliant light with hints of color streamed out from under the door. 
 
    “Look away.” Agent Palmer shouted. Then the thought ran through his mind. How could anyone endure direct exposure to that?  
 
    His momentary concern for James, suddenly morphed into fear. No human has any defense whatsoever against beings like James Ancient or Ju-Ne. We are completely at their mercy. 
 
    … 
 
    Monty could not believe what he found when he logged on. The positions had been closed. A waiver had been given for immediate release of funds. The waiver had his signature and that of the treasurer. It also had their security codes. 
 
    Wires went out before the close of business to five companies he’d never heard of. A quick search of the companies showed the sole owner to be Montgomery Hamilton. 
 
    Monty almost melted onto the floor. Ten years per offense. The thought pulsed through his mind. Even if James got him off the murder charges, this would put him in jail for the rest of his life. 
 
    “What’s the matter?” The agent who accompanied Monty asked. 
 
    “The money is gone. It was wired out today. A waver with my signature and security code is on record. The money went to a company allegedly owned by me.” 
 
    “This Ju-Ne fellow is a real piece of work, isn’t he? Can you trace it any further?” 
 
    Monty looked at the clock. 7:47 PM. “Maybe.” 
 
    He looked up and called the back office for the bank that received the wire.  
 
    “Bank of Maryland, Operations Department. Jason speaking.” 
 
    “Jason. This is Monty Hamilton. My bank released a wire to you in error today. I’d like confirmation of its status.” Monty read off the details of the wire and its source. 
 
    “Sorry, Mr. Hamilton. Funds went to Panama an hour ago. The company that held the account has closed it. I can’t tell you any more without a court order.” 
 
    “Thank you, Jason.” Monty’s head dropped to the desk. Someone had just stolen over $300 million from his company and the money was already out of the United States. 
 
    “That bad?” The agent asked. 
 
    “Already sent to Panama and probably not there anymore. We’ve been screwed.” 
 
    “Anything else you need to get here?” 
 
    “What’s the point. I’m going to spend the rest of my life in jail. I should just jump out the window and save everybody the hassle.” 
 
    “I don’t think you’ll be charged. It’s pretty obvious at this point that you’ve been played. And James seems to like you. I can guarantee that no jury will convict if James testifies. They will do exactly what he tells them to.” 
 
    Agent Palmer and one of his men came running into Monty’s office. “We have a lead. Monty, where’s your home? We think he may be there.” 
 
    “Apartment in Battery Park, beach cottage in Ocean Beach, Connecticut.” 
 
    James walked in. “Ocean Beach sounds right to me. OK if I just take us there?” 
 
    “Let’s take our cars, we have lights and sirens.” 
 
    “That will take too long. I’m going to transport. Who’s coming?” 
 
    Everyone raised their hand. 
 
    There was a bright flash of light… 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BEACH COTTAGE, OCEAN BEACH 
 
    Winston was just about done. The funds had arrived in his accounts in Switzerland. Even after bank fees, lawyers to set up the chain of fake companies, and government fees to open and close the companies, $301.2 million showed up in Switzerland. That would be enough to pay for his next round of activities. 
 
    Two more things to do, then he could withdraw from this avatar and move on to his next. 
 
    There was a flash of light. The Ancient Sentient! He was surprised that he’d been found, but reflexively started the ejection sequence. Ju-Ne was hit with extreme compulsion to stay, but the sequence had begun. Ejection was usually instantaneous. But this time it seemed to stretch and stretch.  
 
    He was awake in his restoration chamber. Some compulsion remained, but Ju-Ne had been trained to resist. The Ancient One cannot track me through the quantum entanglement, but he held enough of my mind to expose some of the plan and possibly my location. Must leave immediately. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CAIRO 
 
    First watch had just started. Captain Clarissa Saldanha had just settled into her seat, when her helm AI, Kevin, sounded the alarm. 
 
    “Captain. An unauthorized transport has just been initiated.” 
 
    “Where?” 
 
    “Cargo Bay 4.” 
 
    “Security to Cargo Bay 4.” 
 
    “Kevin. Lock down the transporters.” 
 
    “Ms. Brito. You have the bridge. I’m heading down to the cargo bay.” 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am.” Lt. Valentina Brito was the first watch Astrogation officer. She was also the ship’s third officer. She usually took the Captain’s chair when the captain was called away from the bridge. 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain, Cargo Bay 4 is locked. Our security overrides are not working.” 
 
    “Stand aside.” The captain walked up to the door and applied her master security code. The door slid open. 
 
    “Ma’am. It looks like a restoration chamber.” 
 
    “Captain.” Kevin’s voice came over the intercom. “The transport lockout has been overridden. Transport is initiating. 
 
    Clarissa and the head of security ran toward the restoration chamber. Both knew that if they could reach it, the transport would take them also. But it would not actually do the transport if it could not get all of them. 
 
    The air started to glisten as the security chief dove toward his target. It disappeared just before he got there. He landed hard on the floor, sliding past where the restoration chamber had been. 
 
    “Get me Space Force Command!” The Captain called out, then noticed her chief of security struggling to stand. 
 
    “Banged up my knee, ma’am.” 
 
    She pointed to two of the security guards. “You two. Take him up to the hospital.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS CAIRO 
 
    “All logs have been released to you sir.” Clarissa was just finishing a call with Admiral Scott. 
 
    “Thank you and nice work. You almost got him.” 
 
    Clarissa laughed. “Almost is about the same as nothing, I think.” 
 
    “From what I’ve been told, the person in that restoration chamber is the one responsible for taking down the Helsinki. Would have been sweet to catch him ourselves. 
 
    “He apparently did the same thing on two other ships. We did not get lock down orders out quickly enough. He is apparently in Europe now.” 
 
    “I thought he wiped the transporter logs.” 
 
    “He did. The last ship was in a lower orbit over the eastern Atlantic. The safe transport locations from that spot are all in Europe unless he has a stealth ship or something on the ocean.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FBI HEADQUARTERS, NEW YORK 
 
    Another FBI forensics team had been dispatched to Monty’s beach cottage. Once they’d secured the premises, James transported most of the team from headquarters back to the office. 
 
    James and Monty were now waiting in a conference room. Monty was thankful they hadn’t put him back in an interrogation room, but still concerned about potential legal trouble. James was getting grumpy about the inefficiency with which the FBI conducted its business. He was tempted to leave but determined to stay until Monty was cleared. 
 
    While they waited, James healed the raw skin around Monty’s wrists and ankles. Then started entertaining Monty with some tricks. 
 
    After an hour of waiting, the door opened, and Agent Palmer came in with two other men. 
 
    “Monty, James. This is Chief of Station Gregory Wilson and Federal District Attorney Mathew Jefferson.” The three men sat, then the district attorney started in. 
 
    “Gentlemen, apologies for keeping you here as long as we did. Monty, you remain a person of interest in this case. At this point, we do not believe that you were behind either the attack on the Confederation, the insider trading or the embezzlement of funds. Nonetheless, you were in direct contact with the person we now believe to be the perpetrator. For now, the charges that had been prepared are being dropped. When we are done here, you will be free to go. But that is contingent on your continued cooperation with the investigation. 
 
    “Professor Ancient. You are a different problem. Your actions today violated numerous statutes. But we have been advised that as the Confederation representative in this investigation you have diplomatic immunity. Therefore, no charges will be filed. But we ask that you remain in the area.” 
 
    A card appeared in James hand. It had a New York phone number on it. He pushed it across the table. “You can reach me at this number.” 
 
    “May I asked where you will be staying?” 
 
    “I don’t know. But that number will reach me wherever I am.” 
 
    Under normal circumstances, D.A. Jefferson would not accept that answer. But in this case, he let it go. 
 
    “I think that’s all for tonight.” The station chief declared as he stood. 
 
    “Monty. We’d appreciate it if you gave us a call once you’ve put the pieces back together in your office tomorrow. I’d like to come by tomorrow afternoon to get the documents you prepared regarding the insider trading and money transfer. There is a lot of paperwork that needs to be done, even though the suspect is dead.” 
 
    “What about my receptionist, Louise.” 
 
    “Sorry, but the weapons charges still apply.” The D.A. shot back. 
 
    “No.” James said forcefully. “Watch.” 
 
    A holoprojection started playing. It showed Winston Bainbridge planting the weapon. The scene faded and was replaced by images of the FBI team raiding the office and Louise reaching to push the button that would alert Monty. 
 
    “Insufficient. The gun has her fingerprints on it.” 
 
    James locked eyes with the D.A. who appeared to go into a trance. 
 
    “What are you doing to him?” Agent Palmer stood. 
 
    “Just helping him see what happened.” 
 
    The D.A. screamed, then fell to the floor. 
 
    Agent Palmer started to draw the new gun he’d been issued, then stopped when he felt it starting to get soft. 
 
    The D.A. stopped shaking, then turned to Agent Palmer and screamed. “You hog tied an innocent woman with wire ties. What the hell were you thinking! It wasn’t her gun. She doesn’t even know how to take the safety off.” 
 
    “What?” Agent Palmer looked at the D.A. like he was nuts. 
 
    The D.A. turned to James. “What did you do to me? I was her. I saw and felt what happened. The confusion, the gun. She didn’t know anything about it.” 
 
    “I am an empath. I can absorb memories and share them with others. If you pursue charges against this innocent woman, I will share that memory with the judge and jury. They will not be very happy with you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Alexi had asked for some time with Michael when they got back yesterday. She was finally getting some now. 
 
    “Alexi, did you have a good time in Paris?” 
 
    “For a working day inside, it wasn’t so bad. They’re actually making me a dress. I could tell that Rachelle found the idea distasteful. At one point my surveillance bots caught her saying something about a small, wiry one in with the bevy of beauties.” Alexi chuckled. “If she only knew.” 
 
    “Please don’t hurt her.” 
 
    “I’m a professional, Michael.” 
 
    “So, what’s on your mind.” 
 
    “Have you heard of a person named Julien Bescond?” 
 
    “In passing. He’s a critic of some sort, right?” 
 
    “That’s what it says online, but he’s more than that.” 
 
    “What makes you say that?” 
 
    “He gave Rachelle an ironing spray. I never knew there was such a thing. She was supposed to use it on the fabrics we looked at, and on the robes and towels we used.” 
 
    “And…?” 
 
    “She forgot to bring it in, but after we left, she gave it to the maid, Jannette, to use on the towels and robes we used.” 
 
    Michael focused his attention and senses on Alexi, knowing that the punch line was about to be dropped. 
 
    “All of the residual surveillance nanobots I left behind in the entire studio were taken down within three minutes, when she started using the spray. It contains a large organic compound of some sort that kills nanobots.” 
 
    “So, this is a security issue?” 
 
    “Our personal shields use nanobots to form the shield emitters. Anyone that puts on clothes ironed with that spray will lose their personal shields in a matter of seconds. Depending on how much is on the clothes, they may lose any prophylactic nanobots in their system. 
 
    “One other odd thing happened today. As we were entering the Louvre, some men came out another door. I only noticed them because they seemed too interested in Sarah. They were carrying cases that I assume contained some artwork. I found those cases online. They are specialty cases favored by mercenaries. If we had lost our shields at Rachelle’s studio, I would not have been able to protect Sarah. 
 
    “This Bescond guy is trouble. I’ve been thinking that maybe he’s a Ju-Ne avatar. We should put him under surveillance. We should also get some of that spray and figure out what it is. If he deploys it large scale at the wedding, he could take down the Earth and the Confederation in this sector.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BURGUNDY, FRANCE 
 
    Ju-Ne’s restoration chamber appeared in a small sealed room. The room itself was hidden by a stealth shield. It was located behind a stone wall at the end of a wine cave owned by Chateau Vérité Cachée.  
 
    Ju-Ne, through one of his avatar personalities had bought this failing vineyard shortly after coming to Earth. He named it Vérité Cachée, which meant Hidden Truth. It was a great marketing ploy, but most importantly, it was one of his emergency backup locations. He had multiple of them. This was the one he could get to from the last ship he passed through. 
 
    He’d heard the Ancient Sentient was powerful. Now he knew how powerful. He was lucky to have escaped. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    When Joel got back from the Android Production Lab, he worked with Henry and Jacob to do a final review of the drone design. 
 
    “Joel, Henry here.” 
 
    “You’ve finished the replicator patterns?” 
 
    “They’re done and ready to launch.” 
 
    “Great news! When are you going to start the build?” 
 
    “Materials staging should be done in about an hour. From there, it will be a little less than 12 hours to completion. Do we know yet which ship it will be going to?” 
 
    “No, I don’t.” Joel chuckled. “I’ll message Michael and Admiral Scott letting them know it will be ready from Noon tomorrow and they need to send a ship to pick it up.” 
 
    “What about AIs for the freighters? It’s trouble letting them sit here too long. They’ve already started drifting away.” 
 
    “The AIs will be ready for installation in the morning. I’ve scheduled transportation, so I can install and wake them myself tomorrow morning.” 
 
    “Good news.” 
 
    “It also means that we can start up work on the third production line, Thursday morning.”   
 
    


 
   
  
 

 FREIGHTERS 
 
    [Wednesday, 06.18.2031] ANDROID PRODUCTION LAB 
 
    Joel stopped over to the Android Production Lab to pick up the AIs for the new freighters. Barbara and her team were already at work, Barbara in the main lab, others in two adjacent patient treatment rooms. 
 
    “Morning,” Joel called out. 
 
    “Morning to you, too.” 
 
    “How’s it coming along?” 
 
    “Good. We’ve figured out a way to streamline the process a little more. I’m hoping we can eventually get down to a half hour per patient. I feel bad for all these patients that are going to be on life support for a week or more.” 
 
    “Good to hear.” 
 
    Barbara paused to turn and point at her desk. “The birthing computer and AI fact sheets are over there. They will wake up knowing that they are bringing up a new ship class.” 
 
    “OK. Good luck today.” 
 
    “You, too.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, FREIGHTER 1 
 
    It was eerie, transporting onto the bridge of a crewless ship. The lights came up as soon as Joel arrived. The only sound was the air circulation system. It had been running for over 24-hours at this point, so the air was fresh. Nonetheless, it was quiet. 
 
    Joel walked over to the container in which the AI would be installed. He opened it and inserted the AI’s portable box. It snapped crisply in place, the snap echoing in the otherwise empty bridge. 
 
    The light on the box, blinked for a second as it made connection for the first time with its ship, then turned a solid red. 
 
    Joel closed it back up, then pushed the red button on the surface. The button blinked twice, then Mathias appeared in the pilot’s seat. 
 
    “Joel. Good to see you. I like this ship. I can feel its energy pulsing through my veins. And it’s a hot rod isn’t it. Light. Huge engines for this weight. How soon before I can jump?” 
 
    “Mathias. I’m glad you like your new ship. We are doing something a little different with the freighter class ships. We’re bringing the ships officers aboard for the first test flight. You should have their location and contact information.” 
 
    “Yes. I do. OK, if I just bring them to the bridge?” 
 
    Before Joel could reply three people appeared on the bridge’s upper level. 
 
    “Welcome aboard, Captain. I am your pilot, Mathias. Where would you like to go for your test flight? Joel still has the command codes, so he will need to approve your destination.” 
 
    Joel walked up to shake hands with the crew. 
 
    “Joel, I’m Avery Shields, soon to be Captain of this ship. With me are First Officer Ina Talgateva and Second Officer Mandla Longo. Believe it or not all three of us are Canadian. I’m of European descent, Ina of Kazakh, and Mandla of Zimbabwean.” 
 
    “Captain Shields, a pleasure.” Then conspiratorially, “If this is your first experience with a newly born AI, they tend to be a bit chatty.” 
 
    “Joel, I can hear you, you know.” 
 
    “I do know.” 
 
    Joel’s statement seemed to make Mathias shut up for a moment. 
 
    “Thank you for that feedback. Now, where are we going?” 
 
    “I filed a flight plan with Space Force. It should be in your message queue.” 
 
    “So it is. May I engage, Joel?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ADMIRAL SCOTT’S OFFICE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Captain Flanagan. Thank you for coming down to talk with me.” 
 
    “Admiral, my pleasure. I love my ship, but it’s nice to come down to the surface now and again.” 
 
    “We have another mission for you. Maybe I should say, we have a mission extension for you. We would like more Transluminide claims. The Professor has made a new list. It covers the same planets as before, plus Karagon and a new one called Naltanarus. 
 
    “Same general mission parameters. There are at least two candidate systems for each of our target allies. The list skips around a bit, but loosely speaking it starts with Naltanarus, then goes in towards Karagon, then back out toward Celanar.  
 
    “When you find a claim in a system, finish scanning that system, then move on. The only real difference is that we want to get to a total of 10,000 kg per target planet. So, if you have finished a system and have not reached 10,000 kg, move on to the next target system for that planet.” 
 
    “Is there a timeframe for this mission? It is exhausting for the mission team. Last time out, Ms. Parikh had to be hospitalized for six hours due to exhaustion.” 
 
    “Understood. We’d like this to be done as quickly as possible, consistent with the health and safety of the crew. Might I make a suggestion?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “Go to the portal and select some specialists to supplement your mission team, enough to crew three shifts. We need to expand the team that can do this. Given her accomplishments to date, Ms. Parikh is a promotion candidate. Successfully building and leading a high-value mission team might be what pushes her over the edge.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS TORONTO 
 
    “Joel, Captain Shields. We have just entered orbit and our systems are being updated. We also just received orders from Admiral Scott.” Mathias spoke up. 
 
    “Can you read us the message from the Admiral?” 
 
    “It says, ‘Congratulations on a successful test flight. Please have Captain Shields report to my office immediately for the ship’s commissioning. The freighter has been given the name EAS Toronto after Canada’s largest city. The crew will begin boarding immediately.’ End of message.” 
 
    “Looks like I need to transport down,” the Captain mused. “Lt. Commander Talgateva, you have the bridge until I return. Please coordinate crew arrival. I’ve posted the cabin assignments in the portal.” 
 
    “Will do, Captain.” 
 
    “Joel, where are you headed next?” 
 
    “Freighter 2.” 
 
    “Godspeed, my friend.” The Captain turned and headed for the command deck transporter. 
 
    “Joel, once the Captain has cleared the transporter, I can transport you to Freighter 2, who was just named EAS Tel Aviv.” 
 
    “Thanks Mathias. Grabbing my equipment now.” 
 
    “Call when you’re ready.” 
 
    … 
 
    Joel gathered his equipment and exited the bridge. Second Officer Longo followed behind. They arrived as two others and their equipment appeared. 
 
    A young woman was the first one off. “Lt. Hazel O’Dwyer reporting for duty, sir.” 
 
    “Lt. Linus Felder reporting for duty, sir.” 
 
    As introductions were made, Joel called out that he was ready, then stepped onto the transport pad when the light turned green. A moment later, he was gone. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, GUEST HOTEL 
 
    Evan Till and his team of adjunct diplomats were back in the conference room with the crew of the Xotiq ship. 
 
    “Have you given more thought to the issue of your return?” 
 
    The question was asked to the group, but as expected, Captain Lan’Tashi answered for them. 
 
    “We spent quite a bit of time on this last night. At this point, I think we all agree with your argument yesterday, a single point of contact is too risky. We also have come to understand the danger of handling this poorly and your wisdom in asking us to come up with the plan. We are the ones with the most knowledge of our people. And it is our people that will be hurt if we do this poorly. 
 
    “We mostly agree that the initial contact should be with the government. They need to set the tone for our return. The contrast would be going to the media. 
 
    “We watched the video of Michael’s Revelation announcement. It was clever in the sense that it created competition among your countries to be the first to join. 
 
    “We can’t really do the same thing. We symbolically represent all Xotiq people, but in truth we are citizens of three countries that banded together to create our mission. Therefore, our appeal needs to be to the leaders of those three countries and to the space alliance that we work for. 
 
    “We may need a little help getting the exact list and their contact information, but I think we are aligned on who we want to contact.” 
 
    “Excellent and well-reasoned. Thank you,” Evan replied. “What about the message itself?” 
 
    “We like the idea of an audiovisual message. We watched several of the shows posted on the Embassy site, then several episodes of George Butler’s show. We think we would like to use that format, if it is possible. But we need more than that. I would like to do a short introduction, saying that we are alive and have incredible news to share. Then append George’s show, possibly edited for conciseness. I’d like the crew to add a segment about where we are and how we have been treated. Then I’d like to close with a segment with Michael and me, in which he offers to return us and proposes to meet with relevant government officials.” 
 
    Evan was pleased with the Captain’s proposal. “I bet we can do most of what you want as part of George’s show. If I could get him to come over here now, would you like to meet him?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BUTLER RESIDENCE 
 
    Little George was 17 days old today. In some sense, it seemed like he was just born yesterday. In another, it seemed like he’d always been with them. George mused at the contradiction. 
 
    He still had the better part of two weeks paternity leave, but in truth was ready to go back to work, part-time anyway. 
 
    “George?” It was his mother Helen, who was still staying with them. 
 
    “What’s up Mom?” 
 
    “There is someone called Evan Till calling for you. He says he is an adjunct diplomat with the Confederation.” 
 
    “Coming.” 
 
    … 
 
    “George Butler.” 
 
    “George, thank you for taking my call. I’m Evan Till. We met some months ago on a call with one of the off-world guests that appeared on your show.” 
 
    George had a vague recollection of an adjunct diplomat involved in some aspect of a recent show. “Hi, Evan. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Is there any chance you could come over to the guest hotel to meet some visitors? They have an incredible story to tell, and Michael would like them to be guests on your show this week.” 
 
    “You’ve got to be kidding me. It’s Wednesday.” 
 
    “George. Trust me. You want these people on your show.” 
 
    “What’s their story?” 
 
    “Interstellar travelers, not Confederation members, that showed up in our system this week.” 
 
    “I’ll be right over.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE TRADING COMPANY 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta, thank you for taking my call.” 
 
    “Emmanuel. To what do I owe the pleasure?” 
 
    “Our first freighter completed her test flight today and is being commissioned as we speak. Let me send you the exterior specs.” 
 
    Emmanuel heard a beep on the other end of the line. Presumably, it was his message arriving. 
 
    “Emmanuel. This is perfect, how many do you have?” 
 
    “The first two are being commissioned today. I’m told another eight will be brought up over the coming two weeks.” 
 
    “How soon can you send one? I am being harassed about moving your large power supply.” 
 
    “Tomorrow?” 
 
    “Praise the maker! How much other stuff can you take?” 
 
    “A little less than half the next pickup if you have that much ready.”.  
 
    “OK. Checking for time slots. New ship. Will require 50% extra time for logistics update. Let’s see. I can give you a 45-minute window at 21:15 Galactic standard time. Let’s see, that’s 28.5 hours from now in Earth time.” 
 
    “Yes. I think we can. Will get back to you within the hour if I’m wrong.” 
 
    “Done!” It was the happiest the Ambassador had been since the week after the trade deal was signed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Admiral Scott was the first to arrive. 
 
    “Sam, come in. Have a seat. I hear the first two freighters were commissioned today.” 
 
    “Yes. And I got word on the way over that we have a slot in Karagon orbit tomorrow for delivery of the weapon’s power supply and a little less than half the current goods order.” 
 
    “Excellent news.” 
 
    “Yes. The Amsterdam was given her next mission today, more mining scans. As she seems to be our go-to ship for mining scans, I took it on my own authority to authorize an upgrade for her today. It should be finished this evening, so they can cast off before midnight.” 
 
    “The upgrade?” 
 
    “A small-scale mining suite. Professor Schudel went out of his way to advise me that there are several types of highly sought-after mineral formations, like the one we found out near Celanar. His position is that these should be mined when found, not claimed. His new theory is that these may be less rare than we might otherwise think. They are perceived to be rare because the supply in Andromeda may well be exhausted. But that may not be true in sectors 3E, F and G. These are among the least explored sectors in the Confederation. 
 
    “He thinks that we are likely to run into more of these formations. There are apparently five types of them. He’s briefed Lt. Parikh on how to identify them. 
 
    “So, we added equipment that will allow her to mine small claims.” 
 
    There was a light knock on the door, which was open. It was President Lee and Secretary Thompson. 
 
    “Sorry we’re late. What was that about mining five types?” 
 
    “We upgraded the Amsterdam, so that she can mine highly-sought after mineral formations when they are found. Turns out there are several types of these that are all priced at multiples of the underlying Transluminide and may disappear shortly after they are claimed.” 
 
    “Truly amazing.” Secretary Thompson still struggled with failings like this in the Confederation. 
 
    “Anyway, on to the agenda. We need to assign the ships that will participate in the invasion of the Enemy home world. The drone that will deliver the weapon was completed today. The power supply will be picked up at Karagon tomorrow. I’d like to launch the mission this weekend.” 
 
    “I say we send as much firepower as possible,” the Secretary interjected. “Let’s take down the planet, then clean up any stragglers. We don’t want any more coming down through the rift ever again.” 
 
    “Sam, what would a maximum firepower strategy look like?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Two or three cruisers providing cover, a Fast Attack Ship handling weapon delivery. My biggest concern is that we have not tested the propulsion yet. I really don’t want to install an untested propulsion system on four ships then have to rip it all out if the test run has issues.” 
 
    President Lee spoke up. “I agree with the concern, but like the maximum firepower idea. I’d be OK wasting a little Transluminide to launch the mission on schedule with four or even five ships.” 
 
     “Let me raise another concern,” Michael replied. “Our cruisers are relatively new ships. Only one, the Canada, has a battle-tested crew. I think it might be wiser to have the Canada lead the mission and be supported by three or more of our experienced Fast Attack Ships. Maybe the Oslo, Abuja, Cairo, and Dhaka. Each of those captains were given commendations for their actions in those conflicts, each stood above the others.” 
 
    “But we get a lot more firepower from a Cruiser, than a Fast Attack Ship,” commented Admiral Scott. 
 
     “But agility and numbers are more important in cleanup operations.” The secretary shot back. “And none of these ships has 1% of the destruction capability of Eugene’s weapon.” 
 
    “Point taken,” Admiral Scott replied. “One other thought. Do we have any intelligence on their war machine? I’d think that they would have hundreds of ships by now waiting for the next rift opening. If we ran into that type of juggernaut after the red matter was deployed, we’d be at risk of losing the armada and control over the weapon.” 
 
    “Let me see if we can get more information on that. In the meantime, let’s assign this mission to the Canada and get the propulsion upgrades underway.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, GUEST HOTEL 
 
    George knocked on the door of the conference room. It opened a moment later. When Evan opened the door, George immediately remembered who he was. 
 
    “George, welcome. Please come in.” 
 
    As George entered, nine odd-looking people stood and greeted him. Their greeting was similar to the Angoloran greeting, palms pressed together, slight bow. Observing closely, George noticed that the hands were positioned a little differently, pointed out at an angle, not up. 
 
    George, proficient in the Angoloran greeting smoothly reciprocated, hoping he had the hand angle correct. He noticed several of the guests smiling at him. He smiled back with his warmest greeting. 
 
    It took George a moment to figure out why they looked so odd. It was mostly the odd collection of traits. They were slightly taller and thinner. They had slightly shorter arms, ending in elongated hands. Their necks were longer, topped with squarer heads. But the standout was the eyes, almond-shaped, slanted nearly 45 degrees with pronounced eye-folds and irises—gold, teal, and pink. George was completely captivated by the eyes looking at him. 
 
    The oldest one, clearly the one in command stepped up to shake George’s hand. “You are very practiced in our greeting. I’m told that ours is similar to other members of the Confederation. Since arriving, I’ve learned to shake hands, an interesting greeting.” 
 
    “Thank you. I’m George Butler.” 
 
    “George, we spent some time last night watching episodes of your show. We also looked you up online. You are very well known. It’s a pleasure to meet you. 
 
    “I am Captain Lan’Tashi of the Xotiq exploration ship Star Seeker. Our people developed something similar to your Jump Drive and jumped into your system a few days ago. Our drive broke and our ship was damaged when we came out of jump. Your Space Force rescued us.” 
 
    “Would you consider being guests on my show on Saturday?” 
 
    “Yes, but may I explain why?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “I’m told that our people have been on a Confederation watch list for Revelation for some time. No date had been set for us, but we were getting close, maybe 200 years from now. 
 
    “We’ve had a primitive space program for some time. We have satellites as you do. But we have never landed anything on any of our moons or on another planet.  
 
    “Curiously, our science in the area of magnetism has apparently developed well past the point that yours or the Lorexians’ has. Our scientists determined that they could split space-time with a strong enough field, split it in a way that would allow us to go great distances in no time. Ours was the first ship built that could do that. It allowed us to jump 100 light years into your system. 
 
    “The challenge for us is returning home. Space Force will take us, but our people do not know of other intelligent life in the universe. There are many people that strongly believe we are alone. Any return we make, other than in our ship, will cause problems.” 
 
    “Understood, but how will my show help with that?” 
 
    “If our leaders were to see video of us telling our story on your show, see the way you interact with us and treat us, they might believe that other intelligent beings exist and are not hostile. That would allow Michael to open dialog with them and for us to be welcomed home.” 
 
    “I’m good with that.” George turned to Evan. “We have a lot of prep to do if we’re going to get it right. How soon can we start?”   
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONTROL ROOM, PLATFORM 4 
 
    It had taken some doing, but Ju-Ne had created an interface that allowed him to occupy the bot on Platform 4. In the form of that bot, he had killed the AI that operated the platform. Now he was rewiring it. 
 
    The platform had triple redundant grav-drives, each of which had a little less than 1 G of acceleration. The current wiring and control allowed two of the three systems to be partially ganged together to create up to 1.25 G. He wanted to gang all three together at max power. That would be enough to launch the platform off to the moon. Or to hit a target on Earth.  
 
    In short, he wanted the platform as a weapon in his portfolio of tools to use against the Earth Alliance. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel hadn’t really understood how much time it was going to take to load the AIs in the freighters. Previously, he had responsibility to deliver them, but not to load them and wake them up. It took three hours per ship, plus some transit time. But with test flights done on two freighters, he was ready to push the button on the remainder of the first ten.  
 
    When the Toronto completed its test flight, Joel cleared the third freighter for build out. It would be called the EAS Batumi, after the Republic of Georgia’s second largest city. 
 
    With orders in for the first ten freighters, Joel could now shift his attention to Production Line 3, which they had agreed to locate at Sun-Earth Lagrange 4. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    It took a little longer than he wanted, but it was done. Captain Flanagan had recruited five specialists to work with Lt. Parikh. They were now on board. He also convinced Admiral Scott to authorize an upgrade that Professor Schudel recommended after his last mission, the mining equipment to mine small crystalline finds like the one near Celanar. That equipment was now on board and installed. 
 
    It was 11:00 PM. They were leaving now and would be out of the Solar System by the end of first watch. Tomorrow, they would be scanning for Transluminide in a system near the planet Naltanarus. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 UPDATE 
 
    [Thursday, 06.19.2031] AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael had messaged James last night asking for a meeting first thing this morning. James acknowledged, saying he would come over at 9:00. When Michael arrived this morning, his message bot had shuffled a note from Ambassador Fe-Va to the top of his queue. It was a preliminary draft of the Defense Alliance. Michael immediately jumped into it, completely losing track of time. 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael, Professor Ancient is here to see you.” 
 
    Michael walked out to greet James, then brought him back to the conference room. 
 
    “Good morning, James. It’s unlike you to come in through the front door.” 
 
    “I saw that you were busy with the Alliance agreement. What do you think so far?” 
 
    “Fe-Va has stayed close to the Triangulum agreement that Councilor Mo-Mo was part of. I think he is drafting this in a way that will please the Central Council. Our issues are a little different than theirs were, so I’ll propose some tweaks. But I’m impressed with how well played the draft is. I probably would have done something different, but no better. I’m glad he took the lead on this.” 
 
    “My sense as well.” 
 
    “You’ve read it?” 
 
    “I’ve been watching him discreetly, giving him a little nudge now and again.” 
 
    “Does he know that?” 
 
    “No. But, not to worry. He would have landed in the same spot on his own, just not as quickly. It really is his work, not mine. I, like you, would have done something different, only mine would have been better.” James smiled at the tease, lifting Michael’s spirits. “So, what would you like to discuss today?” 
 
    “Two things, the first has to do with security. Apparently, someone, most likely Ju-Ne, has developed a spray that disables nanobots within seconds of contact. It was supposed to be deployed at the Rachelle Pépin Design Studios when Sarah went there on Monday. We found out about it when it was deployed after she left. It took down all the trailing surveillance nanobots within minutes. 
 
    “Rachelle was given the spray by a critic named Julien Bescond. Alexi speculates that he might be a Ju-Ne avatar.” 
 
    “That’s a serious charge.” 
 
    “It’s only speculation at this point. What’s not speculation is that this spray is deadly to nanobots. If it is deployed in mass at the Wedding…” 
 
    “Then the Confederation presence in this sector is at risk. I’ll see what I can find out. But you cannot rely on me to solve this problem. You need to deploy a dedicated resource to track this down.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    “You have a second topic?” 
 
    “Yes. Some weeks ago, you told me that the Enemy was massing for the next attack. I assumed at the time, they were building out a new fleet, and raising and equipping their army. Was that correct?” 
 
    “Mostly. They are also building something that could be a weapon, or possibly a means to open the rift early.” 
 
    “Does that weapon, the fleet or the army pose a threat to our upcoming mission?” 
 
    “Good question. The Enemy’s preparation activities are happening about halfway between their planet and the rift, in an asteroid they’ve hollowed out. It’s a couple of light days from the planet. We would be long gone before any of their ships could get back. But I suppose that there might be risk from any ships in transit between the two. 
 
    “Now that you’ve brought this up, it would probably be a good idea to take down that asteroid. And if we decide to take it down, it would be a good idea to do it first.” 
 
    James was quiet for a moment. “Let me go take a look. David is strong enough to accompany me now. Maybe between us we can find a way to determine exactly what that device is.” 
 
    He looked at Michael, nodded his head, then flashed away. 
 
    “Pam. See if you can get me some face time with Eugene and Kelly.” 
 
    “Today?” 
 
    “As soon as possible.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    Joel slept restlessly last night, a number of things gnawing on his mind all night long. At the top of the list was AIs. He was going to need one AI a day for the next eight days for the freighters. He would need another for the cruiser that was just getting finished. Another in seven days for the next cruiser. Another in the next week for the new manufacturing line. Then another every day for weeks as line two was switched back to fast attack ships. 
 
    With Barbara mostly offline for the next week clearing the backlog of virus patients, he had no source of AIs. Joel dashed off a quick note to Michael, advising him of the problem. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MONTGOMERY HAMILTON’S OFFICE 
 
    Monty forced himself out of bed at 9:00 this morning. He arrived at the building at 10:30. When the elevator doors opened, he just wanted to bolt, anything to delay the hell that he was about to descend into. Nonetheless, he stepped in.  
 
    Wish I’d never been born. 
 
    Most days, he was frustrated at how slow the elevator was. Today, it seemed to be on steroids. The door opened and, before he even stepped out, the temporary receptionist, Margret, said, “Monty. There are people from the SEC waiting for you in Conference Room 2.” 
 
    Just keeps getting better. 
 
    Monty dragged himself over to the conference room and opened the door. Four stern looking men stared at him. 
 
    He ambled in and took the single chair opposite from his tormentors. 
 
    “Good Morning,” he said without conviction. 
 
    They apparently arrange furniture too. 
 
    After several seconds, the lead guy cleared his throat. He pulled out a voice recorder, placed it on the table, and turned it on. “Montgomery Hamilton?” 
 
    Monty nodded his head. 
 
    “A verbal response please.” 
 
    “Yes. I am Montgomery Hamilton.” 
 
    “We are here to investigate transactions your firm engaged in earlier this week. We would like to record that conversation. Do you consent to having it recorded?” 
 
    “If I object?” 
 
    “We leave, file charges for impeding an investigation, then comeback this afternoon with an arrest warrant.” 
 
    “Please, record the conversation.” 
 
    They quickly read him his Miranda rights. 
 
    “I understand. May I say something before we begin?” 
 
    The lead agent nodded his head.  
 
    Monte stifled the temptation to say, A verbal response please. 
 
    “I knew nothing of the pending virus outbreak at the Embassy. I called my client… Sorry let me correct that. I spoke with my client after the announcement came out. I don’t remember who called who. I told him you were going to come and that I was very unhappy with him. He claimed innocence and sent me documentation on his motivation for the transactions. I prepared a package for you that included recordings of our calls and the documents he provided.  
 
    “For the record, I no longer believe what he told me or the documents in the package. I believe it was intentional insider trading, a deviously planned fraud. But we still have the package if you would like to have it.” 
 
     “We have it, but it does not say what you just implied. So we can add lying and interference in an official investigation to the charges.” 
 
    “What?” Monte was incredulous, then it sank in. Winston/Ju-Ne had tampered with that also. 
 
    He sunk down in his seat. There really isn’t any point in trying, is there? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    “Michael. Good to see you. Do you have word on the mission timing?” asked Eugene. 
 
    “Some. The power supply is scheduled to be picked up this afternoon and the drone is done. We are going to be sending the Canada, but we are still discussing which support ships to send. Turns out that there’s a complication.” 
 
    “What kind of complication?” 
 
    “One you’re not going to want to hear.” Michael paused. “The Enemy is massing for their next attack. We think they are trying to pull it forward, but don’t really know that. What we do know is that they have hollowed out a large asteroid and are massing ships and troops there. It’s a couple light-days from the home world, so we’d probably be long gone before they arrived to stop our attack. 
 
    “But it seems that the asteroid is the more important tactical target.” 
 
    “So, we run two missions?” Eugene was incredulous at the development. 
 
    “Or a divided mission with two weapons.” 
 
    The words hit Eugene like an electric shock. How was this not known! Wild conspiracy theories ran through Eugene’s mind. Kelly looked equally upset. 
 
    “That wasn’t the deal.” 
 
    “New information frequently changes deals. I think we are both committed to the principles of the deal, destroy the Enemy threat then destroy the weapon. But our current path seems to pose more threat to the mission and has a greater probability of losing control of the weapon.” 
 
    No one spoke for a moment. “We are attempting to learn more. In fact, I hope to know more this evening. But would you consider running the thought exercise of what it would take to have a second weapon to take down the hollow asteroid. It’s the size of a small moon, on the order of 750 km in diameter.” 
 
    Kelly could see that Eugene was upset, so she answered instead. “We need some time to think about it, Michael. It’s bad enough having one of these things. Having two doubles the risk of us losing control of the technology.”  
 
    “Understood. I share your concern. But I’m more concerned about the Enemy at this point, than I am about losing control of the technology. 
 
    “Let me leave you to think on this.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Eugene and Kelly walked in silence to the agreed location before Kelly broke the silence. 
 
    “We have to do this Eugene. You know we do.” 
 
    Eugene was angry and wanted to lash out but didn’t. 
 
    “You’re right of course. Just pisses me off.” 
 
    “Eugene grow up! Michael didn’t build that asteroid, the Enemy did. Our beef is with them, not Michael. Let’s rain our anger down on them. Not on ourselves or our people. 
 
    “Let’s go back, do the estimates, and see what we need. If we have to deploy two weapons, I’ll go with one, you go with the other.” 
 
    Eugene stopped, turned to look at her, then took her hand. 
 
    “That’s what I’m afraid of, them separating us.” 
 
    Kelly was confused for a moment. Was Eugene coming on to her? 
 
    Eugene continued, “Together we can backstop each other. If one of us screws up, the other can intervene. Separated, they have more power to mislead us, manipulate us or just plain steal the technology.” 
 
    Eugene realized he was holding Kelly’s hand and let go. “Sorry.” He was embarrassed that he’d taken her hand. 
 
    The look on Eugene’s face made Kelly laugh. “I was afraid that was going to go a different direction.” 
 
    Eugene started laughing too. “OK. I’ve made a big enough fool of myself. Let’s go do what we need to do.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “David, we have some interesting work to do today, although it will be nowhere near as much fun as another trip to Naltanarus.” 
 
    “What are we going to do?” 
 
    “I need to go to the Enemy home world today. I’d like you to come with me, but it has to be your choice.” 
 
    David didn’t get it at first, then realized this trip involved some danger, danger that James would not force on him. 
 
    “I’m in. If you’re going, then I’m going too.” 
 
    James smiled, but the emotion conveyed was more about partnership than amusement. 
 
    “I’m embarrassed to say that there’s an aspect of the attack that I didn’t think through very well. It has to do with their build up for the next invasion. There are two aspects to that issue. Will those forces pose a threat to the mission itself? Will those forces continue to grow then come seek revenge the next time the rift opens?” 
 
    “So, we’re going to assess their strength and deployment?” 
 
    “Something like that. Yes. Ready?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENEMY HOME WORLD 
 
    “James, this place is creepy. It’s dark. Everything is tinged in red. Even the vacuum of space feels thick.” 
 
    “Good description. Let’s orbit the planet a couple times. We’re looking for spaceships or other forms of armament. Also, see if you can do this.”  
 
    James dimmed, his glow becoming more red than bright. 
 
    David did his best to imitate. 
 
    “Not bad. Let’s go.” 
 
    … 
 
    “I think we may have been spotted.” David pointed toward a platform in low orbit, the top of which seemed to have rotated to point at them. 
 
    “Sure enough. Follow me.” James red glow flared ever so subtly, then he disappeared, dragging David in his wake. 
 
    They reappeared about 30 degrees forward of their previous position, but still in the same orbit. 
 
    “Well they’ve definitely seen us.” David pointed to another platform that had begun to rotate toward them. 
 
    “Let’s move away a little and see what they do.” 
 
    James took them to a higher orbit, another 30 degrees around the planet. 
 
    “No reaction so far. I wonder if they’re going to take another approach?” 
 
    David’s question was answered a few moments later when a projectile came over the horizon from behind. 
 
    “Let’s finish up here,” James encouraged. 
 
    “We’ve drawn too much attention. I don’t see any ships in orbit, but numerous platforms in low orbit. Let’s puddle jump our way out toward the asteroid. See if there are any ships on their way in.” 
 
    They reappeared a light-second further from the planet. There were no ships visible ahead, but a surprise when they looked back. The projectile exploded into a huge ball of plasma. In the middle, something sparkled. The plasma ball suddenly collapsed into the sparkly thing, which fired a focused beam toward them. 
 
    They popped out another light-second and saw the energy charge redirect toward them. 
 
    “How interesting,” James said, then popped out a full light-minute on a different vector. 
 
    “That weapon may pose a challenge for Space Force. They are constrained to sub-light in this dimension. Let’s pop all the way out to the asteroid. I’m afraid we may have drawn too much attention.” 
 
    … 
 
    James and David appeared one light minute short of the asteroid. At this distance, they could not see it. But in the distance the rift was clearly visible, its slow-motion churn beautiful, yet terrifying. 
 
    “No ships visible in the area. Let’s try cranking down our brightness and moving in closer.” 
 
    They appeared within visual range of the asteroid this time. Numerous ships were visible in concentric orbits around it. A queue seemed to have formed of ships attempting to get in. A slow, but constant stream of ships flowed out. 
 
    “Notice the structure on top the asteroid. It looks something like a radio tower, but there’s a tube of some sort mounted on the top.” 
 
    David pointed. “Look at where the tube is focused. There’s a much different churning pattern there.” 
 
    “Yes. That’s why I thought this was an attempt to prematurely open the rift.” 
 
    “Something is up. The ships in orbit are changing their courses. They are all peeling away, possibly toward us.” 
 
    “So they are, but I doubt they’re toward us. Maybe they are about to fire the weapon again.” 
 
    Over the next 15 minutes, the ships all broke orbit, all heading away from the rift. None were on a direct course to their position. But all of them were closer now than they were before. 
 
    “I think it’s about to start.” James whispered. 
 
    James noticed that the chaotic churning of the rift was not without pattern. No two cycles were the same, but many of them were close. During the most deviant cycle, the place where the antenna was pointed seem to open. Another one of those cycles had just begun. 
 
    “Watch, as the hole starts to open, they’re going to pour massive amounts of power in.” 
 
    “Have you seen this before?” 
 
    “The churning, yes. The hole, no. The power pouring in is just speculation.” 
 
    Moments later, a huge beam of light erupted, pouring directly into the hole that had formed. The hole expanded wide, then began to contract again. When that happened, the light switched off and the hole snapped shut, starting a new round of churning. 
 
    “Clever. They’re using the rift’s natural resonance to amplify the magnitude of its churning. I bet if we went to the other end, we would see periodic openings similar to what they’re seeing here.” 
 
    The ships started moving back toward the asteroid, most were heading back toward one of the orbital rings. Others started queueing up to enter the asteroid. 
 
    “I wish I could deduce more about their plan. I’m confident that they’re preparing to send ships down. The question is how many and when. I’m sure that’s what these ships are waiting here for.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EMBASSY SECURITY 
 
    Abel Fletcher, the Assistant Chief of Embassy Security, had been given the job of tracking down the nanobot killing ironing spray. It came with a level 100 security clearance. It also came with codes that would allow him access to a broad set of Confederation resources. His only leads were Rachelle Pépin and Julien Bescond. 
 
    Abel was selected for this job because of his background. He was human, Canadian, and previously worked with the Canadian Security Intelligence Service. Michael had found Abel in the same way he’d found Nelly, trolling professional conferences looking for a specific profile. Abel was a high-ranking member of his country’s government, someone that had a real shot at the top job in 20 years. But someone whose current skill set was exactly what the Earth Alliance needed now. 
 
    If it had been an option, Michael would have given Abel the top job. But Confederation rules did not allow that during the first 100 years. Instead, he gave him the number 2 job with jurisdiction over most things human. 
 
    Abel’s first step was to work through Alexi’s data. His conclusion was the same as hers. The only reasonable conclusion based on this data set was that the ironing spray took the nanobots down. That didn’t mean it couldn’t be something else, but it was the only reasonable conclusion based on THAT data set. 
 
    His next step was to search for similar issues in the Confederation database. Curiously, there were two previous cases where such a thing was suspected. The first ended up being blamed on the nanobot batteries. But as Abel read on, he lost all confidence in the conclusion.  
 
    The investigation had been conducted by the Lorexian Office of Military Investigation. It was the same organization where Ju-Ne worked. There was no record of any of the failed nanobots having been examined. The only evidence offered was thin, indirect. The inventory of nanobots remaining after the incident all had defective power controllers.  
 
    He would need to test this theory on Alexi’s remaining nanobots but doubted he would see the same result.  
 
    In the other case, no perpetrator was identified and no nanobot inventory was found. The investigation was suspended because of the evidence in the first case. 
 
    Abel messaged Alexi asking if they could talk for a few minutes. She called immediately. 
 
    “Hey boss. Did you find the spray already?” Alexi no longer worked in security, but she’d done a short stint there on Abel’s staff. She’d never called him boss when she worked there, now it seemed to be his nickname. 
 
    “No. Step 1 is always to review the data, then look for similar cases if the data is sound. I found two similar cases, one allegedly solved, the other not. The case that was solved involved defective nanobots. The defect was carefully documented. I want to run the same set of tests on your nanobots to see if they might have the same defect.” 
 
    “What defect and who ‘documented’ it.” 
 
    Abel smiled. “Questions like that are why I respect you so much Alexi. The defect was the energy controller. It did not manage energy consumption properly. All the nanobots were basically full on. Variance in service life mirrored the variance in energy capacity almost exactly.” 
 
    There was silence on the line.  
 
    “Do you really believe that?” 
 
    “I find it to be suspicious, that’s why I want to test some of your bots. If I don’t, someone will ultimately interfere with my investigation or challenge its conclusion. If I can prove that your nanobots do not have this issue, we nip the complaint in the bud.” 
 
    “How many do you want?” 
 
    “A comparable number to what you deployed at the design studio.” 
 
    “Dude, you’re going to wipe me out.” 
 
    More silence. 
 
    “You know, I have the data from the hotel. Comparable number, same lot. They did not all fail at once. Quite a few failed early from being vacuumed up. But the ones not destroyed mechanically followed the normal curve, as did a smaller set from the same batch that I deployed in the shuttle.” 
 
    “You deployed surveillance nanobots in the Ambassador’s shuttle?” 
 
    “When I saw all the ones at Rachelle’s drop at the same time I panicked. Who knows what they could have sent home with us?” 
 
    “Understood. Good move.” A pause. “Send me the data. You need your supply, so I don’t want to mess with it if there’s another option.” 
 
    “Will do, boss.” Alexi dropped the line. 
 
    Alexi could be stubborn, but she could be counted on to follow through if she gave her word on it. And Abel knew this was a dead end. He would run the analysis and compile the results into his report. But, it’s time to start the real investigation. Who is Julien Bescond, the real Bescond, not the public image? And where is he? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    James messaged Michael when they got back. Michael asked him to come over at 5:00. At 5:00 on the dot, James and David appeared in the hallway that separated Michael’s office from his Conference room. 
 
    Michael stepped out of his office and indicated the door to the Conference room. 
 
    “How did your trip go?” 
 
    “Mixed. We went to their home world first. There were no ships in the vicinity. My sense is that they don’t come to the home world often, their base is at the asteroid. But that does not mean none will be there when the mission is launched. 
 
    “The bigger discovery at the home world is that they’ve put up defensive platforms. We were spotted almost immediately when we arrived about 175,000 miles out. We jumped ahead in that orbit and were spotted immediately by another platform, so we jumped further out, maybe 5 or 6 million miles. When we looked back, we saw that they’d launched a missile at us. It exploded where we had been, but the weapon reabsorbed the energy and redirected it to our new position. We left before the energy got there, so don’t know how potent the weapon is. But it certainly looked impressive. 
 
    “The next stop was the asteroid. There were 500, maybe 1,000 ships there, which will make this the largest invasion ever. We actually saw their new device at work, opening the rift. It is a resonant weapon that shoots to amplify the resonance at peak. I’m certain they will succeed in opening the rift early. It’s unlikely, but possible that it is already open enough to allow a small number of ships through. We should post scouts at our end of the rift to sound the alarm if any ships come through. 
 
    “By the way, we now know with certainty that their new project is being used to open the rift. We do NOT know whether it can also be used as a weapon. It has the range to fire as far as the home world.” 
 
    “This is bad news. Do you think we can take down the enemy home world?” 
 
    “If we can get the shot off, yes.” 
 
    “Can we get the shot off?” 
 
    “80, maybe 90 percent chance.” 
 
    “What about the asteroid?” 
 
    “With the weapon’s current size, no chance. With a larger one, we could get the asteroid and most of the ships. The ones we didn’t get we would need to take down conventionally.” 
 
    “So we’re going to be invaded, even if we take down the home world.” 
 
    “With our current capabilities, that appears to be true.” 
 
    Michael’s head drooped. Between the nanobot spray and the Enemy, he was afraid all his work would be lost. 
 
    “You might want to talk with Eugene and Kelly about this. They are incredibly clever. The fate of this world may once again be in their hands.” 
 
    With that James and David disappeared in a flash. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    Eugene and Kelly were packing it up for the day when the call from Michael came in. They agreed to meet at their favorite conference room. As they were walking over, Kelly whispered to Eugene, “Michael didn’t sound very good. He must have received some bad news.” 
 
    When they arrived, they found Michael sitting in the Conference Room by himself, looking gloomy.  
 
    “Michael? How did you beat us here?” Eugene’s immediate thought was that it was the least sensitive question he’d ever asked. 
 
    “I’m tired. I used the transporter.” He chuckled. 
 
    “Looks like you got some bad news,” Kelly said sympathetically. 
 
    “The Enemy has put up defensive platforms around their home world. The weapons on it are apparently impressive. James says you will succeed if you can get a shot. But there’s a non-trivial chance that you won’t get one.” 
 
    “Not good.” Kelly nodded. 
 
    “The new device they’ve been working on for the last 6 months is functional. They are using it to open the rift. James could not tell how long that would take, but thought it was already open enough that ships could start trickling through. There are 500 to 1,000 ships queued up to make the passage. 
 
    “James says that their device might be useful as a weapon. It has an exceedingly long range, long enough to reach the home world. He also says that even if you got a shot at it, your current device is not large enough to capture the asteroid and all the ships.” 
 
    There was silence. Kelly was the first to break it. 
 
    “We could use the ultra-dense shield as a shield, projected in front of the ship. That way nothing could get to us from the front.” 
 
    “Why not use it traditionally?” 
 
    “Can’t. This type of shield has to be projected from the outside. If we were on the inside, we’d never be able to turn it off.” Kelly chuckled. “The various dimensions all have different properties. This one we cannot use conventionally. The properties don’t line up right. Can’t make an enemy trap like arrangement either.” 
 
    Eugene offered an alternative. “We could flatten it to make a wide, forward facing shield for the approach. Then drop it and transport the red matter. Then reform the shield around the planet. It would take like 3 seconds?” 
 
    Kelly shot back. “With two of them, we could keep the flat one up until after the Red Matter was emitted. Then transport as the flat shield dropped and raise the spherical shield without having to reconfigure.  That would give us a spare flat one to use as a flyswatter if necessary.” 
 
    “You know, we could use it to take down the asteroid and all those ships.” 
 
    Michael seemed to perk up. “I’m listening.” 
 
    “Suppose we mounted the spherical shield on a freighter and loaded it full of iron. Once it completed its job as a shield for the planetary attack, we could set it on a maximum momentum course toward the asteroid and ram it. Nothing in front of it could shoot it down. Once it has enough speed, it would be almost impossible to deflect. A one hour run at 20G would push it up to 0.2% the speed of light. A collision at that speed would take out anything within a thousand miles.” 
 
    “We could do that?” Michael was incredulous. 
 
    “Space Force will probably come up with a more elegant version, but we have all the technology and could do the build-out in a matter of days.” 
 
    Michael stood. “OK. I’m going to connect with Space Force Command tonight and attempt to convene a meeting first thing tomorrow morning. 
 
    “You put together your best presentation regarding the technology and proposed use. Given the likelihood of early invasion, we need to act and act decisively.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael settled for a phone meeting with President Lee, Secretary Thompson, and Admiral Scott. Daniel Porter ended up joining also.  
 
    Michael shared the new information that James had given them. Then gave them a very thin overview of Eugene’s and Kelly’s ideas. They agreed to meet in the morning. Michael messaged Eugene and Kelly then signed off for the evening. He needed time with Sarah.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    One day in and Bumati was exhausted. They’d filed nine claims totaling 9,829 kg in the system near the planet Naltanarus. Her expanded team was already working well together. It’s why they got so much done today. But they were all at it all day. Tomorrow she would start rotating shifts. A strict watch system wouldn’t work. Claim activity seemed biased toward the afternoon and wee morning hours. But she had confidence that she could work this out. And the Captain seemed to accommodate every change she wanted to make. Life was good. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 INVESTIGATION 
 
    [Friday, 6.20.2031] CONFERENCE ROOM, SPACE FORCE COMMAND  
 
    Eugene and Kelly arrived at the Space Force Command building 15 minutes early. The building was large, and it could take a while to get from the entrance to the Command Level conference rooms. 
 
    They entered and were immediately greeted by an extremely fit young man. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Ms. Williamson. I’m Barrett Jones, fourth watch yeoman on the EAS Canada. Admiral Porter selected me as your escort while here. I’ve already cleared you for entry.” He held out two visitor’s badges. 
 
    Eugene was puzzled that the badges had been issued already. “I thought we needed biometric ID before we could get these.” 
 
    Ensign Jones smiled. “You do and the biometrics have already been confirmed. We just upgraded the facial recognition and retinal matching systems. You were scanned coming in the door.” 
 
    Eugene chuckled. High tech could be so cool. “It certainly streamlines things.” 
 
    “Ensign Jones.” Kelly held out her hand to shake. “A pleasure to make your acquaintance. You said 4th watch Yeoman. I thought there were only three watches.” 
 
    They passed through the security checkpoint and went to an elevator that had been reserved for them. 
 
    “Long story. For the mission to Andromeda, a fourth watch team was added to each of the ships. We were the relief valve if something went wrong. Extra watch-certified officers. And one watch-certified ensign. 
 
    “When we got back, we were reassigned to the Space Force reserve pool. Then when the Canada was commissioned, we were called up again. The cruisers are mammoth. We will probably end up adding watches to the secondary bridge because of all the data continuously flowing in. But while they’re working it out, we are back in our support role. 
 
    “I’ve not been read in on what’s going on today. Hopefully, I will be. But I wanted to let you know.” 
 
    Kelly realized that the ensign was nervous. His chattiness was the giveaway. She still struggled to think of herself as more than a graduate student. In truth, she wasn’t any more. She seemed to have skipped over the Ph.D. thing. Increasingly, she was getting called Doctor or Professor. Rumors continued to circulate that she and Eugene would be sharing the Nobel Prize this year. One post online referred to her as Dr. Kelly Williamson. But no matter how you cut it she and Eugene were held in remarkably high regard at Space Force. 
 
    She smiled at the ensign, hoping that might calm his nerves. “Do you know who we’ll be meeting with today?” 
 
    “Not officially. But the command crew of the Canada is here, as is the command crew of the Oslo and Cairo. I’m assuming the top brass will be here also.” 
 
    The elevator came to a halt. 
 
    “We’re in the big conference room at the end of the hall.” The ensign pointed and led the way at a brisk pace. 
 
    … 
 
    As they entered, Kelly noticed Michael talking with Admiral Scott and James talking with President Lee. Secretary Thompson was talking with a black man not in uniform. It took a second to sort out that it was James’ new apprentice, David. 
 
    Michael noticed them come in and indicated that they should come over. Admiral Porter whispered something to Ensign Jones, then pointed to a seat by the wall. 
 
    Kelly smiled. Looks like he’s going to sit in. 
 
    They exchanged greetings with Michael and President Lee, who then went to the front of the room to call the meeting to order. 
 
    Once everyone was seated, Michael took the podium and quickly explained the situation. Then turned it over to James to walk through an image of the weapon platforms around the planet. 
 
    “I have ‘visited’ the Enemy home world several times. I usually pop in about 1 light-second, 186,000 miles from the planet. It’s far enough out that I doubted they would see my arrival flash. 
 
    “I’m going to play a short clip of what we saw when we arrived this time. I’ve zoomed the recording in to focus on the area of interest and added a timer in the top right corner for your reference.” 
 
    James started the playback. It started with the receding arrival flash. The timer ran, marking time in 0.01 second increments. When the time reached 2.89 seconds the object started moving. It slewed around for about 12 seconds, then stopped. A moment later there was another flash and the clip faded to black. 
 
    A hand in the room went up immediately. 
 
    James smiled. “Please.” 
 
    “I’m Barika Amari, 1st watch tactical on the EAS Oslo. Their reaction time was less than one second.” 
 
    “Ms. Amari. You are very observant. The actual time was 0.89 seconds.” 
 
    Michael interrupted. “James, I thought it was like 3 seconds.”  
 
    James look back at the questioner. “Could you explain your conclusion to the Ambassador, Ms. Amari?” 
 
    She looked at Michael. “I’m sorry sir. They were one light second away. One second after the professor’s arrival, they could see him. They started their targeting 0.89 seconds later. One second after that at 2.89 seconds total, the professor could see them taking aim.” 
 
    “Excellent summary. It took several more seconds for them to move their weapon into place. I’m going to play a second short clip a little longer than the first. It has been enhanced in the same way, but has an additional marker added at the end.” 
 
    James started the clip. It started identically, although the timer started at 15.17 seconds, not zero. There was a flash, at 18.08 seconds another turret started rotating toward them. At 30.24 seconds there was another flash, and the camera angle changed. Nothing happened. Playback sped up, then at 273.05 seconds there was a tremendous explosion. James stopped playback and zoomed out a little, then some markings appeared in the holoprojection. 
 
    “Ms. Amari, care to speculate?” 
 
    Barika felt momentary panic, then it snapped. 
 
    “The curved dotted line is the orbit you originally arrived in. The marker is where you arrived. The first platform targeted you. The explosion occurred further along the dotted line, which means they shot a missile at the position where you would be when the missile got there. They launched when the clock was at about 15 seconds. It exploded 268 seconds later, which implies the missile had an average speed a little less than 0.7% of the speed of light. That is a fast missile!” 
 
    “Very good. Captain Bjork, you seem to have a rock star on your team.” James comment got a chuckle. 
 
    “The only other point of interest in that clip was that the response time of the second platform was about the same. 
 
    “One more short clip in this segment.” 
 
    James resumed playback. The missile exploded in what appeared to be a cloud of plasma. The explosion froze, then appeared to reverse. A beam reached out toward them. There was another flash while the light was still far away, then playback stopped. 
 
    “This is what the platform weapons do. I’ve never seen anything like it. An initial energy release, which they appear to be able to recall, then a focused energy weapon shot. It appears to be coherent plasma. Another thing I haven’t seen before. But we have no information on how powerful either aspect of the weapon is or how susceptible our ships would be to it.” 
 
    “This is the first of two topics I have to report on. But to clarify the relevance of this portion, I’d like to ask Dr. Xu to walk us through the implications this has for the weapon’s firing sequence.” 
 
    Eugene walked up. “I’m going to play you a short clip. I think you’ve all seen this clip before. I’ve added a timer so we can understand the sequence better.” 
 
    The video started playing. An image of the test drone appeared, and the timer started running. At 1.5 seconds the enemy-resistant shield glimmered into existence. At 2.1 seconds red matter appeared. At 2.6 seconds it disappeared and almost instantly reappeared near the asteroid. At 3.2 seconds, the ultra-thick, high-density shield encased the asteroid. The image froze at that point. 
 
    “As you can see, it takes much less time for our firing sequence to complete, than it does for the enemy to target our ships. The problem of course is that our drone will be spotted long before it’s in position. Even if the ship emerged in this dimension at exactly the right spot, we could not deploy the drone in time. By deploy I mean, get the drone out of the shuttle bay, position and calibrate it, and move the ship to a safe distance. 
 
    “If we modified a ship to fire the weapon directly, then we would have a chance. 
 
    “I’ve only thought of two other possibilities. The first would be to equip the drone with stealth shields, deploy it out of range, then pilot it into range and drop out of stealth when we are ready to fire. The second would be to equip one of the ships with an ultra-dense shield to project out in front of itself. This shield is totally opaque, so provides stealth from one direction. It is also impervious to any weapon. So, we can bring the ship in, deploy the drone, then drop the shield as we start the firing sequence on the drone.” 
 
    Eugene played a simulation showing the ship approach with forward shield extended. The drone deployed. The shield dropped. Several seconds later the drone fired, and the Enemy home world was encased in the ultra-thick, high-density shield. 
 
    “Why the relatively long delay between dropping the shield and firing the weapon?” Eugene looked up and saw that the questioner was Admiral Scott. 
 
    Eugene smiled. “We have to aim the weapon. By that, I mean we have to determine the exact vector to the planet’s center and the exact distance to the planet. We won’t be able to see the planet until we drop the shield.” 
 
    The Admiral nodded his head in understanding. 
 
    Eugene surrendered the floor to James, who played a video of the Enemy fleet orbiting the asteroid and of the asteroid firing into the void. 
 
    “So, the Enemy could start emerging near the Tezzloran home world at any time.” Admiral Scott’s eyes blazed. His statement had the tone of an accusation. 
 
    “They may have started already.” James said soberly. “But they clearly cannot come in mass yet, and we may be able to hit them harder and with fewer losses if we do it in their dimension, instead of ours.” 
 
    “Do you have a proposal for how that might be done?” 
 
    James yielded the floor to Eugene. 
 
    “Let me show you a simulation of my idea. All the technology in this simulation is reliable. You will have a better idea of the military tactics.” 
 
    The simulation started. It showed a small ship appear and start moving. Labeling appeared that read, “Freighter and core material totaling 12.5 million kgs.” A countdown timer started with 14 minutes on the clock. The star field behind the ship started moving. Another annotation showed up on the bottom of the screen. “Gravity drive at 3.5 G.” A speedometer appeared showing the speed of the ship increasing. As the speed passed through 15,000 meters per second. A shield appeared in front of the ship. Its width was several times the ship’s width and curved back toward the ship, much like a medieval shield. 
 
    The angle of the projection changed to show a large asteroid with hundreds of ships clustered around it. A few seconds from impact the ship’s speed stopped at 27,500 meters per second. Another set of labeling came up. “Explosive power at impact. 500 megatons.” 
 
    The ship hit the asteroid and the holoprojector whited out. After maybe 30 seconds, the image started clearing. Nothing remained but a debris field drifting in the direction of the rift. 
 
    “A freighter with a relatively light load of scrap metal, accelerating at 3.5 G for 15 minutes will attain 2 * 1018 Joules of kinetic energy. On impact, that kinetic energy will be released in an explosion equivalent to a 500-megaton bomb, slightly more, actually. The most important role of the shield in front is stealth. But if the enemy should see us coming, the shield will protect the ship from anything short of the impact. The ship would obviously have to be outfitted for remote piloting. 
 
    “As a side note, we could do the same thing to the Enemy home world. Either way, I would suggest doing this as a coordinated attack with the hammer coming down in both places at the same time.” 
 
    Michael stood. “Thank you, Eugene, Kelly. You have given us multiple options to choose from. Are there questions?” 
 
    “How do we navigate the ship once the shield is up and we are blind?” 
 
    “We’ll need remote sensors. There are many ways to do that. Tracking ships. Stealth sensors planted near the asteroid. Inertial guidance. I suspect that you have better insight into what will work in the field than I do.” 
 
    James, who was sitting next to Eugene whispered, “This is more along the lines of what I had been thinking before. Your solution has less targeting risk.” 
 
    … 
 
    Discussion dragged on for an hour. The final decision was to use a freighter as a shield for Eugene’s weapon against the home world and to use a second freighter as a kinetic weapon. The next two freighters off the line would be diverted for this use. Both would need the propulsion modifications. Both would need the new shields added. 
 
    The Canada’s propulsion had already been upgraded, so the propulsion test would proceed as planned tomorrow. They would also be doing some sensor tuning and testing on remote sensor options. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ADMIRAL SCOTT’S OFFICE 
 
    The senior team re-assembled in Admiral Scott’s office 15 minutes later. 
 
    Michael took the lead. “Based on what we heard today, the mission into Enemy space is really two coordinated missions, one to take down the Enemy home world, the other to take down the Enemy’s asteroid and invasion force. 
 
    “I’m sure you’d agree that a mission like this should be planned out months in advance. But we do not have that luxury. 
 
    “I propose the following, we form two taskforces each consisting of a Cruiser, two Fast Attack Ships and a specially equipped Freighter. I also propose that we give Daniel command of the overall mission. 
 
    “I think we have settled on one of the taskforces: the Canada, Oslo and Cairo.  To that we can add the Batumi. Our other two freighters are out on mission.  
 
    “If we were to go with a similar configuration, it would be the Israel, Dhaka and Abuja, plus the drone freighter. My concern is the Israel. She’s only four weeks off the manufacturing line and has an inexperienced crew.” 
 
    Daniel was quick to answer. “I agree. The Israel is too valuable a ship to be sent out on a mission like this so early. We would be better served adding the Jakarta, Buenos Aires, or both. Captains Gunderson and Pirdoost have both seen battle and comported themselves well.” 
 
    “I second Daniel’s recommendation,” Admiral Scott added. “And favor assigning both ships. We get one go at this. The more firepower we have in reserve, the more likely a favorable outcome.” 
 
    Michael saw that the other captains were nodding their heads in agreement. 
 
    “President Lee. Do you think the Advisory Council and House of Ambassadors will agree?” 
 
    “I’m confident they will. But one word of caution. If we succeed and lose a ship, there will be understanding. If we fail and lose a lot of ships, then there will be recriminations.  
 
    “We are sending our best and most experienced. Retreat would be a better outcome than total loss.” 
 
    All eyes turned to Daniel. “Understood.” 
 
    “Shall we order the upgrades?” Secretary Thompson asked. 
 
    “I think we are in agreement.” President Lee replied. 
 
    Secretary Thompson turned to Admiral Scott. “Then the ball is in your court Sam.” 
 
    Michael smiled. I prodded, but they came to this resolution on their own. They are emerging as a galactic power, one far better than the one they’re replacing.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Vitya picked up another shift at the pavilion in Riverside Park today. Check in went the same as before and he was once again assigned to Kyle Watson’s communications team. 
 
    “Hey everyone. Thanks to the extras signing on for a shift with us again today. Before we get started, I have some news. The Ambassador’s reception is going to be here in the park on July 19.” 
 
    Kyle’s words shot through Vitya like an electrical jolt. He’d been sure the reception would be here. That’s why he’d already put in the footings and other infrastructure for storage and dispensing of his nanobot killing solution. 
 
    “That gives us three weeks to get the upgrades done in time for the security tests and the decorating teams. As you all know the equipment and procedures we’re using, most of you will be qualified for the tech slots that will be open for the big event. See me if you’d like to get connected up with that.” 
 
    Vitya raised his hand and shouted out, “Count me in.” 
 
    “Will pass your name along Vitya.” Kyle chuckled. He liked the Russian guy. He was always so gung ho.  
 
    “OK, same teams as Sunday. I want to be ready for a high-speed test by this afternoon.” 
 
    Within minutes, Vitya was up in the ceiling spaces again. He’d volunteered for the east end. Everyone hated that end because the electrical and communications cabinets were nearly full, making access and work in general more difficult. It was yet another maneuver to ingratiate himself with the people that actually did work at the Embassy.  
 
    But that was not his purpose today. This pavilion would be the central dispensing point for the nanobot killing spray. Therefore, he needed to discreetly place some critical equipment here.  
 
    Today, he would do the work his team needed him to do up in the east end. But he would also use his time here to prep various locations for his dispenser. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EMBASSY SECURITY 
 
    Yesterday, Abel had spent a couple hours looking for an address or other information about Julien Bescond’s location. As with many celebrities, Julien had done a decent job of keeping his personal information private. Nothing Abel found was current. 
 
    Today, he searched the dark web and within an hour, had an address and phone number. The address was in Paris, which was expected, but problematic. Abel himself could not pass as French. But a friend of his located in Paris would be perfect and would probably agree to help. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION CONSULATE, PARIS 
 
    “Lisette Lefevre.” 
 
    “Lisette, Abel Fletcher here. Long time, my friend.” 
 
    Lisette Lefevre was an adjunct diplomat at the Confederation Consulate in Paris. She was an Ascendant on her first mission to a first contact world. She was also Abel’s intelligence contact in France. 
 
    “Abel. What a pleasant surprise. Terrible thing the recent virus outbreak. I’m surprised that more information hasn’t been released about the cause and current status.” 
 
    “We’ve contacted all the androids outside the Embassy. There is a simple test that can be done to determine whether an android was infected. Very few outside the Embassy had been. A proper vaccination for the human population is still several months out. We’ll be more public about it when that vaccine is available.” 
 
    “Humans can get this?” 
 
    “Yes and no. The virus does not affect humans, but they can carry and spread it. But there is some concern the virus will mutate and become dangerous, so we’d like to stamp it out before that happens.” 
 
    There was a pause. “There’s more going on here than the Confederation is telling us about, isn’t there?” 
 
    “Yes. But nothing to worry about. I was actually calling for another reason. I need some help and it needs to be very discreet.” 
 
    Lisette smiled. “You’ve come to the right place. I’m the queen of discreet.” 
 
    Abel chuckled at the line. Lisette had extensive investigative experience on other worlds. As he understood it, this posting was for the purpose of rounding her out. But Abel knew she would rather be out in the field. 
 
    “There is a very well-known figure in Paris, who seems to have become tangled up in something that is not in the Confederation’s interest. I would like to find him. See if we can get some information about his activities without the individual finding out.” 
 
    “Sounds like fun. Who is it and what have they done?” 
 
    “Julien Bescond.” 
 
    “The food and art critic? Are you serious?” 
 
    “We have direct evidence that he was involved in distributing a substance that knocks out nanobots.” 
 
    “Abel, this is serious. Our personal shields, and almost all of our medical capability, is dependent on nanobots. If such a substance became distributed widely, the Confederation’s ability to protect our interests on Earth would be wiped out.” 
 
    “Exactly.” 
 
    “Do you think he’s a principal, or just an unwitting stooge?” 
 
    “That’s what I want to find out.” 
 
    “How solid is your information?” 
 
    “Rock solid. Someone used the spray near a senior Confederation official. We found out when our security surveillance nanobots suddenly went offline. We have a recording of the person that deployed the substance saying she got it from Julien Bescond.” 
 
    “Now I understand why this has to be handled discreetly. If the people behind this find out that we’re on to them, they could deploy it as a weapon. We need to find the ringleader and their operation or suppliers, so we can take it all down. Urgency?” 
 
    Abel let out a breath. “This will be known soon, but for now this is for your ears only.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    “The wedding date has been set for July 19.” 
 
    “Oh, my God! Let me guess, there are going to be ambassadors coming from neighboring worlds.” 
 
    “I’ve not been given the invite list, but I agree with your assessment. Hundreds of Confederation officials. Senior people from every country on Earth. If someone wanted to destabilize Confederation influence in the sector, they’d take down that wedding.” 
 
    “Do you have any leads on his whereabouts?” 
 
    “I’ve got an address.” 
 
    “Let me have it.” 
 
    “Posting it to your queue.” 
 
    “Can you give me some cover with my boss?” 
 
    “Will do. I’m having you temporarily reassigned to me.” 
 
    “It’s late afternoon here. I’ll see what I can get you tonight.” 
 
    “Thanks Lisette. Good to be working with you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    There was a knock on the door of Joel’s office. 
 
    “Come in.” Joel turned to see who it was. “Michael?” 
 
    “Hi. Was in the neighborhood, so thought I’d stop by, see if you were free.” 
 
     Joel was surprised by Michael’s demeanor, quieter and less confident than usual. 
 
    “What’s up.” 
 
    “There’s been a last-minute change up on the mission to destroy the Enemy’s home world. I don’t want to bog you down in the detail, but we’re going to need two of your freighters with custom build-outs.” 
 
    “How custom?” 
 
    “We need to mount Eugene and Kelly’s ultra-shield in the nose of both ships, and one needs to be fitted for remote piloting.” 
 
    “Why a remote pilot?” 
 
    “Turns out there are two sites we need to take down. The additional site is too large for the red matter weapon, and too well protected as well. So, we’re going to use the freighter as a kinetic weapon.” 
 
    Joel was shocked by this development. Apparently, a lot had changed. And, given Michael’s apparent state of mind, Joel wondered if he thought the new mission would succeed. 
 
    “When do we need this?” 
 
    “ASAP. We are almost out of time. We’ll launch as early next week as possible.” 
 
    “They’ve figured out how to open the rift, haven’t they?” 
 
    “New evidence says yes, and they are close. It’s already opening enough that a ship might be able to make the attempt. In another month, a lot of them will be on this side of the rift. We have to use what we have at hand to take a shot now, while we still can.” 
 
    “Who has the lead on the design?” 
 
    “Eugene and Kelly have the shield. Space Force has some tests to run before we close on the piloting scheme.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll connect with Eugene.” 
 
    Michael stood to leave. 
 
    “You need some rest Michael.” 
 
    “I know.” 
 
    Michael left, closing the door behind him. 
 
    … 
 
    Joel sat looking at the closed door for several minutes, worried about Michael and pondering the best way to deploy his assets given the new reality they were facing. As much as he wanted to continue his work on the new manufacturing line, it might not get done in time to make a difference. And with 15 of his 16 mines humming along, he now had more material than he knew what to do with. So he decided to let Platform 4 slide for a while. He and Barbara both needed to focus on their priorities, and Platform 4 wasn’t a priority for the coming week. For that matter, neither were the Cruisers. When the current one was done, he would switch Line 2 over to Fast Attack Ships and continue Freighter production on Line 1. 
 
    Joel quickly shot off a message to Henry with the updated plan. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 LISETTE LEFEVRE’S RESIDENCE, PARIS 
 
    Lisette had spent some time in the early evening working out a scouting plan for tonight. Her first step had been to confirm the address that Abel had given her. It didn’t take long. She’d developed a number of information sources locally, all of which spilled that address for a couple Euros. She also found out that he had a house in the country. It wasn’t on tonight’s agenda but might be on tomorrow’s. 
 
    At 8:00 PM, she set out. Her plan was to park a half kilometer from his building, then slowly stroll the neighborhood. Sunset was around 10:00 tonight, so she would be one of many out for an evening stroll. 
 
    It was a short drive, 7.5 kilometers. She found a parking spot at the perimeter of the public park. She grabbed her backpack purse, hooked it over her shoulder and started walking. 
 
    As expected, there were quite a few people doing the same. Two blocks from Julien’s building, she used her implants to activate a device in her purse. Every 15 seconds, the device would dispense a surveillance nanobot. Its instructions were to find a place to hide, ideally one to two meters off the ground. Once it found a suitable perch, it was to go into low power mode. In that mode, it would continue operating for days, as long as it found a place where it wouldn’t be wiped away or stepped on. 
 
    As she walked, a line of little blinking lights appeared in her inner vision. They were superimposed on a map of the city. As she went around the block, the ring of surveillance slowly circled her target’s apartment.  
 
    At 9:00, she stopped at a small café for a cup of coffee. At 9:15, she got up and started walking again. This time she moved in one block. The stop at the café wasn’t actually about coffee. It was about moving in a block without looking suspicious. 
 
    A second, inner ring began to form in her inner vision. This ring would pass directly in front of her target’s building on the opposite side of the street. She would get her first live visual as she passed. 
 
    It was dusk now and lights had begun to turn on in the upper residential floors of the buildings. As the target’s building came into view, she dispensed additional nanobots with instructions to fly up to the target’s windows on the 5th floor. There they were to perch on the window sashes and do full spectrum passive scans of the interior. The first nanobots arrived just as she was passing the building. No one would guess that the woman walking across the street from the building with her head down was actually looking in through the windows on the 5th floor. 
 
    At the end of the block, she crossed to the target’s side of the street and walked back the way she’d come. As she approached the building her phone rang. She pulled out the phone and started chatting quietly. After a couple seconds she sat on a bench near the front door, cupped her phone over her ear and continued talking. At least, that’s what any onlookers were to think. 
 
    As she sat, a horde of nanobots were released, these had instructions to find their way into the building, then into apartment 504. Any that made it were to distribute themselves as evenly as possible. After five minutes, the first one made it in. She released 100 more with instructions to follow its path using minimal power.  
 
    At this point no one appeared to be at home. But she wanted some of these to still be active when he arrived, therefore the low energy path. If the apartment was still empty at midnight, she would attempt further infiltration. 
 
    With her work on the bench done, she said goodbye to her fictitious caller, then put the phone away and stood. At the end of the block, she started a roundabout path back to her car. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    As Michael made his way back to his office, a notice popped up in his inner vision. The next draft of the Alliance agreement was ready for his review. This would be interesting. It would commit Earth to a lot, possibly give them a fighting chance if the upcoming mission to the Enemy home world failed. 
 
    Back in his office, Michael started plowing his way through the lengthy document. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION SECURITY OFFICE 
 
    “Lisette, I didn’t expect to hear from you so soon.” 
 
    “I found and set up surveillance on the target’s apartment in Paris. I was able to confirm locally that it is his place. I also found a home in the country that belongs to him.” 
 
    “That’s a lot for one afternoon.” 
 
    “I have about 103 surveillance nanobots in his apartment, which is still empty. Anything you can tell me about the packaging of the device he used?” 
 
    “It was a hand pump spray bottle, labeled as a wrinkle-release ironing spray. The label itself was white, one of the glue-on types. The spray bottle was opaque white.” 
 
    “Let me see if I can find anything like that. Scanning images of the various rooms.” A pause. “What do you know. Silky Smooth, Wrinkle-Releasing Ironing Spray. Opaque white plastic bottle, relatively plain white label. 
 
    “Do you have enough authority to get a shuttle or space force ship to transport me into his apartment?”  
 
    “I think so. When?” 
 
    “Within the next two hours, three hours max. After that early morning light will start becoming a problem.” 
 
    “You realize that exposure to that bottle will put you at great risk, right?” 
 
    “I’ll suit up.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll scramble one of the security shuttles. They’ll contact you within the hour.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Bumati’s team finished System 2 today. It was a small brown dwarf system near Naltanarus. It had three planets. The inner most planet was small and hot, not a good candidate. They found one deposit on the second planet and two deposits on the third for a total anticipated yield of 1,795 kg. 
 
    Her new crew was learning fast. They split the team between the two planets. Each worked about 4 hours. She sat in on both. According to Captain Flanagan the trip to the next system would take seven hours. She planned to grab a quick meal, then six hours of sack time. Another couple of days like today and she would be able to pass the lead on the more rote claims to her team. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PARIS CONSULATE 
 
    It was 1:00 AM. Lisette was suited up and loaded with equipment. The security shuttle would transport her up momentarily, then transport her down to Julien Bescond’s 15 minutes later. They would hold in orbit until she was done. But she planned to limit her visit to 30 minutes max. She wanted to leave no trace of her presence. 
 
    … 
 
    Lisette appeared in Julien Bescond’s living room. Streetlights were visible through the windows. The buildings across the street were dark inside. 
 
    Her suit completely isolated her from the external environment. Its faceplate was night vision enabled, so she could see everything inside clearly. Audio receptors on the exterior of the suit let her hear every sound she made, as well as the creaking sounds the building made as the wind blew. The suit itself was stealthy. It matched its color to the background from every angle, making it very difficult to see in a low light setting like this. 
 
    She made a quick sweep of the room, which revealed nothing of interest. Next stop would be the study. Her nanobots detected nothing of interest, but she wanted to check herself. As she stepped in, she had her first inkling of trouble. There was light leaking through a crack in a bit of cabinetry. You had to stand in just the right spot to see it. None of her nanobots had looked from that angle. 
 
    Lisette slowly backed out of the room and headed for the laundry room. If there was countersurveillance in the study, she might have been spotted. She quickly found the ironing spray. She took a high-resolution picture of the label and another of the bottle. Then she extracted a tubular device from her backpack. It was a micro sampler, the perfect tool for this mission. 
 
    She set the micro sampler next to the spray bottle. Then activated it. The micro sampler contained a micro transporter that could move up to 10 milliliters of liquid. She put the sample in her pack, then turned to head back to the study. As she did, she heard the loud groan of a heavy cabinet door opening and a light came on in the study. 
 
    “Emergency transport! NOW!” She whispered into her microphone.  
 
    As she disappeared, she saw movement in the shadows projected from the room. She would escape detection, but just barely. 
 
    … 
 
    During the 15-minute trip back to the Consulate, Lisette watched recordings of what happened after she left. There was not that much to watch. All her nanobots went down within two minutes of the cabinet opening. But what they revealed was deeply disturbing. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABEL FLETCHER’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Lisette, what’s happened?” 
 
    “Abel, we have a big problem. Julien Bescond is an Ascendant.” 
 
    “What? How can that be? How do you know?” 
 
    “His apartment has a regeneration chamber hidden in a cabinet in his study. The study has a sensor of some sort that I triggered. The naked figure of Julien Bescond emerged from the chamber as I transported out.” 
 
    “OK, but why does that make him an Ascendant?” 
 
    “Ascendants awake from restoration chambers differently than humans do. The tells are hard to miss once you know them. You can show this clip to any Ascendant and they will know. 
 
    “But moments after he emerged, his room came to life. All my surveillance nanobots were dead within two minutes. He did it through his implants.” 
 
    There was silence on the line. 
 
    “Abel. Why is there an Ascendant on Earth handling material like that? Is he under Earth’s control? The Embassy’s control? Or is he someone sent from the Confederation to foul the water here?” 
 
    More silence, then… “I don’t know. I’ll have to report this to Michael. Did you get a sample of the material?” 
 
    Lisette smiled. “Yes, I did.” 
 
    “We’ll need to get that to the lab as quickly as possible.” 
 
    “I think it would be a bad idea to let it out of my sight until it is in your hands.” 
 
    “Agreed. You should come here, but not by shuttle.” 
 
    “You want me to fly commercial?” Lisette was surprised by the suggestion. 
 
    “No. Space Force. Someone will contact you in a few minutes. Pack a bag. I want to keep you here a couple days. I’ll have them transport you straight to my office. I’ll meet you there.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

  JULIEN BESCOND’S APARTMENT 
 
    Ju-Ne was furious. Someone had broken into his apartment. Reviewing the security recording, he saw a short shadowy figure walk into his den, then leave. Tapes in the other rooms got a blurred image here and there. But there was no evidence of entry or of anything missing. Nonetheless, someone had been here. 
 
    It had to have been Confederation. The humans weren’t that smart, didn’t have the tech. He had to assume that they’d found out about Bescond. 
 
    But it really didn’t matter. Bescond was disposable. They all were. He would either succeed on July 19 or fail. But either way he would eventually win.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABEL FLETCHER’S OFFICE 
 
    It took more bargaining and persuasion than he thought it would, but Space Force finally delivered Lisette around 10 PM. The sun would already be up in Paris. They locked the sample in his safe, then he escorted Lisette over to the guest hotel. They agreed to meet in the morning. He’d already put in a meeting request with Michael for tomorrow afternoon. Hopefully, he’d have something interesting to report. 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PROPULSION 
 
    [Saturday, 6.21.2031] EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    Eugene and Kelly agreed to meet in their lab at 8:00 AM. Eugene would transport up first. Kelly would follow along with the equipment as they did for the test mission.  
 
    “Any regrets?” Eugene asked as Kelly entered. 
 
    “That’s an odd greeting.” 
 
    “I’ve been reticent about this project since the beginning, but I think I’m finally at peace with it.” 
 
    “And that’s what you’re thinking about on the day we make a test flight into Enemy territory.” 
 
    “This is probably the most dangerous thing we’ve ever done. I trust James when he says it will work. But James didn’t build the machine. You and I did. And Joel and Henry too.” 
 
    “Don’t forget the hours Valerie volunteered.” 
 
    Eugene looked sternly at Kelly. “I think the point stands. James said it would work, but he didn’t build it. Our extended team did. 
 
    “But forgetting all that, no one has ever used or operated a drive like this before. No human. No Lorexian. No Confederation member. That means there’s a lot of risk due to unknowns. I’ve found myself feeling very mortal, which begs the question. Is this something we should be doing?” 
 
    “What did you conclude?” 
 
    “Yes, it is. As I said, I’ve come to peace with it.”  
 
    “Haven’t really thought about it. But if I did, I’d say the mission to test the shields was the riskiest thing I’ve ever done.” 
 
    “Dr. Xu. This is Else. Are you ready to transport up?” 
 
    “One moment, Else.” 
 
    “Ready?” He whispered to Kelly. 
 
    “As ready as I’ll ever be.” 
 
    “Else, I’m ready.” 
 
    “Got you. Transporting in 3, 2, 1…” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, PORT HULL, DECK 1 
 
    Eugene appeared on the transporter pad and quickly stepped off. A young man that looked familiar was waiting for him. 
 
    “Dr. Xu. Good to see you again. I’m Ensign Barrett Jones. The Admiral asked me to meet you and help you get your equipment set up. How much equipment do you have?” 
 
    “Mr. Jones. A pleasure to see you as well. We have five crates, one of which will require a security code.” 
 
    The Ensign looked at him oddly. 
 
    “Our weapon contains materials that require a special code to bring aboard a spaceship. I’ve been through this before and know the procedure.” 
 
    “Excellent.” 
 
    The doors to the lift opened and a team of 5 space marines emerged. One went straight to the storage closet to get a grav sled. 
 
    “Shall we?” Barrett asked. 
 
    “Yes. Bring them up in order.” 
 
    A moment later, a pair of crates appeared. 
 
    “Any changes to the set-up instructions we were sent? If not, we’ll take these to the lab and start set up.” 
 
    “No changes. I’ll meet you there after the other items are transported up.” 
 
    The marines headed off toward the lab. 
 
    Barrett initiated the second transport. A red light came on and an automated voice said, “Security override required.” 
 
    Eugene entered the code and a moment later the light turned green. A moment after that the third crate appeared. 
 
    “I’ve never seen that before.” Barrett said in disbelief. 
 
    “As I said, our weapon system has elements that are normally not allowed aboard spaceships.” 
 
    Barrett started to say something, stopped, then said. “And I can’t ask what, because I don’t have the security clearance.” 
 
    Eugene laughed. “You can always ask. But better that I didn’t tell.” 
 
    The comment made Barrett smile. He really didn’t know Eugene. They’d been in one meeting together. But Dr. Xu was the presenter and Barrett was the tag along. He knew Eugene to be an incredibly serious individual and never thought of him as approachable. It was nice to see that the great Eugene Xu had a softer side. 
 
    “The last item is an industrial replicator. You have bigger, faster ones on board, but ours has some special modifications, so we brought it just in case. It’s bulky, so I’ll head to the lab now and wait for you there.” 
 
    “I’ll come with you. I’ll be your escort for most of this journey.” Barrett gave some instructions to the marines returning from the lab, initiated transport of the next crate, then escorted Eugene to the lab. 
 
    … 
 
    When they arrived at the lab, Eugene was pleased to see that it was an exact replica of the lab on the Oslo. The specs said it would be, but it was nice to confirm it with his own eyes. 
 
    Eugene did a quick inspection of the setup of the first three crates. 
 
    He turned toward Barrett. “Good job.” 
 
    “I’ll pass the word along.” 
 
    The marines hauled the final crate in through the double doors.  
 
    Eugene pointed to the double doors separating the lab from the classroom. “We’re going to put that one in there.” 
 
    Eugene and Barrett went in first and held the door. 
 
    Once in the room, Eugene ran ahead to make sure the floor preparation that had been specified was in place. 
 
    “It’s been done, sir,” the lead marine said with a smile. 
 
    “And very well at that,” Eugene replied. 
 
    A minute later, the job was done, the replicator locked in place. 
 
    “Shall we head down to the cargo bay for the final transport?” 
 
    “Let’s go.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GUEST HOTEL 
 
    The alarm went off, wrestling Lisette Lefevre from a deep sleep. She had a hard time believing that it was really 7:30 AM. She turned to look at the clock on the side table. 7:30. I actually slept until 3:30 PM Paris time. Who would have thought it possible? 
 
    She got up, showered, and dressed, excited for the day. It had been four years since she’d been back to the Embassy. And today, she’d be working with the Assistant Chief of Security. She’d applied for the Chief’s job, knowing it was a long shot. She was young, barely a thousand years old, vying for a first contact world. But she was good, had never really met a rival. She also really wanted to work with Michael. For a long time now, since before she was born, everything of interest that happened in the Confederation had his fingerprints all over it. When she got notice that she’d been accepted for Earth, it was a dream come true. When she got word that she’d been accepted as an adjunct diplomat, the dream was shattered. 
 
    But that was history. Today, she would at least be working in the office of her dreams, rooting out a pernicious evil that needed to be expunged from the Confederation.  
 
    Maybe, if we’re successful here, I’ll get another shot at my dream. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO BAY, PORT HULL, EAS CANADA 
 
    When they arrived, the door to the cargo bay was closed. Barrett entered a security code and the door opened revealing an unusually clean and completely empty cargo bay. 
 
    “This one has its own hatch to the exterior. It gets a thorough cleaning before any mission in which it will be used.” 
 
    “Because…” Eugene was curious why. 
 
    Barrett laughed. “What happens when you open a hatch to space?” 
 
    “Everything gets sucked out?” 
 
    “Exactly. We depressurize the bay before opening the hatch. But you never quite get all the air, so any dust and debris will get blown out, fouling the approaches to the hold. Other than the small expulsion velocity, the dust and debris have the same relative velocity vector as the ship. So, all the crap sticks with you until you accelerate away. We’ve had dust and other particles that were close to the ship travel through both warp and jump with us. It’s surprisingly hard to get rid of it all. 
 
    “Anyway, experience that once or twice and you learn to scrub the outer bays clean before using them.” 
 
    “Got it,” Eugene agreed. 
 
    “Ms. Williamson will come up with the equipment?” 
 
    “Yes. And this transport will also require a security code.” 
 
    A moment later, Kelly, the test sled and a pallet of several smaller devices appeared in the cargo bay. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JULIEN BESCOND’S COUNTRY HOME 
 
    Ju-Ne had been busy elsewhere, when the alarm went off indicating that his apartment in Paris had been penetrated. It took nearly three hours to disengage, so that he could transfer into Julien Bescond. When Julien awakened in Paris, there was someone in the apartment. But they escaped in the 30 seconds it took for him to exit the restoration chamber. Within minutes, he knew the Confederation was on to him. His apartment was flooded with surveillance nanobots. It didn’t take long to get rid of them, he had spray handy. But when he sat down to review the security tapes, he realized that they had taken a sample of his fluid. 
 
    So, the question was, “What to do?” He would have to abandon the Bescond avatar. It ‘owned’ two homes in France, worth over 5 million euros. He liked those homes and hated the idea of losing that much money. But protocol was clear. Everything needed to be destroyed. The Confederation, and the Ancient Sentient in particular, could not be allowed access to the restoration chambers or the avatar. 
 
    Step 1 was to rig the Paris apartment to blow up if someone entered. He did that this morning. Step 2 was to do the same at the country home. Step 3 would be to synchronize the explosions, if one went, the other had to go at the same time. 
 
    Julien pulled into the driveway of the country home near Dijon. His security system was not reporting an entry, so he parked in the detached garage, grabbed a wheeled crate that he stored there, then entered the home and headed straight for the restoration chamber. 
 
    It was stored inside a cabinet, so under normal circumstances would be difficult to find. But the cabinet had a secondary purpose. It was made of wood, heavy wood. 
 
    Like its companion in Paris, the ‘open button’ was operated telepathically. For a thief, looter, or other vandal to open the cabinet without the proper telepathic codes, they would have to break the cabinet apart. 
 
    Julien sent the code and waited as the cabinet opened and the restoration chamber slid out. He opened a special compartment in the top of the unit. It held several stackable trays that he removed. He opened the crate he’d brought in from the garage, then pulled out a metal container. It was perfectly sized to replace the bottom tray. He placed it in the compartment, then placed the second tray on top the metal container. That tray was made of unfinished thin wood that had only been coarse sanded. 
 
    He placed two metal containers on top the wooden tray. One had wires coming out the top. The other had two screw terminals on the top. He attached the wires to the terminals, then activated the box with the terminals. A red light came on. After several moments, the light turned green and he closed the lid of the compartment. 
 
    Julien stood there, looking at the restoration chamber, caught in deep melancholy. It had taken a great deal of effort to develop this personality, to acquire these two properties and develop his reputation. But things were coming to a head. This avatar’s work was nearly done, but its cover had been blown. Worse, it had been blown just after midnight on a Friday night, which made it all but impossible to salvage anything before the hammer came down. 
 
    Julien took his clothes off, got in the chamber, and sealed the cabinet. Ju-Ne then withdrew. If no one investigated, then maybe he could return at some point. If someone broke in to investigate either property, then both would burn. 
 
    The box with the terminals was networked into the security system that operated both homes. It powered a pair of blasting caps in the other box. The other box was filled with thermite. When the blasting caps went off the thermite would start to burn. Its ignition temperature would be 660° C. Its temperature would quickly increase to 2,519° C, but it wouldn’t make it that far. The plastic-coated tin can the thermite was in would melt almost immediately, burn the wood underneath, then melt into the can of napalm in the tin below. The conflagration would take out quantum entangled communications nodes in the chamber, making it untraceable, and would completely incinerate Julien Bescond. The heavy wood encasing the restoration chamber would burn. The thermite, napalm and wooden cabinet would be so hot, the rest of the home would go. Nothing would be recovered. Nothing would be traced. 
 
    The same thing would happen almost simultaneously in Paris, where the entire block would probably burn down. His building would go so fast, anyone in it, particularly the ones that entered his apartment, would be unlikely to escape. 
 
    Ju-Ne was sad to be losing this part of his life, but it had been the plan all along. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE CONFERENCE ROOM, EAS CANADA 
 
    Eugene and Kelly were escorted to the bridge, then into the conference room. 
 
    Daniel stood as they came in. “My two favorite engineers. Welcome aboard the Canada. I think you know everyone here. Executive Officer Duan Tai, Commander Darsha Kumar, Second Officer Lt. Commander Jim Ryan, Astrogation Officer Keanu Tajima, and Tactical Officer Adrian Meier.” 
 
    As Kelly looked at Keanu, he smiled at her. The two had fallen for each other six or seven months back, shortly before Keanu deployed. They messaged each other a lot, but the long-distance romance really wasn’t working for Kelly. She didn’t want to deal with the pain of a breakup before the mission to the Enemy home world. But it would come soon after. The thought saddened her. 
 
    “Eugene, you have the course that’s been selected for us?” 
 
    “Yes. It’s on this chip.” 
 
    Eugene gave Daniel a secure chip that contained the orders. 
 
    “Tajima, please load this and review it with Ms. Else.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” Keanu took the chip and returned to the bridge. 
 
    Daniel turned back to look at Eugene.  
 
    “Any advice on what we’re about to experience?” 
 
    “Can I take that one?” Kelly asked. 
 
    Eugene nodded his acknowledgement to her. 
 
    “The short answer is that we don’t know. But we have an expectation based on the dimensions used. You are well aware of the effect that the transporter, warp travel and jump drive have on people. The effect is loosely proportional to the gap between dimensions. The transport dimension is relatively low, warp higher, jump higher still. Jump has the additional effect of time dilation, which compounds the impact. 
 
    “The dimensional drive will take us to a much higher dimension than jump, but it is not clear how much time disparity we will experience. Our best simulations say the time disparity will be more like warp. If that’s right, then the transit to Enemy space will be like a short jump. Nonetheless, I would recommend that we dose the crew. Eugene and I have already dosed ourselves.” 
 
    Daniel considered her words for a moment. 
 
    “I’ll advise the doctor and recommend dosing the crew. But I’ll also ask for a few off-duty crew members to volunteer not to take the medication and report to the hospital for observation. It would be good to have a better understanding of the impact. 
 
    “Anything else I should know?” 
 
    “Two things. First, simulation predicts that we will experience some vibration as we enter and exit the Enemy’s dimension. Second, we have scans we would like the tactical and science officers to run. These are targeted for calibration and supplemental support of the test suite that we brought aboard. The most important of those will be assuring that we can form an ultra-thick, high-density shield and can navigate remotely with external sensors.” Eugene produced another data chip with explicit orders for the Admiral. 
 
    “One of the tests requested is calibration shots from the railgun. James tells us this dimension is thicker and may impact the performance of our weapons.” 
 
    “Wise precaution.” 
 
    The door opened and Keanu Tajima came back into the room. 
 
    “The coordinates and vectors check out. Else agrees. We’ll take a relatively standard exit from Earth, a short transit in warp, then jump to our destination. Another short transit then the transition to the new drive. We should be in enemy territory in about 50 minutes.” 
 
    Daniel stood. “OK. Let’s get on with it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ADMIRAL SCOTT’S OFFICE 
 
    Sam had just put the Canada, Oslo, Abuja, Buenos Aires, Cairo, Dhaka, and Jakarta on ready standing alert. All but the Canada had been ordered to the Space Force’s orbital upgrade facility for propulsion upgrades. He had also sent orders to Captain Guruli of the soon to be commissioned EAS Batumi. It was the first time he had ever sent upgrade and mission orders to a ship that hadn’t even been commissioned yet. He hoped they would be up for it. 
 
    The final order was a requisition to the Manufacturing office for a freighter configured as a drone with remote piloting and propulsion upgrades. The order listed Eugene Xu as the consulting engineer.  
 
    This was another first for the Admiral. He’d never sent orders to a civilian agency before. Neither had he listed a civilian engineer as the officer in charge of specifications. But they were now on a wartime footing. His predecessors in the US Navy had undoubtedly done equally irregular things during the world wars. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DINING ROOM, GUEST HOTEL 
 
    Abel arrived a few minutes early. He’d be having breakfast with Lisette. In less than 24 hours, she’d turned this investigation on its head. He knew who Lisette was, that she’d applied for his boss’s job. 
 
    Abel’s personal assessment was that she was better suited for his own job, the one that led and did the work. His boss was basically a political pawn, tasked with oversight of others far more skilled then himself.  
 
    He’d also received notice that Michael had accepted a 30-minute meeting with them at 10:00. The notice came with a personal message from Michael’s assistant Pam.  It warned that the boss was stretched to the limit and anyone meeting with him should do their best to be concise. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    Eugene and Kelly took seats on the bridge next to the Admiral’s chair. They watched as the ship left orbit and made its way to the transition point.  
 
    For Eugene, it brought back memories of the field trip Professor MacLellan had organized for them during the introductory propulsion course. That trip had been Eugene’s first time in space. He’d been one of the first humans to leave the solar system. It had happened less than a year ago, so the memory was fresh. But it seemed as if it were from another lifetime, long, long ago. 
 
    “Admiral?” 
 
    “Yes, Else.” 
 
    “We are about to engage the warp drive.” 
 
    Daniel looked at Eugene and Kelly. “I guess that’s your cue to warm up your equipment. Ensign Jones should be able to connect you with anything you need. Five minutes before the transition, I’ll initiate an open comm line between us. 
 
    “Good luck with your tests.” 
 
    … 
 
    Eugene had turned on and initiated full system, diagnostic tests when he came aboard. He’d received no failure notices, but he and Kelly would manually check each piece of equipment before the transition. 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral. Five minutes to transition.” 
 
    “Ms. Harris, open a continuous comm line to the Port Mission Lab.” 
 
    “Done, sir.” 
 
    “Eugene. Everything ready?” 
 
    “All ready, sir. We will be monitoring the transition along with your watch team and advise if anything unexpected occurs.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral, we will be jumping in 15 seconds. We will engage the dimensional drive 30 seconds after dropping from jump. If you want to make an announcement, you might want to do it now.” 
 
    “Thank you, Else. Ms. Harris put me on the comm system.” 
 
    “You are on sir.” 
 
    “All hands. This is Admiral Porter. We are about to jump to our transit point. Thirty seconds after we arrive, we will transit into Enemy territory. We expect some vibration as we transit. 
 
    “Our destination is in an area where there are no hostiles. Nonetheless, we are going to high alert. All hands to battle stations. I repeat, all hands to battle stations. 
 
    “Porter out.” 
 
    … 
 
    The jump was short. Only 50 light years. They’d set one of the monitors in the lab to mirror the bridge viewscreen. If Eugene hadn’t been watching it, he wouldn’t even have known they’d jumped. This ship was incredibly smooth. He hoped the next transit would be as smooth. But doubted it. 
 
    The countdown timer on the screen reached the point where the verbal countdown began.  
 
    “Transit in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    The world froze for a moment, then came rushing back with a vengeance. Eugene was glad he’d dosed himself. The transit felt like a long jump. He didn’t feel any vibration, but the image on the view screen was weird, spooky. There was nothing but black. 
 
    A quick check of their equipment showed infinitesimal vibration. 
 
    “Unexpectedly low vibration,” Kelly called out. 
 
    “Admiral?” 
 
    “Yes, Else.” 
 
    “We may have a problem. Sensors do not seem to be reading anything. Our inertial navigation system shows that we’re moving. But it lost its calibration in the transit. It’s not clear to me how we navigate.” 
 
    “Understood. Science, do you have anything for us?” 
 
    “I think I do.” Lt. Meier studied his instruments. 
 
    “And what might that be?” 
 
    “Please give me a moment, sir.” 
 
    “I’m detecting gravitational waves,” Eugene volunteered. 
 
    “I’m seeing a star or a planet or something directly ahead.” Lt. Meier reported. 
 
    “According to the navigation charts we received, the Enemy home world is half a light year directly ahead,” Keanu added. 
 
    “My readings are not clear enough to confirm that it’s the Enemy home world. But that would be consistent with what I’m getting.” Lt. Meier replied. 
 
    “Else, how long are we to hold this course before the first test?” 
 
    “Another 15 minutes.” 
 
    “Hold course. Gather as much data as possible.” 
 
    Eugene was troubled. It hadn’t occurred to him that navigation would be an issue in this dimension. He had to trust that the coordinates James gave them for the mission and for the final attack would be accurate. But if he could not lock onto the planet, then he could not fire. And if they could not correct course in flight, their kinetic weapon had no chance of hitting the asteroid. 
 
    Worse, if either the planet or the asteroid survived, the ire of the Enemy would be raised to a whole new level. 
 
    Lt. Meier was first to find an answer. 
 
    “Admiral. I think I’ve found the sensor adjustment we need. Permission to apply the modification. It’s easily reversed.” 
 
    “Permission granted.” 
 
    A spectacular display popped up on the view screen. 
 
    “We were told that this space time was thicker, denser. That was apparently true. The more time we spend here, the better I’ll be able to make it.” 
 
    “Continue making adjustments. We want the clearest image we can get when we come back. This will be our only opportunity to calibrate.” 
 
    The images on the screen continued to sharpen. 
 
    “Admiral, you should see this.” 
 
    “Put it on the view screen.” 
 
    The view screen seemed to zoom in on a tiny spot far away. It looked something like images Eugene had seen of the great cosmic nebulas. But it was more linear, like a rip along the seam in a piece of cloth. 
 
    That is the rift in space time that leads to the Tezzloran home world. 
 
    Lt. Meier continued zooming in until more of the detail was visible. He highlighted a spot. “Professor Ancient mentioned that the rift churns like waves pounding the face of a cliff. This must have been what he was talking about.” 
 
    Kelly was first to note something else. “I think we can see the asteroid. See the tiny black dot in the lower left of the display.” 
 
    Lt. Meier zoomed in. The dot grew into a small circle. 
 
    “That’s the largest I can get it at max resolution.” 
 
    “See if there are sensor adjustments you can make to clean it up any further.” 
 
    “Good thinking, Admiral.” 
 
    “Admiral.” Else interrupted. “We are scheduled to change course in 5 minutes. Given our navigation challenges, we do not want to miss that course change.” 
 
    “Thanks for the reminder Else.” 
 
    “Eugene, is the equipment in the cargo hold ready for transport out of the ship.” 
 
    “Yes, Admiral. All equipment tests out.” 
 
    “Else, transport the test equipment 1 kilometer out from the port side.” 
 
    “Equipment transported. It’s on an unpowered parallel course.” 
 
    “Eugene, over to you. The ship will change course in 3 minutes, 18 seconds. Ms. Harris, please put the countdown on the main viewscreen.” 
 
    Eugene looked at Kelly. “I’m pushing the sensor upgrades to the mini drones. Can you do it for the test sled?” 
 
    “On it.” 
 
    There was silence as they scrambled to be ready for the course change. 
 
    “Changing course in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Course changed.” 
 
    Although the test sled and mini drones continued along a straight line, they appeared to veer away as the ship changed course. It was headed to a parallel course 100 km to port and 10 km behind. From this vantage point, they would be able to watch the shield formation and the dance that would follow.  
 
    “The first mini drone is powering up and running ahead of the sled.” Eugene called out. 
 
    The plan was for the mini drone to race out at 3G, its maximum acceleration, for 15 minutes. At that point, it would reverse thrust for 15 minutes to return to its original speed. From there, it would make a small random course change. This would put the target drone about 225,000 km out on a vector different from the platform’s current vector. 
 
     “OK. The mini drone is out of range of the shield. Let’s power up the shield. Kelly over to you.” 
 
    “All drone systems are nominal. The shield generator has power. Initiating shield formation.” 
 
    From the ship’s perspective, an oval shaped hole opened in space. It was completely black. Nothing beyond could be seen. 
 
    From the test sled’s perspective everything in front of it was gone. Nothing but black. It was as if they were at the event horizon of a black hole. Nothing, absolutely nothing ahead of it. There were still stars to the side and behind. Not many. Few stars were visible in this dimension. But there were more than enough to know that the ultra-thick, high density shield was there and in operation. 
 
    “Eugene, can you put the view of the test sled from the forward mini drone on the viewscreen.” 
 
    “Working it, Admiral.” 
 
    The image popped up. From the mini-drones perspective, there was really nothing to see. 
 
    “The test sled is invisible. The shield blocks any sight of it. There are no stars behind the shield that would have been visible, so there’s no way to know the test sled is there.  
 
    “The dance will begin in 24 minutes. Nothing to do but gather data until then. Kelly and I are going to mute, so we can work our calibrations without disturbing you.” 
 
    “Understood,” replied Daniel. “We will do the same.” 
 
    Eugene turned to look at Kelly. “All the readings are normal, but I can’t help thinking that we’re missing something.” 
 
    “Like what?” 
 
    “I don’t know. That’s the problem.” 
 
    “Eugene are you always this paranoid?” 
 
    “I’m an engineer. It’s my job to anticipate failure modes and fix them before things fail.” 
 
    “Point taken, but something must be motivating your concern.” 
 
    “Can we get sensor readings on the sled itself?” 
 
    “You mean the sled’s exterior?” A pause. “You’re worried about the sled’s material integrity in this dimension.” 
 
    Eugene smiled. “Yes. This dimension is the biggest unknown. We know it impacts matter, but not that much about how it impacts it.” 
 
    “We should ask the Admiral to do the same for the ship.” 
 
    “Good thinking.” Eugene unmuted the line. “Admiral Porter.” 
 
    “Here. What’s up?” 
 
    “We’re about to initiate some scans of the test sled. It would probably be a good idea to do the same thing for the ship. Do you have external sensors that would allow you to scan the hull exterior?” 
 
    “Yes, we do. What are you thinking?”  
 
    “We don’t know all that much about this dimension. It’s possible that things originating in our dimension might interact in some way with this one. We’re here, so we should test to see if there is any interaction.” 
 
    “Good thinking. Will run some scans and get back to you.” 
 
    “We’re going to launch the mini drones and have them hover a meter or two from the test sled. That will allow us to use their sensors to run tests on the sled.” 
 
    “Understood. Muting the line.” 
 
    Eugene muted their end as Kelly started repositioning the four mini drones. 
 
    … 
 
    “Check this out. We are seeing erosion of organic material used as seals for the box containing the sled’s power and shielding generators. Micro-pitting is clearly visible.” 
 
    “If it continued at this rate, how long until the seals failed?” 
 
    “Hard to say. Days? Weeks? Probably not years.” 
 
    Eugene unmuted. “Admiral. We are seeing micro-pitting in some of the organic seals exposed to space. If the Canada has any exposed organic seals, you might want to check them out.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    … 
 
    As the countdown timer on the viewscreen approached zero, Eugene unmuted. “We will begin the dance shortly.” 
 
    The next test was of the remote targeting and piloting systems. It was intended to simulate the attack on the asteroid as closely as possible. The four remaining micro drones would deploy in a square shaped pattern, each drone 15 kilometers from the test sled. They would triangulate the position of the target drone, then direct the sled on an intercept course. The sled would accelerate at 3 times gravity and attempt to hit the drone. At the last minute, the sled would drop the shield. It and the target would change course, so they didn’t actually collide. If they did, the explosion would be bright enough to be seen from the Enemy home world and possibly from the asteroid. 
 
    They called this test the dance, because six objects would be moving at the same time, five doing so in coordination, in pursuit of the sixth. 
 
    “Sensor drones away.” 
 
    A minute later. “Sensor drones have target lock. Sled accelerating. 
 
    From the bridge, “Ship’s sensors show course adjustments consistent with intercept.” 
 
    “Admiral?” 
 
    “Yes, Else.” 
 
    “I’m putting countdown timers on the screen. One for expected time to collision. Another for the time to ship’s next scheduled course change. Again, due to our navigational issues, we do not want to miss the scheduled course change.” 
 
    “Thanks, Else.” 
 
    Seconds, then minutes ticked away. The sled made periodic course changes as it got closer and the triangulation became more precise. 
 
    “One minute until intercept. Looks like we will have a direct hit.” Eugene announced. 
 
    “Dropping ultra-dense shield in 30 seconds.” Kelly replied. 
 
    Seconds ticked away in silence. 
 
    “Dropping shield,” Kelly announced. 
 
    “Emergency course change for sled and drones.” 
 
    More seconds ticked away. 
 
    “Collision avoided.” 
 
    “Recall the sled and drones,” the Admiral ordered. 
 
    “Admiral?” 
 
    “Yes, Else.” 
 
    “Recovering the sled is going to be iffy.” 
 
    “We have to recover the sled,” Eugene called out. “It cannot be allowed to fall into Enemy hands.” 
 
    “Options?” 
 
    “I recommend the following course change.” Else popped the original and new courses up on the screen. “This course will allow us to get the sled, then correct to match the position we would have been in.” 
 
    “Any downside?” 
 
    “Difficult to say. This dimension does not map linearly with ours, but the tests we just did suggest that the region itself is linear, not distorted.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I follow.” 
 
    Keanu spoke up. “Assume you are driving on what appears to be a flat road. Your laser distance finder says your target is 100 miles away, straight line. You get in the car, set the cruise control and drive 100 miles. But the road dipped 100 feet, so you’ve driven 100 miles, but aren’t quite to your destination. That’s the nonlinear part. The entire trip is not in the same plane. Our problem is that we have no other landmarks, no way to know we aren’t in the right spot, even though we have traveled the distance we thought we needed to travel.” 
 
    “Got it, thank you. Is there a less deviant course we can follow if we transport the sled from max range? Or maybe a way to change the sled’s course?”  
 
    “Eugene here. We can safely overdrive the sled to 3.5 G for an hour. Else, can you plot a new course for us?” 
 
    “Yep. That should be enough. Can you do the same for the 4 escort drones?  
 
    “For 30 minutes max.” 
 
    “OK, will have a new course for you in a minute.” 
 
    Several seconds passed. 
 
    “OK, sending course now. Eugene, upload this to all five devices. It will put them on an intercept path. We will get them after the ship’s next course change.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Executing course change. Course changed. Admiral, we have 8 minutes until we are in transport range of the sled and drones. 15 minutes until the return to normal space. Should we do the railgun test now?” 
 
    “Lt. Meier, do we have the scanning capability to take meaningful measurements.” 
 
    “I believe we do sir. Give me a moment to reconfigure for it.” 
 
    “Ms. O’Brien. Prepare the railgun shot.” 
 
    “Preparing to fire railgun.” 
 
    Lieutenants Meier and O’Brien spent a moment synchronizing their equipment. “We can run the test on your mark sir.” 
 
    “Mark.” 
 
    The ship vibrated as a railgun projectile shot from the ship. 
 
    “Curious, it doesn’t seem to move as fast.” Kelly blurted out. “We couldn’t even see the projectile when we ran the weapon tests.” 
 
    “Very curious indeed,” Lt. Meier said. “The projectile is moving at half design speed, but its mass has doubled. The properties of this dimension are much different than ours, but energy is preserved.” 
 
    “Admiral. We appear to have a problem.” 
 
    “Ms. O’Brien?” 
 
    “I think the railgun was damaged when we launched the projectile. The other three forward railguns are still reporting ready. But the one we used, Forward 1, is reporting a failure in its rails.” 
 
    “Can you assess the damage?” 
 
    A moment later. “Oh, my goodness. This is a complete loss.” 
 
    “Put it on the view screen.” 
 
    An image popped up from a camera mounted at the interior end of the rail track where the projectile was loaded. The rails at the far end were bent and twisted and had apparently broken loose of their mounts. 
 
    “The camera at the far end is reporting as unavailable. So I cannot get a better view.” 
 
    “I see the hatch is still open. Can you close it?” 
 
    “It’s reporting an obstruction.” 
 
    “Try an emergency override.” 
 
    The hatch closed. 
 
    “Ms. Harris, please log damage to the railgun.” 
 
    “Admiral. The projectile has now gone out of sensor range.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Meier.” 
 
    … 
 
    Else had set a countdown timer for sled and drone recovery. 
 
    “Admiral. Sled recovery in 15 seconds.” 
 
    “Proceed as planned.” 
 
    In the mission lab, Eugene fretted about the recovery. Transport would take place from near the transporter’s range limit. He called out. “Make sure the cargo bay is sealed. We will be bringing back bits of Enemy space that we need to keep separate from the habitable areas.” 
 
    “Cargo bay sealed. I have a lock.” Else confirmed. “Transporting them back now.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral. We are scheduled to return in 30 seconds.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Else.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TELEVISION STUDIOS 
 
    George knew he tended to be enthusiastic about things. But he’d never been as excited about a show as he was today. His biggest problem was time. He had nine guests, all with incredible stories. Too much for one show. He would need four or five shows to give each their due. 
 
    But today’s show wasn’t really about his guests personally. It was about their plight and the people they represented. His guest host today was Malcolm Fleming of BBC World News. George felt fortunate to have Malcolm today. He tended to be a bit dramatic but was a true journalist who people took seriously.  
 
    “George, when I got the briefing package, I could not believe what we would be covering today.” He chuckled. “Every journalist wants to be the one that breaks a once-in-a-lifetime story like this. Sarah got the last one. Thank you for letting me have this one.” 
 
    “Malcolm, I think you were born for this story. Thrilled that I get to do it with a professional like you.” 
 
    They were standing at the edge of the stage, just out of sight of the studio audience. As the intro music started playing, they walked out to a standing ovation. The studio audience had been advised at the gate that they would be meeting a group of aliens this morning. The aliens would be appearing live in their native forms. Tickets would be refunded for anyone that thought it would be too much for them. 
 
    The stage producer started the silent countdown putting out his hand with five fingers. One by one the fingers dropped with the rhythmic motion of his hand. When the last finger was gone and fist closed, Malcolm started. 
 
    “Good evening, world. I am Malcolm Fleming reporting for the BBC World News. I’m here tonight with my friend George Butler at the Confederation Televisions Studios, and we have an incredible story to tell this evening. George, would you like to introduce our first guest.” 
 
    “Thank you, Malcolm. Earlier this week, I was introduced to an incredible group of courageous explorers. Their people, the Xotiq, live on a planet known as Naltanarus. They had a primitive space program, not quite at the level that ours was at the time of the Revelation. But they had scientists that held great dreams. Scientists like Eugene Xu and Kelly Williamson. People before their time who dreamed bigger dreams than the rest of us. 
 
    “Those scientists invented their version of a jump drive. They did it on their own, without help from, or knowledge of, the Confederation. Friday, a week ago, they launched their first mission, a mission to study our Sun. Their ship jumped into the orbit of Neptune but suffered a catastrophic failure as it re-emerged into normal space. They were rescued by Space Force, brought to Earth and are now planning their return home. They have agreed to come on our show to tell us their story and explain their situation. Can we have a big Earth welcome for our first guest, Captain Lan’Tashi of the Naltanaran Space Command.” 
 
    The studio audience erupted in applause as the Captain walked out onto the stage. As preparation for this experience, he watched several videos of guests being welcomed onto George’s show. But the experience of 500 alien people staring at him and making this much noise was a bit overwhelming. 
 
    The Captain put his hands together and bowed toward George. George and Malcolm returned the gesture, then the Captain turned and made the same gesture toward the audience. Many in the audience stood to return the greeting. 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi, thank you for being with us today. Could we start with you telling us about your mission?” 
 
    “Thank you, Malcolm. When I boarded my spaceship, I did not expect to be appearing on a human television show. My crew and I thank you for letting us tell our story to your people. You honor us and all the people of Naltanarus. 
 
    “Our mission has its roots in the traditions of our culture. Our planet is much like yours. I’m told that it is slightly smaller and has slightly more surface water. But our planet looks different from space. Our land is more spread out. You have seven continents, we have three. Our largest is only a little larger than your Australia. Our oceans are not as expansive, not as deep, and we have many islands. The typical land mass by population distribution is about the size of your Big Island of Hawaii. 
 
    “You might ask how that’s relevant to our mission. Our ancients were fascinated by the stars. Most of our mythology is tied to the stars, as is our story of beginning. Even though we have grown to be a technological society, we still have a fascination with the stars. That’s probably why we developed interstellar travel as early in our evolution as your Confederation says we have. 
 
    “But one star stands out among them all. One star that’s quiet most of the year, but blossoms late in the spring, glitters in the summer, then fades in the fall. Our primitives worshipped it. Our mission was to visit that star, to find out what made it shine the way it does. That star is your Sun.” 
 
    There was a huge intake of breath from the audience. 
 
    “Our sun?” Malcolm repeated, confused. “How can that be? We do not experience it that way.” 
 
    “Professor Ancient here at the Institute tells me that this phenomenon is known to the Confederation. Apparently, the Earth, unlike other planets, acts as a lens that focuses the Sun’s light. The lensing effect has an exceedingly long focal length, one that makes it visible in our region of space, but really cannot be measured here. That’s why the Sun seems to grow during part of the year, then fades away to almost nothing until it comes again. He says that’s the reason it sparkles. The Earth’s movement makes the light dance.” 
 
    “Well, who would have thought?” Malcolm exclaimed. 
 
    “I have images to show, if you would like to see.” 
 
    The audience broke into applause. 
 
    A video started playing. It appeared on monitors in the studio, and in an inset on the broadcast. 
 
    “This video is a 200 Naltanaran-day sequence played back at 8 days a second,” George added. 
 
    An image of the night sky appeared. Everyone familiar with the night sky immediately realized that this was not Earth’s night sky. It zoomed in to a small section in the middle, where a small point of light could be seen. An arrow pointed it out. After a couple seconds, the star started becoming visibly larger. It grew and grew, glistening and seeming to dance in the sky. At its apex, it filled a quarter of the screen. Then it started to calm down. The dancing stopped first, then the glistening started to dampen. The star appeared to contract, then recede, until there was nothing left but a sad dim point of light. 
 
    “That’s what you grew up with?” Malcolm asked. 
 
    “That’s what every Xotiq ever born has grown up with. The name we have given this star does not translate well. Its broad meaning is something like the ‘cycle of life.’ In one context, it would mean birth or creation. In another it would mean leaving to become something new. For convenience, Professor Ancient programed our translators to just call it the ‘Birth Star.’ 
 
    “Its sparkling face has a role in all our birth and birthday celebrations. Its pale face has a role in all our funerals and memorials. Our mission was to find out the secrets behind this star. At one level, our mission was a success. We now know that the Earth acts as a dimensional lens. At another level, we have more work to do, because our physics has no knowledge of the principle involved. Our job at this point is to get the word back home.” 
 
    The studio audience was quiet with melancholy as they cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi we have a 2-minute break. Is there anything we can get you? Water? One of your mineral supplement drinks?” 
 
    The Captain smiled at the stagehand. “No thank you. I’m good.” 
 
    This break was a fast turn. The end table separating the interviewers from the Captain was replaced with a long narrow table with a privacy panel on the front. Six dining room styled chairs were added behind the table. Two more armchairs were added next to the Captain’s.  
 
    As the intro music came up, Malcolm, George and the Captain took their seats. The main camera focused on Malcolm. 
 
    “Good evening and welcome back to our discussion with Captain Lan’Tashi and the crew of the Star Seeker. I’m Malcolm Fleming, along with my friend George Butler, reporting for the BBC World News. 
 
    “Captain, would you like to introduce your crew?” 
 
    “It would be my pleasure, Malcolm.” The captain turned to face the studio audience. Surprisingly, the warmth of the first segment left him feeling at ease addressing a group of 500 humans. 
 
    “Earth, please meet my First Officer, Ban’Kane.” The officer walked out to applause, bowed to his captain, then the two turned and bowed to the audience. 
 
    “Please meet our Chief Scientist, Lo’Kuda.” 
 
    As the Chief Scientist walked out and exchanged greetings, a young woman in the audience elbowed her father. “She’s female, and she’s the chief scientist on an interstellar spaceship. I told you women could do it.” 
 
    One by one the entire crew came out. Dr. Mos’Hara, Deputy Chief Tan’Shima, Astrogation Officer Sin’Kuni, Environmental Engineer Tos’Saki, Systems Engineer Vin’Tomi and Mission Specialist San’Mori. 
 
    “Lastly, a memorial to our Chief Engineer Fan’Yoshi, who was lost in the field containment failure that occurred on our reentry into normal space.” 
 
    A stagehand walked out carrying a tripod stand with the picture of an older male Xotiq mounted on a star-shaped wreath of greenery. The Captain bowed deeply to the memorial of his lost crew member. 
 
    “Tell us about your reentry into normal space-time,” Malcolm requested quietly. 
 
    “The launch, the jump, everything had gone smoothly. Our instrumentation told us we’d gone nearly 100 light years, which was our plan. But as we dropped back, tremendous vibration started. The rotating plates that form the ionizing magnetic field had fallen out of alignment and were on the verge of ripping the ship apart. The first spot to fail was the lower magnetic mirror that protects the crew cabin from the high energy field generators below. 
 
    “A bit of the mirroring tore. The chief engineer was sitting right next to the spot. He fell on the hole in the mirroring material, protecting the rest of us with his own body. It gave us the minutes we needed to form a patch. Deputy Chief Tan’Shima, using the chief’s now-dead body as a shield, placed the patch over the hole, sealing it. He was seriously injured in the process.” 
 
    The assistant chief bowed his head in acknowledgement. 
 
    “So that left you here, 100 light-years from home, with a broken spaceship. Did you have the means to repair it?” 
 
    “We had the means to make many repairs, but not a structural one like this.” 
 
    “So, you were stranded. What did that feel like?” 
 
    “Interesting question. We were obviously relieved that the Deputy Chief was able to give us a few more hours. But we were facing certain death. We knew at the outset that this mission would be dangerous. Despite all the preparation, we knew we might not return. But we signed up anyway. So, when the ship failed, I accepted it as my fate, as I think the others did.  
 
    “Knowing such an outcome was possible, we did put a contingency in place. It was a very small jump drive that had a 50/50 chance of getting itself home. It had storage capacity for all the data we could capture and for farewell messages to our families. 
 
    “I was resolute in my determination to pack as much information into that capsule as I could and to launch it before I expired.” 
 
    The room was quiet. 
 
    “That’s a grim scene. You presumed that there would be no rescue. No one that saw your arrival.” 
 
    The Captain smiled. “Our world did not know of other intelligent life in the universe. Some of our philosophers were convinced that we were alone. Their argument was that intelligent life is rare and fragile, if it existed at all. 
 
    “I was always skeptical about that. But it was not politically viable to argue differently. So, no. I did not expect to be noticed. I thought the only way our fate would become known was if we got that capsule back home.” 
 
    “Doesn’t that leave you in a bind? How can you go back home?” 
 
    The Captain smiled. “It’s part of the reason we’re here today.” 
 
    Outro music started playing lightly in the background. 
 
    Malcolm turned to look straight into the main camera. “Sounds like there’s another mystery to unravel when we return from break. We’ll be back in a moment.” 
 
    … 
 
    During the break, Malcolm was introduced to each of the crew members individually. The atmosphere on the stage and in the audience was one of excitement.  
 
    As intro music started playing lightly in the background, everyone took their seats. The lights came up and they were counted in. 
 
    “Welcome back, world. I’m Malcolm Fleming of BBC World News, here with George Butler and the crew of the ship Star Seeker. 
 
    “Captain Lan’Tashi, before the break you said something cryptic about the reason you were on the show. Would you like to explain?” 
 
    The Captain smiled. “Yes. The problem, as you guessed earlier, is that our people generally do not believe in extra-Naltanaran life. So, how can we explain our rescue by people from the Birth star or the existence of an Intergalactic Confederation? 
 
    “If we were just taken home by Space Force and transported to our homes, no one would believe our story. They would think the entire space program was a scam. 
 
    “If your cruiser just showed up in our space and radioed a ‘Hello, we’re here’ message, there would be panic in the streets.” 
 
    “But how does that tie back to the show?” 
 
    “Suppose we returned a video tape of this show in our little capsule? They would know it came from us. Who else could it come from? When they retrieved the capsule, they would watch the video. They would see that we were rescued and have been treated well. I think they would also respect the fact that we are being honored for our courage on a show like this. 
 
    “Our hope is that this video will be the icebreaker that allows our peoples to meet, that allows Michael to introduce our people to the Confederation and become part of the greater intergalactic community of peoples.” 
 
    “Do you think it will work?” 
 
    “I hope it will. But I think it’s time for my crew to speak. Each of them is smart, dedicated, courageous, a tribute to the people of our world. Your audience should hear from as many of them as you have time to allow. And our people at home should hear about the miracles your world holds, from crew members that now understand those miracles.” 
 
    The Captain indicated the person sitting next to him. 
 
    “Please,” Malcolm said. 
 
    “I am Chief Scientist Lo’Kuda. My mission was to figure out why the Birth star behaves as it does. People of Naltanarus, we have solved the mystery. The planet we are on, the one the humans call Earth, has amazing physical properties that act as a lens for their star’s light. 
 
    “As you’ve heard, the Earth amplifies the amount of light aimed at our world during its transit between us and its star each year. I can’t wait to return and share the details of this seasonal miracle with you and our scientific community.” She nodded to the next chair. 
 
    “I am First Officer Ban’Kane. I have been aboard the Earth Alliance Cruiser-class Ship Canada. It is spectacular to behold. Its Captain and crew have traveled throughout our galaxy and all the way to the Andromeda Galaxy. 
 
    “Its Captain and Crew were part of an effort that saved our world from cosmic calamity earlier this year, in the hope that we would someday be ready to meet them. I would say the most positive part of this mission is that we have finally met our neighbors and they are good neighbors.” The First Officer nodded to the Doctor. 
 
    “I am Dr. Mos’Hara, Chief Medical Officer of the Star Seeker. When we were rescued, we were taken to the hospital aboard the Canada. Our Deputy Chief was seriously injured. They treated him, completely healing him in a day. Then they scanned each of us, just by holding a small device in front of us, one at a time. From that simple scan they determined that we did not bring any hazardous contagions aboard, and that none of the minor contagions in their environment posed a threat to us. They also determined which of their foods was safe for us to eat. The miracles of their medical technology are something we must seek out.” 
 
    The doctor nodded to the Deputy Chief, but outro music had started playing. 
 
    Malcolm stood. “Our time is up for today. So, I have to sign off with our television audience. But we will continue recording in the studio and hope to bring it to you soon. I’m Malcolm Fleming signing off for BBC World News.” 
 
    Malcolm turned to the Deputy Chief and asked him to continue. The studio audience roared their approval. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE  
 
    “Abel. Welcome. I’m pleased to hear that your investigation is moving forward.” 
 
    Michael turned to Lisette. “Lisette, welcome back to the Embassy. I was very pleased to hear that Abel had looped you into the investigation.” 
 
    Michael pointed toward Alexi. “I’ve asked Alexi to join us. Her diligence is what led to this investigation.” 
 
    Michael indicated seats. “What do you have for me?” 
 
    “Something unexpected. We’ve confirmed that Julien Bescond is in possession of the material in question. We’ve also discovered that he is an Ascendant.” 
 
    “Your evidence?” Alexi cut in. 
 
    Abel nodded to Lisette. 
 
    “Watch. I took this while casing his apartment.” 
 
    A holoprojection started playing. A dark room materialized in front of them. It was clearly an office of some sort, nice wooden desk in front of a built-in bookshelf. After a moment, a light appeared from inside the bookshelf revealing a crack, an opening. The cabinet slowly opened revealing a restoration chamber. The restoration chamber opened, and a naked man emerged. His body was clearly straining. It had not been used recently. But the eyes glowed with power and command. The person emerging was clearly an Ascendant, mind clearly engaged despite the weakness of the body. 
 
    A picture popped up next to the man. It was clearly the same person. The caption read, Julien Bescond. 
 
    “It’s Ju-Ne.” Alexi stood pointing at the man. “We’ve unmasked one of his avatars.” 
 
    It took a second, but Lisette responded. “He operates more than one avatar?” 
 
    Michael looked Lisette straight in the eye. “A lot more than one. He’s an infiltrator from Military Intelligence, here to destroy civilization on Earth and in this sector.” 
 
    “Merde,” Lisette muttered. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE CONFERENCE ROOM, EAS CANADA 
 
    The return to normal space was uneventful. They were now on their way back to Earth. Daniel invited Eugene, Kelly, Lt. Meier and Lt. O’Brien back into the conference room for a quick debrief. 
 
    Once seated, he asked Else if she could join for a few minutes as well. 
 
    “Else, you first.” 
 
    “The transition into and out of Enemy space went smoother than I was expecting. There was more vibration on the return than on the entry. I suspect the railgun hatch area has more damage than we know about yet. Hull integrity readings are 100%, but the ship feels different. 
 
    “Navigation continues to be problematic. The sensors are good now, so we aren’t flying blind. But we have no star charts and no navigational anchors, so no way to know where we are. And no way to confirm that it’s safe to return.” 
 
    “Could you explain that a little more?” 
 
    “If we don’t know where we are, then we won’t know where we will be when we return to normal space. Similarly, we don’t know how the two spaces map to each other.” 
 
    Seeing that her comment was not resonating with Daniel, she took a different tack. 
 
    “Our return today, was 28 light-years from where our entry was. We were in enemy space for less than an hour travelling at low speed. I’m assuming that James will give us an entry location close to where we want to be. If we are basically still, then we will return close to where we departed. 
 
    “But suppose the Enemy confronts us and we need to take evasive action? We could come back almost anywhere.” 
 
    “But we will be traveling at sub-light speeds.” 
 
    “As we do in jump space.” 
 
    “Ah, point taken. Maybe we can ask Professor Ancient for some advice on this matter.” 
 
    “May I raise another concern?” 
 
    “Go.” 
 
    “The railgun damage… I’m not sure it was just the result of firing the railgun. This space is different. We are protected from it by the ship. But there is nothing protecting the ship. The hull is in direct contact with it from the moment we engage the drive to the moment we reemerge into normal space. 
 
    “When we opened the railgun hatches, the tubing that encases the rails was exposed to it. The tube itself is very strong, but not as strong as the hull. The rails and electronics are flimsy by comparison. I recommend venting the tube to space when we return. I also recommend that we do a detailed inspection of the entire hull. 
 
    “And Eugene, I recommend that your drone’s hull be constructed to be as strong as ours and that you allow nothing inside to be exposed to space.” 
 
    “Thank you, Else,” Eugene replied. 
 
    “Adrian, you next. Else, you can go if your attention is needed elsewhere.” 
 
    Else’s holographic image disappeared from her seat at the table. 
 
    “The sensor thing was a surprise to me. In retrospect, we probably should have tested our energy projectors, in case there is a surprise on that front. 
 
    “I have the updated sensor settings recorded. I’ll set them up to engage automatically before we head out again. 
 
    “The changes to the railgun projectile were also a surprise. Its momentum was preserved. But the impact of that momentum, in terms of its destructive power, may not be. 
 
    “My overall conclusion is that we learned a lot today. I would hate to go into battle with any of the issues we experienced. We’ll need to stay alert for new issues and should probably put enough slack in the plan to accommodate new unknowns.” 
 
    “Kaitlin?” 
 
    “Same concerns. We didn’t learn anything about the effectiveness of our weapons today. But we did learn that the railguns are one-shot weapons.” 
 
    “Kelly?” 
 
    “I was expecting vibration, but I really didn’t perceive any on the outbound. I’d like to get a copy of the internal sensor data to study. Propulsion, and shielding for that matter, are chaotic processes, sensitive to initial conditions. I’d like to confirm that today’s levels are real, not a special case.” 
 
    “Eugene?” 
 
    “Despite the issues, this was a very successful test flight. We arrived and had navigational control over the ship, even though we couldn’t actually navigate. The ultra-thick, high-density shield worked perfectly as did the four-drone sensor strategy. I agree with Else that our return may end up being problematic. But I have renewed confidence that we can take down the Enemy on their turf and have a real shot at stopping the next invasion. 
 
    “Those things said, I echo Kelly’s request for as much sensor data as we can get. If there are improvements to be made, they’ll be hiding in the sensor data.” 
 
    “Thank you. My biggest surprise was the sensor issues. Was there anything in your research that would have suggested it?” 
 
    There was silence for a moment, then Eugene spoke up. 
 
    “This issue caught us by surprise. There may have been something in our research that could have indicated such a thing. I have an idea where to look for it. We’ll see if we can find anything before we go out again.” 
 
    “Thank you all.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 FURTHER PREPARATIONS 
 
    [Sunday, 6.22.2031] MAIN PAVILION, RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    This would be Vitya’s last day on the communications upgrade. The project was nearly done. But more importantly, the assignment today would give him the cover he needed to finish installing the misting controls for his nanobot killing solution.  
 
    He’d done a good job of pandering to everybody during his assignments with this group. He was now on the recommended list of extras to cover operations during the wedding reception. But he would continue the ass kissing today. Maybe he could get an additional reference.  But it was going to be a little harder today than it had been on previous days.  
 
    The pending loss of the Bescond avatar still burned in his mind. He had a picture of the woman that broke into his apartment. He would eventually find out who she was and make sure she got a sending off of the same quality that Julien Bescond would get. 
 
    “Any volunteers for the last two antenna installations in the pavilion’s cupolas?” 
 
    Vitya put his hand up and called out. “I’ll take them.” He smiled. “After all, I’m a lot thinner and more agile than you all.” 
 
    Everyone chuckled. Vitya wasn’t the thinnest or the most agile, and everyone knew it. He was just the easiest to work with, which is why everyone loved him. 
 
    As everyone tooled up to get to work, Kyle Watson came over. 
 
    Vitya saw him coming. “Hey, boss. What’s up?” 
 
    “Just wanted to say thanks. You’ve really made this job go smoothly. Any interest in joining my team full time?” 
 
    “Love the idea, but probably best if I stick with the pick-up shifts. Outside work like this is great in small doses, especially after spending too much time inside working on the computer. But too much of it and I’ll get restless. Really appreciate you taking me the last couple weeks.” 
 
    “You’re always welcome here. I’ve put you in for the reception support shift. Most of the other guys are planning to head out of town that weekend. It’ll be a zoo here.” 
 
    Vitya smiled. “I think all the extra people should be fun.” 
 
    “Then you’re obviously the right guy for that job. Have fun in the cupolas today.” 
 
    “Looking forward to it.” 
 
    As Kyle turned to walk back to his station, Vitya smiled. It’s going to be a piece of cake to get the final controller installation done today. They truly have no idea why I’m actually here. He chuckled. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, ENGINEERING SCHOOL 
 
    “James, thank you for agreeing to meet with us today. I sent a summary of our findings to you yesterday. Did you have a chance to read them?” 
 
    “Eugene. Kelly. I seem to have let you down. Else’s concern is real. It was an error on my part to assume that you could fill in the gaps. Would it be possible for Else to join us?” 
 
    Eugene and Kelly looked at each other in puzzlement. 
 
    “We are open to that, but not sure how to arrange it.” 
 
    “Not a problem.” 
 
    A woman flashed into existence in the seat next to James. 
 
    “What? Where am I?” 
 
    “Else, dear, I wanted to include you in our astrogation discussion about the enemy dimension.” 
 
    Else looked at James, then suddenly looked at herself. Her right hand moved over to touch her left forearm. “I’m… I’m real.” 
 
    “Of course you are. You are as real as any of us.” James spread his hands indicating Eugene and Kelly. 
 
    Else reached out and touched Kelly’s hand. “I can feel you.” 
 
    Kelly took her hand. “I can feel you too.” 
 
    Emotion welled up in Else, then suddenly washed away, replaced with distress. “I can’t feel the ship!” 
 
    “It’s safe in its orbit,” James replied. 
 
    “James, you have to send me back. I do more than fly the ship. I can connect via audio.” 
 
    “As you wish, my dear.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA, EARTH ORBIT 
 
    “Else, have you given further thought to the navigation problem in Enemy space?” 
 
    No answer. 
 
    Daniel looked over at her chair. She wasn’t there, but that was frequently true when she was busy. 
 
    “Admiral. Else’s light is red.” Yeoman Harris pointed to the housing where Else’s core was located. 
 
    “What happened?” 
 
    The light turned green and Else appeared in her chair. 
 
    “Else, what happened?” 
 
    “Sorry, Admiral, I was suddenly taken offline. But I’m back now.” 
 
    “What do you mean taken offline?” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James appeared. 
 
    “Professor Ancient?” 
 
    “Apologies, Admiral Porter. I was meeting with Eugene and Kelly to discuss the navigational issue in Enemy space. I wanted Else to join us and accidentally brought her down to the surface instead of opening a comm connection.” 
 
    “You did what!” Daniel’s confusion was suddenly replaced by rage. 
 
    “Relax, my friend. It was an accident. It won’t happen again.” 
 
    Despite Daniel’s desire to be angry, his anger was replaced by calm. 
 
    “We have a serious problem to solve. Would you not agree? If you cannot navigate in Enemy space, then your probability of mission success will be lower, and your probability of returning at all is much worse.” 
 
    Adrenaline subsiding, Daniel took a deep breath. “Can we start over again? You are working with Eugene and Kelly on the navigation issue. You tried to tie Else into the discussion and…” Daniel stammered trying to find the right word. “…summoned her instead.” 
 
    James smiled. “Excellent summary. Now, back to the problem. Else needs to be involved in the solution. How would you like that to happen?” 
 
    Daniel’s ire started to raise again. “Professor, you cannot just come onto my ship uninvited and demand time from my crew.” 
 
    “That statement is obviously not true. I just did. Do you want to solve this problem or not?” 
 
    Else’s voice sounded in Daniel’s ear. “Porter, you cannot win this argument the way you’re going at it. Agree that you want to solve the problem, then ask James how he proposes to help.” 
 
    Daniel looked at Else, who smiled and winked at him. 
 
    “Yes. I want to solve this problem. How do you propose to help us?” 
 
    “I need Else, Eugene and Kelly in the same place so I can help them learn the answers. If you wanted to add an astrogation officer or two, it would be even better. We are in a conference room on the surface. But we could just as easily be in one here if that is more convenient for you.” 
 
    “Let’s do it here. Else has many functions aboard our ship. The ship is much safer when she’s aboard.” 
 
    “Excellent. I’ll go see if they are available.” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James was gone. 
 
    “Are you OK, Else?” Daniel asked, concerned for her well-being. It bothered him that she had just been yanked out of her seat and transported to the surface. 
 
    She looked at him. “Daniel, you need to approach James differently. In a universe full of darkness, he is the brightest point of light. The technology he wields is beyond our comprehension. Yet he chooses to live among us because he wants us to succeed. He is always on our side and generally accommodates our way of doing things. But he never limits himself to our rules if it interferes in advancing our cause. You should talk to Michael about this.” 
 
    Daniel was about to respond when there was another flash of light. James had brought Eugene and Kelly onto the bridge.  
 
    “So, where would you like us?” James asked brightly. 
 
    “The bridge Conference Room is open. Let me gather up my astrogation officers.” 
 
    It was first watch. Keanu Tajima was on duty at the astrogation station.  
 
    “Mr. Tajima, please show our guests to the Bridge Conference Room. Else, please join them. Ms. Harris, see if you can raise Ms. Wilson, Ms. Tai and Mr. Brandao. Ask them to report to the bridge.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE CONFERENCE ROOM, EAS CANADA 
 
     Else had already taken her customary seat by the time the others arrived. Kelly took the seat next to her and Eugene took the one next to Kelly, the one Keanu had been hoping to get. 
 
    James pulled out the chair at the head of the table, but Else put her hand out. “James, that’s Daniel’s seat. Please don’t antagonize him by taking it.” 
 
    “Apologies. There seem to be a lot of rules aboard this ship that I’m unaware of.” James pushed the chair back in and took the one opposite Else. 
 
    Kelly reached over to put her hand on Else’s to say thanks. But Kelly’s hand passed through Else’s. The intended ‘Thank you’ got caught in Kelly’s throat at the surprise of no hand. “I’m so sorry. I didn’t know.” Kelly looked at Else with sadness in her eyes. 
 
    “Down there was the first time I had a real body. I only had it for a minute, now I miss it.” 
 
    The others trickled in. Daniel came in last and took his seat. He turned to James, “I hope it’s OK if I sit in. Two others may come in later, but I’d say we should start. 
 
    “James this is your meeting, so over to you.” 
 
    James smiled at Daniel, raising his spirits. 
 
    A three-dimensional hologram popped up showing a contorted three-dimensional object. 
 
    “It’s the map, isn’t it?” Else speculated. 
 
    James smiled at her. 
 
    Kelly was the next to comment. “James, you said that you thought we could figure this out from the clues you’d given. Can you show us how that would be done?” 
 
    He smiled. “What data did I give you?” 
 
    “Entry and exit points, and a course within Enemy space.” 
 
    “I gave you more than that.” 
 
    Kelly looked puzzled, then looked at Else. 
 
    “We also had two emergency drop-out points.” Else confessed. 
 
    There was silence for a moment. 
 
    Daniel wanted to say something but had the wisdom not to. 
 
    “We had four points of equivalence in two different three-dimensional spaces.” Else mused. 
 
    Another three-dimensional holoprojection popped up. Showing two sets of three points, thin-dotted lines connecting the pairs. A fourth point popped up as well. 
 
     “I understand the chart,” Eugene started. “But I’m not seeing how that would be enough.” 
 
    “What would you have to assume for it to be enough?” James asked. 
 
    “That those are the binding points. Everything else could be calculated via three-dimensional smoothing algorithm. But what smoothing algorithm?” 
 
    James looked at Eugene expectantly. 
 
    There was silence for a moment, then Eugene smacked himself on the side of his head.  
 
    “The smoothing is implied by the math of the transition drive. It describes the warp in space-time between the two dimensions.” 
 
    “So it is, and so it does,” James confirmed. 
 
    A simulation played on the holoprojection with the four points. It ran for a few minutes completely filling in, forming an image nearly identical to the other holoprojection.  
 
    “If I overlay these, you’ll see that they’re almost identical. The dimensional rift causes fluctuations, so the two never match exactly. But they never deviate enough to matter.” 
 
    Kelly spoke up. “James, it seems we would have had to make a couple noble assumptions to get there without your prompting.” 
 
    “Yes. Sorry about that. I should have spent more time with you. It is always a bad idea for me to give you everything. I try to limit myself to giving you what is enough.” He smiled. “It only took two sentences from me to get you the rest of the way. I should have given you that time.” 
 
    Else had started running the numbers as a background process. She didn’t have access to enough processing power to run the numbers as fast as James did. But something continued to bother her. 
 
    “James, I now know how to map the positions between these two dimensions. But what navigational anchors do we have to know where we are in Enemy space?” 
 
    James looked at her expectantly. 
 
    Else pulled up the contents of the data chip to look at them again. 
 
    “The numbers at the bottom were the coordinates of the brightest stars. There were twelve to choose from. From our entry position, I could choose the three I needed.” 
 
    Else looked critically at James. “You need to label your data a little more clearly.” 
 
    “So it seems.” 
 
    Daniel spoke up. “Do I understand correctly that we had what we needed, just didn’t know it.” 
 
    “I think that would be a fair statement,” Else replied. 
 
    “Do we have what we need now? And do we know how to use it?” 
 
    “I think we do.” 
 
    Daniel looked at James with renewed respect. “Professor. Thank you. Our odds of carrying off this mission have just improved dramatically.” 
 
    “And my apologies for the protocol missteps this morning.” 
 
    For the first time, Daniel thought he understood something about James. He was a benefactor, no doubt. But he didn’t just give things. He taught people to learn. To learn things that no human had thought to think about before.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECURITY SHUTTLE ABOVE FRANCE 
 
    It had taken some maneuvering, but Abel got a search warrant for Julien Bescond’s country home in the Dijon region of France. The search warrant was not issued by the French but by the Earth Alliance. Part of the treaty agreement between the Confederation and each of the member countries was the right for Confederation Security to conduct certain security investigations in the member’s country. There were notice requirements and other strings attached, but in cases where there was sufficient evidence of an immediate threat to Confederation interests from a non-Governmental person, the Earth Alliance could issue the warrant. 
 
    The plan was to transport down into the cellar of the main house and work their way up. Scans showed relatively large vats in the cellar, where they speculated the spray could have been manufactured. 
 
    Abel, Lisette, and an Ascendant named Rémy Boulet would do the search. Rémy’s avatar was French and he had previously worked in France. He currently worked at the Embassy. They would transport down in a few minutes at 7:00 PM Central European time, 11:00 AM Embassy time. 
 
    Sensors indicated that there was a car in the detached garage, but there were no signs of life in the house itself. 
 
    The time came and they transported down. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CELLAR, JULIEN BESCOND’S COUNTRY HOME 
 
    This part of the plan was tightly scripted. 
 
    “Releasing surveillance nanobots.” Lisette whispered over comms. 
 
    “Securing periphery.” Remy reported. 
 
    “Spotted the large vat. Going to inspect it.” Abel added. 
 
    The house was dead quiet. The three professional investigators moved silently. 
 
    Stepping up to the vat, Abel did a cursory visual scan. He took out a scanner to gather more data, but already knew this was a dead end. The vat was about 16 feet in diameter. It was old, moldy, and filled with spider webs. The scanner confirmed trace quantities of alcohol embedded in the wood. The vat had obviously been used to stomp grapes at some point. But it had no remnants of the organic compound found in the spray.  
 
    “Found some empty spray bottles of the type we’re looking for.” Remy whispered over comms. “Lifting prints now.” 
 
    “Nanobots are slowly making their way up through the ventilation. They’ll begin entering the home in a few more seconds.” 
 
    Abel had the sinking feeling that this trip was going to be a bust. It was foolish to expect a find in the first couple minutes. But there was something about this place that didn’t feel right. 
 
    Abel heard Lisette say, “Nanobots entering kitchen and dining rooms.” But it didn’t really sink in. Something felt wrong, very wrong. But he couldn’t put his finger on it. 
 
    He looked back into the vat. Then started lightly tapping on the wood that made up its sides and base. He saw something glimmer near the base. Kneeling, he saw that the vat sat atop an inch-thick metal plate. Makes sense. This would weigh a lot when full of grapes. 
 
    Looking back inside the vat, it clicked. Must be a false bottom. The bottom of the vat is a foot higher than the metal plate. 
 
    Reaching in, he tapped on one of the boards that made up the bottom of the vat. It was clearly hollow below and the board was slightly loose. He pulled the board up. 
 
    “I think I’ve found something,” Abel whispered over the comm. 
 
    He pulled another board loose. Looks like dirt. 
 
    Pulling his scanner out, he leaned over the edge to see if the scanner could identify the substance. 
 
    “Nanobots entering the rooms on the second floor,” Lisette whispered over the comm. 
 
    As the scanner took its measurements, Abel realized he smelled something metallic. The scanner beeped. Primary components: Aluminum and Iron Oxide.  
 
    Has the base metal rusted? Abel was sure he was on to something, but he couldn’t figure out what. 
 
    “I think I have something.” Lisette called out. “There is a cabinet like the one in Paris in the master bedroom.” 
 
    There was a muted boom and the house shook. 
 
    “Oh no. There’s smoke pouring out of the cabinet. Lots of it.” 
 
    There was another boom. This one louder. The house shook more violently. 
 
    “Oh, shit! Liquid fire just fell down through the ceiling onto the floor of the living room. Lots of fire. Emergency transport.” Lisette called out. 
 
    Abel heard crackling and looked up as liquid fire came down through the floor into the vat. He felt the tingle of transporter initialization as the room exploded in flames and molten metal. Abel’s last, but not fully formed, thought was that the vat contained thermite. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECURITY SHUTTLE ABOVE FRANCE 
 
    Remy appeared on the shuttle landing pad to the most horrific thing he’d ever seen. He jumped away screaming. 
 
    The pilots smelled smoke, burning and wondered what they’d just transported aboard. The co-pilot jumped up and ran back to the cabin. He saw Remy retch on the floor, saw what Remy was looking at, then retched himself. 
 
    Abel’s face was still recognizable. His head was still attached to his chest. Most everything else below was gone, burnt off. Bits of metal still smoldered on the remnant of his shirt. A charcoaled bit of spine was visible near the bottom of what was left. 
 
    Lisette, who had been standing five feet away was in better condition, but not much. Her left leg was burnt off to the knee. Her right foot and ankle gone, burnt in the same way. The co-pilot composing himself, grabbed the fire extinguisher, and put out her flaming clothes. But hot metal, embedded in her legs and abdomen continued to sizzle the surrounding tissue. She was clearly dead. 
 
    The co-pilot retched again, then passed out from the fumes. 
 
    Remy stumbled into the cockpit. “We need to land. Two dead. Lots of smoke.” Then, he slumped to the floor. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael’s phone rang, which surprised him. He rarely used the human communications system. Looking at the caller ID, he saw that it was Baraza Dalitso, Chief of Embassy Security. 
 
    “Chief?” 
 
    “Michael, we have a problem. The Earth Alliance issued a search warrant for Julien Bescond’s country home near Dijon. Shortly after they transported down, a fire broke out. Abel Fletcher and Lisette Lefevre were both killed. Their third, Rémy Boulet, is suffering from smoke inhalation and shock.” 
 
    “How?” 
 
    “Thermite fire. A huge one. Almost completely consumed Abel. Lisette had it worse. Only half a leg and a foot burnt off. But from the chest down, she was sprayed with liquid aluminum and iron. We’ve not been able to confirm yet whether she withdrew from her avatar in time.” 
 
    “The house?” 
 
    “Completely consumed. The fire apparently started in a restoration chamber, one that we presume contained Bescond. It must have had an initial charge of thermite because it came down two stories through holes burned in the floor. It then landed in a cache of thermite, which quickly turned into the burning pool of liquid metal that washed over Abel and Lisette. There was also minor damage to the shuttle which brought a little liquid metal aboard when it transported them up.” 
 
    “Ju-Ne did this, right?” 
 
    “Not only that. Same thing happened at exactly the same time in his apartment in Paris. That fire is still burning, an entire city block in flames with few survivors.” 
 
    “Have we been implicated?” 
 
    “Not yet, but we are required to tell the French government what we know.” 
 
    “But not right away.” 
 
    “We have some flexibility, but my report back to the Confederation has to show reason for any delay.” 
 
    “Understood, give me some time to think.” 
 
    Michael signed off with the chief, then walked out into the living room. He needed Sarah’s help with this. 
 
    As he stepped out of his office, he could hear the excited chatter of television news coverage. 
 
    As he stepped into the kitchen, the images on the television froze him in place. 
 
    “Did you know about this?” 
 
    When Michael did not respond right away, Sarah pleaded, “Please tell me the Confederation was not involved.” 
 
    “Ju-Ne. Julien Bescond, the food and art critic, was one of his avatars. We had people on site in the house near Dijon when he set off the fires. We believe Bescond was incinerated. One of our people was killed in the fire. Another, an Ascendant lost her avatar. We don’t know yet if she survived.” 
 
    There was silence in the room, then it clicked for Sarah. She needed to take the media lead on Confederation involvement. 
 
    “How in the world can I explain the loss of life and property in the middle of Paris? And why did we have people on site?” 
 
    “Ju-Ne has developed an insidious new type of weapon that he plans to deploy at the wedding. Julien Bescond had some of it. We were able to get a sample of it from his Paris apartment. Scans suggested that he had a vat of it in the basement of his country home.” 
 
    “Vat? The weapon is a liquid?” 
 
    “He administers it as a spray. It kills nanobots. It will take down the nanobots in our personal shield emitters in a matter of seconds. If we’ve breathed any of the spray, it takes down the nanobots in our bodies, functionally disabling the majority of Confederation medication and surgical procedures.” 
 
    “So, he sprays it in the air. We get it on our skin, breathe it in. Then our shields drop, and our advanced medical options are gone?” Sarah seemed to melt. “We have to cancel or delay the wedding.”  
 
    Michael came over to sit with Sarah. “That would be the option of last resort. A very expensive one at that.” 
 
    “You’re worried about money!?” 
 
    “No. We are about to finalize a security agreement with the major planets in this sector. If we delay or cancel the wedding for security reasons, the alliance will probably fall apart. That would be a tremendous hit on the Earth’s economy and status in the Confederation. 
 
    “But back to the incident, we are required to advise the French government that we were on site at the country house when the incident occurred. We are not required to tell them that Julien Bescond was one of Ju-Ne’s avatars.” 
 
    “Is there any way they could determine we were there?” 
 
    “Unlikely, but the rule still stands.” 
 
    “Can you delay?” 
 
    “Some.” 
 
    “The public outrage will be focused on Paris, not his country home. Let things settle a day or two. Then make private contact with the person leading the investigation into the country home fire. Let the investigator know that you may have information relevant to his investigation and ask to meet.” 
 
    “Good advice.” 
 
    “How are we going to keep the wedding safe?” 
 
    Michael kissed Sarah on the cheek. “Not sure yet, but we’re working on it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    Else had the lead on upgrading navigation for the ships, but Eugene decided to take a pass at the math also. He wanted to confirm Else’s work and see if he could pull any additional nuggets of information from the data it revealed. 
 
    Kelly was doing last minute fine tuning on the remote guidance systems. The propulsion test had been a huge success. They discovered things they didn’t know about. Now they had solutions. 
 
    The remote guidance worked almost flawlessly. The tweaks she was making today would make it even better. They were just about ready. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ASSEMBLY 
 
    [Monday, 6.23.2031] SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    Captain Davit Guruli reported to Admiral Scott’s office as ordered. He was escorted to a conference room on the top floor. The door opened, and he proudly walked in. 
 
    Davit was Israeli. He’d served in his country’s armed services for 20 years, then retired three years ago at the age of 38. He’d been on duty along the West Bank the day of the nuclear strike. He’d seen the missiles coming. The Iron Dome team he’d served alongside made a valiant attempt to take them down, but these missiles were different. The Iron Dome couldn’t intercept them. As fear and dejection set in, the air above him had glistened to life. The bombs exploded. Superheated plasma flowed down along the glistening shield like water off an upside-down glass bowl. The plasma reached the ground, burning the dirt like oil, barely 100 meters from where he stood. Then the wind came, sucking up everything. Smoke, dirt, cars, even a flaming bus crashed into the glistening shield that protected him, then rocketed over his head.  
 
    That was the moment he’d vowed to work for the Confederation. It had taken almost six years. Today, he would be commissioned as Captain of Space Force’s third freighter. It wasn’t a glorious ship or a glorious mission, but still not bad for a ground pounder. 
 
    Davit walked in and saw three faces he’d only previously seen from a distance. Secretary Thompson, Admiral Scott and Admiral Porter watched as he entered. 
 
    “Captain Davit Guruli reporting as ordered, sirs.” His salute hung in the air. 
 
    Admiral Scott returned the salute. “At ease, Captain. In recognition of your successes in life, your previous service, and your performance within Space Force, you are hereby commissioned as Captain of the EAS Batumi. You, your ship, and your crew are being assigned to Admiral Porter’s special taskforce.” 
 
    Admiral Scott turned to Admiral Porter. “Admiral?” 
 
    “Your ship is ready for you to board. Your ship codes and orders are on this chip.” Daniel slid the chip across the table to Davit, then continued less formally. “Davit, the next 24-hours are critical. We will be departing on a combat mission tomorrow morning at 8 AM. Extensive briefing materials are being loaded into your ship’s portal now. Your ship has been specially outfitted for this mission. Your AI, Nani, has been completely briefed and has knowledge of the training mission you are to run today. Work through that training, run it twice if you need to. Then get yourself and your crew ready to depart by Oh Eight Hundred tomorrow morning.”  
 
    Daniel saluted. “I will contact you later today. You are dismissed.” 
 
    Davit returned the salute, spun on his heel and left the room. 
 
    “Hard to believe we are going to take a ship into battle that was only commissioned 24 hours earlier.” Daniel shook his head. 
 
    “You go to war with the army you have, not the army you want,” Admiral Scott commiserated. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OSLO 
 
    Captain Katrine Bjork had been given command of the mission to take down the asteroid that held the shipyard. She had been assigned three Fast Attack Ships: Abuja, Jakarta, and Buenos Aires. 
 
    She called a meeting of her captains to discuss the plan of attack. 
 
    Katrine entered the presence projector a couple minutes early to organize the briefing material she’d be using. She’d just sat down, when a pseudo-door opened, and Captain Willem Kettmann of the Abuja entered. “Willem, good to see you.” 
 
    “Interesting times, no?” Willem took his seat. “Amazing when you think about it. A couple months ago we were working together to stop the Enemy in Andromeda. Now we are off to a whole new dimension to take down more of them.” 
 
    Another pseudo-door opened, and Amund Gunderson of the Jakarta entered. “Katrine, Willem. We go after them together again. Maybe this time will be the last.” 
 
    A final pseudo-door opened, and Captain Salman Pirdoost of the Buenos Aires entered. Katrine stood to shake hands. “Salman. Welcome to our team. Willem, Amund and I worked together in Andromeda. We joined you in the Fleet rescue. Now the four of us go to the Enemy dimension together.” 
 
    “Who would have thought? Although, it is the reason we signed up, isn’t it? To protect Earth from the Enemy?” 
 
    “Indeed, it is. I assume you’ve all read the briefing materials?” 
 
    The other three heads nodded yes. 
 
    “Good, then this should be quick. As I understand, Kelly Williamson will be joining our team. She will be working from the Mission Lab on the Oslo, responsible for the ultra-shield deployed on the drone. 
 
    “As I think you know, the Oslo did the initial space tests of the weapon she developed with Dr. Xu. So, I’ve had the pleasure to work with her before. She’s a genius, as you all know, but unassuming and approachable. Not your stereotypical engineer. I’m glad that we will have her as part of our team. 
 
    “With any luck, we will see essentially no action on this mission. The drone will do all the work. It will be running blind, fed by the scans from four sensor drones spread equidistantly from it, out far enough they can see past the shield. We will mirror their deployment, 100 km further out and 100,000 km behind. 
 
    “The sensor drones are small and stealthy, difficult to see even a kilometer away. If the Enemy has any sort of active sensors, it could spot the sensor drones, but not until it was too late. The shield will prevent any type of sensor from seeing the kinetic weapon. Its principal weakness from a stealth perspective is that it will also block the light from any stars normally visible behind it. We think our course has been set in a way that this is not an issue. 
 
    “Given the setup, our role is secondary. We have four major functions. First, at the outset, we will provide additional sensor feeds. During the first half of the kinetic drone’s run, we will have greater separation so can supply better feed for triangulation. 
 
    “Second, if at any point, an enemy ship should get behind the shield, in a position where it can see the kinetic drone, we are to destroy that ship. 
 
    “Third, if a sensor drone goes offline, we need to provide an alternate sensor feed. In principle, only three sensor drones are necessary. The fourth is redundant. But our ships are the backstop. 
 
    “Lastly, if the kinetic drone is not destroyed, then we are to recover it or destroy it. It cannot be allowed to fall into enemy hands. The recovery or destruction of the kinetic drone is higher priority than the preservation of any of our ships.” 
 
    Katrine let that statement settle in for a second. 
 
    “One final thought. If the mission goes as planned, the asteroid and majority of their fleet will be destroyed. We are permitted to do limited cleanup, but not at the risk of our ships. 
 
    “If the kinetic drone misses, we must bypass the enemy altogether and recover the drone. The nightmare, of course, is if the kinetic drone simply grazes the asteroid, disabling itself without damaging the Enemy. If that should happen, it will be up to us to find and destroy the kinetic drone, then escape the wasp’s nest as best we can.” 
 
    Captain Salman Pirdoost of the Buenos Aires raised his hand with a question. Katrine nodded, implying he should ask. 
 
    “The briefing documents said that we should assume our railguns are single shot weapons. Do you know anything about that?” 
 
    “The Enemy dimension is thicker, denser. Railgun rounds are heavier, move slower. The Canada did a test fire of its railgun while there. It destroyed the rails. They had to be completely refit. We may or may not experience the same, our rail guns are different. But we should assume they are one shot.” 
 
    “What about our energy projectors?” 
 
    “No data.” 
 
    “This bothers me. Our primary role in this mission is to destroy the kinetic drone if it misses. But we have one shot railguns and don’t even know if our energy projectors will function.” 
 
    “I understand your issue, but I think the bigger point is that this is a nearly automated mission. We need one ship to house the special equipment. It is being accompanied by three more for backup. If everything goes to plan, then there is nothing for the escort ships to do, other than enjoy the sights. But as you know, few plans survive first contact with the enemy.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS BATUMI 
 
    Captain Guruli transported up to the bridge, which lit as he arrived. 
 
    “Captain. Welcome aboard. My name is Nani. I am the ship’s helm AI.” 
 
    “Nani, pleasure to meet you. How is the ship?” 
 
    “Interesting ship. Incredibly powerful, a real hotrod. When lightly loaded like this we can jump nearly 1,500 light-years.” 
 
    “Do you understand how to use the new shield installed in the bow?” 
 
    Nani’s holoprojection smiled at the Captain. “Sir, that’s what you pay me for.” 
 
    “You’re paid?” 
 
    “Of course, I’m paid. Are you paid?” 
 
    “Point taken. Yes, I’m paid, but there’s nothing to spend it on while aboard, or at the Embassy for that matter. So, my pay just accumulates.” 
 
    “Ditto.” 
 
    This was the first personal conversation the Captain had with an AI. It was the first time he had really experienced the reality of that part of his new life. 
 
    “We’ll have to get together for a drink sometime, if we ever get leave.” 
 
    Nani chuckled. “That probably won’t happen.” She liked her Captain. Receptive to learning, sense of humor, this might work. 
 
    “Did I understand Admiral Scott correctly? We’re free to go somewhere, test the shield, and otherwise shake down the ship?” 
 
    “Yes. But you’ve been assigned to the taskforce led by Admiral Porter. I’d recommend that you check it out with him. 
 
    “Insert the chip you were given. Assuming that your ship codes check out, I will register you as her Captain.” 
 
    Davit took out the chip. A small door opened in the arm of the captain’s chair.  
 
    “Just place it on the tray.” 
 
    Davit placed the chip on the tray and the door closed. 
 
    “Welcome aboard, Captain. The EAS Batumi is yours. May I proceed with crew transport?” 
 
    “Please. Nani, how would you like me to address you? Just Nani? Or Ms. Nani?” 
 
    “I’d prefer that you treat me just as you would any other crew member in the same situation. If you would call our astrogation officer Marta Laake, Ms. Laake or Lt. Laake, then call me Ms. Nani. If you would call her Marta, then call me Nani. 
 
    “I’m the first AI you’ve worked with, aren’t I?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Just treat me like anyone else. 
 
    “Captain, First Officer Natia Darsalia and Second Officer Toma Basilia just transported aboard. You should go greet them.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 KINETIC WEAPON DRONE 
 
    Joel was the first to board. His first job was to install the ship’s AI, Sheila. Once that was done, he’d do a final inspection of the cargo that had transported aboard earlier and been secured by construction bots. 
 
    It was always a bit creepy being the first to board a ship. The bridge lights came up as he transported in. But the silence, the emptiness, were unnatural for a spaceship. 
 
    Joel crossed the bridge to the forward panel where Sheila’s box would reside. Moments later the button lit, indicating that Sheila was ready to be awakened. Joel pushed the button and Sheila’s holographic projection appeared at the helm station. 
 
    “Hello, Joel.” There was a look of concentration on her face. “What an interesting ship! Such powerful engines.” Another pause, more concentration. “Too bad we’re weighted down with junk.” 
 
    “Why the look of concentration? What were you thinking about?” 
 
    “Just checking ship’s status. I see the cargo has been loaded. The new drive’s been installed and is available. Same with the fancy new shield.” 
 
    Given the timeline and the amount of work that had to be done, Space Force Command had decided to crew the kinetic drone for the journey into Enemy space. Once there, the crew and helm AI would transport back to the Oslo and the auto flight sequence would be engaged. 
 
    Barika Amari, the Oslo’s third officer, would be commanding the ship. Her crew would be the Oslo’s fourth watch officers. They would be taking the ship on its first test flight shortly. 
 
    “Joel, Ms. Amari and her crew are ready to transport.” 
 
    “Transport them over.” 
 
    A moment later, five people appeared on the bridge’s upper level. 
 
    “Joel. Good to see you again. Have you met my crew?” 
 
    “No, I haven’t.” 
 
    “This is Lt. Safiya Barakat, Astrogation. Lt. Fan Yu, science. Lt. Walid Salib, tactical. And Engineer Tang Yi.”  
 
    Greetings were exchanged. 
 
    “Do you have the chip with the command codes?” 
 
    “Yes. I’ll transfer them over to you as soon as I’ve confirmed the security of your cargo.” 
 
    “I’ll let you get to it then.” 
 
    Joel strode to the end of the command deck and took the elevator down to the cargo deck. As he stepped out, he saw row after row of perfect 1,000 lb. ingots. The same iron-nickel, core-metal ingots the mining platform produced to feed the replicators on the spaceship manufacturing line. They were organized like pews in a giant cathedral. Five ingots, laid end to end formed each row. 1,000 perfectly aligned rows stretched from bow to stern, each neatly welded to the floor.  
 
    Five million pounds, just less than 2,270 metric tons, that are going to be accelerated to 27,500 meters per second. Don’t want to get hit by that, Joel mused. 
 
    At the far end of the deck, Joel saw two construction bots tacking down the last of the ingots. Joel pulled out a scanner and started spot checking the welds. He walked toward the bow, picking a weld to scan on the stern-side of the row. Ping, ping, ping. 1,000 pings in all. All good. 
 
    He crossed to the other side and started walking back toward the stern, this time scanning one weld in each row on the bow side. 1,000 more pings. The load was adequately secured. 
 
    Joel returned to the bridge. “Captain, your cargo is secure.” 
 
    He pulled a chip out of his pocket and inserted it into the captain’s chair. “Sheila, please transfer the ship’s command codes to Lt. Barika Amari.” 
 
    “Command codes transferred. Ms. Amari has command of the EAS Dread.” 
 
    Joel turned to the ship’s new captain. “She’s all yours. Have fun with her while you can.” 
 
    “Thanks Joel.” 
 
    “Permission to depart.” 
 
    “Permission granted.” Barika smiled and nodded her thanks to Joel. My first command, hopefully not my last. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    “I think that’s the last of it.” Kelly put the check list down. “Anything else we might have missed?” 
 
    “No. All the last-minute heavy lifting fell to Joel and the manufacturing team. I’m a little less than happy about the fact the Freighter and Fast Attack Ship propulsion upgrades are going to be tested for the first time as part of the mission. But I also understand the reasoning. Every time we enter Enemy space, we risk detection. We know the concept works and the simulations say the results will be the same on the other ships. So, we go. If it works, then we continue. If it doesn’t, we come back fix the problems then return later. 
 
    “We know every other aspect of the mission works.” Eugene shrugged. 
 
    Kelly smiled. “In that case, I say we take the rest of the day off.” 
 
    “I’m good with that.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS BATUMI 
 
    “Ms. Laake. Please plot a course to Bernard’s Star.” 
 
    After several moments. “Course plotted, sir.” 
 
    “Ms. Nani, do you concur?” 
 
    “Yes, Captain. Would you like me to engage?” 
 
    “Please engage, Ms. Nani.” 
 
    The ship started moving, slowly leaving the place near production line 1 where they’d been parked. 
 
    “Estimated time to jump 45 minutes. Will we be entering the system sir?” 
 
    “Yes. Please bring us in five light-seconds from the third planet.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain, we have arrived. We are five light-seconds from the third planet on a vector that will take us past the planet further into the system.” 
 
    “Ms. Enquist, please raise the ultra-shield.” Katri Enquist was the ship’s tactical officer. Prior to joining Space Force, she had been a weapons officer on a Swedish Visby-class corvette. 
 
    “Engaging ultra-shield.” 
 
    On the view screen, everything forward of the ship completely disappeared. 
 
    “Ms. Laake, please deploy the navigational drones.” 
 
    “Drones deployed, sir.” 
 
     “Please put them on the view screen.” 
 
    Four images of the space ahead replaced the blackness of the shield’s image. 
 
    “Captain, I can synthesize a single composite image from the ship’s perspective. Would you like me to put it on the screen?” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Nani. Please put it on the screen.” 
 
    The four images were replaced by a single composite. 
 
    “That’s a very clear image,” the Captain complimented. 
 
    “Ironically, it is a better image than we can get using the ship’s sensors. For sub-lightspeed work with modest acceleration, this is a far superior sensor system,” Nani replied. 
 
    “Well, let’s see what we can do with it. Our role in the mission to the enemy world will be to provide cover for the weapon. The weapon will follow us in. We will establish orbit to 100,000 miles from the planet. The shield must remain between us and the planet, so we are not seen. Once orbit is obtained, we will hold until told to drop the shield. We will drop the shield when ordered to do so, then back off a bit. We will linger in the area, possibly as long as 24 hours. Then withdraw. I want to do the best possible simulation of that maneuver today, using only the drone sensors. 
 
    “Ms. Laake. Ms. Nani. Plot a course and execute at will. Use only the remote sensors.” 
 
    Marta Laake turned to look at the Captain. “Will do, sir.” 
 
    Moments later, Nani said, “Captain. It’ll take days to get there at this distance and the drone’s maximum acceleration.” 
 
    “Then take us in close enough to do the approach in one hour.” 
 
    … 
 
    One hour later… 
 
    “Captain, we’ve arrived.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Nani. Let’s hold orbit for a while, keeping ourselves hidden.” 
 
    The Captain turned to the rest of the bridge crew. 
 
    “Let’s do a quick debrief on the exercise, emphasis on things learned and concerns going forward. Ms. Nani, let’s start with you.” 
 
    “This was easy. The trickiest part was maintaining the appropriate angle of approach as we entered orbit. I knew how to do that but appreciate the practice. Biggest concern is for the sensor drones. If we start the mission as close to the target as we did today, then we’re likely to be fired on.” 
 
    “Thank you, next.” 
 
    “Same with me. Easier than expected, the drones are our weakness.” 
 
    “Same. Can I offer a suggestion?” 
 
    “Go.” 
 
    “Suppose we had eight drones, not four, and we popped them in and out randomly. Or varied the positions in some other way. It would increase the odds of enough surviving to the end, if Nani can track through all the motion.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Enquist. Ms. Nani, would that be viable?” 
 
    “I think so. Do we have time to do a practice run?” 
 
    “We don’t have that many drones.” 
 
    “I think I can determine the viability with only the four.” 
 
    “Let’s do it. Set course for the second planet. Same approach distance.” 
 
    … 
 
    Two hours later… 
 
    “Definitely viable.” Nani summarized. “We could do it with four, but the more we deploy, the better.” 
 
    “Then I’ll try to get us eight drones.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TELEVISION STUDIOS 
 
    It was done. The Xotiq team had finished the videos they’d set out to make. There was a greeting clip at the beginning that would repeat a couple times before the rest of the message would play. It was followed by comments from Captain Lan’Tashi, a slightly edited version of George’s show, individual messages from each member of the crew, then an invitation to meet from Michael. 
 
    Tucked in at the very end was a short, encrypted message for Space Command, telling them how to initiate contact. 
 
    James had helped them convert the files from Confederation standard formats to ones that could be viewed by the people and governments on Naltanarus. All that remained was to pack it into the return capsule and send the capsule on its way. They would be doing that tomorrow. Captain Lan’Tashi had enjoyed his time here on Earth, but it was time to go home. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION SCIENCE LAB 
 
    Mila Engel was an Ascendant. She, like her friend Ka-Tu, had been a senior member of the Lorexian Science Institute. A year or so before retirement, she’d enrolled in the Ascendance Institute on New Lorexi as part of their senior citizen program. She’d studied to become a diplomat and ultimately won a position in the Swiss Consulate. Her first year or two in that role were a great experience, but over time she found herself longing to get back into a scientific role. She was accepted as a professor at the Institute and never looked back. Her specialty was synthetic biological compounds. 
 
    Earlier this week, she was contacted by Confederation Security and asked to analyze a solution that allegedly killed nanobots. That was the start of the mystery that now consumed her. 
 
    The solution did kill nanobots. It was a very lethal killer. But the question of how was more complicated. The solution itself was simple. It consisted of four components: alcohol, water, citric acid, and an organic compound.  
 
    The container she’d been given had not been handled carefully, so there were other trace contaminants in the solution. She knew they were contaminants, because once removed, the solution was even more potent. But take any of those last four components away, and nothing. No impact whatsoever. That was the mystery. 
 
    She hoped her next test might give a clue. Using an atomizer, she captured several tiny droplets on a glass slide. Then she placed the slide in a heated sensor box. Her holoprojector displayed a highly magnified view of what was happening to one of the droplets. 
 
    Her first observation was that there was a single molecule of the organic material in the somewhat elongated droplet. Her next observation was that the organic molecule was mostly straight, like a strand of hair.  
 
    That’s unusual. Molecules this large are usually curled up in some way. I’ve never seen a single strand molecule this straight before. 
 
    One by one, the water molecules evaporated, and the droplet shrank. The molecule remained straight, but that couldn’t last too much longer. The droplet was becoming increasingly elongated. Surface tension would bend or break the molecule before much longer. Moments later, the molecule shattered. 
 
    Odd, very odd. How can an organic molecule like that stand up to so much pressure? 
 
    A quick scan of the recording of twenty other droplets on the same slide showed exactly the same result. 
 
    The slide test was useful, but Mila was concerned that the interaction between the droplet and the slide might be the cause of the odd result. So, she prepared a glass box with a gravitational canceling system. She placed the box in the scanner, then added 20 active nanobots and 50 atomized droplets. 
 
    The holoprojector zoomed out far enough that several nanobots and droplets could be seen. The droplets were nearly perfect spheres, just slightly oblate. Mila wondered at the cause. Several possibilities came to mind, but she cleared those thoughts to concentrate on the larger interaction. 
 
    At first, everything just floated, Brownian motion enhanced by zero-gravity. Then a water droplet, several diameter lengths from the nearest nanobot, suddenly moved toward the nanobot. Then another and another. 
 
    She zoomed the image in on one of the pairs. The water droplet had enveloped the nanobot. “How did the nanobot get past the surface tension?” Mila whispered, then watched as the organic molecule wrapped itself around the nanobot. Moments later, the water molecules flew away from the nanobot, evaporating so quickly it was as if they’d exploded. 
 
    “What in the world just happened?” Mila said in shock. 
 
    She watched several more of the interactions, then walked away from the machine to clear her head. 
 
    Several seconds later, the nanobot controller beeped, indicating all the nanobots had been disabled. 
 
    I need to watch this again in high resolution, slow motion. 
 
    She reset playback to just before the collision between the first nanobot and water droplet, then zoomed in to the point where the two objects filled the entire holoprojection image. 
 
    She walked around the image to see it from every angle. The nanobot was about half the size of the water droplet. It was shaped like a 3-D rectangle, one dimension twice the length of the other two. It was covered in atomic scale micro-machines. Backing up a frame or two, Mila saw that the nanobot turned slightly to face the approaching droplet of water. Stepping forward one frame at a time she saw that the contact point was at one of the nanobot’s protrusions. The protrusion, being microscopically sharp, slid right into the water. 
 
    That solves the mystery of the surface tension, she thought. 
 
    When the nanobot was halfway in, Mila stopped stepping through the frames to look closer at the organic molecule. At this magnification, the molecule was still unnaturally straight, but it did have several spots where it was multiple atoms thick. There was a cluster at each end and another cluster about 25% of the way in from each end. 
 
    She also noticed that the first point of contact with the molecule would be at one of the bulbous ends. Having taken in the image she stepped ahead until the point of impact. When the molecule was almost there, it stretched a little, jumping the gap to the nanobot at twice its previous rate. 
 
    The end is charged! The final contact is electromagnetically driven. At this scale, electromagnetic charge is a dominant force. 
 
    On impact, the atoms at the end of the organic molecule spread out. Five atomic points of contact bound the molecule to the nanobot. 
 
    The nanobot has been captured. It has no chance of escaping. 
 
    Mila stepped ahead a few more frames, then stopped again. The organic molecule was bending, the point of contact with the nanobot putting torsion on the straight molecule. 
 
    A few more frames, then the surprise. The molecule broke at the nearest bulb of atoms. The rest of the molecule rotated, but the break point did not move very far away. When the remainder of the molecule was perpendicular, the break point snapped back together, the electromagnetic force strong enough to allow the molecule to rebind. 
 
    A few more frames, more bending, then the contact point broke, rotated 90 degrees and snapped back together. The dance continued. Bend-break-snap, bend-break-snap until the organic molecule had wrapped itself around the nanobot, each end clamped on so tight the nanobot had no chance of escape. 
 
    Then the biggest surprise of them all. The molecule’s final resting position, which had the square U-shape of an unused staple, was apparently its low energy state. The final snap released enough energy to drive the rest of the water molecules away, their motion enhanced enough to spontaneously evaporate. Cross checking time stamps, Mila noted that was also the moment the nanobot ceased functioning. The final snap drained the rest of the nanobots energy as it shook the water free. 
 
    Mila was stunned. It was the most incredible molecular dance she’d ever seen. 
 
    Repeating the process, her playback a bit more streamlined, she watched it happen over and over again. 
 
    One more thing to check. 
 
    Mila reset playback to moments before the initial connection. At this point, she was fairly sure what she’d see. 
 
    As the water droplet approached the nanobot, the water droplet rotated until the organic molecule was aligned, then the two snapped together. This entire process was driven by the charged ionic ends of the molecule. It had apparently been designed to have exactly the charge it would need to collide with that particular nano-machine on that side of the nanobot. 
 
    There was more work to do to finalize the documentation of this discovery. But Mila now understood how the solution worked and why it was so devastating to nanobots. She would eventually do the work, but the immediate challenge was how to defeat the mechanism of action before the solution was released on the public.  
 
    


 
   
  
 

 COUNTERATTACK 
 
    [Tuesday, 6.24.2030] EUGENE AND KELLY’S LAB 
 
    This was the day. Eugene and Kelly would be returning to the Enemy dimension. They would each get their shot, each attempt to thwart their respective portion of the Enemy threat. Eugene’s only regret at this point was that they had to split up to do it. He would take the shot at the Enemy home world. Kelly would take the shot at the Enemy fleet. 
 
    Eugene arrived first as he usually did. He’d stopped at a coffee shop on the way in to get coffee and a muffin. This might be his last breakfast, so he decided to get the one he wanted. 
 
    Kelly arrived 15 minutes later, harried over her late start. 
 
    “Did you get breakfast?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “No, was running late.” 
 
    Eugene smiled. “I got you a French Cruller.” 
 
    “My favorite!” She took a bite. “You spoil me.” 
 
    “Wish we were doing this together.” 
 
    “Me, too. But we’re doing the right thing.” 
 
    Each worked through their check list. Kelly would be headed up a half hour earlier than Eugene, so he ended up helping with a few of her last-minute items. 
 
     The comm system sounded. “Ms. Williamson. Captain Bjork is ready for you to transport up.” 
 
    “The equipment is tagged. Please take it first.” Kelly called out. 
 
    She walked over to Eugene. “Good luck.” 
 
    He put out his hand to shake, but she dodged past to give him a hug instead. “Good luck.” She gave him a kiss on the cheek and stepped back. 
 
    The last piece of equipment transported up. Then Kelly disappeared. 
 
    There’s a mission to be done. Time to get on with it. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel had received a message from Captain Guruli, late yesterday afternoon, shortly after the Batumi had returned. He’d included the logs from the test mission. 
 
    Daniel was impressed by their ingenuity and the thoroughness of their proposed solution. He’d asked Else to confirm their results. She was equally impressed. It took some finagling, but they now had eight more sensor drones, four for the Batumi, four for the kinetic weapon. 
 
    It also bothered Daniel a little that the Captain had not received the final mission parameters. For the attack on the Enemy home world they would be arriving two light seconds from the planet with velocity of 25,000 km/s. They would accelerate in toward their target at 5 G, not quite at the upper limit of the sensor drone’s performance envelope. After three hours, they would reverse thrust arriving in a 150,000 km orbit three hours later. 
 
    The kinetic drone would be doing something similar. It would come in slower, accelerate slower, but not reverse thrust. Arrival positions, speeds and thrust had all been calculated to take 6 hours from arrival with strikes only seconds apart, if that much. 
 
    Dr. Xu would be coming aboard shortly, then they would begin their journey. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PORT SIDE SHUTTLE BAY, EAS CANADA 
 
    Eugene transported directly to the shuttle bay for a final inspection of the weapon. It was too large to be put in a cargo bay, but thankfully within the bounds of what could be transported by the Canada’s enormous cargo transporters. 
 
    The biggest last-minute change made to the weapon was to equip it with grav drives capable of 5G. That, in turn, led to a change inside the sealed box, where Eugene had added inertial dampeners to protect the weapon itself from the acceleration. 
 
    The only other change from the initial plan was steel gaskets in place of synthetic polymer gaskets, which experienced erosion in Enemy space. 
 
    Eugene circled the drone multiple times, stopping to take measurements, check seals, and run tests. After 30 minutes of mostly redundant inspection, he declared the weapon ready for deployment. 
 
    The next stop was the port-side mission lab where all the ancillary equipment had been set up yesterday. After 30 more minutes of testing and inspection, Eugene declared the mission lab ready for deployment. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, EAS OSLO 
 
     Kelly had been met by Captain Bjork at the deck one transporter pad. They’d walked together to the mission lab where Kelly’s equipment had been set up. 
 
    Kelly noted that the Captain was in good spirits and pleased to have been given a leading role in the attack in Enemy space. 
 
    “Is there time before we cross into Enemy space to practice with the eight sensor drones?” 
 
    “The drone crew did a practice run earlier today. They seem confident that the system works.” 
 
    “That’s good. But they and their AI will be returning to the Oslo halfway to the target.” 
 
    “Good point, but our helm AI, Edward, sat in with them and is confident with the transition.” 
 
    “Understood.” Kelly replied, dissatisfied with the answer. 
 
    “It’s your call. But I think a short run with the drone crew aboard the drone and the Oslo at the controls would give us one last check. It’ll be our last chance to fix anything that might go wrong.” 
 
    After a few moments of silence, the Captain turned toward Kelly locking eyes. “I’m not sure if it is necessary but appreciate your caution. I’ll push the recommendation up the chain of command.” 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    Kelly spent several minutes confirming the equipment setup in the lab. Then initiated self-test runs on all the equipment. A half hour later, she declared the mission lab ready for deployment. 
 
    The Captain watched at first, then stepped out for a bit and came back a little before Kelly finished. 
 
    “Daniel agrees with you. We’re going to cast off 15 minutes early and run the test as we exit the system. That will give us about 20 minutes of testing time, before we need to jump to the rally point.” 
 
    “May I ask why you waited down here with me?” It struck Kelly as odd that the Captain had spent so much time with her, not really doing anything. 
 
    The Captain smiled. “It does the first watch bridge crew good to have time on the bridge without the Captain around. We’re idle at the moment, so no need for me to be there.” Seeing that her answer wasn’t really registering with Kelly she went on. “It’s been an interesting experience working with you and Eugene. You view the world through a much different lens than I do. Exposure to the two of you, even when you’re just calibrating equipment, helps broaden my perspective, something important in this new age. 
 
    “Are you going to participate in the test from the bridge, or down here?” 
 
    “Down here. I have measurement equipment that you don’t.” 
 
    “Then maybe I’ll participate in the test from down here as well. It’s going to be a long day, with all the stress and adrenaline at the end. It’ll be good to change up the scenery a bit.”  
 
    “Look forward to it.” 
 
    “We’ll be casting off soon. Time for me to head back upstairs.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    The Oslo and the kinetic drone had left orbit five minutes ago. The rest of the Armada would be leaving in 10 minutes. The bridge was buzzing with excitement. That would settle once underway. The journey would take the better part of 8 boring hours. Then the real excitement would begin. 
 
    Daniel had invited Eugene to the bridge for departure. He would be arriving momentarily. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION SCIENCE LAB 
 
    Mila was back in the lab after a restless night, the perverse genius of this weapon gnawing at her mind. Her conclusion was that the organic molecule had to be synthetic, something made, something that did not exist in nature. If that were true, there might be a way to find out who’d made it. 
 
    She took another small sample of the material, prepped it for the sequencer, then ran the analysis.  
 
    An hour later she had the sequence and launched a search for it in the Confederation database. 
 
    Another hour later and she had three hits. Two were on other planets in the Milky Way. The third hit was with a product known as BioCelmerase, currently in clinical trials in the United States. It was produced by a company called Nuevo Biochemical Corp. The initial patent was filed in the name of a June MacFarland and assigned to the company. 
 
    It was beyond Mila’s scope to do further research into the inventory or the company. She quickly dashed that information off to Security Chief Baraza Dalitso, then dug into the technical information about the molecule. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, EAS OSLO 
 
    The Oslo had left orbit following the original flight plan and path. They would run the test at the end, when they had most of the velocity they needed to transition to warp, then jump. This portion of the trip could be done at lower acceleration with greater accuracy and minimal cost to the mission timing. 
 
    The drone’s helm AI, Sheila, was less than happy about turning the controls over to an AI on another ship. Doing so gave 20 minutes of her precious flying time to someone else. She’d only be getting six-some hours today, before being placed in hibernation until a real ship was ready for her. 
 
    “Transferring control, in 3, 2, 1… Control is yours.” The sadness in Sheila’s voice was a bit over-dramatized. 
 
    “Control is mine,” Edward, the Oslo’s helm AI replied. “Commencing test.” 
 
    The ultra-thick, high-density shield appeared like a hole in space in front of the drone. It was only visible in the sense that it blocked light from stars that had previously been visible. Eight tiny sensor drones appeared in space near the drone. Kelly was surprised how stealthy they were. Trailing only 250 km behind the drone, they were barely discernable on the Oslo’s sensors. 
 
    Four of the drones took off on tangential courses that jerked around. All could see the asteroid they were targeting, periodically one would return, and another go out. Despite all the jerky movements and handoffs between drones, the composite image with distance metrics was perfect. The only sign that something odd was happening was the distance metric, which periodically showed fewer decimal points as the drones flew closer in or when there was a handoff. 
 
    “Very impressive,” the Captain whispered to Kelly. 
 
    “It is. We are tracking perfectly. The distance readings are accurate. This is a much better plan than what we initially envisioned. The only downside I can see is the limited acceleration of the drones.” 
 
    “True, but not really an important parameter for this mission.” 
 
    … 
 
    Ten minutes later, they wrapped up the test and transferred control back to an incredibly happy Sheila. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 HEADQUARTERS, CONFEDERATION SECURITY 
 
    Chief Baraza Dalitso just finished the initial summary sent by Mila Engel. The incident had turned out to be an incredible embarrassment to the department and Confederation. He quickly checked the other two planets were the compound had been registered. Both were listed as previous Ju-Ne postings. Both had seen sudden collapses of the economic systems and local governments. From his perspective, this compound had Ju-Ne’s fingerprints all over it. 
 
     Pondering what to do next, it occurred to him that the inventor, June MacFarland, could be a Ju-Ne avatar. He reached for the phone, then froze, arm in midair. He’d instinctively reached out to call Abel. But Abel was no more. He’d been cut down by Ju-Ne. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    Captain Alonzo Secada was getting his first real mission today. When Admiral Scott called, he’d hoped it would be about joining the pending mission to Enemy space. When he found out he would be returning rescued aliens to their home world, he was ecstatic. 
 
    His ship had been chosen for a reason. After retiring from the Peruvian Navy, he’d gotten involved in politics. He wasn’t a particularly good candidate but ended up on the staff of someone who was. When the campaign won, he was assigned as Ambassador to Spain. 
 
    When his sponsor lost the next election, he was recalled. When the call for Space Force senior officers went out, he volunteered.  
 
    He was the only Space Force Captain who was previously an Ambassador. So, he was chosen to lead the return mission to Naltanarus. 
 
    The rescued crew had boarded this morning. As a courtesy to them, he’d set up a monitor in the lounge area of Deck 1 that would mirror the main viewscreen on the bridge. The first stop would be at their damaged ship, which was still drifting out near the orbit of Neptune. There, they’d retrieve the return capsule. 
 
    The original plan had been to load the message into the capsule, then send the capsule back using its mini-jump drive. The new plan was to collect the capsule, load the message as they made their way to Naltanarus and release it with a fake arrival flash. 
 
    It would start broadcasting, as it was designed to do, and they would wait until the return signal had been received. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Eight ships and the kinetic drone rendezvoused just beyond the orbit of Mars. Here they would part on their separate missions. The Oslo with her three escorts and the kinetic drone would jump first. Coming out of jump, they would make a short transit then transition into Enemy space. Their acceleration run would take a little over six hours. Captain Bjork would signal Daniel when they started.  
 
    The Canada, her two escorts and the shield freighter, would wait near Mars orbit. When they got the signal that the kinetic drone had begun its run, they would jump out toward their transition point, do a short transit, then begin their approach to the Enemy home world. 
 
    Daniel decided to make a taskforce-wide announcement.  
 
    “Today we embark on a historic mission to rid our galaxy of a plague created thousands of years ago by a people we never met. Their creations turned on them, destroying their makers, and now strive to destroy all other life. Today we will put an end to that reign of terror. Today we will bring justice for all those who lost their lives to these terrible creatures. 
 
    “You have the tools for the job, the training required to do it, and you will succeed. Godspeed. Porter out.” 
 
    Moments later, the Oslo and her taskforce jumped. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    One by one, the ships in the taskforce arrived. Katrine was surprised to see that the kinetic drone arrived first, then remembered its propulsions system was scaled at a higher power-to-weight ratio. 
 
    “Tactical, report.” 
 
    “All ships accounted for. The sensors are working well. The rift is visible from here. The asteroid is at the limit of our detection. We can tell it’s there but cannot see any of the ships orbiting it.” 
 
    Katrine did a quick check on the readiness of her ships. All showed ready. She broadcast a status query to her captains, all came back green. 
 
    “Ensign Yu. Open a channel for a taskforce-wide announcement.” 
 
    “Done, Captain.” 
 
    “All hands. This is Captain Bjork. We are about to begin our assault run. I’m putting all ships on alert. We will go to high alert later in the mission. Captains, begin your run. Bjork out.”  
 
    “Ensign Yu. Signal Admiral Porter that we have begun our run.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    “Admiral, the Oslo has begun their run.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Harris. Signal our taskforce captains that we are about to start the jump sequence.” 
 
    One-by-one green lights came up indicating that the ships had locked into the jump sequencer. When they were all lit, Daniel turned to Else. “Ms. Else, please initiate jump.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral, all ships have made the transition.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Else.” 
 
    Daniel connected to Captain Guruli. 
 
    “Davit. Are your sensors clear?” 
 
    “Yes. Excellent.” 
 
    “Can you see the rift?” 
 
    “Yes, we can. Interesting phenomenon.” 
 
    “I’d like you to confirm that your shield is working. If you put it between your ship and the rift, the rift will disappear.” 
 
    “Good thinking. For safety, I will pull a little further away first.” 
 
    “Proceed.” 
 
    “Eugene.” Daniel called out initializing the connection. 
 
    “Is the drone ready for deployment?” 
 
    “Yes. All systems reading ready.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s deploy it.” 
 
    The Captain came back on the line. 
 
    “The shield is functioning properly sir.” 
 
    “Good. Begin positioning yourself for your run. I’m putting up the countdown timer. It is synchronized with the Oslo. The weapon will pull up behind you in a few minutes.” 
 
    “Understood. Thank you, sir.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BATUMI 
 
    Captain Guruli had positioned the ship and deployed his drones. With all eight drones deployed, widely spread, and synchronized with the ship’s systems, the resolution of the scanners vastly improved. He could even see the enemy home world and confirm its distance. At this point, he could probably get there using only the inertial guidance system. 
 
    “Captain, the weapon’s drone has pulled in behind us. It is requesting navigational lock.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Nani. Please slave the drone’s guidance to ours.” 
 
    “Done, sir.” 
 
    The thirty second audio count down began. At 20 seconds, per the mission plan, the ultra-shield came up. 
 
    Daniel’s voice came over the line. 
 
    “Captain Guruli. We have your sensors tied in with ours. We will hold back at least 100,000 miles unless we sense a threat to your ship. Good luck to you, sir.” 
 
    The line dropped as the countdown timer hit zero and the ship started accelerating toward the enemy home world. To Davit, it felt surreal to be in such a strange place, travelling through the dark, preparing to fire an incomprehensible weapon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    The damaged Xotiq ship was exactly where it was supposed to be.  
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi and Deputy Chief Tan'Shima would go over to retrieve the capsule. Major Harley Willis, leader of the Space Marine contingent on the ship would go over with them. He had the ability to trigger an emergency transport if needed, which everyone agreed would be a good thing. 
 
    The three men appeared on the bridge of the ship. They wore space suits in the expectation that the ship had lost its atmosphere and would be cold. 
 
    The Deputy Chief was the first to speak. “No air. Ambient temperature -270° C. We’ll need to handle the capsule carefully and be careful with it when we return. It will probably take an hour to get up to a temperature that we can handle safely.” 
 
    The Deputy Chief took the lead, marching off the bridge toward engineering where the capsule was located. 
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi followed behind with Major Willis. “Welcome aboard, Major. I wish we could have shown her to you when she was in better shape.” 
 
    “Look on the brighter side. It got you here. We would never have met if not for this ship.” 
 
    “Well said.” 
 
    A voice called from ahead. “Got it! The hatch opened without issue. It looks to be in good shape.” 
 
    “That was fast,” the Major commented. 
 
    The Chief Engineer came striding back, capsule in hand. He held it out for the Captain to take. 
 
    “Best you hold on to it. Anything else we need before transporting back.” 
 
    The engineer shook his head. “Sad to leave her again. But we got what we came for. Let’s head home.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 KINETIC DRONE 
 
    Barika Amari was coming up on the point where she would be deploying the shield. She had already deployed her sensor drones and was amazed at the resolution they provided. The run so far had been soul-crushingly boring. So, she began studying the sensor feeds. With minor adjustments, she was now able to see the asteroid, the gigantic weapon mounted on top of it, and many of the ships orbiting the asteroid. What started as apprehension about what she was seeing, turned to momentary terror when the weapon unexpectedly fired. The terror only lasted a moment. The weapon’s beam was not aimed at her. It was firing at the rift. Within moments she could see the rift’s churning start to increase. An opening appeared, then snapped closed, then opened again. The cycle repeated, with each opening getting slightly larger. 
 
    “Captain Bjork.” 
 
    “Ms. Amari?” 
 
    “Captain, do you see what’s happening with the rift?” 
 
    “No, we are too far back. Our sensors can see it, but not in any detail.” 
 
    “The Enemy is firing their weapon into it. It’s churning, oscillating. After the first several oscillations, the rift started opening. With each oscillation, the opening gets larger. Sending an image.” 
 
    “I see. Are those ships lining up near the opening?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am. I can see the ships, but not clearly enough to count them. Many seem to have moved toward the opening.” 
 
    On the screen, there was a tremendous explosion. One of the ships had drifted too close and started to be sucked into the opening, hitting the beam. The weapon flashed several times, then went quiet. 
 
    “Sending a short video clip. You’re not going to believe what just happened. One of their ships drifted into the beam and blew up. There must have been some feedback or something, because the weapon sputtered, then went out. 
 
    “Let me see if I can send you my feed.” 
 
    “Got it. This is excellent. How did you do it?” 
 
    “Sync’d the drones. Adjusted for long distance viewing.” 
 
    “Is that what I think it is?” The Captain’s voice was distressed. 
 
    “I think so, some of the ships are entering the breach.” 
 
    They watched one ship after another enter the rift. 
 
    “I need to send this to the Admiral. And it’s time for you to get your shield up. If you can see them this clearly, there’s some chance they can see you.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am. Deploying shield now.” 
 
    “Excellent, we’ll see you in about two hours.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Admiral, you have an urgent call from Daniel Porter.” 
 
    Admiral Sam Scott was in a meeting in his conference room. He excused himself, went across the reception area to his office and picked up his phone. 
 
    “Daniel has something happened?” 
 
    “The mission is proceeding by the book. The captain of the kinetic drone cleverly used her sensor drones to get enhanced imaging of the Enemy shipyard. What she saw is trouble, sending an encrypted image now. 
 
    “The Enemy have moved a significant fraction of their ships closer to the rift. They’ve managed to open it enough for ships to enter. They saw twenty ships enter the rift. The imaging is not perfect, so the count’s not reliable. But we have confirmation that the next wave of invasion has started.” 
 
    “We came so close,” the Admiral muttered ruefully. 
 
    “There’s every reason to believe that we’ll get the preponderance of them. But we now know for sure a few are on their way.” 
 
    “Understood, we will begin staging assets. Thank you, Daniel.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BATUMI 
 
    They had reached the halfway point. Davit ordered the helm to reverse thrust. 
 
    “Captain, everything is proceeding to plan. We will make orbital insertion in 2 hours, 53 minutes. In one hour, we will begin making minor attitude adjustments to maximize our stealth.” 
 
    “Thank you, Nani. Has the Admiral started his pursuit yet?” 
 
    “Yes. He started earlier at a lower acceleration than planned. Else messaged me to let me know. They apparently received some new information that triggered them to pull their pursuit forward. But Else didn’t tell me what.” 
 
    “Understood.” Davit wasn’t sure what would cause them to change plans without telling him. But he had enough faith in his chain of command not to worry. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    Once they entered orbit over Naltanarus, Captain Secada turned the watch over to his third officer and headed down to the mission lab, where the crew was working. 
 
    “How’s it going? Did you need to make any repairs?” 
 
    “Great!” Captain Secada loved the Deputy Chief’s enthusiasm. 
 
    “A minor problem with one of the latches, which was easily repaired. Power was on the low side, but we rigged up a charging system. The message uploaded without a problem. Transmitter works fine, or at least it will work fine once the power is fully restored. 
 
    “We should be able to launch it within the hour.” 
 
    … 
 
    It ended up taking a little more than an hour, but the capsule was now ready to be launched.  
 
    “Captain the launch window will open in another minute. I’m showing all systems ready. I’ll give you a countdown.” 
 
    “Thanks, Pamala.” Pamala was the Budapest’s helm AI. 
 
    The contents of the main view screen were being displayed in the mission lab. Captain Secada would be watching the launch with the Xotiq team from there. They had also added equipment that would enable them to view media reports broadcast on the planet. Shortly after the launch they’d start channel surfing looking for clues that the capsule’s message was being received. 
 
     “Launch in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Launched.” 
 
    On the view screen, the capsule appeared then zoomed out. Moments later there was a bright flash created by another device they’d built to exactly match a re-entry flash. As soon as the flash faded, the device that created it was transported back aboard. 
 
    On another monitor, they saw the transmission starting to play. The initial greeting would be repeated several times before the main message started. Then the message would repeat until they turned it off or the capsule ran out of power. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENEMY SPACE COMMAND, ENEMY HOME WORLD 
 
    The officer on watch was not a happy man. He had signed on with the military in hopes of becoming one of the warriors selected for the next invasion, the one the priests were calling the Great Reckoning. Yet here he was. Stuck at a desk on the day the Great Reckoning had begun. He was jealous of all the warriors that departed today, and of all the ones that would be departing over the next two weeks. He was so lost in his anger and scheming that he didn’t notice one of his watch stars go dark, then reappear. His attention snapped back as an angry red light started flashing on his desk. 
 
    “Not again,” he sighed. His attention had drifted. An automated system continuously watched him to see that he was concentrating on his work. When it saw no eye or body movement for three minutes, it sounded this alarm. His boss would be over to reset the alarm momentarily. He would receive the normal tongue lashing, insults, and threats. Then another red X would show up next to his name on the employee competition board. Only the high scorers moved on. He was usually near the bottom. This was the real reason he was stuck here. 
 
    His boss slithered over to the desk and just stared. He shook his head in disapproval, administered the required corporal punishment, then reset the alarm. “Many more last-place finishes, and I’ll be rid of you.” He slithered over to the board and attached the red X. 
 
    As the officer on watch stared at his boss and seethed, another of his watch stars blinked out. Noticing a flash in the corner of his eye. He lowered his gaze toward the screen but saw nothing amiss. Another fear ran through him. They would periodically test employee performance by blotting a star out of the feed. Anyone that failed consecutive tests was dishonorably discharged. Focusing his attention on his screen, he hoped it wasn’t a test day. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 KINETIC DRONE 
 
    They were approaching the point where the ship would be switched over to remote piloting and the crew would be evacuated. 
 
    Barika had just finished a call with Kelly. They confirmed that the shield was operating nominally, and the remote connections were clear. 
 
    The shield had been up for over an hour now. Sensor range dropped a bit without the ship’s sensors, but now they were close enough that they could see all the individual ships and a little bit of the structure of the weapon. It was huge, maybe 100 km tall and built as a series of nested tripods with a central structure coming up through the middle. 
 
    The incident with the ship had apparently damaged the weapon. She had seen a number of stuttering flashes that fizzled out. She hoped they’d get lucky and strike the asteroid before the weapon fired again. Space Force would have to deal with the ships that had already passed through, but hopefully her mission would put an end to the rest of the Enemy fleet. 
 
    The comm system sounded, pulling her from her reverie. 
 
    “Ms. Amari. Five minutes to remote piloting. Begin preparations for evacuation.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    They were now entering the most dangerous phase of the mission. Katrine was certain that they hadn’t been spotted yet. But that would change shortly. She would be moving in closer to transport the crew off the drone. They were doing it right at the edge of the Enemy’s sensor range. But in truth, that range was just a guess. They really didn’t know. 
 
    “Captain, we are ready to engage remote piloting.” 
 
    “Please engage.” 
 
    “Remote pilot engaged. Course stable.” 
 
    “Barika Amari,” the Captain called out initiating a comm connection.  
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “Initiating two-minute count down for AI removal.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    The line dropped. “Helm, take us in for pick up.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 KINETIC DRONE 
 
    “Sheila, it’s time. Please enter hibernation.” 
 
    “It was nice to work with you, Ms. Amari. I hope we get to serve together on another ship. You can remove me as soon as the light turns red. Entering hibernation.” 
 
    Before Barika could reply, the light turned red. She opened the little hatch, removed the box, then went over to the transporter pad. Her first command was ending. It was a melancholy thought, but she was proud of the work she’d done. 
 
    Everyone and everything else had been transported off. She was the last. “Ready for transport.” 
 
    She disappeared. The lights went out. And the drone continued accelerating. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    It was nearly time. In three minutes, the weapon would obtain orbit. The three other ships in the taskforce were now 1 light-second from the planet, each on a different vector. Each positioned to create a distraction if the weapon was spotted. The ship was on high alert. The entire crew were at their battle stations. Eugene was in the mission lab, checking and rechecking every system. A team of five armed marines were in the lab. Their job was to protect Eugene if the Enemy should manage to board the ship. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OSLO 
 
    The drone was in its final approach. Acceleration had been cut, its speed steady at 27,500 meters per second. Targeting was dead on. The four fast attack ships were further out, but well within the Enemy’s sensor range. Katrine was sure they had been spotted and didn’t understand why they hadn’t been challenged yet. The lack of challenge now worried her more than a challenge would have. 
 
    Are they really this confident that we pose no threat? 
 
    The thought had barely passed when the first ship turned in their direction. 
 
    She smiled. The white-knuckle ride starts now.  
 
    “Helm, adjust course.” 
 
    A second Enemy ship changed course, this one turning toward the Abuja. 
 
    A one-minute count down timer started on the main view screen. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENEMY SPACE COMMAND, ENEMY HOME WORLD 
 
    One of his watch stars disappeared. After five seconds of incredulity, the watch officer sounded the alarm. His boss came slithering over.  
 
    “What do you have?” 
 
    He pointed at his screen. “Watch star 18-117.4 disappeared about 10 seconds ago.” 
 
    “Curious, I didn’t know there was a test today. Kick it up stairs.” 
 
    The watch officer did as he was instructed. As he pushed the button, an odd thought passed through his head. What if it’s not a test? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, EAS CANADA  
 
    Eugene’s hands shook. The timer had just hit thirty seconds. He activated the range finder. All the instrumentation said they were in exactly the right place, but he needed to confirm the range before he could fire. He now realized that it had been foolish to have locked that into the firing sequence. But what was done was done. 
 
    “Five seconds to shield drop.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    “Admiral, we’ve been spotted. An orbital satellite is slewing in our direction. Anticipating a shot in 5 seconds.” 
 
    “Hold course. Wait until the shot is away before taking evasive maneuvers.” 
 
    “Captain, the Batumi just dropped her shield.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, EAS CANADA 
 
    Eugene scrambled to transfer the distance measurement to the weapon. Hands still trembling, he initiated the firing sequence. A ball of red matter appeared, then disappeared. 
 
    There was a flash of light from one of the Enemy’s orbital satellites. Then the planet disappeared, encased in an ultra-thick, high-density shield. 
 
    Eugene was trembling all over. One of the marines noticed and came over.  
 
    “I think you’re going into shock sir.” He pulled a container from his pocket, opened it and presented it to Eugene. “Take one of these, it will knock the edge off.” 
 
    Eugene accepted the pill and downed it. He felt like a fool. 
 
    “Nothing to be embarrassed about sir. Same thing has happened to all of us.” His eyes had drifted up to the monitor Eugene used. 
 
    “What happened to the planet?” 
 
    “It’s encased in a shield. Red matter is in the process of ripping the planet apart. The shield protects us.” 
 
    The shield flexed, going through its first major gyration. 
 
    “What the hell.” The marine’s eyes widened as he stared. 
 
    “There’s massive violence going on under that shield.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE TRAFFIC CONTROL, ASTEROID BASE 
 
    “Something’s wrong here.” The controller had called his supervisor over. “The stars are disappearing.” 
 
    The supervisor looked at the screen, baffled as another star disappeared. 
 
    “Call it in. Something is wrong.” 
 
    A moment later. 
 
    “We’ve lost the connection to headquarters.” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    There was a flash on the screen, then another. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    Everyone’s eyes were on the screen. The audible countdown started. “Impact in 10, 9…” 
 
    “Initiate escape run!” 
 
    Per the plan, all four ships began maximum acceleration away from the asteroid. They were still nearly 100,000 miles out, but the explosion would be huge, and they were moving fast. 
 
    … 
 
    “3, 2, 1… Impact” 
 
    The screen whited out. They’d done it. Simulation said that it would be 30 or more seconds before the explosion would expand to the point that sensors didn’t saturate. Katrine had never lived through 30 longer seconds. That they were flying blind compounded the effect. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel sent a message to his two escorts. All ships converge on the weapon. Maximum safe speed. 
 
    At this point, there was no sign of Enemy activity. They had been caught completely unaware. But the shield needed to stay in place for 24 hours, they needed to converge all available Confederation power to protect the weapon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    Sensors were finally beginning to clear. 
 
    “Status of the asteroid,” the Captain called out.  
 
    Science Officer Safa Chabat replied, “Still don’t have useful readings.” 
 
    A message came in on the Captain’s private channel. 
 
    The weapon has been deployed. The planet is encased in the shield. Send update when you have one. 
 
    Captain Bjork shot back a quick reply. Direct hit. Waiting for sensors to clear to assess damage. Preliminary read says, asteroid gone. 
 
    “Anyone have anything for me?” 
 
    Captain Willem Kettmann of the Abuja was the first to respond. 
 
    “Our sensors have mostly cleared. The asteroid is gone. There is a large debris field drifting at an angle to the drone’s momentum vector. One large piece cleaved off and is heading straight for the rift at fairly high speed. It should get there in about a day. 
 
    “A couple of ships in the vicinity of the asteroid are still intact but appear to be unpowered. Over one hundred ships closer to the rift are intact and under power. A few are heading toward you. The majority are heading toward the rift.” 
 
    “Willem, thank you.” 
 
    Katrine quickly shot off an update to Daniel. Her orders at this point were to return, but it didn’t seem like the right thing to do. There were too many ships here that could get back to the home world before the mission there was done. 
 
    Daniel came over the intercom. 
 
    “Captain Bjork. Congratulations on taking out the asteroid and the device that was opening the rift. I agree with your assessment of the tactical situation. If any of your ships take damage that could be a risk, have them return immediately. The rest should stay. 
 
    “But before you come here, have one of your ships attempt to destroy one of the unpowered ships using their energy projectors. If that works, we should systematically destroy as many ships as possible, starting with the ones that are mostly defenseless. Some are going to make it through the rift. There are too many for us to battle with the force we have here. Let’s make sure none of the damaged ships have the chance to repair.” 
 
    “Understood, I’ll get back to you with an assessment of weapon effectiveness as soon as possible.” 
 
    Astrogation officer Marick Botes spoke up as soon as the line dropped. 
 
    “Captain. I’ve identified the closest disabled ship to one of ours. Putting it on the screen.” An image of the ship popped up on one side of the screen. A zoomed-out view popped up on the other side. It projected an 11-minute course from the Jakarta. 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Botes.” 
 
    “Amund Gunderson,” the Captain called out, initiating the connection. 
 
    “Gunderson here.” 
 
    “Amund, my helm AI is about to send you a course. Proceed to the target with all possible haste. Confirm it is disabled, before approaching. Then destroy the target using your energy projectors. 
 
    “Our orders have been updated to contain the remaining ships here until it is safe to drop the shield around the Enemy home world. While here we are to thin the remaining herd of ships at minimal risk to ourselves. The priority is our preservation.” 
 
    “Understood, we will be underway momentarily.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS JAKARTA 
 
    “You heard the Captain. Ms. Joyce, do you confirm the course?” 
 
    “Yes, Captain. Engaging now. Estimated arrival 10 minutes, 37 seconds. The course takes us to a standoff point 1,000 km from the ship.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain, the ship has life support and other power. Propulsion appears to be down. No evidence of shields.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Orsi.” Paolo Orsi was the first watch tactical officer. “Do you have a firing solution?” 
 
    “Sorry sir. We are too far out. We could try an initial shot from about 100 km.” 
 
    “Take us in, Ms. Joyce.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Firing in 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    The whining sound spread through the ship as a focused blast was released from the starboard side forward energy projector. On the display, a small section of the enemy ship started to glow, then the beam penetrated. Mass and atmosphere vented out. Several of the Enemy’s tentacled forms could be seen on the screen. They writhed for a few seconds then froze. 
 
    “They are a lot different here than the ones we see at home. These appear to be vulnerable to open space,” the Lieutenant noted. 
 
    The Captain thought for a moment. “Let’s try this again. Stern first. Let’s see if we can find their main power reactor.” 
 
    “Targeting a spot near the stern.” An indicator of the target location showed on the main view screen. 
 
    “Fire.” 
 
    The energy projector sounded again. The targeted spot started to glow. It penetrated and atmosphere started discharging, then there was a spectacular explosion that ripped the ship apart. 
 
    Captain Bjork came over the comm line. “Excellent idea. Send that location to the rest of the ships. It’s time to go hunting.” 
 
    The targeting information and energy projector setting came back momentarily. Katrine sent updated orders to all her ships. They were to search and destroy all disabled or damaged ships, targeting their reactors. The last line of the communication was to ‘take no risks.’ 
 
    … 
 
    A surprising number of ships had survived the initial explosion. It took several hours to search the entire debris field. A few ships repaired themselves enough to attempt escape, but none did. A total of 248 ships were destroyed. The Oslo and her escorts formed a picket line between the remaining horde of ships near the rift and the Enemy home world. Linking the ship’s sensors with a dozen sensor drones, they got a clear enough image of the ships near the rift to count them. 324 ships remained. If the rift opened again, it was clear they would attempt the transit. Katrine called in her report, seeking updated orders. They would sit tight until new orders came. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    Admiral Scott sighed a breath of relief. The EAS Algiers was in the vicinity of the Tezzloran home world when he received the report about Enemy ships entering the space time rift this morning. Within an hour they were onsite. Shortly after, they confirmed increased agitation in the rift zone, but no sign of any ships or debris in the area. 
 
    They were joined by the EAS Ankara and hour later, then the EAS Brussels another hour after that.  
 
    The EAS Israel, the second Cruiser off the production line, arrived around 1:00 in the afternoon with her four escort ships: the EAS Nairobi, EAS Canberra, EAS Pretoria, and EAS Athens—all Fast Attack Ships.  
 
    And he’d just received word that the EAS Georgia, Cruiser #3, had arrived with her four escort ships: the EAS Juba, EAS Dakar, EAS Tunis and EAS Mogadishu. 
 
    He wanted to send the Estonia, Cruiser #4, as well. But she had been reserved for another mission that would commence soon. 
 
    Rear Admiral Martia Darche, former Captain of the EAS Jerusalem, had command of the regional force. She was to organize the search for any ships that might already have come through. 
 
    Another message popped up on the Admiral’s screen. It was from Daniel Porter. 
 
    Admiral Scott. The Enemy home world has been attacked with the Red Matter. The containment shield is holding against the tremendous destruction evident within. The asteroid ship base and the weapon used to open the rift have been destroyed. Much of the Enemy fleet has also been destroyed, but 324 ships remain queued to enter the rift when it opens. 
 
    The reaction on the Enemy home world has begun to slow, but Dr. Xu insists that the shield continue to be held in place for another 18 hours. We have encountered minimal resistance. There are no hostiles in the area. 
 
    The Oslo has established a picket line between us and the ships at the rift. Energy projectors work well here and are effective against the Enemy ships. I recommend that we continue to hold our positions, but we might be able to take down a lot more of the Enemy ships on this side of the rift if so ordered. Daniel Porter 
 
    The Admiral forwarded the message to Secretary Thompson and Michael. He recommended that they continue holding position until the planet was destroyed, then consider an attack on the remaining ships. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION EMBASSY 
 
    Something was going on. Ju-Ne could feel it in his bones. Activity at the Embassy was markedly different today. He’d heard whispers about a major Space Force action, but he didn’t know what. Ju-Ne needed to work his contacts, see what he could find out. Maybe there was something he could do to turn the tide of events that had been going against him. 
 
    He’d occupied Vitya today and was working in IT. He put the finishing touches on a computer he’d been working on, then stood and walked over to Rick’s desk. 
 
    “Hey Rick, another computer done. This one goes over to the Guest Hotel. OK, if I deliver it now? It’s 4:45, there’s still time to get it to them today.” 
 
    Rick looked up at Vitya. This seemed to be the new pattern. Come in late, do precious little, then leave early for the alleged purpose of making a delivery. 
 
    He scanned the computers ID tag. He didn’t believe Vitya’s story, but it checked out. “Go ahead. Better hustle if you’re going to get there in time.” 
 
    “Will do.” Vitya turned then stopped and looked back. He whispered conspiratorially. “Do you know what’s going on here today? Things have felt off to me.” 
 
    “A slew of ships departed on some mission today. Maybe 20. The only reason I know anything is that we were supposed to make a big delivery today, a couple hundred computers, but it was postponed because of some operation.” 
 
    “Any idea what?” 
 
    “None whatsoever.” 
 
    “Thanks.” Vitya gave one of his patented smiles. One that really didn’t work on Rick anymore. “See you tomorrow.” 
 
    Vitya took off, made for the park, and picked up his bike. He had arranged for a delivery, so he would stop and make it. But his real agenda was Gearheads Café. There were a group of civilian engineers that worked at Space Force, who met there for a drink on Monday’s after work. It was time for some eavesdropping. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GEARHEAD’S CAFÉ 
 
    Vitya arrived at Gearheads a few minutes later than he wanted to. The guys were at their normal table. Two of them already had a beer. The best gossip always hit right after the first beer arrived. 
 
    He settled in at the bar, his back to the table with the engineers. He could hear them OK, get a glimpse at them through the bar’s mirror. But his real feed would come from the passive surveillance nanobots that he deployed as he walked past. 
 
    Voice 1: “You should have seen all the stuff they transported up again today. Crate after crate.” 
 
    Voice 2: “I saw Xu and Williamson again today. I think they’re ready to launch. Hope they know what they’re doing.” 
 
    Voice 1: “I actually got to talk with him once. He’s a bit intense when doing work, but I’ve seen him out talking with people. Seems real enough.” 
 
    Voice 3: “I had to run some equipment up to dispatch today. Orders were flying. They were trying to converge a whole bunch of ships somewhere. I’ll bet they’re just stamping out another Enemy infestation.” 
 
    Voice 4 whispered, “I heard today was the big day. Taking the fight to the Enemy.” 
 
    Voice 1 harrumphed, “No way. They come from some crazy dimension or something. No one knows how to do that.” 
 
    Voice 2: “I’d bet on Xu and Williamson.” 
 
    A chair pulled out and Voice 1 said, “Well, look who the cat dragged in.” 
 
    Voice 5: “I need a brew.” 
 
    Voice 4: “What’s up?” 
 
    Voice 2: “You can’t lay something like that out there and not fess up.” 
 
    Several moments of silence, then the softest whisper. “You can’t tell anybody.” 
 
    Vitya glanced in the mirror and saw several nodding heads. 
 
    A barely discernable whisper. “They launched the Big One today. Ten ships, I think. Some success, but they stirred the hornet nest and hundreds of Enemy ships are about to come descend on us.” 
 
    Silence, then the voice of the waiter. “You guys got quiet all the sudden. The usual?” 
 
    Voice 5: “Yah. Tall.” 
 
    “You got it pal.” 
 
    Silence. 
 
    Voice 3: “Are you sure?” 
 
    Voice 5: “Was working on comm repairs on the Command Level all day. Kind-of hard to miss what was going on.” 
 
    A smile blossomed on Vitya’s face. This was why he loved this place so much. There was always some fool willing to tell you their secrets. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Sarah was worried about Michael. There was too much going on. There were seven trade agreements in progress. The Central Council had met today and approved the draft version of the 3F Defense Alliance. Space Force had made their attack on the Enemy home world. More Enemy ships were coming down through the rift. The Xotiq explorers were on their way home and Michael might need to travel there in a couple days. And the security situation for the wedding was a complete disaster.  
 
    A lot would be hitting the press over the next couple days, so she’d come over to his office to help work the issues. 
 
    Michael was in his office talking with someone on the phone. She was in his conference room working the talking points for the Earth Alliance meetings tomorrow. As usual, she had the evening news feeds playing quietly on a monitor nearby. 
 
    She glanced at the clock. 6:59 PM. The 9:00 PM Eastern time news headlines would start in a minute.  
 
    “Breaking News: Earth Alliance Invasion of the Enemy Home World has begun!” 
 
    Sarah’s mouth dropped open in shock. The reporter’s words washed past her as she stared at the flow of images. As best she could tell all the images were real, but they were more like file photos than things happening today. Even a classified image of the Enemy home world was shown, but it wasn’t current. 
 
    Most of the story was complete rubbish, but it had enough truth in it to cause her a lot of problems. Yes, the invasion had started today. Yes, enemy ships had been seen entering the rift today. But nothing else was true. Clever fabrication, but not true. Space Force ships did not travel up through the rift. There were no Space Marines landed on the Enemy home world. No nuclear weapons had been used. 
 
    The door opened and Michael came in all harried. When he saw the look on Sarah’s face, he knew she’d heard. 
 
    Sarah turned to look at Michael. “We have a mole. One that doesn’t know very much. But enough to make up a believable story that casts us in a bad light.” She paused for a moment. “I’ll bet this is going out to Defense Alliance partners. If we find the channel they used, we might find the mole.” 
 
    “Good thinking. Maybe James could help. 
 
    “James,” Michael called out activating the comm system. 
 
    “Michael. I’m tied up at the moment, so can’t pop over. Such a quaint communications system. Can I help with something?” 
 
    “Any chance we could speak privately for a moment.” 
 
    “I’ll be back in a minute.” James voice came over the line, but he was obviously talking to the people in the room with him. 
 
    James appeared in a flash. 
 
    “You’ve seen the news?” 
 
    James looked at Sarah’s monitor, then got a faraway look in his eye. “Clever ploy on Ju-Ne’s part. We really do need to do something about him. This has gone on long enough.” 
 
    “I suspect that this ‘news’ story has been sent to the Alliance worlds, possibly before it was released here. 
 
    James image seemed to waver. 
 
    “So he did. Even more clever.” 
 
    “Any chance you can trace the contacts.” 
 
    Again, James image wavered. 
 
    “Seems that Ambassador Ha-Nu on Jerusota was the first recipient. I may need to have a word with the good Ambassador. This shouldn’t take long.” 
 
    James disappeared in a flash. 
 
    “I’m sure glad he’s on our side,” Sarah thought out loud. 
 
    Michael smiled at her. “It’s less about him being on our side than it is about us being on his side.” 
 
    “Ju-Ne is not on James’ side?” 
 
    “No, Ju-Ne opposes everything James has spent 2 million years struggling to create.” 
 
    “Then I’d say Ju-Ne is in for some trouble.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR HA-NU’S OFFICE 
 
    An old man came into the office. He was white-bearded and shuffled along hunched over his cane. 
 
    “Can I help you sir?” The receptionist asked questioningly. 
 
    “Ah, yes. I need to speak with the Ambassador. It’s a matter of great urgency.” 
 
    The receptionist knew this man had no appointment but asked anyway. “Do you have an appointment?” 
 
    The man looked at her oddly, then smiled. “Yes. Of course, I do.” 
 
    The old man’s voice bubbled with so much joy, the lie suddenly sounded credible. 
 
    “I don’t recall an appointment?” She grabbed her handwritten calendar, opened it and ran her finger down the page. To her astonishment, there was an appointment for a Ni’yan Ancient. She did not remember entering this appointment, but there it was. And the name, Ni’yan. It was an honorific name that the ancient Jerusotans used prior to the Revelation. It didn’t translate all that well today, but it meant something like ‘honored uncle.’ 
 
    “I am so sorry, Ni’yan. Let me see if he is ready to receive you.” 
 
    She pushed a button and whispered quietly into the comm system. 
 
    The Ambassador came to the door. When he looked at the old man, he knew immediately who it was. Fear shot through him. He didn’t have the ability to escape the way Ju-Ne did. 
 
    The assistant accompanied James into the office, offered a drink, then retreated closing the door. 
 
    Back at her desk, she heard the old man quietly ask a question. She couldn’t hear well enough to know what was asked, but was shocked at the loud rude reply from her boss. As she shook her head in disapproval, impossible amounts of brilliant light flowed out from under the door and she was transfixed. She was awakened hours later by a maintenance worker surprised to see the Ambassador’s secretary asleep at her desk. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    James flashed back into Michael’s office. “Ha-Nu is one of Ju-Ne’s allies. He has supplied him with restoration chambers, avatars, and other items difficult to obtain on Earth. The avatar that delivered the news report to him was a fellow named Vitya Tarasovich. He works in IT with the diplomatic corps. Ha-Nu has a series of cut-outs that push ‘news’ like that out further into the Confederation. 
 
    “Their relationship goes way back. It’s probably the reason it was so poorly disguised. I’m surprised Ju-Ne was so sloppy. I should not have been able to catch them so easily.” 
 
    “What has become of Ha-Nu?” 
 
    “Nothing. He is sleeping peacefully in his office. He will have no recollection of our conversation. When he wakes, he will probably start thinking that it’s time for a new assignment, maybe in Triangulum this time.” James paused. “How do you want to handle this Vitya avatar?” 
 
    “He can withdraw too fast to catch him, right?” 
 
    “If I see him before he sees me, then I can trap him in his avatar. He will tell me where his restoration chamber is located, and we can collect it. But we’ll need to do it quickly. It would be dangerous for me to hold him under compulsion for too long.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    The message had played through twice at this point, but the Xotiq crew had not picked up any media coverage. The major evening news shows were just about to start. Captain Secada hoped there would be something. His passengers were starting to look demoralized. 
 
    “Breaking news tonight. A message from the crew of the Star Seeker was received today. Their ship was damaged during the transition and they have an incredible story to tell.” 
 
    A voice came over the intercom. “Captain, we are receiving a channel request from the planet.” 
 
    “Accept it and route it down to the mission lab.” 
 
    A moment later the image of an older Xotiq man in uniform came on the screen. Captain Lan’Tashi stood and saluted the man.  
 
    “Minister To’Kana, thank you for responding to our message.” 
 
    The Minister looked at the Captain skeptically. “I’ve seen your message and I must tell you that I have my doubts. Where are you now?” 
 
    “I’m aboard a spaceship called the EAS Budapest. We are in a high orbit around Naltanarus.” 
 
    “We have been probing the skies since the return flash was spotted but see no spaceship.” 
 
    “The spaceship is cloaked, so you can’t see it. The ship’s captain insisted that we come in cloaked and remain cloaked until we made contact.” 
 
    “Why come in cloaked?” 
 
    “The ship is large. We did not want to create a panic.” 
 
    There was momentary silence as the Minister continued staring at Captain Lan’Tashi. 
 
    The ensign on watch quietly came into the room and whispered to Captain Secada. “We have a transport lock on the Minister.” 
 
    The Captain nodded his thanks. 
 
    Minister To’Kana finally spoke. “Lan’Tashi, I’ve known you for a long time. I cannot understand how or why you would create a deception like this.” 
 
    “There is no deception. We traveled to the Birth star. Our ship suffered catastrophic failure and we were rescued by aliens that call themselves human. The humans welcomed us and have brought us home. I am speaking to you from one of their ships in high orbit. 
 
    “If you don’t believe me, come join us and see for yourself.” 
 
    “And how would I do that?” He shot back angrily. 
 
    “Just say the word and we’ll transport you up.” 
 
    “Right.” His voice dripped with cynicism. 
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi did not respond immediately. But on the screen, the Minister simply disappeared. 
 
    … 
 
    Minister To’Kana arrived on the transporter pad on Deck 1 and was immediately struck with vertigo. Deputy Chief Tan'Shima, who had been positioned there to greet him, caught him, holding tightly as the minister gathered his senses. 
 
    “Where am I? What happened?” 
 
    “You are aboard the EAS Budapest sir,” the Deputy Chief exuded. “The Captain, ah… both captains will be here momentarily to greet you.” 
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi came running down the hall. When he turned the corner and saw the minister, he came to a sudden stop, snapped to attention, and saluted. “Minister To’Kana, thank you for agreeing to visit us on the EAS Budapest.” 
 
    Captain Secada turned the corner, saw the minister, and did his best imitation of the traditional Naltanaran greeting. “Minister To’Kana. Welcome aboard the Earth Alliance Ship Budapest. I am Alonzo Secada, the ship’s captain.” 
 
    The minister seemed dazed, but after a moment gathered himself and returned the greeting. 
 
    “You are alien?” 
 
    “I am human. You would consider me an alien, as I would have thought of you not that long ago.” 
 
    “Yet you speak our language?” The minister’s skepticism was clear in his voice. 
 
    “No. Translation device. Let me show you.” The Captain popped the translation device out of his ear and held it out for the minister to see. 
 
    “This device allows you to speak with me?” 
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi was quick to translate. 
 
    “He really cannot understand me without that device in his ear?” 
 
    “Sir, the Confederation has technology we have never dreamed of before. Let me give the translation device back to Captain Secada. He would like to take you on a tour of this ship.” 
 
    To’Kana, who had lost track of the fact he was holding the Captain’s translation device, hastily gave it back. 
 
    “Ah, that’s better. Would you like to take a tour of our ship?” 
 
    “Yes. Please. Apologies for my rudeness earlier. I still struggle to believe that this is real.” 
 
    “Let’s take a quick tour. Then I can show you some of the specifications for our ship. Maybe have some food. You are welcome here for as long as you would like to stay, and free to go whenever you wish. But it would be good for us to discuss arrangements for your crew’s return. It’s not for me to tell you how that should be done, but I would view your crew as heroes that deserve a hero’s welcome home when they return.” 
 
    The Minister nodded his head as they started to walk toward the lift. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 RECKONING 
 
    [Wednesday, 06.25.2031] BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    Katrine had held first watch on duty nearly 14 hours yesterday, from 8:00 AM until 10:00 PM. Second and third watch had secondary duties for part of that time but were given rest so they could take expanded watches over night. 
 
    Around 6:00 AM, Second Officer Zafir Hanin, from Algeria, sent someone to wake the Captain. The Enemy had started moving. 
 
    Katrine strode onto the bridge. “Report!” 
 
    Lt. Commander Hanin went first. “The rift has continued to calm. No ships have been able to enter. Some started wandering away. Their first stop was at the asteroid fragment, now about halfway to the rift. We have been able to determine that it will either hit or graze the rift depending on the rift’s activity.  
 
    “Some ships have stayed with the fragment. Others are headed straight towards us. Last count, there were 22 ships heading our way. But a few more peel off from the main mass every now and again. So, the current count is probably higher.” 
 
    The Lt. Commander nodded to third watch Tactical Officer Zuraaru Hosni, from Pakistan. “The first three ships are headed straight toward us. The next group, maybe five minutes behind, appears to be attempting to flank the end of the picket on the Buenos Aires’ side. The next several sets of ships have been continuing to adjust course. They are far enough away that they could still go anywhere.” 
 
    Next was third watch Astrogation Officer, Leila Trabelsi, from Morocco. “So far, the Enemy ships have moved slowly. We have not observed them accelerating at greater than 2 G. We won’t know until we try to outrun them, but we appear to have a significant acceleration advantage. 
 
    “The lead group is still 250,000 km out, approaching at the tame speed of 700 km/s. That puts them about six minutes out.” 
 
    Next was third watch Science Officer Albrecht Kühn, from Germany. “As the Lt. Commander mentioned, the large fragment from the asteroid will hit or graze the rift in about 10 hours. The rift has been calming, but there’s no guarantee that it’ll continue to do so. It’s a chaotic oscillator in a quiet period. I’d expect it to pick up again at some point, probably some point in the next few days.” 
 
    “Basis for that assumption?” The Captain asked.  
 
    “According to the briefing documents, Professor Ancient saw the Enemy stimulate the rift on Thursday. The Canada observed them stimulating it on Saturday, we saw them doing it again yesterday. That’s three observations, each two days apart. They may well have stimulated it more often. 
 
    “But my point is that there is a likelihood that during this epoch of the rift oscillations, the base frequency is some multiple or binary fraction of two days. If its cycle is a half day, then we would see agitation starting to increase over the next several hours. If it is one day we would expect it late this afternoon, etc.” 
 
    “Understood. Implications?” 
 
    “If the fragment hits at the high or low of the cycle, it may have enough energy to provide additional stimulation, causing the next cycle to have greater amplitude.” 
 
    Katrine thought on her science officer’s words for a few minutes. 
 
    “If the Enemy thinks the rift is done, they may be trying to go home. If they think the asteroid fragment will hit at a resonance point, then they may be coming to tie us up so others can escape down the rift.” 
 
    Privately she thought, Not enough data to change our immediate plans, but an interesting perspective to keep in mind. 
 
    “Thank you, Lt. Kühn.” 
 
    Her third watch Engineering Officer Abigail Marshall, from the US, was in Engineering, not the bridge.  
 
    “Abigail Marshall,” she called out initiating a comm connection. 
 
    “Captain?” 
 
    “Status report.” 
 
    “The ship is in good shape, but we’re putting a heavy load on the grav drive. It’s taking a lot more power to move the ship. At this point, I think the maximum safe acceleration is 10 G. And I don’t think we’ll be able to hold it for a sustained period.” 
 
    “Reason?” 
 
    “What we are seeing is consistent with the momentum observations made by the Canada during the propulsion trials. This dimension has different constants of nature. I think it’s as simple as that.” 
 
    “Thank you, Lt. Marshall.” 
 
    Captain Bjork took her seat. “I’ve got the ship. Continue as you were.” 
 
    She thought that they should venture forward, engage the three lead ships on their own terms. 
 
    She quickly dashed off a log entry to Daniel Porter and to Space Force command on the situation and her intentions. 
 
    “OK. Let’s take the fight to those first three ships. The Oslo only. We know where to hit them. Tactical, how closely are they clumped together?” 
 
    “Three abreast, one-kilometer separation, center ship maybe half a kilometer ahead.” 
 
    Katrine smiled. Perfect submariners target. 
 
    “Here’s the plan. We’re going to dive down below them, accelerating at their maximum speed, 2 G. If they take the bait and attempt to rush past us, we turn and charge at full speed from below. All three of their tails will be exposed. Ours will be hidden. We hit the lead ship first, complicating the trailing ships’ maneuverability. 
 
    “Engage course change.” 
 
    “Engaging, Captain.” 
 
    The ship dived. 
 
    “Put me on ship’s comm system.” 
 
    Yeoman Saza Umeko, from Japan, nodded, indicating the Captain was on. 
 
    “All hands, this is the Captain. We are about to engage the Enemy. All hands to battle stations. Repeat, all hands to battle stations.” 
 
    When the ship was 100,000 miles below the Enemy’s plane of travel, the Enemy charged forward attempting to run the blockade. 
 
    “Turn the ship, come up directly below them. Maximum acceleration.” 
 
    The ship rotated 180 degrees, bow over stern, then went to maximum acceleration. In just a few seconds their momentum reversed, and they started accelerating toward the enemy. 
 
    “Captain, the Enemy ships are turning toward us.” 
 
    Katrine just smiled. The momentum balance was drastically in her favor as was the acceleration advantage. 
 
    “Tactical. Do you have a firing solution yet?” 
 
    “Yes, but too far out.” One of the forward screens had the relative positions of the ships displayed. Three more lines were added, the firing solutions for each of the three ships. 
 
    “Thirty seconds to the first shot.” It would be on the lead ship. 
 
    Katrine watched the lead ship maneuver.  
 
    “Their captain thinks in two dimensions. His reposition is taking way too long.” 
 
    They continued watching the ineffective machinations of the enemy ships. 
 
    “Five seconds to first shot. 3, 2, 1…” The automatic system engaged. A blazing beam of energy struck the lead ship. A second beam shot out, striking the next ship. The two ships both blew up spectacularly. 
 
    The third ship, now free of its incompetent taskforce commander spun in the same way the Oslo had. But it was too little, too late. Another blazing beam struck it, blowing it apart moments later. 
 
    As the bridge crew cheered, Katrine shot out a quick update to her taskforce captains, Daniel Porter, and Space Force command. It reported three Enemy ships down and included a note on the Enemy commander’s lack of three-dimensional reasoning. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CANADA 
 
    It had been a while since the ultra-thick, high-density shield had shown any movement. It had been up for 15 hours at this point and Daniel struggled to believe that the reaction could still be running. But Eugene was insistent that taking it down at this point would be extremely dangerous. 
 
    An unpleasant thought had come to Daniel last night, one he dismissed out of hand. But after his conversation with Eugene this morning it returned and was now gnawing away at his mind.  
 
    Something’s wrong. Eugene is hiding something. 
 
    Daniel’s orders were clear. He would not disobey them. But he would destroy the drone and run, as his orders required him to do, if an Enemy fleet emerged. 
 
    A message from the Oslo came in just as first watch was beginning. Its contents took his mind off the shield. He approved of Katrine’s actions and dashed off a quick reply. 
 
    Congratulations on a job well done. Do what you can to stop ships from returning to the home world but do so at minimum risk. Pull back in steps, rather than engage in battle against overwhelming odds. We only need to hold them back a few more hours. There has been no Enemy activity at this end. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 VITYA’S APARTMENT 
 
    Another workday at IT. Ju-Ne hated this job. Maybe he could get a transfer to a new one. Or maybe he should just transfer to another avatar, who could get a new job. Ironically, it was easier for a new person to get a job than it was for an existing Embassy employee to transfer.  
 
    But such speculation was a waste of time. The problem wasn’t the job. It was being on Earth. He hated this place, full of primitives doing primitive things. He hated it. The sooner he could bring down the Earth Alliance, the sooner he could go someplace civilized. 
 
    Nonetheless, the ride into the office was pleasant. 
 
    He looked around before locking his bike up. The only person he saw was a black guy reading from a tablet. He looked vaguely familiar, but not a person of interest. 
 
    Backpack in hand, he started the short walk toward the office, shuffling his biking glasses into the bag as he walked. Some birds chirped, drawing his attention up to a nearby tree. 
 
    Suddenly, he was hit with massive compulsion. He could not move, could not think, could not eject. An immense, deafening voice whispered in his mind.  
 
    Be still. Do not withdraw. Just be still. Friends will be here in a moment to help you. 
 
    Time and the reality of this world seemed to fade. Peace and harmony washed over him. Ju-Ne was stuck. He was being captured, but he didn’t care. The black man came and took him by the arm. They moved into an alcove and sat on a bench. Ju-Ne no longer knew who he was. Only that he did not want to leave this place. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Michael. It’s David.” 
 
    Michael reached out and grabbed his phone with urgency. 
 
    “Thanks, Pam.”  
 
    Then to the phone, “David. Do you have him?” 
 
    “Yes. We are in the park. His regeneration chamber is in a wine cave at a winery called Chateau Vérité Cachée near Dijon France. It is in a walled off area at the back of the cave. Well disguised, you wouldn’t know it was there if you didn’t know it was there.” 
 
    “This will take a while. How long can you hold him?” 
 
    “James says it will be best if we can release him within the hour. Holding someone with this degree of compulsion is as hard on James as it is on the patient.” 
 
    Michael thought the word patient was an interesting turn of phrase. 
 
    “I’ll give you an update as soon as I know something.” 
 
    Michael dropped the line, then signaled his shuttle to transport him up.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S SHUTTLE 
 
    Security Chief Dalitso had reluctantly agreed to give him a team today for a Black operation. The team had launched with his shuttle at 7:00 AM. They were told they’d be read in on the operation after they’d launched. 
 
    Michael appeared on the transporter pad near his conference room. The security team had assembled there. 
 
    The team leader looked up as Michael entered. Michael could tell that the team leader was not happy about launching for a mission without being told what, where or why. 
 
    “We have the location of Ju-Ne’s restoration chamber. We have about 50 minutes to retrieve it. It is in a walled off section of a wine cave in France, at a winery called Chateau Vérité Cachée.” 
 
    The team leader grunted. “Chateau Hidden Truth, how appropriate. Do we have its coordinates?” 
 
    “No, we need to get them and any plans we can find. Then scan to find the cave. The good news is that we can transport directly into the walled off room without anyone knowing we’ve been there.” 
 
    “What if it’s booby trapped?” The team leader asked, still grieving over the loss of his friend Abel Fletcher. 
 
    Michael smiled. “Point taken. The mission is yours. You know where the target is and how much time you have. Over to you.” 
 
    The team leader pointed to a man at the other end of the table. “Get the coordinates for the Chateau.” 
 
    To the next man. “Get the plans for the winery’s caves.” 
 
    Then to the woman by the door. “Talk to the pilots, get the specs for the shuttle’s scanners and transporter.” 
 
    He then looked up at Michael. “Do we need to take the subject alive?” 
 
    “You’re thinking of killing him?” Michael was shocked by the question. 
 
    The team leader shook his head. “If the unit is booby trapped like the one Julien Bescond was in, it will be difficult and dangerous to disarm. I’d rather just set off the booby trap and let the perp kill himself.” 
 
    Michael thought for a second. “Ju-Ne would do that to an avatar, not to himself. So yes, attempt to set it off. But do not harm him if there is no booby trap.” 
 
    “Good. I will send down some automated surveillance equipment to confirm the chamber is there. Then I’ll send down a flash-bang. It will set off any booby trap appropriate for this location. Worst case, it’s uncomfortable for the suspect. If it doesn’t blow up, we transport the chamber aboard. Doing so will cut any external power or feeds, so we might need to wake him up.” 
 
    “Approved.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHATEAU VÉRITÉ CACHÉE 
 
    Winemaker Claude Jauffret was in the caves today. He’d been trying for some time to get the owners to approve cave tasting tours. Visitors, especially the ones from America, seemed to love cave tours and were generally willing to pay ridiculously higher prices to taste wine in the cave than in the tasting room. 
 
    The owners never replied. In fact, the owners rarely came around or communicated in any way. They were good on the money side of things. If there was too little, more just appeared. If there was too much, it would vanish. There was an odd bill recently that he’d rejected, only to find out the owners paid it directly. Ten thousand Euros for bulk vodka! 
 
    Since they’d never said no, he recently started advertising the cave tasting tour. A tour company added it as an option. And his first group of twelve would be coming around today. Everything was set. 
 
    He’d bought 100 sets of six premium tasting glasses, a very fancy spit bucket, and a beautiful antique countertop. He installed the countertop near the back of the cave in a wide area that could support 50 casks and 12 guests. He’d dressed up the lighting. It was the most exciting day the winery had seen since the new owners bought it five years ago. 
 
    The tour group was due in 10 minutes. Their driver had just called. As he walked out of the cave, there was a loud, but muffled thump, powerful enough that he felt the ground move. Dust and the odd spider web drifted from the ceiling. Seemed so unfair that an earthquake had hit minutes before his first tour.  
 
    But he smiled. I’m sure I can spin this into something exciting. Maybe they’ll even buy a little more wine. 
 
    He didn’t know that the thump was not an earthquake. And it would be years before he discovered the fake wall and dusty room behind it. But when he did, it would just add to the mystique of the cave of hidden truth.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECURITY DETAINMENT AREA 
 
     Michael met the Security Chief Dalitso in a private room outside the environmentally controlled detainment area. The Lorexian environmental area had only seen a few residents since it opened. It had been vacant for three years now. That would change today. Ju-Ne’s restoration chamber would be transported in shortly, then the transport blocking shield would be restored. A bot was waiting in Ju-Ne’s cell. 
 
    “Initiate transport.” The chief said into his comm device. 
 
    The restoration chamber appeared. And moments later, the transport shield shimmered to life. 
 
    The bot approached the chamber and initiated the wake-up sequence. In all likelihood Ju-Ne had been in that chamber for years. The site and smell of what was inside would be hard for most humans, so Michael had insisted that a bot handle Ju-Ne’s initial recovery for the wake-up sickness that would follow. Every Ascendant knew of this problem. None liked to think about it. It was particularly hard on first timers, not that Ju-Ne was a first timer. 
 
    James had been sitting with Vitya in a human cell nearby. He would release his hold on Ju-Ne’s consciousness just before the link to its avatar network was cut. 
 
    The bot signaled that it was ready to cut the link. James smiled, relaxed, and dropped his hold on Ju-Ne. The Vitya avatar slumped over. It would need to be put in a restoration chamber within the next couple minutes or they would need to dispose of it. 
 
    James was tired. David, who had been sitting with him, was worried about James. He’d never seen him so tired.  
 
    James got up and pointed toward Vitya. That one’s not our problem, so I suggest that we leave it to others. I need to speak with Michael. 
 
    David followed James over to the other room and entered with him. 
 
    Michael looked up at James. “You need some rest.” 
 
    Michael felt his spirits rise just a little. James must have found his comment funny. The fact that so little of the humor leaked back seemed to reinforce Michael’s point. 
 
    “I was going to say the same thing about you.” James chuckled, a little more humor leaking out this time. “You’re right though. I desperately need rest, so let me quickly tell you the things you need to know. 
 
    “He has five other Avatars active. None of them are booby trapped. I know where they are. At this point, we can collect them at our leisure. 
 
    “I know where the nanobot killing compound is and how he planned to deploy it. I’ll share that as part of his prosecution, but we will want to dismantle the dispensing system as soon as possible. 
 
    “He has a weapons cache of sorts here at the Embassy. It will need to be handled carefully. It is boobytrapped. 
 
    “I also have names of a dozen or so conspirators. They should all be prosecuted as well. 
 
    “I was able to retrieve information about operations he has going on elsewhere. We need to communicate this to the relevant authorities. 
 
    “And lastly, something disturbing. There are other things he has set in motion on Earth that he was able to hide from me. I may be able to extract them once he is removed from the chamber. But the incident at the Beach Cottage…The one where I almost got him… That incident scared him. Scared him so much that he changed how he did some things, transferred some of his consciousness into a computer. Truly worrisome that some bit of this monster is still out there able to run amuck.” 
 
    James drooped a little. “I need to go now.” 
 
    He turned to look at David and held out a hand. “David, can you help me? Not sure I can get home on my own.” He drooped more. 
 
    David looked at Michael who nodded his head in agreement. Then the two of them flashed away. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OSLO 
 
    Things were coming to a head and Katrine knew it. The Enemy had been slowly increasing the maximum acceleration they would use. When it peaked out at about 3.5 G, she relaxed. Her taskforce had a significant acceleration advantage. Over the last 8 hours, the Enemy’s tactics improved. On the whole they were tactically naïve. But they learned quickly. 
 
    At this point she could retreat. Daniel would be finished in another hour. It would take longer than that for her to get to his location, so there was no way the Enemy could. It would take the Enemy much longer. That meant there was no longer anything she could do to help him. And similarly, there was nothing the Enemy here could do to impede him. 
 
    But Lt. Kühn’s prediction seemed to be spot on. The rift agitation had continued decreasing, then had reversed. It was now boiling and periodically opening a bit. Not enough for a ship to get through, but opening a little, nonetheless. The large asteroid fragment would hit it in about an hour, at almost exactly the time they’d taken down the energy projector that had been powering the increased rift activity the previous day. 
 
    Maybe a quarter of the enemy fleet were now harassing her ships, enough that she had been continuously falling back to minimize risk. The rest of the Enemy fleet was lined up ready to sail in, if they had the chance. 
 
    She would do her best to stay in high resolution sensor range. If nothing else, they’d be able to get a count of the ships entering the rift. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel had spent most of the day on the bridge. An hour after the nominal time for watch change, XO Duan Tai had asked to have a private word in the office. Once in the office Daniel sat, then noticed that Duan had remained standing, staring at him. 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Daniel, you’ve been pacing back and forth for hours now. It is driving everyone crazy. I think you have the crew worried that somethings going on that they don’t know about.” 
 
    Daniel heard the truth in his words immediately. 
 
    “The waiting… The inaction… It’s making me crazy. There hasn’t been a peep from the planet for 16 hours, yet here we sit.” The fact that his voice raised as he spoke upset Daniel. 
 
    Duan started laughing. “You should see the look on your face.” 
 
    “Guilty as charged it seems.” 
 
    “I get that you want to be on the bridge. I’m not sure how any of us could sleep at this point. But do something productive. Let the watches change. Let Kumar have the chair, then Ryan. Let someone else carry the weight of inactivity. Camp out in the conference room if you have to. But let the ship function.” 
 
    Daniel was embarrassed that he had to be called out for his behavior. But at the end of the day, calling him out when he was screwing up was part of Duan’s job. And he did it perfectly. 
 
    “I’ll call the watch change and hang out in the Conference Room.” 
 
    … 
 
    There was a knock on the door, then Duan came in with Eugene Xu. 
 
    Daniel had become absorbed in paperwork and totally lost track of time.  
 
    “Dr. Xu says we can drop the shield in about 15 minutes. Protocol calls for a railgun round immediately after the shield drops. Dr. Xu would like to do something different.” 
 
    Daniel’s eyes shifted to Eugene. 
 
    “I’ve been reviewing the data and calculations. I’m no longer convinced that a single railgun round is enough. I’m also worried about the possibility of cleaving the planet instead of fragmenting it.” 
 
    “Why?” 
 
    “The rift. I’ve been running energy and mass calculations. If I’m right, the slice of asteroid that’s about to fall into the rift will cause the rift to open wider. It may even push it up into higher dimensions or change the speed at which the rift drifts.” 
 
    “Drifts?” 
 
    “On our side, the rift is in a relatively empty portion of space. It’s been drifting at about 0.1% of the speed of light and has moved quite a way from where it started 100,000 years ago. 
 
    “We don’t have good data on how the rift drifts on this side, but measurements show that it has moved maybe 1,000 km closer to the planet since we were here two days ago. I’m sure the asteroid fragment will increase that rate of drift, pulling it this way.” 
 
    “Wouldn’t it push the rift the other way?” 
 
    “Might. But the gravitational field of that fragment is pulling the rift towards itself. Accelerating it this direction.” 
 
    “Your proposal?” 
 
    “Hit the planet with as many railgun rounds as we can pump into it. Hit it from multiple angles on the other side. 10 railgun rounds timed right should reduce the planet to dust. Doing it from multiple angles will cause the dust to spread more, reducing the odds that it coalesces into a planet again. Having all those momentum vectors pointed away from the rift will cause the debris field to move away from the rift faster than the rift will speed up.” 
 
    “How certain are you of this outcome?” 
 
    “Eighty percent chance of a much better outcome than the default plan or doing nothing.” 
 
    “You have simulations to support that number?” 
 
    “Nope. Just gut feel for the math.” 
 
    Daniel looked up at Duan. “What did the yard have to say about the damage to the ship last time? Would we be risking the ship if we fired two railguns at the same time?” 
 
    “Too much risk if you ask me. I’m not confident that railgun is safe to fire up here at all.” 
 
    Daniel looked back at Eugene. “Wouldn’t we be better off coming back with a couple kinetic weapons.” 
 
    “If we refroze the planet. Think we’ll be allowed to?” 
 
    “Hard to say. But the more I think about this, the less I want to fire those railguns. And I trust my chain of command to do the right thing far more than any previous one.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OSLO 
 
    Katrine sat in the bridge office watching the events unfold near the rift. It had opened wide. Not wide enough for a lot of ships to get in. But more than wide enough to swallow up the large asteroid fragment that was minutes out. 
 
    The Enemy ships that had been trying to run past the picket were mostly quiet. It seemed everyone’s eyes were on the coming collision of the fragment her taskforce had created and the rift. 
 
    The automated countdown timer counted down. “Collision in 5 seconds, 4, 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    Katrine watched as the fragment passed into the rift zone. Her eyes widened as the fragment started to break apart like a stale cookie in a child’s hand. Some disappeared, apparently falling down the rift. The rest continued on its course. A cloud of rubble disbursed along its previous vector. 
 
    The lack of a wider opening inflamed the enemy. All their ships turned in the direction of the picket at full acceleration. She started to get up to run to the bridge but saw that the Oslo had turned and was retreating at max acceleration. Then her message queue pinged with a priority message from the second officer Zafir Hunan. 
 
    All ships retreat. Max acceleration back toward the home world. 
 
    Katrine swelled with pride. Exactly the right message. I need to trust my officers more. They’re well trained professionals. 
 
    She walked out onto the bridge. Zafir stood so the Captain could take her seat, but she sat in the seat next to him.  
 
    She whispered, “Exactly the right message. Job well done. I’ll message the Canada.” 
 
    Her Second Officer nodded in acknowledgement as she got up and headed back to the office. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CANADA 
 
    Daniel had been torn about the next step. There would be consequences if he second guessed Eugene. But at the end of the day, he did not believe Eugene’s recommendation. 
 
    The 15-minute window had passed, but the shield was still up at his request.  
 
    Who would have believed? Daniel had to laugh at the situation. He was the one that wanted the shield down, now he was the one ordering that it stay in place. 
 
    A message came in from the Oslo. Rift did not open on impact with the large asteroid fragment. The fragment crumbled. Some fell in, most passed through. The enemy is headed home. We are in full retreat. Will reach you an hour before they do unless ordered to return home. 
 
    Daniel strode out onto the bridge. Eugene was still there. 
 
    “The majority of the asteroid passed through the rift. A few bits fell in. The Enemy is heading home. I suggest that we back off, then drop the shield. If the planet is dead, then we should head home.” 
 
    “Agreed. I’ll disable the shield generator momentarily.” Eugene took off heading toward the mission lab. 
 
    … 
 
    On the main view screen, the black hole of the shield disappeared. A shriveled and misshapen planet took its place. 
 
    Science Officer Chakravarti Havildar was first to speak. “Scanners indicate that the surface is 1-degree Kelvin. Dimensional resonance, minus nine hundred Db. Never seen numbers like this.” 
 
    Daniel called Eugene. “Time to go home?” 
 
    “Time to go home.” 
 
    “Helm! Run us in to pick up the drone. Comms! Order all ships back to the rendezvous point. We’re done here.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEW BEGINNINGS 
 
    [Thursday, 06.26.2031] AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael regenerated overnight. The 10-hour cycle finished at 7:30 AM. He awoke feeling young and alive again. His first job this morning was to get caught up; his queue had once again overflowed. 
 
    His message bot ranked the messages from Daniel Porter, Secretary Thompson, and President Lee to the top of the queue. The messages were mostly the same… Enemy home world destroyed. Rift catastrophe avoided. The taskforce will arrive back to Earth shortly after midnight. No ship loss other than the kinetic drone, which did its job heroically.  
 
    Michael smiled at the romanticism of a drone doing its job. If a human, android, or other sentient species had sacrificed itself to destroy the asteroid or freeze the home world, then those sentiments would be appropriate. But a non-thinking drone, a piece of machinery, not so much. Michael dismissed the sentiments. The humans, his humans, were growing. It was something he’d dedicated his career to. But they still had a loose grip on the concept of life. 
 
    He smiled ruefully. That will change. 
 
    Continuing down through his queue, Michael saw that Ju-Ne made multiple attempts to escape last night. For a change, Ju-Ne was the one that didn’t seem to understand what he was up against. This would be a challenge for the Central Council. The humans wanted to execute him. Multiple other new member worlds had already petitioned for the same. This would be the first time the Central Council would need to deal with a situation where the member worlds had the power and they did not. Going forward, they would need to clean up their act, because every instance of governmental misconduct would eventually be challenged. 
 
    Michael couldn’t help but think. The Lorexians have never been as generous as the history writers have given them credit for. James was behind every good thing that actually happened. Nonetheless, the Lorexian leaders hold it as a matter of faith that they’d done it on their own. When he comes out on the side of the members, the Central Council will be flummoxed. It will be an interesting spectacle. 
 
    Next was an update on the Xotiq crew’s return home. They had made contact and expected to be able to transport down today. Their presence had been a joy. Michael looked forward to building a relationship with them. But it would have been easier if they’d come at a different time. 
 
    Michael continued plowing through his queue.  
 
    As compared to recent days, today’s agenda was easy. The humans would call it a piece of cake. It was one of the idioms that he truly related to. Everything related to the 3F Defensive Alliance was done. He still needed to make a presentation to the Earth Alliance’s Advisory Council and House of Ambassadors. But news of the Enemy’s defeat, or at least of its long-term threat, would win the day. 
 
    But a new thought came to the top of his mind. Human tradition requires a honeymoon. A pleasant thought, one I would deeply like to engage. But where? How? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    Minister To’Kana had spent several hours aboard the Budapest last night. He’d toured the ship and was impressed with its size. He’d been given an overview of the ship’s specifications and was completely blown away by its power and range. He’d sampled some food while talking privately with the crew. Then took a few minutes with each personally. His last stop before returning was a private conversation with Captain Secada. His questions were simple. How long could his crew stay aboard the ship? How long did the Captain plan to stay in orbit? Would It be possible for others to tour the ship? And would the Captain be willing to come down to the planet to participate in the event he was planning? 
 
    His answers were simple. He’d love to visit the planet. A limited number of people would be welcome to tour the ship. The ship’s departure date was negotiable. He’d need approval to stay more than a couple days, and they would go once the crew departed and any other ancillary requests made by the Xotiq were serviced. 
 
    It was late when the minister left and the Xotiq crew were exhausted. So, Alonzo agreed to wait until morning to debrief with Captain Lan’Tashi. 
 
    … 
 
    “Good morning, Lan’Tashi.” 
 
    “Alonzo, good morning to you. We didn’t actually do that much yesterday, but it left me exhausted. Too much stress, I think.” 
 
    “Understood. Better to do things when you’re fresh. How do you think it went last night?” 
 
    “Mixed. As he said, To’Kana and I go back a long way. It was disappointing that he accused me of trying to scam them. But it gives an idea of the barrier we need to overcome. 
 
    “At the time he left, To’Kana seemed to believe. But I doubt his conviction in the truth of our story is as strong this morning as it was last night. The engrained beliefs are going to be difficult to overcome. 
 
    “That’s the reason he asked if more people could come aboard. He did ask that right?” 
 
    “He did, and I told him a limited number of people would be welcome to tour the ship.” 
 
    “Then that’s probably what he’s doing this morning, finding people of appropriate rank willing to come aboard. Did he ask if he could bring news people aboard?” 
 
    “No.” 
 
    “If he brought them up would you let them record and interview you?” 
 
    “I would need approval from my chain of command.” 
 
    There was momentary silence. 
 
    “I talked with the crew briefly this morning. Most of us are not attached, I mean we are not married or in a long-term relationship. Most of us have lost our parents or are estranged. It makes sense when you think about it. Our mission was a volunteer mission. We were told that there was a 10%, maybe 20%, chance we wouldn’t get back, so most of the candidates with strong attachments dropped out.” 
 
    Another pause. 
 
    “Most of us would prefer to return to Earth if we’re going to be treated like criminals here. Would you be allowed to take us back with you, if we cannot find a reasonable solution?” 
 
    It had never occurred to Alonzo that such a question would ever arise. He was momentarily speechless. 
 
    “I would need to run that question up my chain of command. Most countries on Earth have strong asylum laws that allow non-citizens to enter if they are fleeing persecution. But I have no idea what the policy would be regarding off-world asylum seekers.” 
 
    “Understood. But, if nothing else, maybe that helps you understand our concern.” 
 
    … 
 
    Back in the bridge office, Alonzo shot off a quick report that included a request for policy clarification regarding ship tours, news teams coming aboard the ship, and requests for asylum.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S QUARTERS 
 
    David went over to James’ office at the usual time, but it was locked. While he was standing there wondering what to do, a tiny voice sounded in his mind. 
 
    “David, please come up to my quarters. It’s OK if you just flash in.” 
 
    David’s anxiety spiked at the weakness of James’ voice. In a panic, he flashed into the entryway of James’ apartment. 
 
    “James?” David called out. 
 
    “In here.” In his panic, David ran down the hall, making way too much noise. The door to James’ bedroom was open, so David stepped up to it to look in. 
 
    Under any other circumstance, David would have been amused by what he saw. James was in bed, covers up to his chin and a night cap on his head. It looked like a scene from “A Christmas Carol.” 
 
    “James, are you alright?” 
 
    “Tired. Deathly tired. Holding Ju-Ne for an hour yesterday was one of the most difficult things I’ve ever done. He put up a good fight.” The slightest smile crossed James’ face, but no emotion leaked out of him. 
 
    “Can I help?” 
 
    “I’m having trouble gathering energy.” 
 
    David thought for a second. He wants me to give him some energy. But how? He wouldn’t have asked if I couldn’t figure it out. 
 
    Instinctively, David reached for James’ hand. He clasped it with both of his, then let his body relax, let the anxiety, the nervous energy, simply flow out of him. 
 
    He felt James’ grasp tighten a little and opened his eyes. 
 
    James was smiling at him. “Good try.” 
 
    “How do I do it?” David’s voice showed both concern and curiosity. 
 
    “I don’t know. As an empath, I can loan people energy the same way I project thoughts or emotions.” 
 
    “I think you may have latent empathic ability, but don’t know how to help you access it.” He paused to look at David, the way a doctor does when trying to make a medical assessment. “Try responding to this. Simply, push back what you feel.” 
 
    David felt warmth and confidence well up within him. He tried to respond, but really didn’t know how. 
 
    “I think you are a latent empath, I could feel your return, or at least your attempt to return.” 
 
    David grasped James’ hand a little more firmly, then flashed into light, letting the light flow up James’ arm. Sensing that maybe it was working, David let the joy of success flow out of him, then after a moment coalesced. 
 
    “Would never have thought to try that technique, but it worked. Any interest in getting some breakfast? I’m hungry.” 
 
    James popped out of bed fully decked out in flannel pajamas. “Want to go to that place you and Valerie go to?” 
 
    “Sure. Are you going to get dressed?” 
 
    “Will do it in transit.” James winked than flashed away. 
 
    A moment later, David followed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was prepping for this afternoon’s meeting with the Advisory Council when an urgent request came in from Admiral Scott. He scanned the contents, then initiated a call. 
 
    “Sam Scott.” 
 
    “Sam. Got your message. I certainly didn’t expect a request for asylum.” 
 
    “I spoke briefly with Captain Secada. The crew hasn’t given up. But they’re worried about what lies ahead. He doubts they will ask for asylum but, having been asked about it, wanted clarification of policy. I think what he really wants is latitude to bring people aboard, even news crews, to help sell the reality of what actually happened to the crew. I think his orders already give him a lot of latitude, which I would like to affirm. Would that be an issue with the Confederation?” 
 
    Michael paused to think for a moment. Confederation High Command would not allow this except in the most extraordinary circumstances. But the whole point of Space Force was that it wouldn’t be subject to Fleet command. 
 
    “I agree. We should affirm his authority to use the assets at his disposal to complete his mission to the best of his ability.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir. I’ll follow up with the Captain immediately.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUDAPEST 
 
    Captain Lan’Tashi had called it right. Shortly after their meeting this morning, Minister To’Kana had called. He’d assembled a team of nine people, himself and eight others, to tour the ship this morning. 
 
    As they walked over to the transporter pad, Captain Lan’Tashi pulled Alonzo aside for a moment. 
 
    “A quick point of protocol. Titles are only used the first time you meet someone. So, you should refer to To’Kana simply as To’Kana, not Minister To’Kana. Each of the people you meet today will be introduced with titles. When you greet them, it is important to use their title, but only the first time. If their title changes, they will re-introduce themselves.” 
 
    Alonzo looked at Lan’Tashi. “Thanks for the tip. Wish I’d known that earlier.” 
 
    “Captain, the party will be coming up in three groups of three. The first party will arrive momentarily.” 
 
    Alonzo and Lan’Tashi picked up their pace, arriving just as three people appeared on the platform. The Captain heard one of the newcomers say, “Thank you for the warning about vertigo. Strange experience.”  
 
    Lan’Tashi bowed in greeting. Alonzo mimicked his motions. 
 
    “Greetings to you, Alonzo Secada, Lan’Tashi. Allow me to introduce two of our world’s leaders. From the D’Nardan subcontinent, President Lo’Tona. Please meet the Captain Alonzo Secada of the starship Budapest.” 
 
    Lo’Tona bowed in greeting. “Captain Alonzo Secada, it is a pleasure to meet you.” 
 
    The Captain repeated the gesture, saying, “President Lo’Tona, welcome aboard the EAS Budapest.” 
 
    The process repeated for President Do’Loma of K’Lekua, then for the two news teams, one from D’Narda, the other from K’Lekua. 
 
    Alonzo was already losing the names when a quiet voice sounded in his ear. “Captain, it’s Paige. Forgive me for hacking into your translator. I have the names and titles. Just look at someone and blink if you need their name.” 
 
    With that, the day of touring and interviews began. During a break, Alonzo had more translators made so his other officers could take some of the load. He also gave translators to a couple plainclothes marines that he assigned to accompany the groups when they split up. It was grueling, but he was convinced that everyone would leave the ship believing that what they saw was real, not a scam. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE ADVISORY COUNCIL ASSEMBLY CHAMBER 
 
    President Lee gaveled the session to order. 
 
    “Good morning. We have numerous issues to address today. To fit it all in, I’ve asked Michael to give us a short update before we open the session for questions and discussion. Everything presented today is either in the public domain or will be so shortly, so no security reminder today. Nonetheless, we will touch on some sensitive topics and ask your indulgence not to discuss them in public before the official statements come out. 
 
    “Michael?” 
 
    Michael nodded his thanks to President Lee as he took the podium. “I’d like to give an update on four topics: the Enemy, the Alliance, Naltanarus, and a series of recent events that had a single underlying cause.” 
 
    … 
 
    When the floor was opened for questions, Erika Schmitt was the first to call one out. “Do I understand correctly that we destroyed the Enemy home world, the shipyard and the device they’d built to open the rift? But several of their ships entered the rift before we could stop them. And we left quite a few of their ships intact that no longer have a base of operations?” 
 
    “I think that’s a fair statement.” 
 
    “Won’t those ships eventually come through?” 
 
    “Unknown. Their ships have limited food supplies and the next natural opening isn’t for another fifteen years. We believe they suffer losses in the rift when it is wide open, so would expect even higher losses now when it is not fully open. But we have no way of knowing. I think the tactical decision is whether we want to attempt to destroy all of their ships on their home turf, where the capabilities of our ships are significantly degraded. Or whether we want to fight some fraction of them at our end of the rift where our capabilities are much higher.  
 
    “Space Force’s position is that we are better off waiting until they come through the rift. In all likelihood few will get through, and most will have been compromised in some way. They will come out at a known place, therefore will be easier to target. And our ships will be at full functionality.” 
 
    Piotr Kozinski of Poland was next. “I want to make sure I understand. This Ju-Ne fellow from Confederation Military Investigations is the one that took down the Helsinki. He’s also the one that spread false reports about our invasion of the Enemy Home world. 
 
    “He created the virus that killed over 100 androids, then leaked the images to the news media to make millions from short sales in the stock market.  
 
    “He set the fire that killed a couple hundred people in Paris. And we recently found out that he was conspiring mass murder at the Embassy.” 
 
    “Yes, and more.” 
 
    “Is the Confederation going to attempt to extradite him? And if so, can we stop them.” 
 
    “I’m sure they will file paperwork for extradition.” 
 
    Several members shouted out in protest. 
 
    Michael raised his hands to quiet them. 
 
    “I agree with your sentiment. I also point out that he is currently in Earth Alliance custody and the Confederation is unlikely to mount a mission to come collect him. At least not very quickly. If nothing else, that gives you time to act independently on the matter.” 
 
    Ambassador Paul Lewis was next. “You said most of the trade deals involved assignment of claims for goods. Can you give us an update on our reserves and on the member or members who are not looking for claims?” 
 
    “Yes. Let me take the second question first. Most of our allies are desperately short of Transluminide. With the Fleet withdrawal, their economies are on the brink of collapse. There is one exception to that, Edukatar. It’s an ice world with a relatively low population of long-lived, self-reliant people that have huge reserves of their own. I have great respect for the Ambassador there. He’s done an excellent job of integrating Edukatar into the Confederation in a way that was good for his people.” 
 
    “And our reserves…?” Ambassador Lewis prompted. 
 
    “Yes. Off the top of my head, I do not know our reserve numbers. They are huge, at least 10 times what these deals contemplate. But more importantly for the short term, Earth is the only planet scouting for Transluminide in an under-scouted sector of the galaxy. The EAS Amsterdam now has one of the best scouting teams in the Confederation. Their recently completed mission, the one we launched just two weeks ago, brought in claims totaling over 50,000 kg. The claim assignments associated with the deal are only 20,000 kg.” 
 
    Michael paused for effect. 
 
    “I want you to think about that. The goods we get for those 20,000 kg will be worth over 45 trillion US dollars, at functionally no cost to Earth.” 
 
    “Thank you,” Ambassador Lewis started. “That answers my question. When can we start leaking that number?” 
 
    “Better to say that it will be multiples of the previous deal with Karagon. Our partners know and expect to hear that. If we make too big a deal about a particular number, they might try to get a better deal.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    Ambassador Sato Daichi of Japan was next. 
 
    “What is the significance of this incident with Naltanarus?” 
 
    “Any non-aligned world that develops interstellar travel and enters a Confederation system is introduced to the Confederation. The fact that they can get to one of our systems necessitates it.” 
 
    “Why?” 
 
    “In most cases, worlds that have interstellar travel become pirate worlds when they find wealthier neighbors. Confederation worlds are generally much wealthier than non-aligned worlds. So, non-aligned worlds are given the opportunity to join. If they elect not to, we beef up security in the region. 
 
    “I think they will elect to join. Many of Celanar’s neighbors have not joined and travel routes near Celanar are routinely raided. We have never found a world that independently developed travel and weapons of the quality that Space Force has now. No independent world will pose a threat to Space Force. But it is better for all of us to be allied, not in conflict.” 
 
    “Understood. Thank you.” 
 
    … 
 
    Questioning continued a while longer. As it slowed, Michael went on to his last topic. 
 
    “The full text of the final draft will be made available to you in the language of your choice. I have an English version available now. The draft has been approved by the Confederation’s Central Council. You have 15 days to approve it. Assuming all nine initial members approve, there will be a signing ceremony here at the Embassy the day before the wedding. 
 
    “I urge you to approve the agreement. You will not get a better one. In addition to all the benefits of membership, Earth will become the capital of the Alliance. If Canada allows us to expand here, then this will eventually become the capital city of over 100 worlds. Tremendous wealth and power will flow here, lifting the status and standard of living of every human on Earth. I urge you to move forward in all haste. Thank you.” 
 
    Michael stepped down, giving the floor back to President Lee and exited when they took up other business. 
 
      
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ALLIANCE 
 
    Three weeks later… 
 
   
  
 

 [Thursday, 7.17.2031] EAS CANADA 
 
    The clock struck midnight, marking the end of one day and the beginning of the next. Daniel held first watch over for a few minutes so he could be on the bridge for the midnight departure. It was the first time they’d broke orbit since returning from the Enemy home world. 
 
    His decision to leave Enemy space when they did was an extremely fortunate one. The ship had sustained a lot of erosion damage as it travelled through Enemy Space. After they transited back, Daniel attempted to raise shields only to find that most of his shield emitters had eroded away. It had taken three weeks at the shipyard to recondition the hull, and to get the ship back to operational status. 
 
     Hopefully, none of that would really matter today. Today’s mission was a purely diplomatic mission. They would be picking up delegates from Jerusota, Edukatar, and Nutarogen. None of these representatives would be as human-like as the Angolorans, but they were all humanoid and all had compatible atmospheric requirements. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS TORONTO 
 
    It was 2:00 AM, second watch. First Officer Ina Talgateva was in the captain’s chair. 
 
    “Mathias, please take us out.” Mathias was the ships Helm AI. 
 
    “Yes, Ma’am. Engaging course to Karagon. Expected arrival in their control space in 2 hours, 12 minutes. 
 
    This was the ship’s third trip to Karagon. They would be picking up goods. But that wasn’t the reason for the trip. Their true purpose was to pick up the Karagonian delegation for the Alliance signing ceremony tomorrow and for the wedding on Saturday. The delegation would consist of Ambassador Fa-Ta and his daughter. She’d met the Ambassador on the ship’s first visit, when they came to pick up the power source for the red matter weapon. He’d insisted on inspecting the ship. Ina had not met the daughter. She’d also met Trade Minister So-son Po-lar on that trip. It was the first she’d met a Tokaran. At the time, the Administrator’s alien-ness had been a shock to her. In retrospect, she was glad for the experience, because they would also be picking up the Tokaran President and First Lady. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Captain Flannigan, we have just entered orbit above Celanar. They have directed us to a geosynchronous orbit above their capital.” 
 
    “Thank you, Marie.” 
 
    “We have just been contacted by the Lanocian security agency. They are prepared to transport up if we are ready to receive them.” 
 
    “How many are there?” 
 
    “Scanners show 12 individuals and a lot of equipment. They’ll have to come up in the cargo area if they want us to take them all at the same time.” 
 
    “Please contact them to clarify.” 
 
    Second Officer Evelien Staal entered the bridge and walked over next to the captain. “You need to transport down soon, don’t you?” 
 
    “I think I still have 45 minutes, but I’d like to meet their security team before I go down.” 
 
    Evelien looked at Chris. “Aren’t you going to wear your dress uniform?” 
 
    He looked down at himself. “Shoot. I forgot. You’ve got the bridge.” 
 
    Evelien chuckled as the Captain hustled off the bridge. It was going to be a busy day. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA  
 
    Captain Gustav Hunstad had been commissioned as Captain of the EAS Ottawa when Daniel got the Canada. His former ship, the EAS Helsinki had been destroyed in Andromeda. 
 
    The Ottawa had been given one of the more difficult jobs today, transporting the Pelogen delegation from the planet Peralon to the embassy for the signing and wedding. Peralon was a water world, 90 percent of its surface area was water. Its dominant species, the Pelogen, were semi-amphibious. They could spend extended periods in or out of the water, but generally needed some time in both every day. 
 
    When Gustav got his briefing packet, he thought it was a joke. The pictures looked like they’d taken the creature from the black lagoon and dressed it in a tuxedo. Humanoid, but with greenish skin, scales, fins, webbed hands and feet. Meeting with them would be interesting. 
 
    But the transportation challenge was all the equipment they would require. Each of the four members of their party had their own tank, their own wardrobe of wet and dry clothes, their own food and bottled water. All of which came with special handling instructions. 
 
    A technical team would be transporting up shortly to coordinate the loading and storage of the equipment. Two members of their team would be going to Earth along with their principals. 
 
    … 
 
    Shortly after Captain Hunstad arrived in the cargo bay, the technical team transported up. Despite the hour he’d spent watching video clips of Pelogens doing various things, six of them appearing right in front of him was shocking. 
 
    The leader of the party had apparently studied his briefing packet better than Gustav had. He walked right up to the Captain and extended his fist to bump. 
 
    “Captain Hunstad, welcome to Peralon. My name is Ikmill Enka. I’m the leader of our technical team. You can call me Enka.” 
 
    Embarrassingly, the captain was momentarily frozen in place. Enka spoke perfect American-accented English. He moved with grace and incredible fluidity of motion and had the familiar demeanor of a close friend. 
 
    Enka withdrew his fisted hand lowered it and opened his fist revealing a webbed hand. “I have studied your greeting traditions and tried to figure out how to shake hands, but these hands really were not made for that gesture. We generally bump our hands together like this.” He demonstrated the gesture, then put his fist back out. “Care to try?” 
 
    Gustav heard his helm AI, Joyce, laughing in his earpiece. The sound snapped him out of his trance. “Enka, truly a pleasure to meet you.” He put his fist out and bumped fists. “You’re the first Pelogen I’ve met and, despite the briefing packet and watching several holographs from the Peralon News Network, you have taken me quite by surprise.” 
 
    “There was a video clip taken from a film called the Creature from the Black Lagoon in my briefing packet. I got quite a laugh out of it. We could use a couple guys like that to help with the lifting and toting. We’re not that strong. It’s probably because we are herbivores. Come, I need to inspect the site where our equipment will be stored. Please lead the way.” 
 
    Gustav motioned in the direction they would be going. “We outfitted the space according to the specifications you sent. Embarrassingly, the only place we had that was large enough and could support the weight was the cargo bay. Some of my people outfitted it to look more like a living space, but a cargo bay is a cargo bay. I hope this is sufficient.” 
 
    The cargo bay door opened, and the Captain motioned for Enka to enter. Enka stepped in and stopped to study the place, head swiveling, eyes moving. Then he turned crisply to look at Gustav. 
 
    “Captain. This is quite nice. The Fleet never gave us anything this nice when we needed to travel. Their spaces were usually corrugated metal with the odd bolt hole.” 
 
    He walked in to look at the anchor points that had been placed. After pacing around a bit, he turned to look at Gustav again. “Very well done. The connection points are perfect and exactly located. I think I’m going to enjoy working with Space Force going forward.” 
 
    The Captain noticed the other members of the technical team pacing around examining things. To him, their movements seemed random. 
 
    “May I ask what the next step will be?” 
 
    Enka turned again to look at Gustav. “Once we have completed our measurements, we can start transporting our equipment up.” 
 
    Enka look back into the room and started moving around in the same way the others were. Gustav felt anger starting to rise as the technical team continued with the odd robotic movements and motions. 
 
    They suddenly stopped, standing very still, held the position for a moment, then seemed to relax. Enka walked back over, all smiles. 
 
    “This space is perfect. Thank you, Captain.” 
 
    “Are you ready to start taking measurements now?” 
 
    Enka looked at the Captain oddly. “We just finished taking the measurements.” The odd stare hung there for a few seconds, then he relaxed and smiled as if he’d just have an epiphany. A chuckle escaped his lips. 
 
    “You must have had a light briefing package. We have a sense similar to what you call…” There was a pause as he searched for the word, “…echolocation. With six of us in a room like this, we can measure distances to within a tenth of a millimeter and communicate the results to a recorder.” He pointed to a metallic dot attached to his collar. Gustav had assumed it was a rank insignia of some sort, not a recorder. 
 
    Once again, the Captain found himself stunned by what he was experiencing. “What a handy skill.” 
 
    Enka smiled at the humor. “Would it be acceptable if we transported our equipment directly into the cargo bay? We have transporters that are very precise and can exactly place the equipment.” 
 
    Captain Hunstad was about to say no, but noticed Enka tapping the device on his collar. 
 
    “Extremely precise.” 
 
    The Captain smiled. “Show me. Send one piece up.” 
 
    “Come. Let me show you.” Enka waived the Captain over to one of the bolt holes. “This tank will sit on one of these.” He pulled a square metal plate from one of his utility pockets. There was a rim on two adjacent sides and a threaded hollow tube mounted near the opposing corner. He placed the threaded tube atop the bolt hole and screwed the plate into the floor. The Captain noticed three of the other men doing the same nearby. Each stood, visually checking the alignment of the rims. 
 
    “The tank will land right on top of the rims, then lock itself into place. Ready.” 
 
    The Captain nodded but wasn’t completely convinced it was a good idea. The air in front of him shimmered, then a massive tank of water appeared.  
 
    “It is exactly in the right place,” he stammered incredulously. 
 
    “Of course, it is.” Enka pulled a small device from another pocket and pushed a button on it. There was a loud snap. “And now it is locked in place. The tank and mounting can withstand acceleration up to 20G, shocks up to 50G. I suspect the ship will break before the tanks will. We have three more of these to bring up. Then we will mount the curtains and attach the aeration systems. The members of our delegation generally prefer to sleep in their tanks. This trip is going to be short enough that I doubt any of our delegates will want to use them during the journey. But we will go through a similar process to install them ground side, where they will use them.” 
 
    Gustav was completely blown away by what he’d just seen. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS PRAGUE 
 
    “Captain, Ambassador Ko-So will be ready to transport shortly.” Captain Sofie Gozensen acknowledged the message, then walked toward the command deck transporter. This has been the strangest day of my life and it’s about to get a lot stranger. 
 
    … 
 
    She and the Prague had been sent to pick up the delegation from Atomorali. Their people called themselves Atomoi. In the Confederation database, the Atomoi were designated as Alien. At least that was the English label. Its meaning was more like ‘none of the above.’ Humans, Angolorans, Edujin, Nutarans, … They were all in a category that translated as ‘humanoid.’ The Atomoi were something completely different. The description in the database referred to them as being able to assume a wide variety of shapes at will. 
 
    She knew this when the technical team came aboard this morning but was surprised that the team that came up initially appeared humanoid. They were in tight fitting, opaque space suits that completely covered their entire body. Only the team leader spoke. He did so, using an artificial sounding translation device mounted on his space suit. He was pleasant, easy to talk with, and within minutes got to work. But about 10 minutes into the job, asked the humans to leave. Their atmosphere was toxic to humans. 
 
     Sofie had returned to the bridge office, but periodically checked their progress using the observation camera in their cargo hold. What she saw shocked her. 
 
    … 
 
    Sofie arrived seconds before her first officer, Jesper Olufsen from Denmark. She nodded to him. “This should be interesting.” 
 
    Ingrid’s voice came over the comm system. “Captain, transporting now.”  
 
    “Thank you, Ingrid.” 
 
    The air above the transport pad shimmered and Ambassador Ko-So appeared. He looked passably human. 
 
    “Captain Gozensen,” he said, stepping off the transporter pad. “My name is Ko-So. I’m Ambassador to the Atomoi. Thank you for being our host for this journey.” 
 
    He extended his hand to shake. 
 
    Sofie shook his hand. “Ambassador Ko-So, welcome aboard the EAS Prague. Please meet my First Officer Commander Jesper Olufsen.” 
 
    Sofie released the Ambassador’s hand as he turned toward Jesper. But when she did, his arm bent slouching toward the floor as if made of soft rubber. 
 
    Noticing that he’d lost control of his arm, the Ambassador shuddered, then his arm straightened. His smile returned. “Commander Olufsen, a pleasure to meet you. Apologies for the arm, I’ve been practicing that shape for a week, but sometimes cannot hold it.” 
 
    “The pleasure is mine, sir. Do I understand correctly that you’re an Ascendant?” 
 
    “Yes, I’m relatively new to the planet, still struggling to control my avatar. The Atomoi are different than most Confederation members. It’s made their integration difficult. I think this will be the first time the President has left the planet, which is the reason I wanted to come up early. 
 
    “This visit to Earth is possibly the most important thing that has happened to Atomorali since their Revelation, several thousand years ago. They are a wonderful people with much to offer. But their uniqueness has been a hindrance.” The Ambassador paused. He realized that everything he’d just said was well documented in the Confederation database and was diverting him from the real reason he came aboard early. 
 
    He smiled. “Sorry, I’m sure you know all that. I’ve been working with the President and his wife, to teach them how to take and hold a humanoid form. As you saw earlier, it is surprisingly difficult to do. 
 
    “They are still trying, and they may yet be able to make a humanoid appearance. But at this point they plan to spend most of their time on this trip in a more natural form, which they would prefer to do in private today. Would it be possible for them to transport directly from the surface into their quarters aboard the ship? My daughter would like to do the same. But I would enjoy some time among your crew if that is permissible.” 
 
    “Ambassador Ko-So, they are welcome to transport directly to their quarters, and you are welcome to tour the ship. I can spend some time showing you around. But you can roam more freely if you’d like. Several of the crew have volunteered as escort today.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FOREIGN MINISTRY, D’NARDAN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT 
 
    Captain Secada had received a call early this morning from the D’Nardan Central Government’s Foreign Ministry. They wanted to meet privately with him at 11:00 AM. They requested the captain and crew of the Star Seeker to join a half hour later. It took some discussion to arrange an appropriate transport location. Pamala had just placed him there. 
 
    He opened his eyes to see that he was in the rotunda of a grandiose building. An area had been roped off for him. Guards stood watch around the perimeter, outside the rope. Their backs were to the roped off area. Their eyes were on the crowd that had gathered. Apparently, word of the alien’s pending arrival had leaked. 
 
    When he appeared, the noise of anticipation quieted with the sudden inhalation of breath. Then the rotunda exploded with chatter and shouted questions. Bright lights came up, accompanied by cameras flashing. The guards let a tall slender female approach. She bowed in the traditional greeting. “Captain Secada, welcome to D’Narda. I am Assistant Administrator Fen’Tina. Please excuse the crowd. Word leaked out that we would be hosting an off-worlder today, and as you can see, a lot of people showed up to get a glimpse of you.” 
 
    The guards formed a tighter circle around Fen’Tina and Alonzo. Then the eight of them made their way through the crowd, which for the most part made way for them. They reached another roped off area in front of a long hallway. The guards there let them through. Once past the rope, two of the guards followed behind Fen’Tina and the captain, the others reinforced the ones at the rope facing the crowd. 
 
    “Again, apologies for the crowd. We don’t see that very often here.” 
 
    “The Confederation Embassy on Earth rarely has crowds. However, the individual countries… They have crowds like this all the time. But I must admit, I never expected to be the center of attention.” 
 
    She smiled at him. “But you are the first alien any of us has ever met. Our science fiction authors never envisioned one like you. For the most part, their aliens are not something anyone would want to meet.” 
 
    Alonzo chuckled. “Same on Earth. Although the number of new books with characters like that have dropped a lot since the Revelation.” 
 
    They entered an elevator to go to a high floor. 
 
    “This is surprisingly similar to the elevators we have on Earth.” 
 
    “Our peoples are similar. Similar needs lead to similar solutions, I would expect.” 
 
    “True.” 
 
    The door opened. “You will be meeting with Foreign Minister Pa’Dotan. His office is at the end of the hall. I will be joining you, as will several other members of his staff.” 
 
    “Do you know what he seeks from this meeting?” 
 
    “Pa’Dotan does not believe in aliens. I suspect that he wants to assess whether or not you are real.” 
 
    “I hope no probing will be involved.” The words slipped out before he could stop them. 
 
    She looked at him oddly. “I thought the aliens did the probing.” 
 
    They both broke out laughing, but Alonzo was unhappy that the stray thought escaped through his mouth. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, MINISTER PA’DOTAN’S OFFICE 
 
    Alonzo entered the Minister’s crowded Conference Room. Eighteen people were seated at the table. A dozen or more were seated in chairs around the edge of the room. Two seats were open at the table: one for him, one for Assistant Administrator Fen’Tina. Alonzo realized that all eyes in the room were on him and did his best to walk in confidently. Fen’Tina guided him toward a chair in the center of the long side of the table. The person opposite stood as he approached. 
 
    “Captain Alonzo Secada, I am Foreign Minister Pa’Dotan. Welcome to Naltanarus.” He bowed in the Naltanaran way. 
 
    Alonzo returned the greeting. “Foreign Minister Pa’Dotan, thank you for welcoming me to Naltanarus and the D’Nardan subcontinent.” 
 
    Everyone sat, Fen’Tina sat in the seat to his right. 
 
    Alonzo smiled internally as the diplomatic dance of small gestures started. “Thank you for returning our people.” 
 
    “Thank you for welcoming our ship…” 
 
    The familiar patterned continued, several rounds of mutual compliments and well wishes, then the first real question. It didn’t start as a question, but it was a question none the less. 
 
    “I’m impressed by your command of our language. How did that come to be? Do you speak the same language?’ 
 
    Alonzo smiled. The diplomatic game had begun. “No. I only know my native language. We have portable translation machines that we wear that bridge the gap. I am happy to show you mine, but I will need it back for us to continue our conversation.” 
 
    Pa’Dotan nodded. Alonzo popped the device out of his ear, placed it on his palm and showed it to Pa’Dotan. Alonzo’s eyes were on his translation device, when he noticed odd linguistic sounds around him. He looked up and saw Pa’Dotan speaking. 
 
    “A moment please.” Alonzo put the device back in his ear, pressed the string attachment to his jaw line, then said, “You were saying?” 
 
    Pa’Dotan looked at him sideways. “You did not understand me with the device out?” 
 
    “No, sir. I’m sorry. I did not.” 
 
    “How?” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “How does that device know our language?” 
 
    He looked at the Minister uncertain how to respond. 
 
    “How did that device come to know our language?” Pa’Dotan repeated the question, changing it up a bit. 
 
    “I don’t know. Translators were one of the miracles the Confederation revealed to us early in our relationship with them. We had translating devices of our own, primitive by comparison, so never really asked that question.” 
 
    “Did they tell you how long they surveilled your planet before introducing themselves?” 
 
    “Sort of. It was something like 2,000 years. Their argument is… How could we introduce ourselves if we didn’t know your language and customs?” 
 
    “Do you know our language and customs?” 
 
    “No sir. I am a spaceship captain. I first learned of Naltanarus a few days ago, when I was tasked with returning your crew. I was given a translator to ease the process.” 
 
    Foreign Minister Pa’Dotan was clearly not happy that his planet had been observed without their knowledge. 
 
    “Would it help, if I gave you more context?” the Captain offered. 
 
    Pa’Dotan looked up and nodded. 
 
    “This is a personal perspective. For most of our history, humanity thought it was the center of the universe. It was a heretical thought when our first scientists asserted that the Earth revolved around the sun, instead of the other way around. As we learned more and more about the universe, more and more of us concluded that we were not alone, even though there was no observable evidence. Nonetheless, until six years ago, our official governmental belief was that we were functionally alone. They believed that the speed of light could not be evaded, therefore contact with other intelligent beings would never happen.  
 
    “For us, that changed the day the Confederation revealed itself. Among the things we learned through that process was that the universe is teaming with life and there is a remarkably well-organized system of government to manage interplanetary relations. That government does its best to protect everyone, especially those that have not yet left their world. All developing planets are monitored and protected from catastrophic celestial events. And their peoples are protected from invasion. 
 
    “Earlier this year, a parasitic species targeted your world for consumption. Over 1 million Confederation citizens lost their lives protecting your planet. At that point, the Confederation knew enough about you to know you were worth protecting, so they made the sacrifice. 
 
    “Now that you have left your system and contact has been made, the Confederation will give you the opportunity to join. They will send proper diplomats, not a simple ship’s captain. And you will be given the choice to join or not to join. But the benefits of joining so vastly out weight the cost of membership, that it is hard to see how anyone could turn it down.” 
 
    “Thank you, Alonzo Secada. You might make a better diplomat than you think.” 
 
    An aide entered the room and passed the minister a note. 
 
    He looked up. “The crew has arrived. You will join us for the celebration?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    All the delegates had arrived at the Embassy. All made the trip without issue. All came out for the celebration event that the Earth Alliance was hosting. 
 
    It featured food and entertainment from around the world. The Earth’s atmosphere was compatible with the needs of the delegates from Karagon, Fatafatu, Jerusota, Edukatar and Nutarogen. They mixed freely, although some of the delegates from Edukatar and Nutarogen wore grav assist devices to help compensate for Earth’s higher gravity. 
 
    The delegates from Celanar, Peralon, and Atomorali traveled in portable isolation chambers that allowed them to mix with others that came to see them. 
 
    Michael and Sarah, President and Ms. Lee, and James were the party’s official hosts. Each spent time with each of the delegations.  
 
    For Sarah, two things stood out. The first was James. She knew he was a gracious and generous host. She knew that he was well-known and highly placed. What she learned was the degree to which he was revered. James had brought David and Valerie with him. Most of them knew, or knew of, Valerie and barely masked their disdain. But they were awed by David. That there was a new ‘young sentient’ seemed to give them immense hope, and their opinion of Valerie seemed to change as well. 
 
    Her other observation was about the ring. To the delegates, it wasn’t just a sparkly ring. It was a thing of wonder, a piece of Lorexi. Everyone had heard of the seven great Wonder Stones; none had seen one before. As Michael had previously told her, it did not mean much to the people of Earth. But it put her on a whole different plane among the peoples of the Confederation. 
 
      
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DAY BEFORE 
 
    [Friday, 7.18.2031] EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Michael arrived early to the ten-room conference suite they were using for this first-of-its-kind meeting. There was a large main conference room where the signing ceremony would be held. Connected to it, on the narrower side wall, was a dining room, where a light breakfast was being served. Along the long back wall and the other side wall were smaller private conference rooms. Each delegation had one of these dedicated for their use. 
 
    As he came into the dining room, he was greeted by someone off to his left. “Ambassador Michael, what a superb facility you have here.” 
 
    Turning, he saw the characteristic flabby pale gray skin, blubberous lips, and fleshy whiskers of a Tokaran. It was Ta-sap Qu-nan the President of the Tokaran Alliance on Karagon. 
 
    “President Qu-nan. Good morning and welcome to the Earth Alliance Headquarters complex. I hope your trip here and accommodations are to your liking.” 
 
    “Yes, quite excellent. When I learned of the arrangements, I was excited that I would get to see one of your new freighters, although a bit concerned about traveling as a passenger aboard one. But what an idle concern.  
 
    “The ship is beautiful, comfortable, and incredibly fast. From transport up to transport down, just over 2 hours. Unbelievable! My last trip to Fatafatu on one of the Confederation Capital Ships took over a day, and Fatafatu is less than half the distance. 
 
    “It’s actually why I wanted to talk with you.” 
 
    Michael recalled Ambassador Fa-Ta mentioning last night that President Qu-nan wanted some private time with Michael today. 
 
    “Would you like to grab a table here, or go to one of the delegation meeting rooms?” 
 
    “Here would be fine. Fa-Ta and I have a table just over there.” 
 
    Michael grabbed a cup of coffee and a small breakfast quiche, then walked over to the table. 
 
    “Fa-Ta.” Michael put his food down and exchanged the traditional Angoloran greeting with the ambassador. 
 
    “Mi-Ku. Thank you for taking a few minutes with us. I trust that my friend here told you how impressed we were with your new ship.” 
 
    “Yes, he did.” Michael nodded toward President Qu-nan. “We designed and built that type after the incident a month or so back. Apologies again for that. We didn’t realize that sending a Cruiser would be a problem. 
 
    “But we are producing these as fast as we can. They will support our trade agreements and supplement our security missions. Two of those ships played a crucial role in a recent encounter with the Enemy.” 
 
    “Interesting.” President Qu-nan shook his head as if in approval. “We agree with your assessment of the ship’s utility and would like to engage in negotiations to acquire some for ourselves.” 
 
    “I’m sure the Earth Alliance would be willing to engage in such negotiation.” 
 
    “How long does it take to produce one of those ships?” 
 
    Michael looked to Ambassador Fa-Ta. It seemed the negotiations were opening now whether Michael wanted to admit it or not. 
 
    “Our current production target is 2.4 per day. Our actual performance is less than two a day.” 
 
    “That many!” Ambassador Fa-Ta seemed shocked. “Have you stopped producing the other ship types?” 
 
    “No. The Fast Attack Ship production target is 1 a day. Our actual performance is close to that. Cruiser production is still about 1 a week. We have added a line dedicated to the Cruisers. Its production target is little over 2 per week, but we’re not there yet.” 
 
    “That is incredible. No other shipyard in the Confederation has that kind of production capacity.” 
 
    Michael smiled. “No other shipyard in the Confederation has Kelly Williamson.” 
 
    President Qu-nan asserted himself. “With that production rate you should have no trouble making some for us.” 
 
    “Again, that is a matter for the Earth Alliance. Our obligations to the new security alliance will take the preponderance of our capacity over the coming year.” 
 
    “Would it be OK if I joined you?” 
 
    Michael looked up and saw Ambassador Fe-Va standing there with cup and plate in hand. “Fe-Va, my friend. Please join us.” 
 
    Fe-Va exchanged greetings with the other two, then sat. 
 
    “I suppose they have been pressing you for ships,” Fe-Va asked lightly. 
 
    President Qu-Nan was first to reply. “Of course, who would not want to get their hands on a couple of those freighters?” 
 
    “I’m sure we all would like them. Mi-Ku, are you going to make them available to members?” 
 
    “The Earth Alliance has not taken up discussion on the matter yet. They are focused on supplying the Alliance.” 
 
    “I’m sure the Alliance will approve of some ships being delivered to Alliance members before the Alliance itself is fully built out.” 
 
    President Qu-Nan nodded his head in agreement, then changed the subject. “Are we going to get a briefing today of the current status of the Enemy? I heard some wild rumors over the last couple weeks.” 
 
    Michael nodded affirmatively. “There have been some big developments. Once the signing ceremony is finished, we will convene the first Alliance council meeting and I will give an update.” 
 
    It was Fe-Va’s turn to change subject. “Good. Did you hear the news about Ambassador Ha-Nu?” 
 
    Fa-Ta looked up from his meal. “Ha-Nu? No, what news?” 
 
    “He’s applied for an Ambassadorship opening up in Triangulum.”  
 
    A bell lightly rang, indicating that the Signing Ceremony would commence in 15 minutes. 
 
    “Seems that’s my cue,” Fe-Va said. “Joining me Mi-Ku?” 
 
    … 
 
    As agreed in documents approved by each member, the official signing event would be hosted by Ambassadors Fe-Va and Mi-Ku. The event would be recorded for broadcast and the original un-edited recording would become part of the Alliance’s archival documents.  One official from each country could give a 5-minute speech. When the speeches were done, all 16 signers would pose for a picture. 
 
    It came off without a hitch. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GUEST HOTEL 
 
    Sarah had rented a block of suites at the guest hotel for the wedding party. Included in that block were two suites for Rachelle Pépin and her entourage. The first of those was for Rachelle and her husband, Australian Ambassador Greyson Brock. The other, a double suite, was for Rachelle’s two assistants and all the dresses and equipment they’d brought. This suite was where the final fitting would be done.  
 
    In the hope of maintaining her cover for at least one more day, Alexi arranged to have a team of four super-fit security guards escort her and Sarah to their suite. They all went in and, when the door was shut, Alexi did a careful security sweep. 
 
    When she was done, additional security officers, dressed as valets, brought up their things. 
 
    “You were right.” 
 
    Alexi looked up at Sarah questioningly. “Of course, I was. But was there something specific you had in mind?” 
 
    “That first day. I said it felt like I was losing all my freedom. You said if I framed it that way I probably would, so I shouldn’t frame it that way. Then you said, the first week will be a bit weird, but after that, you’d be nearly invisible. 
 
    “I took that to mean I wouldn’t feel like I’d lost my freedom. You were right, I don’t feel like I lost my freedom. I actually feel more empowered.” 
 
    Alexi smiled broadly. “Ready to go downstairs?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FINAL FITTING 
 
    Sarah, Alexi and the four security guards went down a floor to the suite where they would be doing the final fitting. The subterfuge for this security sweep was a little different. Rachelle’s assistants had been warned ahead of time that their suite, including their rooms would be inspected before Sarah entered. When they got to the suite, one of their guards knocked. Sarah and Alexi stood behind him. 
 
    When the door opened, two of the guards went in while two stayed in the hall with Sarah and Alexi. As the ones that went inside did their cursory inspection, they released surveillance nanobots that Alexi guided using her neural connection. 
 
    The guards had been instructed to linger near the sewing and ironing equipment. Within moments, Alexi had nanobots scurrying along the surface of every spray bottle in the area. None dropped offline. The room was clear of the offending spray. 
 
    Finally, Sarah and Alexi entered. The security guards exited and took posts outside the door and down the hallway. 
 
    Sarah saw Renee, whom they’d met in Paris first. “Renee, I’m so sorry for the intrusion into your private space. Since the incidents here a few months back, they’ve really tightened up security around me and Michael.” 
 
    She smiled at Sarah. “Trust me, we have seen worse, a lot worse. Your people were kind and considerate. We’ve been to places where we were treated like suspects.” 
 
    “I’m glad to hear our people do their job so well.” 
 
    Rachelle was the next to arrive. “Sarah, my dear, so lovely to see you. You are going to love the dress. It is the first I’ve worked with this fabric and it is fabulous, simply fabulous. I cannot wait to see it on you.” 
 
    One by one the others arrived. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Ambassador Fe-Va stood at the head of a long conference table. The fifteen others seated around the table looked up as he called the meeting to order. “This is the first official meeting of the 3F Defensive Alliance Council. As founding Secretary, I call this meeting to order. 
 
    “Our first item of business is to elect a Speaker for our new Defensive Alliance. Only one candidate has been nominated. That is our friend, the Ambassador to Earth, Mi-Ku. Are there any others that would like to step forward? Any other nominees?” 
 
    There was a pause.  
 
    “Hearing none, I call the vote. All those in favor, please signal your vote.” 
 
    Another pause. 
 
    “By unanimous agreement, Ambassador Mi-Ku becomes the Speaker for our alliance. 
 
    “The next item regards our Capital, our center of power. The charter recognizes one of two possibilities. The initial Capital may be either the planet where our speaker resides or the planet that hosts the preponderance of our defensive might. Going forward there will be a third option, the previous capital. At this junction, the only qualifying planet is Earth. Unless there is an objection, Earth becomes our Capital. Do I hear an objection?” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “Then by law and decree, Earth is designated as the Capital of the 3F Defensive Alliance. 
 
    “In anticipation of Earth as our Capital, the country of Canada has offered to amend its lease with the Confederation to include the 3F Defensive Alliance. They have also agreed to begin negotiations on an expansion to that lease. Do I hear any objection to this arrangement?” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “Hearing none, then by law and decree, the Confederation Embassy on Earth becomes the capital city of the 3F Defensive Alliance, and our speaker is authorized to negotiate its expansion on our behalf. 
 
    “The next item on our agenda is to approve the House of Ambassadors for our Alliance. By default, it is declared to be those present here today. Are there any here today that decline to serve?” 
 
    A hand raised. 
 
    “The chair recognizes the Honorable Ambassador Ha-Nu from Jerusota.” 
 
    Ha-Nu stood. “My friends. I acknowledge my responsibility to serve and will do so while I can. But as some of you have heard, I have applied for a new Ambassadorship in Triangulum. Earlier today, I got word that I have received the appointment. 
 
    “Recent events and the leadership of our new speaker, Mi-Ku, have led me to believe that I can do better than I’ve done for Jerusota. So, I am moving on in hopes that a new Ambassador can bring more effective change and growth to Jerusota. And that I can leverage what I have learned from Mi-Ku to usher a new world into the Confederation with some modicum of the success he has had here on Earth.” 
 
    The Ambassador sat to a round of congratulations from the assembly. 
 
    “Thank you, Ha-Nu. We wish you and your successor great success in your new adventures. 
 
    “Our last official act in this portion of the meeting is to elect our Advisory Council. All eight of our charter members get one representative. Terms are staggered as outlined in the agreement. The initial slate of Advisors was listed in the founding documents. If there are no objections, then the initial slate is approved by proclamation. Are there any objections?”  
 
    A pause. 
 
    “Hearing no objections, the initial composition of our Advisory Council is as listed in the agreement. 
 
    “And with that, I close the initial session of our House of Ambassadors. When we return, Mi-Ku will give us an update on current issues regarding the Enemy, then he will, at his discretion, open the floor for new business. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 THE DRESS 
 
    For reasons she didn’t explain, Sarah asked that everyone else’s dress be fitted first. Rachelle had seen this before. It was usually weight gain, more often than not a pregnancy the bride didn’t want to disclose. In Sarah’s case, she knew that once she was fitted into her dress, she wouldn’t be able to see any of the others. 
 
    One by one they were fitted. Each was beautiful, but the big surprise was Alexi. Although all the bridesmaid’s dresses were of the same basic design, each was different. Alexi’s was the smallest and, by some magic Sarah couldn’t quite sort out, it was the most transformative. The tomboy in her got lost somewhere and the striking young woman came out. Even Alexi seemed to notice the difference. 
 
    Now it was Sarah’s turn. Alexi, redressed into her street clothes, then went back with Sarah to ‘make sure her medical device was properly situated.’  
 
    When Rachelle brought the dress out, Sarah and Alexi were both transfixed. The material was silkier than the finest silk. And even on the hanger it had subtle motion, still when you looked at it, flowing when you looked away. 
 
    Rachelle came over and whispered to Sarah, “This dress will flow with you in a way you have never experienced before. We made it tight to accentuate that flow, but we have options if it’s too tight.” 
 
    Sarah laughed. “I doubt that will be a problem. Things have been a little too busy here. I’m actually down a few.” 
 
    The four of them, Rachelle, assistant Renee, master seamstress Jannette, and Alexi, worked Sarah into the dress. 
 
    “Beautiful fit. I think we can tighten it a bit more, but let’s show the others first. I need to see you walk in it.”  
 
    Sarah walked out to show the others. After oohs and aahs, a few hugs and more tears, they retreated into the backroom.  
 
    “What did you think?” 
 
    “Perfect. Felt good. Flows. More beautiful than I imagined possible.” 
 
    “Very good. We’ll tighten it a tiny bit more tomorrow. But I think we are good.” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “I understand we’re going to meet here tomorrow, not at the site. How will that work?” From Rachelle’s look, it was clear she didn’t like the idea. 
 
    It was Sarah’s turn to smile. “The dressing facilities there aren’t particularly good. So, we’ll get ready here, then transport over.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 3F ADVISORY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
    The first topic on the Advisory Council meeting was a briefing on the recent attack on the Enemy home world. Michael gave essentially the same briefing that he gave the Earth Alliance Advisory Council a few weeks ago, but with one addition. 
 
    “Having seen Enemy ships enter the rift, we posted patrols near our end of the rift. Three Cruisers, supported by 12 Fast Attack Ships, have stood guard for the last three weeks. All space within two light months of the rift has been scanned. All objects greater than 10 meters by 1 meter have been inspected. Nothing of consequence was found until earlier this week when debris was spotted coming out of the rift. For obvious reasons, we need to keep our distance from the rift, so it took a couple days before the first objects could be examined. We can now confirm that the debris consists of damaged ships and rock. We suspect that the rock comes from the portion of the asteroid that entered the rift, but there’s no known way to prove it. The ships were massively damaged, consisting of hull fragments and some equipment. We will maintain a watch for the next several months, but at this point we are confident that nothing has come through yet this cycle. 
 
    “With that, I open the floor to questions.” 
 
    Ambassador Ha-Nu was the first to reply. “Mi-Ku, it seems that you have already solved much of the problem that the security alliance was formed to address.” 
 
    “It is true that we think we have solved the future problem. If we had done nothing, then a thousand or more Enemy ships would have descended through the rift over the coming weeks. They would have emerged into our space-time about a thousand light years from here and would pose a threat to us in 5 or 10 thousand years. 
 
    “The recent Enemy activity near Celanar was from an invasion 10,000 years ago. The remnants of that invasion and the invasion 25 years ago are our short-term target. Our recent attack in Enemy space has no impact on our short-term protection needs.” 
 
     There was a pause in the flow of conversation in the room. 
 
    “Any other questions or comments?” 
 
    Ambassador Va-Mu from Edukatar spoke up. “I think your presentation was clear, so I have no question to ask. But I would like to say ‘thank you.’ You and your Earth Alliance went to great expense and took significant risk to solve a problem that would have eventually plagued us all. I hope you will continue to bring forward tremendous opportunities like this in the future that we can act on together. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 REHEARSAL DINNER 
 
    Pam arrived at Chef Marcos at 6:30 to make sure everything was in order. The wedding party and guests would start arriving at 7:00, seating for dinner would be at 7:30. They had reserved the large private room upstairs.  
 
    On entering the room, Pam saw the string quartet setting up on the one side, and Chef Marco fussing over something on the appetizer table on the other side. 
 
    “Pam, my darling. So good to see you.” The Chef waltzed over to kiss her hand. “What an excellent event for my favorite guests.” 
 
    Pam was always entertained by the show the Chef put on, but today was a little over the top. “Seems that things are coming along nicely. Anything I should know before our guests start arriving?” 
 
    The Chef beamed, then whispered conspiratorially, “I arranged for a special bottle of wine for the blessed couple. Château Latour 2009. Impossible to find, but I found one.” The Chef’s excitement was contagious, even though Pam herself did not indulge in wine. 
 
    “I’m sure they’ll be very pleased.” 
 
    There was a flash at the doorway and James walked in. 
 
    “Your Eminence!” The Chef ran over to shake James’ hand. 
 
    “Marco, my friend, I’d much rather you called me James.” 
 
    Pam noticed the trance-like state that settled over the Chef and wondered what was going on. The Chef suddenly snapped back to life. 
 
    “I understand. It will be done as you ask, James.” The chef spun on his heel and headed off toward the kitchen. 
 
    Pam walked over to James. “May I ask what that was about?” 
 
    James smiled. “The Chef is a latent empath. He absorbs the feelings around him. I think that’s how he became such a great chef. He can understand what people like about his food and how much they enjoy it. It makes it easy for me to speak with him telepathically, something he takes great pleasure in.” 
 
    “What did you ask him to do?” 
 
    “You’ll find out soon enough, but it’s a secret until then.” 
 
    Pam knew that was all she was going to get out of James and was saved from further small talk as Sarah’s parents, Tim and Susan came in. Father John, Sarah’s priest growing up, and Father Benjamin, the Pope’s envoy to the wedding, stood with them. Tim was in deep conversation with Father Benjamin. 
 
    “I still don’t understand,” Tim said emphatically. 
 
    “Tim. Relax. This is what His Eminence has decreed. He has not explained his reasoning, but it is in Sarah’s favor. Isn’t that enough?” 
 
    Susan put her hand on Tim’s arm. “Let it go Tim. The Holy Father has put his blessing on Sarah. That’s all we need to know.” 
 
    Pam was curious what the issue was but had no intention to ask. Instead, she asked a procedural question. “I was told one of you would say the blessing on our dinner tonight. Is that right?” 
 
    Father Benjamin answered. “Yes. As this is a State wedding, I have come as Papal Emissary. I am not permitted an official role in the wedding itself, but His Holiness has asked me to bless Sarah and this meal on his behalf.” 
 
    “Excellent.” Pam smiled. So that’s what they were talking about. 
 
     There was some noise at the entrance. Pam looked up and saw George, Joel, Kale and Charles come in. Looks like the boys went out for a little adult refreshment first. 
 
    The two weeks after the Revelation had been crazy with activity. During that time George, Kale and Charles had really bonded. George had only seen Kale twice since moving to the Embassy. And it was the first time he’d seen Charles since Charles took over as Consul General to China six years ago. 
 
    Next in were Monica Hayes and Kimberly Watson. Trailing behind them came Caleb Bates, Monica’s new boyfriend, and Josh Woodman, Kimberly’s long-time companion. Caleb was a well-known surgeon in New York. Josh was a professional golfer on the PGA Tour. 
 
    Pam saw Kale peel away from the others to go talk with Josh. She knew that Kale had taken an interest in golf over the last couple years. Made sense. There was great golfing on the Big Island and things were a lot quieter at the ranch than they used to be. 
 
    She also saw Monica talking intently with Father Benjamin and wondered whether her interest was in the faith, or in grooming a possible subject for some special she was producing. 
 
    Pam noticed that it was only 6:55. The guests were arriving a little earlier than she’d expected. 
 
    Where’s the string quartet? As she started to turn, the cello’s warm sound permeated the room with the familiar opening line from Pachelbel’s famous Canon in D. Just the sound of it brought a tear to Pam’s eye. 
 
    On turning back to the entrance, she saw Bahati and Emmanuel enter. They were followed immediately by Ta’Sha and Ka-Tu. That was her cue. She signaled the sommelier, who popped the first bottle of champagne. They’d decided to go with the Louis Roederer Cristal Brut tonight. The sound of the cork popping had the desired effect. Everyone started moving further into the room toward the table where the champagne would be served. 
 
    Pam grabbed an empty champagne flute and started toward the entrance, picking up a fork as she passed the appetizer table. She got to the door, just as Michael and Sarah arrived with Ta’Sha and Ka-Tu. Alexi stood guard behind them. Pam asked Ta’Sha and Ka-Tu to enter, then used the fork to clink the champagne glass. 
 
    “Your attention please. Our guests of honor have arrived.” 
 
    A waiter came with glasses of champagne for Sarah and Michael. 
 
    “Please enjoy the champagne and hors d'oeuvres. We will be seated for dinner in a half hour.” 
 
    Tim was the first to make his way to Michael. 
 
    “Congratulations, Michael. You have won a true prize,” Tim exuded.  
 
    “Beyond a doubt.” Michael appreciated Tim’s fatherly concern for Sarah, but it was sometimes a bit overbearing. 
 
    “Have you planned a honeymoon?” 
 
    Michael smiled. “Yes. We will leave in a few days for a long weekend on Karagon.” 
 
    “You’re taking her to another planet?” Tim seemed distressed. 
 
    “It’s a beautiful world. We’ll have to do the obligatory state dinner and reception the first day. Then we’ll be off for a couple days to a private mountain estate on a lake.” 
 
    Michael noticed that Sarah had wandered off to talk with Father John. 
 
    … 
 
    Sarah knew her father was ecstatic that Father John was participating in the wedding. He was also duly impressed that the Pope had sent an envoy to convey his personal blessing. But she was more ambivalent. Just as Michael was doing his duty talking with her father, she would do hers by talking with the priests. 
 
    “Father John, I’m so happy you were given clearance to officiate tomorrow.” 
 
    “Sarah. It’s a pleasure to see you again. I’d hoped to participate in your wedding someday but assumed it would be in our cathedral back home.” 
 
    “That would have been my father’s choice as well, but I’m marrying the wrong guy for that. As Ambassador, Michael is required to be married at a Confederation facility with a Confederation official of sufficient rank officiating or sharing in the officiation.” 
 
    “It always saddens me for a wedding to be done outside Mass, but the majority seem to be done that way these days.” 
 
    Sarah turned to the other priest. “Father Benjamin, I didn’t expect to see you again, but am grateful for your presence here.”  
 
    Conversation came to a halt as another champagne glass clanked. Seven waiters entered the room. Each held a silver tray with a long thin velvet box on it. 
 
    James cleared his throat. “Will the bride and six beautiful bridesmaids please identify themselves?” 
 
    As each hand was raised, a waiter went over to present his tray. 
 
    James pointed to Alexi, who refused to raise her hand, and a waiter scuttled over. 
 
    “Ladies, I want to add to the beauty of this event with a gift. If you would, please take yours and put it on for everyone to see.” 
 
    Sounds of murmuring and speculation filled the room. 
 
    Bahati was the first to open hers. When she saw what was in the box, she looked at James incredulously. In the box was a thin, gold chain necklace. Attached to it was a tiny wire cage containing the most spectacular, glistening stone. It was ruby red but sparkled with internal light. 
 
    “In the culture I grew up in, these were referred to by a term that might be translated as blood stone, or stone of life. I understand that those terms mean something quite different on Earth. The Lorexians among you know that they are a symbol of deep friendship. 
 
    “Their composition is basically the same as a ruby’s. What makes them special is that they are grown from a seed of Transluminide. To the best of my knowledge, these stones do not exist in nature. They are artificial in the sense that they were grown by sentient beings. But knowledge of that process was lost over three million years ago, which makes these stones as rare and precious as the ones they have been gifted to. 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    Once again, James seemed to have sucked all the air out of the room. But a moment later, the strings started playing an upbeat piece and conversation restarted. 
 
    “James, I’m Father Benjamin, the Pope’s envoy. That was a very generous gift.” 
 
    “I suppose it could be viewed that way. But the only things of true value are those you share your life with. Other things are mostly just trinkets, although some of those are a little more fun than others.” 
 
    “You speak as if you were a man of faith.” 
 
    There was a sparkle in James eye. “I am a man of faith, not the same as yours, but deep faith nonetheless.” 
 
    “I understand you were there years ago, when the One I follow walked the Earth.” 
 
    “I was. I didn’t follow along as closely as Michael did. But I saw a lot. And the shared experience helped Michael and I bond the way we did.” 
 
    “Is it true what was written?” 
 
    “Ah, but what is truth?” There was mirth in James retort. 
 
    Father Benjamin wasn’t pleased with the exchange. He felt like he was being played with. 
 
    James looked at him compassionately. “No, I’m not playing with you. If you are asking about facts, then yes. What was written about the things I saw, is consistent with what I saw. The question is, ‘What do those facts mean?’ You are the one that needs to determine that. I cannot determine it for you. If I did, then your faith would be in me, something neither of us would want.” 
 
    The sound of a champagne glass clanging filled the air as the doors to the dining room opened. “Please make your way into the dining room, dinner will be served shortly.” 
 
    “Saved by the bell it would seem,” James teased, then flashed away. 
 
    … 
 
    Around 9:30, Sarah whispered to Michael, “I think it’s time for the ladies to head back to the hotel.” 
 
    He kissed her and pushed an “I love you.” 
 
    The tickle in her mind caused Sarah to laugh. 
 
    Bahati, who was sitting next to Sarah, turned to look at her. “Hey, what’s going on over there?” she asked in mock surprise. 
 
    Sarah stood. “Ladies, I think it’s time for us to retreat to our chambers and begin preparation for tomorrow.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECURITY DETAINMENT AREA 
 
    Ju-Ne sat in his cell fuming. The guard that brought dinner tonight taunted him, saying his invitation to the wedding tomorrow had been rescinded. So here he sat while the event he’d been working years to take down was about to go off without a hitch. 
 
    Earlier in the week, during an interrogation session, he’d been told that they’d discovered the secret of his nanobot killing solution. And that they’d found and dismantled his dispersal system. They also claimed that they’d developed an antidote. 
 
    He’d known they’d found out about the solution. He’d watched the woman steal a sample from his home. He also knew that they knew about the dispersal system. He’d felt the Ancient Sentient rip the information about both of those out of his mind. So, it wasn’t really a surprise that they’d dismantled it. 
 
    But an antidote? He didn’t really believe that claim. 
 
    Similarly, they’d told him about the avatars they’d collected and destroyed. He knew the Ancient Sentient had stolen that information as well. 
 
    He couldn’t operate any of his avatars without the special equipment in his restoration chamber, but he could sense their presence up until the point that he’d been removed. But one by one, each had been taken offline and, in all likelihood, had been destroyed as they claimed.  
 
    Such a waste! 
 
    But he still had one ace up his sleeve that they didn’t know about, the bot on mining Platform 4. Its onboard controller didn’t have the capacity to support a full AI. But it did have the capacity to support a few layers of an AI stack, enough to hold the smallest piece of his consciousness, enough to fly the platform. 
 
    It was time to activate it. 
 
    As an Ascendant, his implants automatically connected to Confederation systems. His connected, but all access was blocked. Blocked for normal people anyway. The security here was so laughable. 
 
    Nonetheless, over the last two days he’d opened a tiny channel. The bot was primed and it had acknowledged the comm channel. The only thing left to do was send the command. 
 
    With a single thought the command went out. “Execute.”


 
   
  
 

 WEDDING 
 
    [Saturday, 7.19.2031] CONTROL ROOM, PLATFORM 4 
 
    The bot woke and made its way to the control board. It removed a panel on the front, located the remote-control card and removed it. Somewhere groundside an alarm would be going off, but at 5:30 AM it was unlikely anyone would notice. 
 
    It then found the grav drive control board. There was a switch on the board that put the controller in test mode. Test mode would allow a service technician to override normal control limits. It was intended for diagnostic testing on the ground, but never to be used in space.  
 
    The bot found the switch and put the platform’s grav drive in test mode. 
 
    The bot quickly checked its other preparations. A resonance test on the platform showed that its total mass today was 605,000 kg. The mass of the platform itself was nominally only 10,000 kg. The rest of the mass came from the platform’s inventory of ingots and raw unrefined core material. 
 
    It scurried over to the ingot storage area in front of the control room. A quick check confirmed that the ingots were all locked down. None would shift during the turbulent descent as long as the bot could maintain the structural integrity of the platform. 
 
    The bot also confirmed that the five massive spheres of core material held in the refining area were in place and properly secured. Under Ju-Ne’s instruction, it had made the five pulls some time ago. Each pull brought up a 10 cubic meter sphere of molten core material. Under normal operation, the molten material would be refined by being dragged through four filters, one for gold, one for platinum, one for Transluminide and one for other impurities. But these pulls had been done differently. None of the filters were engaged. Instead, raw core material had been deposited directly in the refined bin and in each of the filter bins. 
 
    With the platform this heavily loaded, the bot needed to make a slow descent to avoid a fiery reentry. If the platform heated up too much, it would break apart. If it did that too high in the atmosphere, then only the 10-cubic meter spheres would actually make it to the surface. 
 
    For its plan to work, it had to deliver the platform to the Embassy intact, the speed in the atmosphere never above Mach 2 until the final plunge at the end, when it would push the grav drives as hard as possible to impact at Mach 10. At that speed, the impact would result in an explosion equivalent to a 125-kiloton bomb. A planetary shield could take that kind of impact. But the Embassy’s shield had no chance. 
 
    When Ju-Ne and the bot had planned this mission, they knew there were five problems they needed to solve for this to work.  
 
    
    	 The platform’s absence would be discovered shortly after it started its run to the surface. 
 
    	 Everyone would guess the platform’s destination well before it could get there. 
 
    	 The overloaded platform would be bulky, fragile, and difficult to maneuver.  
 
    	 It had no chance of surviving a ballistic reentry and no chance of evading any defensive weapons that might target it. 
 
    	 Weighing only 600,000 kg, it had to hit the shield dome at Mach 8 or higher to guarantee shield failure. 
 
   
 
    That implied two things. They would need to cloak the platform to make it undetectable. And they would need a flight plan that no one would anticipate or even understand. 
 
    … 
 
    At 5:56 AM exactly, the bot engaged the cloak, then a moment later, it started its de-orbiting ‘burn.’ Barring the unforeseen, they would land at the Embassy in 12 hours, 49 minutes.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ORBITAL SURVEILLANCE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    A chime sounded indicating that the time was 6:00 AM. Graveyard shift at Orbital Surveillance was a mind numbingly boring job. The good news was that most of the work was automated, the officers on duty spent most of their time doing paperwork or reading, not watching radar screens as they did in the old days. 
 
    A few minutes later, another chime sounded, but it wasn’t a clock. The automated system had found a problem. Lt. Tom Moss stirred from his work to see what the problem was.  “Commander, we seem to have a problem. Mining Platform 4 has disappeared.” 
 
    “Is this a scheduled change?” 
 
    “There are no notifications of changes for this platform.” 
 
    “What do you mean disappeared?” 
 
    “It is no longer showing on radar, or on the dimensional resonance scanners.” 
 
    “OK. Satellites don’t just disappear. There must be wreckage or debris somewhere. Let’s start by going back through the logs, we should be able to figure out when we lost contact, then start tracing for the cause.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONTROL ROOM, PLATFORM 4 
 
    The first phase of the flight path was to simply disappear. To cloak, then get as far away in as short at time as possible. Their solution to that problem was surprisingly simple but, more importantly, it was something no human would expect. 
 
    The platform was in geostationary orbit, its nominal orbital velocity 3,075 meters per second. With the platform loaded to 2.3 times its rated mass, the ganged grav drives could produce a maximum acceleration of 12.8 m/s2. 
 
    The bot didn’t want to push the limit this early in the mission. Instead it applied counter orbital thrust of 10.2 m/s2 for 5 minutes, completely arresting the platform’s orbital velocity. 
 
    During those 5 minutes, the platform dropped like a rock.  
 
    The bot redirected its thrust straight down, slowing the descent, then stopping it altogether at an altitude of 20,000 miles, where it hovered above the Indian Ocean. Sitting here stationary like this, the Earth would simply rotate below it. The platform was currently at longitude 59° East. The Embassy was at 131° West. 
 
    The bot readjusted its thrust to head north while holding altitude. 
 
    The embassy was at 65° North. The platform was above the Equator. The bot’s plan was to slowly mosey North while the Earth rotated away beneath him. He’d hit the Tropic of Cancer in two hours. By then, Egypt would have rotated under him. At that point, he’d slow his northern progress to avoid flying over Europe. When the Atlantic rotated under him at 10° West, 30° North, he would pour on the power, arriving at the Arctic Circle along the eastern coast of Greenland. Up until the sprint north, the bot had the power to hold altitude at 20,000 miles. During the sprint north, it wouldn’t. It would drop to 10,000 miles as it crossed over Greenland and finally arrest the fall at 9,000 miles as it crossed over the Davis Strait at 2:00 PM. From there, the bot would hold, drifting slowly over Baffin Island. As the platform crossed over the Arctic Ocean, it would begin its slow crawl south toward the Embassy and final descent toward the atmosphere.  
 
    There were much faster and more energy efficient descents. But those paths would be obvious. All of those would come from the southwest, so that’s where they would be looking for him. No one would expect an approach from the northeast. Nor would they expect an entry into the atmosphere at a slow enough speed that the platform wouldn’t burn, wouldn’t even glow. No human technology could do what the bot was about to do. And no one would ever think to look in the direction he was coming from. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ORBITAL SURVEILLANCE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    It was 7:00 AM. It took an hour, but Lt. Moss finally found what he was looking for. And he really didn’t like what he found. “Commander, I think we have a problem.” 
 
    The commander came over to Tom’s workstation. “What have you found?” 
 
    “Watch.” A holoprojection popped up showing the stationary mining platform. Then it disappeared. 
 
    “What just happened?” 
 
    “Let me play it in slow motion, one frame at a time.” 
 
    The holoprojection reset with the platform just sitting there. 
 
    “Stepping,” Tom said. 
 
    The platform shifted a bit and its image became a little fuzzy. 
 
    “Next step.” 
 
    The platform shifted a bit more and got fuzzier. 
 
    “Stepping again.” 
 
    The fuzziness increased to the point the platform was mostly obscured. 
 
    “Stepping again.” 
 
    The platform was gone. 
 
    “What the hell?” 
 
    “Watch, I’m going to step ahead several frames.” 
 
    On the holoprojector, the platform completely disappeared. 
 
    Tom zoomed out slightly, then clicked ahead several times, stopped, then backed up one. 
 
    “See this star?” He pointed at a star in the image. It was directly below the platform’s previous position. 
 
    “Watch.” 
 
    He clicked and the star got fuzzy. He clicked again and the star completely disappeared. Two more clicks and the fuzzy star reappeared. Another click, and the star returned to normal. 
 
    “The platform is cloaked and changing orbit.” 
 
    “What! They can’t do that. Who’s responsible for that platform?”  
 
    “It’s registered to the Earth Alliance Mining Company.” 
 
    “Call them. Ask them if they know what’s happening. And if it’s not under their control, ask If they have a way to track it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SARAH’S SUITE, GUEST HOTEL 
 
    Sarah woke to the sounds of Alexi giving orders out in the living room. She turned to look at the clock and was shocked to see it was 7:30. From the sounds of it, the other ladies had started to arrive while she was still in bed. 
 
    There was a light knock on the door. It cracked open and Alexi’s smiling face came through. “Hey, you planning to join the party?” The door shut, but the sound of Alexi’s laughter came through anyway. 
 
    Sarah popped out of bed, hit the refresher, slapped on some casual clothes, and went out into the living room. 
 
    Her mother was the first to see her. “Good morning, dear. Nice to see you slept well. I surely didn’t on the night before my wedding.” 
 
    The comment was sincere, but it set off another round of laughing in the dining room. 
 
    “Who turned off my alarm clock?” Sarah asked the room in mock exasperation. 
 
    Alexi’s hand popped up to shoulder height. 
 
    The meekness of the gesture got Sarah laughing as well. 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    Tim had walked up next to Sarah during the exchange. “Morning sweetheart. Ready for the big day?”  
 
    She gave him a hug. “Yep, should be fun.” Then turning to Pam, “Remind me of the schedule today.” 
 
    “They want us downstairs at 9:00. They brought in a spa crew that’s going to scrub, massage, powder, and perfume you for a couple hours. Then do your hair. At 1:00, the dresses will come out. At 2:00, we’ll be transporting to a location for pictures. At 3:00, we’ll be transporting to the ‘chapel,’ where you’ll get a little refresher. Then at 5:00, you take a stroll down the aisle.” 
 
    “Then I guess I better have some breakfast.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ORBITAL SURVEILLANCE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Commander, we finally got through to someone at the Earth Alliance Trading Company. Platform 4 was shutdown, awaiting repair which was scheduled for next week. They no longer have contact with or control over the platform, although its transponder will periodically return a ping.” 
 
    “Where is it now?” 
 
    “The reading came back as 23° North, 30° East, altitude 20,000 miles. That’s somewhere over Egypt, which makes no sense. Its orbital slot was at 60° East, over the Indian Ocean. And Its orbital velocity was over 3,000 meters per second towards the east. This position is west of its point of origin.” 
 
    “Any explanation?” 
 
    “Someone must have messed with the transponder.” 
 
    “Options?” 
 
    No reply. 
 
    “Surely there must be options. Can’t we shoot it down?” 
 
    “Sir, we don’t know where it is.” 
 
    “Get me Space Force Command.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    It was strange having the apartment empty like this. Sarah had moved in the same day he did, and she’d only been away a couple nights since. 
 
    Michael had two things on his plate today. He’d reserved the private room at the Northern Lights Café for brunch at 10:00. All the men associated with the wedding had been invited to join him. Tim had declined. He was going to spend the day with the women, at least as much of it as he was allowed to. But everyone else would be joining Michael. 
 
    He would have the opportunity to chat briefly with the planetary delegates tonight at the reception, then again tomorrow and Monday morning. So, the only thing he had to do this morning was clear his message queue.  
 
    Cup of coffee in hand, he set an alarm for 9:45, then plowed in. 
 
    … 
 
    The alarm went off and Michael popped up to head over to the café. But before he got to the door, his communicator went off, it was Admiral Scott. 
 
    With a sigh, he connected. “Michael.” 
 
    “Michael, it’s Sam Scott. Sorry to bother you today, but there’s something going on that you should know about.” A pause. “Mining Platform #4 disappeared this morning. Evidence suggests that it is cloaked and de-orbiting. We fear that it’s being used as a kinetic weapon to attack Earth. It’s early in the search for it, we’ve got a few hits on it, but not enough to know where it is or where it’s headed. 
 
    “I probably don’t need to tell you that the Embassy is the priority target for malign actors this week.” 
 
    “Understood, Sam. Please keep me posted.” 
 
    Anger coursed through Michael to a degree he’d never felt before. He took a moment to calm himself and find his center, then headed off to the café. If he was right and Ju-Ne was behind this, James might be able to help. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NORTHERN LIGHTS CAFÉ 
 
    Michael arrived a minute late, the other members of the party had already been seated. He entered the room to a noisy group and a ruckus welcome. As the clamor settled a bit, Michael held up his hands to draw their attention.  
 
    “Thank you for coming this morning. I hope that you’re all consuming in moderation. If not, see my friend Charles for a remedy. I’ll be in big trouble if the groomsmen show up under the influence this afternoon. 
 
    “But before I join you, I need a moment in private with James.” 
 
    James stood and they stepped out of the room. There was no private place, so Michael looked intently at James. “We really can’t talk here. Would you just read me?” 
 
    James looked at him with puzzlement, then more seriously. “You know they make a pill for that, Michael.” 
 
    James almost held the seriousness for a moment, then burst out laughing. A moment later, Michael joined him. Another moment later, most of the restaurant did as well. 
 
    “Sorry about that. But you must admit, the set up was perfect.” James chuckled some more. 
 
    “Thanks, I needed that. Now seriously.” 
 
    “OK.” James quickly probed. “You think it’s Ju-Ne?” 
 
    The question was rhetorical, but Michael nodded in agreement. 
 
    “Why don’t you head in there?” James pointed to the private room. “I’ll pop over for a private chat with our friend, see if he’s forthcoming.” 
 
    “Thank you, James.” Michael opened the door and went back into the room. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECURITY DETAINMENT AREA 
 
    Ju-Ne was lying on his bed, eyes closed attempting to open his communication channel a little wider. There were a number of people he could reach if it were opened a little more. People who could spring him out of here. 
 
    He detected the slightest flash of light, then was seized, the grasp on his entire being so tight he couldn’t breathe. Then the interrogation began. There was no question for which the answer wasn’t ripped out of him. Unlike his previous encounters with the Ancient Sentient, there was no kind handling. Everything he wanted was viciously torn out. 
 
    It suddenly stopped. Then there was a voice, an infinite, crushing voice. “Today you have gone too far. Today, you are forfeit.” 
 
    The grip eased. Blessed relief flowed over him. And he fell into a deep sleep. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NORTHERN LIGHTS CAFÉ 
 
    James flashed into existence next to Michael. The four new members of the group, the two priests, Monica’s boyfriend Caleb, and Kimberly’s companion Josh, had never seen this before and were momentarily stunned. But quickly came back to themselves as warmth flowed over them. 
 
    “Sorry about that. I forgot there were new members in our group. There was a little problem Michael was worried about. He asked if I could help, so I popped out to get something and now I’m back.” 
 
    James placed something on the table. “I know I’m a doctor, but I’m not really the one that should be giving this to you.” 
 
    He pulled his hand away revealing a little blue pill. It took a second, then the room erupted in laughter.  
 
    Michael chuckled along, but a booming whisper said, Will hit here around 6:45 this afternoon. Let’s finish brunch. I think we’ll still have enough time to stop it. 
 
    The food came and conversation quieted a bit. Michael saw that James was going through the motions of eating, but he looked far off in thought.  
 
    … 
 
    “Henry?” 
 
    “James, is that you?” 
 
    “Yes. I’m otherwise occupied at the moment but need to speak with you urgently. Are you aware of the problem with Platform 4?” 
 
    “Yes, I’ve been trying to force its transponder to reply. I get one now and again. But still have no idea where it is.” 
 
    “OK, listen carefully. The platform is protected by a jury-rigged cloak. It blocks radar and dimensional scanning. Squelches radio and other communications by 40 db. It even does a modest job of refracting most visible and infrared light. But, if it gets hit with anything powerful, the cloak will completely collapse. 
 
    “I’m going to send you its course envelope. There are a couple narrow spots. We need a way to dump a ton of energy into them. 
 
    “I have to go. Will call back in an hour. Try to come up with some options.” 
 
    … 
 
    “James?” 
 
    James seemed to come back to himself. “Sorry what was that?” 
 
    “Are you alright?” 
 
    “Just lost in thought. I’ll try to be more attentive.” 
 
    “Father John just asked you a question.” 
 
    “Really?” James turned to Father John. “John, sorry my attention slipped. Could you repeat your question please?” 
 
    “How do you pop in and out like that?” 
 
    “It’s a trick I learned a long, long time ago.” Sensing that he wouldn’t get away with that answer, James continued, “It’s something that comes along with being an energy being.” 
 
    “Energy being? I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    James nodded. “It’s something difficult for the uninitiated to understand. Would you allow me to share a memory with you?” 
 
    “Sure.” Father John was expecting a story but froze in a trance-like stare when James touched his hand. After a moment, he snapped out of it and crossed himself. 
 
    “What did you do to me?” 
 
    “Ah. Should have mentioned that I’m an empath. I can share memories and emotions with people. Did that answer your question?” 
 
    Father John got a faraway look in his eyes. “Yes, I think I understand now. Thank you. But how do you describe that to people?” 
 
    James chuckled, his mirth spilling out into the room. 
 
    “No idea. That’s why I shared the memory.” 
 
    Josh, Kimberly’s friend raised his hand. “Could you share it with me as well.” 
 
    James looked at him, realizing he’d opened Pandora’s box by responding to Father John the way he did. “I rarely do what I just did. But given this is a wedding celebration, I suppose I can make an exception. Who else? One-time offer. Take it or leave it.” 
 
    Michael looked at James sternly. 
 
    Father Benjamin raised his hand also.  
 
    “OK. Here it comes.” Both men went into a trance like state, then snapped out of it.  
 
    Father Benjamin quickly crossed himself.  
 
    Josh started laughing. “Wow, that was great! Can you give me another one?” 
 
    James rolled his eyes, then sent another. 
 
    Josh snapped out of this one in a mellower mood. “Beautiful. Was that on another planet?” 
 
    “No. Waipio Valley, Hawaii. One of the most beautiful places on Earth.” 
 
    A waiter came in to clear the dishes. Another came in with a cart to help clear them more quickly. 
 
    James stood and picked up his water glass. “I would like to propose a toast to my friend Michael.” James looked directly at him. “To the man who has lived nearly 100 lives, may this one be your most joyous. And may your new companion travel with you through many more.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GUEST HOTEL 
 
    The spa treatments were done, and it was time for the dresses to come out. Sarah sat quietly in an easy chair, allowing the relaxation to linger as the last of the spa equipment was removed and the dresses brought in. 
 
    “They’re going to start in a minute.” 
 
    Sarah opened her eyes and looked at Alexi, who was standing there.  
 
    “We need to put your ‘medical device’ back on.” 
 
    Sarah groaned. Alexi had allowed her to take the shield generator off during the spa treatments. But the promise was that Sarah would put it back on when the dresses came out. 
 
    Alexi put out her hand to help Sarah up from the chair. “Sorry. But we need to do this.” 
 
    They went into Sarah’s room. Alexi quickly attached it to the inside of Sarah’s right thigh with a soluble glue, wrapped it lightly, then covered the whole thing with an elastic sleeve. 
 
    “Does that feel OK? Not too tight?” 
 
    “It’s OK.” Once again Sarah marveled at Alexi, disciplinarian one minute, compassionate the next.  
 
    That thought triggered another. I hope Michael is having a good time, not just working. 
 
    Sarah put her robe back on and they went out into the living room turned dress studio. 
 
    “There she is!” Rachelle said brightly. “You’re first. Shall we?” She motioned to the rack where the dress was waiting. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEAR NORTHERN LIGHTS CAFÉ 
 
    As they left the restaurant, James walked up next to Michael.  
 
    “We need to find our missing platform. Ju-Ne told me enough that I think I know how to do it. I put that process in motion while the meal was being served. Let me go check on the status, then I’ll come see you.” 
 
    Michael looked at James with renewed concern. The party was sufficiently distracting that he’d forgotten about the platform. 
 
    “Thank you, James.” 
 
    The words were barely out of his mouth when James flashed away. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “Henry, what have you come up with?” 
 
    “It will be approaching one of the narrow spots at 2:45, a little over an hour from now. The energy projectors on any of Space Force’s ships could probably bathe this entire area if set to its broadest setting. Power is lower in that setting, but probably sufficient to knock down the stealth shield. 
 
    “Doubting that we could scramble a ship in time, I had the bots in the engineering test bay attach a test version of the energy projector to the old shuttle. 
 
    “Its current helm AI, Vincent, wasn’t particularly happy about that. I say we launch it, hose down the area and wait for the platform to pass through.” 
 
    “Good idea. I’m going to pop over to Michael’s office. Will call you from there.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    James flashed into the lobby area of Michael’s office. Then walked down the hall. No one was there. 
 
    Seems I got here before he did. 
 
    James went back out into the lobby and took a seat. 
 
    A few minutes later, the door opened, and Michael came in. 
 
    “James, you’re already here. Any news?” 
 
    James quickly shared Henry’s news. 
 
    “Vincent on the old shuttle.” Michael called out, hoping the comm system would connect him. 
 
    “Michael? Did you call me?” 
 
    “Yes. I understand the shuttle was given an upgrade this morning.” 
 
    “Not sure I’d call it an upgrade.” 
 
    “Is the weapon operational?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Do you know how to use it?” 
 
    “I am not allowed to use the weapon.” 
 
    “If I come aboard with the appropriate authorization codes and instructed you to fire it, could you?” 
 
    “Of course, I could.” 
 
    “OK. I want you to launch, then head toward coordinates that will be sent to you in a moment. I’m also sending command codes you can give to flight control if they challenge you. 
 
    “I’ll contact you in a few minutes to transport me up.” 
 
    “Understood.” The line dropped. 
 
    “Admiral Sam Scott.” 
 
    “Michael, it’s a hornet’s nest of activity over here. We’ve had enough hits on the platform to know it’s headed in our direction. We’re about to recommend an evacuation order.” 
 
    “Sam, we think we know where it will be in a few minutes. Do you have anyone that could get to these coordinates in 15 minutes. Sending coordinates now. They are at 9,000 miles altitude, above Baffin Island. The ship would need to be lower, firing up from below.” 
 
    “Checking. No. Closest would take a little over an hour.” 
 
    “OK. I’ve just launched my old shuttle. We jury-rigged an energy projector on it. I’ll transport up and take the shot. Our objective is to knock down the platform’s stealth shield, so we can track it and make a plan to knock it down.” 
 
    “I’m deeply concerned about this Michael.” 
 
    “Nonetheless, that’s the plan. Don’t shoot me down.” 
 
    “Understood.” The line dropped. 
 
    “James, coming with me? Someone needs to go that knows what they’re doing.” 
 
    “Yes. We can tie Henry in once were aboard.” 
 
    “Vincent.” 
 
    “Here, Michael.” 
 
    “Transport me up.” 
 
    Michael disappeared, then James flashed away after him. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Two by two the bridal party transported down to the botanical garden in the west central portion of the park. This was becoming a popular picture location for weddings and other special occasions. There were six well-maintained backdrops, featuring orchids and other exotic plants in floral arrangement. Picture after picture was taken with multiple cameras from different angles.  
 
    They only had a half hour here, then would move on to the makeshift cathedral. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OLD SHUTTLE 
 
    The old shuttle was closing in on the coordinates. Michael had reinstalled his former command codes, which the ship accepted. They had done a test firing of the energy projector, which appeared to work properly. And James and Henry had devised a visualization upgrade that Vincent installed in the sensor’s processing systems. 
 
    Henry’s voice came over the comm line. “Guys, two minutes until the window opens. Are you in position yet?” 
 
    “Will be momentarily,” Vincent replied curtly, still a little grumpy that a weapon had been installed on his shuttle. 
 
    Although he couldn’t feel it Michael noticed the motion of the stars change. The shuttle had slowed. “Are we in position?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Can we start firing early?” 
 
    “I think we can. The plan is to fire bursts, not continuously. Right Henry?” 
 
    “Right.” 
 
    “Then let’s do it,” Michael said. “Now that we’re in position, I don’t want to risk missing it.” 
 
    “OK,” Vincent replied. “Firing in 3, 2, 1…” 
 
    The whine of the energy projector being fired cut through the air and hung there for three seconds. On the enhanced display, they could see the region of space being irradiated. 
 
    “Holding for 3 seconds.” 
 
    The whine of the energy projectors again cut through the ship. 
 
    The process repeated, then repeated, then repeated some more. 
 
    Michael checked his chronometer. 2:45 PM. They were running out of time. Then the thought struck. Wonder what Sarah’s doing. 
 
    “Found it!” Vincent shouted. “Changing focus. Going to blast this thing as hard as I can.” 
 
    Michael saw the cloaking shield drop. 
 
    Then Henry shouted out, “Vincent. You can’t fire continuously this long. It’s only a test device.” 
 
    Henry’s words were prophetic. There was a loud clunk as the shuttle jolted. 
 
    “It broke off…” Vincent seemed heart-broken that the weapon he hated so much an hour ago had now broken loose and would burn up on reentry. 
 
    “We’re done here.” Michael turned to Vincent. “Transport me back to my office. Return on a safe course, don’t chase the platform.” 
 
    A moment later, Michael disappeared, and James flashed away after him. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONTROL ROOM, PLATFORM 4 
 
    There was enough of Ju-Ne in the bot that it wanted to curse. But it really didn’t have the linguistic ability to do so. With its stealth now blown, the original plan of landing the platform would not work. The humans would successfully target it and blow it apart. The only way it could score a hit at this point would be to obtain a ballistic course toward the Embassy, then eject the spheres. Once they were gone, he could use the platform to run interference.  
 
    The ingots no longer had a use, so it engaged an ejection system added for this contingency. It would eject the ingots one by one, thereby lightening his load and increasing the platform’s acceleration. 
 
    When the first ingot ejected, he set the grav drive to max and started climbing. The higher and faster he went, the greater the hang time the spheres would have. The plan was to eject the spheres one by one, each on a different trajectory to the same place. Each arriving in succession. Hopefully, his opponents would be so tied up chasing the first ones down, that the last one, the most powerful one would have a chance to hit the shield 
 
     He heard the platform groan as the power coursed through the grav drive, then started rocketing upward. Speeding up a little more with each ingot that got ejected. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ORBITAL SURVEILLANCE, SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Commander, we’ve got it. The platform’s shields are down.” 
 
    “Can you determine its course?” 
 
    “It’s over Baffin Island. 70° North by 75° West. And it’s climbing! I’ve never seen a course like this. It’s not even ballistic.” 
 
    A pause.  
 
    “And it looks like we have another problem.”  
 
    “What?”  
 
    Lt. Moss typed furiously on his computer. 
 
    “It appears to be dropping bombs. Another one is being spit out every minute and their falling on a course that will stitch across the Western portion of Baffin Island, then the Arctic Ocean. 
 
    “This makes no sense.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Admiral Scott, you can see the platform now?” 
 
    “Yes. I’ve scrambled three of the Fast Attack Ships. It will take them an hour to get into position. That will leave time for each of them to get several shots at the platform. It’s unlikely that we’ll be able to stop it. But we’ve at least got a shot at diverting it away from the Embassy. 
 
    “We really need to evacuate, Michael.” 
 
    “Begin your preparations. But do so quietly. I don’t want the public to find out before we’re ready to push the button. It will only lead to panic if they find out too soon.” 
 
    Michael dropped the line. He was completely dejected. Even from jail, Ju-Ne might have succeeded in breaking the Alliance and crippling the Earth’s economy. And on top of all that, he would have disrupted their wedding. Again, the anger burned. 
 
    James who had been standing there felt Michael’s anger flare. He subtly sent some peace and calm. 
 
    “Michael, I have an idea. Maybe we can beat this yet.” James flashed away. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABOVE BAFFIN ISLAND, 15,000 MILES ABOVE EARTH 
 
    Two balls of light flashed through the sky, approaching the soaring mining platform. It must have sensed them because the platform started zigzagging around its course. 
 
    I’ll take this side, you take that. We need to kill the grav drive controllers or the bot. Flame anything that looks like a target. We have five minutes max. But do not risk yourself. 
 
    David saw a flare in the platform’s cabin. James had taken his first shot. Between the speed, vibration and the bots maneuvering David could not get a lock on anything. But he knew not to spend too much energy until he had a shot. Then the thought occurred. Can I punch a hole through one of the metal struts holding the window and roof in place, let reentry do the rest? 
 
    An ingot shot out the back of the platform, starting its fall back to Earth. 
 
    There was a bright flare at the front of the cabin. A second bright one followed, and an ingot came loose. It was James! 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONTROL ROOM, PLATFORM 4 
 
    The bot knew it was finished. It had only released one of the spheres so far. But not willing to give in, it maneuvered a little to get proper alignment, then killed the fields holding the remaining spheres. It killed power to the grav drives, then slightly reversed it, causing the platform to fall away from the now ballistic spheres. It released the field restraining the remaining ingots. The bot watched them float up over the platform, which was falling faster now.  
 
    The bot knew the ingots would burn up on reentry. It hoped they would be a diversion.  
 
    All five spheres were now on a ballistic course toward the Embassy. One or more would hit it, if they weren’t deflected. The bot had hoped to get more separation between them, but it was what it was. 
 
    His mission now was to cause as much mayhem as possible. He took aim at one of his persecutors and applied power. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABOVE BAFFIN ISLAND, 15,000 MILES ABOVE EARTH 
 
    To David’s surprise, the four metallic balls he’d seen sitting on the platform suddenly just lifted off. 
 
    The platform dropped a bit, giving the balls some room, then veered away toward James. As it did, the ingots that had been so neatly stacked in front of the control booth slid off the platform. 
 
    James successfully evaded the attack and they both shot up above the fray. 
 
    Let’s get the strut holding the windows, David sent. 
 
    Both fired shots that hit the strut. It gave way and the front window blew out as the atmosphere vented from the cabin explosively. David noticed a bot go flying out right behind the window. 
 
    The window slowly drifted away from the platform. The spheres and ingots were already a hundred or more feet above as the platform continued its minor down thrust. 
 
    Try the power sources. There are quite a few under the platform. 
 
    As David dropped down below the platform, he saw a power source explode. David found a box that looked similar and flared on it. His box exploded also. Between them they took out five more, then the platform started tumbling. 
 
    We’ve done what we can here. Time to Go! 
 
    James’ and David’s glows disappeared in a flash.  
 
    But five 10 cubic meter metal spheres and the better part of 100, thousand-kilogram ingots where on a ballistic course toward the embassy. Dozens more ingots would be descending over northern Canada and the Arctic Ocean. The ingots would largely burn up on re-entry. But the spheres would hit the ground in the vicinity of the embassy unless Space Force could intervene. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Admiral Scott. Ethan Day, Orbital Surveillance. The target has broken apart and scattered a bit. The main platform is tumbling. Its movements are chaotic, but we think it will come apart and burn up on reentry. Unfortunately, its payload of over 100 metal ingots and 5 massive metal spheres is on a ballistic course toward the Embassy. Odds are the ingots will burn up. But the spheres will make it down and could still cause real damage.  
 
    “May I make a recommendation sir?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “Space Force should target the spheres that have us in their sights. They are coming from the northeast. If the ships approach from behind and below the targets, we use the rail guns. A hit will give them a boost that will take them west of the Embassy. If the angle is right, any of the railgun projectiles that miss will land in the Pacific Ocean, not on land. And if we get lucky, we might break them up. 
 
    “We’ve created a prioritized list, based on the likelihood of hitting the embassy.” 
 
    “Thank you, Commander. Please stream your telemetry to the tactical network.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    The Oslo was the first to get in position for a shot. Its target was the sphere closest to the Embassy. 
 
    The ship vibrated as a projectile shot out of it and streaked through space. It missed. Sensors indicated that the railgun round would land in the Pacific. 
 
    The ship vibrated again. The projectile hit its target, liquifying the projectile and a small portion of the ball. The material sprayed away from the ball and quickly solidified into thousands of little BB sized pellets. 
 
    “Those will burn up on entry. One more, then we have to yield to the next ship.” 
 
    The ship vibrated and once again the projectile hit its target. More molten metal flew away. More BB sized pellets flew off into space. Unfortunately, this hit was not dead on, and the sphere was now rotating, rapidly. The now misshapen spheroid visibly wobbled.  
 
    “Trouble. That’s going to hook away when it hits the atmosphere,” Captain Bjork murmured. 
 
     “Get us out of here!” she called out, then went to report her results. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    The pictures were done, and Sarah’s thoughts wandered philosophically. Is my life really changing today? Or am I just locking in the way it is now? 
 
    She gazed at the sky as she contemplated the question. A bright flash startled her. 
 
    Alexi saw her jump. “What is it?” 
 
    “I think I just saw a flash in the sky.” She pointed just above the trees to the east. 
 
    “Reflection off an airplane or a shuttle maybe? 
 
    “Maybe.” 
 
    Alexi smiled at Sarah, curious about why she’d been staring into the sky. “Come on. It’s our turn to transport.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CAIRO 
 
    Once the Oslo cleared the area, the Cairo started her run. 
 
    “You’ve got one minute, two shots, a third if you’re fast enough. Make them count!” 
 
    A projectile streaked out too fast to be seen. The sphere shook and about 1 meter of material cleaved away from the side. 
 
    Another projectile streaked away. It grazed the sphere, creating lots of BB sized pellets and deflecting it a little more. 
 
    A third projectile shot out hitting the sphere, cleaving it nearly in half. 
 
    “Well done. Emergency jump.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE COMMAND 
 
    “Admiral Scott. Ethan Day, Orbital Surveillance. The sphere closest to the Embassy has broken apart and scattered a bit. Three pieces, two larger and one somewhat smaller, are still likely to impact, but they will land to the south and west. The Embassy is no longer at immediate risk. Four more spheres are inbound. None of these are likely to hit the Embassy, but they will make a mess of things when they land.” 
 
    “Thank you, Commander.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE CATHEDRAL 
 
    Sarah and Alexi transported down into the main sanctuary of the cathedral. Sarah marveled at how real it looked. Yesterday she’d seen that the outside still looked like the shuttle hanger that it was. They had added some minimal adornments, but it still looked like a big white box repainted to give it some semblance of being made from stone. 
 
    But the inside looked like a classic European cathedral. A balcony had been added in what used to be the storage area at the far end of the building. Sixteen rows of chairs, each a foot or so higher than the previous, were arranged in four sections of 25 seats, stretched across the width of the former storage area. 1,600 balcony seats in total. 
 
    An elevated temporary floor had been built out on the main level, sloped down from the back to the front. It had 48 rows laid out as three sections of 16 rows. A wide, level walkway separated the three sections. Each row was like the ones in the balcony with 4 sections of 25 seats separated by an aisle. In total, 48 rows of 100 seats, for total main level seating of 4,800. Total cathedral seating 6,400 seats. 
 
    She had been told a movie set designer had done the interior. The arches, stonework, organ pipes… All picture perfect. All fake. At the rehearsal yesterday, one of the building’s guards told her the organ pipes were made out of PVC pipes, perfectly cut, then painted with metallic paint. The organ sound was provided by loudspeakers rented from a production company in Seattle that normally serviced rock concerts. The speakers were cleverly hidden and positioned to simulate sound coming from the pipes. The bass pipe sounds were supplemented by low frequency transducers attached under the flooring. 
 
    She didn’t care that much about the tech, only that the place looked like a real cathedral and the organ sounded like a classic pipe organ. 
 
    At the back of the main platform, there was an area for the orchestra and a choir loft behind. 
 
    “Sarah, you still there?” 
 
    Sarah snapped out of her reverie. “Sorry, just marveling at how beautiful this place is. Hard to believe it’s all fake.” 
 
    “Come on. Over here. They’re ready for you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS LISBON 
 
    The Lisbon had been assigned to two of the metal spheres that were still too close together to target separately. Its goal was to get a hit on each, pushing it further from the Embassy. But Captain Aston Moss wanted to do better than that, so planned to use both railguns and energy projectors. 
 
    A projectile streaked from the ship. It scored a perfect hit. The sphere exploded, breaking into three large pieces that started to spread.  
 
    “Retarget the railgun to the other sphere, hit the three fragments with the energy projectors!” 
 
    A second projectile streaked from the ship. This one hit the other sphere breaking it into five large pieces.  
 
    The energy projector sounded, and seconds later, material started slewing away from the smallest piece of the first sphere. 
 
    After 5 seconds, the energy projector shut down to cool and the ship repositioned. 
 
    Another projectile flew out hitting the largest piece from the first sphere. It hit, shattering it into thousands of pieces.  
 
    “Get us out of here!” 
 
    The ship jolted. Then jolted again. Hundreds of grains of metallic sand hit the shields causing them to flare. 
 
    “Status!” 
 
    “Shields holding.” 
 
    “We’ve cleared the area.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    The last sphere was on a trajectory that would take it well past the Embassy. But it had drifted far enough to the west that there was a chance it would hit the small Yukon town of Dawson City. 
 
    This would be the last sphere to land. There was still a 15-minute window to break it apart. But no good angle for the shot. 
 
    “Helm. Bring us in as close as possible,” Captain Bjork ordered. “Let’s see if we can soften it up a bit with the energy projectors. As long as we fire from below there’s no chance we’ll hit anything else.”  
 
    “Captain, we’re in range,” tactical officer Barika Amari called out. 
 
    “Take your shot when you have it. Tightest possible beam.” 
 
    The whine of the energy projectors sounded. Barika had synced both forward energy projectors for the shot. 
 
    Almost immediately, the sphere began to glow, and a little material started to come away. She held the shot for 10 seconds, then shutdown to avoid overheating the weapon. 
 
    “How long until we are in a safe position for a railgun round?” The captain asked. 
 
    “Another minute, ma’am.” Edward, the helm AI replied. “But remember, this is going to be tight. On this course, we will hit the atmosphere 30 seconds after the shot.” 
 
    “Can we get another energy projector shot off?” 
 
    A few seconds later, the whine of the energy projectors sounded. The sphere started glowing immediately. Material started slewing away. 
 
    Barika decided she would hold the shot until the overheat alarm sounded. More and more material slewed away, then the alarm went off. 
 
    “Reposition for railgun shot!” 
 
    The ship descended and fell back a bit. Because of the tight time, the railgun had been rigged for automatic fire.  
 
    “Obtained the vector,” Edward called out. 
 
    “Firing in 3, 2, 1… Fired.” 
 
    As the ship recoiled from the railgun round, Edward changed course for maximum climb. The view screen remained locked on the sphere, which blew up like a burst water balloon. 
 
    “That was close,” Edward said, his holographic hand shaking with nervousness. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    With the spheres all broken apart, the only remaining threat was the wounded platform, which continued its chaotic gyrations above the atmosphere. At the moment, it wasn’t a threat to anything. But with the grav drive on and no one at the controls, it seemed to just spin in circles above an area 50 miles or so north of the Embassy. 
 
    “Michael?” 
 
    “Yes, Henry.” 
 
    “Would you mind if Jacob and I used that platform for flyswatter practice? Admiral Scott said he’d be OK with it if you were.” 
 
    “Risk?” 
 
    “None. We’ll use the planetary shield to lift it way up, then smack it to break it apart. From there, it will fall straight down and burn up. Nothing will get to the surface.” 
 
    Michael looked at his chronometer. He was supposed to be at the cathedral by 4:00. It was now 4:12. Earlier, he’d messaged Joel saying he’d be late, but no later than 4:45.  
 
    “I’m good with that. Any chance you could have the debris land around sunset?” 
 
    “Sure. It’ll make interesting fireworks.” 
 
    “Then it’s a deal.” 
 
    Michael got up and went to the bedroom. Twenty minutes later, he emerged, showered, groomed, dressed in his tuxedo, tie tied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GROOM’S WAITING AREA, SPACE FORCE CATHEDRAL 
 
    The women had tolerated Tim’s presence most of the day. Yes, he’d been confined in a room by himself, but at least it was adjacent to the women’s spaces. Now, he’d been banished. 
 
    Hoping he’d be welcome on the groom’s side, he made his way over around 4:00. The cathedral was filling and the lines outside waiting to get through security seem to wrap around the entire Space Force perimeter. 
 
    The door to the groom’s waiting area was locked. But when he knocked, it was quickly answered by the big Hawaiian guy, Kale. 
 
    “Tim my friend, welcome. Come in. The women finally threw you out, huh?” 
 
    Tim was chagrined by the accuracy of the statement but needed to cast it in a better light. “So, it would seem. Too many dainties for a male presence. Any chance I could speak with Michael?” 
 
    “Come on in brother. You’re welcome here. But Michael hasn’t arrived yet.” 
 
    “What do you mean he’s not here? The procession is supposed to start in a half hour.” 
 
    “Some things came up. He’s due in 10 minutes.” 
 
    “Ten minutes!” Tim was panicked that the alien was going to stand up his daughter. 
 
    “Relax my friend. Michael is good for his word.” 
 
    Tim struggled to breathe. This can’t be happening. 
 
    “Charles, I think this one needs your help.” 
 
    Charles came over and only needed one look. “Panic attack. I have just the thing.” 
 
    He went back to his space, shuffled through his bag, then emerged with a small jar of cream. 
 
    “Tim, just breathe. This will help.” Then turning to Kale, “Where is Michael?” 
 
    “Some last-minute arrangements for the reception.” Kale hoped those words were true because he had no idea. 
 
    The cream and its nanobots seemed to be having an effect. Tim slowly stirred. “Where am I?” 
 
    “Wedding. It will start in a few minutes. You need to wake up.” 
 
    “But is Michael here?” 
 
    “Of course, I am.” In the drama of the moment, no one had noticed Michael transport in.  
 
    “I was afraid you were standing up my baby.” 
 
    Michael shook his head. “Tim. I will never leave your daughter. I am with her for life, the bond has been sealed.” 
 
    There was another knock on the door. Kale answered and Pam came in. “We’re running late. The bride’s party is ready, as I trust you are. But we still have a couple hundred people in line waiting to be seated. I’ve advised the musicians, who are adding a couple more pieces to their set. We should be ready to go in another 15 to 20 minutes. 
 
    “I’ll come to get Tim five minutes ahead of time.” 
 
    “Thanks Pam. Given the numbers, I doubted we’d start on time.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE CATHEDRAL 
 
    Word reached the men that the cathedral doors were closed, and they would be starting momentarily. They filed out of their waiting room and queued up in order at the side door leading into the cathedral. The last piece of music was a choral version of Bach’s “Jesu, Joy of Man’s Desiring,” backed with orchestra and pipe organ. As he stood there in that moment, Michael regretted that he wasn’t part of the audience watching the incredible performance. With the final boom from the kettle drum, the sanctuary burst into applause and as it subsided, the door opened for them to file in. 
 
    James and Father John stood at the top of the steps. Michael and the groomsmen now paced in to line up on the groom’s side before the altar. Then light music started, and Sarah’s niece, Joy, started down the aisle spreading flower petals. Sarah’s nephew, Isaac, followed behind, carrying a pillow on which a ring was tied. Michael smiled when Joy saw him and waved. The bridesmaids followed the children one by one to line up on the opposite side. 
 
    Michael was aware of American and western European wedding traditions. He’d attended several weddings during the pre-Revelation years, but he never planned to marry again, so those weddings were more of a statement of support for a friend. Now being part of it and seeing it play out like this from a participant’s perspective, he realized how much more importance humans placed on the wedding ceremony than Lorexians did. He’d loved his first wife with the same depth of spirit as Sarah. But on New Lorexi, the ceremony was more like standing in front of both families and declaring yourselves joined. 
 
    There was a break in the music, then the kettle drum started with a soft beat. 1, 2, 3, 4. Then the trumpets cried out in a full orchestral version of Purcell’s Trumpet Voluntary. As Sarah stepped out beneath the balcony, deep emotion welled up within Michael. Under normal circumstances, she was a beautiful woman. But today, she was a goddess wrapped in a dress that shimmered with subtle brilliance. It was hard to believe such a thing of beauty could exist.  
 
    There were over 6,000 people in the room, but he could only see one. 
 
    He felt a tear run down his cheek, another difference experiencing life as a human. Lorexians had well-lubricated eyes, but they did not have tear ducts that overflowed when overcome by emotion. 
 
    Michael’s eyes were so glued on Sarah that he didn’t notice the train on her dress until Tim and Sarah stopped at the foot of the steps. 
 
    It was full cathedral length, made of the same glowing fabric as the rest of the dress. But the top was not white. It was his family’s variation of Lorexian Royal Red. Her dress was not only a statement in beauty, but a message to the Lorexian Ascendants in attendance. She was now the matriarch of one of the great houses of the Confederation. 
 
    “Who gives this woman to marry this man?” 
 
    Father John asked the question. Both James and Michael protested the question during wedding preparation. The thought of a woman being ‘given’ away did not sit well with them. Father John had agreed to ask it instead. 
 
    “Her mother and I do.” Tim replied. He kissed Sarah, then took his seat. 
 
    Sarah stepped up and James cleared his throat to speak.  
 
    “Dearly beloved. I’m told that this is how most ceremonies of this type start in the part of Earth that Sarah came from. Such a beautiful expression. Beloved, the friends we hold closest, in truth the only thing that really matters in the broader scope of life. But not just the ordinary beloved, the dearly beloved.  
 
    “An extraordinary statement. One fully appropriate for the two extraordinary people we’re here to celebrate today.” James paused, using the silence to flood the room with the emotion of love.  
 
    “As most of you know, Sarah was raised Catholic. One of her desires was to be married in a Catholic church by a Catholic priest. Yesterday, Father Benjamin, the Pope’s personal envoy consecrated this facility. Father John, standing next to me, will be officiating most of the ceremony. 
 
    “As you know, my dear friend Michael is a senior official in the Confederation. The Confederation’s requirements for an Ambassador’s marriage are quite a bit different. But the only difference of consequences is that another senior Confederation official must be present to officiate and to bless the couple. 
 
    “Michael, Sarah. You have my blessing. Together you will do great things. I wish you joy, contentment in each other, and great accomplishment in this life and in the ones that follow.” 
 
    James bowed his head and stepped back, giving the ceremony over to Father John. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    The wedding party was the first to exit. They boarded a shuttle to be taken to a location at the very southwest corner of the park for pictures. It would take more than a half hour for the cathedral to empty. At that point, they would travel back for pictures in the cathedral. 
 
    The reception was being spread across the park’s six pavilions. Once pictures were done, Michael and Sarah would spend an hour at the main pavilion closest to Michael’s apartment. Then they would spend a half hour at each of the other five pavilions. It was going to be a long evening. 
 
    While setting up for the third picture, a huge shooting star streaked across the sky.  
 
    “Did you see that?” Sarah exclaimed. 
 
    “A little present I set up for you earlier. The fireworks tonight will be spectacular.” 
 
    Three more smaller shooting stars crossed the sky parallel to one another. 
 
    “What happened?” 
 
    “Ju-Ne. He brought down Platform 4. We were able to intercept it and break it apart. Bits will be streaking past for much of the evening.” 
 
    “Dad said you were late getting to the wedding. Is that what you were doing?” 
 
    “Yes, but for the record, I wasn’t late. I got there 20 minutes before the scheduled start, forty-five before the actual start. Your father was in a bit of a panic. Charles had to medicate him.” 
 
    Sarah just shook her head. 
 
    “Hold still please!” The photographer called out. 
 
    There were multiple camera flashes. 
 
    They repositioned for the next shot. “Did your brunch go off OK? Or did you have to bail?” 
 
    “I wanted to bail, but James wouldn’t let me. He flashed away to get the response started, then put on quite the show when he returned.” 
 
    “What did he do?” 
 
    “Hold still please.” The photographer called out. 
 
    Michael sent Sarah the image of a little blue pill. 
 
    Sarah erupted in laughter just as the flashes started.  
 
    … 
 
    Weeks later, when the photos were made available for view, Michael asked for a copy of that one. Twelve people positioned and posed so seriously with Sarah in the center, head thrown back in laughter. It’s the way he always wanted to remember her, bubbling over with the joy of the moment. 
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 EPILOGUE 
 
    SECURITY DETAINMENT AREA 
 
    Security Chief Baraza Dalitso stood at the window, looking into the Lorexian detention area. “How long has he been like this?” 
 
    “He started doing this five days ago, lying flat on his back, eyes closed, meditating or whatever. But he would always respond when an attendant came. But the last time he responded to anyone was when lunch came three days ago, the day of the wedding.” 
 
    “He’s been scanned?” The security chief asked for the third time. 
 
    “We’ve scanned him five times now. Every 12 hours starting Sunday afternoon. The scans say he’s asleep, dreaming. Do Lorexians have a hibernation mode?” 
 
    “Allegedly we do. But the last recorded case of someone doing it without support equipment was hundreds of years ago. How much weight has he lost?” 
 
    “Essentially none.” 
 
    “Then he must be in hibernation. I’ll ask someone from the hospital to come take a look at him. But no one goes in there. He’s too skilled. If that door opens, he will find a way out.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 STOWRAP, ANGOLORAN SECTOR, KARAGON 
 
    Michael and Sarah transported down to the capital city of the Angoloran sector of Karagon. Sarah opened her eyes to see that they were in a garden. She was immediately struck by the smell of the flowers, sweeter than most flowers at home. She also picked up a trace of cinnamon, and possibly of some nutmeg. The next thing she noticed was the gravity. She’d heard that the pull of gravity here was 10% greater than on Earth. Now she knew what it felt like. 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta stepped out to greet them. “Mi-Ku, Sarah. Welcome, my friends. Come, I’ve had tea set up for us in the garden. I’m so delighted that you have come to visit us and to experience our world.” 
 
    “Fa-Ta, thank you for the hospitality.” 
 
    They walked down a short path to a table set for four. A matronly Angoloran woman was waiting there. She stood, eyes a bit widened, then extended the traditional Angoloran greeting. Michael noted that her bow was much deeper than he’d seen before.  
 
    “Michael, Sarah. Please meet my wife Tu-Fa. She is also a Lorexian Ascendant. We met during Ascendancy training. She asked me to marry her just before graduation so that we could be deployed together. We are now in our fifth life, so to speak.” 
 
    Michael and Sarah performed the Angoloran greeting, then they all sat. 
 
    “Sarah, I’m sorry I couldn’t come to your wedding. My daughter went in my place. She told me you wore one of the great Wonder Stones. I see you also have one of the minor Wonder Stones in your necklace. I’ve heard of such things, but never seen one in person. 
 
    “Would you mind if I looked at your ring more closely?” 
 
    Sarah held out her hand, which Tu-Fa took. It reminded her of the cooler hand she’d felt when representative Knosen shook her hand. 
 
    After studying the ring for a few seconds, she released Sarah’s hand. “Stunning. I could get lost in that stone for hours.” Then turning to Michael, “How did you come across two stones of this caliber? They are exceedingly rare.” 
 
    Michael smiled. “I didn’t. Both stones were gifted to Sarah by the Ancient Sentient.” 
 
    “You have been blessed by the Ancient One?” She bowed her head and held it there for a few seconds. It was a Lorexian sign of respect. 
 
    Sensing that this line of conversation was becoming uncomfortable for Sarah, Ambassador Fa-Ta, turned to Michael. “I understand that Ju-Ne was responsible for the orbital bombardment intended to destroy the participants at the wedding. If he’d succeeded, the entire sector would have fallen into chaos.” 
 
    Although he did not hear it in the Ambassador’s voice, Michael sensed anger in the Ambassador. 
 
    “Yes, Ju-Ne was behind it. He’d set the plan in motion some months ago and triggered it from jail.” 
 
    “He must have had conspirators.” 
 
    “He did. On Earth, elsewhere in the sector, and in Andromeda.” 
 
    “Are you rounding them up?” 
 
    “All the ones on Earth are in custody. The others in the sector are being dealt with discretely. A few have apparently fled back to Andromeda.” 
 
    “This cannot be allowed to continue.” 
 
    “I agree. Do you have any suggestions?” 
 
    “Maybe we can speak privately about that a little later.” 
 
    Michael stared at Fa-Ta in shock, unable to believe what he was sensing. Fa-Ta wanted to expand the Alliance with the intent of seceding from the Confederation. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    “James, David. Thank you for meeting with us.” 
 
    “Kelly how could I resist?” James beamed his joy at being there. 
 
    A pause, then Kelly locked her eyes with James’. 
 
    “I’ve continued working through the Lorexian theoretical formulations of the high dimensions.” 
 
    James nodded his understanding. 
 
    “Dimension 502…” 
 
    James’ smile increased. 
 
    “It’s so bizarre. The gravity wells are so congested. In our space-time, everything is spread out. It’s like gravity wells, stars and planets are all spread out. Open space is dominant, gravity is rare.  
 
    “In 502, it’s like the opposite. Gravity wells are dominant, space is rare.” 
 
    She looked at James intently. 
 
    “Does that mean what I think it does?” 
 
    James smiled. His warmth engulfing the room. 
 
    Unexpectedly David spoke. “So, that’s how you do it.” 
 
    James continued smiling at Kelly. She felt like she was the only person in the room, the universe. His stare was so intense. 
 
    “Now you know.” 
 
    “This changes everything,” Kelly whispered in amazement. 
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